
I City of Port Colborne 

~•-
PORT COLBORNE 

Regular Meeting of Committee of the Whole 11-18 
Monday, April 23, 2018 - 6:30 p.m. 

Council Chambers, 3rd Floor, 66 Charlotte Street 

Agenda 

1. Call to Order: Mayor John Maloney 

2. National Anthem: Joel Longfellow 

3. Introduction of Addendum and Delegation Items: 

4. Confirmation of Agenda: 

5. Disclosures of Interest: 

6. Adoption of Minutes: 
(a) Regular meeting of Committee of the Whole 09-18, held on April 9, 2018. 

7. Determination of Items Requiring Separate Discussion: 

8. Approval of Items Not Requiring Separate Discussion: 

9. Presentations: 
(a) The Friends of Roselawn Centre Cheque Presentation for Roselawn Centre Capital 

Campaign 2017-2018. 

10. Delegations (10 Minutes Maximum): 
(a) Patty Moss regarding the trial roadside mowing delay, which delayed rural roadside 

cutting on Municipal Roads for pollinating insects (Page No. 11) 

11. Mayor's Report: 

12. Regional Councillor's Report: 

13. Councillors' Items: 
(a) Councillors' Issues/Enquiries 
(b) Staff Responses to Previous Councillors' Enquiries 

14. Consideration of Items Requiring Separate Discussion: 

15. Notice of Motion: 

16. Adjournment: 

1



Committee of the Whole Agenda April 23, 2018 

Upcoming Committee of the Whole and Council Meetings 

Monday, May 14, 2018 Committee of the Whole/Council - 6:30 P.M. 

Monday, May 28, 2018 

Monday, June 11, 2018 

Monday, June 25, 2018 

Monday, July 9, 2018 

Monday, July 23, 2018 

Cancelled 

Committee of the Whole/Council - 6:30 P.M. 

Committee of the Whole/Council - 6:30 P.M. 

Committee of the Whole/Council - 6:30 P.M. 

Committee of the Whole/Council - 6:30 P.M. 

Note: If not otherwise attached to the staff report, by-laws are published and available for review under 
the "Consideration of By-laws" section of the Council agenda. 

2



Notes 

JDM 

AD 

DE 

JDM 

AD 

DE 

Committee of the Whole Agenda April 23, 2018 

Committee Items: 

Item Description I Recommendation 

BB RB 1. Motion (Councillor 8. Kenny) Re: Provision of Grants to 

FD YD 
Community GrouQs 

BK JM 
That the motion approved at the Council meeting of November 23, 
2015 in respect of Community and Corporate Services, Report No. 
2015-212 regarding the provision of grants to community groups be 
reconsidered. 

Note: If the reconsideration is passed the following motion will 
be immediately placed on the floor: 

That an amount equal to the initial amount invested in 
Niagara Regional Broadband Network (NRBN), namely 
$775,000, from the proceeds of the disposition of the NRBN 
shares be placed in an interest bearing account and the 
interest earned each year be used to provide grants to 
community groups in 2017 and each subsequent year to a 
maximum of $30,000.00. 

BB RB 2. Community and Economic Development, Economic Development 
Division, Report No. 2018-57, Subject: Economic Development 

FD YD Strategic Plan: 2018-2028 

BK JM That, in accordance with the recommendation of the Economic 
Development Advisory Committee, the Port Colborne Economic 
Development Strategic Plan 2018-2028, prepared by MOB Insight, be 
approved; and 

That the goals and initiatives identified in the Economic Development 
Strategic Plan 2018-2028, be included in Council 's future strategic 
planning processes and budget deliberations. 

Delegation: 

~ Members of the Economic Development Advisory Committee 
will be in attendance. 

This item needs to be pulled for separate consideration. 

Note: If not otherwise attached to the staff report , by-laws are published and available for review under 
the "Consideration of By-laws" section of the Council agenda. 

Page 

-----

19 

3



JDM 

AD 

DE 

JDM 

AD 

DE 

JDM 

AD 

DE 

Committee of the Whole Agenda April 23, 2018 

BB RB 3. Planning and Development, Planning Division, Report No. 2018-

FD YD 
50, Subject: Supplemental Recommendation Report - Proposed 
New Comgrehensive Zoning By-law 

BK JM That By-law 1150/97/81, being the existing Zoning By-law and any 
and all amendments thereto, be rescinded and repealed; 

That the draft by-law approving the draft Comprehensive Zoning By-
law attached to Planning and Development Department, Planning 
Division Report 2018-50 as Appendix A, be approved; 

That pursuant to the provisions of Section 34(17) of the Planning Act, 
no further notice of public meeting be required; 

That pursuant to Section 34( 10.0.0.2) of the Planning Act, 
applications for an amendment to the by-law are allowed before the 
second anniversary of the day on which the Council approves the 
Comprehensive Zoning By-law. 

That an interim Control By-law, attached to Planning and Development 
Department, Planning Division Report 2018-50 as Appendix C, be 
approved pursuant to Section 38 of the Planning Act, for a period of up 
to one year for those lands proposed to be zoned Mineral Aggregate 
Operation to control the use of lands until proper study and policy 
review has been completed . 

BB RB 4. Fire and Emergency Services Department, Report No. 2018-48, 

FD YD 
Subject: Fire Margue Indemnification Technology® 

BK JM 
That entering into an agreement with Fire Marque be approved; and 

That the Mayor and City Clerk be authorized to execute the agreement 
with Fire Marque; and 

That the City's fee schedule be amended incorporating the 
appropriate fees as per the agreement with Fire Marque. 

BB RB 5. Corporate Services, Clerk's Division, Report No. 2018-58, 

FD YD 
Subject: Use of Corgorate Resources for Election Purgoses 

BK JM 
That the Use of Corporate Resources for Election Purposes policy, 
attached as Appendix A to report Corporate Services Department, 
Clerk's Division Report 2018-58, be approved. 

Note: If not otherwise attached to the staff report, by-laws are published and available for review under 
the "Consideration of By-laws" section of the Council agenda. 

129 

315 

321 

4



JDM 

AD 

DE 

JDM 

AD 

DE 

JDM 

AD 

DE 

Committee of the Whole Agenda April 23, 2018 

BB RB 6. Corporate Services, Finance Division, Report No. 2018-41 , 
Subject: Cancellation 2 Reduction or Refund of Realt~ Tax 

FD YD 

BK JM 
That the applications pursuant to Section 357/358 of the Municipal 
Act, 2001 , as amended , numbered 2015-39, 2017-50, 2017-51,2017-
49 and 2016-49 be approved to cancel or reduce taxes in the total 
amount of $8,230.59 , in which $3,957.20 is the municipal portion. 

BB RB 7. Corporate Services, Finance Division, Report No. 2018-53, 
Subject: Ontario's Main Street Revitalization Initiative Municipal 

FD YD Funding Agreement 

BK JM That the Mayor, City Clerk and City Treasurer be authorized to execute 
the Funding Agreement with the Association of Municipalities of Ontario 

\ 

for the use of Ontario 's Main Street Revitalization Initiative funds from 
the Province of Ontario; and 

That the appropriate by-law be executed by the Mayor and City Clerk. 

BB RB 8. Community and Economic Development, Parks and Recreation 
Division, Report No. 2018-51, Subject: Port Colborne Cruiser's 

FD YD Association - 2018 Cruise Nights 

BK JM That the road closures necessary for the 2018 Downtown Cruise Night 
event on recurring Thursday evenings, from May 17, 2018 to 
September 27, 2018, as requested by the Port Colborne Downtown 
Cruiser's Association, (PCDCA) and outlined in Community and 
Economic Development, Parks and Recreation Division Report No; 
2018-51 , be approved ; 

That the following roads be closed to general vehicular traffic and 
parking from 5:00 p.m. to 9:00 p.m., each Thursday from May 17, 2018 
to September 27, 2018: 

• Market Square; 

• Clarence Street, from eastern limit of the western driveway of 
the Food Basics parking lot, to the western limit of Catharine 
Street; 

• Clarence Street, from the eastern limit of Catharine Street to the 
western limit of King Street; 

• Clarence Street, from the eastern limit of King Street to the 
western limit of West Street; 

That Market Square be closed to vehicular traffic on May 17, June 8, 
June 15, July 13, and September 21, 2018 from 1 :00 p.m. to 5:00 p.m., 
with the exception of the western access laneway, to be used as an 
ingress and egress to the CIBC Bank; 

Note: If not otherwise attached to the staff report, by-laws are publ ished and available for review under 
the "Consideration of By-laws" section of the Council agenda. 

327 

331 

365 

5



JDM 

AD 

DE 

Committee of the Whole Agenda April 23, 2018 

That emergency service vehicles, including ambulance, police and fire, 
as well as public works and public utility vehicles, be exempt from the 
above noted closures; 

That members, qualified participants, and participants of the PCDCA, 
be exempt from the above noted closures, through the issuance of an 
authorized permit; 

That traffic barricades be supplied by Public Works staff every 
Thursday, from May 17, 2018 to September 27, 2018, and delivered 
before the end of the regular work day at the predetermined locations 
requiring barricades; 

That PCDCA volunteers be responsible for installing appropriate 
signage at each intersection, stating "Cruise Night Clarence Street 
Temporarily Closed - 5:00 to 9:00 p.m.", including Market Square, for 
the duration of the event; 

That PCDCA volunteers be responsible for ensuring road closure 
barricades are promptly removed and returned to the pick-up points at 
the end of the event each week; 

That the PCDCA be required to file a Certificate of Insurance, naming 
the City as an additional insured, in the amount of $2,000,000, prior to 
the event; 

That the fee for a Noise By-law Exemption application, to be submitted 
to the By-law Enforcement Division, be waived; and 

That the appropriate by-law be presented for approval. 

BB RB 9. Community and Economic Development, Parks and Recreation 

FD YD 
Division, Report No. 2018-54, Subject: 2018 Moonlight Flicks at 
H.H. Knoll Lakeview Park 

BK JM That the Moonlight Flicks event, to be held on Wednesday July 4, 11, 
18, 25 and August 22 and 29, 2018, be supported; 

That fees for the application for a Noise By-law Exemption, to be filed 
with the By-law Enforcement Division, be waived; 

That an exemption from Section 4 (Prohibited Hours of Entrance) to 
By-law 5503/100/10, Being a By-law to Manage and Regulate 
Municipal Parks, be approved; 

Note: If not otherwise attached to the staff report, by-laws are published and available for review under 
the "Consideration of By-laws" section of the Council agenda. 

373 

6



JDM 

AD 

DE 

JDM 

AD 

DE 

JDM 

AD 

DE 

Committee of the Whole Agenda April 23, 2018 

That use of the restrooms until 12:00 a.m. at the H.H. Knoll Lakeview 
Park Bandshell, be approved; 

That Moonlight Flicks be required to file a Certificate of Insurance, 
naming the City as an additional insured, in the amount of 
$2,000,000, prior to the event; 

That the City's park permit, hydro, and waste receptacle fees, be 
waived. 

BB RB 10. Community and Economic Development, Parks and Recreation 
Division, Report No. 2018-56, Subject: 2018 Heart & Stroke Big 

FD YD Bike CamQaign 

BK JM That the 2018 Heart & Stroke Big Bike Event, to be held on May 16, 
2018, be approved; 

That the Niagara Region Heart & Stroke Foundation be responsible 
for coordinating emergency services support; and 

That the Niagara Region Heart & Stroke Foundation be required to file 
a Certificate of Insurance, naming the City as an additional insured, in 
the amount of $2,000,000, prior to the event. 

BB RB 11. Community and Economic Development, Parks and Recreation 
Division, Report No. 2018-55, Subject: City Wide Parks Grass-

FD YD Cutting Tender 2018-04 

BK JM That contract 2015-09, for the supply of parks grass-cutting services, 
with Snips Landscaping and Nursery, be extended for one year 
(2018), in accordance with the terms of the existing contract; and 

That the appropriate by-law be presented for approval. 

BB RB 12. Planning and Development, By-law Enforcement Division, Report 
No. 2018-46 ProQosed Lot Maintenance B~-law 2018 

FD YD 

BK JM 
That the proposed Lot Maintenance By-law, attached to Planning and 
Development Department, Planning Division Report No. 2018-46, be 
approved as presented. 

Note: If not otherwise attached to the staff report, by-laws are published and available for review under 
the "Consideration of By-laws" section of the Council agenda. 

377 

381 

383 

7



Committee of the Whole Agenda April 23, 2018 

Miscellaneous Correspondence 

JDM 

AD 

DE 

JDM 

AD 

DE 

BB RB 13. Niagara Regional Labour Council Re: Request for Proclamation 

FD YD 
of National Day of Morning 2 A~ril 28 2 2018 

BK JM 
That April 28, 2018 be proclaimed as "National Day of Mourning" in 
the City of Port Colborne in accordance with the request received 
from Lou Ann Binning, President, Niagara Regional Labour Council. 

That the request for all flags to be flown at Half-Mast at City Hall on 
April 28th, 2018 be referred to the Mayor's Office. 

BB RB 14. The New Humberstone Speedway, 1716 Highway 3 East, Port 

FD YD 
Colborne Re: Request Permission to Hold Fi reworks Display 
Events for 2018 

BK JM That pursuant to Section 6.1.1 of By-law 4989/45/07, the Council of 
The Corporation of the City of Port Col borne authorizes the New 
Humberstone Speedway to hold Display Fireworks Events between 
the hours of 9:30 p.m. and 10:30 p.m. on the following dates: 

• May 20th, 2018 

• July 1st, 2018 

• August 5th, 2018 

• August 25th, 2018 

• September 2nd , 2018 

• September 9th, 2018 

That such approval be conditional on the issuance of a permit by the 
Fire Chief, in compliance with By-law 4989/45/07 and payment of the 
applicable fees; 

That the following information be submitted to the Port Colborne Fire & 
Emergency Services a minimum of two weeks prior to the holding of 
the first event; 

• A fireworks site plan including but not limited to, separation 
distances to the public and vulnerable areas, location from 
where the fireworks are being fired, fallout zone, and direction 
of firing ; 

• Event description information is required including description of 
fireworks, type, size and quantity; 

- firing procedures, manual or electric 
- emergency procedures 
- traffic control plans 

Note: If not otherwise attached to the staff report, by-laws are published and available for review under 
the "Consideration of By-laws" section of the Council agenda. 

399 

403 . 

8



JDM 

AD 

DE 

JDM 

AD 

DE 

JDM 

AD 

DE 

Committee of the Whole Agenda April 23, 2018 

• Require a copy of the Fireworks Operator Certificate with 
Endorsements; 

That the New Humberstone Speedway be advised that, as the 
Authority Having Jurisdiction, Port Colborne Fire & Emergency 
Services will conduct spot site inspections and may revoke approval 
for any violation of the Ontario Fire Code or the Explosives Act prior 
to or during any one of the scheduled events. 

BB RB 15. Memorandum from Janice Peyton, Executive Assistant, DEO Re: 

FD YD 
Environmental Advisory Committee - Motion Regarding Delayed 
Roadside Mowing 

BK JM That the memorandum from Janice Peyton, Executive Assistant to the 
Director of Engineering and Operations, on behalf of the 
Environmental Advisory Committee Re: Environmental Advisory 
Committee - Motion Regarding Delayed Roadside Mowing, be 
received for information. 

BB RB 16. Richard Rybiak, Chair, Niagara Central Airport Commission Re: 

FD YD 
First Quarter Report 2018 for the Niagara Central Dorothy 
Rungeling Aiq~ort 

BK JM That the correspondence received from Richard Rybiak, Chair, 
Niagara Central Airport Commission Re: First Quarter Report 2018 
for the Niagara Central Dorothy Rungeling Airport , be received for 
information . 

BB RB 17. Region of Niagara Re: 2018 Property Tax Policy, Ratios and 

FD YD 
Rates (ReQort CSD 18-2018} 

BK JM 
That the correspondence received from the Region of Niagara Re: 
2018 Property Tax Policy, Ratios and Rates , be received for 
information. 

Note: 
A copy of Report CSD 18-2018 and the associated by-laws may be 
found by clicking the following link: 
https://www.niagararegion .ca/government/council/minutes/ 

Note: If not otherwise attached to the staff report, by-laws are published and available for review under 
the "Consideration of By-laws" section of the Council agenda. 

405 

407 

411 

9

www.niagararegion.ca/government/council/minutes/


Committee of the Whole Agenda April 23, 2018 

Outside Resolutions - Requests for Endorsement 

JDM BB RB 18. Town of Pelham Re: Appointment Process for Niagara Peninsula 

AD FD YD 
Conservation Authority 

DE BK JM 
That the resolution received from the Town of Pelham Re: 
Appointment Process for Niagara Peninsula Conservation Authority , 
be received for information . 

Note: Council passed similar motions at its meeting of November 30, 2017 
(Request for Provincially Appointed Supervisor) and April 9, 2018 
(Establishing Guidelines for Recruitment). 

JDM BB RB 19. City of Welland Re: Remediation of Abandoned Contaminated 

AD FD YD 
Pro~erties 

DE BK JM 
That the resolution received from the City of Welland Re: Remediation 
of Abandoned Contaminated Properties, be received for information . 

JDM BB RB 20. Region of Halton Re: Seeking Support on the Court Application 

AD FD YD 
Involving the CN Truck-Rail Develo~ment in the Town of Milton 

DE BK JM 
That the resolution received from the Region of Halton Re: Seeking 
Support on the Court Application Involving the CN Truck-Rail 
Development in the Town of Milton, be received for information. 

Responses to City of Port Colborne Resolutions 

Nil. 

Note: If not otherwise attached to the staff report, by-laws are published and ava ilable for review under 
the "Consideration of By-laws" section of the Council agenda . 

415 

421 

423 

10



From: 
To: 
Date: 
Subject: 

Hi Amber,_ 

patty moss <pymoss@hotmail.com> 
"cityclerk@portcolborne.ca" <cityclerk@portcolborne.ca> 
2018-04-10 03:54 PM 
request to be a delegate 

I'm hoping I could be added to April 23 council meeting as a delegate, I will speaking about the 
summary of the roadside mowing trial area and have requests for council for the upcoming 
mowing season . 
Thanks for your time. 
Patty Moss 

11



This oaae intentionallv left blank. 

12



4/18/2018 

1 
13



4/ 18/ 2018 

2 
14



4/18/2018 

3 
15



4/ 18/2018 

4 
16



4/18/2018 

5 
17



4/18/2018 

6 
18



I 

-~-
POI~ T COLBOR.NE 

Report Number: 2018-57 

Community and Economic Development Department 
Economic Development Division 

Date: April 23, 2018 

SUBJECT: Economic Development Strategic Plan: 2018-2028 

1) PURPOSE 

The purpose of this report is to recommend approval of the 2018-2028 Economic 
Development Strategic Plan , as recommended by the Economic Development Advisory 
Committee. 

2) HISTORY, BACKGROUND, COUNCIL POLICY, PRACTICES 

In 2017, in accordance with the recommendation of the Economic Development 
Advisory Committee ("EDAC") , Council approved the development of a new Economic 
Development Strategy ("the Strategic Plan") for the City of Port Colborne, with a total 
project budget of $65,000. The City received $32,500 in grant funding, secured from the 
Ontario Ministry of Agriculture, Food and Rural Affairs Rural Economic Development 
program, contingent on a matching municipal contribution. The City and Niagara Region 
each made a financial contribution to ensure matching funds were secured. A Request 
for Proposals was issued by the City in August 2017, the request for professional 
consulting services was subsequently awarded by Council to MOB Insight. Further 
information regarding the project budget and the Request for Proposals process is 
available in the following reports (available on the City's website) : 

• Planning & Development, Economic Development, Report 2017-145, Subject: 
Recommended Consultant for the Completion of the Port Colborne Economic 
Development Strategy and Action Plan; and 

• Planning & Development, Economic Development, Report 2017-149, Subject: 
Rural Economic Development Program Funding Agreement. 

3) STAFF COMMENTS AND DISCUSSIONS 

MOB Insight ("the consultants") utilized research and analysis of the current economic 
context in Port Colborne, and the surrounding area, for the development of the Strategic 
Plan. In addition, the consultants completed a comprehensive consultation and 
engagement process that included residents, businesses, community leaders, and 
regional organizations. MOB Insight conducted a background review, economic base 
analysis, four focus groups, eighteen key informant interviews and a statistically valid 
telephone survey of one hundred businesses. The consultants also undertook analyses 
of the competitive advantages and disadvantages facing the City of Port Colborne, 
explored options for future directions and opportunities, completed a high-level action 
planning process. On January 9, 2018, the draft Economic Development Strategic Plan 
was sent to Council for review and comment. 

The EDAC was involved in the preparation of the Strategic Plan throughout the process. 
The Committee reviewed the draft Strategic Plan and submitted feedback and 

19



comments for inclusion. Between January and March 2018, the EDAC held four 
meetings to discuss the draft Strategic Plan. The consultants responded to questions 
and made changes to the Strategic Plan in response to the Committee's input. 

On March 21, 2018, the EDAC adopted the Economic Development Strategic Plan and 
recommended the Strategic Plan be referred to Council for approval. The Committee 
also recommended that the Strategic Plan be considered in Council's future planning 
and budgeting activities. 

MOB Insight attended the April 9, 2018 to present the Economic Development Strategic 
Plan for Council's information. As outlined above, this report presents the Committee's 
recommendation for Council to approve the Strategic Plan and for the Plan to inform 
Council 's future planning and budgeting activities. A copy of the Economic Development 
Strategic Plan is attached as Appendix "A". Committee members have been invited to 
attend the April 23, 2018 Council meeting to be present for Council's consideration of 
this report. 

The mandate of the EDAC includes providing advice to Council regarding the City's 
economic development initiatives. Therefore, in accordance with the Committee's 
recommendation, staff recommend Council approve the Economic Development 
Strategic Plan and that the Plan be included in Council's future planning and budgeting 
activities. 

Staff would like to recognize the considerable time and effort the EDAC put into the 
creation of the Strategic Plan . The Committee's input and work with the consultant 
played a significant part in the creation of the final Strategic Plan. On a go-forward 
basis, the Committee will work with the Economic Development Officer to identify 
priorities and develop a work plan for the completion of identified initiatives. 

4) OPTIONS AND FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS: 

a) Do Nothing 

Council may choose to receive and file this report, effectively taking no action. As 
outlined above, Council supported the adoption of a new Economic Development 
Strategic Plan. Council recognized completion of an Economic Development Strategic 
Plan as a priority in the 2017 budget and allocated appropriate funding. Further, this 
project has reached substantial completion. This option is not recommended. 

b) Other Options 

Council may provide alternative direction regarding the initiatives and priorities outlined 
in the Economic Development Strategic Plan. The EDAC provided considerable input 
into the creation of the Economic Development Strategic Plan and it for Council's 
approval. This option is not recommended. 

Community and Economic Development Department, Economic Development Division 
Report No: 2018-57 Page 2 of 3 

20



5) COMPLIANCE WITH STRATEGIC PLAN INITIATIVES 

Economic development initiatives are included in the City's Strategic Plan. The adoption 
of the Economic Development Strategic Plan will support the completion of these and 
future economic development initiatives. In addition, the adoption of a new Economic 
Development Strategic Plan was identified as a priority in Council's 2017 budget 
deliberations. 

6) ATTACHMENTS 

Appendix "A" - Port Colborne Economic Development Strategic Plan 2018-2028 

7) RECOMMENDATION 

That, in accordance with the recommendation of the Economic Development Advisory 
Committee, the Port Colborne Economic Development Strategic Plan 2018-2028, 
prepared by MOB Insight, be approved; and 

That the goals and initiatives identified in the Economic Development Strategic Plan 
2018-2028, be included in Council's future strategic planning processes and budget 
deliberations. 

8) SIGNATURES 

Prepared on April 11, 2018 by: Reviewed by: 
( -

Julian uouglas 
Economic Development Officer 

Reviewed and respectfully submitted by: 

C. Scott Luey 
Chief Administrative Officer 

Community and Economic Development Department, Economic Development Division 
Report No: 2018-57 Page 3 of 3 

21



~ MOB ~INSIGHT 

City of Port Colborne Economic 
Development Strategic Plan: 2018-2028 

March 2018 

22



Contents 

Executive Summary ............. .. ..... .... ...... ... ............ ....... ................. .. .. ............. .... ....... ....... .... ... ii 

1. Introduction ......... ... .. ... .. .. .... .. .. ...... ........ ........ .... ... ........... ........ ...................... .. ........... . 9 

2. Port Colborne's Competitive Situation .. .. ...... ............ ........... .. ...... ........ .. .... .. ............... 14 

2.1 St rat egic Context ... .................. ..... .... ........ .... .. ..... ...... ....... ...... .. .................. .................... ........ 14 

2.2 Economic Indicators ......... ............ ................... ....................................................................... 16 

3. Voice of the Community ............ .. ............. .. .... ............ ......... .................... .................. . 24 

4. Priorit izing Economic Directions . ............ .................... ................................................. 31 

4.1 SOAR Analysis ........... .. .. .... ..... ... ........... .. ......... ........... ...... ....... .... .................. ...... ........ ... ......... 31 

4.2 Competit ive Advantages and Disadvantages .................................................................... ..... 33 

4.3 Establishing an Economic Deve lopment Vision ...................................... ................................ 33 

4.4 Focusing Economic Development Priorities ......................................... ...... ......................... ... 35 

5. Action and Implementation Planning ..... ............... ... ...... .... .. .... ............... ........ ............ 44 

5.1 Interpreting the Action Plans ................................................... .... ..... ..... ........... ..... ... .... ......... 44 

5.2 Act ion Plans ................ ..... ................................................. .................. .... ..... ... ................ ........ 45 

5.3 Performance Measurement ........ ... ........ .............. ............ .. ......... ...... ........ .... .. ................. .... .. 54 

5.4 Committee St ructures ............................................................................................................ 59 

Appendix A - Telephone Survey of Port Colborne' s Businesses ..... .. ........... ................ ..... ..... 61 

Appendix B - Site Selection Considerations .. .... .... ................. ...... ....... ......... .. ........ ............... 68 

A Site Se lecto r's Checklist ......................................................................... ................................... ..... 68 

Investment Rea diness in Port Col borne - First Impressions ... ....................... ................ .................. 70 

Alternat ive Industrial Park Models ...... ..... .......... .. ................................................. .. ...... ....... .. ......... . 74 

Appendix C - Additional Best Practices from Good to Great in U.S. Cit ies ......... .. ....... ........... 77 

Appendix D - Demographic and l abour Force Analysis and Detailed Background Review ...... 80 

Demographic and Labour Force Ana lysis ................ ..... ....... .... ..................... ......... ... .. .... ... .... .. ... ...... 80 

Detai led Background Review ....... ............ ...................................... ....... .. .... ......... ..... .... ...... ......... ... 103 

MDB Insight - City of Port Colborne Economic Development Strategic Plan Page i 

23



Executive Summary 
The City of Port Co/borne Economic Development Strategy establishes a strategic approach to economic 
growth by developing a shared understanding among local community, business, and political leaders on 
the priorities of economic development and goals for future prosperity. The Plan provides a fact-based 
understanding and approach that incorporates the growth challenges in the city, the community's 
leading and emerging economic sectors, and thoughts gleaned from extensive consultation with local 
and regional stakeholders. The Strategy explores four priority growth areas and presents supporting 
action plans . 

• . • • 
' 

Economic Development Vision Statement 

The City of Port Colborne's Economic Development Advisory Committee created the following vision to 
guide the economy of Port Col borne into the future. It is recommended that this vision be adopted to 
guide the Economic Development Strategy. 

The economic development vision statement is : 

Port Co/borne is a place to Jive well and enjoy life in a safe, healthy, prosperous, well-run, 
inclusive and respectful community 

Port Col borne will earn the reputation outlined in the vision statement by: 

• Encouraging high levels of collaboration and partnership between various levels of government and 
the community 

• Encouraging a diversity of businesses through retention and attraction from a variety of industries to 
create the strongest economic foundation possible 

• Enabling a communications plan that consistently promotes the city's merits to the target markets 
identified in this strategic plan 

MDB Insight - City of Port Colborne Economic Development Strategic Plan Page Ii 

24



• Living and promoting an explicit culture of 'customer first' service within the City of Port Colborne in 
order to communicate that the municipality is "open for business" and is always considering the 
interests of taxpayers 

• Improving residential quality of life by engraining a corporate culture that emphasizes community 
enhancement and beautification and continuing to enhance recreational, cultural, and social 
opportunities as a way to create important economic spin-off opportun it ies 

• Having a vibrant and unique downtown co re is an important aspect of attracting residents, visitors, 
and a young and talented labour force to the community 

• Making a political commitment to the goa ls of this strategic plan and evaluating progress against 
performance metrics and adjusting strategy and tactics based on results 

Focusing Economic Development Priorities 

There are four economic development priorities for Port Colborne to focus on over the coming ten 
years. They are: 

• Small Independent Business 

• Residential Development 

• Industrial Development 

• Tourism & Destination Development 

Each of these four directions are further 
explored in the table below. 

Exploring the Potential of Port Colborne's Economic Development Strategic Direct ions 

Residential 
Development 

Tourism & 
Destination 

Development 

Small Independent Residential 
Industrial Development 

Tourism & Destination 

Business Development Development 

Estimated long-

term sector Very Strong Strong Moderate Moderate 

growth 

Complement to 

existing local Strong Strong Strong Strong 

base 

Potential to 

significantly 
Very Strong Very Strong 

impact local 
Moderate Strong 

economy 

MOB Insight - City of Port Colborne Economic Development Strategic Plan Page ir i 

25



Small Independent Residential Tourism & Destination 

Business Development 
Industrial Development 

Development 

Professional services, 

Target 
cultural/creative industries, Retirees looking for lower 

Growing the industrial base 
Visitors to the Niagara 

market(s) 
health and wellness, 'lone- housing costs, young 

(existing and new) 
Region, residents from the 

eagles' looking for quality families GTAdown 

of life, smal l retail 

Port Colborne's small 
Years of no growth have 

Some good tourism draws 

busi nesses are an 
changed as more 

which gives good exposure 

undervalued but important 
momentum is building for 

Historical base of industry to for t he community. More 

Current state of part of the economy. New build on. Still represents year-round destination 

the sector investments in the 
new-housing starts. 

good concentrations of development needed 
Residential communities 

downtown core are helping 
along the rural shores of 

employment and business. before city consistently 

to offer more compelling 
the city have done well. 

draws crowds in a tough 

opportunities. competitive environment. 

Very Good 

Good 
Lower housing costs 

M oderate 
Good 

Port Colborne needs to relative to the rest of 

establish a reputation as a southern Ontario and Al ready home to a strong 
Good tourism assets to 

charming, small-town favourable positioning near industrial base of businesses, 
build from (beach, lake, 

community in a broader Lake Erie, strong Port Colborne will be 
and cana l in particu lar) 

marketing campaign. recreationa l assets, and the severely restricted in its 
and some important 

City's current tourism events that draw 
ability t o Growing investment in the U.S. border support growth abi lity to attract new mid to 

visitors into the 
capitalize on downtown and residential in new residents. There is a large scale developments 

community. Need to 
the sector sector are also adding to strong need to create a without more serviced land. 

the ability of the city to resident attraction This will also limit the ability 
better link tourism assets 

sustain growth over time. marketing campaign to get of local companies to expand 
together to create a Port 

Costs are a positive. Major the word out about Port their operations, prompt ing 
Colborne experience and a 

concerns with a shrinking Colborne. Opportunities some to maybe relocate or 
compell ing reason for the 

and aging population exist for urban core, delay expansion. 
mill ions of visit ors in the 

persist though. suburban, and rural 
Niagara Region to come. 

developments. 

. Lower cost housing and 

• Increasing investment in land • Community assets 
the community (downtown • Quality of life and access to especially as they pertain 
and residential) excellent recreation to heritage and culture 

Capitalize on • Quality of life and access to amenities (e.g. Lake Erie) • Good concentration of • Strong slate of events that 

these excellent recreation • There is vacant land to existing industry a I ready attract visitors 

competitive amenities (including Lake build a wide variety of • Existing industry is well- • Quality recreational assets 

advantages Erie) housing types in the rural established but also • Dining/Drinking options 
• Lower cost housing and and urban parts of the city innovative and competitive and experiences are 

commercial rents • Specific available improving 
• A place with a bit of a gritty properties are well-suited • Less expensive rents 

edge to residential" (e.g. site of 

former hospital) 

MOB Insight - City of Port Colborne Econo111ic Development Strategic Plan Page iv 

26



Small Independent Residential Tourism & Destination 
Industrial Development 

Business Development Development 
I 

• A shrinking/aging population 

(smaller labour force than 
• Limited availability of small 

other areas of t he region) 
offices or co-working 

• Little market presence to • Distance from freeway and • Very few spaces 
'se ll' the community as a main supply chain hubs accommodations and • Inconsistent high-speed 
place to live • Nearly no serviced land that shopping experiences 

Beware of internet 
• Costly to develop land is easily developable is a risk • Disconnected tourism 

these • A shrinking and aging 
because of bedrock to not only attraction but assets that do not speak 

competitive population 
• Properties fronting the maintaining the presence of to an experience 

disadvantages • Crit ical infrastructure 
lake and the canal are existing firms • Properties fronting the investments needed in the 
owned by other entities • Zoned unserviced land is lake and the canal are downtown core 

• A highway network that extremely expensive to get owned by other entit ies • Not perceived as a place 
can easily get bottlenecked adequately serviced 

for young people to start a 
• Little market presence to 

career 
'sell' the community as a 

place to invest 

• An ent repreneurial 

ecosystem that is 

admired by communities • An overall 'very satisfied' • A revita lized downtown 
in the region rating when asked about contributing to the 

• A 20% increase in the 
• A resident population of 

satisfaction working with dining, arts, culture, and 
number of businesses in 

25,000 to 30,000 people 
the City on business needs shopping atmosphere 

the city 
• Clear statistical signs of a 

• Successful marketing • Increased number of 
Desired future • A revitalized downtown campaign highlighting why visitors and visitor 
situation by contributing to the 

younger demographic 
investors should look to spending by a minimum 

2030 growth of dining, arts, 
living in t he community 

Port Colborne of25% 
cult ure, and shopping 

• Recognition as one of 
• Three new industrial • Recognition as one of Ontario's best small 

atmosphere investments in Port Niagara's most cities to live 
• An overall 'very satisfied' Colborne leading to a compelling tourism 

rating when asked about minimum of 2,000 new destinations 
satisfaction working with jobs 

the City on business 

needs 

MOB Insight - City of Port Colborne Economic Development Strategic Plan Page v 

27



Action Planning 

Five goal areas have been identified with accompanying action plans and performa nce measurement 
systems: 

Goal: Nurture Port Colborne's Entrepreneurial Ecosystem 

• Prioritize a 'Customer First' service experience. 

• Review development application policies and procedures. 

• Conduct ongoing business BR+E surveys. 

• Invest igate the feasibility for the creation of a business space to support young start-up 
companies/entrepreneurs. 

• Encourage activities that bring youth together from across Port Colborne and the region to network 
and discuss issues they see. 

• Engage local schools, business leaders, and youth support agencies to develop and promote a youth 
entrepreneurship program. 

Goal: Invest in Quality of Place Infrastructure 

• Lobby to expand the fibre optic network. 

• Boost efforts to improve curb appeal and property standards along major thoroughfares and in the 
dow ntown core. 

Goal: Refresh Port Colborne's Image as an Attractive Place for People to Invest, Live, and Visit 

• Develop a marketing and promotions campaign targeted at attracting new residents and businesses 
to Port Colborne. 

• Review and update municipal by-laws and policies as they pertain to home occupations and 
businesses. 

• Complete a retail gap analysis. 

• Organize 'reverse trade shows' in areas where the City wants to attract businesses. 

• Identify future residential nodes and zone them accordingly. 

• Create a seasonal 'community tours' program to showcase quality of life assets. 

MDB Insight - City of Pori: Colborne Economic Development Strategic Plan Page vi 

28



Goal : Grow the Profile of the Tourism Sector 

• Create a Tourism and Marketing Strategic Plan. 

• Work with neighbouring municipa lities to cross-promote complementa ry themes and tourist 
operators. 

• Consider the use of incentives (e.g. free advertising, marketing etc.) to encourage product 
development or experience enhancement. 

• Establish an ongoing tourism visitor survey and sharing of competitive intelligence on visitors. 

• Link fragmented tourism assets throughout the municipality. 

• Host experiential events in shoulder seasons. 

• Explore the feasibility of attracting new and innovative ecotourism experiences to the area. 

• Explore the feasibility and political interest in developing a new joint industrial park with Fort Erie or 
Welland. 

• Reposition information on the City's website to speak directly to information requirements of site 
selectors 

• Develop lead generation network connections. 

• Work with regional post-secondary institutions to explore the feasibility of opening a sate llite 
ca mpus or operation in Port Colborne. 

Performance measures are included for each goal identifying activities, outputs, and outcomes. 

MOB Insight - City of Po11 Colborne Economic Development Strategic Plan Page vii 

29



30



1. Introduction 
The City of Port Colborne is a community with opportunities ahead of it. With increasing demand for 
new residential land, a good concentration of industrial/manufacturing businesses, low cost of living and 
some strong recreation and tourism assets, proximity to the United States, and access to the urban 
amenities of the Niagara Region and the Greater Toronto Area, Port Colborne should consider itse lf 
poised for growth compared to many other communities of comparable size in Ontario. 

Despite these opportunities, the economy of Port Colborne is faltering. 
Large challenges persist, including a declining and aging population (when 
communities around it are growing), a business base that struggles to find 
the workforce and land they need, and a stagnant image of itself that needs 
to be reinvented and actively marketed. Recognizing these challenges, the 
City of Port Col borne is looking to create a vision to guide its economy over 
the coming decade and identify pathways from which it can capitalize on its 
unique assets and realize more growth opportunities for the future. 

The City of Port Co/borne Economic Development Strategy establishes a 
strategic approach to economic growth by developing a shared 
understanding among local community, business, and political leaders on 
the priorities of economic development and goals for future prosperity. The 
Plan provides a fact-based understanding and approach that incorporates 
the growth challenges in the city, the community's leading and emerging 
economic sectors, and thoughts gleaned from extensive consultation with 
local and regional stakeholders. The Strategy explores four priority growth 
areas and presents supporting action plans. 

A Changing Economy and Changing Way of Doing Economic 

Development 

The transition to a knowledge economy has been upon Canada for several 

decades. As communities, investors, and entrepreneurs grapple with this 

transformation there is a growing recognition of the forces which shape it. 

The owners of companies that are driving today's economy - and w ill 

What does the Economic 
Development Strategy 
do? 

• Provides a fact-based 
approach to create a strong 
and diverse local economy. 

• Creates a vision for the 
economy with strategic 
directions to help guide 
decision-makers over the 
"next 10 years. 

• Recommends specific 
action items that increase 
the appeal of the 
municipality to business 
investors. 

• Aligns with Council's goa ls 
and objectives, Municipal 
initiatives, and t he goals 
and aspirations of the 
community, but also charts 
a course for the 
municipality to incorporate 
into its future actions. 

increasingly drive it tomorrow - are globally oriented, clustered together with peers, looking for 

creative people to bring ideas to life, va lue a non-traditional business structure and workforce, and 

know their businesses operate on a much shorter life-cycle than tradition would boast. 

The nature of work is changing and the skills and infrastructure needed to support this shift are also 

changing. The traditional form of inward investment is declining in favour of small and medium-sized 

enterprises and entrepreneurs. 

Having a mix of assets that align with what creative entrepreneurs and talent want plus a community

wide desire to become even better, Port Colborne's leadership is wonderfully positioned to ensure a 

thriving economy over the long-term. The town can be elevated to stand out in the Niagara Region. 

MOB Insight - City of Port Col borne Economic Development Strategic Plan Page 9 

31



The advantages of being a jurisdiction where innovation drives economic activity are clear. Innovation 

comes from people. A proactive community can play a lead role in enabling the creativity of its 

citizens and attracting more creative people. This method has proven to be the engine for economic 

growth and wealth creation in urban areas across North America over the last decade. 

Knowledge workers and entrepreneurs want to live and work in a community that has interesting civic 

spaces, a place that exudes character and authenticity, and has opportunities to explore new cultures 

and deepen friendships. These stimulus-rich environments are not found everywhere. They can be 

found in Port Colborne. 

By necessity, this strategy stresses the importance of a cross-sectoral approach to dealing with the 

implications of a transforming economy and focuses on identifying opportunities that have 

implications for all sectors of Port Colborne's economy. 

In this sense, this project is a means to optimize Port Colborne's economic development capacity by 

prioritizing economic opportunities and supporting them with clear action plans. To maximize 

effectiveness, the City must prioritize those with the greatest return on investment and marshal 

resources accordingly. This Economic Development Strategic Plan gives due consideration t o investment 

attraction, but also promotes a range of activities designed to bolster the town's economy and ensure 

long term economic prosperity. 

Economic development practice has moved well beyond business attraction towards activities that build 

economies from within. Increasing emphasis is being placed on innovation, knowledge, creativity, talent, 

and fostering entrepreneurial skills. This shift from the production of goods and commodit ies to less 

tangible knowledge and creative-based economies has contributed to a diversity of new economic 

development practices which fall under the umbrella of "economic gardening" 1 and "business retention 

and expansion". In this light, this Economic Development Strategy gives due consideration to attracti ng 

new investment to Port Col borne but also promotes a range of activities designed to bolster the inner 

workings of the municipality's economy and ensure long-term economic prosperity. 

Project Approach 

The approach used to develop this Strategy combined research and analysis of the current economic 
context in Port Colborne and the surrounding region with a comprehensive consultat ion and 
engagement process that included residents, business and community leaders, and regional 
organizations. These efforts provided a foundation to create informed strategic directions for Port 
Col borne and actions to implement those directions. 

The detailed components of the methodology include: 

• Research and Engagement - Background review, economic base ana lysis, four focus groups, 18 key 
informant interviews, and a statistically valid telephone survey of 100 businesses 

1 Economic gardening is an economic development model that embraces the fundamental idea t hat entrepreneurs 
d rive economies . The model seeks to create jobs by supporting existi ng companies in a community. 

MOB Insight - City of Port Colborne Economic Development Strategic Plan Page 10 

32



• Strategic Directions & Action Planning - SOAR analysis, competitive advantages and disadvantages, 
selection of future directions and opportunities, and action planning 

• Validation of Findings and Project Conclusion - Presentation to Council and the Economic 
Development Advisory Committee (EDAC) 

Figure 1: Stra tegic Planning Process 

Economic Base 
Analysis 

Background 
Review 

Report Structure 

Stakeholder 
Consultation 

SOAR Analysis, 
Competitive 

Adv. & Disadv. 

Selection of 
Future 

Directions 

Presentation 
and Va lidation 
with Council 

and EDAC 

The Economic Development Strategy is organized into five sections and appendices: 

Section 2 provides an overview of Port Colborne's competitive situation, including information on 
previous plans and priorities of the City and demographic, labour force, and business profile 
information. More detailed information on all elements of this section are provided in the Appendix. 

Section 3 outlines the results of the consultation activities. Common themes emerging from the 
telephone survey, interviews, and focus groups are presented in summary form. 

Section 4 identifies a path for prioritizing Port Colborne's economic development opportunities and 
presents the economic development vision. 

Section 5 presents the action and implementation plans for each of the strategic priority areas, including 
information on performance measures to track success. 

An Appendix is also included with additional information that expands on certain sections presented in 
the main body of the report. 

MOB Insight - City of Port Colborne Economic Development Strategic Plan Page 11 

33



Case studies on the experience of small urban areas that have gone from 'good to great' are included in 

the report . One of these case studies is presented below, with a number of them also included in the 

Appendix. 

From Good to Great Case Study: Cobourg, Ontario 

Cobourg is a community 90 minutes east of Toronto on the Highway 401 corridor. It has waterfront along 
Lake Ontario and is host to a quality beach, a lively downtown, and a rejuvenated sma ll business sector. 
Cobourg was not always such a vibrant community but, through several important changes, was able to 
transform itself to where it is today. 

The main element to transforming Cobourg into what it is today was revitaliza tion of the waterfront, which 
was once heavily industrial in nature. To kickstart the process, t he Town obtai ned funding t o creat e a 
downtown promenade that served as a catalyst for change. Revitalization started with the walkway directly 
in front of the beach and throughout the years continued along the marina and harbou r. The Town then built 
a new marina that was owned by Cobourg which is now a revenue generator and self-sustain ing. Hundreds 
of residents now live in condominiums across from the marina and waterside pa rks - all where factories once 
stood. Public access to the waterfront has been retained. 

After the promenade, the town started on what they ca lled the "Downtown Vitalization" - a master planning 
exercise. It was initiated with a red-carpet public event. The event allowed ind ividuals to put their ideas on a 
map and they were encouraged to sign up to volunteer for activities. Other significant projects were also 
undertaken including the Downtown Master Plan, Community Improvement Plan, and signage directing 
people from the 401 to the downtown. A Busi ness Attraction Strategy was also developed and has been cited 
as being successful due to the collaboration and partnership with the Cham ber and the Business 
Improvement Association. Together, they were able to pool marketing resources and funds to make a 
stronger impact in business attraction. 

Cobourg has struggled with retaining youth and stimulating businesses that are built for the 21•1 century. As 
such, the most recent initiative is the launch of an innovation centre. Venture 13 has been developed out of 
a former Transcom call centre that, after a few years of neglect, the Town purchased . The top floor houses 
police services. The renovated 30,000 square foot building will feature open spaces, 77-seat lecture hall, and 
24/7 access. It will accommodate 30 seats and 8 offices for entrepreneurs w ith work stat ions and 
makerspaces and will be limited to innovative businesses through a vetting process. 

Cobourg cited the ability to form partnerships and collaborations as key to the success of the commu nity. As 
a smaller community, the budgets allocated for individual departments would not have been able to create 
as strong an impact as they have been able to do through collaboration and a progressive Mayor and Counci l. 

MDB Insight- City of Port Colborne Economic Development Strategic Plan Page 12 

34



35



2. Port Colborne's Competitive Situation 

2.1 Strategic Context 

An early step in the research for developing the Economic Development Strategy for Port Colborne 
involved an examination of key City planning documents. The goal was to provide an understanding of 
the planning and decision-making context within which the Economic Development Strategy will be 
developed. A range of documents were examined, including: 

• City of Port Col borne Business Retention & Expansion Project 

• Team Niagara Economic Development Action Plan 

• Competitive Analysis of Industries in the City of Port Colborne 

• City of Port Colborne Official Plan 

• City of Port Colborne Industrial Community Improvement Plan 

• City of Port Colborne Arts & Culture Master Plan 

In reviewing the documents, a number of common themes emerged. These themes are explored in 
more detail below. 

Business Retention and Investment Attraction 

The City of Port Colborne has identified the need for investment attraction and assisting existing local 
businesses with the aim of retaining business and facilitating expansion. A significant portion of existing 
businesses have been operating in Port Col borne for over 30 years. 

A survey conducted by the City found that businesses had difficulty hiring emp loyees and that 55% of 
businesses hire individuals who reside outside of the city due to lack of qualified candidates locally. 
However, businesses also indicated that they do most of their recruiting th rough personal networks. 
There is a disconnect between employers and employees, as those seeking work report job shortages 
and businesses seeking employers are not having their hiring needs met. It was identified t hat there 
needs to be an assessment of the specific skill requirements of employers and that a broader, more 
formalized network for hiring needs to be better established. An established hiring network can help to 
mitigate the gap of employers and employees in meeting their needs. 

Documents also acknowledged the need to increase investment readiness in t he city. This included 
increasing the availability of serviced land. This would not only help with business attraction, but also 
expansion for existing businesses. There was also an identified need to actively seek industries that 
aligned with the strategic objectives of Port Colborne and Niagara. Key sectors for growth have been 
identified as advanced manufacturing, tourism, aerospace, logistics, food processing, health, 
biosciences, green technologies, and interactive media. 

Port Colborne has been recognized as an Economic Gateway Centre and has been in the process of 
strategically positioning itself as such. Efforts include encouraging cross-border trade, providing land and 
infrastructure for the continued sustainable development of tourist facilities, encouraging port facilities, 
promoting existing industrial lands, and capitalizing on major transportation routes. 

MDB Insight - City of Port Colborne Economic Development Strategic Plan Page 14 

36



Quality of Life 

Quality of life is an important factor for any community, but seems to be of particu lar significance in Port 
Colborne. Overall, residents feel that there is a robust quality of life, and that the community offers a 
great atmosphere to live. That being said, the community does struggle with a number of social issues, 
including high drug use, high school drop-out rates, and teen pregnancy which highlight divisions within 
the community. 

With a declining population, there is a need to attract individuals to the community, and for individuals 
who were raised in Port Colborne to continually choose Port Colborne as a place to live and raise a 
family. Residents identified favourable quality of life factors such as affordable housing, short commute 
times to work, safety, and the natural attributes of the community such as the waterfront. 

The promotion of these positive attributes has been identified as a priority. Advocat ing these attributes 
in the way of tourism has also been identified as requiring greater attention and has the opportunity to 
provide a great deal of potential for Port Colborne. 

The City Official Plan identified the need for providing a range of housing opportunities and choices. 
This is another facet to quality of life that cou ld assist in bringing in a broader range of ind ividuals as 
current housing options are mostly limited to single detached homes which are typically more 
expensive. The Plan also identified the need for creating walkable neighbourhoods, all of which can help 
to encourage population growth in Port Colborne. 

The Arts & Culture Plan made mention of severa l avenues by which Port Col borne cou ld enhance their 
arts and culture sector. This is an aspect to a community that is also important to qual ity of life and 
entertainment for residents. Enhancing the arts and cu lture within a community can he lp to advance the 
tourism sector. 

Downtown Revitalization 

The designated downtown area, specifically the downtown business district, has been of particu lar 
focus. The Downtown Central Business District Community Improvement Plan identified that the project 
area has begun to show signs of stagnation and early deterioration. There were several attributes 
identified for the vision of the downtown business area. These attributes included elements such as 
maintaining and enhancing the authentic feel and character, and being a vibrant and commercial area 
throughout the day and year with a variety of stores that are open longer hours. Having more people 
living downtown in a diverse range of housing and streetscapes within a visua lly interesting public rea lm 
has also been identified as important goals to improve the downtown business district. 

Another main identified need for downtown revitalization is to have improved connect ions with the 
canal, waterfront, marina, the Olde Humberstone Commercial Area, and the community east of the 
cana l. Waterfront enhancement and more use of the canal were revealed in several documents as a 
priority and opportunity for further growth. There was also the mention of underutilized land that had 
potential for business and to serve as public gathering spaces. 

The need to attract business to the downtown was made apparent by the lack of services and goods 
available for purchase in Port Col borne and by the number of empty store fronts. Having an improved 
downtown will enhance pedestrian traffic which can lead to improved business opportun ities. 

MOB Insight - City of Port Colborne Economic Development Strategic Plan Page 15 

37



2.2 Economic lndicators2 

Demographics 

Port Colborne has experienced a stagnant (and slight decline) in population growth since 2006 (as seen 
in Figure 2 below). This is far below the population growth experienced in both the Niagara Region and 
Ontario (growth of 3.8% and 4.6% respectively from 2011 to 2016). 

In addition, Port Colborne has a noticeably older population relative to the Niagara Region and Ontario 
(as seen in Figure 3, a greater portion of the population lies in the 50+ age category, with fewer under 50 
years) . This is not typically a favourable age distribution as it has a limited working age population to 
draw from. This can partly be explained by the fact that many youth are leaving Port Colborne for post
secondary education and more specialized job opportunities in the larger urban centres of southern 
Ontario. An older population, however, does also present a number of opportunities for Port Colborne 
including attracting businesses to serve this population and a relative wealth t hat seniors may have as 
they downsize their homes. 

Both a stagnant/declining population and the aging of the population, however, are starting to have 

detrimental effects on the Port Col borne economy as businesses are finding it more difficult to find 
the workforce they need to operate their businesses successfully. 

As housing prices in the Greater Toronto Area have increased rapidly over the past 10 years, more and 
more people are leaving Toronto and moving to Hamilton, Grimsby, and the Niagara Region in search of 
more affordable housing and a lower cost of living. This has resulted in a surge in housing prices and 
population increases in these communities . Port Colborne, on the other hand, has not fully realized 

2 Al l information in this section is based on Statistics Canada data sources. 

MDB Insight -City of Port Colborne Economic Development Strategic Plan Page 16 

38



these increases and stands poised to be able to attract new residents to the community in search of 
even more affordable housing prices. The average dwelling value in 2016 in Port Colborne was 
$237,725, below both the Niagara Region ($323,219) and Ontario ($268,684). Housing values have 
grown by 18% in Port Colborne since 2011, whereas they have grown by 25% in the Niagara Region and 
38% in Ontario. 

Figure 2: Population Growth, 2001 to 2016 

7% 

6% 

5% 

4% -+------------~ 

3% 

2% 

1% 

0% 

-1% -+-----
-0.93% -0.60% 

-2% 

Port Colborne Niagara Ontario 

• 2001 - 2006 • 2006 - 2011 • 2011-2016 

Source: Statistics Canada. 2016 Census Profile, 2011 National Household Survey, 2006 Census Profile. 

Figure 3: Population by Age Distribution, 2016 

10% 

9% 

8% 

7% 

6% 

5% 

4% 

3% 

2% 

1% 

0% 
0 to 4 5 to 9 10 to 15 to 20 to 25 to 30 to 35 to 40 to 45 to SO to 55 to 60 to 65 to 70 to 75 to 80 to 85+ 

M H M H ~ H « 0 ~ g M H N ~ U 

--Port Colborne - Niagara - Ontario 

Source: Statistics Canada. 2016 Census Profile . 

MDB Insight - City of Port Colborne Economic Development Strategic Plan Page 17 

39



Labour Force 

Port Colborne's population (aged 25 to 64 yea rs old) has relatively less education than that of the 
Niagara Region as a w hole. As shown in the figure below, Port Colborne has the highest percentage of 
individuals w ith no certificate, diploma or degree. Port Colborne also has the highest percentage of 
individuals having received a high school diploma as their highest level of education . Port Co lborne has a 
significantly lower percentage of individuals having attained a university certificate or diploma at a 
bachelor level or above. 

These statistics speak to the types of jobs available in Port Col borne with fewer knowledge-based 
employment opportunities and more hands-on trades-based jobs. It also speaks to the likelihood of 
being able to attract ce rtain types of businesses to Port Colborne and the difficulties the community 
might have in convincing businesses in need of university graduates that the appropriat e labour force 
can be drawn on from within the community. 

That being said, businesses in Port Colborne do draw on a labour force from throughout the Niagara 
Region (and beyond). Roughly 40% of the employment in Port Colborne is fi ll ed by residents liv ing 
outside of the city, w ith 17% of positions filled by individuals commuting from Welland, 7% from Fort 
Erie, and 6% from St. Catharines. Roughly 60% of employm ent in the city is filled by local Port Col borne 
residents. 

With that in mind, however, approximately 56% of Port Colborne's residents commute out side of Port 
Col borne for work. The top communities in which residents commute to are Welland, Niagara Falls, Fort 
Erie, and St Catharines. 

These numbers highlight the fact that there is a shortage of jobs in Port Colborne to satisfy the 
number of residents in the workforce. Even if all positions in Port Col borne were filled by local Port 
Col borne residents, there would still be the need for 2,080 individuals to commute elsewhere to find 
work. 

Figure 4: Highest Level of Education Attained, 2016 

Highest Level of Education Port Colborne Niagara Region 

Bachelor's degree or higher 12% 21% 

College, CEGEP or other non-university certificate 
31% 29% 

or diploma 

Apprenticeship certificate 6% 8% 

High school diploma or equivalency 33% 30% 

No certificate, diploma, or degree 12% 10% 

Source: Statistics Canada. 2016 Census Profile. 

MDB lnsigl1t - City of Port Colborne Economic Development Strategic Plan Page 18 

40



There were 7,820 people employed in Port Col borne in 2016, a slightly lower number than 2011. This is 
also reflected in the fact that the unemployment rate in Port Col borne increased between 2011 and 
2016, from 8.2% to 9.5%. 

The largest proportion of the workforce is employed in Retail Trade (14%), Manufacturing (12.9%), 
Health Care and Social Assistance (11.8%), Construction (8.3%), and Accommodation and Food Services 
(8.1%). All of these sectors (except for Manufacturing) have increased t hei r shares of employment in the 
Port Colborne economy since 2011. Employment in the manufacturing secto r, on the other hand, has 
decreased by just over 3% since 2011. 

The top occupations in Port Colborne are: 

• Sales and service occupations (26.9%) 

• Trades, transport and equipment operators and related occupations (18.5%) 

• Business, finance and administration occupations (11.6%) 

• Occupations in education, law and social, community and government services (10.3%) 

• Management occupations (10.3%) 

The number of employed in each occupation stayed relatively constant between 2011 and 2016, w ith 
the exception of Management occupations which grew by its share of employment by 2.6% and 
Business, finance and administration occupations which shrunk its share of employment by 4.1%. 

Business Characteristics 

There were 1,266 businesses in Port Col borne in 2016, an increase of 3% since 2014. Approximately 63% 
of the businesses are 'self-employed' 3

. Of the employer-based businesses (i.e. non-self-employed), there 
are 25 that employ 50 or more employees. Leading industries for these medium to large businesses are 
in Manufacturing (8 businesses) and Retail Trade (5 businesses). 

In terms of the total business composition, the following industry secto rs exhibited the highest 
proportion of business establishments in Port Colborne as of 2016: 

• Real estate and rental and leasing (227 businesses, 93% self-employed) 

• Other services (except public administration)4 (120 businesses, 54% self-employed) 

• Construction (119 businesses, 64% self-employed) 

• Retail Trade (116 businesses, 35% self-employed) 

3 Those who do not maintain an employee payroll, but may have a workforce consisting of contracted workers, 
family members or business owners. 
4 This sector comprises establishments, not classified to any other sector, primarily engaged in repairing, or 
performing general or routine maintenance, on motor vehicles, machinery, equipment and other products to 

ensure that they work efficiently; providing personal care services, funeral services, laundry services and other 
services to individuals, such as pet care services and photo finishing services; organizing and promoting religious 
activities; supporting various causes through grant-making, advocating (promoting) various social and political 
causes, and promoting and defending the interests of their members. Private households are also included. 

MOB Insight - City of Po11: Col borne Economic Development Strategic Plan Page 19 

41



• Professiona l, scientific and technica l services (87 businesses, 74% self-employed) 

Since 2014, industries t hat have experienced the highest rates of growth in the number of new 
businesses include Administrative and Support, Waste Management and Remediation Services (+21%), 
Educat iona l Services (+14%), and Professional, Scientific and Technical Services (+10%). Industries t hat 
have shrunk in t erms of the number of businesses include M anagement of Companies and Enterprises (-
46%), Arts, Entertainment and Recreation (-37%), and Wholesa le Trade (-26%). Of special note is a sl ight 
growth in the number of M anufacturing businesses, increasing by three since 2014. 

As for t he concentration by business type relative to the Niagara Region (known as Locat ion Quotients)5, 

Port Colborne has a sl ight growing concentration of businesses in Manufacturing, Transportat ion and 
Warehousing, and Other services (except public administ rat ion). These areas of growth complement an 
already high concentration relat ive to the Niagara Region for businesses in the industries of M ining and 
Oil and Gas Extraction, Utilities, and Public Administration. 

Figure 5: Location Quotients by Industry compared against the Niagara Region 

21 - Mining and oil and gas extraction 

22 - Utilities 

23 - Construction 

31-33 - Manufacturing 

41 - Wholesale trade 

44-45 - Retail trade 

48-49 - Transport ation and warehousing 

51 - Information and cultural industries 

52 - Finance and insurance 

53 - Real estc;ite and rental and leasing 
54 - Professional, scientific and technical services 
55 - Management of companies and enterprises 

56 - Administrative and support, waste 
management and remediation services 

61 - Educational services 

62 - Health care and social assistance 

71 - Arts, entertainment and recreation 

72 - Accommodation and food services 
81 - Other services (except public administration) 

91 - Public administration 

Source: Statistics Canada. Canadian Business Patterns, December 2016 

1.01 Average 

0.78 Average 

0.94 Average 

Average 

5 Location Quotient (LQ) is a measu re of employment specialization or strength based on the concentration of 
employment as compared to a larger geography (in this case the Niagara Region). It is important when looking at 
the LQ to remember that it is being compared against another region, and as such changes from year to year in the 

LQ could be the reflection of a change within the comparator region, and not necessarily an absolute change in the 
city. An LQ of Oto 0.75 is considered low, 0.75 to 1.25 is considered average, and above 1.25 is high. 

MDB Insigh t - City of Port Colborne Economic Development Strategic Plan Page 20 

42



Port Colborne's population 
declined from 2011to2016. This 

compares to Niagara where 
population increased by 4%. 

Median household income 

declined in Port Colborne from 

2005 to 2015. Niagara and 

Ontario experienced median 

household income growth. 

The average dwelling value in 

Port Colborne in 2016 was 

$85,494 less than it was in 

Niagara. 

Port Colborne has the lowest 

percentage of individuals 

without a University education 

when comparing to Niagara and 

Ontario. 

MOB Insight - City of Port Colborne Economic Development Strategic Plan 

Port Col borne is experiencing an 

aging population. The median age 
in Port Col borne is 4 years older 

than the median age in Niagara 

and 9 years older than Ontairo. 

Median household income in 

2015 in Port Colborne was less 

than Niagara by nearly $8,000 

and $17,043 less than Ontario. 

The cost of dwelling va lues 

increased in Port Col borne from 

2011to2016by18%, dwelling 

values in Niagara from 2011 to 

20 16 increased by 25%. 

Port Col borne has the highest 

percentage of individuals with an 

apprenticeship or college degree 

compared to both Ontario an 

Niagara. 

Page 21 

43



56% of the work force in Port 

Col borne commute outside of 

Port Col borne for work. 

The highest portion of business 

establishments in Port Colborne 

are; real estate and rental and 

leasing; other services; 

construction; retail trade; and 

professional, scientific and 

technical services. 

NIDB Insight - City of Port Colborne Economic Development Strategic Plan 

60% of avai lable jobs in Port 

Col borne are filled by Port 

Colborne residents. 

Businesses characterized as the 

owner being the sole employee 

represent 62% of total business 

establishments in Port Colborne. 

Page 22 

44



45



3. Voice of the Community 
The planning process for the Economic Development Strategy included an engagement process involving 
a range of stakeholders from throughout Port Colborne, including business ow ners, community and 
municipal leaders, and residents. These consultations were designed to encourage participants to share 
their insights, ideas, and opinions on the current business climate in Port Col borne, identifying the 
important assets that the community can build on, as well as the opportunities, barriers, vision, and 
priority action items for the future. 

Consultation activities included: 

• Telephone Survey of Businesses -A statistically valid survey of 100 randomly selected businesses in 
Port Colborne to generate insight into satisfaction with Port Colborne as a place to own and operate 
a business as well as the identification of areas of opportunity and challenge. 

• Stakeholder Interviews - A total of 18 telephone interviews were conducted wit h business, 
community, and municipal leaders in Port Colborne. These interviews were open-ended, each 
averaging approximately 20-30 minutes in length. 

• Focus Groups - Four focus groups hosted in Port Colborne with a variety of groups including the 
City's Economic Development Advisory Committee and City staff, young entrepreneurs, the general 
public, and local manufacturing leaders and the business community. Focus groups were held in 
October 2017 and were each two hours in length. 

• External Stakeholder Interviews - Interviews were conducted to ga in a sense of the perceptions of 
Port Col borne as a place to invest by businesses based outside of t he city. 

A summary of results from the consultation activities is presented in this section. A more detailed review 
of findings from the engagement activities can be found in the Appendix. 

Key Findings 

Business Climate 

Many respondents felt that the business climate in Port Colborne needed improvement. While some did 
share a more optimistic outlook on the prospects of business attraction within the city and favourable 
experiences working with the City and the support provided, discussion often centred on a need to 
reduce red tape within City processes in order to encourage faster development processes and facili tate 
new, innovative business ideas. Respondents would like the City to be more proactive and encouraging 
in attracting new investment and supporting new start-up businesses. 

Overall, respondents felt that there are not many compelling reasons to want to do business in Port 
Col borne over other areas. A major concern seen by many was the lack of available serviced land. The 
current business park was felt to be sub-par and offered sites that were not appropriate in size or 
quality. In addition, some of the land that is available in the business park is costly to build on as it 
requires special studies and surveys, or has large costs associated with gett ing t he necessa ry servicing. 
Interviewees encouraged the City to look at sourcing more available serviced land that would serve as a 
better incentive for businesses to locate in Port Colborne. 

MDB Insight - City of Port Colborne Economic Development Strategic Plan Page 24 

46



Port Colborne's Assets 

Respondents cited the existence of Port Colborne was due to the Welland Canal. The Welland Canal has 
allowed for the emergence of various industries within Port Col borne that would have otherwise not 
been possible. With cargo traffic coming through Port Col borne it has given rise t o supporting 
businesses that service these ships. The Welland Canal has also provided a tourism asset for Port 
Colborne. However, many respondents cited that the canal was underutil ized. 

Port Colborne's location is also an important asset. Proximity to the US border, proximity to Toronto and 
major international airports, proximity to St. Catharines, and proximity to international shipping via the 
Welland Canal were discussed. In addition to location, the weather associated with the location of Port 
Colborne was also mentioned as a positive asset with winters being mild, and summers being sunny. 

Additionally, other quality of life indicators were mentioned including a great small-town community 
feel where people are friendly and welcoming. Several individuals mentioned the benefit of the lake and 
beach as a tourist destination and also for recreation of local residents. Affordable housing (relative to 
other areas in the Niagara Region and the Toronto Area) was also believed to be an asset for attracting 
individuals from the Toronto area as a retirement destination and also business attraction. Respondents 
also mentioned other positive features such as arts and culture, short commute times, and city events 
and festivals. 

Visions for the Economy 

Many individuals identified the need to attract more people to live in Port Colborne and grow the 
population. One of the main avenues by w hich people saw this coming to fruition was to build more and 
diversified housing options. Several individuals also identified residential development options along the 
canal as being a strong opportunity for population growth. There was an overall belief that building 
along the canal would be attractive for individuals retiring from Toronto and looking for less expensive 
housing options. In addition, mixed residential options are attractive for families who can't afford a 
single detached but might be able to afford a less expensive option such as a row house or 
condominium. 

While there was a noticeable impression of creating a retirement community in Port Colborne, others 
did share that this was not the way to create sustainable economic growth, and instead Port Col borne 
should focus their efforts on attracting young families and promote Port Colborne as an ideal place to 
raise a family. 

Another vision that many people shared was to increase tourism in the area. There was an impression 
that Port Colborne was known as a stopover location, and not a tourist destination. Individuals believed 
that the natural resources in the city were underutilized and under promoted. One respondent shared 
that they had heard Port Colborne described as a "hidden gem" and that it needs to not be hidden. 
Another missing piece in Port Colborne in regards to supporting tourism growth is hotel options. Several 
individuals indicated that there were not adequate hotel options in the city for leisure or business. 
Individuals who had business dealings often would send visitors to ne ighbouring communities for 
accommodation as the options in Port Col borne were poor. 

Challenges and Barriers 

By far the most mentioned comment during the engagement process was the significant barrier of a lack 
of available serviced land for industrial purposes. Individuals asserted that if there was more serviced 

MOB Insight - City of Port Colborne Economic Development Strategic Plan Page 25 

47



land in the community it would be a stronger incentive for businesses to establish themselves in Port 
Col borne, with resulting increases in jobs and people relocating to Port Col borne. 

An aging population was cited as another concern deterring businesses from locating in Port Col borne. 
Businesses had staffing concerns with a large proportion of the population being older than the prime 
working ages (25 to 64 years old) . Some businesses felt that it was difficult t o find workers with the 
necessary skill sets and as a result were hiring individuals living outside of Port Col borne. These workers, 
who were commuting to Port Col borne, would often have high turnover rates as they grew tired of the 
commute, and wou ld seek employment closer to home. Many respondents identified that bu ilding 
additional housing options would encourage people to the area and therefore increase population 
leading to more local employment and job opportunities. 

Other cha llenges/barriers that were discussed included: 

• High tax rates 

• Red tape and bureaucracy in City Hall that slows the ambitions of businesses 

• Poor state of infrastructure in the downtown core 

• A lack of appropriate highway transportation routes and distance from major highways, with 
existing routes often congested 

• A lack of shopping options for everyday goods forcing residents to look outside of the city to meet 

their needs 

Opportunities and Priorities 

A number of opportunities and priorities were discussed, including: 

• Developing the waterfront (both the Canal and Lake Erie). Interviewees believed there was 
sign ificant untapped potential in residential, commercial/tourist, and industrial uses along the 
waterfront. Some recommended further industrializing the canal and exploring opt ions around 
improved access to shipping and positioning Port Colborne as a warehousing hub. Residential 
development was also seen as an option. 

• Encouraging more residential development and attracting people from throughout Southern Ontario 
to the community (both retirees and young families). The less expensive land and housing in Port 
Colborne offer significant opportunities in attracting individuals and businesses to the community. 

• Advocating for new transportation routes into and out of Port Colborne. 

• Improving the availability of accommodation options, allowing Port Colborne to grow its overnight 
visitor stays and be in contention for hosting more events such as sporting tournaments. 

• Continuing to enhance the downtown core and attracting more businesses to take up vacant 

storefronts. 

• Working to improve the stock of available serviced industrial land and marketing that land to 
prospective businesses to move their operations to Port Colborne. 

• Marketing Port Colborne more effectively and sharing what Port Col borne has to offer to individuals 
outside of the Niagara region . There was a strong sense that improvement across a number of 

MDB Insight - City of Port Colborne Economic Development Strategic Plan Page 26 

48



variables (business interest, residential development, tourism profile) could be seen from a strong 
marketing campaign. 

• Creating a business incubator in the community to support the emergence of sta rt-ups and 
emerging businesses across a variety of sectors. 

• Working to reduce the red tape and bureaucracy associated with starting/ running a business in t he 
city. 

• Creating a more cohesive vision for how t he city will grow and t o have that vision guide all City 
decision-making. 

Business Survey Findings 

A random sample of 100 businesses from Port Colborne's business directory participated in a statistica lly 
va lid telephone su rvey to generate insight into satisfaction with Port Colborne as a place to own and 
operate a business as we ll as the identification of areas of opportunity and challenge. 

Note that 64% of businesses surveyed were in the following three industries: Retail trade (27), 
Accommodation and food services (19), and Other services (except public administration}6 (18). 

Key findings from the business survey include: 

• 91% of businesses expressed a level satisfaction w ith Port Col borne as a place to do business, while 
9% expressed a level of dissatisfaction (48% responded very satisfied, 43% satisfied, 8% somewhat 
satisfied, 1% very dissatisfied). 

• The highest ranked factor of satisfaction of doing business in Port Colborne was 'Festiva ls and 
Events', and 'Internet Service', w ith 62% of people responding 'Very Satisfied.' Second highest 
ranked was 'Overall quality of life' w ith 60% responding 'Very Satisfied'. 

• Th e factor with the highest ranked 'Very Dissatisfied' was 'Municipal property taxes' with 31% 
responding very dissatisfied followed by 'Energy costs' with 27% responding very dissatisfied. The 
factor with the lowest percentage responding 'Very Satisfied' with only 17% was 
'Development/ building permit processes'. 

• 42% of businesses reported having increased profits within the last three years, with 55% suspect ing 
to increase profits in the coming three yea rs. 

• 25% of businesses reported plans for business expansion within the next three yea rs. 

• 41% of businesses currently have difficulty hiring in Port Col borne. Of these businesses, 43% said 
that the difficulty w ith hiring lies in there being a lack of skills or training in the local labour fo rce, 
followed by too few applicants, and lack of relevant experience. 

6 This sector comprises establishments, not classified to any other sector, primarily engaged in repairing, or 
performing general or routine maintenance, on motor veh icles, machinery, equipment and other products to 
ensure that they work efficiently; providing personal care services, funeral services, laundry services and other 
services to individuals, such as pet care services and photo finishing services; organizing and promoting re ligious 
activities; supporting various causes through grant-making, advocating (promoting) various socia l and politica l 
causes, and promoting and defending the interests of their members. Private households are also included. 

MDB Insight - City of Port Colborne Economic Development St rategic Plan Page 27 

49



• 94% of businesses commented that the most important element in creat ing a successfu l economy in 
Port Colborne over the next 20 years is attract ing and developing the local workforce, followed by 
encouraging more residential development. Other elements for a successfu l economy that were 
mentioned include a need for more industry, activities for the young and retaining the young, and 
more stores and businesses. 

• Areas of priority concern for businesses in Port Colborne are (see Figure 6 below): 

• Municipa l property taxes 

• Energy costs 

• Availability and quality of the workforce 

• Retai l shops and shopping experience 

• Diversity of age groups 

Figure 6: Derived Importance of Businesses across a Variety of Categories 

Room for 
Priority Ranking Derived Improvement Category 

lmportance«I> (Proportion answering 'somewhat (Derived Importance x 
dissatisfied' o r ' very dissatisfied') Room for Improvement) 

Municipal property taxes 7.2 43% 3.11 

Energy costs 6.0 47% 2.80 

Availability and quality of the workforce 8.5 32% 2.72 

Retail shops and shopping experience 5.6 31% 1.73 

Diversity of age groups 7.8 22% 1.71 

Availability of adequate housing 7.4 18% 1.33 

Land costs 6.1 21% 1.29 

Development Charges 6.5 19% 1.24 

Quality of business parks and industrial areas 6.9 17% 1.17 

Development/building permit process 5.6 20% 1.12 

Revital ization of the downtown area 7.4 12% 0.89 

Availability of space for rent or lease 6.9 12% 0.82 

Zoning 6.3 13% 0.82 

Availabi lity of serviced land 5.4 13% 0.70 

Support from local residents 6.1 10% 0.61 

Internet Service 6.1 10% 0.61 

Festivals and events 8.7 7% 0.61 

Overall quality of life 7.0 6% 0.42 
•Derived importance is a measure of the relative importance of each category in relation to the question "Overall how satisfied are you with 
Port Colborne as a place to open and operate a business?" The correlation for each category has been converted to a ten-point scale, with '10' 
representing the category that had the highest impact in respondents being satisfied with doing business in Port Colborne. All numbers are in 
relation to each other and give a sense of t he relative comparison between categories and their Impact on the satisfaction of businesses. 

MOB Insight - City of Port Colborne Economic Development Strategic Plan Page 28 

50



From Good to Great Case Study: Perth, Ontario 

Perth is a community of 5,930 people located an hour outside of Ottawa. Perth is home to a heritage 
downtown core and the Tay River that splits and runs through the majority of the downtown. Some of the 
downtown is an island formed by the two channels of the river. While other communities were being 
affected by the recession in the early 2010s, Perth stayed surprisingly consistent. Now, post-recession, it is 
thriving. The success in Perth can be attributed to several factors. 

Several years ago, Perth focused efforts on the revitalization of the downtown core. This sta rted with 
receiving heritage grants to assist in renovating downtown heritage buildings. A number of other loans 
distributed to help with fac;:ade improvements and enhancements of downtown businesses. In parallel, a 
study concluded that the best use of vacant land on the riverfront across from Town Hall (referred to as the 
'dust bowl' gravel parking lot) would be a community space. It is now used for events such as the farmers 
market. 

The next major component to the downtown revitalization was the Glass Palace. The palace was constructed 
out of recycled materials and now host s weddings, markets, the Christmas of Lights, and other events. This 
was instrumental as it was an initiative that aimed to bring people into the downtown and increase traffic in 
the downtown. It has worked in attracting locals and visitors alike. 

Another initiative designed to increase traffic in the downtown was the transformation of an old co-op 
building site on a prime waterfront location. Town officials had wanted a hotel for a long period of time and 
it wou ld have been easier to attract one to Highway 7 near the fast food and larger format retailers, but they 
were committed to supporting downtown with a unique amenity. A study was commissioned that looked at 
the va lidity of having a hotel in the downtown. The study found that a hotel was feasible and this 
information was used by a local entrepreneur to receive financing. This not only encouraged tourism in the 
core, but reinforced the community's strong brand image, and facilitated business partnerships through deal 
offerings and co-marketing. 

MOB Insight - City of Port Co lborne Economic Development Strategic Plan Page 29 

51



52



4. Prioritizing Economic Directions 

4.1 SOAR Analysis 

The Strengths, Opportunities, Aspirations, Results (SOAR) Analysis provides a means of synthesizing 

input from the research and community engagement process. The idea of the SOAR is t o build from 

what works rather than fixating on w hat does not, lending an analysis to ident ifying t he positive actions 

and steps forward. Details on each of the four components of the SOAR are included in the table below. 

Figure 7: SOAR Analysis 

• What are we doing well? 

• What key achievements are we most proud of? 

• What positive aspects have individuals and organizations 

commented on? 

• What changes in demand do we expect to see over the next 

years? 

• What external forces or trends may positively impact 

development? 

• What are key areas of untapped potential? 

• What are we deeply passionate about? 

• As a City, what difference do we hope to make? 

• What does our preferred future look like? 

• What meaningful measures will indicate that we are on track in 

achieving our goals? 

• What resources are needed to implement our most vita l projects 

and initiatives? 

• What are the key goals we would like to accomplish in order to 

achieve these results? 

MOB Insight - City of Port Colborne Economic Development Strategic Plan Page 31 

53



IVIDB Insight- City of Port Colborne Economic Development Strategic Plan Page 32 

54



4.2 Competitive Advantages and Disadvantages 

Looking at competitive advantages and disadvantages is helpful in differentiating Port Colborne from its 

regional counterparts. The city's competitive advantages form the basis of the unique va lue proposition 

the community offers to new residents, businesses, and potential investors. Competitive disadvantages 

are the factors that need to be addressed to minimize the effects of barriers, particularly w hen looking 

to attract new residents and investment . 

Figure 8: Port Colborne's Competitive Advantages and Disadvantages 

Competitive Advantages Competitive Disadvantages 

• Low cost of living with lower housing prices • A shrinking and aging population base with lower 

relative to surrounding areas levels of education than the region as a whole 

• A strong manufacturing base • Location is considered the 'end of the road', with 

• A strong base of recreational assets 
businesses having to pay a premium to bring in 

supplies 

• A historic and unique downtown core • A road/highway network that can easi ly get 

• Vibrant rural and vacation communities bottlenecked with limited other options to get in 

and out of the commun ity 
• Passionate community leaders 

• No availability of post-secondary education 
• Direct access to Lake Erie programs within the commun ity 

• Fibre optic backbone in the city • Lack of diversified housing and industrial land 

4.3 Establishing an Economic Development Vision 

A vision statement is meant to capture the goals, aspirations, values, and collective desires of a 
community and act as a clear guide for choosing future courses of action. An economic development 
vision for Port Col borne is meant to capture these attributes through the lens of economic prosperity. It 
encompasses the desired future state of what the city can ultimately achieve from an employment and 

business growth perspective. Wealth generation, entrepreneurship, innovation, and increased 
investment can all directly translate into increased quality of life, fuller and more meaningfu l 
employment, improved services, and community well-being. 

An economic development vision statement is presented below to guide t he economic development 
efforts of the City of Port Col borne. The vision statement is grounded in input from community 
stakeholders as well as the challenges and opportunities that the city faces. 

MOB Insight- City of Port Colborne Economic Development Strategic Plan Page 33 

55



Economic Development Vision Statement 

The City of Port Colborne's Economic Development Advisory Committee created the following vision to 
guide the economy of Port Colborne into the future. It is recommended that t his vision be adopted to 
guide the Economic Development Strategy. 

The economic development vision statement is: 

Port Co/borne is a place to live well and enjoy life in a safe, healthy, prosperous, well-run, 
inclusive and respectful community 

Guiding Principles 

Port Colborne will earn the reputation outlined in the vision statement by: 

• Encouraging high levels of collaboration and partnership between various levels of government and 
the community 

• Encouraging a diversity of businesses through retention and attraction from a variety of industries to 
create the strongest economic foundation possible 

• Living and promoting an explicit culture of 'customer first' service within t he City of Port Colborne in 
order to communicate that the municipality is "open for business" and is always considering the 
interests of taxpayers 

• Improving residential quality of life by engraining a corporate culture that emphasizes community 
enhancement and beautification and continuing to enhance recreational, cultural, and social 
opportunities as a way to create important economic spin-off opportunities 

• Having a vibrant and unique downtown core is an important aspect of attracting residents, visito rs, 
and a young and talented labour force to the community 

• Enabling a communications plan that consistently promotes the city's merit s to the target markets 
identified in this strategic plan 

• Making a political commitment to the goals of this strategic plan and evaluating progress against 
performance metrics and adjusting strategy and tactics based on results 

MOB Insight - City of Pmt Colborne Economic Development Strategic Plan Page 34 

56



4.4 Focusing Economic Development Priorities 

There are four economic development priorities for Port Col borne to focus on over t he coming ten 
years. They are: 

• Small Independent Business 

• Residential Development 

• Industrial Development 

• Tourism & Destination Deve lopment 

Each of these four directions are further 
explored in the table below. 

Residentia l 
Development 

Tourism & 
Dest ination 

Development 

Figure 9: Exploring the Potential of Port Colborne's Economic Development St rategic Directions 

Small Independent Residential Tourism & Destination 

Business Development 
Industrial Development 

Development 

Estimated long-

term sector Very Strong Strong Moderate Moderate 

growth 

Complement to 

existing local Strong Strong Strong Strong 

base 

Potential to 

significantly 
Very Strong Very Strong Moderate Strong 

impact local 

economy 

Professional services, 

Target 
cultural/creative industries, Reti rees looking for lower 

Growing the industrial base 
Visitors to the Niagara 

market(s) 
health and wellness, 'lone- housing costs, young 

(existing and new) 
Region, residents from the 

eagles' looking for quality of families GTAdown 

life, small retail 

Port Colborne's small 
Years of no growth have 

Some good tourism draws 

businesses are an 
changed as more 

which gives good exposure 

undervalued but important 
momentum is building for 

Historica l base of industry to for t he community. More 

Current state of part of the economy. New 
new-housing starts. 

build on. Still represents year-round destination 

the sector investments in the good concentrations of development needed 

downtown core are helping 
Residential communities 

employment and business. before city consistently 
along the rural shores of 

to offer more compelling 
the city have done well. 

draws crowds in a tough 

opportunities. competitive environment. 

MOB Insight - City of Port Colborne Economic Development Strategic Plan Page 3S 

57



Small Independent Residential Tourism & Destination 

Business Development 
Industrial Development 

Development 

Very Good 

Good 
Lower housing costs Good 

Port Colborne needs to relative to the rest of 
M oderate 

est ab lish a reputation as a southern Ontario and Already home to a strong 
Good tourism assets to 

charming, small-town favourable positioning near industrial base of businesses, 
build from (beach, lake, 

community in a broader Lake Erie, strong Port Colborne will be 
and canal in particular) 

marketing campaign. recreational assets, and the severely restricted in its 
and some important 

City's current tourism events that draw 
ability to Growing investment in the U.S. border support growth ability to attract new mid to 

visitors into the 
capitalize on downtown and residential in new residents. There is a large scale developments 

community. Need to 
the sector sector are also adding to strong need to create a without more serviced land. 

the ability of the city to resident attraction This will also limit the ability 
better link t ourism assets 

sustain growth over time. marketing campaign to get of local companies to expand 
t ogether to create a Port 

Costs are a positive. Major the word out about Port their operations, prompting 
Colborne experience and a 

concerns with a shrinking Colborne. Opportunities some to maybe relocate or 
compelling reason for the 

millions of visito rs in the 
and aging populat ion exist for urban core, delay expansion. 

Niagara Region to come. 
persist though. suburban, and rural 

developments. 

. Lower cost housing and 
• Increasing investment in 

land • Community assets 
the community (downtown 

• Quality of life and access to especia lly as they pertain 
and residential) 

excellent recreat ion to heritage and cu lture 

Capitalize on • Quality of life and access to 
amenit ies (e.g. Lake Erie) 

• Good concentration of • Strong slate of events that 

these excellent recreation 
• There is vacant land to 

existing industry already attract visitors 

competitive amenities (including Lake 
build a wide variety of 

• Existing industry is well- • Quality recreational asset s 

advantages Erie) establ ished but also • Dining/Drinking options housing types in the rural 
• Lower cost housing and 

and urban parts of the city 
innovative and competitive and experiences are 

commercial rents 
• Specific properties are we ll- improving 

• A place with a bit of a gritty 
suit ed to residential" (e.g. • Less expensive rents 

edge 
site of former hospital) 

MOB Insight - City of Poi t Col borne Econoinic Development Strategic Plan Page 36 

58



Small Independent Residential Tourism & Destination 

Business Development 
Industrial Development 

Development 

• A shrinking/aging population 

• Limited availability of smal l 
(smaller labour force than 

offices or co-working 
other areas of the region) 

• Little market presence to . Distance from freeway and • Very few spaces 

• Inconsistent high-speed 
'sell' the community as a main supply chain hubs accommodations and 

internet 
place to live • Nearly no serviced land t hat shopping experiences 

Beware of 
• A shrinking and aging 

• Costly to develop land is easily deve lopable is a risk • Disconnected tourism 
these because of bedrock to not only attraction but 

population assets that do not speak 
competitive • Properties fronting the maintaining the presence of 
disadvantages • Critical infrastructure to an experience 

investments needed in the 
lake and the canal are existing firms • Properties front ing the 

downtown core 
owned by other entities • Zoned unserviced land is lake and the canal are 

• Not perceived as a place for 
• A highway network that extremely expensive to get owned by other entities 

young people to start a 
can easily get bottlenecked adequately serviced 

• Little market presence t o 
career 

'sell' the community as a 

place to invest 

• An entrepreneurial 

ecosystem that is 

admired by communities • An overall 'very satisfied' • A revita lized downtown 
in the region rating when asked about contributing to t he 

• A 20% increase in t he 
• A resident population of 

satisfaction working with dining, arts, cu lture, and 
number of businesses in the City on business needs shopping atmosphere 25,000 to 30,000 people 
the city 

• Clear statistical signs of a 
• Successful marketing • Increased number of 

Desired future • A revitalized downtown campaign highlighting visitors and visitor 
situation by contributing to the 

younger demographic 
why investors should look 

2030 living in the community spending by a minimum 
growth of dining, arts, to Port Colborne 

• Recognit ion as one of of 25% 
culture, and shopping • Three new industrial • Recognition as one of Ontario's best small 
atmosphere investment s in Port Niagara's most cities to live 

• An overall 'very satisfied' Colborne leading to a compelling t ourism 
rating w hen asked about minimum of 2,000 new destinations 
satisfaction working with jobs 

t he City on business 

needs 

A Movement t owards "Tourism Experiences" 

The tourism industry has undergone a shift in the past number of years towards "experiential tourism" . 

Experientia l tourism prioritizes creating tourism experiences for visitors at a dest inat ion rather than 

simply presenting tourism assets to visitors to make their own experience. Tourism assets such as a 

waterfall, museum, or boardwalk need to come alive, providing a once in a lifetime experience where 

people create memories through direct hands on participation. Visitors are looking for opportunit ies 

t hat engage them in memorable and authentic cultural experiences that are personal, engage the senses 

and make connections on an emotional, spiritual and intellectual level. 

MOB Insight - City of Port Colborne Economic Development Strategic Plan Page 37 

59



Some of the key elements of experiential tourism are: 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

Hands-On Activities - a participatory experience that provides new knowledge and authentic 
experiences 

Local Authentic Community Experts - engaging with local community members to share in thei r 
expertise of their home and history. Visitors want to engage with their destination through the 
knowledgeable lens of a local guide that can deepen their interaction with the place they are visiting. 

All Five Senses - engage all five senses of smell, sight, touch, sound and taste to ingrain the 
experience with visitors so they will remember it as unique and immediately identifiable with the 
destination 

Highlighting Uniqueness - each destination offers an incredible diversity of experiences and history . 
Make sure that experiences for visitors are framed around what makes the destination unique (i.e. 
local nature, culture, history, cuisine) 

A Personal, Unique, and Intimate Experience for Each Visitor - match visitor int erests and provide a 
sense of personal accomplishment that creates a unique memory for each visitor 

Target Market Segments 

Market segment profiles for four target markets are included in this section. These target markets 

segments are recommended to be the focus for resident attraction and retention initiatives in Port 

Col borne. It is important to note that while the first point of contact a person may have in Port Col borne 

is as a tourist, each tourist falls into one of the following four categories when they make their decision 

to move somewhere. Therefore, the goal of any resident attraction is not necessarily to attract more 

tourists (because that is the goal of other organizations), but rather to turn these four target markets 

into residents of Port Colborne. 

The four target market segments are: 

• Nomadic entrepreneurs and flex workers 

• Recent retirees 

• Local entrepreneurs and independent businesses 

• Skilled trades & professionals 

MOB Insight- City of Po1t Colborne Econo1111c Development Strategic Plan Page 38 

60



~~M/ . 
. . Rationale - Why are they a 

Target Description - Who are they T How to reach them 
M k 

a~~ 
ar et 

• 

• 
Nomadic 
Entrepreneurs 

• and Flex 
Workers 

• 

• 

Key Messaging • 
• 
• 
• 

Part-time property owners that 

wish to lengthen their stay in Port • Opportunities to transition to 
Colborne and have flexibility to more permanent residents due • Inbound social 
work remotely to local awareness and 

media marketing 
Are typically middle to senior considerations for future 

ca mpaign 
management with a high degree of retirement • Word of mouth 
autonomy • The nature of work is changing • Specialty news 
Includes new and the skills and infrastructure 

publications focused 
Canadians/immigrant s and the needed to support this shift are 

on the sector 
opportunity for them to att ract also changing. The traditional 

• Trade shows, more people from the same form of inward investment is 

culture to the area declining in favour of small and conferences, and 

Independent professionals or small medium-sized enterprises and associat ion meeti ngs 

business owners whose location is entrepreneurs. 

not driven by their customers' 

location 

Be an independent professional running your business from Port Colborne, close to strong regional 

markets and great transportation connections to the rest of the world 

Easy access to the rest of the world through international airports in Buffalo, Hamilton and Toronto 

Live by the lake and enjoy fantastic recreation opportunities 

Enjoy a family-friendly small community where neighbours know each other 

Live in a community that allows you to be free from the rush of the city with all the amenities 

MOB Insight - City of Port Colborne Economic Development Strategic Plan Page 39 

61



Persona / . . Rationale - Why are 
T M k 

Description - Who are they h T How to reach them 
arget ar et t ey a arget 

• 

• 

Recent • Retirees 

• 

• 
Key Messaging • 

• 
• 

• Are already in Port • Inbound social media 
Retirees from the GTA looking for 

Colborne or huge marketing campaigns 
more value for thei r money 

op portunities to draw • National publications such 
Part-time property owners looking them from surrounding as Zoomer and SOP/us 
to spend more time or to areas based on favourable • Urban centre newspapers potentially relocate permanently cost of l iving 

and publications in 
Prospective purchasers of vacation • May be mentors, pa rt- Toronto and Hamilton 
properties that value Port time business owners, or • Distribution list s and Colborn e's offerings and smaller looking for flexible work 
city atmosphere opportunities 

websites (i.e. community 

People who are still active in their 
alumni, tourism sites, 

• Already invested or 
community and typically are looking to invest for 

rating sites like Trip 

Advisor) 
wealthier than average lifestyle reasons 

Feel welcome as a newcomer and explore all the ways to be involved in community life 

Live in a beautiful home and experience a high quality of life at a reasonable cost 

Live by the lake and enjoy fantastic recreation opportunities 

Enjoy a family-friendly small community where neighbours know each other 

Persona/ Description -Who are . 
T M k h 

Rationale - Why are they a Target How to reach them 
arget ar et t ey 

• 

Loca l 
Entrepreneurs 
and 
Independent 

• Businesses 

• 
Key Messaging 

• 
• 

• Word of mouth • This group can bring new business 
Young people raised in offerings, and new perspective as they • Inbound social media 

Port Col borne that are gain experiences outside of the area marketing campaigns 

part of the school and abroad • Universities and colleges 
system and that often • Home grown entrepreneurs have • Local business 
leave for post- greater flexibili ty where they work due commun ity (real estate, 
secondary education t o the internet age attractions, 
Young people who accommodations) • Through career and family 
regularly migrate to 

development phases of li fe, there is a • Social media campaigns 
and from the area for natural propensity for young people to using interactive media, 
family and community return to where they grew up due to networking, email, and 
connection family and community connections website postings 

Live close to family and friends while running your business from a community that supports its local 

businesses and where a variety of commercial spaces are available in a growing downtown core 

Live in a community that allows you to be free from the rush of the big city w ith all the amenities 

Live by the lake and enjoy fantastic recreation opportunities 

MOB Insight - City of Port Colborne Economic Development Strategic Plan Page 40 

62



Persona/ . . Rationale - Why are they a 
T M k 

Description - Who are they T How to reach them 
arget ar et arget 

• People to support existing and 
• Skilled trades and • Universities/col leges growing sectors including 

manufacturing, construction/home professionals matchi ng • Inbound social media 
building, tourism/hospitality, arts & labour demand and are 

marketing campaigns 
creative industries, and business & critical to business 

using interactive 
professional services sustainability 

media, networking, 

Skilled Trades • Recent graduates and families • Often have spouses and email, and website 

& typically early in their career who families that sustai n local postings 

Professionals are open to relocation and can be services • Urban centre 
found at nearby post- secondary • Spouses/partners contribute publications in 
institutions to the available skil l sets Toronto, Hamilton, and 

• Includes new • People attraction efforts St. Cathari nes 

Canadians/immigrants and the guided by and coordinated • Secto r news 
opportunity for them to attract with business attraction and publications 
more people from the same culture retention efforts 

to t he area 

• Live in a city that has a strong base of professional and industrial businesses that are looking to hire 

skilled and experienced talent 
Key Messaging • Enjoy a family-friendly small community where neighbours know each other 

• Purchase or rent high quality property at a reasonable cost to run your dream business 

• Live in a community that allows you to be free from the rush of the big cit y w ith all the amenities 

MOB Insight - City of Port Colborne Economic Development Strategic Plan Page 41 

63



Overlapping Marketing Messages 

While four target market segments have been identified above, there are a number of overlapping 
marketing messages that apply to all segments. With this is mind, it is important to recognize that t he 
City does not need to run multiple resident attraction campaigns, but rather can target each of the four 
segments using the same campaign . These overlapping messages largely focus on the quality of life 
advantages to living and working in Port Col borne. More specific messaging for each segment can be 
added to a campaign based on the additional messaging needed. 

An overview of the overlapping messaging is provided below in Figure 10. 

Figure 10: Overlapping Marketing Messages 

Be an independentprofessfonal running 
your business from PortColborne, close 
to strong regional markets and great 
transportation connections to the rest of 
the world 

live close to family and friends while 
running your business from a community 
that supports its local businesses and 
where a variety of commercial spaces are 
available in a growing downtown core 

MDB Insight - City of Port Colborne Economic Development Strategic Plan 

Feel w elcome as a newcomer 
and explore all the ways to be 
involved in community life 

live in a city that has a strong base of 
professional and industrial businesses 
that are looking to hire skilled and 
experienced talent 

Page 42 

64



65



5. Action and Implementation Planning 

5.1 Interpreting the Action Plans 

The following section provides a series of action plans which directly support the economic development 
priorities described above. These actions plans should be interpreted in the following context . 

Tim ing and Priority 

In the actions tables to follow, the level of priority has been based on several criteria including: 

• The level of immediacy based on the City of Port Colborne's economic development objectives 

• The potential to contribute to the overall economic vitality and sustainability of Port Colborne 

• The resources required (i.e. the capacity to implement given the current state) 

• Logical sequence of actions 

The priority level assigned to each action item also corresponds to a specific timeframe. The time frame 
for each priority level may be operationalized as: 

• Short (S) - 1 to 3 years 

• Medium (M) - 3 to 6 years 

• Long (L) - 6 to 10 years 

• Continuous (C) - ongoing throughout the life span of the Strategy 

MOB Insight - City of Port Colborne Economic Development Strategic Plan Page 44 

66



~ 
5.2 Action Plans 

Goal: Nurture Port Colborne's Entrepreneurial Ecosystem 

1.1 

Prioritize a 'Customer First' service experience. 

• Engage in regular formal and informal communications with businesses to showcase 
Counci l support for business development and the importance of having a healthy 
business culture in Port Colborne. 

• Establish a high standard for customer service and build those into the municipal brand 
and identity. This includes establishing customer service standards and expectations for 
review of development applications. 

MDB Insight - City of Port Colborne Economic Development Strategic Plan 

Lead 

Downtown Port Col borne 
BIA, Port Colborne
Wainfleet Chamber of 
Commerce 

Page 45 

67



~ 

1.2 

1.3 

Review development application policies and procedures. 

• Create a review team of Senior Administration and representatives from the local 
development community to brainstorm improvements to the commercial, industrial, and 
multiple-unit residential development review process. 

• Prepare process flowcharts or checklists to expedite customer understanding (e.g. 

development approvals flowchart, list of important contact people, etc.). 

• Create expedited service channels and processes to serve urgent/ priority cases (e.g. 
Hamilton green folder system, Ajax "Priority Path") . 

• Create a pre-application review process that incorporates preliminary review and 
feedback from all City departments who would ordinarily comment on a development 
application. 

• Promote the enhanced development review process including sharing metrics used to 
track change over time. 

• Acquire Customer Relationship Management (CRM) software to manage interactivity with 
existing and prospective businesses 

• Be the first in Niagara Region to brand a "Business First" service as a competitive 
differentiator 

Conduct ongoing business BR+E surveys to hear from the business community what barriers 
to growth need to be removed and what opportunities exist for individual businesses 
(among other questions). 7 

Lead 

Downtown Port Col borne 
BIA, Port Colborne

Wainfleet Chamber of 
Commerce, Regional 
Municipality of Niagara 

Lead 

Downtown Port Col borne 
BIA, Port Colborne

Wainfleet Chamber of 
Commerce 

7 During the research for this Strategy, a statistically random business survey identified issues of importance to businesses that, if improved, will do the most to 
increase satisfaction rates. Conducting such a survey annually wi ll allow t he City to identify "green flag" issues that represent opportunities to help businesses 

MDB Insight - City of Port Colborne Economic Development Strategic Plan Page 46 

68



~ 

1.4 

1.5 

1.6 

Investigate the feasibility for the creation of a business space to support young start-up 
companies/entrepreneurs or home-based businesses that are looking to expand. Key 
considerations include central location with ample parking, internet access, access to 
printing and photocopying, and providing access to business mentoring services. 

Encourage activities that bring youth together from across Port Colborne and the region to 
network and discuss issues they see. Spin-off working groups around entrepreneurship and 
mentoring as well as networking events could build on the relationships developed during 
the forum. Create an annual Youth Social Forum and, throughout the year, engage with 

NEXTNiagara to bring their events to the city. 

Engage local schools, business leaders, and youth support agencies to develop and promote 
a youth entrepreneurship program as a way to foster the growth of an entrepreneurial 
culture in the city. 8 

Partner 

Innovate Niagara, Niagara 
Falls Small Business 
Enterprise Centre, Brock 
University Biolinc, VALE 

Partner 

NEXTNiagara, District 
School Board of Niagara, 
Brock University, Niagara 

College, Regional 

Municipality of Niagara 

Partner 

District School Board of 

Niagara 

expand or grow and " red flag" issues by helping to solve existing problems that t hreaten loca l emp loyment and assessment revenues or. The survey could also 
be expanded to address concerns that may be current at t he time (e.g. workforce, supply chain, transportation). 
8 A partnership with an organization such as Startup Canada, whose mantra is "We are entrepreneurs on a mission to bui ld an environment fo r entrepreneurial 
momentum and success in Canada" can bring many ideas to the community. Their emphasis is on creating an entrepreneurial ecosystem that is driven by 
entrepreneurs rather than government - something t hat is important in Port Col born e and other places w ith few resources to invest . 

MDB Insight - City of Port Colborne Economic Development Strategic Plan Page 47 

69



~ 
Goal: Invest in Qua lity of Place Infrastructure 

2.1 

2.2 

Enhancements to Lobby to expand the fibre optic network. 

• The Internet backbone is good in Port Colborne, but an environmental scan is 
worthwhile to ensure that all areas of the city are serviced properly and that costs of 
connection and service are kept as low as possible. 

Boost efforts to improve curb appeal and property standards along major thoroughfares and 
in the downtown core. 

• Update the Downtown Central Business District Community Improvement Plan from 
2010. 

• Identify critical infrastructure investments for businesses and beautification initiatives and 
create an investment plan (e.g. sewer upgrades and streetscape improvements). 

• Consider the development of a cultural district or artists row to create more focus in the 
downtown core. 

• Refresh entry signage to Port Colborne along with signage for key destinations within the 
city. 

MOB Insight - City of Port Colborne Economic Development Strategic Plan 

Lead 

Regional Municipality of 
Niagara, Port Colborne
Wainfleet Chamber of 
Commerce 

Lead 

Downtown Port Col borne 
BIA, Port Colborne
Wainfleet Chamber of 
Commerce 

Page 48 

70



~ 
Goal: Refresh Port Colborne's Image as an Attractive Place for People to Invest, Live, and Visit 

3.1 

3.2 

Utilizing the personas/market segments prepared in this strategy, develop a marketing and 
promotions campaign targeted at attracting new residents and businesses to Port Colborne. 

This campaign shou ld outline the quality of life and business advantages of living and 
working in Port Col borne, share success stories from businesses that have relocated to the 
area, and clearly list the contact people within the municipality to reach out to for more 
information. 

• Identify target market profiles and key messaging and create a targeted social media 
campaign for outreach in the region and beyond. 

• Consider a separate web portal for promotions - separate it from the 'hard' news that the 
municipality must communicate to its tax payers (e.g. fire bans, changes to landfill hours, 
construction updates). 

• Create a database of nomadic entrepreneurs based in the GTA and Niagara Region that 
have the potential to be attracted to Port Colborne (e.g. marketing, graphic design, e
commerce, tech, and potential satellite office space for professional service firms). 

• Develop relationships with these businesses and include them in periodic information 
updates on the advantages of living and working in the city. 

• Gather testimonials from local entrepreneurs and businesses to identify the regional and 
community specific elements that make doing business in Port Co lborne attractive. 

Review and update, on a regular basis, the municipal by-laws and policies as they pertain to 
home occupations and businesses. Make them appealing to home-based entrepreneurs. 

MDB Insight - City of Port Col borne Economic Development Strategic Plan 

Lead 

Regional Municipality of 
Niagara, NEXTNiagara, 
Downtown Port Col borne 

BIA, Port Colborne
Wainfleet Chamber of 
Commerce, Niagara's 

South Coast Tourism 
Association, Niagara 
Association of Realtors, 
Greater Niagara Chamber 
of Commerce 

Lead 

Port Colborne-Wainfleet 

Chamber of Commerce, 

Greater Niagara Chamber 
of Commerce 

Page 49 

71



~ 

3.3 

3.4 

3.5 

3.6 

Complete a retail gap analysis. 

• Determine market potential/recruitment targets for commercial districts. 

• Improve understanding of the retail trade area for existing businesses. 

• Improve the understanding of gaps in the provision of goods and services to allow for new 
or expanding business opportunities. 

Organize ' reverse trade shows' in areas where the City wants to attract businesses. These 

invitation-only events would include a reception, video presentation, and personalized 
packages for attendees to share the key selling features of Port Colborne as a place to 
own/operate a business. 

Identify future residential nodes and zone them accord ingly. 

• Encourage more medium-high density mixed use commercia l and residential 
developments through the planning process. 

• Consider policies on al lowing tiny homes in the city as more people are interested in them 
as an affordable option. 

Create a seasonal 'community tours' program to showcase the quality of life assets of Port 
Col borne for those considering living in the municipality. 

MOB Insight - City of Port Col borne Economic Development Strategic Plan 

Lead 

Port Colborne-Wainfleet 
Chamber of Commerce, 
Greater Niagara Chamber 
of Commerce, Niagara 
Association of Realtors 

Partner 

Port Colborne-Wainfleet 

Chamber of Commerce, 
Greater Niagara Chamber 
of Commerce, Niagara 
Association of Realtors 

Lead 

Niagara Association of 
Realtors, Regional 
Municipality of Niagara, 
Niagara Construction 
Association 

Partner 

Downtown Port Col borne 
BIA, Port Colborne
Wainfleet Chamber of 
Commerce, Niagara's 

South Coast Tourism 
Association 

Page 50 

72



~ 
Goal: Grow th e Profile of the Tour ism Sector 

4.1 

4.2 

4 .3 

4.4 

4.5 

Create a Tourism and Marketing Strategic Plan that will support the creation of tourism and 
marketing initiatives in the municipality. The Plan should include a vision for the sector and 
a five to 10-year capital plan with matching funding to encourage necessary investments 
and upgrades in the tourism sector. 

• Examples of these types of investments include trails, signage, aesthetic improvements, 
events and festivals, recreation and picnic areas, and facility expansions. 

Work with neighbouring municipalities to cross-promote complementary themes and tourist 
operators and help to broker partnerships between operators. 

Consider the use of incentives {e.g. free advertising, marketing etc.) to encourage product 
development or experience enhancement for existing touri sm operations/activities. 

Establish an ongoing tourism visitor survey in the municipality. Build buy-in from tourism 
operators to distribute the survey upon the completion of stays. The City can be a champion 
for database management and competitive intelligence sharing for all businesses to use. 

• This information will assist in determining what may encourage people to stay or extend 
their stay in the area. 

Link fragmented tourism assets throughout the municipality {e.g. Nickel Beach, Roselawn 
Centre, etc.). Offering guided tour services or creating trails or cycling routes connecting 
them all offer interesting opportunities to do this. 

MDB Insight- City of Port Col borne Economic Development Strategic Plan 

Lead 

Niagara's South Coast 
Tourism Association, 
Downtown Port Colborne 
BIA, Regional Municipality 
of Niagara 

Partner 

City of Welland, Town of 
Fort Erie, City of Niagara 

Falls, Regional Municipality 
of Niagara, Niagara's South 
Coast Tou rism Association 

Lead 

Partner 

City of Welland, Town of 
Fort Erie, City of Niagara 
Falls, Regional Municipal ity 
of Niagara, Niagara's South 
Coast Tou rism Association 

Lead 

Regional Municipality of 
Niagara, Niagara's South 
Coast Tourism Association, 
Niagara Sport Commission 

Page 51 

73



~ 

4.6 

4.7 

Host experiential events in shoulder seasons to draw more visitors to the community. 

Explore the feasibility of attracting new and innovative ecotourism experiences to the area, 

combining the strong outdoor beauty of the area with a desire by many visitors for 
conservation and environmental sustainability. 

MDB Insight - City of Port Colborne Economic Development Strategic Plan 

Lead 

Niagara's South Coast 
Tourism Association 

Lead 

Niagara's South Coast 
Tourism Association, 
Regional Municipality of 
Niagara 

Page 52 

74



~ 
Goal: Build on the Current Indust rial Base 

"'" 

5.1 

5.2 

5.3 

5.4 

Explore the feasibility and politica l interest in devel 
Fort Erie or Welland. Use examples provided in Ap1 

oping a new joint industrial park with 
Jendix B of this strategy to develop a 

rationale for this innovative initiative. 

--
Reposition information on the City's w ebsite to spe 
that site selectors look for including information on 

broader marketing and promotions information. 

ak directly to information requirem ents 
business retention, labour force, and 

Develop lead generation network connections inclu 
commercial rea l est at e involved in site selection in 

ding key influencers in industrial and 
;outhern Ontario. 

Work with regional post-secondary institutions to e 
satell ite campus or operation in Port Colborne build 
testing, Great Lakes t esting, shipping and rece iv ing, 

<plore the feasibility of opening a 
ing on its assets (e.g. water quality 
etc.). 

MDB Insight - City of Port Colborne Economic Development Strategic Plan 

II 
II 
II 

II 
-

I 

I 

I 

I 

I 

I 

--

-

Partner 

City of Welland, Town of 
Fort Erie, City of Niagara 
Falls, Regional Mun icipality 
of Niagara, Niagara 
Industrial Association, 
Niagara Association of 
Realtors 

Lead 

Regional Municipality of 
Niagara, Niagara Indust ria l 
Association 

Lead 

Regional Municipality of 
Niagara, Niagara Industrial 
Association, Niagara 
Association of Realtors, 
Economic Developers 
Council of Ontario, 
Economic Developers 
Association of Canada 

Partner 

Brock University, Niagara 
College 

Page 53 

75



5.3 Performance Measurement 
Performance measurement is "the process of collecting, assessing and reporting on data in order to 
evaluate progress towards a desired outcome or objective."9 By carefully tracking and reporting on the 
performance of their programs, economic development practitioners are able to improve the 
effectiveness and efficiency of their work while also creating an accountable, transparent, and 
consistent structure of reporting for political decision-makers and the public to access information on 
how public resources are being used. 

Performance measurement serves a number of other important functions for economic development 
practitioners, including: 

• Informing the design, scope, and purpose of economic development programs 

• Creating statistica l benchmarks that can be built on over time to illustrate trends and support 
evidence-based decision-making 

• Aiding in decision-making for organizational resource management and budget allocat ions 

• Demonstrating and documenting success (or failure) and change over time 

While performance measurement is widely recognized as an important part of any economic 

development practitioner's work, a number of cha llenges persist that can make performance 

measurement a difficult undertaking. These cha llenges include trying to measure elements that are less 

tangible (i.e. qualitative measures require more judgement and can be easi ly chal lenged), issues in 

attributing credit to specific organizations based on broad economy wide outcomes, and a recognition 

that performance measurement can be a burdensome and costly process for which few resources are 

allocated. In addition, there are some that see performance measurement as an exercise that yie lds 

little helpful information and that fails to accurately capture difficult to understand economic outcomes. 

There is no simplistic one-size-fits-all answer in creating successful perfo rmance measurement systems. 

Each economic development practitioner must consider what measures are most usefu I for their unique 

situation and build from their base. Regardless of their focus and the challenges that need to be 

overcome, economic development practitioners must create rigorous and meaningful justification of 

their work in order to adhere to the strong call by stakeh olders and the public to be accountable and 

effective in creating programming that produces incremental and measurable results for the 

community. 

Moving Beyond "Activities" 

The most commonly reported element of a performance measurement system is to report on 

"activities". Activities represent the physical, tangible actions taken by an economic development 

practitioner to achieve a specific goal or objective. Examples of commonly reported act ivities by 

economic development practitioners include the number of workshops or meetings hosted or attended, 

9 As defined by the Ontario Ministry of Agriculture, Food and Rural Affairs 

MOB Insight - Oty of Poi t Col borne Economic Development Strategic Plan Page 54 

76



the number of marketing materials created, the creation of a training or mentorship program, and the 

development of a strategic or economic plan. 

While activities are an important part of any performance measurement system, the best and most 

effective systems focus on measuring the "outputs" and "outcomes" of economic development work. 

By focusing beyond activities, economic development practitioners are better able to measure t he 

effectiveness and efficiency of their actions, quantifying the results of an activity and helping reveal the 

relationship between economic development programming and performance and resource allocation. 

The most important elements for economic development performance measurement systems to report 

on are: 

• Inputs - the resources needed for an economic development plan or program to work. Examples 
include human, financial, organizational, and community resources. 

• Activities - the physical actions taken that ultimately support the goals and objectives of an 
economic development plan or program. Examples include reporting on the number of events 
hosted, the creation of marketing material, and the number of meetings attended. 

• Outputs -the measu res that help define and quantify the results of an activity. Examples include 
reporting on the number of people who received training, the number of hits to a website, the 
number of brochures distributed, or the number of participants at events. Outputs should not be 
used in isolation to measure the performance of an activity. 

• Outcomes- the specific changes in behaviours, knowledge, skills, status, level of understanding, and 
functioning associated with activities and outputs. Outcomes help illustrate the relationship 
between overall performance and the resources used to achieve the particular outcome. Outcomes 
are often classified as short, intermediate, and long-term. 

A focus on inputs, activities, outputs, and outcomes help economic development practitioners ensure 

that their actions contribute to their overall objectives and goals, and that they reach those goals in a 

responsible and resource appropriate manner. 

Additional considerations when creating or implementing a successful performance measurement 

system which can aid in the process include:10 

• Select a handful of measures rather than measuring everything - outcomes shou ld be the main 
focus of the performance measurement system, and it is important to balance t he desire fo r 
information about performance with an organization's ability to collect and use it. Too many 
performance measures increase the cost and complexity of measuring performance, often to the 
point where the entire process can become paralyzed. It is important to brainstorm a la rge list of 
performance measures and to select a critical few for ongoing collection and analysis. 

• Reflect the goals of the organization through the measures selected - metrics should come directly 
from the goals of an already established plan. All measures must be clearly defined. 

10 EDAC "Performance Measurement in Economic Development", September 2011, pg.28-29 and Andrew Young School of Policy 
Studies at Georgia State University "Performance Measurement in State Economic Development Agencies", 2004 from EDAC 
"Performance Measurement in Economic Development". September 2011, pg. 2 

MOB Insight- City of Poi t Colborne Economic Development Strategic Plan Page 55 

77



• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

Include a few measures to show activity and outputs - even though the end goal is to focus on 
measuring outcome, activity and output are useful measures to track what an economic 
development office is doing and how busy they are (which can be helpful when trying to get budget 
approval for more resources). 

Identify a data source for all metrics - some measures are easier to collect from internal sources . 
Others take more time and rely on externa l sources. Some measures may make sense to track on a 
monthly basis, whereas others will only be meaningful on a quarterly, semi-annual or even annual 
basis. 

Survey your clients - some measures require client feedback and will invo lve the development of 
data collection tools. 

Claim only what your organization played a role in - only report on outcomes in which your 
organization can honestly claim credit for. This is difficu lt when assessing broad outcomes that may 
have been contributed to by a number of other organizations. 

Report outcomes over time - it takes time for economic development projects to take hold, so 
showing their impacts over time can help show that expenditures in economic development are 
good long-term investments in the community. All measures should be revisited following a period 
of time (for at least six months) to determine their usefulness and value. 

An important next step is for Port Col borne staff to identify specific performance measures that wi ll 
track its success. These will be reviewed and approved by both the Advisory Committee and Council. 

The charts below outline examples of performance measures under the fo llowing classifications: 

• Activities -the physical actions taken that ultimately support the goals and objectives of the 
economic development plan or program. 

• Outputs - the measures that help define and quantify the results of an activity. 

• Outcomes - the specific changes in behaviours, knowledge, skills, status, level of understanding, and 
functioning associated with activities and outputs. 

MOB Insight- City of Po1t Colborne Econo1111c Development Stra tegic Plan Page 56 

78



Goal : Nurture Port Colborne's Entrepreneurial Ecosystem 

Activity Output Outcome 

• Regular formal and informal 
communications with 
businesses 

• Creation of a Municipal 
'Customer First' brand 
identity 

• Review of development 
application policies and 
procedures 

• Preparation of process 
flowcharts or checklists 

• Creation of expedited service 
channels and processes 

• Ongoing business BR+E 
surveys 

• Creation of an annual Youth 
Social Forum 

• Growth in number of business 
start-ups 

• Growth in number of business 
establishments and business 
licences 

• Jobs created due to new 
businesses and start-ups, 
business relocation and 
existing businesses expanding 

• # of business retention 
and/or expansion success 
stories 

• % change in business 
composition/diversification 

• Number of businesses 
accessing municipal incentive 
systems 

• Business participation in 
school and civic events 

• # of businesses 
visited/surveyed/engaged 

• # of mentoring sessions held 
and# of mentorship 
relationships formed 

Goal: Invest in Quality of Place Infrastructure 

• Conduct an environmental 
scan on the internet 
bandwidth 

• Update the Downtown 
Central Business District 
Community Improvement 
Plan 

• Identify critical infrastructure 
investments for businesses 
and beautification initiatives 
and create an investment 
plan 

• Improved curb appeal and 
property standards 
throughout Port Colborne 

• Upgrades to infrastructure 
important in the attraction 
and retention of business 

• Number of businesses 
accessing municipal incentive 
systems 

• Growth in number of business 
establishments, especially in 
the downtown core 

MOB Insight - City of Port Colborne Economic Development Strategic Plan 

• An entrepreneurial 
ecosystem that is admi red by 
business owners and 
communities in the region 

• An increase in t he number of 
businesses in the city 

• A revitalized downtown 
contributing to the growth of 
dining, arts, culture, and 
shopping atmosphere 

• An overall 'very satisfied' 
rating when asked about 
satisfaction working with the 
City on business needs 

• A decrease in the 
unemployment rate in Port 
Col bo rne 

• A revitalized downtown 
contributing to t he growth of 
dining, arts, culture, and 
shopping atmosphere 

• An increase in the number of 
businesses in the city 

• High satisfaction levels of 
business in owning/operating 
in Port Colborne 

Page 57 

79



Goal: Refresh Port Colborne's Image as an Attractive Place for People to Invest, 

Live, and Visit 

Activity Output Outcome 

• Development of a marketing 
and promotions campaign 
targeted at attracting new 
residents and businesses 

• Creation of a separate web 
portal for promotions 

• Gather testimonials from 
local entrepreneurs and 
businesses 

• Completion of a retail gap 
analysis 

• Organization of 'reverse 
trade shows' and seasonal 
'community tours' 

• Successful marketing 
campaign highlighting why 
potential residents and 
investors should look to Port 
Colborne 

• Growth in the number of 
inquiries received about 
relocating to Port Colborne 

• Growth in the number of 
business establishments 

Goal: Grow the Profile of the Tourism Sector 

• A resident population of 
25,000 (approximately 3% 
compounded growth per 
year) 

• 
• Recognition as one of 

Ontario's best small cities to 
live 

• Increases in average income 
across Port Colborne 

• Increases in the percentage of 
knowledge workers in Port 
Colborne's economy 

• Statistical signs of a younger 
demographic living in the 
community 

Activity Output Outcome 

• Development of marketing 
and/or promotional products 

• Cross-promotion initiatives 
with neighbouring 
municipalities 

• Establishment of a v isitor 
satisfaction survey 

• Creation of a Tourism and 
Marketing Strategic Plan 

• Collection of tourism 
business feedback through a 
BR&E survey 

• Growth in the number of 
tourism businesses 

• Growth in the number of new 
tourism experiences 
developed and marketed 

• Continuously improving 
visitor satisfaction levels 

• Growth in the number of new 
festivals and events 

• #of collaborative 
relationships created 

• Continuously improving web 
site metrics for tourism 
related pages (i.e. unique 
visitors, click-rate, time spent 
on the site, #of downloads of 
visitor guide book) 

MOB Insight- City of Po1t Colborne Economic Development Strategic Plan 

• A revitalized downtown 
contributing to the growth of 
dining, arts, culture, and 
shopping atmosphere 

• Increased number of visitors, 
length of stay, and visitor 
spending 

• Recognition as one of 
Niagara's most compelling 
tourism destinations 

Page 58 

80



Goal : Bui ld on the Current Industrial Base 

• Connect with neighbouring 
municipalities to discuss 
developing a joint industrial 
park 

• Develop lead generation 
network connections 

• Reposition information on 
the City's website to address 
site selector interests 

• Connect with regional post
secondary institutions to 
explore the feasibility of 
opening a satellite campus 

• Successful marketing 
campaign highlighting why 
investors should look to Port 
Colborne 

• Development of a new 
industrial park/serviced 
parcels of land 

• Growth in the number of 
inquiries received about 
investing in Port Colborne 

• Expanded lead generation 
contact list 

• Number of site visits 

5.4 Committee Structures and Next Steps 

• Attraction of new industrial 
investments leading to new 
job creation 

• An overall 'very satisfied' 
rating when asked about 
satisfaction working with the 
City on business needs 

• A decrease in the 
unemployment rate in Port 
Col borne 

No major changes are recommended after reviewing the Terms of Reference for Port Colborne's 
Economic Development Advisory Committee (EDAC). With a clear mandate to provide local perspective, 
guidance and expert strategic advisement in the delivery of economic development services in the City 
of Port Col borne and a good representation of Committee members from a cross-section of economic 
development stakeholders in the city, the EDAC is already organized around a number of leading 
practices for committees of its type throughout Canada. 

In implementing the Economic Development Strategic Plan, it is recommended that the EDAC play a 
significant role. This role should centre on the establishment and tracking of milestones for 
implementation, driving the fulfilment of action items, and tracking success and performance over time 
for the City. These roles should be accomplished in close collaboration with the City's Economic 
Development Division. To assist with monitoring the delivery of the Economic Development Strategy, 
we recommend that a Management Group be established including one City staff member, one member 
of City Council, and 3 EDAC members. 

As for the Tourism and Marketing Advisory Committee, it is recommended that the City disband it in 
favour of the creation of a working group to support specific major activities that emanate from the 
action plan. There could be multiple depending on the resources that the City puts behind the action 
plan. Such a group(s) would be more implementation oriented, have a defined expiry date, and would 
contain interested members of EDAC as well as other members of the public or specific organizations 
who are partners in the initiative or add value to its completion. In this system, the City will avoid having 
standing committees that sap staff time and the focus will be on the achieving specific results. 

MOB Insight - City of Port Colborne Economic Development Strategic Plan Page 59 

81



• 

82



Appendix A - Telephone Survey of Port 
Colborne's Businesses 
A random sample of 100 businesses from Port Colborne's business di rectory participated in a statistically 

va lid telephone survey to generate insight into satisfaction w ith Port Colborne as a place to own and 

operate a business as well as the identification of areas of opportunity and challenge. 

Due to the fact that the survey was a random sample, it can be extrapolated to the broader community 

to a margin of+/- 9.37%, 19 times out of 20. 

Business industries that participated in the telephone survey 

Industry by NAICS Code 
#of 

Respondents 

44-45 Retail trade 27 
72 Accommodation and food services 19 

81 Other services (except public administration) 11 18 
31-33 Manufacturing 9 
48-49 Transportation and warehousing 7 
41 Wholesale trade 4 
54 Professional, scientific and technical services 4 

52 Finance and insurance 3 
62 Health care and social assistance 3 
51 Information and cultural industries 1 
56 Administrative and support, waste management and remediation 

1 services 

71 Arts, entertainment and recreation 1 

Q l Overall how satisfied are you with Port Colborne as a place to open and operate a business? 

Cumulative 
Frequency Percent Valid Percent Percent 

Valid 1 Very Satisfied 48 48.0 48.0 48.0 

2 Somewhat Satisfied 43 43.0 43.0 91.0 

3 Somewhat Dissatisfied 8 8.0 8.0 99.0 

4 Very Dissatisfied 1 1.0 1.0 100.0 

Total 100 100.0 100.0 

11 This sector comprises establishments, not classified to any other sector, primarily engaged in repairing, or 
performing general or routine maintenance, on motor vehicles, machinery, equipment and other products to 
ensure that they work efficiently; providing personal care services, funeral services, laundry services and other 
services to individL1als, such as pet care services and photo finishing services; organizing and promoting relig ious 
activities; supporting various causes through grant-making, advocating (promoting) va rious social and polit ical 
causes, and promoting and defending the interests of their members. Private households are also included. 

MDB Insight - City of Port Co/borne Economic Development Strategic Plan Page 61 

83



Q2 How satisfied are you with each of t he following factors of doing business in Port Col borne 

Very Somewhat Somewhat Very 
Unsure 

Satisfied Satisfied Dissatisfied Dissatisfied 
Development Charges 26% 18% 7% 12% 37% 

Municipal property taxes 21% 30% 12% 31% 6% 

Development/building 
17% 24% 8% 12% 39% 

permit process 

Zoning 28% 27% 8% 5% 32% 

Availability and quality of 
24% 39% 20% 12% 5% 

the workforce 

Availability of serviced land 31% 18% 6% 7% 38% 

Land costs 28% 23% 6% 15% 28% 

Availability of space for rent 
27% 30% 6% 6% 31% 

or lease 

Energy costs 20% 24% 20% 27% 9% 

Revitalization of the 
48% 36% 8% 4% 4% 

downtown area 

Quality of business parks 
35% 30% 13% 4% 18% 

and industrial areas 
Festivals and events 62% 30% 4% 3% 1% 

Retail shops an shopping 
32% 36% 12% 19% 1% 

experience 

Diversity of age groups 39% 34% 15% 7% 5% 

Availability of adequate 
32% 35% 10% 8% 15% 

housing 

Internet Service 62% 26% 5% 5% 2% 

Overall quality of life 60% 32% 3% 3% 2% 

Support from local residents 55% 32% 8% 2% 3% 

Derived Importance Calculation 

Derived importance is a measure of t he relative importance of each category in relation to the question 
"Overa ll how satisfied are you with Port Col borne as a place to open and operate a business?" The 
correlation for each category has been converted to a 10-point scale, with '10' representing the category 
that had the highest impact in respondents being satisfied with doing business in Port Colborne. Al l 
numbers are in re lation to each other and give a sense of the relative comparison between categories 
and their impact on the satisfaction of businesses. 

Areas of priority concern for businesses in Port Colborne (based on the calculation between their 
identification of the relative importance of factors and their dissatisfaction with factors): 

• Avai lability and quality ofthe workforce 

• Municipal property taxes 

• Diversity of age groups 

• Energy costs 

• Availabi lity of adequate housing 

MOB Insight- City of Port Colborne Economic Development Strategic Plan Page 62 

84



Derived Importance of Businesses across a Variety of Categories 

Room for 
Priority Ranking Derived Improvement Category 

lmportancecl> (Proportion answering 'somewhat (Derived Importance x 
dissat isfied' or 'very dissatisfied') Room fo r Improvement) 

Municipa l property taxes 7.2 43% 3.11 

Energy costs 6.0 47% 2.80 

Avai labi lity and quality of the workforce 8.5 32% 2.72 

Retai l shops and shopping experience 5.6 31% 1.73 

Diversity of age groups 7.8 22% 1.71 

Availability of adequate housing 7.4 18% 1.33 

Land costs 6.1 21% 1.29 

Development Charges 6.5 19% 1.24 

Quality of business parks and industria l 
6.9 17% 1.17 

areas 

Development/building permit process 5.6 20% 1.12 

Revitalization of the downtown area 7.4 12% 0.89 

Availability of space for rent or lease 6.9 12% 0.82 

Zoning 6.3 13% 0.82 

Availability of serviced land 5.4 13% 0.70 

Support from loca l residents 6.1 10% 0.61 

Internet Service 6.1 10% 0.61 

Festivals and events 8.7 7% 0.61 

Overall quality of life 7.0 6% 0.42 

<Ii Derived importance is a measure of the re lative importance of each category in re lation to the question "Overall 
how satisfied are you with Port Col borne as a place to open and operate a business?" The correlation for each 

category has been converted to a ten-po int scale, with '10' representing the category t hat had the highest impact 
in respondents being satisfied with doing business in Port Col borne. All numbers are in relation to each other and 
give a sense of the relative comparison between categories and their impact on the satisfaction of businesses. 

Q4 Over the past three years have your revenues at your businesses ... 

Cumulat ive 
Frequency Percent Valid Percent Percent 

Valid 1 Increased 42 42.0 42.0 42.0 

2 Decreased 8 8.0 8.0 50.0 

3 Remained The Same 36 36.0 36.0 86.0 

4 Varied By Year 12 12.0 12.0 98.0 

9 Not Sure 2 2.0 2.0 100.0 

Total 100 100.0 100.0 

IVIDB Insight -City of Port Colborne Econom ic. Development Strategic Plan Page 63 

85



Q4_1 What are your expectations for this year's total revenues compared to last year? 

Cumulative 
Frequency Percent Valid Percent Percent 

Valid 1 Higher SS S5.0 ss.o 5S.O 

2 Lower 7 7.0 7.0 62.0 

3 The Same 34 34.0 34.0 96.0 

9 Not Sure 4 4.0 4 .0 100.0 

Total 100 100.0 100.0 

QS Within the next three years, w hich of t he following are you planning for your business? 

Yes No 

Expand 2S% 7S% 

Relocate outside the municipality 3% 87% 

Downsize 3% 97% 

Close 1% 99% 

Sell 4% 96% 

Stay the same 2S% 7S% 

QSAl Are you currently experiencing difficulties with your expansion plans? 

Cumulative 

Frequency Percent Valid Percent Percent 

Valid 1 Yes 4 4.0 16.0 16.0 

2 No 21 21.0 84.0 100.0 

Total 25 2S.O 100.0 

Missing System 75 7S.O 

Total 100 100.0 

QSA2 Are there any reasons why the community may not be considered for future expansion? 

Cumulative 
Frequency Percent Valid Percent Percent 

Valid 1 Yes, please specify 6 6.0 24.0 24.0 

reasons: 
2 No 19 19.0 76.0 100.0 

Total 2S 2S.O 100.0 

Missing System 7S 7S.O 

Total 100 100.0 

Reasons why the community may not be considered for f uture expansion plans include increasing taxes, 
lack of support, and an aging population and need for a younger generation in the community. 

IVIDB Insight - City of Port Colborne Economic Develop111ent Strategic Plan Page 64 

86



QSB-D What is the timeframe for the following? 

With in six months Longer t han six months 

Relocating 11% 

Downsizing 3.5% 7% 

Closure 3.5% 

Selling 1% 

Q6 During the past 3 years how has the number of people you employ in your business 
changed? 

Cumulative 
Frequency Percent Valid Percent Percent 

Valid 1 Increased 30 30.0 30.0 30.0 

2 Decreased 17 17.0 17.0 47.0 

3 Stayed the Same 53 53.0 53.0 100.0 

Total 100 100.0 100.0 

Q7 Does your business currently have difficulties hiring? 

Cumulative 
Frequency Percent Valid Percent Percent 

Valid 1 Yes 41 41.0 41.0 41.0 

2 No 59 59.0 59.0 100.0 

Total 100 100.0 100.0 

Q7AM1-4 Which of the following is giving you difficulty in the job hiring process? 

Too Few applicants 25% 

Lack of appropriate skills or training 42.5% 

Lack of relevant experience 25% 

Other 7.5% 

Q7B Are the hiring challenges specifically related to the community or industry? 

Cumulative 
Frequency Percent Valid Percent Percent 

Valid 1 Community 9 9.0 22.0 22.0 

2 Industry 12 12.0 29.3 51.2 

3 Both 20 20.0 48.8 100.0 

Total 41 41.0 100.0 

Missing System 59 59.0 

Total 100 100.0 

MDB Insight - City of Port Co lborne Economic Development Strategic Plan Page 65 

87



Q7 _1Ml-3 What occupat ions do you have difficulty in recruiting for your business? 

Other; specify 26% 

General Labour 26% 
Mechanist 4% 

Retail/Sales/Sales Clerk 8% 
Drivers 5% 
Cooks 2% 

Skill Technical/Skill Labour/Skill Trade 9% 
Welders 2% 

QB Does your business have difficulty retaining employees? 

Cumulative 
Frequency Percent Valid Percent Percent 

Valid 1 Yes 9 9.0 9.0 9.0 

2 No 91 91.0 91.0 100.0 

Total 100 100.0 100.0 

QBAMl-4 What are the reasons for these difficulties in retaining employees? - MENTION 1 

Wages 24% 

Work Environment/Natu re of Job 6% 

Competition 6% 

Seasonal Employment 9% 
Other 3% 

Q9A-G What elements are most important to you when you think about what a successful 

economy in Port Colborne looks like over the next 20 years? 

Important Not Important Unsure 

Having a diverse mix of businesses across industries 92% 8% 

Attracting and developing the local workforce 94% 5% 

Being a top location for new investments 88% 12% 

Supporting entrepreneurs to start new businesses 89% 11% 

Continuing to focus on the success of the downtown 88% 11% 1% 

Encouraging more residential development 90% 9% 1% 
Oh er 47% 2% 51% 

MOB Insight- City of Port Colborne Eco11on1ic Develoµn1ent Strategic Plan Page 66 

88



Q9GOM1-3 You mentioned other elements as being <Q9G> to you when you think about what a 

successful economy in Port Colborne looks like over the next 20 years. Can you please specify 

the other elements? 

Other; specify 30% 
More industrial/industry 16% 
Increase jobs 3% 
Get more families 5% 
M ore housing 3% 
Lower taxes/Tax breaks 5% 
Do more activities for the young/Retain the young 10% 
Better maintained roads/Repave 3% 
Fix city/Clean up city 3% 
More stores/business 10% 
More events/festivals 5% 
Focus on certain geographical areas/Should focus on other areas too 7% 

QlOMl-3 What are one or two top priorities that would help your business be successful that 

you think is important for the City to know about as it creates a new Economic Development 
Strategy? 

Other; specify 25% 
Lower taxes/Lower property taxes 4% 
More business/industries 5% 
More advertising/let people know 4% 
More people/Increase population/families/Residential development 8% 
More young people I Do things for young people 5% 
Better Economy 2% 
More skilled people/labour train ing programs (co-op) 3% 
Traffic flow/Increase lanes/Less traffic interruptions 3% 
Promote canal/Better access to canal 2% 
Less bureaucracy building permits/Development approval cumbersome 2% 
No/ None/Nothing 28% 
Nothing 11% 

MDB Insight- City of Port Colborne Economic Development Strategic Plan Page 67 

89



Appendix B - Site Selection Considerations 

A Site Selector's Checklist 

Communities and companies share many things in common when it comes to the factors that support 
sustainable strategies and prosperity. Everyone is stronger when a community has modern and well
maintained utility and roadway infrastructure, healthy and safe neighbourhoods, a government that is a 
productive and valued partner ofthe business sector, and education and training resources produce a 
productive and up-to-date workforce. 

Se lecting the best location for new and expanding facilities requires corporate managers to carefully 
consider the attributes of candidate locations. Increasingly important is the need for decision makers to 
identify communities that track the changing needs of niche industrial sectors and the community 
adjusts offerings accordingly. A facility located in one of these communities is more likely to achieve 
long-term success by reducing risk from swings in technology, markets, raw materia ls, workforce and 
other forces . 

The top characteristics site selector's look for in considering a community for investment are: 

Workforce 

• Characteristics 

• An available workforce that includes both ski lled and unskilled workers 

• Ability to attract talent to move to area 

• Avai lable sources of new labor entrants (i.e. universities) 

• Reasonable wage rates and fringe benefits relative to competing cities 

• Work ethic 

• Training Resources 

• K-12 education system - regional occupational training and college prep 

• Community Colleges - certification programs, linkages to businesses, specia lized t raining 

• Universities - specialty programs, industry-related programs, linkages to business community, 
research 

Real Estate 

• Available Sites 

• Ready-to-go sites ranging from 1 to 100 acres in settings suitable for office, light & heavy 
industrial. 

• Served with all utilities, good highway access, proper zoning, compat ible neighboring land uses. 

• Controls in place that wi ll stop undesired development. 

• Located near labor force and worker amenities . 

MDB Insight - City of Port Colborne Economic Development Strategic Plan Page 68 

90



• Available Buildings 

• An inventory of industrial buildings ready to go including small industria l and commercial space, 
and larger industrial buildings. 

• Class A, B, C offices. 

• Start up Space 

• Low or no rent space for entrepreneur start-ups 

• Support services in place to help start-up businesses 

Sustainability 

• Local Sustainability Action Plan 

• Local energy conservation and efficiency programs 

• Local recycling and reuse programs 

• Green building standards 

• Fast track development for new I upgrade LEED and Energy Star Bui ldings 

• Community I residents embrace "green" culture 
Init ia l Impressions from Site Selector Community Visit 

Sense of Community 

• Well-funded cultural institutions with active 
programs 

• Mix of high-end and discount shopping choices 

• Wide range of quality recreation opportunities 

• Wide range of neighborhood living alternatives 

• Healthy downtown reflecting community pride 

Incentives 

• Incentive policy in place and clearly communicated 

• Documentation of statutory incentive programs 
and understanding of how they apply to specific 
client projects 

• Due diligence procedures to vet worthiness of 

1. 
2. 
3 . 
4. 
5. 
6. 
7 . 
8. 
9. 

10. 
11. 
12. 
13. 
14. 
15. 
16. 
17. 

Category 

Organization 

Business Retention 

Leadership 

Permitting 

Marketing 

Labor Force 

Workforce Training 

Available Sites 

Ava ilable Buildings 

Incubator Space 

Utilities 

Operating Costs 

One Time Costs 

Susta i na bi Ii ty 

Living Environment 

Risk Management 

Incentives 

incentive package (impact model, review company financials) 

Strength Average 

When a community is shortlisted as a candidate for corporate investment, a site selector will visit to 
gather information that will go into a comparative study of location alternatives. As the consultant 
project comes to an end, final recommendations are prepared that weight overall strengths and 
weaknesses of each location. The communities with the fewest flaws generally rise to t he top. 

A step in compiling the recommendations the site selector will review is comparing initial impressions 
from the site visit against data findings. Those impressions can mean t he difference between high and 
low marks in the final ta lly. 

Weakness 

MOB Insight - City of Port Colborne Economic Development Strategic Plan Page 69 

91



The table above is an example of a scorecard of "gut feelings" at the end of a community visit. 
Competitive communities are those with economic development programs that address the factors in 
the checklist, ensuring they meet a high standard or efforts are in place to make needed improvements. 

Investment Readiness in Port Col borne - First Impressions 

Economic development branding and marketing strategies are often replicated on different platforms; 
versions on the same theme are found on websites, marketing co llateral, advertising, proposals, 
qualifications and other customized documents. A community's website is a window to the world that 
gives site selectors a first impression. Consequently, getting the website "right" has serious implications 
for overall prospects for program success. 

A we ll run economic development program maintains a repository of up-to-date information that 
captures both the spectrum and depth of community attributes. When this information is available on a 
website, a site selector's confidence in the community's ability to meet project needs is immediately 
elevated. 

First Impress ions 

Site selection projects typically begin with a high-level study of locat ion alternatives. Site selectors 
typically first touch a community through links uncovered when investigating provincia l and regional 
economic development websites. Local authorities generally never know when a review of this type is 
being conducted. 

Once landed on a community's website, a site selector scans for key elements. Any delays in loading, 
broken links encountered, or hard to find information will send the site selector to the next community. 
Key elements that should pop quickly to view include: 

• Contact information (phone number, email) for an economic development representative(s) 

• Investment targets and associated business case va lue propositions 

• An inventory of industrial sites and buildings along with property information 

• A data center that houses details about the economy, demographics, workforce, and other 
community information 

• Business directory listing major employers along with number of employees and products produced 

As part of t his exercise, the economic development websites for Niagara Region, Port Colborne, Fort 
Erie, St. Catharines and Welland were scanned, first quickly as in a real site selection project, then with 
more care. 

First impressions were mildly positive for Niagara, Welland, Port Colborne and St . Catharines, Fort Erie 
less so. All the websites lack a cohesive structure that ties together the required depth of information in 
a navigation format that is intuitive. 

MOB Insight - City of Port Colborne Economic Development Strategic Plan Page 70 

92



Niagara RegioCl and Communities. 

The Niagara Region landing page makes an attractive case for "Why Niagara?" Locate, Work, Expedite, 
Start are compelli ng statements. 

Port Colborne Website - Port Colborne's economic development landing page leads wit h the picture 
below left. What does a 20-something in a food truck say about business opportunities in Port 
Colborne? Scrolling dow n the page, the viewer comes across the links shown be low r ight. Isn't this the 
stronger message? 

~ 0 
v1 l1fODl • QIJ10l .. "I • IUlhtlll • tl lW \ • .. ',, .. ,,. 

The website references Economic Development Strategy & Action Plan and the Competit ive Analysis of 
Industries studies. Impressions after a quick review of these documents are that they cont ain sound 
recommendations for growing the economy. However, there is little evidence on the Port Col borne 
website to suggest that any of the recommendations were implemented. 

Port Co l borne links to Niagara Site Finder w hich produces one industrial site, a 2.5 acre parce l in the 
Loyalist Industrial Park. The Port Colborne website lists two city owned propert ies, lnvertose Drive -
20.7 acres, and Ramey Road - 56.5 acres not currently serviced, but not t he Loyalist Park property. 

The website also provides a link to Energy Park (Nylon Oil) but without a clea r explanation of w hether it 
is available for development. The website does not provide a map showing the location of avai lable 
properties. 

Fort Erie Website - A Google search of the term "Fort Erie economic development" yields the landing 
page show below left high on search results. This page offers a genera l statement on the community's 
economic development mission but no obvious links to information that site selectors are typica lly 
seeking. A carefu l reading shows a barely visible link to "Bridging Opportunity - Creating Success" taking 
the viewer to the webpage at right. This page has several links to useful data. One link is "Site 
Locater/Land" as noted by the longer red arrow. 

l\llDB Insight - City of Port Colborne Economic Development Strategic Plan Page 71 

93



The Site Locator/ Land web page again presents a genera l statement on available property and goes on 
to make statements (shown lower left) that are outwardly discouraging to site selectors. 

f ,. I!!•\\ - 1111111 
·- .... .,,,....,. Ctilt&n 6~.-. ~ ,.....,. . ""... ~ 

Econon\!c Development >>Economic Oevelopmenl & Tounsm 
Corp 

l•rr.,o; l,..~lk>~••'-"-<-•ltJllC •-'-""'"'-•t_..., .... .at~ 
~·-'P-3". ... 111-•·•f'k-,.._.,"'''IAl .... ...,,.,.so,; .... ,.,..,,~ . ._, .. ,.,1DTC1 
.,, ........ ___.,_,•lntbo9Y•.,.:...r1....., W..'lo1a, •--.. .- t11:n...,..,..,, ... _-:, 
~-~" ... ..._,.__ .......... I•"'»'••• •'f--.-rl~•v111,....,.,,.._,.i.r;.-w 
l!!et0"11:•,_•,.....-~~lot6.a,,. _,,._.M1<t'-l>.H1Mltwtrf-U...rn--
"'9fltlol .. - ......... ,, ••• - •• - ..... ,""'"' ... ,.._. ...... .--. . ..... ....... °"1 
~- ............. ~ ... ........ ~.,.-.r;~ ... ,<1 ........ -• ... 1 ••l'1't•'" ''"'!'O~'"f 
""1.,_ ..... ....,,~, ... """'"''""'"'""',.. 

(tet~- 1•· .. ~-~ .. _,~..,,.,. 1 

A request to submit project 
detail before seeing property 
information is an odd way to 
sell the community: 

"Call one of the Fort Erie 
EDTC's professional staff 

today to discuss your 
property/site specifications 

and requ irements today. The 
EDTCwill help you identify 

and research potential 
properties and broker 
introductions with the 

owner/broker of the 
property. 

Before you call the EDTC with 
a site selection request, 

please be prepared to 
provide the fo llowing 

information to help narrow 
our search ... " 

"Broker introductions" do not 
convey confidence that the 
investigation of property wil I 
run smoothly. 

--· -· ~ ..... ~ .... ,... _ ....... _ 

~: .. . ,. ... ,, ... .,,...:4.t:{ ... ~ lltl • ~':.11"1"'! 

,.._, lr>.¢...'!l:f';1.t"'11116t .. ~...,._,~ .. ~I 

•tt• .. ·•K"•1:1«'~,,,~· •ce4J'l"~ ........ 
,'7""111"''1~1 ICIUJ lO ~ ~-· 
:.v<.0-"';' r.i .... IC-• lr.';.1 ::. t'l.olo-'c-"'"'t~• 
J'"1Q r0-x:u ~,.r.tAs. !re ;::":n !•• !7°::: ' ,.,.... B 

... ~ .~.1\'\:2\• ~.x;a!:Y"'i::r)?..•:""-''"';." 

"<'-"rt> XlO ~!V 

~ C<"'"Cdt-• Pcr1f"'• i?- xso-e:"t•"°"'' >l-,...~,., 
1:1:4,....,.nwO"t:l!~r "~ ~·ue.o-• Jr"G 

~7 ..... rts ""::-:n • .... w•e ~ ~•.:i'f!ll.l~v--, ... -~ 
'lttelt.V.OO'ar..1 :t=<R'tUV'~ ... '1.""Xk.-:'..0-\ 
• .,.::....~crc1o...,dhctcQetty 

5J.~ p.: c.a ,...~·C•!l' .t l.-'e .. •~r9').,·H! 
c.u• o.;11'..-..JC.,~cr.:i ....... -.~ .. m ·? ~z;;;::;:.,:.:r~ 
"*O t".J.-Cill~f HJt'O"' 

_ ..... 
";JZN~•u~·T 

~ ~U.-.C:~" 
~·"C->"9 ~,.......-i t.r•vr ., • .., •+¢ u ~ .. 
::. -, '°";~~t"O'~J' 
_:.m~t7/).CV" .... , ., 

MDB Insight-City of Port Colborne Economic Development Strategic Plan 

--- _._..., .. ". 
Bridgms Opportunity· ( 1e.1tlng SurcPss 

.. - ,- . 

i 

Page 72 

94



Welland Website - Welland's economic development landing page offers bot h an outline of se rvices and 
links to site selector relevant information including resources on the #MadelnWelland website. 
Information spread across two websites gives an impression that economic development 
branding/messaging is a work-in-progress. 

Welland does not rely on the Niagara Site Finder feature to direct visitors to property data but displays 
properties on a map. The functionality is a little cumbersome, but links to data and an attractive map 
makes for a satisfactory property search. 

l.J••- lv:Wlont • 01ytU ll· O~-

- - - - - - - - - - -- - - -
..,....~,~l'J.>pottutatly f~ 

inl~.Ul'llf"'""""'mt"ll°"'°''lolft.ff~t'IM ~t~~ .. p/~t'O\i' ~•rS t.11 toi'nl~l'l'\rt' O"I 

P1·opt111H lhltd Otl m•p: 

• , ,, Clrt•l I-''" ' Si1t.te 
• JU C&olllll)}_Wffi 
• • nC..fl,lla.anUtr"'f; 
• J•Ucn.,P1ht10Jt¥. 
• J H l'.ottt"bt Grh.ti 
• Jl tlll:Lalttlll 1>1h'11 
• J:tlfntnprlH Difnl 
• 1'1 tilfflf• Stt+ct 

475 Canal Bank St reet 

_........_., .. ~ ........ 
t,f,<••----. ..... ~ .. 

'~' .. , ....... _ ............. _ 
Olofl_ t, t-t ::.• 

....... i.-_ 

~"'------.:..·-~--~,. 
-::.. ..... .,..._."' :..-- · ~·~ .. -... ,,,. ::..,, .. __ ,. 
_'-"' ... ~ ...... . 

...... ..., .... w .... ---.. --· 
~" .. .,.,.,,..~ .... ·u : 
._ ..... _.,.J~ 

..,.. .. ~o, 
o..--.--· i;,,.. t .......... - .-.... 

• 

- - --

. 4< - >·-··;-; - ·---·--·-

]t'• C.... .... Ct-f' .... ~--..Jl'lf· 
~·if ....... k 

_.,.......,,.,, .. 1 .... --.e.J~t• "°''-t•)l"t 

.. 1 
...... ~-.:;.it .. "' 

.,,..,._~L-t 

r-t ~~~· 
~f'o~u.l "IU!> __ ........, 
...... ... ~..,,.. .. ,, ..... .,. ·-· rric&.Pn • a.t.nra•• 

r,,. .-,,.... ....... -...-... ~ ,....,, 
~· U!XIU' 
~,..,..,. u1 ~ ~~r~1 •W-f:i.· 
J.: U ..... 

:t.-ttl~ .. 
U r tl -t"-;t C.'9'' t...taa. l l.!ll.!lt --"'t .V.-c .. :- -.s.~ 
"" ' ;>-uc:,:: 
t-.i~n...,.;...• r,c~=-

.....,~.wa-w .. --..... .aa.. .... ...,. ...... J& ... ...,.,. 

~~ "'""--·---· ............ ..,>)'Q..:Q .....-.r·:t..,....... Mlw-:&:'.":rllt~ 
....,,...,..-~ 

~ .... o-. .. ,~~...,_..,,...,.,. ""' -i.~1...-.-.. ... ., " ... .!•'l!•:u,c.:1 ,,.<• ~"- :~:q"l -;:o::H "I ~J.'$):ot. 'I: 
..,.,.._., :•-.,. ~ .. k.-....,.su:..,... 

i-t • · .. V'H..-. UM.llf,•Nf .....,, .. tt., 
!•• -=r,-
::~ ttrr-<:.- ... ..-. 
:•, rl , ....., 
.!OloJt'W-l.Wte 
~..-.:!:.:.-t.a-!1r. 

- t •!J•a "':~ .. 1:: 

MDB Insight - City of Port Colborne Economic Development Strategic Plan Page 73 

95



Alternative Industrial Park Models 

At one time it was common for neighbouring communities to fiercely compete with one another and, in 
some cases, steal from one another by luring companies to cross jurisdictional boundaries. The 
movement toward regionalism was initially sprung from the need to lift a community's marketing profile 
to compete in a global economy but cooperation often ended there. 

Regionalism has since taken on other forms including municipalities working together to establ ish a 
larger portfolio of real estate ready for development. This often favors municipa lit ies with tracks of 
developable land over those without. Collaboration, therefore, requires building trust among elected 
officials, community stakeholders and business leaders around a common vision. 

Site selectors and corporate managers increasingly recognize that success is best achieved when 
regional partners work cooperatively to support stable and susta inable economies. Turf battles are both 
unbecoming of forward-thinking communities and ultimately counter-productive. When communities sit 
down and talk about what is important for economic prosperity there are always opposing views, but 
w ith open lines of communication and trust there is often a path to success. 

Tax Sharing Arrangements 

Port Districts in Washington State, Industrial Development Districts in Michigan, and Jo int Economic 
Development Districts (JEDDs) in Ohio are among the tax sharing arrangements found in the United 
States. The Talmadge/Brimfield JEDD near Akron, Ohio is representative of a tax sharing arrangement 
that employs multi-jurisdictional cooperation on industrial and commercial development. 

Land resource poor City ofTallmadge and neighbour Brimfield Township, a roughly 30 square mile 
community with large tracks of open land, created a JEDD in 2003 under provisions of the Ohio Revised 
Code for Cities and Townships (see map below). The goal of a JEDD is for communit ies to work together 
to develop industrial and commercial areas of the district in conjunction w ith t he hosting community's 
development plan. 

Area of Brimfield 
Township annexed 

by City of 
Talmadge in 

19805 

Brimfield 
Township 

within the 
JEDD 

I l 
•?t.., : ii 

i ra-lf : .. -:-~ 

J "'~ .,, , -. 
.- ~~ 1t ·-·--·-

ll 
DRl~!FIEW 
TOlf :'<S llJP

CJTY OF 
TAl.L~IADGE 

JEDD 

/ -- >~ 

IVlDB Insight - City of Port Colborne Economic Deve lopment Strategic Plan Page 74 

96



Host community residents benefit as the area develops w ith additional employment opportunities, 
while both communities realize increased funding through sharing of new city income tax revenue. Ten 
percent of all income taxes collected are set aside in a separate fund to be used exclusively wit hin the 
commercial and industrial areas of the JEDD. 

New businesses locating in the JEDD are automatically included in the agreement. Property owners are 
also able to petition to be part of the JEDD Program as development ta kes place within the district. 

Brimfield Township provides police and fire protection, street services and planning for the district. The 
City of Tallmadge provides economic development assistance and water and sewer services. 

Col laborative Non-Tax Sharing Model 

A more common collaborative model is that of non-profit organizations. These organizations are 
sometimes formed under the umbrella of a chamber of commerce, industrial commission, or economic 
development/tourism group. All models have been shown to be successful in fostering partnerships 
across jurisdictional boundaries. 

Members of these partnerships abide by a foundational principle; what is good for one is good for all. 
The model succeeds when connections between communities, companies, places and people are built 
on a sound economic development strategy. The secret is to identify and cultivate those connections, all 
aimed at advancing a healthy economy. 

Henderson County Economic Development Partnership (HCEDP) in Henderson County, North Carolina is 
one of many examples of successful collaborative non-tax sharing organizations. A weak economy 
brought on by decline in traditional manufacturing (textiles, wood products) in t he 1980-90s spurred 
community leaders to pursue new approaches to economic development. 

Cities and township governmental units within the county turned over the task of managing economic 
deve lopment to the non-profit HCEDP. HCEDP raises money through corporate donations and member 
community contributions. The organization also actively pursues public and private grant monies. 

Under this organizational form, there is a split in responsibilities. Among the tasks HCEDP undertakes is 
to develop industrial parks and stand-alone shovel-ready sites around t he county, some owned by the 
non-profit, some by government, and others staying in the hands of private citizens. 

Government is responsible for developing and maintaining traditional services such as water, waste 
water, and transportation infrastructure. A critical aspect in Henderson County's eventual success has 
been each community's attention to quality of life elements including parks, education, and downtown 
redevelopment. The area is now a preferred location for skilled workers and wea lthy retirees. 

The City of Hendersonville has grown significantly over the last 20 years with the help of HCEDP, this 
despite most industrial deve lopment supported by the city occurring outside city boundaries. The 
downtown district is now fully occupied and prosperous, and the area now has a healthy mix of 
industrial, commercial and retail employers. 

A factor in Henderson County's long-term success has been ongoing attention to strategic planning and 
project implementation. HCEDP holds an annual Industrial Executives Forum to discuss next steps. The 
2016 forum agenda addressed the elements listed below, deemed important to maintaining a 
sustainable community. 

NIDB Insight - City of Port Colborne Economic Development Strategic Plan Page 75 

97



• Affordable Housing - What can we do about helping employers retain workers? 

• Millennials and Workforce - How can companies recruit, understand and develop a wo rk 
environment for millennia ls? 

• Entrepreneurship- Does Henderson County support start-ups? 

• Agricu lture - How does the agriculture community market itself? 

• Business-to-Business Connections - How can we increase awareness of business opportunities 
interna l to the county? 

• Broadband - How can Henderson County grow broadband as a necessary utility? 

• Recyc ling and Sustainabi lity - What resources are available for industry recycling and repurposing? 

• Transportation - How can Henderson County develop and improve transportation including public 
transportation and greenways? 

MOB Insight - City of Por"t Colborne Economic Development Strategic Plan Page 76 

98



Appendix C - Additional Best Practices from 
Good to Great in U.S. Cities 
A good economic development strategy has its origin in community vision; what do we want to be in the 
future? A good place to sta rt the visioning process is to consider what might be possible by looking t he 
experience of successful communities. Presented below are examples of U.S. cities and towns who were 
once faced with lagging economies and were able to refashion themselves and become sustainable and 
prosperous. 

Common elements to the achievement of success in these communities include: 

• Development of shovel-ready industrial parks and sites 

• Downtown redevelopment 

• Quality of life initiatives including parks and greenways 

• Collaboration with regional partners 

• Identification of industry targets aligned with community attributes 

• An economic development program w ith broad community support 

. . How did the town 
City/ State What was the spark? What actions were taken? h 

1 

Hudson, 
Wisconsin 12 

Decline in traditional 

manufacturing weakened 
t he economy at the same 
time nearby 

suburbanization from 
Minneapolis/St. Paul pulled 
retail from the downtown 
leading to further decline. 

• Strong support for the regional 

development organization (Momentum 

West). 

• Community developed plans around 

improving the urban landscape as a way 

of becoming more attractive as a place to 

live. 

• Investment in a river front park 

• Downtown streetscape and store front 

improvements. 

12 www.m omen tu rnwest.org/m omen tum-west/ ou r-region/st.-croix-

c ange. 

Hudson is now both a 
daytrip t our ist 
dest ination, and a 
favoured bedroom 
communi ty for the 
creative class. The 
population has more 
t han doubled in t he last 
25 yea rs. Attractive 
and prosperous 
downtown. 

cou nty /hudson/?col um ns=demogra phi cs%2 C +higher_ ed ucati on%2C +quality _I ife%2 C +workforce_ esta bl ishm en ts% 
2C +workforce_ occupations&I ocat ion=604 

MOB Insight - City of Port Colborne Economic Development Strategic Plan Page 77 

99



City I State What was the spark? What actions were taken? 

The Dalles, The decline in the forest • Strong support fo r a regional 
Oregon 13 products industry that development organization. 

began in 1970s pushed the • Industry targets defined 
community into a long • Development of a community owned 
period of economic decline. industrial park 
Community stakeholders 

• Downtown streetscape improvement. 
said, "Enough is enough" 
and people stepped up to 

Beca me Main Street Community 

do something. • Community made large investment in 

wast e water t reatment plant to keep a 

major maraschino cherries employer in 

the community 

Walla Walla, The economy of sleepy and • Strong support for Port District 
Washington14 isolated big agriculture leadership on economic development 

community Walla Walla was • Support of agriculture and wine industry 
dependent on commodity • Downtown streetscape and store front 
markets and private improvements 
Whitman College. 

• City/Whitman College colla boration on 
Leadership emerged that 
sought to drive economic 

many fronts 

development through • Local emphasis on tou rism associated 

community investment. with wine industry 

• Transit hub developed in the town cen ter 

and increased routes established to 

connect the community 

• Airport terminal built, and ai r service 

attracted 

Hendersonville, Weak economy brought on • Strong support for county wide economic 
North by decline in traditional development organization, giving the 
Carolina 15 manufacturing (textiles, organization responsibility for investment 

wood products) in the attraction, city leaders then focused on 
1990s spurred community making the city better 
leaders to pursue new • Downtown streetscape and store front 
approaches to economic 

improvements 
development. 

• Local emphasis on tourism and 

ret irement, playing on Blue Ridge 

Mountains 

• Development of shovel-ready industrial 

property 

13 www.mcedd.org 
14 www.portwallawalla.com/economic-development 
15 gohendersoncountync.org 

MOB Insight-City of Port Colborne Economic Development Strategic Plan 

How did the town 
change? 

Significant increase in 
population. Attracted 
several large employers 
including a $100 million 
data centre. The 
community is now 
viewed as a hip place to 
live and starting to 
attract young 
entrepreneur types. 

Rapidly growing wine 
industry and other 
agriculture related 
investments. 
Significant popul ation 
growth . Global 
reputation as a great 
place to visit. 

Hendersonville has 
grown significantly over 
the last 20 years. The 
downtown district is 
now fully occupied and 
prosperous. The area 
now has a healthy mix 
of industria l and 
commercial/retail 
employers. 

Page 78 

100



City I State What was the spark? What actions were taken? 
How did the town 
change? 

Bend, Decline in the forest • Support for a regional economic Bend has had explosive 
Oregon 16 products industry that development organization as the primary growth over the last 20 

began in 1970s pushed the representative of the community for years. The area has 
community into a period of outside investment attracted a creative 
economic decline. Tourists • Support for business incubation class that has started 
visiting the area started to 

• Investment in urban revitalizat ion 
many new businesses. 

target the area for 
including the cleanup of brownfield sites 

The area has also 
retirement. This pressured become a retirement 
local leadership to develop and new roads/bike trails destination for high 
long range plans for • Downtown redevelopment - streetscapes income people. 
managing growth. and storefronts. 

Twin Falls, Traditional rural agriculture • Change in leadership resulted in strong Twin Falls has attracted 
ldaho17 town far from large markets support for economic development large food processors 

was dependent on investment including ConAgra 
commodity markets. • Strategy developed to support growth of Foods, Amalgamated 
Economy was stagnating as food industry included efforts to protect Suga r Company, Cliff 
young talent left the 

water and land resources in support of Bar, and Chobani. Non-
community. 

agriculture. This included investment in 
food companies include 
Jayco RV 

waste water utility systems 
Manufacturing, C3 

• Downtown streetscape and store front Connect, Seastrom 
improvements undertaken to improve Manufacturing. The 
quality of life to retain young talent and economy is booming. 
make town more attractive to the Populat ion is growing. 
outside 

• Ongoing coordination with College of 

Southern Idaho on economic 

development. 

16 edcoinfo.com 
17 www.tfid. org/index.aspx?NID=149 

MOB Insight - City of Port Colborne Economic Development St rategic Plan Page 79 

101



Appendix D - Demographic and Labour Force 
Analysis and Detailed Background Review 

Demographic and Labour Force Analysis 

This section references data drawn from the 2011 National Household Survey, 2016 Census Profile and 
2006 Community Profile. This section will be updated throughout 2017 as components of the 2016 
Census Profile a re released. 

Popu lation and Population Growth 

In Port Col borne there was a population decline from 2011 to 2016 of -0.60%. In comparison, Niagara 
and Ontario both experienced positive growth from 2001 to 2016. Niagara grew by 3.8% from 2011 to 
2016 and Ontario grew by 4.6%. In absolute numbers, Port Colborne's population declined by 118 
people from 2011 to 2016. 

A declining population can be detrimental to the local economy as it can lead to several negative 
economic impacts. A growing population is one of the main avenues in w hich a community can increase 
its economic prospects, and as such this should be made a priority for Port Colborne. 

The figure below illustrates the population change in Port Colborne, Niagara, and Ontario over t he past 
15 years. 

Figure 11: Population Growth, 2001 to 2016 

Port Col borne Niagara Ontario 

• 2001 - 2006 • 2006 - 2011 • 2011-2016 

Source: Statistics Canada. 2016 Census Profile. 2011 National Household Survey, 2006 Census Profile. 

The graph below represents the age distribution in Port Colborne and other comparator locations. 
When comparing to other locations, Port Colborne has a noticeably older population. A greater portion 
of the population lies in the 50+ age category, with less under 50 when comparing to both Niagara and 
Ontario. This is not typically a favourable age distribution as it has a limited working age population. 
Communities without a strong working age population could find it difficult to attract businesses to the 

MOB Insight - City of Port Colborne Econon1ic Development Strategic Plan Page 80 

102



area, as businesses will typically choose to locate where their staffing needs wi ll be able to be met. In 
addition, with a smaller working age population, there is typically less money coming into and being 
spent in the community. An older age distribution can also indicate a shrinking population with death 
rate outweighing birth rates. 

Figure 12: Population by Age Distribution, 2016 

0 to 4 10 to 14 20 to 24 30 to 34 40 to 44 SO to S4 60 to 64 70 to 74 80 to 84 

- Port Colborne - Niagara --Ontario 

Source: Statistics Canada. 2016 Census Profile. 

Figure 13 illustrates the change in age distribution in Port Colborne from 2006 to 2016. As evidenced 
from the figure, Port Colborne has experienced an aging population. In 2006 there is a slight peak in the 
ages of 5 to 19 but this spike is no longer evident by 2016. One would suspect to see a corresponding 
spike in the age groups of 20-30 as by 2016 this previous increase in ages 5-19 would now be 10 years 
older. However, this is not the case. This could be caused by a number of factors. One such factor might 
the result of 'brain drain' whereby educated individuals leave the community in search of more 
specialized jobs, typically in larger centres. Attracting businesses that provide well-paying jobs could 
help to encourage individuals to remain in Port Colborne after completing schooling. 

Figure 13: Population by Age Distribution, Port Colborne 2006 & 2016 

10.0% 

8.0% 

6.0% 

4.0% 

2.0% 

0.0% 

0 to 4 10 to 14 20 to 24 30 to 34 40 to 44 SO to S4 60 to 64 70 to 74 80 to 84 

--Port Col borne 2016 - Port Colborne 2006 

Source: Statistics Canada. 2016 Census Profile.2006 Community Profile 

MOB Insight - City of Port Colborne Economic Development Strategic Plan Page 81 

103



Household and Individual Income 

Household income is a measure of the combined incomes of all people sharing a particu la r household or 
place of residence. It includes every form of income such as sa laries and wages, retirement income, 
investment gains, and government transfers. 18 The median household income helps to give an indication 
of quality of life in a particular area and the potential disposable income. From Figure 14 below it is 
evident that Port Colborne experiences a median household income that falls below Niagara and 
Ontario. In 2015, the median household income in Port Colborne was $57,244, this is a decline from 
2005, where the median income was $59,646. This compares to Ontario where the median income in 
2015 was $74,287. 

The median household income in Port Colborne could be a deceiving indication of actual wealth in the 
community. With a low median household income, it is typically assumed that the re isn' t much wealth 
in the community. However, with a population consisting of a disproportionate amount of older age 
cohorts there cou ld be previously accumulated wea lth with now only a small proportion of their wea lth 
being reflected as income. If this is the case then the disposable income available in the community 
could be much higher than is being reflected . 

A study by Bank of Montreal confirms this potential theory of seniors having more wealth than is 
potentially being captured with income statistics. The study found that since 1984 seniors have seen 
their wea lth quadruple which far outpaces the growth of wealth among younger Canadians. 19 Looking at 
other indicators such as total wealth of households in Port Colborne might give a different story than 
looking at income. 

Figure 14: Median Household Income, 2005 & 2010 

80000 ..,...-~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~-

70000 +-~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ 

60000 

50000 

40000 

30000 

20000 

10000 

0 
Port Colborne Niagara Ontario 

• 2005 Median Household Income • 2015 Median Household Income 

Source: Statistics Canada. 2011 National Household Surveys. 

is OEC "Glossary of Statistical Terms," November, 2017, www.oecd.org 

i 9 "Seniors and the generation spend ing gap," Maclean's. November 2017. 

MOB Insight - City of Port Colborne Economic Development Strategic Plan Page 82 

104



The median individual income in Port Colborne also ranked slightly below Niagara and Ontario. Median 
individual income in Port Colborne in 2015 was $29,977, while in Niagara it was $31,601 and $33,539 in 
Ontario. While median household income declined from 2005 to 2015, median ind ividua l income in Port 
Colborne increased over the 10-year period. 

Figure 15: Median Individual Income, 2005 & 2015 

30000 

20000 

10000 

0 
Port Colborne Niagara Ontario 

• 2005 Median Individual Income • 2015 Median Individual Income 

Source: Statistics Canada. 2011 National Household Surveys 

Figure 16 illustrates the individual income distribution within given income brackets. In Port Colborne, 
the largest income bracket is $20,000-$39,999 with 33% of population falling within it. In Niagara and 
Ontario this is also the largest income bracket, with Niagara having 29.1% of population earning within 
this range and Ontario with 25.2%. Port Colborne also has the largest percentage of population falling 
within the earning bracket of $40,000-$59,999 when compared to other comparators. However, Port 
Colborne has the lowest percentage of the population with an income over $60,000. 

Figure 16: Individual's Income Distribution Aged 15 Years and Over, 2011 

100.0% 

90.0% 

80.0% 

70.0% 

60.0% 

50.0% 

40.0% 

30.0% 

20.0% 

10.0% 

0.0% 

Port Colborne Niagara Ontario 

• Under $9,999 • $10,000-$19,999 • $20,000-$39,999 • $40,000-$59,999 

• $60,000-$79,999 • $80,000-$99,999 • $100,000 and over 

Source: Statistics Canada. 2011 National Household Survey. 

MOB Insight- City of Port Colborne Economic Development Strategic Plan Page 83 

105



The graph below graph illustrates the household income distribution in Port Colborne and comparators. 
Again, Port Colborne has a smaller percentage of household earnings above $100,000 when compared 
with the other regions. 78.5% of households in Port Colborne have an income less than $100,000, with 
the remaining 21.5% of households earning over $100,000. In Niagara 29% of households earn over 
$100,000 and in Ontario 35% of households earn above $100,000. The largest income bracket for all 
regions is $50,000-$99,999. 

Figure 17: Household Income Distribution, 2016 

100.00% -.---~--.------~---~~~~.......---------.-~----------------~~ 
90.00% +----1 

80.00% +-------<' 

70.00% -+---

60.00% 

50.00% 

40.00% 

30.00% 

20.00% 

10.00% 

0.00% 

Port Colborne 

• Under $25,000· 

Niagara Ontario 

• $25,000-$49,999 • $50,000-$99.999 

• $100,000-$124,000 • $125,000 and over 

Source: Statistics Canada. 2016 Census Profile. 

Dwelling Va lues and Character istics 

Dwelling va lues in Port Colborne are significantly less than in both Niagara and Ontario. This is 
promising to see as with lower income, having less to spend on housing helps to compensate with 
amount of available disposable income and spending on other luxury items that can help to improve 
quality of life. The average dwelling va lue in 2016 in Port Colborne was $237, 725. Niagara's average 
dwelling va lue was $85,494 more than Port Colborne's and Ontario's was $268,684 more. 

The housing value growth rate from 2011 to 2016 for all comparator regions is as follows: 

• Port Colborne: 18.1% 

• Niagara: 24.7% 

• Ontario: 37.8% 

Ontario experienced the greatest growth in housing prices from 2011 to 2016 with Port Colborne being 
the lowest at 18.1% growth. 

MDB Insight - City of Port Colborne Economic Development Strategic Plan Page 84 

106



Figure 18: Average Value of Dwellings, 2011 & 2016 

$600,000 

$500,000 

$400,000 

$300,000 

$200,000 

$100,000 

$-
Port Colborne Niagara Ontario 

• 2011 Average Va lue of Dwell ing($) • 2016 Average Value of Dwelling($) 

Source: Statistics Canada. 2011 National Household Survey, 2006 Community Profile. 

Figure 19 below highlights the types of dwellings that are most prominent in the community. Port 
Colborne had the highest percentage of single-detached housing, apartment in a duplex, and apartment 
in fewer than 5 stores when compared to Niagara and Ontario. 73% of dwellings in Port Colborne were 
single-detached. 54.3% of dwellings in Ontario were single-detached. The least common dwell ing type in 
Port Col borne was movable dwelling with 0. 7% of homes under this category, followed by semi
detached house at 1.9%. 

Figure 19: Types of Dwellings, 2011 

80.0% 

70.0% 

60.0% 

50.0% 

40.0% 

30.0% 

20.0% 

10.0% 

0.0% 
Single-detached Apartment in Semi-detached 

house building with 5 house 
or more storeys 

Row house Apartment or 
flat in a duplex 

• Port Colborne • Niagara • Ontario 

Source: Statistics Canada. 2011 National Household Survey. 

MOB Insight - City of Port Colborne Economic Development Strategic Plan 

Apartment in 
building with 
fewer t han 5 

storeys 

Movab le 
dwelling 

Page 85 

107



Educational Profi le 

An educational profile is an important socioeconomic indicator as it reveals a community's ability to 
staff new and existing businesses. For the purposes of this profile, the total population aged 25 to 64 
years old was examined in relation to the highest certificate, diploma or degree they have obtained. 

As shown in the figure below Port Colborne has the highest percentage of individuals with no certificate, 
diploma or degree. Port Col borne also has the highest percentage of individuals having received a high 
school diploma, apprenticeship or trade certificate or diploma, and college or other non-university 
certificate or diploma. Port Colborne has the lowest percentage of individuals having atta ined a 
university certificate or diploma below bachelor level, and lowest percentage of university certificate, 
diploma or degree at bachelor level or above. 

This speaks to the types of jobs available in Port Col borne with few knowledge-based employment 
opportunities and more hands-on trades-based jobs. It also speaks to the likelihood of being able to 
attract certain types of businesses to Port Colborne. It is less likely that a knowledge base business will 
locate in Port Colborne as the types of businesses wou ld likely require individuals with a university level 
education. Individuals who would meet this job profile are fewer in Port Colborne than would be in 
other communities. 

Figure 20: Population Aged 25 to 64 Years Old by Educational Attainment, 2016 

No certificate; 
diploma or 

degree 

High school 
diploma or 
equivalency 
certificate 

Source: Statistics Canada. 2016 Census. 

Apprenticeship College; CEGEP 
or trades 

certificate or 
diploma 

or other non
university 

certificate or 
diploma 

University 
certificate or 

diploma below 
bachelor level 

University 
certificate; 
diploma or 
degree at 

bachelor level 
or above 

• Port Colborne 

• Niagara 

• Ontario 

Education by major field of study in Port Col borne for those having received higher education is as 
follows: 

• No postsecondary: 45% 

MOB Insight - City of Port Colborne Economic Development Striltegic Plan Page 86 

108



• Education: 3.7% 

• Visual and performing arts: 2% 

• Humanities: 2% 

• Social and behavioural sciences and law: 5.6% 

• Business; management and public administration: 9% 

• Physical and life sciences and technologies: 1% 

• Mathematics; computer and information sciences: 1.7% 

• Architecture; engineering and re lated technologies: 13% 

• Agricu lture; natural resources and conservation: 1.2% 

• Health and related fields: 9.7% 

• Personal; protective and transportation services: 5.4% 

Labour Force 

Annual Unemployment, Employment, and Participation Rate 

From 2011 to 2016 the unemployment rate in Port Colborne increased by 1.4%, the employment rate 
therefore had a corresponding decrease effect, with a decrease of 0.8% from 51.6% to 50.8%. The 
Participation rate is a percentage measure of the population 15 years of age and older w ho are part of 
the labour force or actively seeking work. The participation rate in Port Col bo rne is 56%, this compares 
to the Ontario average where the participation rate is 61%. 

Port Colborne experienced the lowest employment and participation rat e when compared to Niagara 
and Ontario. With the majority of the population in Port Col borne being typically over working age, it is 
not unexpected to see a low participation rate. However, Port Colborne also experienced the highest 
Unemployment rate in 2016. 

MOB Insight - City of Port Colborne Economic Development Strategic Plan Page 87 

109



Figure 21: Unemployment and Participation Rate, 2011 & 2016 

Participation Rate Employment Rate Unemployment Rate 

Source: Statistics Canada. 2011 National Household Survey & 2016 Census Profile . 

Labour Force by Industry Sector 

• Port Colborne 

• Niagara 

• Onta rio 

Labour force by industry sector for all comparator regions was examined to determine how Port 
Colborne's labour force compos ition compared to Niagara and Ontario. The figure below demonstrates 
labour force by population in each industry sector. 

The top 3 industry sectors by population participation are as follows: 

• Retail Trade 

• Manufacturing 

• Health Care and Social Assistance 

MOB Insight - City of Port Colborne Eco110111lc Development Strategic Plan Page 88 

110



Figure 22: Total Labour Force Population Aged 15 Years and Over by Industry, 2011 

91 Public administration 

81 Other services (except public .. 

72 Accommodation and food services 

71 Arts; entertainment and recreation 

62 Health care and social assistance 

61 Educational services 

56 Administrative and support; waste .. 

SS Management of companies and ente rprises 

S4 Professional; scientific and technical.. 

S3 Real estate and rental and leasing 

S2 Fin ance and insurance 

Sl Information and cultural industries 

48-49 Transportation and warehousing 

44-4S Retail trade 

41 Wholesale trade 

31-33 Manufacturing 

23 Construction 

22 Uti lit ies 

21 Mining; quarrying; and oil and gas .. 

11 Agricu lture; forestry; fishing and hunting 

~ 

.... 
_,... 
~ 

L 
.c 
-
-

0% 2% 4% 6% 8% 10% 12% 14% 16% 

Source: Statistics Canada. 2016 Census Profile. 

• Ontario 

• Niagara 

• Port Col borne 

Retail Trade jobs in Port Colborne outweighed all other industries, and comparators. Manufacturing was 
second most dominant, and also outweighed other comparators. It is important to note that this 
information was based on individuals living in Port Colborne, not total jobs in Port Colborne. Individua ls 
who live in but commute outside of Port Colborne for work are included in t his statistic. 

Labour Force by Occupationa l Classification 

Examining Port Colborne's total labour fo rce by occupationa l classification provides further insight into 
the composition and skill sets of its loca l labour force. Figure 23 illustrates t he occupational composition 
in Port Colborne. 

The top three occupational categories in Port Co lborne are as follows: 

• Sa les and service occupations 

• Trades; transport and equipment operators and related occupations 

• Business; fin ance and administration occupations 

MOB Insight - City of Port Co/borne Economic Development St rategic Plan Page 89 

111



Of the top three occupational classifications in Port Col borne, Port Col borne only outranks other 
comparator regions in trades. On a percentage of total occupations, Port Colborne also outranks all 
other regions in occupations in manufacturing and utilities. 

Figure 23 : Labour Force by Occupational Classification, 2016 

9 Occupations in manufacturing and 
utilities 

8 Natural resources; agriculture and 
related production occupations 
7 Trades; transport and equipment 

operators and related occupations 

6 Sales and service occupations 

5 Occupations in art; culture; recreation 
and sport 

4 Occupations in education; law and 
social; community and government... 

3 Health occupations 

2 Natural and applied sciences and 
related occupations 

1 Business; finance and administration 
occupations 

0 Management occupations 

Source: Statistics Canada. 2016 Census Profile 

Place of Work Status 

0% 5% 10% 15% 20% 25% 30% 35% 

• Ontario 

• Niagara 

• Port Colborne 

Looking at the place of work status can help to give some kind of indication of the nature of the jobs 
within the city. For example, ifthere was a high percentage of 'worked at home' this might indicate that 
there are a high percentage of people with home-based businesses. In addition, 'worked at usual place' 
would indicate typically an office type, or given location type of employment. Compared to other 
regions, Port Colborne experienced the highest percentage of individuals who 'worked at usua l place' 
and the smallest percentage of 'worked at home' or 'no fixed workplace address'. 

MOB Insight - City of Port Colborne Economic Development Strategic Plan Page 90 

112



Figure 24: Total Employed Population Aged 15 Years and Over by Place of Work Status, 2016 

Worked at Worked outside No fixed Worked at usual 
home Canada workplace place 

address 

Source: Statistics Canada.2011 National Household Survey. 

Commuting Patterns 

• Port Colborne 

• Niagara 

• Ontario 

The following two figures display the community patterns for workers that reside in Port Col borne, and 
for individuals that work within Port Colborne. 

Figure 25 shows the locations of where Port Colborne residents commute for work. 43.2% of Port 
Colborne citizens work in Port Colborne. The second most commuted to location fo r Port Colborne 
residents is Welland, followed by Niagara Falls. Over half of the residents (56.8%) commute outside of 
Port Colborne for work. 

As for the commuting patterns of those working in Port Col borne, 55.9% of t he available jobs in Port 

Col borne are filled by local residents (as seen in Figure 26). The other 44.1% of positions are fi lled by 

residents living in outside communities. 15.8% of positions are filled by individuals commuting from 

Welland, 7.8% from Fort Erie, and 5.8% from St. Catharines. 

MOB Insight - City of Port Colborne Economic Development Strategic Plan Page 91 

113



Figure 25: Commuting Pattern of Port Colborne Residents 

Source: Statistics Canada 2016 Census Profile. 

Figure 26: Commuting Pattern of Individuals Working in Port Colborne 

Source: Statistics Canada.2016 Census Profile 

• Port Col bone 

• Wel land 

• St. Catharines 

• Niagara Falls 

• Fort Erie 

• Thorold 

• Hamilton 

• Wainfleet 

• Lincoln 

• Haldimand County 

• Toronto 

• Port Colborne 

• Wel land 

• Fort Erie 

• Wainfleet 

• Niagara Falls 

• St. Catharines 

• Pelham 

• Haldimand County 

• Thorold 

Hamilton 

Lincoln 

With a large portion of Port Colborne residents leaving Port Col borne for work, and just over 40% of jobs 
available in Port Col borne being filled by outside residents, there is an opportunity to encourage 

MOB Insight - City of Port Colborne Economic Development Strategic Plan Page 91 

114



residents to work within Port Col borne. An emphasis where ski lls are available might be placed on 
encouraging the hiring of loca l residents. This would help to keep more earnings and spending stay in 
Port Col borne, and also likely decrease turnover rate within jobs of commuters from far distances. 

There is a shortage of jobs in Port Col borne to satisfy the number of residents in t he workforce. There 
are 6265 residents from Port Colborne who work, but only 4835 positions in Port Col borne being fi lled. 
This means that even if all positions in Port Colborne were filled by local Port Co lborne residents, t here 
would sti ll be the need for 1430 individuals to com mute elsewhere to find work. 

Mobility Status 

The mobility status of residents was examined in order to determine the level of new residents that Port 
Colborne was able to attract in comparison to other geographica l locations. The figure below shows the 
proportion of non-movers (those w ho have not moved since the last census), non-migrants (those who 
have moved but remained in the same municipality since the last census), and migrants (those who have 
moved to a different municipality within Canada since the last census). 

Just under 90% of the population in Port Colborne are non-movers. This is similar to other comparator 
regions. All regions being examined ranked almost the same in regards to percentage of non-movers, 
non-migrants, and migrants. 

Figure 27: Mobility Status for Residents, 2016 

100% 

90% 

80% 

70% 

60% 

50% 

40% 

30% 

20% 

10% 

0% 

Non-movers Non-migrants Migrants 

Source: Statistics Canada. 2016 Census Profile. 

MOB Insight - City of Port Colborne Economic Development Strategic Plan 

• Port Colborne 

• Niagara 

• Ontario 

Page 93 

115



Other Qua lity of Life Indicators 

Drug Use 

In Niagara region, Cannabis is the most commonly used illicit drug among secondary students. Overall, 
35.5% of students have used cannabis in the past 12 months. 41.2% of students have used Cannabis in 
their lifetime, compared to Ontario where 31.6% of students have used cannabis in t heir lifetimes. 
Cannabis drug use in Niagara is noticeably higher than the average cannabis use for t he province. 13.3% 
of high school students have used prescription pain medication. 20 

In 2016 there were a total 155 suspected opioid overdoses. By June 2017 there were 209 suspected 
overdoses. 21 In 2016, 147 naloxone kits were distributed. In the first half of 2017, there were 190 
naloxone kits used. 

Crime Severity 

The crime severity index takes into account change in volume of a particula r crime and the relative 
seriousness of that crime in comparison to other crimes. The crime severity index is calcu lated by 
assigning each type of crime a particular weight. More serious crimes are given a higher weight t han 
less serious crimes . The number of police-reported incidents for each offence is mult iplied by the weight 
for that offence. All weighted offences are then added together and divided by t he corresponding 
population total. The crime severity index in St. Catharines-Niagara was 50. Th is compares to Canada 
where the crime severity index was 71. 

In 2016 there were 17,922 incidents reported in the St. Catharines-Niagara region. This is a decline from 
the previous year of -0.16%. In 2016, there were 934 crimes reported by youth aged 12 to 17. 22 

Dropout Rate 

According to the 2011 National Household Survey 13% of the population aged 25 to 64 did not have a 
high school diploma. 

Business Patterns Assessment 

Statistics Canada's Canadian Business Patterns Data provides a record of business establishments by 
industry sector and size. This data is collected from the Canadian Revenue Agency (CRA). The business 
data collected for Port Colborne includes all local businesses that meet at least one of the th ree 
following criteria: 

• Have an employee workforce for which they submit payroll remittances to CRA; or 

• Have a minimum of $30,000 in annual sales revenue; or 

• Are incorporated under a federal or provincial act and have filed a federal corporate income tax 
form within the past three years 

20 Youth Substance Misuse, www.n iagararegion .ca/health/sta tistics/behaviour/youth -drugs.aspx 
21 Niagara Region, Opioid Usage. www. ni agararegion.ca/living/hea lth_wellness/alc-sub-abuse/drugs/opioids.aspx 
22 Statis ti cs Canada, Incident-based crime statistics, St. Catharines-Niagara. 

MOB Insight - City of Port Colborne Economic Development Strategic Plan Page 94 

116



The Canadian Business Patterns Data records business counts by "Total", "Without Employees" and 
"With Employees" categories. The establishments in the "Without Employees" category include the self
employed (i.e. those who do not maintain an employee payroll, but may have a workforce consisting of 
contracted workers, family members or business owners). It should be noted t hat the Canadian Business 
Patterns Data uses the CRA as a primary resource in establishment counts; therefore, businesses 
without a business number or indicating annual sales less than $30,000 are not included. The population 
of these small, unincorporated businesses is thought to be in the range of 600,000 in all of Canada. 

Key Business Characteristics 

A detailed review of the business patterns provides an understanding of the growth or decline of 
businesses over time, and the key characteristics that define the municipality's business community. 
When combined with the broader industry analysis, the business patterns information wi ll assist in 
understanding the key industry opportunities for Port Colborne. 

Understanding the trends in business growth in the community provides valuable insight into t he 
directions that future growth and investment within Port Colborne might take. It also provides an 
indication of where the priorities of the municipality should lie, especially wit h regards to program 
development and delivery, and strategic planning. 

In terms of business composition, the following industry sectors ident ified in Figure 28 below exhibit the 

highest proportion of business establishments in Port Colborne as of 2016: 

• Real estate and rental and leasing (227 businesses) 

• Other services (except public administration) (120 businesses) 

• Construction (119) 

62% of business establishments in Port Col borne are characterized by self-employed (and/or those who 
do not maintain an employee payroll, but may have a workforce consisting of cont racted workers, family 
members or business owners). 

It is also important to note the prevalence of small sized businesses in Port Col borne. Medium and la rge 
firms are generally believed to provide different economic fun ctions within an economic region than 
small firms. Small firms are seen as the major source of new product and ideas, wh ile large firms 
typically develop as products become more homogeneous and firms begin to exploit economies of scale. 

Up to 90% of new jobs in a community come from already existing businesses. As such, it is important to 
provide necessary services to assist in business growth and retention. 

MDB Insight - City of Port Co lborne Economic Development Strategic Plan Page 95 

117



Figure 28: Business Establishments within Port Colborne by Industry Sector and Size, 2016 

Industry Total Without With 
1-4 5.9 10-19 20-49 50·99 Employees Employees 

Total 1,266 802 464 222 118 71 28 
11 ·Agriculture, forestry, fishing and 

39 30 9 4 1 3 0 hunting 
21 ·Mining and oil and gas extraction 3 0 3 1 1 1 0 
22 • Utilities 7 6 1 1 0 0 0 
23 • Construction 119 76 43 26 10 4 2 
31-33 · Manufacturing 52 17 35 12 5 4 6 
41 · Wholesale trade 22 9 13 3 5 1 3 
44-45 • Retail trade 11 6 41 75 37 17 12 4 
48·49 ·Transportation and warehousing 65 40 25 11 4 6 3 
51 ·Information and cultural industries 11 8 3 1 1 1 0 
52 • Finance and insurance 61 43 18 6 8 3 1 
53 · Real estate and renta l and leasing 227 212 15 12 2 1 0 
54 ·Professional, scientific and technical 87 65 22 14 7 1 0 services 
55 • Management of companies and 7 6 1 0 0 0 0 enterprises 
56 ·Administrative and support, waste 

46 25 21 13 3 4 0 manaaement and remediation services 
61 • Educational services 8 3 5 5 0 0 0 
62 • Health care and social assistance 77 35 42 12 18 9 0 
71 - Arts, entertainment and recreation 22 13 9 4 1 2 2 
72 • Accommodation and food services 54 15 39 10 10 14 4 
81 ·Other services (except public 

120 65 55 32 16 4 2 administration) 
91 ·Public administration 2 1 1 0 0 0 0 

Source: Statistics Canada. Canadian Business Patterns, December 2016. 

It is also va luab le to examine the growth in businesses by industry, so as to better understand the areas 
of emerging opportunity within Port Colborne's economy, or to take note of industries that might be 
slipping. 

The industries that have experienced the highest rates of percentage growth from 2014 to 2016 include: 

• Administrative and support, waste management and remediation services, 21.1% 

• Educationa l services, 14.3% 

• Professional, scientific and technica l services, 10.1% 

Industry sectors t hat have experienced the greatest negative growth between 2014 and 2016 are as 
fol lows: 

• Management of companies and enterprises, -46.2% 

• Arts, entertainment and recreation, -37.1% 

• Wholesa le trade, -26.7% 

17 

0 

0 

0 

1 

6 

1 

3 

1 

0 

0 

0 

0 

1 

1 

0 

1 

0 

1 

1 

0 

MDB Insight - City of Port Colborne Economic Development Strategic Plan Page 96 

100+ 

8 

1 

0 

0 

0 

2 

0 

2 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

2 

0 

0 

0 

1 

118



Figure 29: Business Establishments with in Port Colborne by Industry Sector and Size, 2014 & 2016 

Absolute % 
change change 

2014 2014 2014to 2014 to 
2014 Without 2014 With 2016 Without 2014 With 2016, 2016, 

Industry (NAICS) Total Employees Employees Total Employees Employees Total Total 

11 - Agriculture, forestry, so 41 9 39 30 9 -11 -22.0% 
fish ing and hunting 
21- Mining and oil and 

3 1 2 3 0 3 0 0.0% 
gas extraction 
22 - Utilities 8 6 2 7 6 1 -1 -12.5% 
23 - Construction 114 70 44 119 76 43 s 4.4% 
31-33 - Manufacturing 49 17 32 52 17 3S 3 6.1% 
41 - Wholesale trade 30 14 16 22 9 13 -8 -26.7% 
44-45 - Retail trade 132 S8 74 116 41 7S -16 -12.1% 
48-49 - Transportation 

61 35 26 6S 40 2S 4 6.6% 
and warehousing 

51 - Information and 
11 9 2 11 8 3 0 0.0% 

cultural industries 
52 - Finance and 

58 33 2S 61 43 18 3 S.2% 
insurance 
53 - Real estate and 

208 194 14 227 212 lS 19 
rental and leasing 

9.1% 

54 - Professional, 
scientific and technical 79 S8 21 87 6S 22 8 10.1% 
services 

55 - Management of 
companies and 13 11 2 7 6 1 -6 -46.2% 
enterprises 

56 - Administrative and 
support, waste 

38 22 16 46 2S 21 8 21.1% 
management and 
remediation services 

61 - Educational services 7 4 3 8 3 s 1 14.3% 
62 - Health care and 

72 31 41 77 3S 42 s 6.9% 
social assistance 
71- Arts, entertainment 

35 27 8 22 13 9 -13 -37.1% 
and recreation 
72 - Accommodation and 

58 18 40 S4 15 39 
food services 

-4 -6.9% 

81 - Other services 
(except public 112 52 60 120 6S SS 8 7.1% 
administration) 
91- Public administration 2 1 1 2 1 1 0 0.0% 

Source: Statistics Canada. Canadian Business Patterns, December 2016. 

Another important measure is the location quotient (LQ). Location Quotient is a measure of 
employment specialization or strength based on the concentration of employment as compared to a 
norm, (i.e. the province or Niagara). It is important when looking at the LQ to remember that it is be ing 
compared against another region, and as such changes from year to year in the LQ could be t he 

MDB Insight - City of Port Colborne Economic Development Strategic Plan Page 97 

119



reflection of a change within the comparator region, and not necessarily an absolute change in the city. 
A LQ of 0 to 0.75 is considered low, 0.75 to 1.25 is considered average, 1.25 to 5.0 is high, and 5.0+ is 
considered very high. 

The figure below illustrates the LQ of total businesses in 2014 and 2016 within Port Colborne as 
compared with Ontario. 

Industries with the highest LQ (compared against Ontario), indicating the greatest specialization in Port 
Colborne in 2014 based on total businesses are as follows: 

• Utilities, 3.71 

• Arts, entertainment and recreation, 1.83 

• Mining and oil and gas extraction, 1.58 

Industries with the highest LQ (compared against Ontario) in 2016 based on total businesses are as 
follows: 

• Utilities, 2.86 

• Mining and oil and gas extraction, 1.73 

• Manufacturing, 1.59 

Greatest increase in LQ from 2014 to 2016 of total businesses: 

• Administrative and support, waste management and remediation services, 0.17 

• Manufacturing, 0.12 

• Other services (except public administration), 0.09 

Greatest decrease in LQ from 2014 to 2016 of total businesses 

• Utilities, -0.85 

• Arts, entertainment and recreation, -0.69 

• Agriculture, forestry, fishing and hunting, -0.20 

MDB Insight - City of Port Colborne Economic Development Strategic Plan Page 98 

120



Figure 30: Local Concentration of Total Businesses in Port Colborne compared to Ontario by Location Quotient, 
2014 & 2016 

11 - Agriculture, forestry, fishing and 
hunting 

21 - Mining and oil and gas extraction 

22 - Utilities 

23 - Construction 

31-33 - Manufacturing 

41 - Wholesale trade 

44-4S - Retail trade 

48-49 - Transportation and 
warehousing 
51 - Information and cultural 
industries 
52 - Finance and insurance 
53 - Real estate and rental and leasing 
54 - Professional, scientific and 
technical services 

. . .·. 
0.49, . . Low 0.52 Low , 

. . . . 
SS - Management of companies and 
enterprises 

'I ' • ' I·.' 
0.42 Low 0.63 , Low . 

. - , • I •• 

56 - Administrative and support, 
waste management and remediation 
services 

61- Educational services 

62 - Health care and social assistance 
71 - Arts, entertainment and 
recreation 
72 - Accommodation and food 
services 
81 - Other services (except public 
administration) 
91- Public administration 

0.79 Average 0.96 

Source : Statistics Canada. Canadian Business Patterns, 2014 & December 2016. Adapted by MOB Insight Inc. 

Average 

Average 

Figure 31 below illustrates the LQ of Port Col borne w hen compared against Niagara region of total 
businesses in 2014 and 2016. 

Industries w ith the highest LQ in 2016 based on total businesses measuring against Niagara are as 
follows: 
• Mining and oil and gas extraction, 3.19 

• Public Administration, 2.28 

MDB Insight -City of Port Colborne Economic Development Strategic Plan Page 99 

121



• Utilities, 2.23 

Industries w ith the lowest LQ in 2016 based on total businesses measuring aga inst Niagara are as 
follows: 
• Wholesale trade, 0.66 

• Management of companies and enterprises, 0.71 

• Educational Serv ices, 0. 78 

Figure 31 : Local Concentration of Total Businesses in Port Colborne compared to Niagara Region by Locat ion 

Quotient 2014 & 2016 

11- Agricult ure, forestry, fishing and hunting 

21 - Mining and oil and gas extraction 

22 - Utilities 

23 - Construction 

31-33 - Manufacturing 

41 - Wholesale trade 

44-45 - Retail trade 

48-49 - Transportation and warehousing 

51 - Information and cultural industries 

52 - Finance and insurance 

53 - Real estate and rental and leasing 

54 - Professional, scientific and technical services 

55 - Management of companies and enterprises 

56 - Administrative and support, waste 
management and remediation services 

61 - Educational services 

62 - Health care and social assistance 

71 - Art s, entertainment and recreation 

72 - Accommodation and food services 

81 - Other services (except public administration) 

91 - Public administration 

0.89 Average 0.93 Average 

0.90 

0.94 Average 0.93 Average 

0.84 Average 0.87 Average 

0.93 Average Average .._ .... ~~~~~~~~~~~~-

0.88 Average 0.94 Average 

0.94 Average 

0.99 Average 0.91 Average 

Source: Statistics Canada. Canadian Business Patterns, 2014 & 2016. Adapted by MOB Insight Inc. 

Figure 32 illustrates the t op-ranking industry sub-sectors in Port Colborne and corresponding employee 
size. The t op industry sub-sectors based on t otal businesses in 2016 are as fo llows: 

• Lessors of real estate, 181 businesses 

• Percentage of businesses w it hout employees: 95% 

• Other financial investment act ivities, 34 

• Percentage of businesses w ithout employees : 94% 

MOB Insight - City of Port Colborne Economic Development )trategic Plan Page 100 

122



• Full-service restaurants, 34 

• Percentage of businesses without employees:15% 

• Residential building construction, 33 

• Percentage of businesses without employees:76% 

• Offices of real estate agents and brokers, 30 

• Percentage of businesses without employees 90% 

With the exception of fu ll service restaurants, the majority of top industry business est ablishments do 
not have employees. 63% of businesses in Port Colborne did not have employees (802 out of 1266). 

Figure 32 : Top Business Estab lishments in Port Colborne by Industry Sub-Sector and Employee Size, 2016 

Industry (NAICS) Total 
Without With 

1-4 5-9 10-19 20-49 50-99 
Employees Employees 

Lessors of real estate 181 172 9 8 1 0 0 0 

Other financial investment activities 34 32 2 1 1 0 0 0 

Full-service restaurants and limited-
service eating places 34 5 29 4 7 13 4 1 

Residential building construction 33 25 8 7 0 1 0 0 

Offices of real estate agents and brokers 30 27 3 3 0 0 0 0 

Management, scientific and technical 
29 25 4 3 1 0 0 0 consulting services 

Automotive repair and maintenance 28 13 15 8 3 3 1 0 

General freight trucking 23 15 8 6 0 0 1 1 

Building equipment contractors 22 11 11 6 3 1 1 0 

Personal care services 22 16 6 3 3 0 0 0 

Building finishing contractors 20 16 4 3 1 0 0 0 

Offices of other health practitioners 20 13 7 4 3 0 0 0 

Services to buildings and dwellings 19 9 10 6 1 3 0 0 

Architectural, engineering and related 
18 14 4 3 1 0 0 0 services 

Grocery stores 17 5 12 3 4 1 1 2 

Offices of physicians 17 7 10 5 5 0 0 0 

Foundation, structure, and building 
16 7 9 6 3 0 0 0 exterior contractors 

Other specialty trade contractors 16 11 5 3 2 0 0 0 

Accounting, tax preparation, bookkeeping 
15 12 3 2 0 1 0 0 and payroll services 

Commercial and industrial machinery and 
equipment (except automotive and 15 10 5 2 2 0 0 1 
electronic) repair 

Other amusement and recreation 
14 7 7 2 1 2 2 0 

industries 

Specialized freight trucking 12 7 5 2 1 1 1 0 

MDB Insight - City of Port Colborne Economic Development Strategic Plan Page 101 

100+ 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

1 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

123



Industry (NAICS) Total 
Without With 

1-4 5-9 10-19 20-49 50-99 
Employees Employees 

Agencies, brokerages and other insurance 
12 5 7 2 4 1 0 related activities 

Health and personal care stores 11 3 8 2 3 0 2 

Religious organizations 11 0 11 9 1 1 0 

Specialty food stores 10 5 5 1 3 1 0 

Other miscellaneous store retailers 10 3 7 5 2 0 0 

Activities related to real estate 10 9 1 1 0 0 0 

Residential developmental handicap, 
mental health and substance abuse 10 0 10 1 2 7 0 
facilities 

Oilseed and grain farming 9 8 1 1 0 0 0 

Source: Statistics Canada. Canadian Business Patterns, 2014. Adapted by MOB Insight Inc. 

The industry sub-sectors that have experienced the highest rates of percentage growth from 2014 to 
2016 include: 

• Offices of real estate agents and brokers, 42.9% growth 

• Change of 21to30 businesses 

• Offices of other practitioners, 42.8% growth 

• Change of 14 to 20 businesses 

• Services to buildings and dwellings, 35.71% growth 

• Change of 14 to 19 businesses 

Industry sub-sectors sectors that have experienced the greatest negat ive growth between 2014 and 
2016 are as follows: 
• Management of companies and enterprises, -46.2% 

• Change of 13 to 7 businesses 

• Other amusement and recreation industries, -42.6% 

• Change of 26 to 14 businesses 

• Oilseed and grain farming, -40% 

• Change of 15 to 9 businesses 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

MOB Insight - City of Port Colborne Econo111ic Development Strategic Plan Page 102 

100+ 

0 

1 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

124



Detailed Background Review 

Document Purpose Key Takeaways 

City of Port The BR&E plan centered around Four stages of t he project include: 
Colborne Business a survey of local businesses in 

1. Project planning 
Retention & order to better understand the 
Expansion Project business climate and hear the 2. Immediate Follow-up 
{2015) opinion of entrepreneurs as a 

3. Data Analysis and Recommendations 
place to do business. BR&E aims 
to retain business as well as 4. Presentation of Findings and Implementation of Action Plan 
facilitate expansion and 

Businesses expressed frustration with lack of skilled or 
investment. 

adequately qualified workers that could meet their demands, 
particularly in high skilled areas such as manufacturing. In 
addition, most businesses indicated that they did recruiting 
through personal networks. 

Work needs to be done to encourage youth to pursue skilled 
trades and occupations where gap exists in the community. 
Access to broader formalized network can provide better 
opportunities to connect employers with workers. 

Businesses expressed little or no knowledge of existing resources 
available for them, better awareness initiatives need to be made. 

Team Niagara Provides a framework to build Key pillars critical to region's future: 
Economic on past and current private 

Phase 1: Investment Attraction/Leads Generation, • 
Development sector efforts to develop a 

Innovation & Entrepreneurship 
Action Plan {2015- strategy of cooperation for the 
2018) future. The action plan • Phase 2: Economic Research and Analysis 

identifies and uses the region's • Phase 3: Advocacy 
strengths to take advantage of 
opportunities for future growth. The Plan is geared toward providing real economic benefits, 

reduced costs, effecting changes in the region's regulatory 
environment, and toward driving sustained improvements in how 
business and investors operate in Niagara. 

Competitive The purpose of the study is to Objective of the competitive analysis is to maximize potential for 
Analysis of identify and assess relevant the following: 
Industries in the trends occurring within 

Retention of existing businesses • 
City of Port industries in the region. These 
Colborne {2009) analyses form the basis for • Expansion of established firms 

informed and strategic • Stimulation of entrepreneurial activity 
decisions regarding the 
allocation of critical resources • Attraction of new investment opportunit ies 
aimed at promoting sustainable 
economic development. 

Employment in the City is concentrated in three sectors: 

• Manufacturing 

MDB Insight - City of Pori Colborne Economic Development Strategic Plan Page 103 

125



Document Purpose Key Takeaways 

• Health Care and Social Assistance 

• Retail Trade 

Sector development prior ities for the city are as follows: 

• Driving: Health Care and Social Assistance, Other Services 
(except Public Ad min) 

• Accelerating: Arts, Entertainment, and Recreation; and 
Administrat ive Waste Management/Remediation Services 

• Rising: Wholesale trade; Professional, Scientific and 
Technical Services 

Downtow n Central The purpose of the CIP is to: The designated project area has begun to show signs of 
Business District 

Identify the physical, 
stagnation and early signs of deterioration. A number of critical • 

Community 
economic and other 

community improvement needs were identified in the Project 
Improvement Plan 

strengths, weaknesses, 
Area through a detailed SWOT analysis. 

(2010) 
opportunities and threats From the SWOT a vision was put together for the downtown 
in relation to revitalization CDB: 
of the Downtown CBD • Maintain and enhance the authentic feel and character . 

• Articulate vision for the • Be an active and vibrant commercia l area at all times 
downtown CBD throughout the day and year. 

• Specify a Public Realm • Have greater variety of stores and open longer hours . 
Improvement Plan that • Have strong visual and physical relationship with the 
contains recommended 

Welland Canal and celebrate history as a working port. 
improvements to various 
elements and features of • Be more pedestrian and cycling friendly. Add more street 
the downtown CB to furniture. 
improve pedestrian • Updated building facades an signage . 
environment and private 
sector activity • More people living downtown in diverse range of housing 

• Develop a toolbox of 
options. 

incentive programs that • More public gathering space. 

can be offered by the City 

to directly stimulate private 
sector investment in the 

revita lization and 
redevelopment of the 
downtown CDB 

City of Port • To diversify the local 
The Industrial CIP focus on foll owing high-potential 

Colborne Industrial 
economy by attracting new 

sectors that have been identified: Manufacturing, Health Care 

Community businesses that represent 
and Social Services, Tourism, Business Services, Distribution and 

Improvement Plan 
new and desirable sectors 

Logistics, Local Government, Personal Services. 

of the local economy Industrial CIP Goals and Objectives: 

MDB Insight - City of Port Colborne Economic Development Strategic Plan Page 104 

126



Document Purpose Key Takeaways 

• Encourage job creation • Encourage capital investments that create and/or maintain 
through the attraction of existing permanent jobs, as well as short-term construction 
new businesses and/or jobs 
expansion of existing • Support investments in specified high potential economic 
businesses into identified 

sectors that contribute to diversification of economy 
sectors of the economy 

• Support investment and development that increases 
property assessment and grows non-residential tax base 

• Provide financial incentive programs 

• Facilitate redevelopment of City's vacant lands, and 
industrial sites 

• Support the establishment and on-going development of 
sector clusters 

City of Port Purpose of the plan is to The Plan identifies and addresses subject matter that infl uences 
Colborne Official provide the City with policies the growth and development of the City such as: 
Plan (2012-2031) designate to secure health, • Economic development, Development of control tools, 

safety, convenience an welfare 
Subdivision of land policies, Community improvement 

of the present and future 
inhabitants of the Planning 

pol icies, Development incentives 

Area. 

The plan addresses concepts related to good community bui ld ing 
such as: 

• Conservation and/or enhancement of natural resources, 
heritage resources 

• Parks and open space requirements 

• Expectations of water and wastewater servicing 

The City has been identified as an Economic Gateway Centre and 
will continue to strategically position itself as part of Ontario's 
Economic Gateway Centre by: 

• Encouraging cross-border t rade 

• Providing land and infrastructure for continued sustainable 
development of tourist facilities 

• Working in pa rtnership with all levels of government the 
ensure attractive employment lands to allow growth in key 
sectors: Advanced manufactu ring, tourism, aerospace, 
logistics, food processing, health, biosciences, green 
technologies, and interactive media 

• Encouraging port faci lities and marine transportation 
industry 

MOB Insight - City of Po1i Colborne Economic Development Strategic Plan Page 105 

127



Document Purpose Key Takeaways 

City of Port 
Colborne Arts & 
Culture Master 
Plan (2016) 

This plan will leverage the city's 
cultural resources, which will 
help to support a prosperous 
and sustainable economy, 
improved quality of life, 

increased community cohesion 
and civic pride. Purpose of the 
plan: 

Provide a shared vision 
connecting all communities 
grounded in the 
continuation of cultural 
resources t o the health and 
prosperity of al l 
communities in Port 
Col borne 

• Recommend a 
comprehensive mandate in 
the delivery of Cultural 
Services 

• Provide a 10-year plan with 
short, mediu m and long
term objectives and 
recommendations with 

measurable actions and 
initiatives 

Vision: In ten years, Port Col borne will be a more culturally 
vibrant community, supported by collaborative inst itutions and 
organizations. The city's cu ltural resources will be widely 
accessible and inclusive for residents and visitors of all ages. 

Cultural Resou rces: Fest ivals & Events, Natural Heritage, Cultural 
Heritage, Cultural Space & Faculties, Community Cultural 
Organization, Cultural Enterprises 

The plan has 4 Strategic Directions: 

1. Demonstrate leadership in the community by connecting 
individuals and organizations towards share cultural goals 

2. Celebrate and enact pol icy to support community vita lity by 
enhancing t he city's unique cultural spaces and activities 

3. Increased local and regional awareness of Port Colborne's 
depth and range of cultural resources 

4. Build a strong and collaborative cultural sector to create 
opportunities and experiences for cultural development that 
are inclusive and accessible to residents and visitors of all 

ages 

Some notable action Items: 

• Hold an annual Civic Night o r "Celebrate Port" night at 

Roselawn Centre 

• Convene An nual Cultura l Summit 

• Increase vibrancy of downtown 

• Develop and promote Public Art Policy 

• Strengthen festivals and events 

• Reimagine and resource the Roselawn Centre to become a 
creative/cultural incubator 

• Emphasize business sponsorship and support for cultural 
sector 

• Engage, activate and support local youth, and cultural ly 
related volunteerism 

MDB Insight - City of Po1t Colborne Economic Development Strategic Plan Page 106 

128



POR. T COLBOR.NE 

Report Number: 2018-50 

Planning and Development Department 
Planning Division 

Date: April 23, 2018 

SUBJECT: Supplemental Recommendation Report - Proposed New 
Comprehensive Zoning By-law 

1) PURPOSE 

The purpose of this report is to provide Council with information and a recommendation 
regarding a final draft of the new Comprehensive Zoning By-law for the City. 

2) HISTORY, BACKGROUND, COUNCIL POLICY, PRACTICES 

On February 26, 2018, Council directed that a second public meeting take place on the 
draft zoning by-law to allow for further input prior to consideration. 

Notice of the second public meeting for the new Comprehensive Zoning By-law was 
advertised in the Welland Tribune on March 6, 2018 and was placed on the City's website. 

3) STAFF COMMENTS AND DISCUSSIONS 

Attached as Appendix A is the summary of comments received or presented at the second 
public meeting on March 26, 2018 and Planning staff's review. 

Appendix B is the third draft of the new zoning by-law and includes all tracked changes 
since the second draft was presented in Planning and Development Report 2018-37. 

In response to certain comments made and the lack of current Official Plan Policy 
respecting asphalt manufacturing and other uses within the Mineral Aggregate & 
Petroleum Resources designation, staff are recommending that Council pass an interim 
control by-law to control the use of lands through proper study and policy. What this 
enables is to eventually identify what uses are prohibited and not prohibited in the Zoning 
By-law's Mineral Aggregate Operation zone. This will allow the Zoning By-law to move 
forward for those land uses (eg. residential) that are supported by the Official Plan for 
development. 

Staff are satisfied that all comments made have been addressed representing good 
planning and that the final draft of the new Comprehensive Zoning By-law can be 
recommended for approval as it conforms to Official Plan policy. 

4) OPTIONS AND FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS: 

N/A 

129



b) Other Options 

N/A 

5) COMPLIANCE WITH STRATEGIC PLAN INITIATIVES: 

N/A 

6) ATTACHMENTS: 

Appendix A - Summary of comments and Planning Staff's review. 

Appendix B - Final Draft of the new Comprehensive Zoning By-law. 

Appendix C - Draft Interim Control By-law. 

7) RECOMMENDATION: 

That By-law 1150/97/81, being the existing Zoning By-law and any and all amendments 
thereto, be rescinded and repealed; 

That the draft by-law approving the draft Comprehensive Zoning By-law attached to 
Planning and Development Department, Planning Division Report 2018-50 as Appendix 
A, be approved; 

That pursuant to the provisions of Section 34(17) of the Planning Act, no further notice of 
public meeting be required; 

That pursuant to Section 34(10.0.0.2) of the Planning Act, applications for an amendment 
to the by-law are allowed before the second anniversary of the day on which the Council 
approves the Comprehensive Zoning By-law. 

That an Interim Control By-law, attached to Planning and Development Department, 
Planning Division Report 2018-50 as Appendix C, be approved pursuant to Section 38 of 
the Planning Act, for a period of up to one year for those lands proposed to be zoned 
Mineral Aggregate Operation to control the use of lands until proper study and policy 
review has been completed, 

8) SIGNATURES: 

Prepared on April 14, 2018: 

L.rca••"'7nquilina, MCIP, RPP, CPT 
Director of Planning and Development 

Reviewed and respectfully submitted by: 

C. Scott Luey 
Chief Administrative Officer 

Planning and Development Department, Planning Division, Report No.: 2018-50 Page 2 of 2 

130



APPENDIX A 

Name & Address Comment Review 
Megan & Sandro Seca, 646 Stanley Street Assurance that land is environmentally No change as these lands are zoned as 

protected behind their home. Environmental Protection to recognize a 
Provincially Significant Wetland where no 
develooment can occur. 

Harry Wells, 548 Highway 3 East Noted the potential area where the A successful Zoning By-law, Official Plan 
Aggregate sector could expand with & Regional Plan Amendment Application 
potential impact for contamination into would be required for any new aggregate 
the High Vulnerable Aquifer areas. or expansion together with supporting 

study. 
Made reference to the purpose of the 
Aggregate Resources Act and need for The Ministry of Natural Resources and 
rehabilitation. Forestry as part of their licensing is the 

need for rehabilitation of Pits 2 and 3. A 
Reference to the Draft Zoning Bylaw item Site Plan Agreement between Port 
2.3(b) and questioned why Asphalt and Colborne Quarries and the City has a 
Cement Manufacturing was removed as clause regarding rehabilitation for Pits 1, 
a prohibited use. Concern that no 2 and 3. 
protection to the vulnerable aquifer is 
included and the end result will be As there is no Official Plan policy 
ground water contamination. regarding asphalt or cement 

manufacturing, staff will be bring ing 
forward a future report recommending 
that Council direct that an Interim Control 
By-law be undertaken for study regarding 
policy, use and/or location before 
consideration of anv zonino use. 

Doug Darbyson on behalf of William Request that Bertie Golf Carts be zoned No change as the City's Official Plan does 
Gordon of 970 Empire Road. to recognize use as approved by the not support commercia l uses on 

Committee of Adjustment. Agricultural designated lands. 
Commercial uses are directed to the 
Hamlet Areas as per Provincial Policy 
Statement Guidelines. 

131



Jack Hellinga, 770 Highway 3 Concern that that the current definition in The Provincial Policy Statement, Regional 
the draft Zoning Bylaw would infringe on Policy Plan and the City's Official Plan 
existing uses adjacent to the Mineral (policy 10.1 .1 b) contain policies that 
Aggregate Operations uses. protect mineral aggregate operations from 

development and activities that would 
preclude or hinder their expansion or 
continued use or which would be 
incompatible for reasons of public health, 
public safety or environmental impact. 
Existing uses however can continue as 
lands adjacent to Port Colborne Quarries 
are limited in development opportunities 
being outside of the urban service 
boundary or having limited inability to 
service. Staff have not provided setback 
requirement in the draft for these reasons. 

Requested that the City amend the 
current wording of permitted uses "a) The proposed definition of Mineral 
Mineral Aggregate Operations"' to read: Aggregate Operations was added after 
a) Mineral Aggregate Operations, except comments from the Region of Niagara 
for Asphalt Plant and Concrete Batching were received. 
Plant facilities". 

The PPS and Regional Plan defines and 
Requested to amend the wording of "d) the City Official Plan (minus "b)") : 
Agricultural Operations to read Mineral aggregate operation: means a) 
d) Agricultural Operations except lands under license or permit, other than 
Intensive Animal Operations and Medical for wayside pits and quarries, issued in 
Marijuana Production Facilities". accordance with the Aggregate 

Resources Act; b) for lands not 
Requested that the City an amend the designated under the Aggregate 
definition of Mineral Aggregate Resources Act, established pits and 
Operations to read: "Mineral Aggregate quarries that are not in contravention of 
Operation: means a) An operation other municipal zoning by-laws and including 
than wayside pits and quarries, adjacent land under agreement with or 
conducted under a license of permit owned by the operator, to permit 
under the AaareQate Resources Act or continuation of the operation; and c) 

132



successors thereto; and b) Associated 
accessory facilities used in extraction, 
transport, beneficiation, processing, or 
recycling of mineral aggregate 
resources. " 

Concern regarding the potential 
environmental effects on the High 
Vulnerable aquifer and requested that a 
restriction be included in Section 28.3 
such as "d) No recycling of asphalt and 
concrete, including crushing or 
stockpiling of such product, shall be 
permitted below the natural top water 
level of the High Vulnerable Aquifer 
nominally defined as elevation 176.0m, 
and that all rainwater runoff from the 
processing and stockpiling site(s) be 
contained and discharged in accordance 
with MOECC regulations." 

Requested that the zone requirements 
for Section 28.3 also identify the 
necessity for progressive rehabilitation. 

associated facilities used in extraction, 
transport, beneficiation, processing or 
recycling of mineral aggregate resources 
and derived products such as asphalt 
and concrete, or the production of 
secondary related products. 

The requested change to exclude Asphalt 
Plant and Concrete Batching Plant 
facilities" from Mineral Aggregate 
Operations' can't be supported as it is 
contrary to Provincial , Regional and City 
Policy. Staff however will recommend that 
an Interim Control By-law be directed so 
that study can occur regarding policies 
and uses within the Mineral Aggregate 
Operation designation and zone. 

Under Official Plan Aggregate policy 
when considering new aggregate areas: 

10.2.2b) The City will review and 
provide comments to the Ministry of 
Natural Resources when circulated on 
major site plan amendments under the 
Aggregate Resources Act. In order to 
encourage land use compatibility of 
mineral aggregate operations, the City 
may request additional setbacks or 
separation distances be established by the 
Ministry of Natural Resources through the 
licensing process. 

The rehabilitation of an aggregate 
operation is a Provincial , Regional and 
Official Plan Policy. It is also a Provincial 

133



Licencing requirement included in site plan 
agreements and not regulated through a 
zoning by-law. 

As previously mentioned, as here is no 
Official Plan policy regarding asphalt or 
cement manufacturing it will be 
recommended in a future report that 
Council direct that an Interim Control By-
law be in place for study regarding policy, 
use and/or location before consideration 
of zoning use. 

Dr. Sean McFarland, Golder Associates Advised that the existing quarry is Planning Staff are not qualified to provide 
on behalf of Port Colborne Quarries excavated below the water table and a review of Dr. McFarland's comments. 

is dewatered by a sump on the existing There would have to be budgeted monies 
quarry floor. That the quarry is available in order to have a peer review 
excavated below the surrounding completed. 
qroundwater levels and there is inward 

134



groundwater pressure from the 
existing quarry walls. There is also 
consistent upward groundwater 
pressure from the base of the quarry, 
under existing conditions, since the 
groundwater levels in wells installed in 
the boreholes on the adjacent 
property are above the level of the 
quarry floor. 

As the quarry is excavated to the top 
of a low permeability grey to black 
shale there is considered to be a very 
low potential for groundwater 
contamination from activities in the 
quarry, as groundwater is flowing 
inward toward the quarry excavation. 

Advised that any contaminants from 
industrial usage would not flow 
outward from the site, due to the 
inward groundwater pressure. There 
would also not be significant leakage 
of contaminants (if any) through the 
base of the quarry due to the presence 
of the low permeability shale beneath 
the quarry and upward hydraulic 
gradients beneath the quarry. 

There is considered to be a very low 
potential for groundwater 
contamination arising from minor 
extraction industrial use at the site. In 
addition, contaminants resulting from 
spills would be managed through a 
spill response plan, such that they do 

135



not enter the quarry sump to be 
discharged off site. 

In response to questions concerning 
well impacts it was also discussed 
that the quarry dewatering and 
discharge of the pumped water is 
regulated by the MOECC through the 
PTTW process. This includes an 
evaluation of potential impacts on 
surrounding water wells and the 
quality of water discharged off site. 
That the quarry is responsible for 
restoring the groundwater supply of 
any wells that are impacted from 
drawdown related to quarry 
dewaterinq. 

Dave Sisco, IBI Group on behalf of Port That the MOA Zone clause 28.3 c) be Clause 28.3c) was included in the 
Colborne Quarries deleted based on the clause was not February 12, 2018 version of the Draft 

part of the February 12· 2018 version By-law. The report included the June 
of the draft Zoning By-law which is the 2017 draft by-law as an appendix which is 

document that Senior City Staff believed why this comment was made in 
recommended Council to approve as error. 
part of your previous Staff Report 2018-

However after review of 28.3c) it is 14. 
recommended for deletion as the City 

The licensing of pits and quarries in should not apply its own setbacks that are 
Ontario is the mandate of the Ministry not in line with provincial licensing 

of Natural Resources and Forestry standards set by the Ministry of Natural 

(MNRF) which facilitated through the Resources and Forestry (MNRF) 

Aggregate Resources Act and its' through the Aggregate Resources Act. 

regulations referred to as the 
'Provincial Standards'. Further it is not appropriate for the City to 

apply its own setback standards for 

Within the Provincial Standards are aggregate uses, as aggregates are 

'Operational Standards' that everv new regulated at the provincial level. S. 66(1) 

136



quarry license applicant is required to 
retain experts in their field and each must 
determine if the proposed extraction 
operation may result in a negative 
impacts, not only to sensitive receivers, 
but also to any other identified provincially 
significant resource ; and all based on 
established provincial guidelines and/or 
policies, and if any are determined.to 
recommend appropriate mitigation. 

Therefore, the use of an arbitrary 
extraction setback is contrary to provhcial 
regulation . 

The Aggregate Resources Act (ARA) is 
explicit insomuch that the Act overrides 
municipal by-laws, official plans or 
development agreements where with the 
same subject matter is deal with by the 
ARA. 

Act overrides municipal by-laws, etc. 
66 (1) This Act, the regulations and the 
provisions of licences and site plans 
apply despite any municipal by-law, 
official plan or development agreement 
and, to the extent that a municipal by
law, official plan or development 
agreement deals with the same subject
matter as this Act , the regulations or 
the provisions of a licence or site plan, 
the by-law, official plan or development 
agreement is inoperative. 1999, c. 12, 
Sched. N, s. 1 (4). 

of the Aggregate Resource Act states that 
to the extent that a zoning by-law deals 
with the same subject matter as the Act 
and the regulations or provisions of a 
licence or Site Plan, the by-law is 
inoperative. 

137



Therefore, since the regulations and the 
provisions of licenses and site plans 
include the matter of setbacks, clause 
28.3 c) would be deemed overridden by 
the Act. 

viii. The clause is contrary to the 
Provincial Policy Statement and 
specifically Policy 
2.52.1 wherein; 
"As much of the mineral aggregate 
resources as is realistically possible 
shall be made available as close to 
markets as possible ''. 

It is our opinion that the only qualified 
manner to determine the limits of what 
is 'realistically possible', is through the 
completion of 'site specific' 
assessments as prepared by the above 
noted experts, not through an arbitrary 
setback. 

Definitions 

Under Section 38 of the draft By-law 
and the definition for 'Mineral Aggregate 
Operations' we anticipate the City cited 
the definition from the Provincial Policy 
Statement. However, we note that I Grammatical correction will be made. 
under b) , a comma is missing between 
"transport" and "beneficiation". 
PCQI is supportive of the definition for 
Wayside Pits and Quarries. 

138



That Port Colborne Quarries is 
supportive of the overall draft Zoning 
By-Law subject to the deletion of clause 
28.3 c) and the minor correction to the 
definition of Mineral Aggregate 
Operations. 

George Beaulieu, 644 Second Concession Concern that a cement or asphalt plant A cement or asphalt plant will not be a 
Road will cause noise and air pollution. permitted use. It is recommended that an 

interim control by-law be in place 
requiring proper study and review before 
any usage is contemplated in the Mineral 
Aqqreqate Operation Zone. 

David Stovell , 874 Second Concession Commented of dust experienced when A rehabilitation plan is a requirement of a 
Road he lived at 1170 Main Street East and provincial license for pits 2 and 3 and a 

that it was accepted because he was told requirement of pit 1 in a Site Plan 
the quarry would be rehabilitated. Agreement between the City and Port 
Inquired on the need for preconsultation. Colborne Quarries. 

139



I 

-ill-
PORT C OLBORNE 

City of Port Colborne 

Comprehensive Zoning By-law _/_/18 
._.A..._pr"""'il'"""2 ..... 3.'-'. 2=-=0....:.1 .::...8 _________________ _____ ____.{ Deleted: February 12 

' . ~ 

.- ~,c.>-::'' -f l I 1 
I 1 ' ' I 

1 

' - - . - - -

' 11 I 
I I I'\ I I 

I 
;::f .) .1 7. _ I -! I 

- ~r -

=1s-ee~S,....ch-ed~Ul~e~".~A.1=·1 
1
_ __! -

I •• \..2 . I 

l I I I i -
, _ 11 I 

r ! :- r ' 

1• ' -

140



Table of Contents 

Section 1 Administration and Interpretation 

U Administration 

1.2.1 Conformity and Compliance wi th By-law 
1.2.2 Legal Non-Conforming Uses Continued 
1.2.3 Building Permit Issued 

Ll Interpretation 

1.3.1 Definitions 
1.3.2 Singular and Plural Words and Genders 
1.3.3 Public Utilities 
1.3.4 Schedules 
1.3.5 Interpretation of Zone Boundaries 
1.3.6 More Than One Zone on a Lot 
1.3.7 Establishment of Holding Zones 

.1A Enforcement 

1.:.§ Inspection of Premises 

.L§ Severability 

Ll Effective Date 

:!..] Technical Changes 

Section 2 General Provisions 

ll Requirement for a Lot 

2.1.1 Reduction of a Lot Area 

2.2 Uses Permitted in All Zones 

2.3 Uses Prohibited in all Zones 

2.31 Source Water Protection 

2.4 Temporary Uses 

2.5 Human Habitation 

Formatted Table 

141



2.6 Multiole Uses on a Lot 13 

2.7 Non-Conforming Buildings and Structures 14 

2.8 Accessory Buildings 

2.8.1 General Provisions 14 
2.8.2 Lot Coverage 15 

2.9 Accessory Uses to a Dwelling 14 

2.9.1 Accessory Dwelling Unit 15 
2.9.1.1 Dwelling Unit, Interior Accessory 15 
2.9.1.2 Dwelling Unit, Detached Accessory 16 

2.9.2 Home Based Businesses 17 

2.9.2.1 General Provisions 11 
2.9.2.2 Parking Requirements 18 
2.9.2.3 Signage 18 
2.9.2.4 Bed and Breakfast 19 
2.9.2.5 Home Daycare 19 

2.10 ReQlacement of Buildings and Structures 19 

2.10.1 ReQlacement of Residential Buildings 19 
2.10.2 ReQlacement of Buildings and Structures Other Than 20 

Residential Buildings 
2.10.3 Reconstruction of Agricultural Buildings and Structures 20 

2.11 GrouQ Home 21 

2. 12 Buildings on One Lot 22 

2.13 Sight Triangle 22 

2.13.1 Sight Triangle Distance 22 
2.13.2 Sight Triangle ExemQtion 23 

2.14 Lot Frontage on Roads 22 

2.15 Height 23 

2.15.1 How Height is Measured 23 
2.15.2 Height ExceQtions 23 

2.16 0Qerating AQparatus 23 

2.17 Swimming Pools 24 

142



2.18 Outdoor Storage 

2.19 Permitted Encroachments 

2.19.1 General Structures 
2.19.2 Enclosed Structures 
2.19.3 Unenclosed Structures 

2.20 Minimum Distance Separation (M.D.S) Formulae 

2.21 Railway Right-of-Way 

2.22 Municipal Drains 

2.23 Food Vehicles 

2.24 Outdoor Commercial Patio 

2.25 Storage of Refuse 

Section 3 Parking Provisions 

ll Parking Space Requirements 

3.1.1 Parking Space Requirements for Residential Uses 
3.1.2 Parking Space Requirements for Non-Residential Uses 
3.1 .3 Calculation of Parking Requirement 

3.2 Parking Space Dimensions 

3.3 Accessible Parking 

3.4 Parking Location 

3.5 Parking Area 

3.6 Encroachment in to Yards 

3.7 Ingress and Egress Standards 

3.8 Additions to Existing Buildings with Legal Non-Conforming Parking 

3.9 Parking Prohibitions 

3.9.1 Large Motor Vehicle 
3.9.2 Recreation Vehicle. Boat, Recreation Trailer, Utilitv Trailer 

3.1 O Loading Spaces 

143



;uJ Landscape Provisions for Parking Areas 

3.11.1 Landscape Buffer Provisions 
3.11.2 Minimum Landscaped Open Space within Parking Areas 

ill Drive-Thru Facility 
3.12.1 Drive-Thru Facility Stacking Lanes 

ill Bicycle Parking Spaces 

3.13.1 Required Bicycle Parking 

3.14 Stand Alone Parking Lot 

Section 4 Establishment of Zones 

1J. List of Zone Names and Symbols 

4.2 List of Zone Layers 

4.3 Special Provisions 

4.4 Holding (H\ Provisions 

4.4.1 Development Holding (DH) Provisions 
4.4.2 Conversion (CH) Provisions 

Section 5 First Density Residential Zone (R 1) 

5.2 Permitted Uses 

5.3 Zone Requirements - Dwelling, Detached 

Section 6 Second Density Residential Zone (R2) 

6.2 Permitted Uses 

6.3 Zone Requirements - Dwelling, Detached 

6.4 Zone Requirements - Dwelling, Duplex 

6.5 Zone Requirements - Dwell ing, Semi-Detached 

Section 7 Third Density Residential Zone (R3) 

144



7.2 Permitted Uses 

7.3 Zone Requirements - Dwelling. Semi-Detached 

7.4 Zone Requirements - Dwelling, Duplex 

7.5 Zone Requirements - Dwelling. Triplex 

7.6 Zone Requirements - Dwelling. Fourplex 

7.7 Zone Requirements - Townhouse. Block 

7.8 Zone Requirements - Townhouse. Street 

7.9 Zone Requirements - Dwelling, Detached 

Section 8 Fourth Density Residential Zone (R4l 

§..1. General 

8.2 Permitted Uses 

8.3 Zone Requirements - Dwelling. Triplex 

8.4 Zone Requirements - Dwelling, Fourplex 

8.5 Zone Requirements - Dwelling, Townhouse Block 

8.6 Zone Requirements - Dwelling. Townhouse Street 

8. 7 Zone Requirements - Apartment Buildings. Apartment Buildings, Public 

8.8 Zone Requirements - Dwelling. Detached 

8.9 Zone Requirements - Semi-Detached Dwelling 

Section 9 Residential Townhouse Zone (RT) 

lU General 

9.2 Permitted Uses 

9.3 Zone Requi rements - Dwelling. Townhouse Block 

9.4 Zone Requirements - Dwelling, Townhouse Street 

Section 10 Rural Residential Zone (RR) 

1QJ. General 

145



10.2 Permitted Uses 50 

10.3 Zone Reguirements - Dwelling, Detached 50 

Section 11 Lakeshore Residential Zone (LR) 

ill General fil. 

11 .2 Permitted Uses fil. 

11.3 Zone Reguirements - Dwelling Detached or Dwelling, Seasonal 51 

11.4 Additional Zone Requirements - Accessory Structures 51 

Section 12 Hamlet Residential Zone {HR) 

12.1 General 52 

12.2 Permitted Uses 52 

12.3 Zone requirements - Dwelling Detached 52 

Section 13 Residential Development Zone (RD l 

13.1 General 53 

\13.2 Permitted Uses 53 

13.3 Zone Requirements - Dwelling Detached 53 

Hamlet Development Zone (HD) 

14.1 General 53 

14.2 Permitted Uses 53 

14.3 Zone Requirements - Dwelling Detached 53 

Rural (RU) 

15.1 General 55 

15.2 Permi tted Uses 55 

15.3 Zone Reguirements 55 

15.4 Zone Requirements - Agricultural Uses 56 

15.5 Zone Requirements - Dwelling Detached 56 

146



15.6 Zone Requiremen ts - Accessory Structures to Dwellings 

15.7 Zone Requirements - Kennels 

15.8 Zone Requirements - Medical Marihuana Production Facility 

Section 16 Agricultural Residential Zone (AR) 

16.1 General 

16.2 Permitted Uses 

16.3 Zone Requirements - Dwelling Detached 

16.4 Zone Requirements - Accessory Structures to Dwellings 

Section 17 Agricultural Zone (Al 

ill General 

17.2 Permitted Uses 

17.3 Zone Requirements 

17.4 Additional Zone Requirements - Accessory Structures to Dwellings 

17.5 Additional Zone Requirements - Kennels 

17.6 Additional Zone Requirements-Aqri-tourism and Value Added Uses 

17. 7 Additional Zone Requirements - Medical Marihuana Production Facility 

Section 18 Agricultural Purposes Only Zone (APO) 

18.1 General 

18.2 Permitted Uses 

18.3 Zone Requirements 

Section 19 Neighbourhood Commercial Zone (NC) 

19.1 General 

19.2 Permitted Uses 

19.3 Zone Requirements 

19.4 Additional Zone Requirements - Dwelling, Accessory 

147



Hamlet Commercial Zone (HMCl 

20.1 General 67 

20.2 Permitted Uses 67 

20.3 Zone Requirements 67 

20.4 Additional Zone Requirements - Dwelling, Accessor~ 68 

Mixed Use (MUl Zone 

~ General 69 

21 .2 Permitted Uses 69 

21 .3 Zone Requirements - Non-Residential Buildings and Mixed Use 70 
(Residential and Non-Residential} Buildings 

21 .4 Additional Zone Requirements - Dwelling, Detached 70 

21 .5 Additional Zone Requirements - Dwelling, Semi- Detached l1 

ID Additional Zone Requirements - Dwelling, Du12lex l1 

ill Additional Zone Requirements - Dwelling, Tri12lex 72 

21 .8 Additional Zone Requirements - Dwelling, Four12lex 72 

21 .9 Additional Zone Requirements - Dwelling, Townhouse Street 72 

21 .10 Additional Zone Requirements - A12artment Building. A12artment Building, 73 
Public 

21 .11 Additional Zone Requirements - Dwelling , Accessor~ 73 

21 .12 Additional Zone Requirements - Attached Accessoi:y Use 74 

Commercial Plaza Zone ICP} 

22.1 General 75 

22.2 Permitted Uses 75 

22.3 Zone Requirements 76 

Downtown Commercial Zone (DC) 

23.1 General 77 

23.2 Permitted Uses 77 

148



23.3 Zone Requirements 
---{ Formatted: Centered 

23.4 Parking Requirements 

23.5 Additional Zone Requirements - Apartment Building. Apartment Building. 
Public 

23.6 Additional Zone Requirements - Dwelling, Accessory 

23.7 Additional Zone Requirements - Attached Accessory Use 

Highway Commercial Zone (HC) 

24.2 Permitted Uses 

24.3 Zone Requirements 

24.4 Additional Requirements - Dwelling. Accessory 

24.5 Additional Zone Requirements - Attached Accessory Use 

Marine Commercial Zone (MC) 

25.2 Permitted Uses 

25.3 Zone Requirements 

Light Industrial Zone (LI) 

26.2 Permitted Uses - Principal 

26.3 Permitted Uses - Accessory 

26.4 Zone Requirements 

26.5 Additional Zone Requirements - Medical Marihuana Production Facility 

Heavv Industrial Zone (H I) 

27 .2 Permitted Uses - Principal 

27.3 Permitted Uses - Accessory 

149



27.4 Zone Requirements .§9 

27.5 Additional Zone Requirements - Medical Marihuana Production Facility 90 

Mineral Aggregate OE;leration Zone (MAO) 

28.1 General ~2 

28.2 Permitted Uses ~2 

28.3 Zone Requirements ~2 

Gateway Industrial Zone (GI) 

29.1 General ~3 

29.2 Permitted Uses ~3 

29.3 Permitted Uses - Accessory ~3 

29.4 Zone Requirements ~3 

29.5 Additional Zone Requirements - Medical Mariiluana Production Facility ~5 

Industrial DeveloE;lment Zone (ID) 

}Q,_1 General ~6 

30.2 Permitted Uses ~6 

30.3 Zone Requirements ~6 

Institutional Zone Ol 

31.1 General ~8 

31.2 Permitted Uses ~8 

31 .3 Zone Requirements ~8 

31 .4 Additional Zone Requirements - Dwelling, Ac9+cesso[V ~9 

31 .5 Additional Zone Requirements - AE;lartment Building, Public ~9 

Public and Park (Pl 

32.1 General 100 

32.2 Permitted Uses 100 

150



32.3 Zone Requirements 

Vacation Residential Zone (VRl 

33.1 General 

33.2 Permitted Uses 

33.3 Zone Requirements 

33.4 Additional Zoning Requirements - Campground. Permanent 

Environmental Protection Zone (EPl 

34 .1 General 

34.2 Permitted Uses 

34.3 Zone Requirements 

34.4 Additional Zone Requirements - Boat House. Boat Ramp. Dock 

Hazard Zone (Hl 

35.1 General 

35.2 Permitted Uses 

35.3 Zone Requirements 

35.4 Additional Zone Requirements - Boat House. Boat Ramp, Dock 

Environmental Conservation Layer 

36.1 General 

36.2 Permitted Uses 

36.3 Overlay Requirements 

36.4 Additional Overlay Requirements- Boat House. Boat Ramp. Dock 

Special Provisions 

37.1 General 

37.2 List of Special Provisions 

38 Definitions 

39 Zone Schedules A to A9 

10 

10 

.1Q 

151



This page intentionally left blank 

152



Preamble 

Introduction 

This preamble explains the purpose of this Zoning By-law and how it should be used. 
While this preamble does not form part of the Zoning By-law passed by Council it is 
intended to make the Zoning By-law more understandable and easier to reference. 

Purpose of this Zoning By-law 

The purpose of this Zoning By-law is to implement the policies of the City of Port 
Colborne Official Plan. The Official Plan contains general policies that affect the use of 
land throughout the municipality. These policies specify where certain land uses are 
permitted and, in some instances, what regulations should apply to the development of 
certain lots. This Zoning By-law replaces the City's existing Zoning By-law 1150/97/81. 

The City of Port Colborne Official Plan is a general document that is not intended to 
regulate every aspect of the built form on a lot. This is generally the role of the Zoning 
By-law. Once an Official Plan is in effect, any Zoning By-law passed by Council must 
conform to it. For example, if the Official Plan stated that lands in the vicinity of a 
significant natural feature such as a Provincially Significant Wetland are to remain in 
their natural state, the Zoning By-law would prohibit the construction of buildings or 
structures on those lands. 

The statutory authority to zone land is granted by the Planning Act R.S.O. 1990, c.p. 13 
as amended (the "Planning Acf'). The Planning Act specifies what a By-law can 
regulate. A Zoning By-law can: 

• Prohibit the use of a lot or buildings for any use that is not specifically permitted 
by the By-law; 

• Prohibit the construction of siting of bui ldings and structures on a lot except in 
locations permitted by the By-law; 

• Regulate the type of construction and the height, bulk, location, size, floor area, 
spacing and use of buildings or structures; 

• Regulate the minimum frontage and depth of a lot; 
• Regulate the proportion of a lot that any building or structure may occupy; 
• Regulate the minimum elevation of doors, windows or other openings in buildings 

or structures; 
• Require parking and loading faci lities be provided and maintained for a purpose 

permitted by the By-law; and 
• Prohibit the use of lands and the construction of buildings or structures on land 

that has environmental or archeological constraints. 

Description of By-law Components 

1 

153



This By-law contains 39 sections which taken together provide the standards applicable 
to all lots within the municipality. 

The purpose of each of these sections is described below. 

Section 1: Administration and Interpretation 

This section of the By-law specifies: 

• What lots are governed by the By-law; 
• That every lot in the area covered by this By-law shall conform and comply with 

this By-law; and 
• What penalties can be levied against a person o r corporation if this By-law is 

contravened. 

Section 2: General Provisions 

This section contains a number of regulations that apply to certain types of uses, 
buildings or structures regardless of where in the municipality or in what zone they are 
located. For example, this section contains provisions dealing with the construction of 
accessory buildings and provisions that regulate the operation of home based business. 

Section 3: Parking Provisions 

This section provides regulations dealing with the number of parking spaces required for 
uses, accessible parking spaces, minimum parking space size, bicycle parking facilities , 
and the location of parking facilities on a lot. 

Section 4: Establishment of Zones 

This section sets out the zones and a list of the uses permitted in each zone. If a use is 
not specifically listed as a permitted use in a zone then it is not permitted. In some 
zones, certain uses are only permitted under specific ci rcumstances or only together 
with other uses. 

Section 5 to 36: Zone Provisions 

These sections list the uses that are permitted in each zone and layer and contain a 
number of regulations that control the location and character of buildings and structures, 
and includes, among other things, regulations governing lot size, lot frontage and 
building height. 

Section 37: Special Provisions 

This section provides a consolidated list of lots with special zoning provisions that are 
exceptions to the normal zone requirements of this By-law. Lots subject to special 
provisions are identified on the map schedules in Section 39. 

Section 38: Definitions 

2 

154



Definitions in this section provide clarity and consistency in the implementation of this 
By-law. 

Section 39: Zone Schedules 

This section contains maps of the City showing the zoning of each lot and site specific 
lot information where applicable. 

3 

155



Section 1: Administration and Interpretation 

1.1 Title 

This By-law may be cited as "the Zoning By-law''. 

1.2 Administration 

This By-law shall be administered and enforced by the City of Port Colborne 
("City") and applies to all lots within the City. 

1.2.1 Conformity and Compliance with By-law 

No person shall change the use of any building, structure or lot; erect or 
use any building or structure; or occupy any building, structure or lot 
except in accordance with the provisions of this By-law. Where any 
building, structure or lot is used for more than one purpose, all provisions 
of this By-law relating to each separate use shall be applied . All 
applicable provisions of this By-law apply to an individual lot unless stated 
otherwise. 

Any use (primary or accessory) not specifically permitted by this By-law is 
not permitted. A use defined in Section 39 but not identified as a 
permitted use in any zone or by special provision is not permitted. 

1.2.2 Legal Non-Conforming Uses Continued 

Nothing in this By~law shall prevent the use of any lot, building or structure 
for any purpose permitted by this By-law if such lot, building or structure 
was lawfully used for such purpose prior to the passing of this By-law 
provided that: 

a) Such use, bui lding or structure which was lawfully established prior 
to the date of passing of this By-law and continues to be used for 
that purpose. 

1.2.3 Building Permit Issued 

Nothing in this By-law shall prevent the erection or use of any building or 
structure for a purpose prohibited by this By-law if the plans for such 
building or structure were approved by the Chief Building Official prior to 
the date of passing of this By-law provided that: 

a) When the building or structure is erected, it shall be used and shall 
continue to be used only for the same purpose for which the said 
building or structure was intended when such building permit was 
issued. 

4 

156



1.3 Interpretation 

Nothing in this By-law shall serve to relieve any person from any obligation to 
comply with the requirements of any other By-law of the City, or any other 
regulation , requirement or standard of upper tier governments and agencies, 
including but not limited to the Regional Municipality of Niagara, the Province of 
Ontario, the Government of Canada, the Canadian National Railway, the Niagara 
Peninsula Conservation Authority, the Ministry of Transportation, The Ministry of 
Agriculture, Food and Rural Affairs, the Ministry of the Environment and other 
Provincial and Federal Ministries, departments and agencies. 

Nothing in this By-law shall be construed to exempt any person from complying 
with the requirements of the Ontario Building Code or Ontario Fire Code. 

1.3.1 Definitions 

Unless otherwise defined in Section 38, the words and phrases 
used in this By-law have their common, dictionary meaning. 

1.3.2 Singular and Plural Words and Genders 

In this By-law, unless the context requires otherwise: 

a) Words used in the singular numbers include the plural; 

b) Words used in the plural include the singular number; and 

c) Words used in the masculine gender include the feminine. 

1.3.3 Public Utilities 

Nothing in this By-law shall prevent the use of any land for the 
erection of buildings or structures, or the installation of public works 
providing public utilities by a regulated company or government 
agency. 

1.3.4 Schedules 

The Schedules attached to this By-law form part of the By-law. 
Schedule A shows the Zones and Zone Boundaries. Schedules A1 
through A9 show detailed lot specific information. 

1.3.5 Interpretation of Zone Boundaries 

When determining the boundary of any zone as shown on the 
Schedules forming part of this By-law the following shall apply: 

a) A boundary indicated as following a highway, road (improved 
or unimproved), lane, railway right-of-way or utility corridor 
shall be construed to be the centreline of such highway, 
street, lane, railway right-of-way, utility corridor. 

5 

157



b) A boundary indicated as following a shoreline or a top of 
bank shall follow such shoreline or top of bank as located 
through survey or other similar means. In the event of a 
change in the shoreline or top of bank the boundary shall 
move with the actual shoreline or top of bank. 

c) A boundary indicated as following lot lines or the municipal 
boundaries of the City of Port Colborne shall follow such lot 
lines or municipal boundary. 

d) Where none of the above applies, the zone boundary shal l 
be scaled from the Schedule(s). 

1.3.6 More Than One Zone on a Lot 

Where a lot has more than one zone applied thereon, all provisions 
in the pertinent zone shall be satisfied on each such portion of the 
lot so zoned . 

1.3.7 Establishment of Holding Zones 

Pursuant to Section 36 of the Planning Act, Holding Zones are 
hereby established by the use of the symbol "H" as a suffix to the 
zone symbol. For lands subject to a Holding symbol, only those 
uses, buildings and structures in existence at the time of the 
passing of the By-law applying the Holding symbol will be permitted 
and no building or structure shall be altered or erected until the 
Holding symbol is removed by amendment to the By-law. The 
requirements for lifting each Holding symbol are set out in Section 
4.4 and Section 37 of this Zoning By-law. 

1.4 Enforcement 

Any person or corporation that contravenes any provision of this By-law is guilty 
of an offense and upon conviction is liable to the penalties as provided for in the 
Planning Act. 

1.5 Inspection of Premises 

The Director of Planning and Development or any official or employee of the 
Municipality acting under his or her direction, is hereby authorized to enter, at all 
reasonable hours. upon any property or premises in or about which there is 
reason to believe that provisions of this By-law are not being complied with, and 
for the purpose of carrying out his or her duties under this By-law. 

1.6 Severability 

A decision of a court that one or more of the provisions of this By-law are invalid 
in whole or in part does not affect the validity, effectiveness or enforceability of 
the other provisions or parts of the provisions of this By-law. 

6 

158



1. 7 Effective Date 

This By-law shall come into force the day it is passed. 

1.8 Technical Changes 

Provided that the purpose, effect, intent, meaning and substance of this By-law 
are in no way affected, and as determined by the Director of Planning and 
Development, or any official or employee of the Municipality acting under his or 
her direction, the following technical revisions to this By-law are permitted without 
a Zoning By-law amendment: 

a) Changes to the numbering, cross-referencing, format and 
arrangement of the text, tables and maps; 

b) Additions to and revisions of technical information on maps 
including but not limited to: infrastructure, topographic information, 
notes, legends, shading and title blocks; 

c) Alterations of punctuation; and 

d) Correction of grammatical, dimensional, boundary, mathematical or 
typographic errors. 

7 

159



BY-LAW XXXX/XX/18 

A By-law to regulate the use of land, the bulk, height, location, erection and use of 
buildings and structures, the provision of parking spaces and other associated matters 
in the City of Port Colborne. 

WH EREAS the City of Port Colborne Official Plan was adopted in September 2012 by 
City Council and approved in December 2012 by Regional Council and approved by the 
Ontario Municipal Board in November 2013; 

AND WHEREAS it is deemed advisable to pass a By-law pursuant to s. 34 of the 
Planning Act, R.S.O., 1990, c. P. 13, as amended. 

The Council of the Corporation of the City of Port Colborne enacts as follows: 

8 

160



Section 2: General Provisions 

2.1 Requirement for a Lot 

a) Except as otherwise provided in this By-law, no building or structure shall 
be erected, altered, extended or enlarged except upon a lot nor shall any 
land be used for a permitted use unless it comprises a lot; but this 
provision shall not prevent the use of any parcel or tract of land for lawfully 
existing agricultural purposes excluding the erection or enlargement of any 
building or structure except a fence. 

b) Notwithstanding anything contained in this By-law, a parcel which is 
situated in any zone, and which lacks either the required lot frontage or lot 
area, or both the lot frontage and lot area for the lot in the respective zone, 
is and shall be deemed to be a lot provided that: 

i) The description of such parcel is the same as in a deed registered 
on or prior to the date of passing of this By-law; 

ii) Such parcel could have been conveyed legally on the date of the 
passing of this By-law by way of deed, transfer, mortgage, charge 
or agreement of purchase and sale without consent under Section 
50 of the Planning Act, being Chapter 349 of the Revised Statutes 
of Ontario, 1970, as amended from time to time. 

iii) All relevant regulations made under the Public Health Act and all 
relevant regulations required of the Regional Municipality of 
Niagara or any other authority having jurisdiction are complied with 
including septic requirements; 

iv) All other requirements of the applicable zone are complied with, 
and where said parcel qualified under this section as a deemed lot, 
said deemed lot may be used for the purposes as permitted in the 
zone in which it is located, notwithstanding that it does not com ply 
with the area and frontage requirements of that zone; and 

2.1.1 Reduction of Lot Area 

a) No person shall reduce the lot area or make any changes in the 
dimensions of a lot as required by this By-law by the conveyance or 
alienation of any portion thereof or otherwise, except at the discretion of 
the Committee of Adjustment or except by a conveyance in accordance 
with Section 2.1.1 (b), so that any building or structure on such lot shall 
have a lot coverage that exceeds or a front yard depth, side yard depth, 
rear yard depth, lot frontage, lot area or lot depth that is less than that 
permitted by this By-law but does not include a registered use. 

9 

161



b) Where the area of a lot is reduced by means of an acquisition of part of 
the lot by a public agency for the purpose of providing a public service, 
and where such acquisition causes the lot as reduced, or any building or 
structure existing lawfully on the lot on the date of such acquisition to have 
a lot area, lot frontage, lot depth, lot coverage, front yard depth, side yard 
depth or rear yard depth that does not conform to the requirements hereof 
for the zone in which such lot is located, then the lot as reduced shall 
continue to be used as if no such acquisition had taken place provided 
that: 

i) No change is made in the dimensions or area of the lot as reduced, 
subsequent to the date of such acquisition, that would increase the 
extent of the said non-conformity; and 

ii) No building, structure or addition is erected on the lot as reduced, 
subsequent to the date of such acquisition, except in accordance 
with all of the provisions hereof for the zone in which such lot is 
located . 

2.2 Uses Permitted in All Zones 

a) Nothing in this By-law shall prevent the use of any land as a public use 
provided by or on behalf of the City, Regional Municipality of Niagara or 
Province of Ontario for the erection of buildings or structures, or the 
installation of other facilities essential to the operation of water works, 
street lighting, cable and telephone lines, railways and works for the 
transmission of gas, oil, water or electrical power or energy, or wayside 
pits and quarries, provided that any such use, building or structure 
provided that: 

i) Any buildings or structures shall be in compliance with the relevant 
provisions of this By-law; 

ii) Any building, structure or use shall not adversely affect the 
character or amenity of the neighbourhood in which it is located . 

b) Nothing in this By-law shall prevent the erection of any properly authorized 
traffic sign or signal, or any sign or notice of any local or other government 
department of authority. 

2.3 Uses Prohibited in All Zones 

a) Abattoir; 

c) Mobile Home Park; 

d) Salvage Yard; 

e) Solid Waste Disposal Facility; 
10 

Deleted: b) Asphalt and Cement Manufacturing; 

162



f) Trailer Park; 

g) Sites for the treatment and disposal of liquid waste, hazardous waste. or 
any other waste which requires special treatment; 

h) Locating or storing on any land for any purpose whatsoever any disused 
railroad car. sea container or similar shipping container, streetcar body, 
truck body or trailer without wheels, whether or not the same is situated on 
a foundation, except, in the Industrial Zones and Site Specific Zones that 
permit industrial type uses and City owned lands Zoned Public and Park 
located on the City's Island (Mellanby Avenue/Killaly Street West); and 

i) Any use where its nature or the material used therein is considered a 
noxious use as defined in Section 39. 

a) Nothing in this By-law shall prevent the use of any land as a public use 
provided by or on behalf of the City, Regional Municipal ity of Niagara or 
Province of Ontario for the erection of buildings or structures, or the 
installation of other facilities essential to the operation of water works, 
street lighting, cable and telephone lines, railways and works for the 
transmission of gas, oil, water or electrical power or energy, or wayside 
pits and quarries, provided that any such use, building or structure 
provided that: 

i) Any buildings or structures shall be in compliance with the relevant 
provisions of this By-law; 

ii) Any building, structure or use shal l not adversely affect the 
character or amenity of t he neighbourhood in which it is located. 

b) Nothing in th is By-law shall prevent the erection of any properly authorized 
traffic sign or signal, or any sign or notice of any local or other government 
department of authority. 

f) Sites for the treatment and disposal of liquid waste, hazardous waste, or 
any other waste which requires special treatment; 

g) Locating or storing on any land for any purpose whatsoever any disused 
railroad car, sea container or similar shipping container, streetcar body, 
truck body or trailer without wheels, whether or not the same is situated on 
a foundation, except, in the Industrial Zones and Site Specific Zones that 
permit industrial type uses and City owned lands Zoned Public and Park 
located on the City's Island (Mellanby Avenue/Killaly Street West) ; and 

h) Any use where its nature or the material used therein is considered a 
noxious use as defined in Section 39. 

2.3.1 Source Water Protection 

11 

163



a) Notwithstanding any other provisions of the by-law to the contrary, the 
following uses shall be prohibited within the Intake Protection Zone 1 (IPZ-
1) shown as IPZ-1 on Schedules A6 and A7 in Section 39 of this By-law: 

i) Waste Disposal Site; 

ii) Pesticide storage greater than 2,500 kg; 

iii) Open Storage of road salt greater than 5,000 tonnes; 

iv) Storage of snow greater than 1 hectare; 

v) Stormwater Management Facility, or the expansion of a Stormwater 
Management Facility existing prior to August 28, 2017; 

vi) Combined Sewer; 

vii) Wastewater Treatment Facility; 

viii) Industrial Effluent System; and 

ix) Agricultural Use, including the storage or application of agricultural 
source material. 

b) Notwithstanding any other provisions of the by-law to the contrary, the 
following uses shall be prohibited within Intake Protection Zone 2 (IPZ-2) 
shown as IPZ-2 on Schedules A6 and A7 in Section 39 of this By-law: 

i) Waste Disposal Site; 

ii) Stormwater management facility, or the expansion of a storm water 
management facility existing prior to August 28, 2017; and 

iii) Agricultural Use, including the storage or application of agricultural 
source material. 

c) In instances where the Risk Management Official deems a new or 
expanding Commercial/Industrial development may pose a significant 
threat to municipal drinking water within the IPZ-1 or IPZ-2, a stormwater 
management plan that demonstrates and implements best management 
practices related to managing stormwater runoff shall be required to the 
satisfaction of the Risk Management Official and the City. 

2.4 Temporary Uses 

a) Nothing in this By-law shall prevent the use of any land, or the erection or 
use of any temporary building or structure for a construction camp, work 
camp, tool shed, scaffold or other temporary building or structure 
incidental to an necessary for construction work on the premises for which 
a building permit has been issued and not expired, but only for so long as 

12 

164



such use, building or structure is necessary for such construction work 
which has not been finished or abandoned. 

b) Nothing in this By-law shall prevent the use of a mobile home, motor home 
or trailer for the temporary accommodation of the residents of a lot in the 
case of a complete or partial destruction of a dwelling by fire, lightning, 
explosion, tempest, flood or Act of God, or where its demolition is by the 
order of the City of Port Colborne, the Regional Municipality of Niagara or 
other authority, for safety, health or sanitation requirements in any Zone 
for a period not to exceed 18 months provided that the property owner has 
first entered into a Development Agreement with the City in a form 
authorized generally or specifically by City Council from time to time to 
allow the temporary use of a mobile home, motor home or trailer. 

c) Nothing in this By-law shall prevent the use of a mobile home, motor home 
or trailer for the temporary accommodation during the construction of a 
new dwelling provided that the property owner has first entered into a 
Development Agreement with the City in a form authorized generally or 
specifically by City Council from time to time to allow the temporary use of 
a mobile home, motor home or trailer during the construction of a new 
dwelling. 

d) Nothing in this By-law shall prevent the use of any land, other than a sight 
triangle, in any zone for a special event held by a charitable organization 
provided any temporary building or structure incidental to, and necessary 
for, the event meets the minimum requirements of the applicable zone and 
remains on the land only during the duration of the special even!. I 

e) Where this By-law provides that land may be used for a dwelling unit, the 
permitted accessory use shall include a garage/yard sale provided that: 

i) No person shall conduct more than 2 garage/yard sales per 
calendar year at 1 location; and 

ii) No garage/yard sale shall exceed 2 days in duration. 

2.5 Human Habitation 

Notwithstanding anything contained in this By-law, no truck, bus, coach, street 
car body or structure of any kind, whether or not the same is mounted on wheels, 
a foundation or other form of mounting, shall be used for human habitation other 
than a dwelling unit, a mobile home, or a trailer or motor home used in 
accordance with th is By-law. 

2.6 Multiple Uses on a Lot 

Notwithstanding anything contained in this By-law: 

a) Where any land, building or structure is used for more than one purpose, 
all provisions of this By-law relating to each use shall be complied with; 

13 

165



b) In no case shall a dwelling be located within 3 metres of any other building 
on the lot, except a building accessory to such dwelling; and 

c) Where standards or provisions pertaining to 2 or more uses on lot are in 
conflict, the highest or most restrictive standards or provisions shall 
prevail. 

2.7 Non-Conforming Buildings and Structures 

a) Nothing in this By-law shall prevent the rebuilding, replacement or repair 
of an existing building or structure even though such building or structure 
or the lot on which such building or structure is located does not conform 
to one or more of the provisions of this By-law, provided that the 
dimensions of the original building or structure are not increased, the use 
thereof is not altered and the yards appurtenant thereto are not reduced 
except in accordance with the provisions of this By-law, provided that such 
repair or restoration does not increase the height, size, volume or extent of 
non-conformity or non-compliance of the use, building or structure, except 
as required in order to comply with the requirements of the Ontario 
Building Code. 

b) Nothing in this By-law shall prevent a vertical or horizontal extension or 
addition from being made to an existing building or structure on a lot, even 
though such building, structure or lot does not conform to one or more of 
the requi rements of this By-law, provided that: 

i) Such extension or addition does not further reduce any existing 
legal non-conforming yards but in no instance shall any extension 
or addition be permitted close than 1.0 metres to any lot line; 

ii) Al l other provisions of this By-law are satisfied; and 

iii) No extensions or additions shall be permitted in an Environmental 
Protection Zone. 

2.8 Accessory Buildings 

2.8.1 General Provisions 

a) Accessory buildings shall be permitted in any zone in accordance with the 
appl icable zone regulations and with the following:~ 

i) No accessory building shall be erected prior to the erection of the 
permitted dwelling or principal building on the same lot except 
where it is necessary for the storage of tools and materials for use 
in connection with the construction of such dwelling or building and 
no accessory building shall be used prior to the erection of such 
dwelling or building for any purpose other than such storage for a 
period not to exceed 18 months provided that the property owner 
has first entered into a Development Agreement with the City in a 

14 

166



form authorized generally or specifically by City Council from time 
to time to allow the temporary use. 

ii) No accessory building shall exceed a height of 4.6 metres, except 
as otherwise permitted in Section 2.16. 

iii) No accessory building shall be located in a front yard or corner side 
yard. 

iv) No accessory building shall be located closer than 1.5 metres to a 
main building. 

v) Unless specifically stated, no accessory structure shall be located 
less than 1 metre from an interior side or rear lot line. 

vi) The regulations governing the location of any accessory bui lding in 
relation to a lot line, shall not apply to prevent the erection or use of 
a jointly-owned double garage which services two dwellings whose 
commoh lot line shall be the dividing line of such garage provided 
that such garage is not located in a required front yard or close than 
1.0 metre to any other lot line. 

vii) Notwithstanding subsections (i) through (vii) inclusive, where the 
accessory building is located within an Environmental Protection 
Zone, the Niagara Peninsula Conservation Authority regulations 
shall apply. 

2.8.2 Lot Coverage 

a) For a lot with municipal sanitary sewers and municipal water services the 
total accessory lot coverage shall not exceed 10% of the lot area of the 
said lot, excluding swimming pools. 

b) For a lot with no municipal services the total accessory lot coverage shall 
not exceed §.% of the lot area of said lot, excluding swimming pools. j .----{.._ __ oe_1e_te_d_: 3 __________ ~ 

c) For a lot zoned Agriculture (A) or Rural (RU) the total accessory lot 
coverage shall not exceed 1 % of the lot area of said lot, excluding 
swimm ing pools. 

d) Where total coverage of all bui ldings on a lot is specified in a specific 
zone, the coverage for the accessory building must also conform to the 
overall coverage requirement. 

2.9 Accessory Uses to a Dwelling 

2.9.1 Accessory Dwelling Unit 

a) Notwithstanding any other provisions of this By-law, any single detached, 
semi-detached and townhouse dwelling units permitted in any zone may 
be internally converted or by way of an addition to the existing dwelling or 

15 

167



2.9.1.1 

a) 

2.9.1.2 

a) 

creation of a standalone structure or building, provide an accessory 
dwelling unit, subject to the specific zone requirements and the following: 

i) Only one accessory dwelling unit is permitted per dwelling unit. 

ii) Where the parcel proposed for an accessory dwelling unit is not 
serviced by municipal sewer and/or municipal water services, the 
minimum lot size shall be 0.4 hectares and all relevant 
requirements of the Region of Niagara are complied with. 

iii) The maximum floor area for the accessory dwelling unit shall not 
exceed 40% of the gross floor area of the dwelling. 

iv) One additional on-site parking space shall be provided for the 
accessory dwelling unit, and parking spaces may be stacked. 

v) All relevant requirements of the Ontario Building Code and Ontario 
Fire Code are complied with. 

Dwelling Unit, Interior Accessory 

Notwithstanding any other provisions of this By-law, one interior accessory 
dwelling unit is permitted in any detached dwelling, semi-detached 
dwelling unit or townhouse dwelling unit provided it complies with Section 
2.9.1 (i) to (v) and: 

i) The interior accessory dwelling unit is entirely within the exterior 
walls of the principal dwelling unit. 

ii) The external appearance and character of the single detached 
dwelling, landscaped area and outdoor amenity areas are to be 
preserved. 

iii) Additions shall be architecturally similar to the existing dwel ling unit 
and use similar exterior build ing materials. 

iv) The entrance to the accessory dwelling unit shall be located only in 
the interior side or rear yard and no exterior stairway to the second 
floor of the dwelling or accessory dwell ing unit shall be permitted in 
the front or corner side yard. 

Dwelling Unit, Detached Accessory 

Notwithstanding any other provisions of this By-law, one detached 
accessory dwelling unit is permitted in any residential zone provided it 
complies with Section 2.9.1 (i) to (v) and shall not: 

i) Be located in a required front yard or corner side yard. 

ii) Be located within any sight triangle. 

16 

168



iii) Exceed a building height of 4.6 metres. 

iv) Be located less than 1 metres from an interior side or rear lot line. 

v) Be located closer than 1.5 metres to a main building. 

2.9.2 Home Based Business 

2.9.2.1 

a) 

General Provisions 

Notwithstanding any other provisions of this By-law, a home based 
business is permitted within a dwelling unit in any zone subject to the 
following: 

i) The home based business shall be clearly secondary to the main 
residential use and shall not change the residential character of the 
dwelling. 

ii) The home occupation shall be conducted entirely within the 
dwelling unit and shall not occupy any portion of a private garage, 
carport or accessory building or structure except for the storage 
only of articles, material and supplies accessory to the home based 
business provided that the total combined floor area of the home 
based business in both the dwelling unit and accessory structure do 
not exceed the maximum floor area as described in 2.9.2 (iii). 

iii) The use occupies a maximum floor area of 25% of the total 
dwelling unit floor area to a maximum of 23 square metres 
whichever is less. 

iv) The homes based business shall be conducted by a person(s) 
residing in the dwelling and may include one non-resident 
employee. 

,v) No manufacturing activity involving the processing of raw or semi- I ...---i._ __ oe_ie_te_d_: 11;;._ _____ ____ _, 
processed materials shall be carried out in conjunction with a home 
based business except for the fabrication of handmade goods or 
crafts associated with an artisan studio, home bakery, catering or 
home sewing establishment. The assembly of fully processed 
goods shall be permitted and shall only occur within the dwelling 
unit. 

vi) There shall be no exterior structural alterations or separate 
entrances to the dwelling unit for the home based business. 

vii) There shall be no outside storage associated with the home based 
business. 

viii) The home based business shall not create or become a public 
nuisance in regard to persistent noise, odour, vibration, dust, light 
or glare, traffic generated or parking, nor shall it cause electrical 

17 

169



interference or interference with telephone, television, radio or 
satellite equipment. 

ix) Unless otherwise stated, not more than 2 clients or customers of 
the home based business shall be present at any time on the lot 
occupied by the dwelling unit. 

b) Repair services shall be limited to the repair of personal effects and small 
household appliances such as electronic equipment, bicycles, apparel, 
furniture, toys and sporting goods. The repair of major household 
appliances, lawn care equipment and other power equipment and vehicles 
shall not be permitted. 

c) Retail sales shall be limited to those goods, merchandise, wares, products 
and articles either produced by the home based business or associated 
with a personal service conducted on the premises. 

2.9.2.2 Parking Requirements 

a) Where a home based business is present, and in addition to the parking 
provision of this By-law, the following special parking regulations are 
applicable: 

i) 

ii) 

iii) 

2.9.2.3 

One off-street parking space shall be provided on the lot occupied 
by the dwelling unit in addition to the minimum parking area 
required by the dwelling unit. 

Parking or storage of vehicles for the home based business shall 
be prohibited in any required yard except on a driveway that has 
been graded and gravelled or surfaced with concrete, asphalt, 
crushed stone or other hard surface, dustless material. 

On-site parking spaces may be stacked . 

Signage 

a) There shall be no exterior indication of the home based business including 
window display, open storage or display of advertising goods, materials or 
equipment associated with the home based business other than one legal 
sign per property which complies with the City of Port Colborne Sign By
law and the following regulations: 

i) The sign shall not be internally illuminated. 

ii) The sign shall not exceed 0.37 square metres in area where there 
is one home occupation in the dwelling unit or 0.74 square metres 
in area where there are two or more home based businesses in the 
dwelling unit. 

iii) The sign shall not be located within a sight triangle. 

18 

170



iv) 

2.9.2.4 

The sign shall not be located closer than 1 metre to any property 
line. 

Bed and Breakfast 

a) A bed and breakfast is a permitted use within a detached dwelling subject 
to section 2.9 and the following additional regulations: 

i) 

ii) 

Despite section 2.9.1 (iii), a maximum of 4 guest rooms are 
permitted; 

The bed and breakfast establishment shall provide one off-street 
parking space per guest room in addition to the minimum parking 
area required for the dwelling unit; and 

iii} The bed and breakfast shall provide meals to guests of the bed and 
breakfast only. 

iv) 

2.9.2.5 

The bed and breakfast establishment shall be licensed in 
accordance with the City's Licensing By-law. 

Home Daycare 

a} A home daycare is permitted subject to section 2.9 and the following: 

i) Despite Section 2.9.2.1 (ix), the maximum number of non-resident 
persons being supervised is five; and 

ii} Section 2.9.1 a does not apply. 

,2.1 0 Replacement of Buildings and Structures 

2.10.1 Replacement of Residential Buildings 

a} Any building used exclusively for residential purposes may, in the case of 
its complete destruction, be replaced with a new building or in the case of 
its partial destruction, be reconstructed where the complete or partial 
destruction is caused by fi re, lightning, explosion, tempest, flood or Act of 
God, or where its demolition is by order of the City of Port Colborne, The 
Regional Municipality of Niagara or other authority for safety, health or 
sanitation requirements, provided that: 

i} Such destroyed or demolished building was lawfully used at the 
date of its partial or complete destruction or demolition; 

ii) Such building as replaced or reconstructed shall not contain a 
greater number of dwelling units than lawfully existed in the 
destroyed or demolished building at the date of its partial or 
complete destruction or demolition; 

19 

171



iii) Where the ground floor area of the destroyed or demolished 
building was less than the minimum ground floor area permitted in 
the applicable zone under this By-law, such building as replaced or 
reconstructed, shall not contain a less floor area than lawfully 
existed in the destroyed or demolished building at the date of its 
partial or complete destruction or demolition; 

iv) Where any yard existing at the date of the partial or complete 
destruction or demolition of such building does not comply with the 
minimum yard required in the applicable zone under this By-law, 
then such yard shall not be less than the yard existing at the date of 
the partial or complete destruction, or demolition of such building; 

v) The height of such building as replaced or reconstructed, shall not 
exceed the maximum height permitted in the applicable zone under 
this By-law; and 

vi) A building permit is obtained and reconstruction work commences 
within 24 months of the date upon which the building or structure 
became unusable or unoccupied. 

2.10.2 Replacement of Buildings and Structures Other Than Residential Buildings 

a) Any building other than a building used exclusively for residential 
purposes may, in the case of its complete destruction, be replaced with a 
new building where the complete destruction is caused by fire, lightning, 
explosion, tempest, flood or Act of God, or where its demolition is by order 
of the City of Port Colborne, The Regional Municipality of Niagara or other 
authority for safety, health or sanitation requirements, provided that: 

i) Such destroyed or demolished building was in conformance with 
this By-law at the date of its complete destruction or its demolition; 
or 

ii) For buildings not in conformance with this By-law, the ground floor 
area and gross floor area of such building as replaced does not 
exceed that existing at the date of its complete destruction or its 
demolition; and 

iii) A building permit is obtained and reconstruction work commences 
within 24 months of the date upon which the building or structure 
became unusable or unoccupied. 

2.10.3 Reconstruction of Agricultural Buildings and Structures 

a) Nothing in this By-law shall apply to prevent the reconstruction of any legal 
non-conforming or conforming agricultural building or structure situated in 
the Agricultural or Rural Zones in the case of partial or complete 
destruction caused by fire, lightning, explosion, tempest, flood or Act of 
God, or where its demolition is by order of the City of Port Colborne, The 

20 

172



Regional Municipality of Niagara or other authority for safety, health or 
sanitation requirements, provided that: 

i) Such building or structure, as replaced or reconstructed shall not 
have in total a greater livestock housing capacity than lawfully 
existed in the destroyed or demolished building or structure at the 
date of its partial or complete destruction or demolition; and 

ii) Where any yard existing at the date of the partial or complete 
destruction or demolition of such building or structure does not 
comply with the minimum yard or minimum setback required in the 
Agricultural or Rural Zones, such yard shall not be reduced in size 
by reason of such reconstruction of such building; or 

iii) If such building is to be replaced or reconstructed so that it provides 
a greater livestock housing capacity than lawfully existed in the 
destroyed or demolished building or structure at the date of its 
partial or complete destruction or demolition, such building or 
structure shall not be replaced or reconstructed except in 
accordance with the provisions of the Agricultural or Rural Zone 
regulations and the applicable MOS requirements found in Section 
2.20; and 

iv) A building permit is obtained and reconstruction work commences 
within 24 months of the date upon which the building or structure 
became unusable or unoccupied. 

2.11 Group Home 

a) Only the following types of Group Homes, as approved under Provincial 
Statute shall be permitted in any residential zone: 

i) Approved group homes; 

ii) Home for special care; 

iii) Supportive housing programs; 

iv) Children's residence; 

v) Accommodation for adult mental health programs; 

vi) Accommodation services for individuals with a development 
disability; 

vii) Satellite residence for seniors; and 

viii) Homes for individuals who have physical disabilities when the 
Provinces license, funds or approved such a group home program. 

21 

173



b) Except for those group homes under Section 2.11 (a), the following group 
homes are not permitted in any zone except by a site specific amendment 
to the Zoning By-law: 

i) Halfway house for the socially disadvantaged; 

ii) Halfway house for alcoholics; 

iii) Halfway house for ex-offenders; and 

iv) Community resource centre. 

2.12 Buildings on One Lot 

2.1 3 

Except where otherwise permitted, only one principal building of the following 
uses shall be permitted on one lot: 

a) A detached dwelling; 

b) A semi-detached dwelling; 

c) A duplex dwelling; 

d) A triplex dwelling; 

e) A fourplex dwell ing; or 

Sight Triangle 

a) Unobstructed sight triangles are required on all corner lots in all zones. 

b) The area within a sight triangle shall be determined by measuring from the 
point of the intersection of the front and corner side lot lines on a corner lot 
to a point along each such lot line as set out in Section 2.13.1 (a) and 
2.13.1 (b) and joining such points with a straight line. 

c) No sign or landscaping materials including but not limited to: fences, walls, 
berms, trees, hedges or bushes shall be greater than 0.75 metres in 
height above the elevation of the ground at the street line. 

2.13.1 Sight Triangle Distance 

a) 

b) 

Residential Zone 

All Other Zones 

2.13.2 Sight Triangle Exemption 

6 metres 

7.5 metres 

a) Sight Triangle provisions in Section 2.1 3 and 2.13.1 shall not apply to any 
corner lot located within the Downtown Commercial (DC) Zone. 

2.14 Lot Frontage on Roads 

22 

174



a) No person shall construct a building or structure or otherwise use any lot 
unless the lot fronts on an improved road or lane. 

b) No lot creation shall be permitted on lanes within the urban area boundary 
as designated in the City's Official Plan. 

c) Section 2.14 (a) does not apply to: 

i) A utility installation; 

ii) A cemetery 

iii) A conservation/natural area 

d) Lot frontage shall be measured: 

i) 6 metres from the front lot line and parallel to the front lot line; or 

ii) 6 metres from the chord and parallel to the chord if the front lot line 
is a curve 

2.15 Height 

2.15.1 How Height is Measured 

a) From the grade to the highest point of the roof. 

~~-· 1_5_.2_H_e~ig~h_t_E_x_c_e,p~t_io_n_s _______ ______________ -i---1 ~eleted:1l 

a) The height regulations of this By-law shall not apply to antennas, barns, 
chimneys, communication towers, elevator enclosures, flag poles, roof top 
mechanical equipment. silos. skylights, solar panels, spires, water tanks. 
or windmills. 

2.16 Operating Apparatus 

a) The following provisions shall apply to all Residential zones and lots 
abutting a Residential Zone. Operating apparatus shall: 

i) Be setback a minimum of 0.6 metres from any rear and side lot line; 
and 

ii) Be permitted in a front yard, and setback no greater than 0.5 
metres from the front building wall. 

2.17 Swimming Pools 

a) In addition to the provisions and setbacks contained in the City of Port 
Colborne "Pool By-law" the following shall apply: 

i) Any above-ground or in-ground swimming pool shall be located in 
an interior side yard or rear yard only; 

23 

175



ii) The interior wal l surface of any above-ground or in-ground 
swimming pool shall be located no closer than 1 metre to any 
interior side lot line or rear lot line, or closer to any street than 
the setback requi red therefrom; 

iii) Water circulating or treatment equipment such as pumps or fil ters 
shall be located no closer than 3 metres to any interior side lot line 
or 1 metre to any rear lot line; and 

iv) A building or structure containing or enclosing an above-ground or 
in-ground swimming pool shall not be located in any required yard 
and shall comply with all applicable accessory structure provisions 
of the zone in which such building or structure is located. 

2.18 Outdoor Storage 

a) Except where otherwise noted, outdoor storage and garbage storage 
areas shall only be permitted in an interior side yard or a rear yard. 

2.19 Permitted Encroachments 

a) Except where otherwise permitted in this By-law every part of any required 
yard for a building or structure shall be open and unobstructed from the 
ground to the sky except for the exceptions listed in Section 2.19.1 to 
2.19.3. 

b) No part of any required yard or required court shall be obstructed by any 
bui lding or structure or part thereof except one or more of the following 
functional and ornamental structures including but not limited to: 

i) Drop awnings; 

ii) Clothes poles 

iii) Ornamental fountains, statutes, monuments, memorials, planters 
and garden tresses; 

iv) Fences; 

v) Air conditioning units, heat pumps and generators; and 

vi) Boundary and retaining walls, hedgerows and legal signs 

2.19.1 General Structures 

Structure Type Yard Permitted Required Setback from Lot 
Line 

Eaves and Gutters All 0.15 metres 
Uncovered Stairs or All 0.5 metres 
Ramps to First Storey 

24 

176



Fire Escapes and Exterior Interior Side Yard 1.2 metres 
Staircases Corner Side Yard 

Rear Yard 
Cantilever - Walls or All 0.3 metres 
Windows Front Yard 0.6 

Rear Yard 

HeiQht of Deck or Platform 
Height above the Height above the Height above the 
Ground Floor Level Ground Floor Level Ground Floor 
to 0.61 metres more than 0.61 Level 1.2 metres 

metres but less than or greater 
1.2 metres 

Minimum Setback 3 metres 3 metres Required corner 
from Corner Side yard of principal 
Lot Line buildina 
Minimum Setback Required interior side yard of principal dwelling 
from Interior Side 
Lot Line 
Minimum Setback 1.6 metres 3 metres 4.5 metres 
from Rear Lot Line 
Minimum Setback 3 metres 3 metres Required corner 
from Front Lot Line yard of principal 

building 

2.19.2 Enclosed Structures 

a) Any enclosed platform structure, enclosed steps or enclosed barrier-free 
ramps are deemed to be part of the building to which they are attached 
and shall meet all required yards. 

2.19.3 Unenclosed Structures 

a) Unenclosed and uncovered barrier-free ramps shall be permitted to 
encroach into any yard. 

2.20 Minimum Distance Separation (M.D.S.) Formulae 

a) Notwithstanding the building setback and minimum yard requirements of 
any zone, the requirements of the Province's M.D.S. Formula 1 and 
M.D.S. Formula 2, as updated from time to time, shall prevail. 

b) The minimum acceptable separation distance shall be the distance 
determined in the application of the Province's M.D.S. Formula 1 or 
M.D.S. Formula 2. 

25 

177



c) Any setback distance requirement from farm and non-farm buildings by 
the Province's M.D.S. Formula 1 or M.D.S. Formula 2 shall also apply 
from farm and non-farm buildings in adjacent municipalities. 

2.21 Railway Right-of-Way 

a) Notwithstanding any other provisions of this By-law, no building or 
structure for the purpose of human habitation shall be constructed any 
closer than 15 metres to any functioning railway right-of-way. 

2.22 Municipal Drains 

a) Notwithstanding any other provisions of this By-law, no building or 
structure may be located any closer than 15 metres to any municipal 
drain, measured from the top of bank. 

2.23 Food Vehicles 

a) Every Food Vehicle shall operate in accordance with the City's Business 
Licensing By-law, the regulations for the zone, in which it is located and 
the following: 

i) Within any Commercial, Institutional or Industrial Zone, shall 
occupy a defined parking space; 

ii) Within any Commercial, Institutional or Industrial Zone, shall 
not occupy an accessible parking space; and 

iii) Within any Commercial, Institutional or Industrial Zone, shall be in 
accordance with Section 2.13, Sight Triangles. 

2.24 Outdoor Commercial Patio 

a) An outdoor commercial patio is permitted if it is operated as part of a take
out restaurant, a full-service restaurant, private club or a brew pub where 
those uses are listed as permitted uses. 

b) An outdoor commercial patio is prohibited in association with any Adult 
Oriented Entertainment Establishment. 

c) Where an outdoor commercial patio is not physically separated by a 
building from another lot in a residential zone, it is prohibited unless it is 
located at least: 

i) 30 metres from a lot in a residential zone and is screened and 
physically separated from that same lot by a structure, screen or 
wall that is two metres or more in height so as to mitigate both light 
and noise from the outdoor commercial patio; or 

ii) 75 metres from a lot in a residential zone. 

26 

178



d) Outdoor commercial patios must not encroach on or eliminate any 
required parking or loading space, driveway or aisle. 

e) No additional parking shall be required for an outdoor commercial patio. 

2.25 Storage of Refuse 

a) No open storage of refuse shall be permitted anywhere within the zoned 
area except: 

i) Where refuse is to be collected within an 18 hour period after such 
refuse has been placed in an outdoor location; 

ii) Where the area used for the open storage of refuse or a refuse 
container is enclosed by a wall or an opaque fence not less than 
1.8 metres in height; or 

iii) In any Residential Zone, where such refuse is contained completely 
within a structure or in a receptacle specifically intended for such 
purpose and having walls or sides and door or lid. 

27 

179



Section 3: Parking Provisions 

3.1 Parking Space Requirements 

a) Except as otherwise provided in Section 3, the owner or occupant of any 
lot, bui lding or structure used or erected for any of the purposes set forth 
in this By-law, shall provide and maintain for the sole use of the owner, 
occupant or other persons entering upon or making use of the said lot, 
building or structure from time to time, one or more parking spaces in 
accordance with the requirements of Section 3.1.1 and 3.1.2. 

3.1.1 Parking Space Requirements for Residential Uses 

Permitted Use No. of Spaces Required per Unit 

Apartment Buildino 1.5 
Apartment Buildino, Public 1 space per 3 units 
Bed and Breakfast 1 space per quest room 
Dwellino, Accessory 1 
Dwelling, Detached 1 
Dwellina, Duplex 1 
Dwellino, Fourolex 1 
Dwellina, Semi-Detached 1 
Dwellino, Townhouse Block 1 
Dwellina, Townhouse Street 1 
Dwelling, Triplex 1 
Dwell ing Unit, Accessory 1 (can be tandem) 
Long Term Care Facility 0.4 per dwelling unit and per care bed 
Supportive Living Facility 0.5 

3.1.2 Parking Space Requirements for Non-Residential Uses 

Permitted Use 

Adult Oriented Entertainment Establishment Min 1 space per 20 square metres gfa 
Animal Care Establishment Min 1 space per 20 square metres gfa 
Brew Pub Min 1 space per 20 square metres gfa 
Cultural Facility Min 1 space per 65 square metres gfa 
Contractor's Yard Min 1 space per 100 square metres gfa 
Day Care Min 1 space per 25 square metres gfa 
Golf Course and Driving Range 18 per 9 holes of golf plus 1 per 27 

square metres of club house 
Heavv Eauipment Sales and Service Min 1 space per 35 square metres gfa 
Hospital Min 1 space per 50 square metres gfa 
Hotel 1 per quest room 
Industry, Heavy Min 1 space per 100 square metres gfa 

28 

180



lndustr , Li ht 
Marina 
Medical Clinic 
Medical Marihuana Production Facility 

Motor Vehicle Gas Station 

Motor Vehicle Sales/Rental and SeNice 
Centre 
Office 

Restaurant, Full-SeNice* 
Restaurant, Take-Out 
Retail Store 

All other non-residential uses listed in the 
Zonin B - law but not s ecified above 

*Applies only to portion of building dedicated to the assembly of persons 

3.1.3 Calculation of Parking Requirement 

a) The calculation of the minimum number of required parking spaces shall 
be rounded up to the nearest whole number. 

3.2 Parking Space Dimensions 

Min. Width Min. Depth Conditions 
(m) (m) 

Standard Parking 2.6 5.2 -
Space 
Standard Parking 3.5 5.2 Abutting any wall, 
Space Obstructed column or structure 
on Two Sides on both sides 
Standard Space 3 5.2 Abutting any wall or 
Obstructed on column, or 
One Side structure on one 

side 
Accessible Space 3.7 5.2 -

29 

181



Two (2) 2.6 m common 
Accessible 2.6 ea. 5.2 space between 
Spaces Side by accessible spaces 
Side 

3.3 Accessible Parking 

a) Accessible parking spaces shall be provided al the following rate: 

Number of Number of Number of Number of Accessible 
Reguired Accessible Required Parking S[:!aces 
Standard Parking S12aces Standard 

Parkina Soaces Parkina Soaces 
1-25 1 151-200 7 

26-50 2 201 -300 8 
51-75 3 301 -400 10 
76-100 4 401-500 12 

101 -150 6 501 and over 2% of the reguired Qarking 

3.4 Parking Location 

a) Required parking shall be provided on the same lot as the use requiring 
the parking; or 

b) On any lot that is not a road or lane and is presently zoned to permit 
parking and is located within 46 metres of the lot occupied by the bui lding 
or structure or use for which the parking spaces are required. 

3.5 Parking Area 

a) Every parking area, loading space and driveway connecting a parking 
area to a road shall be maintained with a hard surface. 

b) On a residential lot with 4 or fewer dwelling units the following provisions 
shall apply: 

i) Maximum Parking Area Coverage 

ii ) Maximum Width 

3.6 Encroachment into Yards 

50 percent 

7.5 metres or 50% of the 
lot frontage, whichever is 
less 

a) A parking space, bicycle parking space, or parking area is permitted within 
any yard but is not permitted within a required landscape buffer, a 
landscape open space area or a sight triangle. 

30 

182



3.7 Ingress and Egress Standards 

a) Required parking spaces shall have adequate access, from an improved 
or unimproved road, to permit ingress and egress of a motor vehicle by 
means of driveways, aisles, maneuvering areas, or similar area and 
except in the case of tandem parking in a driveway to a single detached, 
semi-detached, duplex or triplex dwelling, no part of this access is to be 
used for the temporary parking or storage of any motor vehicle. 

b) Driveways shall have a minimum unobstructed width of 7.5 metres where 
two-way traffic is permitted and 3 metres where only one-way direction of 
traffic flow is permitted, except that the minimum width of a driveway 
accessory to a detached dwelling shall be 2.6 metres. 

3.8 Additions to Existing Buildings with Legal Non-Conforming Parking 

a) In the case of expansion of a building or structure that legally does not 
meet the parking requirements, the parking standards related to the 
expansion must be adhered to, but the parking deficiency of the original 
building or structure does not have to be corrected and can remain legally. 

3.9 Parking Prohibitions 

a) No person shall park, permit or cause to be parked a motor vehicle, 
recreational vehicle, or a utility trailer on a lot other than in a parking area 
that complies with the provisions of this By-Law. 

3.9.1 Large Motor Vehicle 

a) No person shall in any Residential, Institutional, Public or Mixed Use Zone 
use any lot for parking or storage of any large motor vehicle as defined in 
Section 38 unless the vehicle is a delivery vehicle temporarily parked in 
the course of its normal delivery duty. 

3.9.2 Recreation Vehicle, Boat, Recreation Trailer, Utility Trailer 

a) No recreation vehicle, boat, or utility trailer shall be located in a front 
and/or corner side yard parking area in any residential zone, except where 
no off-street parking space is available or can be provided in the interior 
side or rear yard, they may be permitted in the front yard and/or corner 
side yard parking area provided they are set back a minimum of 1.5 
metres from the front and/or corner side yard lot line on an in-season 
basis from May 15 to October 15 of each year. 

b) No recreation vehicle, boat, or utility trailer shall be located in a required 
sight triangle on a corner lot. 

31 

183



3.1 0 Loading Spaces 

a) Loading spaces shall be located entirely on the same lot as the building 
for which such loading spaces are required , and shall not encroach into 
any required driveways, parking areas or internal roads. Loading spaces 
shall be located in an interior side yard or rear yard and no closer any road 
than the building. 

b) No loading space shall be located within a required yard that abuts a 
Residential Zone. 

c) Access to loading spaces shall be by means of a driveway at least 3.5 
metres in width, contained within the lot on which the loading spaces are 
located and leading to either an improved or unimproved road or lane not 
less than 7.5 metres in width. 

d) A loading space shall be a minimum of 3.5 metres by 9 metres with a 
minimum clearance height of 4 metres. 

3.11 Landscape Provisions for Parking Areas 

3.11.1 Landscape Buffer Provisions 

a) A landscape buffer shall be provided between the edge of any parking 
area and an abutting lot line(s) in accordance with the following table: 

Parking area Parking area with Parking area with 
with 5 to 20 more than 20 100 or greater 
parking spaces parking spaces but parking spaces 

fewer than 100 
Lot Line Abutting a Public 3m 3m 6m 
Road 
Lot Line Not Abutting a - 3m 3m 
Public Road 
Lot Line Abutting a 3m 3m 4m 
Residential, Institutional or 
Public and Park Zone 

3.11.2 Minimum Landscaped Open Space within Parking Areas 

a) A minimum landscaped open space equal to 10% of the parking 
area shall be required within all parking areas with 100 or more 
parking spaces. 

32 

184



3.12 Drive-Thru Facility 

a) A drive-thru facility shall be subject to the following provisions: 

i) a minimum 3 m wide landscape buffer shall be provided between a 
drive-thru facility and a public road; and 

ii) Shall be located no closer than 7.5 m to a Residential, Institutional 
or Public and Park zone. 

3. 12.1 Drive-Thru Facility Stacking Lanes 

a) The minimum number of stacking lane parking spaces for drive-thru 
facilities shal l be: 

Use Min. number of stacking lane tandem parking spaces 
Restaurant, Fast Food 10 Spaces 
All other uses 3 Spaces 

3.13 Bicycle Parking Spaces 

a) Bicycle parking spaces must be located on the same lot as the use for 
which it is provided; 

b) Each bicycle parking space shall be a minimum 1.8 min length and 0.3 m 
in width; and 

c) Shall be located at a principle entrance of a building 

3.13.1 Required Bicycle Parking 

Use Minimum Number of Bicycle Parking 
Spaces 

Residential Buildings with 10 or more 6 Spaces plus 1 for every additional 10 
dwelling units dwell inQ units above 20 
Place of Assembly/Banquet Hall, 1 space per 1000 square metres of gross 
Recreation Facility, Place of Worship* floor area 
Retail and Service Commercial 1 space per 1000 square metres gross 

floor area 
Office 1 space per 1000 square metres gross 

floor area 
Light Industry 1 space per 1000 square metres gross 

floor area 
Heavy Industry 1 space per 1000 square metres gross 

floor area 
Hotel 6 spaces plus 1 space per 10 guest 

rooms 
33 

185



Restaurant, Fast-Food or 1 space per 170 square metres gross 
Restaurant, Full-Serve floor area 
All other non-residential uses listed in the 1 space per 1000 square metres 
Zonina Bv-law but not soecified above 

Applies only to the portion of the building dedicated to the assembly of persons. 

3.14 Stand Alone Parking Lot 

a) Where permitted by Section 36 Special Provisions, a stand-alone parking 
lot shall have a minimum lot frontage of 12 m and shall be subject to all 
other provisions of this By-law. 

34 

186



Section 4: Establishment of Zones 

4.1 List of Zone Names and Symbols 

Zone Symbol 

R1 
R2 
R3 
R4 
RT 
RR 
LR 
HR 
RD 
HD 
R 
AR 
A 
APO 
NC 
HMC 
MU 
CP 
DC 
HC 
MC 
LI 
HI 
MAO 
GI 
ID 
I 
p 
VR 
EP 
H 

Zone Name 

First Density Residential 
Second Density Residential 
Thi rd Density Residential 
Fourth Density Residential 
Residential Townhouse 
Rural Residential 
Lakeshore Residential 
Hamlet Residential 
Residential Development 
Hamlet Development 
Rural 
Agricultural Residential 
Agricultural 
Agricultural Purposes Only 
Neighbourhood Commercial 
Hamlet Commercial 
Mixed Use 
Commercial Plaza 
Downtown Commercial 
Highway Commercial 
Marine Commercial 
Light Industrial 
Heavy Industrial 
Mineral Aggregate Operation 
Gateway Industrial 
Industrial Development 
Institutional 
Public and Park 
Vacation Residential 
Environmental Protection 
Hazard 

4.2 List of Zone Layers 

Zone Symbol 
EC 

Zone Name 
Environmental Conservation 

35 

187



4.3 Special Provisions 

a) Where special provisions are established for certain lots, the applicable 
regulations of the special provisions apply in addition to, or as exception 
to, the normal zone provisions that apply to the subject lot(s). 

b) Where on Schedule A to this By-law, a zone symbol (e.g. R1) applying to 
lots contains a suffix at the end of the zone symbol consisting of a dash 
and number (e.g. R 1-1 ), this indicates that a special provision applies to 
the subject lot(s). The number after the dash corresponds with the special 
provision number as set out in Section 37. 

c) Lots with special exceptions are identified in Section 37. 

4.4 Holding (H) Provisions 

a) Where a zone symbol contains the suffix "H" with or without a special 
provision (e.g. R1-H or R1-1-H), the zoning shall not take effect until the 
prescribed conditions are met and the "H" is removed from the subject 
lot(s). 

b) When the amending by-law removing the "H" Holding symbol from a zone 
is enacted, the permitted uses and regulations for that lot shall apply. 

c) Until such time as the prescribed conditions are met, the identified lot shall 
only be used for the existing permitted use as of the date of this By-law 
not including the expansion of the existing permitted use, or other uses as 
set out in the Holding provision(S). 

d) Lots with Holding provisions, including the conditions required to be 
satisfied prior to the removal of the Holding (H) Zone symbol are identified 
in Section 37. 

4.4.1 Development Holding (DH) Provisions 

a) Where a zone symbol contains the suffix "DH" with or without a special 
provision (e.g. R1-DH or R1-1-DH), the zoning shall not take effect until 
the prescribed conditions are met including any special studies as 
determined by staff which may include, but not be limited to: 

i) Planning Justification Report 
ii) Land Use/Market Needs Study 
iii) Urban Design/Landscape Plans 
iv) Archaeology and Cultural Heritage Assessment 
v) Heritage Impact Analysis 
vi) Environmental Impact Study 
vii) Air Quality/Noise and Vibration Study 
viii) Environmental Planning Study or Sub-Watershed Study 
ix) Tree Preservation Plan 

36 

188



x) Floodplain and Hazard Lands Report 
xi) Geotechnical and Slope Stability Report 
xii) Environmental Site Assessment 
xiii) Agricultural Impact Assessment 
xiv) Farm Operation and Ownership 
xv) Minimum Distance Separation I & II 
xvi) Municipal Servicing Study 
xvii) Stormwater Management Plan 
xviii) Traffic/Parking Impact Analysis 
xix) Hydrogeological Study and Private Servicing Plans 
xx) Financial Impact Assessment 
xxi) Alternative Sites for Non-Agricultural Uses 
xxiii) Mineral Aggregate Resources 
xxiv) Site Plan Agreement 
xxv) Subdivision Agreement 

b) When the amending by-law removing the "DH" Holding symbol from a 
zone is enacted, the permitted uses and regulations for that lot shall apply. 

c) Until such time as the prescribed conditions are met, the identified lot shall 
only be used for the existing permitted use as of the date of this By-law 
not including the expansion of the existing permitted use, or other uses as 
set out in the Holding provision(s). 

4.4.2 Conversion Holding (CH) Provisions 

a) Where a zone symbol contains the suffix "CH" with or without a special 
provision (e.g. R1-CH or R1-1-CH), the zoning shall not take effect until 
the prescribed conditions are met including obtaining a Record of Site 
Condition from the Ministry of the Environment. 

b) When the amending by-law removing the "CH" Holding symbol from a 
zone is enacted, the permitted uses and regulations for that lot shall apply. 

c) Until such time as the prescribed conditions are met, the identified lot shall 
only be used for the existing permitted use as of the date of this By-law 
not including the expansion of the existing permitted use, or other uses as 
set out in the Holding provision{s). 

37 

189



Section 5: First Density Residential Zone (R1) 

5.1 General 

a) No person shall use any lot or erect, alter or use any building or structure 
in any First Density Residential (R1) Zone except in accordance with the 
applicable provisions of Sections 2, 3 and 5. 

b) In addition to Section 5 .1 (a), any lot may be subject to additional 
regulations or restrictions by the City, upper tier government or agencies 
as indicated in Section 1.3. 

5.2 Permitted Uses 

5.3 

a) Dwelling, Detached; and 

b) Uses, structures and buildings accessory thereto 

Zone Requirements - Dwelling, Detached 

a) 

b) 

c) 

d) 

e) 

f) 

g) 

h) 

i) 

j) 

Minimum Lot Frontage 

Minimum Lot Frontage - Corner Lot 

Minimum Lot Area 

Minimum Front Yard 

Minimum Interior Side Yard 

Minimum Corner Side Yard 

Minimum Rear Yard 

Maximum Lot Coverage 

Maximum Height 

Minimum Landscaped Area 

15 metres 

17 metres 

0.05 hectares 

6.5 metres 

1.5 metres 

3.5 metres 

7 metres except the 
minimum rear yard which 
includes the 
Environmental Protection 
Zone shall be 30 metres 
from the 1 in 100 year 
flood line as determined by 
the Niagara Peninsula 
Conservation Authority 

40 percent 

11 metres 

25 percent 

k) No accessory building or structure shall be erected in any required 
minimum front or corner side yard on any lot that abuts the Lake Erie 
shoreline. 

38 

190



Section 6: Second Density Residential Zone (R2) 

6.1 General 

6.2 

6.3 

6.4 

a) No person shall use any lot or erect, alter or use any building or structure 
in any Second Density Residential (R2) Zone except in accordance with 
the applicable provisions of Sections 2, 3 and 6 . 

b) In addition to Section 6 .1 (a), any lot may be subject to additional 
regulations or restrictions by the City, upper tier government or agencies 
as indicated in Section 1.3. 

Permitted Uses 

a) Dwelling, Detached; 

b) Dwelling, Duplex, 

b) Dwelling, Semi-detached; and 

d) Uses, structures and buildings accessory thereto 

Zone Requirements - Dwelling, Detached 

a) Minimum Lot Frontage 12 metres 

b) Minimum Lot Frontage - Corner Lot 15 metres 

c) Minimum Lot Area 0.04 hectares 

d) Minimum Front Yard 6.5 metres 

e) Minimum Interior Side Yard 1 metre 

f) Minimum Corner Side Yard 3.5 metres 

g) Minimum Rear Yard 6 metres 

h) Maximum Lot Coverage 50 percent 

i) Maximum Height 11 metres 

j) Minimum Landscaped Area 25 percent 

Zone Requirements - Dwelling, Duplex 

a) Minimum Lot Frontage 18 metres 

b) Minimum Lot Area 0.05 hectares 

c) Minimum Front Yard 6.5 metres 

d) Minimum Interior Side Yard 1.2 metres 

39 

191



6.5 

e) Minimum Corner Side Yard 

f) Minimum Rear Yard 

g) Maximum Lot Coverage 

h) Maximum Height 

i) Minimum Landscaped Area 

Zone Requirements - Dwelling, Semi-Detached 

a) 

b) 

c) 

d) 

e) 

f) 

g) 

h) 

i) 

Minimum Lot Frontage 

Minimum Lot Area 

Minimum Front Yard 

Minimum Interior Side Yard 

Minimum Corner Side Yard 

Minimum Rear Yard 

Maximum Lot Coverage 

Maximum Height 

Minimum Landscaped Area 

3 metres 

6 metres 

50 percent 

11 metres 

25 percent 

18 metres 

0.05 hectares 

6.5 metres 

1.2 metres 

3 metres 

6 metres 

50 percent 

11 metres 

25 percent 

j) Common walls shall be centred on the common lot line 

k) Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 6.5, nothing shall prevent the 
splitting of any lot on which a semi-detached dwelling is erected into 2 
parts divided in part by the centre line of the common or party wall 
separating the dwelling units in such dwelling provided that each until shall 
have a minimum lot area of 0.02 hectares 

I) There is no minimum interior side yard and/or rear yard for common walls. 

40 

192



Section 7: Third Density Residential Zone (R3) 

7.1 General 

7.2 

7.3 

a) No person shall use any lot or erect, alter or use any building or structure 
in any Third Density Residential (R3) Zone except in accordance with the 
applicable provisions of Sections 2 , 3 and 7. 

b) In addition to Section 7.1 (a), any lot may be subject to additional 
regulations or restrictions by the City, upper tier government or agencies 
as indicated in Section 1.3. 

Permitted Uses 

a) Dwelling, Detached; 

Dwelling, Semi-detached; 

b) Dwelling, Duplex; 

c) Dwelling , Triplex; 

d) Dwelling, Fourplex; 

e) Townhouse, Block; 

f) Townhouse, Street; and 

h) Uses, structures and buildings accessory thereto 

Zone Requirements - Dwelling, Semi-Detached 

a) 

b) 

c) 

d) 

e) 

f) 

g) 

h) 

i) 

Minimum Lot Frontage 

Minimum Lot Area 

Minimum Front Yard 

Minimum Interior Side Yard 

Minimum Corner Side Yard 

Minimum Rear Yard 

Maximum Lot Coverage 

Maximum Height 

Minimum Landscaped Area 

18 metres 

0.05 hectares 

6.5 metres 

1.2 metres 

3 metres 

6 metres 

50 percent 

11 metres 

25 percent 

j) Common walls shall be centred on the common lot line. 

k) There is no minimum interior side yard and/or rear yard for common walls . 

41 

193



I) Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 7.3, nothing shall prevent the 
splitting of any lot on which a semi-detached dwelling is erected into 2 
parts divided in part by the centre line of the common or party wall 
separating the dwelling units in such dwelling provided that each unit shal l 
have a minimum lot area of 0.02 hectares 

7.4 Zone Requirements - Dwelling, Duplex 

a) Minimum Lot Frontage 18 metres 

b) Minimum Lot Area 0.05 hectares 

c) Minimum Front Yard 6.5 metres 

d) Minimum Interior Side Yard 1.2 metres 

e) Minimum Corner Side Yard 3 metres 

f) Minimum Rear Yard 6 metres 

g) Maximum Lot Coverage 50 percent 

h) Maximum Height 11 metres 

i) Minimum Landscaped Area 25 percent 

7.5 Zone Requirements - Dwelling, Triplex 

a) Minimum Lot Frontage 18 metres 

b) Minimum Lot Area per Unit 125 square metres 

c) Minimum Front Yard 9 metres 

d) Minimum Interior Side Yard 1.2 metres 

e) Minimum Corner Side Yard 3 metres 

f) Minimum Rear Yard 6 metres 

g) Maximum Lot Coverage 40 percent 

h) Maximum Height 11 metres 

i) Minimum Landscaped Area 25 percent 

7.6 Zone Requirements - Dwelling, Fourplex 

a) Minimum Lot Frontage 18 metres 

b) Minimum Lot Area per Unit 125 square metres 

c) Minimum Front Yard 9 metres 

42 

194



d) Minimum Interior Side Yard 1.2 metres 

e) Minimum Corner Side Yard 3 metres 

f) Minimum Rear Yard 6 metres 

g) Maximum Lot Coverage 40 percent 

h) Maximum Height 11 metres 

i) Minimum Landscaped Area 25 percent 

7.7 Zone Requirements - Townhouse, Block 

a) Minimum Lot Frontage per Unit 6 metres 

b) Minimum Lot Area 0.02 hectares 

c) Minimum Front Yard 7.5 metres 

d) Minimum Interior Side Yard 3 metres 

e) Minimum Corner Side Yard 4.5 metres 

f) Minimum Rear Yard 6 metres 

g) Maximum Height 11 metres 

h) Minimum Landscaped Area 25 percent 

i) A 3 metre planting strip shall be requi red when a Townhouse development 
abuts the boundary of the Residential Fi rst Density, Residential Second 
Density or Residential Third Density Zone. 

j) Common walls shall be centred on the common lot line. 

k) There is no minimum interior side yard and/or rear yard for common walls . 

7.8 Zone Requirements - Townhouse, Street 

a) Minimum Lot Frontage per Unit 6 metres 

b) Minimum Lot Area 0.02 hectares 

c) Minimum Front Yard 7.5 metres 

d) Minimum Interior Side Yard 3 metres 

e) Minimum Corner Side Yard 4.5 metres 

f) Minimum Rear Yard 6 metres 

g) Maximum Height 11 metres 

43 

195



h) Minimum Landscaped Area 25 percent 

i) A 3 metre planting strip shall be required when a Townhouse development 
abuts the boundary of the Residential First Density, Residential Second 
Density or Residential Third Density Zone 

j) Common walls shall be centred on the common lot line. 

k) There is no minimum interior side yard and/or rear yard for common walls. 

7.9 Zone Requirements - Dwell ing, Detached 

The zone requirements of the Second Density Residential (R2) zone shall apply. 

44 

196



Section 8: Fourth Density Residential Zone (R4) 

8.1 General 

a) No person shall use any lot or erect, alter or use any building or structure 
in any Fourth Density Residential (R4) Zone except in accordance with the 
applicable provisions of Sections 2, 3 and 8. 

b) In addition to Section 8.1 (a), any lot may be subject to additional 
regulations or restrictions by the City, upper tier government or agencies 
as indicated in Section 1.3. 

8.2 Permitted Uses 

__ a) Dwelling, Detached 

__ bl Dwelling, Semi-Detached 

c}. Dwelling Triplex· __.-{ Deleted: a) 

=d .... l._-'D=-w;:.:..::.e:..:..:lli;.:,ng.,"''-'F--=o:..::u"'"rp"-'l-=-ex'-'-';'--------------------i.---1 Deleted: b) 

fil Dwelling, Townhouse Block; Deleted: c) 

fl. Dwell ing, Townhouse Street; Deleted: d) 

g). Apartment Buildings; Deleted: e) 

g}. Apartment Buildings, Public; and Deleted: f) 

bl_ Uses, structures and buildings accessory thereto Deleted: g) 

8.3 Zone Requirements - Dwelling, Triplex 

a) Minimum Lot Frontage 18 metres 

b) Minimum Lot Area per Unit 125 square metres 

c) Minimum Front Yard 9 metres 

d) Minimum Interior Side Yard 1.2 metres 

e) Minimum Corner Side Yard 3 metres 

f) Minimum Rear Yard 6 metres 

g) Maximum Lot Coverage 40 percent 

h) Maximum Height 11 metres 

i) Minimum Landscaped Area 25 percent 

8.4 Zone Requirements - Dwelling, Fourplex 

45 

I 

I 

J 

I 

I 

197



a) Minimum Lot Frontage 18 metres 

b) Minimum Lot Area per Unit 125 square metres 

c) Minimum Front Yard 9 metres 

d) Minimum Interior Side Yard 1.2 metres 

e) Minimum Corner Side Yard 3 metres 

f) Minimum Rear Yard 6 metres 

g) Maximum Lot Coverage 40 percent 

h) Maximum Height 11 metres 

i) Minimum Landscaped Area 25 percent 

8.5 Zone Requirements - Dwelling, Townhouse Block 

a) Minimum Lot Frontage per Unit 6 metres 

b) Minimum Lot Area 0.02 hectares 

c) Minimum Front Yard 7.5 metres 

d) Minimum Interior Side Yard 3 metres 

e) Minimum Corner Side Yard 4.5 metres 

f) Minimum Rear Yard 6 metres 

g) Maximum Height 11 metres 

h) Minimum Landscaped Area 25 percent 

i) A 3 metre planting strip shall be required when a Townhouse development 
abuts the boundary of the Residential First Density, Residential Second 
Density or Residential Third Density Zone. 

j) Common walls shall be centred on the common lot line. 

k) There is no minimum interior side yard and/or rear yard for common walls. 

8.6 Zone Requirements - Dwelling, Townhouse Street 

a) Minimum Lot Frontage per Unit 6 metres 

b} Minimum Lot Area 0.02 hectares 

c) Minimum Front Yard 7.5 metres 

d) Minimum Interior Side Yard 3 metres 

46 

198



e) Minimum Corner Side Yard 4.5 metres 

f) Minimum Rear Yard 6 metres 

g) Maximum Height 11 metres 

h) Minimum Landscaped Area 25 percent 

i) A 3 metre planting strip shall be required when a Townhouse development 
abuts the boundary of the Residential First Density, Residential Second 
Density or Residential Third Density Zone. 

j) Common walls shall be centred on the common lot line. 

k) There is no minimum interior side yard and/or rear yard for common walls. 

8.7 Zone Requirements - Apartment Buildings, Apartment Buildings, Public 

a) Minimum Lot Frontage 18 metres 

b) Minimum Lot Area per Unit 125 square metres 

c) Minimum Front Yard 9 metres 

d) Minimum Interior Side Yard 3 metres 

e) Minimum Corner Side Yard 7.5 metres 

f) Minimum Rear Yard 6 metres 

g) Maximum Lot Coverage 40 percent 

h) Maximum Height 20 metres 

i) Minimum Landscaped Area 25 percent 

j) Minimum Floor Area for a Unit 50 square metres 

8.8 Zone Reguirements - Detached Dwelling 

The zone requirements of the First Density Residential (R1 l zone shall apply. 

8.9 Zone Requirements - Semi-Detached Dwelling 

The zone requirements of the Third Density Residential (R3) zone shall apoly. 

47 

199



Section 9: Residential Townhouse Zone (RT) 

9.1 General 

a) No person shall use any lot or erect, alter or use any building or structure 
in any Residential Townhouse (RT) Zone except in accordance with the 
applicable provisions of Sections 2, 3 and 9. 

b) In addition to Section 9.1 (a), any lot may be subject to additional 
regulations or restrictions by the City, upper tier government or agencies 
as indicated in Section 1.3. 

9.2 Permitted Uses 

a) Dwelling, Townhouse Block; 

b) Dwelling, Townhouse Street; and 

c) Uses, structures and buildings accessory thereto 

9.3 Zone Requirements - Dwelling, Townhouse Block 

a) 

b) 

c) 

d) 

e) 

f) 

g) 

h) 

Minimum Lot Frontage per Unit 

Minimum Lot Area 

Minimum Front Yard 

Minimum Interior Side Yard 

Minimum Corner Side Yard 

Minimum Rear Yard 

Maximum Height 

Minimum Landscaped Area 

6 metres 

0.02 hectares 

7.5 m·etres 

3 metres 

4.5 metres 

6 metres 

11 metres 

25 percent 

i) A 3 metre planting strip shall be required when a Townhouse development 
abuts the boundary of the Residential First Density, Residential Second 
Density or Residential Third Density Zone. 

j) Common walls shall be centred on the common lot line. 

k) There is no minimum interior side yard and/or rear yard for common walls. 

9.4 Zone Requirements - Dwelling, Townhouse Street 

a) 

b) 

c) 

Minimum Lot Frontage per Unit 

Minimum Lot Area 

Minimum Front Yard 

6 metres 

0.02 hectares 

7.5 metres 

48 

200



d) 

e) 

f) 

g) 

h) 

Minimum Interior Side Yard 

Minimum Corner Side Yard 

Minimum Rear Yard 

Maximum Height 

Minimum Landscaped Area 

3 metres 

4.5 metres 

6 metres 

11 metres 

25 percent 

i) A 3 metre planting strip shall be required when a Townhouse development 
abuts the boundary of the Residential First Density, Residential Second 
Density or Residential Third Density Zone. 

j) Common walls shall be centred on the common lot line. 

k) There is no minimum interior side yard and/or rear yard for common walls. 

49 

201



Section 10: Rural Residential Zone (RR) 

10.1 General 

a) No person shall use any lot or erect, alter or use any building or structure 
in any Rural Residential (RR) Zone except in accordance with the 
applicable provisions of Sections 2, 3 and 10. 

b) In addition to Section 10.1 (a), any lot may be subject to additional 
regulations or restrictions by the City, upper tier government or agencies 
as indicated in Section 1 .3. 

10.2 Permitted Uses 

a) Dwelling, Detached; 

b) Uses, structures and buildings accessory thereto 

10.3 Zone Requirements - Dwelling Detached 

a) Minimum Lot Frontage 45 metres 

b) Minimum Lot Area 0.4 hectares or as existing 

c) Minimum Front Yard 10 metres 

d) Minimum Interior Side Yard 4 metres 

e) Minimum Corner Side Yard 7.5 metres 

f) Minimum Rear Yard 9 metres 

g) Maximum Lot Coverage 1 §. ~ercent 

h) Maximum Height 11 metres 

50 

__..--{ Deleted: o 

202



Section 11: Lakeshore Residential Zone (LR) 

11 .1 General 

a) No person shall use any lot or erect, alter or use any building or structure 
in any Lakeshore Residential (LR) Zone except in accordance with the 
applicable provisions of Sections 2, 3 and 11. 

b) In addition to Section 11 .1 (a), any lot may be subject to additional 
regulations or restrictions by the City, upper tier government or agencies 
as indicated in Section 1.3. 

11 .2 Permitted Uses 

a) Dwelling, Detached; 

b) Uses, structures and buildings accessory thereto 

11.3 Zone Requirements - Dwelling Detached or Dwelling, Seasonal 

a) Minimum Lot Frontage 30 metres 

b) Minimum Lot Area 0.4 hectares or as existing 

11.4 

c) Minimum Front Yard 10 metres 

d) Minimum Interior Side Yard 3 metres 

e) Minimum Corner Side Yard 4.5 metres 

f) Minimum Rear Yard 7 metres except the 
minimum rear yard which 
includes the 
Environmental Protection 
(EP) Zone shall be 30 
metres from the 1-in-100 
year flood line as 
determined by the Niagara 
Peninsula Conservation 
Authority. 

g) Maximum Lot Coverage 1§. percent 

h) Maximum Height 11 metres 

Additional Zone Requirements - Accessory Structures 

a) A boat house shall be permitted with no rear yard . 

b) No accessory building or structure shall be erected in any required 
minimum front or corner side yard. 

1---------i Deleted: o 

51 

203



Section 12: Hamlet Residential Zone (HR) 

12.1 General 

a) No person shall use any lot or erect, alter or use any building or structure 
in any Hamlet Residential (HR) Zone except in accordance with the 
applicable provisions of Sections 2, 3 and 12. 

b) In addition to Section 12.1 (a), any lot may be subject to additional 
regulations or restrictions by the City, upper tier government or agencies 
as indicated in Section 1.3. 

12.2 Permitted Uses 

a) Dwelling, Detached; 

b) Uses, structures and buildings accessory thereto 

12.3 Zone Requirements - Dwelling Detached 

a) Minimum Lot Frontage 45 metres 

b) Minimum Lot Area 0.4 hectares or as existing 

c) Minimum Front Yard 10 metres 

d) Minimum Interior Side Yard 4 metres 

e) Minimum Corner Side Yard 7.5 metres 

f) Minimum Rear Yard 9 metres 

g) Maximum Lot Coverage 1~ Qercent 

h) Maximum Height 11 metres 

52 

__.{ Deleted: O 

204



Section 13: Residential Development Zone (RD) 

13.1 General 

a) No person shall use any lot or erect, alter or use any building or structure 
in any Residential Development (RD) Zone except in accordance with the 
applicable provisions of Sections 2, 3 and 13. 

b) In addition to Section 13.1 (a), any lot may be subject to additional 
regulations or restrictions by the City, upper tier government or agencies 
as indicated in Section 1.3. 

13.2 Permitted Uses 

a) 

b) 

Dwelling, Detached I______...{ Deleted: Exisling uses ooty: 

, uses, structures and building,_s_a_c_c_e_ss_o_rv.~_t_he_r_e_to ________ _, _ ______...{ Deleted: Exisling 

13.3 Zone Requirements - Dwelling Detached 

a) Minimum Lot Frontage 30m ~-------!_______...{ Deleted: as existing 

b) Minimum Lot Area as existing 

c) Minimum Front Yard Bm _ ..__ ______ _ _ ,_______...{ Deleted: as existing 

d) Minimum Interior Side Yard fun Deleted: as existing 

e) Minimum Corner Side Yard fun. ~..__ ________ 
1
,______...{ Deleted: as existing 

f) Minimum Rear Yard fun. ~..__ _ ___ ____ 
1
______...{ Deleted: as existing 

g) Maximum Lot Coverage 10 percent ~~~~.._ _____ 
1
______...{ Deleted: as existing 

h) Maximum Height 11 !!\ ~-.. _ _ _ _____ 
1
______...{ Deleted: as existing 

53 

205



Section 14: Hamlet Development Zone (HD) 

14.1 General 

a) No person shall use any lot or erect, alter or use any building or structure 
In any Hamlet Development (HD) Zone except in accordance with the 
applicable provisions of Sections 2, 3 and 14. 

b) In addition to Section 14.1 (a), any lot may be subject to additional 
regulations or restrictions by the City, upper tier government or agencies 
as indicated in Section 1.3. 

14.2 Permitted Uses 

a) Existing uses only; 

b) ""' u=s'"-"e"'s_,__, -=-st"-r-=-uc=t-=-u'-'re'"""s'--'a"'n-'-'d'--=-bu=i-'-'ld'""in-"'g'-'s'-"-ac=c=e"'s""s""o'"""ry'-t""'h""e'""'re'""'to""---------~----1 Deleted: Exisling 

14.3 Zone Requirements - Dwelling Detached 

a) Minimum Lot Frontage 30m or as existing 

b) Minimum Lot Area as existing 

c) Minimum Front Yard Sm. _.--{ Deleted : as exlsling 

d) Minimum Interior Side Yard 5!II, _.--{ Deleted : as exlsling 

e) Minimum Corner Side Yard .§m._ _.--{ Deleted: as exlsling 

f) Minimum Rear Yard fun. --1 Deleted: as exisling 

g) Maximum Lot Coverage 10 12ercen~ --1 Deleted: as exisling 

h) Maximum Height 11 !II. __.-1 Deleted : as existing 

54 

206



Section 15: Rural (RU) 

15.1 General 

a) No person shall use any lot or erect, alter or use any building or structure 
in any Rural (RU) Zone except in accordance with the applicable 
provisions of Sections 2, 3 and 15. 

b) In addition to Section 15.1 (a), any lot may be subject to additional 
regulations or restrictions by the City, upper tier government or agencies 
as indicated in Section 1.3. 

15.2 Permitted Uses 

a) Accessory Agricultural Activities; 

b) Agriculture Use; 

c) Agri-tourism and Value Added Uses; 

d) Conservation Uses; 

e) Dwelling, detached existing at the date of the passing of this By-law as a 
principal use on a new lot; 

f) Dwelling, detached as a principal use on an existing lot of record ; 

g) Kennel; 

h) Medical Marihuana Production Facility; and 

i) Uses, structures and buildings accessory thereto 

15.3 Zone Requirements 

a) Minimum Lot Frontage 30 metres or as existing 

b) Minimum Lot Area 0.4 hectares or as existing 

c) Minimum Front Yard 8 metres 

d) Minimum Interior Side Yard 5 metres 

e) Minimum Corner Side Yard 8 metres 

f) Minimum Rear Yard 8 metres 

g) Maximum Lot Coverage 10 percent 

h) Maximum Height 11 metres 

55 

207



15.4 Zone Requirements - Agriculture Uses 

a) Minimum Lot Frontage 30 metres or as existing 

b) Minimum Lot Area as existing 

c) Minimum Front Yard 8 metres 

d) Minimum Interior Side Yard 5 metres 

e) Minimum Corner Side Yard 8 metres 

f) Minimum Rear Yard 8 metres 

g) Maximum Lot Coverage 10 percent 

h) Maximum Height 11 metres 

15.5 Zone Requirements - Dwelling Detached 

a) Minimum Lot Frontage 30 metres or as existing 

b) Minimum Lot Area as existing 

c) Minimum Front Yard 8 metres 

d) Minimum Interior Side Yard 5 metres 

e) Minimum Corner Side Yard 8 metres 

f) Minimum Rear Yard 8 metres 

g) Maximum Lot Coverage 10 percent 

h) Maximum Height 11 metres 

15.6 Zone Requirements - Accessory Structures to Dwellings 

a) Maximum Lot Coverage 1 percent, provided the lot 
coverage or all buildings 
and structures on the lot 
does not exceed 1 0 
percent 

b) Minimum Side Yard 3 metres except the 
minimum side yard 
abutting a street shall be 
7.5 metres 

c) Minimum Rear Yard 3 metres except the 
minimum side yard 
abutting a street shall be 
7.5 metres 

56 

208



d) Minimum Distance from a Dwelling 3 metres 

e) Maximum Building Height 4.6 metres 

15.7 Zone Requirements - Kennels 

a) Minimum Lot Area 1.6 hectares 

b) Minimum Lot Frontage 75 metres 

c) Minimum Front Yard 50 metres or behind the 
front building line of the 
main building on the lot, 
whichever is greater 

d) Minimum Side Yard 25 metres 

e) Minimum Rear Yard 30 metres 

f) Minimum Distance to Adjacent Dwellings 160 metres 

g) Maximum Lot Coverage 20 percent 

h) Kennels shall be permitted in an accessory structure and may include an 
enclosed outdoor exercise area or pen. 

15.8 Zone Requirements - Medical Marihuana Production Facility 

a) Minimum Lot Frontage 75 metres 

b) Minimum Lot Area Permitted only on an 
existing lot having a 
minimum size of 3 
hectares 

c) Maximum Lot Coverage 

i) Lots less than 5 hectares 30 percent 

ii) Lots 5 hectares to 10 he9tares 10 percent 

iii) Lots greater than 10 hectares 5 percent 

d) Minimum Front Yard 30 metres 

e) Minimum Interior Side Yard 16 metres 

f) Minimum Corner Side Yard 30 metres 

g) Minimum Rear Yard 30 metres 

h) Minimum Separation to Sensitive Land Use 150 metres 

57 

209



i) Where a lot line of a lot containing a Medical Marihuana Production 
Facility abuts a sensitive land use, then that part of said lot directly 
adjoining such lot line shall be used for no purpose other than a planting 
strip having a minimum width of 1.5 metres, measured perpendicularly to 
said lot line. 

j) Outside storage of goods, materials or other supplies is not permitted. 

k) Where a building or structure consists of more than 40% glass and where 
artificial lighting is required an opaque fence shall be provided and 
maintained adjacent to every portion of any lot line that abuts a sensitive 
land use. 

I) 1 parking space shall be provided for every employee on the largest shift. 

m) Servicing for the facility shall be designed by a Qualified Professional, 
identifying the source of irrigation water, water quantities required and the 
effects of same on the groundwater table and nearby wells. 

58 

210



Section 16: Agricultural Residential Zone (AR) 

16.1 General 

a) No person shall use any lot or erect, alter or use any building or structure 
in any Agricultural Residential (AR) Zone except in accordance with the 
applicable provisions of Sections 2, 3 and 16. 

b) In addition to Section 16.1 (a), any lot may be subject to additional 
regulations or restrictions by the City, upper tier government o r agencies 
as indicated in Section 1.3. 

16.2 Permitted Uses 

a) Dwelling, Detached; 

b) Uses, structures and buildings accessory thereto 

16.3 Zone Requirements - Dwelling Detached 

a) 

b) 

c) 

d) 

e) 

f) 

g) 

h) 

Minimum Lot Frontage 

Minimum Lot Area 

Minimum Front Yard 

Minimum Interior Side Yard 

Minimum Corner Side Yard 

Minimum Rear Yard 

Maximum Lot Coverage 

Maximum Height 

45 metres 

0.4 hectares unless a 
larger lot area is require to 
accommodate private 
services as determined by 
a qualified professional. 

10 metres 

4 metres 

7.5 metres 

9 metres 

1.~0~p_e_rc_e_nt _____ _,,_____.t Deleted: s 

11 metres 

16.4 Zone Requirements - Accessory Structures to Dwellings 

a) Maximum Lot Coverage 

b) Minimum Side Yard 

1 percent, provided the lot 
coverage or all buildings 
and structures on the lot 
does not exceed 10 
percent 

3 metres except the 
minimum side yard 

59 

211



c) 

d) 

e) 

Minimum Rear Yard 

Minimum Distance from Dwelling 

Maximum Building Height 

abutting a street shall be 
7.5 metres 

3 metres except the 
minimum side yard 
abutting a street shal l be 
7.5 metres 

3 metres 

4.6 metres 

60 

212



Section 17: Agricultural Zone (A) 

17.1 General 

a) No person shall use any lot or erect, alter or use any building or structure 
in any Agricultural (A) Zone except in accordance with the applicable 
provisions of Sections 2, 3 and 17. 

b) In addition to Section 17.1 (a), any lot may be subject to additional 
regulations or restrictions by the City, upper tier government or agencies 
as indicated in Section 1.3. 

17.2 Permitted Uses 

17.3 

a) Accessory Agricultural Activities; 

b) Agriculture Use; 

c) Agri-tourism and Value Added Uses; 

d) Conservation Uses; 

e) Dwelling, detached existing at the date of the passing of this By-law as a 
principal use on a new lot; 

f) Dwelling, detached as a principal use on an existing lot of record at the 
date of the passing of this By-law; 

g) Kennel; 

h) Medical Marihuana Production Facility; and 

i) Uses, structures and buildings accessory thereto 

Zone Requirements 

a) Minimum Lot Frontage 30 metres or as existing 

b) Minimum Lot Area as existing 

c) Minimum Front Yard 8 metres 

d) Minimum Interior Side Yard 5 metres 

e) Minimum Corner Side Yard 8 metres 

f) Minimum Rear Yard 8 metres 

g) Maximum Lot Coverage 10 percent 

h) Maximum Height 11 metres 

61 

213



17.4 Additional Zone Requirements - Accessory Structures to Dwellings 

a) Maximum Lot Coverage 1 percent, provided the lot 
coverage of all buildings 
and structures on the lot 
does not exceed 1 0 
percent 

b) Minimum Side Yard 3 metres except the 
minimum side yard 
abutting a street shall be 
7.5 metres 

c) Minimum Rear Yard 3 metres except the 
minimum side yard 
abutting a street shall be 
7.5 metres 

d) Minimum Distance from a Dwelling 3 metres 

e) Maximum Building Height 4.6 metres 

17.5 Additional Zone Requirements - Kennels 

a) Minimum Lot Area 1.6 hectares 

b) Minimum Lot Frontage 75 metres 

c) Minimum Front Yard 50 metres or behind the 
front building line of the 
main building on the lot, 
whichever is greater 

d) Minimum Side Yard 25 metres 

e) Minimum Rear Yard 30 metres 

f) Minimum Distance to Adjacent Dwellings 160 metres 

g) Maximum Lot Coverage 20 percent 

h) Kennels shall be permitted in an accessory structure and may include an 
enclosed outdoor exercise area or pen. 

17.6 Additional Zone Requirements - Agri-tourism and Value Added Uses 

a) Maximum Floor Area 55 square metres 

62 

214



17. 7 Additional Zone Requirements - Medical Marihuana Production Facility 

a) 

b) 

Minimum Lot Frontage 

Minimum Lot Area 

c) Maximum Lot Coverage 

d) 

e) 

f) 

g) 

h) 

i) 

ii) 

iii) 

Lots less than 5 hectares 

Lots 5 hectares to 10 hectares 

Lots greater than 1 O hectares 

Minimum Front Yard 

Minimum Interior Side Yard 

Minimum Corner Side Yard 

Minimum Rear Yard 

Minimum Separation to Sensitive Land Use 

75 metres 

Permitted only on an 
existing lot having a 
minimum size of 3 
hectares 

30 percent 

10 percent 

5 percent 

30 metres 

16 metres 

30 metres 

30 metres 

150 metres 

i) Where a lot line of a lot containing a Medical Marihuana Production 
Facility abuts a sensitive land use, then that part of said lot directly 

adjoining such lot line shall be used for no purpose other than a planting 
strip having a minimum width of 1.5 metres , measured perpendicularly to 
said lot line. 

j) Outside storage of goods, materials or other supplies is not permitted. 

k) Where a building or structure consists of more than 40% glass and where 
artificial lighting is required an opaque fence shall be provided and 

maintained adjacent to every portion of any lot line that abuts a sensitive 
land use. 

I) 1 parking space shall be provided for every employee on the largest shift. 

m) Servicing for the facility shall be designed by a Qualified Professional, 

identifying the source of irrigation water, water quantities required and the 
effects of same on the groundwater table and nearby wells. 

63 

215



Section 18: Agricultural Purposes Only Zone (APO) 

18.1 General 

a) No person shall use any lot or erect, alter or use any building or structure 
in any Agricultural Purposes Only (APO) Zone except in accordance with 
the applicable provisions of Sections 2, 3 and 18. 

b) In addition to Section 18.1 (a), any lot may be subject to additional 
regulations or restrictions by the City, upper tier government or agencies 
as indicated in Section 1.3. 

18.2 Permitted Uses 

a) Agricultural uses; 

bl Conservation uses; 

c) Uses, structures and buildings accessory thereto including greenhouses 

18.3 Zone Requirements 

a) Minimum Lot Frontage 30 metres or as existing 

b) Minimum Lot Area as existing 

c) Minimum Front Yard 8 metres 

d) Minimum Interior Side Yard 5 metres 

e) Minimum Corner Side Yard 8 metres 

f) Minimum Rear Yard 8 metres 

g) Maximum Lot Coverage 10 percent 

h) Maximum Height 11 metres 

64 

216



Section 19: Neighbourhood Commercial Zone (NC) 

19.1 General 

19.2 

19.3 

a) No person shall use any lot or erect, alter or use any building or structure 
in any Neighbourhood Commercial (NC) Zone except in accordance with 
the applicable provisions of Sections 2, 3 and 19. 

b) In addition to Section 19.1 (a), any lot may be subject to additional 
regulations or restrictions by the City, upper tier government or agencies 
as indicated in Section 1.3. 

Permitted Uses 

a) Animal Care Establishment; 

b) Convenience Store; 

c) Day Care; 

d) Dwelling, Accessory 

e) Personal Service Business; and 

f) Restaurant, Take-Out; 

g) Uses, structures and buildings accessory thereto 

Zone Requirements 

a) 

b) 

c) 

d) 

e) 

f) 

g) 

h) 

Minimum Lot Frontage 

Minimum Lot Area 

Minimum Front Yard 

Minimum Lot Depth 

Minimum Interior Side Yard 

Minimum Corner Side Yard 

Minimum Rear Yard 

Maximum Height 

15 metres 

0.05 hectares 

9 metres 

35 metres 

no minimum except where 
an interior side yard abuts 
a residential zone the 
setback shall be 2.5 
metres 

2 metres 

4.5 metres 

11 metres 

65 

217



i) Maximum Gross Floor Area 230 square metres for 
each permitted use under 
Section 19.2 (a) to (g) 

19.4 Additional Zone Requirements - Dwelling, Accessory 

a) Max Percent of Total Gross Floor Area 50 percent 

b) Minimum Floor Area 50 Square metres 

c) A maximum of one accessory residential unit is permitted per 
neighbourhood commercial use in the same bui lding. 

d) An accessory dwelling unit is only permitted above neighbourhood 
commercial uses. 

66 

218



Section 20: Hamlet Commercial Zone (HMC) 

20.1 General 

20.2 

20.3 

a) No person shall use any lot or erect, alter or use any building or structure 
in any Hamlet Commercial (HMC) Zone except in accordance with the 
applicable provisions of Sections 2, 3 and 20. 

b) In addition to Section 20.1 (a), any lot may be subject to additional 
regulations or restrictions by the City, upper tier government or agencies 
as indicated in Section 1.3. 

Permitted Uses 

a) Agriculture Farm Related Commercial or Industrial; 

b) Bulk Water Haulage Operator; 

c) Contractors Yard; 

d) Convenience Store 

e) Day Care; 

f) Dwelling, Accessory 

g) Food Vehicle; 

h) Personal Service Business; 

i) Restaurant, Take-Out; 

j) Veterinary Clinic; 

k) Motor Vehicle Sales/Rental Service Centre; 

I) Uses, structures and buildings accessory thereto 

Zone Requirements 

a) Minimum Lot Frontage 

b) Minimum Lot Area 

c) Minimum Front Yard 

d) Minimum Lot Depth 

e) Minimum Interior Side Yard 

15 metres 

0.5 hectares 

9 metres 

35 metres 

no minimum except where 
an interior side yard abuts 
a residential zone the 
setback shall be 2.5 
metres 

67 

219



Minimum Corner Side Yard 2 metres 

Minimum Rear Yard 4.5 metres 

Maximum Height 11 metres 

g) 

h) 

i) 

j) Maximum Gross Floor Area 230 square metres for 
each permitted use under 
Section 20.2 (a) to (k) 

20.4 Additional Zone Requirements - Dwelling, Accessory 

a) Max Percent of Total Gross Floor Area 50 percent 

b) Minimum Floor Area 50 square metres 

c) A maximum of one accessory residential unit is permitted per hamlet 
commercial use in the same building. 

d) An accessory dwelling unit is only permitted above hamlet commercial 
uses. 

68 

220



Section 21 : Mixed Use (MU) Zone 

21 .1 General 

21.2 

a) No person shall use any lot or erect, alter or use any building or structure 
in any Mixed Use (MU) Zone except in accordance with the applicable 
provisions of Sections 2, 3 and 21 . 

b) In addition to Section 21 .1 (a), any lot may be subject to additional 
regulations or restrictions by the City. upper tier government or agencies 
as indicated in Section 1.3 . 

Permitted Uses 

a) Animal Care Establishment; 

b) Apartment Building; 

c) Apartment Building, Public; 

d) Convenience Store; 

e) Community Garden; 

f) Day Care; 

g) Dwelling, Accessory; 

h) Dwelling, Duplex; 

i) Dwelling, Fourplex; 

j) Dwelling, Single; 

k) Dwelling, Semi-detached; 

I) Dwel ling, Townhouse Street; 

m) Dwelling, Triplex; 

n) Food Vehicle 

o) Long Term Care Facility; 

p) Office; 

q) Personal Service Business; 

r) Public Uses; 

s) Restaurant, Fast-Food; 

t) Restaurant. Full-Service; 

69 

221



u) Restaurant, Take-Out; 

v) Service Commercial; 

w) Social Services Facility; 

x) Studio; and 

y) Uses, structures and buildings accessory thereto 

21.3 Zone Requirements - Non-Residential Buildings and Mixed Use 
(Residential and Non-Residential) Buildings 

a) Minimum Lot Frontage 15 metres 

b) Minimum Lot Area 0.5 hectares 

c) Minimum Front Yard 9 metres 

d) Minimum Interior Side Yard 1.2 

e) Minimum Interior Side Yard abutting 7.5 metres or half the 
height of a Residential 
Zone the building, 
whichever is greater 

f) Minimum Corner Side Yard 2 metres 

g) Minimum Rear Yard 4.5 metres 

h) Maximum Height 11 metres 

i) Minimum Landscape Buffer abutting 3 metres 
Residential Zone 

21.4 Additional Zone Requi rements - Dwelling, Detached 

a) Minimum Lot Frontage 12 metres 

b) Minimum Lot Frontage - Corner Lot 15 metres 

c) Minimum Lot Area 0.04 hectares 

d) Minimum Front Yard 6.5 metres 

e) Minimum Interior Side Yard 1 metre 

f) Minimum Corner Side Yard 3.5 metres 

g) Minimum Rear Yard 6 metres 

70 

222



h) 

i) 

j) 

Maximum Lot Coverage 

Maximum Height 

Minimum Landscaped Area 

50 percent 

11 metres 

25 percent 

21.5 Additional Zone Requirements - Dwelling, Semi-Detached 

21.6 

a) 

b) 

c) 

d) 

e) 

f) 

g) 

h) 

i) 

Minimum Lot Frontage 

Minimum Lot Area 

Minimum Front Yard 

Minimum Interior Side Yard 

Minimum Corner Side Yard 

Minimum Rear Yard 

Maximum Lot Coverage 

Maximum Height 

Minimum Landscaped Area 

18 metres 

0.05 hectares 

6.5 metres 

1.2 metres 

3 metres 

6 metres 

50 percent 

11 metres 

25 percent 

j) Common walls shall be centred on the common lot line. 

k) There is no minimum interior side yard and/or rear yard for common walls. 

I) Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 21.5, nothing shall prevent the 
splitting of any lot on which a semi-detached dwelling is erected into 2 
parts divided in part by the centre line of the common or party wall 
separating the dwelling units in such dwelling provided that each until shall 
have a minimum lot area of 0.02 hectares 

Additional Zone Requirements - Dwelling, Duplex 

a) Minimum Lot Frontage 18 metres 

b) Minimum Lot Area 0.05 hectares 

c) Minimum Front Yard 6.5 metres 

d) Minimum Interior Side Yard 1.2 metres 

e) Minimum Corner Side Yard 3 metres 

f) Minimum Rear Yard 6 metres 

g) Maximum Lot Coverage 50 percent 

h} Maximum Height 11 metres 

71 

223



i) Minimum Landscaped Area 25 percent 

21.7 Additional Zone Requirements - Dwelling, Triplex 

a) Minimum Lot Frontage 18 metres 

b) Minimum Lot Area per Unit 125 square metres 

c) Minimum Front Yard 9 metres 

d) Minimum Interior Side Yard 1.2 metres 

e) Minimum Corner Side Yard 3 metres 

f) Minimum Rear Yard 6 metres 

g) Maximum Lot Coverage 40 percent 

h) Maximum Height 11 metres 

i) Minimum Landscaped Area 25 percent 

21.8 Additional Zone Requirements - Dwelling, Fourplex 

a) Minimum Lot Frontage 18 metres 

b) Minimum Lot Area per Unit 125 square metres 

c) Minimum Front Yard 9 metres 

d) Minimum Interior Side Yard 1.2 metres 

e) Minimum Corner Side Yard 3 metres 

f) Minimum Rear Yard 6 metres 

g) Maximum Lot Coverage 40 percent 

h) Maximum Height 11 metres 

i) Minimum Landscaped Area 25 percent 

21 .9 Additional Zone Requirements - Dwelling, Townhouse Street 

a) Minimum Lot Frontage per Unit 6 metres 

b) Minimum Lot Area 0.02 hectares 

c) Minimum Front Yard 7.5 metres 

d) Minimum Interior Side Yard 3 metres 

72 

224



e) 

f) 

g) 

h) 

Minimum Corner Side Yard 

Minimum Rear Yard 

Maximum Height 

Minimum Landscaped Area 

4.5 metres 

6 metres 

11 metres 

25 percent 

i) A 3 metre planting strip shall be required when a Townhouse development 
abuts the boundary of the Residential First Density, Residential Second 
Density or Residential Third Density Zone 

j) Common walls shall be centred on the common lot line. 

k) There is no minimum interior side yard and/or rear yard for common walls. 

21.10 Additional Zone Requirements -Apartment Building, Apartment Building, 
Public 

21.11 

a) Minimum Lot Frontage 18 metres 

b) Minimum Lot Area per Unit 125 square metres 

c) Minimum Front Yard 9 metres 

d) Minimum Interior Side Yard 3 metres 

e) Minimum Corner Side Yard 7.5 metres 

f) Minimum Rear Yard 6 metres 

g) Maximum Lot Coverage 40 percent 

h) Maximum Height 20 metres 

i) Minimum Landscaped Area 25 percent 

Additional Zone Requirements - Dwelling, Accessory 

a) Max Percent of Total Gross Floor Area 50 percent 

b) Minimum Floor Area 50 Square metres 

c) A maximum of one accessory residential unit is permitted per mixed use 
zone use in the same building. 

d) An accessory residential unit is only permitted above mixed use zone 
uses. 

73 

225



21 .12 Additional Zone Requirements - Attached Accessory Use 

a) Max Percent of Total Gross Floor Area 50 percent 

b) An attached accessory use to a residential or commercial use is only 
permitted above, to the rear and/or below mixed use zones. 

74 

226



Section 22: Commercial Plaza Zone (CP) 

22.1 General 

22.2 

a) No person shall use any lot or erect, alter or use any building or structure 
in any Commercial Plaza (CP) Zone except in accordance with the 
applicable provisions of Sections 2, 3 and 22. 

b) In addition to Section 22.1 (a), any lot may be subject to additional 
regulations or restrictions by the City, upper tier government or agencies 
as indicated in Section 1.3. 

Permitted Uses 

a) Animal Care Establishment; 

b) Day Care; 

c) Drive-Thru Facility; 

d) Existing Motor Vehicle Gas Station; 

e) Existing Motor Vehicle Repair Garage; 

f) Medical Clinic; 

g) Office; 

h) Personal Service Business; 

i) Place of Worship; 

j) Public Use; 

k) Recreation Facility; 

I) Restaurant, Fast Food; 

m) Restaurant. Full-Service; 

n) Restaurant, Take-Out; 

o) Retail Store; 

p) Service Commercial; 

q) Studio; 

r) Veterinary Clinic; and 

s) Uses, structures and buildings accessory thereto 

75 

227



22.3 Zone Requirements 

a) Minimum Lot Frontage no minimum 

b) Minimum Lot Area no minimum 

c) Minimum Front Yard 23 metres 

d) Minimum Interior Side Yard 15 metres 

e) Minimum Corner Side Yard 23 metres 

f) Minimum Rear Yard 15 metres 

g) Maximum Building Height 8 metres 

h) Maximum Lot Coverage 33 percent 

i) Minimum Landscaped Area 10 percent 

76 

228



Section 23: Downtown Commercial Zone (DC) 

23.1 General 

23.2 

a) No person shall use any lot or erect, alter or use any building or structure 
in any Downtown Commercial (DC) Zone except in accordance with the 
applicable provisions of Sections 2, 3 and 23. 

b) In addition to Section 23.1 (a), any lot may be subject to additional 
regulations or restrictions by the City, upper tier government or agencies 
as indicated in Section 1.3. 

Permitted Uses 

a) Animal Care Establishment; 

b) Apartment Building; 

c) Apartment Building, Public; 

d) Brew Pub; 

e) Day Care; 

f) Drive-Thru Facility; 

g) Dwelling, Accessory 

h) Existing Motor Vehicle Gas Station; 

i) Existing Motor Vehicle Repair Garage; 

j) Food Vehicle; 

k) Hotel; 

I) Medical Clinic; 

m) Office; 

n) Personal Service Business; 

o) Place of Assembly/Banquet Hall; 

p) Place of Worship; 

q) Private Club; 

r) Public Use; 

s) Recreation Facility; 

t) Restaurant, Fast Food; 

77 

229



u) Restaurant. Full-Service; 

v) Restaurant. Take-Out; 

w) Retail Store; 

x) Service Commercial; 

y) Social Service Facility 

z) Studio; 

aa) Veterinary Clinic; and 

bb) Uses, structures and buildings accessory thereto 

23.3 Zone Requirements 

a) 

b) 

c) 

d) 

e) 

f) 

g) 

h) 

i) 

j) 

k) 

Minimum Lot Frontage 

Minimum Lot Frontage where used 
for Residential Purposes 

Minimum Lot Area 

Minimum Front Yard 

Minimum Interior Side Yard 

Minimum Interior Side Yard abutting 
a Residential Zone 

Minimum Corner Side Yard 

Minimum Rear Yard 

Minimum Lot Frontage where used 
for Residential Purposes or abuts a 
Residential 
Zone 

Maximum Height 

Maximum Gross Floor Area 

23.4 Parking Requirements 

no minimum 

6 metres 

no minimum 

no minimum 

no minimum 

;..:.nO=-"'-'m-"'in'-"i""'-m'-"U""'rn,_._ _____ ____.{ Deleted: 2.5 metres 

""Jl""O-'"m""i""'n""'im'""'u""m""'------~..----{ Deleted: 2 metres 

no minimum 

10 metres 

2P __ m_e_t_re_s ___ ____ ____.{ Deleted: 2 

1 0% of the lot are Deleted: 5 

Deleted: or 1000 square metres .~ 
whichever is greater 

a) With the exception of buildings containing dwelling units, all lands zoned 
Downtown Commercial shall be exempt from the parking and loading 
requirements of this By-law. 

78 

230



b) Buildings containing residential dwelling units will be subject to the 
residential parking provisions of Section 3 of this By- law. 

23. 5 Additional Zone Requirements - Apartment Building, Apartment Building, 
Public 

a) Minimum Lot Frontage 18 metres 

b) Minimum Lot Area per Unit no minimum _ 

c) Minimum Front Yard no minimurn 

d) Minimum Interior Side Yard no minimurn 

e) Minimum Corner S ide Yard no minimum 

f) Minimum Rear Yard no minimum_ 

g) Maximum Lot Coverage no minimum_ 

h) Maximum Height 26. metres 

i) Minimum Landscaped Area 25 percent 

50 square metres 

23.6 Additional Zone Requirements - Dwelling, Accessory 

j) Minimum Floor Area for a Unit 

-- Deleted: 125 square 

--- Deleted: metres 

Deleted: 9 metres 

___.--{ Deleted: 3 metres 

___.--{ Deleted: 7.5 metres 

___.--{ Deleted: 6 metres 

___.--{ Deleted : 40 percent 

___.--{ Deleted : O 

a) Max Percent of Total Gross Floor Area c:2.;.00-..c:p-"'e:....:rc:.::ec:...:n::_l ____ _._ _ _..-{ Deleted : 50 

b) Minimum Floor Area 50 square metres 

c) There is no maximum amount of accessory residential units in the same 
building provided required parking can be provided under Section 3 for 
each dwelling unit. 

d) An accessory residential unit is only permitted above downtown 
commercial uses. 

23.7 Additional Zone Requirements -Attached Accessory Use 

a) Max Percent of Total Gross Floor Area 50 percent 

79 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

231



Section 24: Highway Commercial Zone (HC) 

24.1 General 

24.2 

a) No person shall use any lot or erect, alter or use any building or structure 
in any Highway Commercial (HC) Zone except in accordance with the 
applicable provisions of Sections 2, 3 and 24. 

b) In addition to Section 24.1 (a), any lot may be subject to additional 
regulations or restrictions by the City, upper tier government or agencies 
as indicated in Section 1.3. 

Permitted Uses 

a) Animal Care Establishment; 

b) Brew Pub; 

c) Car Wash; 

d) Convenience Store; 

e) Day Care; 

f) Drive-Thru Facility; 

g) Dwelling, Accessory 

h) Food Vehicle; 

i) Hotel; 

j) Motor Vehicle Repair Garage; 

k) Motor Vehicle Sales/Rental Service Centre; 

I) Motor Vehicle Gas Station; 

m) Office; 

n) Personal Service Business; 

o) Place of Assembly/Banquet Hall; 

p) Place of Worship; 

q) Public Use; 

r) Recreation Facility; 

s) Restaurant, Fast Food; 

t) Restaurant, Full Service; 

80 

232



24.3 

24.4 

u) Restaurant, Take-Out; 

v) Retail Building Construction and Supply; 

w) Service Commercial; and 

x) Uses, structures and buildings accessory thereto 

Zone Requirements 

a) Minimum Lot Frontage 27 metres 

b) Minimum Lot Area 0.14 hectares 

c) Minimum Front Yard 9 metres 

d) Minimum Interior Side Yard 5 metres 

f) Minimum Corner Side Yard 7.5 metres 

g) Minimum Rear Yard 5 metres 

i) Maximum Bui lding Height 22 metres 

j) Maximum Lot Coverage 85 percent 

Additional Zone Requir~ments - Dwelling, Accessory 

a) Max Percent of Total Gross Floor Area 50 percent 

b) Minimum Floor Area 50 square metres 

c) A maximum of one accessory residential unit is permitted per 
neighbourhood commercial use in the same building. 

d) An accessory dwelling unit is only permitted above highway commercial 
zone uses . 

24.5 Additional Zone Requirements -Attached Accessory Use 

a) Max Percent of Total Gross Floor Area 50 percent 

81 

233



Section 25: Marine Commercial Zone (MC} 

25.1 General 

25.2 

25.3 

a) No person shall use any lot or erect, alter or use any building or structure 
in any Marine Commercial (MC) Zone except in accordance with the 
applicable provisions of Sections 2, 3 and 25. 

b) In addition to Section 25.1 (a). any lot may be subject to additional 
regulations or restrictions by the City, upper tier government or agencies 
as indicated in Section 1.3. 

Permitted Uses 

a) Marina; 

b) Dock; 

c) Marine Sales and Service; 

d) Parking Lots; 

e) Public Use; 

f) Recreation Facility 

g) Restaurant, Full-Service; 

h) Restaurant, Take-Out; and 

i) Uses, structures and buildings accessory thereto 

Zone Requirements 

a) Minimum Lot Frontage as existing 

b) Minimum Lot Area as existing 

c) Minimum Front Yard 6 metres 

d) Minimum Interior Side Yard no minimum 

e) Minimum Interior Side Yard abutting 3.5 metres 
a Residential Zone 

f) Minimum Corner Side Yard 3.5 metres 

g) Minimum Rear Yard 5 metres 

h) Minimum Rear Yard abutting 3.5 metres 
a Residential Zone 

82 

234



i) 

j) 

Maximum Building Height 

Maximum Lot Coverage 

8 metres 

50 percent 

83 

235



Section 26: Light Industrial Zone (LI) 

26.1 General 

a) No person shall use any lot or erect, alter or use any building or structure 
in any Light Industrial (LI) Zone except in accordance with the applicable 
provisions of Sections 2, 3 and 26. 

b) In addition to Section 26.1 (a), any lot may be subject to additional 
regulations or restrictions by the City, upper tier government or agencies 
as indicated in Section 1.3. 

26.2 Permitted Uses - Principal 

26.3 

a) Adult Oriented Entertainment Establishment; 

b) Car wash; 

c) Contractor's Yard; 

d) Crematorium; 

e) Educatibn Facility; 

f) Industry, Light; 

g) Medical Marihuana Production Facility; 

h) Motor Vehicle Repair Garage; 

i) Publ ic Use; 

j) Research Facility; 

k) Transportation Depot; and 

I) Uses, structures and buildings accessory thereto and does not include 
obnoxious, dangerous or offensive trades 

Permitted Uses - Accessory 

a) Food Vehicle; 

b) Office; 

c) Retail Store; 

d) Restaurant, Fast-Food; 

e) Restaurant, Full-Service; and 

f) Restaurant, Take-Out 

84 

236



26.4 Zone Requirements 

a) Minimum Lot Frontage 30 metres 

b) Minimum Front Yard 7.5 metres 

c) Minimum Front Yard abutting 15 metres 
a Residential or Agricultural Zone 

d) Minimum Interior Side Yard 10 percent of lot frontage 
or 3 metres, whichever is 
less 

e) Minimum Interior Side Yard abutting 15 metres 
a Residential or Agricultural Zone 

f) Minimum Interior Side Yard abutting 1.5 metres 
a Railroad or Hydro Right-of-Way 

g) Minimum Rear Yard 8 metres 

h) Maximum Building Height 11 metres 

i) Maximum Building Height abutting 8 metres 
a Residential Zone 

j) Outside Storage is permitted only in the rear yard and interior side yard to 
a maximum of 10 percent of the total gross floor area on the lot. 

k) The gross floor area of the permitted accessory use(s) shall not exceed 
30% of the total gross floor area of the principal use(s) on the lot. 

I) Corner walls facing a publ ic road shall not be constructed of concrete 
blocks unless the blocks are decorative masonry units; or used in a 
decorative pattern or surfaced with stucco; or with a permanent coloured 
finish which does not include paint. 

m) In addition to the general parking provisions of Section 3 of this By-law all 
parking areas in the front yard and/or corner side yard shall be: 

i) Paved with concrete or asphalt; 

ii) Defined by poured concrete curbing; and 

iii) Clearly marked with pavement markings for each parking space 

n) Vehicle wash bays other than those located entirely within an enclosed 
bui lding are not permitted in a yard abutting a Residential use. 

85 

237



o} Outdoor storage is subject to the provisions outlined in Section 2.18 and 
the following: 

i) Outdoor storage is not permitted in any yard that abuts a highway 
or an arterial collector road; 

ii) No outdoor scrap yard. recycling storage yard or outdoor 
processing shall be located closer than 150 metres to any 
Residential use. 

26.5 Additional Zone Requirements - Medical Marihuana Production Facility 

a} Minimum Lot Frontage 

b) Maximum Lot Coverage 

c} 

d} 

e} 

f) 

g) 

i} 

ii) 

iii} 

Lots less than 5 hectares 

Lots 5 hectares to 10 hectares 

Lots greater than 1 O hectares 

Minimum Front Yard 

Minimum Interior Side Yard 

Minimum Corner Side Yard 

Minimum Rear Yard 

Minimum Separation to Sensitive Land Use 

30 metres 

30 percent 

10 percent 

5 percent 

30 metres 

16 metres 

30 metres 

30 metres 

150 metres 

h} Where a lot line of a lot containing a Medical Marihuana Production 

Facility abuts a sensitive land use, then that part of said lot directly 
adjoining such lot line shall be used for no purpose other than a planting 

strip having a minimum width of 1.5 metres, measured perpendicularly to 
said lot line. 

i) Outside storage of goods, materials or other supplies is not permitted. 

j) Where a building or structure consists of more than 40% glass and where 
artificial lighting is required an opaque fence shall be provided and 

maintained adjacent to every portion of any lot line that abuts a sensitive 
land use. 

k) 1 parking space shall be provided for every employee on the largest shift. 

86 

238



I) Servicing for the facility shall be designed by a Qualified Professional, 
identifying the source of irrigation water, water quantities required and the 
effects of same on the groundwater table and nearby wells. 

87 

239



Section 27: Heavy Industrial Zone (HI) 

27.1 General 

a) No person shall use any lot or erect, alter or use any building or structure 
in any Heavy Industrial (HI) Zone except in accordance with the applicable 
provisions of Sections 2, 3 and 27. 

b) In addition to Section 27.1 (a), any lot may be subject to additional 
regulations or restrictions by the City, upper tier government or agencies 
as indicated in Section 1.3. 

27.2 Permitted Uses - Principal 

a) Adult Entertainment Establishment; 

b) Bulk Fuel Depot 

c) Car Wash; 

d) Contractor's Yard; 

e) Crematorium; 

f) Education Facility; 

g) Heavy Equipment Sales and Service; 

h) Industry, Heavy; 

i) Industry, Light; 

j) Medical Marihuana Production Facility; 

k) Motor Vehicle Repair Garage; 

I) Public Uses; 

m) Research Facility; 

n) Transportation Depot; and 

o) Uses, structures and buildings accessory thereto and does not include 
obnoxious, dangerous or offensive trades 

27.3 Permitted Uses - Accessory 

a) Food Vehicle; 

b) Office; 

c) Retail Store; 

88 

240



d) Restaurant. Fast-Food; 

e) Restaurant, Full-Service; and 

f) Restaurant, Take-Out 

27.4 Zone Requirements 

a) 

b) 

c) 

Minimum Lot Frontage 

Minimum Front Yard 

Minimum Front Yard abutting 
a Residential or Agricultural Zone 

30 metres 

7.5 metres 

15 metres 

d) Minimum Interior Side Yard 10 percent of lot frontage 
or 3 metres, whichever is 
less 

e) 

f) 

g) 

h) 

i) 

Minimum Interior Side Yard abutting 
a Residential or Agricultural Zone 

Minimum Interior Side Yard abutting 
a Railroad or Hydro Right-of-Way 

Minimum Rear Yard 

Maximum Building Height 

Maximum Building Height abutting 
a Residential Zone 

15 metres 

1.5 metres 

8 metres 

11 metres 

8 metres 

j) Outside Storage is permitted only in the rear yard and interior side yard. 

k) The gross floor area of the permitted accessory use(s) shall not exceed 
15% of the total gross floor area of the principal use(s) on the lot. 

I) Corner walls facing a publ ic road shall not be constructed of concrete 
blocks unless the blocks are decorative masonry units; or used in a 
decorative pattern or surfaced with stucco; or with a permanent coloured 
finish which does not include paint. 

m) In addition to the general parking provisions of Section 3 of this By-law all 
parking areas in the front yard and/or corner side yard shall be: 

i) Paved with concrete or asphalt; 

ii) Defined by poured concrete curbing; and 

89 

241



iii) Clearly marked with pavement markings for each parking space 

n) Vehicle wash bays other than those located entirely within an enclosed 
building are not permitted in a yard abutting a Residential use. 

o) Outdoor storage and outdoor processing is subject to the provisions 
outlined in Section 2.18 and the following: 

i) Outdoor storage and outdoor processing is not permitted in any 
yard that abuts a highway or an arterial collector road; 

ii) No outdoor scrap yard, recycling storage yard or outdoor 
processing shall be located closer than 150 metres to any 
Residential use; 

27.5 Additional Zone Requirements - Medical Marihuana Production Facility 

a) Minimum Lot Frontage 30 metres 

b) Maximum Lot Coverage 

c) 

d) 

e) 

f) 

g) 

h) 

i) 

j) 

i) 

ii) 

iii) 

Lots less than 5 hectares 

Lots 5 hectares to 10 hectares 

Lots greater than 10 hectares 

Minimum Front Yard 

Minimum Interior Side Yard 

Minimum Corner S ide Yard 

Minimum Rear Yard 

Minimum Separation to Sensitive Land Use 

30 percent 

10 percent 

5 percent 

30 metres 

16 metres 

30 metres 

30 metres 

150 metres 

Where a lot line of a Jot containing a Medical Marihuana Production 
Facility abuts a sensitive land use, then that part of said lot directly 
adjoining such Jot line shall be used for no purpose other than a planting 

strip having a minimum width of 1.5 metres, measured perpendicularly to 
said lot line. 

Outside storage of goods, materials or other supplies is not permitted. 

Where a building or structure consists of more than 40% glass and where 

artificial lighting is required an opaque fence shall be provided and 

90 

242



maintained adjacent to every portion of any lot line that abuts a sensitive 
land use. 

k) 1 parking space shall be provided for every employee on the largest shift. 

I} Servicing for the facility shall be designed by a Qualified Professional, 
identifying the source of irrigation water, water quantities required and the 
effects of same on the groundwater table and nearby wells. 

91 

243



Section 28: Mineral Aggregate Operation Zone (MAO) 

28.1 General 

a) No person shall make or establish any pit or quarry, or use any lot or 
erect, alter or use any building or structure in any Mineral Aggregate 
Operation (MAO) Zone except in accordance with the applicable 
provisions of Sections 2, 3 and 28. 

b) In addition to Section 28.1 (a), any lot may be subject to additional 
regulations or restrictions by the City, upper tier government or agencies 
as indicated in Section 1.3. 

28.2 Permitted Uses 

a) Mineral Aggregate Operations; 

b) Making or establishment of pits and quarries for the purpose of extracting 
natural materials from the earth including soil, clay, sand, gravel, stone, 
rock, shale and minerals; 

c) Processing of natural materials including screening, sorting, washing, 
crushing, storing and other similar operations related to an extractive 
industrial operation; 

d) Agricultural uses; 

e) Uses, structures and buildings accessory thereto excepting any building or 
structure used for human habitation. 

28.3 Zone Requirements 

a) No building or structure other than a fence shall be located within 30 
metres of any lot line or within 90 metres of any occupied dwelling or 
Residential Zone. 

b) No pit, quarry or excavation shall be made or established within 15 metres 
of any lot line which does not abut a public street or 90 metres of any lot 
line which abuts a Provincial Highway or 30 metres of any lot line which 
abuts any other public street. 

__.- Deleted: c) A new extractive operaUon involving the 
'----------------------------------- blasting of consolidated rock or the processing of quarry 

92 

stone shall be prohibited within 300 metres of a dwelling 
or dwelling unit or area zoned for residenUal purposes 
where such lands are held under distinct and separate 
ownership. 

244



Section 29: Gateway Industrial Zone (GI) 

29.1 General 

a) No person shall use any lot or erect, alter or use any building or structure 
in any Gateway Industrial (GI) Zone except in accordance with the 
applicable provisions of Sections 2, 3 and 29. 

b) In addition to Section 29.1 (a), any lot may be subject to additional 
regulations or restrictions by the City, upper tier government or agencies 
as indicated in Section 1.3. 

29.2 Permitted Uses 

29.3 

29.4 

a) Contractor's Yard; 

b) Education Facility; 

c) Industry, Light: 

d) Medical Marihuana Production Facility; 

e) Multi-modal Storage Facility; 

f) Public Use; 

g) Research Facility; 

h) Transportation Depot; and 

i) Uses, structures and buildings accessory thereto and does not include 
obnoxious, dangerous or offensive trades 

Permitted Uses - Accessory 

a) Employee Convenience Facility; 

b) Retail Store; 

c) Restaurant, Fast-Food; 

d) Restaurant, Full-Service; and 

e) Restaurant, Take-Out 

Zone Requirements 

a) Minimum Lot Frontage 30 metres 

b) Minimum Front Yard 7.5 metres 

c) Minimum Front Yard abutting 15 metres 
a Residential or Agricultural Zone 

93 

245



d) Minimum Interior Side Yard 10 percent of lot frontage 
or 3 metres, whichever is 
less 

e) Minimum Interior Side Yard abutting 15 metres 
a Residential or Agricultural Zone 

f) Minimum Interior Side Yard abutting 1.5 metres 
a Railroad or Hydro Right-of-Way 

g) Minimum Rear Yard 8 metres 

h) Maximum Building Height 11 metres 

i) Maximum Building Height abutting 8 metres 
a Residential Zone 

j) Outside Storage is permitted only in the rear yard and interior side yard to 
a maximum of 10 percent of the total gross floor area on the lot. 

k) The gross floor area of the permitted accessory use(s) shall not exceed 
30% of the total gross floor area of the principal use(s) on the lot. 

I) Exterior walls facing a public road shall not be constructed of concrete 
blocks unless the blocks are decorative masonry units; or used in a 
decorative pattern or surfaced with stucco; or with a permanent coloured 
finish which does not include paint. 

m) In addition to the general parking provisions of Section 3 of this By-law all 
parking areas in the front yard and/or corner side yard shall be: 

i) Paved with concrete or asphalt; 

ii) Defined by poured concrete curbing; and 

iii) Clearly marked with pavement markings for each parking space 

n) Outdoor storage is subject to the provisions outlined in Section 2.18 and 
the following: 

i) Outdoor storage is not permitted in any yard that abuts a highway 
or an arterial collector road; 

ii) No outdoor scrap yard, recycling storage yard or outdoor 
processing shall be located closer than 150 metres to any 
Residential use. 

94 

246



29.5 Additional Zone Requirements - Medical Marihuana Production Facility 

a) 

b) 

Minimum Lot Frontage 

Minimum Lot Area 

c) Maximum Lot Coverage 

i) 

ii) 

iii) 

Lots less than 5 hectares 

Lots 5 hectares to 10 hectares 

Lots greater than 10 hectares 

75 metres 

Permitted only on an 
existing lot having a 
minimum size of 3 
hectares 

30 percent 

10 percent 

5 percent 

d) Minimum Front Yard 30 metres 

e) Minimum Interior Side Yard 16 metres 

f) Minimum Corner Side Yard 30 metres 

g) Minimum Rear Yard 30 metres 

h) Minimum Separation to Sensitive Land Use 150 metres 

i) Where a lot line of a lot containing a Medical Marihuana Production 
Facility abuts a sensitive land use, then that part of said lot directly 
adjoining such lot line shall be used for no purpose other than a planting 
strip having a minimum width of 1.5 metres, measured perpendicularly to 
said lot line. 

j) Outside storage of goods, materials or other supplies is not permitted. 

k) Where a building or structure consists of more than 40% glass and where 

artificial lighting is required an opaque fence shall be provided and 
maintained adjacent to every portion of any lot line that abuts a sensitive 
land use. 

I) 1 parking space shall be provided for every employee on the largest shift. 

m) Servicing for the facility shall be designed by a Qualified Professional, 

identifying the source of irrigation water, water quantities required and the 
effects of same on the groundwater table and nearby wells. 

95 

247



Section 30: Industrial Development Zone (ID) 

30.1 General 

a) No person shall use any lot or erect. alter or use any building or structure 
in any Industrial Development (ID) Zone except in accordance with the 
applicable provisions of Sections 2, 3 and 30. 

b) In addition to Section 30.1 (a), any lot may be subject to additional 
regulations or restrictions by the City, upper tier government or agencies 
as indicated in Section 1.3. 

30.2 Permitted Uses 

30.3 

a) Agricultural Farm Related Commercial or Industrial; 

b) Contractor's Yard 

c) Heavy Equipment Sales and Service; 

d) Multi-modal Storage Facility; 

e) Research Facility; 

f) Transportation Depot; 

g) Warehouse; and 

h) Uses, structures and buildings accessory thereto and does not include 
obnoxious, dangerous or offensive trades 

Zone Requirements 

a) Minimum Lot Frontage 

b) Minimum Lot Area 

b) Minimum Front Yard 

c) Minimum Front Yard abutting 
a Residential or Agricultural Zone 

d) Minimum Interior Side Yard 

e) Minimum Interior Side Yard abutting 
a Residential or Agricultural Zone 

f) Minimum Interior Side Yard abutting 
a Railroad or Hydro Right-of-Way 

30 metres 

0.4 hectares 

7.5 metres 

15 metres 

1 O percent of lot frontage 
or 3 metres, whichever is 
less 

15 metres 

1.5 metres 

96 

248



g) 

h) 

i) 

j) 

Minimum Rear Yard 

Maximum Building Height 

Maximum Building Height abutting 
a Residential Zone 

Minimum Landscaped Open Space 

8 metres 

11 metres 

8 metres 

25 percent 

j) Outside Storage is permitted only in the rear yard and interior side yard to 
a maximum of 10 percent of the total gross floor area on the lot. 

k) The gross floor area of the permitted accessory use(s) shall not exceed 
30% of the total gross floor area of the principal use(s) on the lot. 

I) Exterior walls facing a public road shall not be constructed of concrete 
blocks unless the blocks are decorative masonry units; or used in a 
decorative pattern or surfaced with stucco; or with a permanent coloured 
finish which does not include paint. 

m) In addition to the general parking provisions of Section 3 of this By-law all 
parking areas in the front yard and/or corner side yard shall be: 

i) Paved with concrete or asphalt; 

ii) Defined by poured concrete curbing; and 

iii) Clearly marked with pavement markings for each parking space. 

n) Outdoor storage is subject to the provisions outlined in Section 2.18 and 
is not permitted in any yard that abuts a highway or an arterial collector 
road; 

97 

249



Section 31: Institutional Zone (I) 

31.1 General 

31.2 

31.3 

a) No person shall use any lot or erect, alter or use any building or structure 
in any Institutional (I) Zone except in accordance with the applicable 
provisions of Sections 2, 3 and 31 . 

b) In addition to Section 31 .1 (a), any lot may be subject to additional 
regulations or restrictions by the City, upper tier government or agencies 
as indicated in Section 1.3. 

Permitted Uses 

a) Apartment Building, Public; 

b) Community Garden; 

c) Cultural Facility; 

d) Cemetery; 

e) Day Care; 

f) Dwelling, Accessory; 

g) Food Vehicle; 

h) Long Term Care Facility; 

i) Place of Assembly/Banquet Hall; 

j) Place of Worship; 

k) Public Uses; 

I) Social Service Facility; and 

m) Uses, structures and buildings accessory thereto 

Zone Requirements 

a) Minimum Lot Frontage as existing 

b) Minimum Lot Area as existing 

c) Minimum Front Yard 8 metres 

d) Minimum Lot Depth no minimum 

e) Minimum Interior Side Yard 4.5 metres or half the 
height of the building 

98 

250



f) 

g) 

h) 

i) 

j) 

Minimum Corner Side Yard 

Minimum Rear Yard 

Maximum Lot Coverage 

Maximum Height 

Minimum Landscaped Open Space 

abutting a Residential use, 
whichever is greater 

7.5 metres 

7.5 metres 

40 percent 

11 metres 

35 percent 

31.4 Additional Zone Requirements - Dwell ing, Accessory 

31.5 

a) Max Percent of Total Gross Floor Area 25 percent 

b) Minimum Floor Area 50 square metres 

c) A maximum of one accessory residential unit is permitted per non
commercial use. 

Additional Zone Requirements -Apartment Building, Public 

a) Minimum Lot Frontage 18 metres 

b) Minimum Lot Area per Unit 125 square metres 

c) Minimum Front Yard 9 metres 

d) Minimum Interior Side Yard 3 metres 

e) Minimum Corner Side Yard 7.5 metres 

f) Minimum Rear Yard 6 metres 

g) Maximum Lot Coverage 40 percent 

h) Maximum Height 20 metres 

i) Minimum Landscaped Area 25 percent 

j) Minimum Floor Area for a Unit 50 square metres 

99 

251



Section 32: Public and Park (P) 

32.1 General 

32.2 

32.3 

a) No person shall use any lot or erect, alter or use any building or structure 
in any Public and Park (P) Zone except in accordance with the applicable 
provisions of Sections 2, 3 and 32. 

b) In addition to Section 32.1 (a), any lot may be subject to additional 
regulations or restrictions by the City, upper tier government or agencies 
as indicated in Section 1.3. 

Permitted Uses 

a) Cemetery; 

b) Community Garden; 

c) Conservation Use; 

d) Cultural Facility; 

e) Food Vehicle; 

f) Park; 

g) Public Use; 

h) Recreation Use; and 

i) Uses, structures and buildings accessory thereto 

Zone Requirements 

a) 

b) 

c) 

d) 

e) 

f) 

g) 

h) 

Minimum Lot Frontage 

Minimum Lot Area 

Minimum Front Yard 

Minimum Lot Depth 

Minimum Interior Side Yard 

Minimum Corner Side Yard 

Minimum Rear Yard 

Maximum Lot Coverage 

no minimum 

no minimum 

8 metres 

no minimum 

4.5 metres or half the 
height of the building, 
whichever is greater 

7.5 metres 

7.5 metres 

20 percent 

100 

252



i) 

j) 

Maximum Height 

Minimum Landscaped Open Space 

no maximum 

30 percent 

101 

253



Section 33: Vacation Residential Zone (VR) 

33.1 General 

33.2 

a) No person shall use any lot or erect, alter or use any building or structure 
in any Vacation Residential (VR) Zone except in accordance with the 
applicable provisions of Sections 2, 3 and 33. 

b) In addition to Section 33.1 (a), any lot may be subject to additional 
regulations or restrictions by the City, upper tier government or agencies 
as indicated in Section 1.3. 

Permitted Uses 

a) Campground, Permanent; 

b) Campground, Temporary; 

c) Existing Convenience Store; 

d) Existing Maintenance and Storage Facility; 

e) Existing Office; 

f) Existing Parks; 

g) Existing Personal Service Business; 

h) Existing Place of Worship; 

i) Existing Private Club; 

j) Existing Restaurant, Fast-Food ; 

k) Existing Restaurant, Full-Service; 

I) Existing Restaurant, Take-Out; 

m) Existing Retail Store; 

n) Existing Trailer and Golf Cart Sales and Rentals; 

o) Food Vehicle; 

p) Parking Lot; 

q) Private Water Supply and Treatment Faci lity; 

r) Recreation Faci lity; and 

s) Uses, structures and buildings accessory thereto 

102 

254



33.3 

33.4 

Zone Requirements 

a) Minimum Lot Frontage as existing 

b) Minimum Lot Area as existing 

c) Minimum Buffer Area 
To properties fronting onto Beach Road 30 metres 

d) Minimum Buffer Area 
Residential Use 50 metres 

e) Minimum Buffer Area 
Eastern limit of Wyldewood Road 50 metres 

f) Minimum Buffer Area 
Private Water Supply and Treatment 
Facility 100 metres abutting any 

campground, temporary; 
campground, permanent; 
retail store; restaurant, fast 
food; restaurant, full-
service; restaurant, take-
out; and dwelling unit 

h) Maximum Building Height 11 metres 

i) The use of all-terrain vehicles and snowmobiles shall not be permitted in 
this zone, by persons other than the owner of property or the employees 
of the owner of the property. 

Additional Zoning Requirements - Campground, Permanent 

a) All campground, permanent sites shall be serviced by private sanitary and 
water supply systems, approved by the Regional Municipality of Niagara. 

b) Access to all campground, permanent sites shall be by lane, road or 
driveway with a minimum unobstructed hard surface width of 6 metres 
where two-way traffic is permitted and 3 metres where only one way 
direction of traffic flow is permitted or where the land, road or driveway 
services five sites or less. 

c) A landscape area having a minimum width of 3 metres shall be provided 
between campground, permanent sites and any other use. 

d) Minimum Parking 1 space located within the 
site or within 46 metres of 
the site 

103 

255



Section 34: Environmental Protection Zone (EP) 

34.1 General 

a) No person shall use any lot or erect, alter or use any building or structure 
in any Environmental Protection (EP) Zone except in accordance with the 
applicable provisions of Sections 2, 3 and 34. 

b) In addition to Section 34.1 (a), any lot may be subject to additional 
regulations or restrictions by the City, upper tier government or agencies 
as indicated in Section 1.3. 

34.2 Permitted Uses 

a) Boat House; 

b) Boat Ramp; 

c) Conservation Uses; 

d) Dock; 

e) Existing Agricultural Uses, excluding buildings and structures; 

" ~ ~ 11: ........ ' - "- "-- ·- - - '"' .:t ., - - C' 

structures accessory thereto· 

g) Flood and Erosion Protection Works; 

h) Forestry Uses; 

i) Passive Recreation Uses; and 

j) Public Use 

34.3 Zone Requirements 
Notwithstanding the permitted uses in the applicable underlying zones 
shown on the Maps in Section 39, where a lot is also subject to an 
Environmental Protection Zone, no uses and no building or structure or an 
expansion to an existing building or structure shall be permitted until an 
Environmental Impact Study (EIS), in accordance with the City, Regional 
Municipality of Niagara or Niagara Peninsula Conservation Authority, as 
amended from time to time, and other studies that may be required by the 
City based on approved guidel ines or terms of reference are approved. 
The requirement for an EIS may be scoped or waived in accordance with 

104 

--- Deleted: E 

--- Formatted: Strikethrough 

-- Deleted: ; 

256



b) 

c) 

d) 

e) 

f) 

the EIS guidelines. The uses permitted in Section 34.2 may be permitted 
subject to a scoped EIS in accordance with the EIS guidelines. 

Minimum Lot Frontage 

Minimum Lot Area 

Minimum Front Yard 

Minimum Side Yard 

Minimum Rear Yard 

as existing 

as existing 

15 metres 

7 metres 

7 metres except the 
minimum rear yard shall 
be 30 metres from the 1 in 
100 year flood line as 
determined by the Niagara 
Peninsula Conservation 
Authority 

34.4 Additional Zone Requirements - Boat House, Boat Ramp, Dock 

a) Minimum Rear Yard No minimum 

105 

257



Section 35: Hazard Zone (H) 

35.1 General 

35.2 

35.3 

a) No person shall use any lot or erect, alter or use any building or structure 
in any Hazard (H) Zone except in accordance with the applicable 
provisions of Sections 2, 3 and 35. 

b) In addition to Section 35.1 (a), any lot may be subject to additional 
regulations or restrictions by the City, upper tier government or agencies 
as indicated in Section 1.3. 

Permitted Uses 

a) Boat House; 

b) Boat Ramp; 

c) Conservation Uses: 

d) Dock; 

e) Existing Agricultural Uses, excluding buildings and structures; 

f) Flood and Erosion Protection Works; 

g) Forestry Uses; 

h) Passive Recreation Use; and 

i) Public Use 

Zone Requirements 

a) Where a Hazard Zone is shown on the Maps in Section 39, it includes 
hazards associated with the Lake Erie Shoreline, such as flooding, erosion 
or dynamic beach hazards as per the Niagara Peninsula Conservation 
Authority's Regulation of Development, Interference with Wetlands and 
Alteration to Shorelines and Watercourses 0. Reg 1-55/05. 

a) Notwithstanding the permitted uses, where a lot is subject to a Hazard 
Zone, no uses and no buildings or structures or an expansion to an 
existing building or structure shall be permitted until a permit for 
development or site alteration is issued by the Niagara Peninsula 
Conservation Authority. 

b) 

c) 

d) 

Minimum Lot Frontage 

Minimum Lot Area 

Minimum Front Yard 

as existing 

as existing 

15 metres 

106 

258



e) Minimum Side Yard 

f) Minimum Rear Yard 

7 metres 

7 metres except the 
minimum rear yard shall 
be 30 metres from the 1 in 
100 year flood line as 
determined by the Niagara 
Peninsula Conservation 
Authority 

35.4 Additional Zone Requirements - Boat House, Boat Ramp, Dock 

a) Minimum Rear Yard No minimum 

107 

259



Section 36: Environmental Conservation Layer 

36.1 General 

a) No person shall use any lot or erect, alter or use any building or structure 
in any Environmental Conservation Layer except in accordance with the 
applicable provisions of Sections 2, 3 and 36. 

b) In addition to Section 36.1 (a), any lot may be subject to additional 
regulations or restrictions by the City, upper tier government or agencies 
as indicated in Section 1.3. 

36.2 Permitted Uses 

a) Boat House; 

b) Boat Ramp; 

c) Conservation Uses; 

d) Dock; 

e) Existing Agricultural Uses, excluding buildings and structures; 

f) Existing Dwelling and any enlargement thereof and existing uses , 
buildings and structures accessory thereto; 

f) Flood and Erosion Protection Works; 

g) Forestry Uses: 

h) Park; 

i) Passive Recreation Uses; and 

j) Public Use 

36.3 Overlay Requirements 

a) Notwithstanding the permitted uses in the applicable underlying zones 
shown on the Maps in Section 39, where a lot is also subject to an 
Environmental Conservation Layer, no uses and no building or structure or 
an expansion to an existing bui lding or structure shall be permitted until an 
Environmental Impact Study (EIS), in accordance with the City, Regional 
Municipal ity of Niagara or Niagara Peninsula Conservation Authority, as 
amended from time to time, and other studies that may be requi red by the 
City based on approved guidelines or terms of reference are approved . 
The requirement for an EIS may be scoped or waived in accordance with 
the EIS guidelines . The uses permitted in Section 36.2 may be permitted 
subject to a scoped EIS in accordance with the EIS guidelines. 

108 

260



b) The Environmental Impact Study (E IS} required by section 36.3 shall 
confi rm the boundaries of any natural heritage feature or area within the 
Environmental Conservation Layer and shall determine the uses in the 
underlying zones that may be permitted. 

c) 

d) 

e) 

f) 

g) 

Minimum Lot Frontage 

Minimum Lot Area 

Minimum Front Yard 

Minimum Side Yard 

Minimum Rear Yard 

as existing 

as existing 

15 metres 

7 metres 

7 metres except the 
minimum rear yard shall 
be 30 metres from the 1 in 
100 year flood line as 
determined by the Niagara 
Peninsula Conservation 
Authority 

36.4 Additional Overlay Requirements - Boat House, Boat Ramp, Dock 

a) Minimum Rear Yard No minimum 

109 

261



Section 37: Special Provisions 

37.1 General 

a) Where special provisions are established for certain lots, the applicable 
regulations of the special provisions apply in addition to, or as an 
exception to, the normal zone provisions that apply to the subject lands. 

b) Where on Schedule A to this By-law, a zone symbol (e.g. R1) applying to 
lots contains a suffix at the end of the zone symbol consisting of a dash 
and number (e.g. R 1-1 ), this indicates that a special provision applies to 
the subject lot(s). The number after the dash corresponds with the special 
provision number as set out in Section 37. 

37.2 List of Special Provisions 

Special Provision: A-1 Formerly: A-6 By-law No: 1746/11/86 

In addition to the uses permitted in the Agricultural (A) Zone, this land may also be used 
for the raising and processing of poultry, and uses building and structures accessory 
thereto, and the following special regulations shall apply: 

a) Minimum Lot Frontage 150 metres 

b) Minimum Lot Area 6 hectares 

c) Maximum Lot Coverage 25 percent 

d) Minimum Front Yard 24 metres 

e) Minimum Interior Side Yard 23 metres 

f) Minimum Rear Yard 30 metres 

g) Maximum Building Height 2 storeys 

Special Provision: A-2 Formerly: A-14 By-law No.: 4598/129/04 

In addition to the uses permitted in the Agricultural (A) Zone, this land may be also used 
for the manufacturing of construction lifting devices, cranes and other related hydraul ic 

equipment and for the maintenance and storage of heavy equipment and uses and 
buildings and structures accessory thereto, and the following regulations shall apply: 

a) 

b} 

c) 

Minimum Front Yard 

Minimum Interior Side Yard (West) 

Minimum Interior Side Yard (East) 

92 metres 

as existing 

5 metres 

110 

262



d) 

e) 

f) 

Minimum Rear Yard 

Maximum Lot Coverage 

Maximum Building Height 

15 metres 

25 percent 

2 storeys 

g) No building or structure is permitted in the westerly interior side yard 
separated from the westerly lot line by a yard having a minimum width of 
22.8 metres measured perpendicular to said lot line and shall be 
separated from the rear yard having a minimum width of 18.3 metres . 

h) No building or structure is permitted in the rear yard having a rear yard 
depth of 126 metres extending easterly 22.8 metres from the westerly lot 
line measured perpendicular to said lot line. 

i) Outside storage is to be permitted in the rear yard and easterly interior 
side yard only, separated from the easterly lot line by a yard having a 
minimum width of 22.8 metres measured perpendicular to said lot line and 
shall be separated from the rear yard having a minimum width of 18.3 
metres measured perpendicular to said rear yard. 

Special Provision: A-3 Formerly: Ll-9 By-law No.: n/a 

In addition to the uses permitted in the Agriculture (A) Zone, this land may also be used 
for the manufacturing, outdoor storage and sales of concrete products and uses, 
buildings and structures accessory thereto. 

Special Provision: A-4 Formerly: A-21 By-law No.: 1374/67/83 

In addition to the uses permitted in the Agricultural (A) Zone, this land may also be used 
for a motel, restaurant and gasoline retail outlet and one accessory dwelling unit and 
uses, buildings and structures accessory thereto and the following regulations shall 
apply: 

a) Minimum Lot Frontage 52 metres 

b) Minimum Lot Area 0.6 hectares 

c) Minimum Front Yard 15 metres 

d) Minimum Side Yard 15 metres 

e) Minimum Rear Yard 42 metres 

f) Maximum Lot Coverage 8.5 percent 

g) Maximum Height for a Motel 1 storey 

111 

263



Special Provision: A-5 Formerly: A-29 By-law No.: 1374/67/83 

In addition to the uses permitted in the Agricultural (A) Zone, this land may also be used 
for the operation of a ship repair shop, machine shop and fabrication and uses, 
buildings and structures accessory thereto and the following regulations shall apply: 

a) Maximum Lot Coverage 20 percent 

b) Minimum Lot Frontage 37.4 metres 

c) Minimum Lot Area 0.28 hectares 

d) Minimum Front Yard 15 metres 

e) Minimum Side Yard 7.5 metres 

f) Minimum Rear Yard 3 metres 

g) Maximum Height 1 storey 

h) Outdoor storage shall be permitted in the rear yard only. 

Special Provision: A-6 Formerly: A-42 By-law No. : 1374/67/83 

In addition to the uses permitted in the Agricultural (A) Zone, this land may also be used 
for a private club and uses, buildings and structures accessory thereto and the following 
regulations shall apply: 

a) Maximum Lot Coverage (for all bui ldings) 5 percent 

b) Minimum Front Yard 70 metres 

c) Minimum North Side Yard 18 metres 

d) Minimum South Side Yard 70 metres 

e) Minimum Rear Yard 240 metres 

f) Maximum Height 1.5 storeys 

g) Maximum Lot Coverage for 
Accessory Structures 0.5 percent 

h) Minimum Side Yard for 
Accessory Structures 18 metres 

i) Minimum Rear Yard for 
Accessory Structures 18 metres 

112 

264



j) Accessory structures shall be permitted in the interior side and rear yard 
only. 

Special Provision: A-7 Formerly: A-50 By-law No. : 1374/67/83 

In addition to the uses permitted in the Agricultural (A) Zone, this land may also be used 

for an automobile service station and one accessory residential unit and uses, buildings 
and structures accessory thereto and the following regulations shall apply: 

a) Maximum Lot Coverage 5.5 percent 

b) Minimum Front Yard as existing 

c) Minimum Side Yard (West) 30 metres 

d) Minimum Side Yard (East) 7.5 metres 

e) Minimum Rear Yard 140 metres 

f) Maximum Height 2.5 storeys 

Special Provision: A-8 Formerly: A-51 By-law No.: 5669/100/11 

In addition to the uses permitted in the Agricultural (A) Zone, this land may also be used 
for a motel and one accessory residential unit, a trailer for living accommodations and 
uses, bui ldings and structures accessory thereto and the following regulations shall 
apply: 

a) Minimum Lot Frontage 60 metres 

b) Maximum Lot Coverage 7 percent 

c) Minimum Front Yard as existing 

d) Minimum Side Yard (West) 15 metres 

e) Minimum Side Yard (East) for Motel 25 metres 

f) Minimum Side Yard (East) for Trailer 12 metres 

g) Minimum Rear Yard for Motel 70 metres 

h) Minimum Rear Yard for Trailer 22 metres 

i) Maximum Building Height 1.5 storeys 

Special Provision: A-9 Formerly: A-72 By-law No.: 1374/67/83 

113 

265



In addition to the uses permitted in the Agricultural (A) Zone, this land may be used for a 
take-out restaurant and uses, buildings and structures accessory thereto and the 
following regulations shall apply: 

a) Minimum Front Yard 12 metres 

b) Minimum Side Yard (West) 15 metres 

c) Minimum Side Yard (East) 40 metres 

d) Minimum Rear Yard 25 metres 

e) Maximum Building Height 1 storey 

Special Provision: A-10 Formerly: A-82 By-law No.: 1436/11/84 

In addition to the uses permitted in the Agricultural (A) Zone, this land may also be used 
for a private club for the purpose of conservation including but not limited to; one 
assembly hall for banquet, meeting and seminar purposes (related to the conservation 
of plant and wildlife); trap-shooting and trap-shooting house; skeet shooting and high 
and low skeet houses; and an archery range and uses buildings and structures 
accessory thereto and the following regulation shall apply: 

a) Maximum Lot Coverage 1 percent 

Special Provision: A-11 Formerly: A-253 By-law No.: 3393/124/96 

In addition to the uses permitted in the Agri cultural (A) Zone, these lands may also be 
used for the purpose of a golf course and uses, buildings and structures accessory 
thereto. 

Special Provision: A-12 Formerly: A-121 By-law No.: 1941/61 /87 

In addition to the uses permitted in the Agricultural (A) Zone, this land may also be used 
as an exhibition grounds for the display of antique farm equipment and uses, bui lding 

and structures accessory thereto and the following regulation shall apply: 

a) Minimum Corner Side Yard 9 metres 

Special Provision: RR-13 Formerly: RD-173 By-law No.: 3438/20/97 

Notwithstanding the provisions of the Rural Residential (RR) Zone, no residential 
dwelling shall be permitted on these lands. 

Special Provision: RR-14 Formerly: RU-78 By-law No. : 1374/67/83 

114 

266



In addition to the uses permitted in the Rural Residential (RR) Zone, this land may also 
be used for the manufacturing of sashes, frames and doors and for the stockpiling and 
transport of sand, stone and topsoil and uses, buildings and structures accessory 
thereto and the following regulations shall apply: 

a) 

b) 

c) 

d) 

e) 

f) 

Minimum Side Yard (North) 

Minimum Side Yard (South) 

Minimum Rear Yard 

Maximum Building Height 

Maximum Lot Coverage for 
Accessory Structure 

Minimum Front Yard 

as existing 

15 metres 

100 metres 

1.5 storeys 

2 percent 

15 metres 

g) Outside storage and stockpiling of sand, stone and topsoil is permitted in 
the rear yard only. 

Special Provision: A-15 Formerly: A-243 By-law No.: 3203/74/95 

In addition to the uses permitted in the Agricultural (A) Zone, these lands may also be 
used for the manufacturing of wood crates and pallets, steel and wood fabrication and 
welding uses, and uses buildings and structures accessory thereto and outdoor storage 
of related materials and the following regulations shall apply: 

a) Minimum Lot Frontage 30 metres 

b) Minimum Front Yard 45 metres 

c) Minimum Interior Side Yard (West) 3.5 metres 

d) Minimum Interior Side Yard (East) 8.5 metres 

e) Maximum Bui lding Height one storey 

f) Maximum Lot Coverage 10 percent 

g) Outside storage shall only be permitted in the rear yard 

Special Provision: A-16 Formerly: A-265 By-law No.: 3739/25/99 

In addition to the uses permitted in the Agricultural (A) Zone, these lands may also be 
used for an agricultural and non-agricultural machine shop and fabrication and repair 

115 

267



shop with no outside storage and uses, bui ld ings and structures accessory thereto and 
the following regulations shall apply: 

a) 

b) 

c) 

d) 

e) 

Minimum Lot Area 

Minimum Front Yard 

Minimum Interior Side Yard (South) 

Minimum Interior Side Yard (North) 

Maximum Lot Coverage 

0.69 hectares 

12 metres 

2 metres 

8.3 metres 

14 percent 

f) No outside storage and no welding , fabricating , machining, painting or any 
industrial processes outside of the buildings on the property. 

Special Provision: HR-17 Formerly: HR-354 By-law No.: 5680/111/11 

Notwithstanding the provisions of the Hamlet Residential (HR) Zone, the following 
regulation shall apply: 

a) Minimum Rear Yard Setback (Dwelling) 169 metres 

Special Provision: LR-18 Formerly: LR-370 By-law No. : 6001/107/13 

Notwithstanding the provisions of the Lakeshore Residential (LR) Zone, the following 
regulations shall apply: 

a) 

b) 

Minimum Lot Frontage 

Minimum Side Yard (West) 

13.1 metres 

2.9 metres 

Special Provision: A-19 Formerly: A-379 By-law No.: 6108/74/14 

In addition to the uses permitted in the Agricultural (A) Zone, this land may also be used 
for specia l events re lated to weddings and similar type celebrations as well as special 
events relating to the agricultural uses occurring on the property and the following special 
regulations shall apply: 

a) Maximum Gross Floor Area 

for Outdoor Event Tents 330 square metres 

b) Outdoor Event Tents will only be permitted between May 1st and October 
31 st of each year 

c) That the Minimum Distance Separation I shall not apply for outdoor event 

tents. 

116 

268



Special Provision: R2-20-H Formerly: R2-280-H By-law No.: 4088/83/01 

Notwithstanding the provisions of the Second Density Residential (R2) Zone, this land 
may also be used for a parking lot provided that the following Holding provision 
conditions are met: 

a) The City receives and approves plans submitted by the owner depicting 
the parking area and access including details for surfacing, curbing of the 
parking area, lot grading, storm drainage, landscaping, fencing and 
lighting; and 

b) The City and the owner enter into an Agreement to be registered on title to 
the lands detailing implementation of the matters referenced in (a) above. 

Special Provision: 1-21 Formerly: 1-93 By-law No. : 3427/9/97 

Subject to the Provisions of Section 2 General Provisions of this by-law and 
notwithstanding the requirements of the Institutional (I) Zone, this land may also be 
used for; a public nursing home; an accessory dwelling unit; a senior citizen apartment 
house; a residential retirement home containing not more than 167 beds in 165 
bedroom units and uses, buildings and structures accessory thereto and the following 
regulations shall apply: 

a) Minimum Lot Area 1 .13 hectares 

b) Minimum Lot Frontage 95 metres 

c) Minimum Lot Depth 118 metres 

d) Minimum Side Yard 2 metres 

e) Minimum Rear Yard 15.05 metres 

f) Minimum Front Yard 8 metres 

g) Maximum Lot Coverage 40 percent 

h) Maximum Building Height 11 metres 

i) Minimum Bedroom Size 26 square metres 

j) Minimum Landscaped Open Space 35 percent 

k) A public dining room or restaurant is specifically not permitted 

117 

269



Accessory Structure Provisions 

I) 

m) 

n) 

Minimum Rear Yard 

Minimum Side Yard 

Maximum Building Height 

"Special Provision: HMC-22 Formerly: RU-34 

7.5 metres 

3.0 metres 

1.5 storeys 

By-law No.: 1374/67/83 

equipment and supplies, and uses, bui ldings and structures accessory thereto and the 
following special regulations shall apply thereto: 

i) Minimum Lot Frontage 68m 
ii) Minimum Lot Area 1.25 ha. 
iii) Maximum Lot Coverage 15 per cent 

iv) Minimum Front Yard 60m 
v) Minimum Side Yard 35m 
vi) Minimum Rear Yard as existing 
vii) Maximum Height 11 m" 

Special Provision: HMC-23 Formerly: HD-16 By-law No.: 1418/111/83 

In addition to the uses permitted in the Hamlet Commercial (HCM) Zone. this land may 
also be used for the manufacture and sales of monuments and uses, buildings and 
structures accessory thereto and the following regulations shall apply: 

a) 

b) 

c) 

d) 

e) 

f) 

Maximum Lot Coverage 

Minimum Front Yard 

Minimum East Side Yard 

Minimum West Side Yard 

Minimum Rear Yard 

Maximum Building Height 

15 percent 

10 metres 

7.5 metres 

15 metres 

15 metres 

1.5 storeys 

g) Outdoor storage shall be permitted in the east side yard and rear yard and 
shall not be permitted in the required west side yard setback. 

h) Outdoor displays shall be permitted in the front yard. 

Special Provision: 1-24 Formerly: 1-24 By-law No.: n/a 

118 

Deleted: a single 

Formatted: Font color: Red 

270



In addition to the uses permitted in the Institutional ( I) Zone, this land may also be used 
for: 

a) 24 Unit Apartment Building; and 

b) 22 Unit Supportive Living Facility 

Special Provision: HC-25 Formerly: Ll-119 By-law No.: 2021/142/87 

Notwithstanding the provisions of the Light Industrial (LI) Zone, this land may only be 
used for a machine shop and uses, buildings and structures accessory thereto and the 
following regulations shall apply: 

a) The provisions of Sections 1.3.5 and 2.6 shall not apply. 

b) 

c) 

d) 

Minimum Lot Area 

Minimum Lot Frontage 

Minimum North Yard Setback 

e) Minimum Setback to Lands 
Zoned Residential 

f) Minimum Setback to Lands 

Zoned Heavy Industrial 

g) 

h) 

i) 

j) 

Minimum East Yard Setback 

Maximum Building Height 

Minimum Landscaped Open Space 

Maximum Lot Coverage 

4500 square metres 

40 metres 

15 metres 

15 metres 

3 metres 

5 metres 

1 storey 

10 percent 

35 percent 

k) Open storage and display areas shall not be located within any yard. 

I) Loading spaces shall not be located in any required yard. 

m) Parking areas may be located in any yard provided a planting strip is 
provided where any yard abuts a street or lands which are zoned 
residential. Said planting strip shall have a minimum width measured 

perpendicular to the lot line in accordance with the following: 

i) Minimum Width to the 
North Lot Line 9 metres 

119 

271



ii) Minimum Width to Lands 
Zoned Residential 

iii) Minimum Width in All 
Other Cases 

Special Provision: R2-26 Formerly: R2-45 

9 metres 

3 metres 

By-law No. : 1374/67/83 

In addition to the uses permitted in the Second Density Residential (R2) Zone, th is land 
may also be used for a private club and uses, buildings and structures accessory 
thereto and the following regulations shall apply: 

a) Minimum Lot Frontage 50 metres 

b) Minimum Lot Area 0.5 hectares 

c) Minimum Front Yard 9 metres 

d) Minimum Interior Side Yard as existing 

e) Minimum Rear Yard 60 metres 

f) Maximum Building Height 2 storeys 

g) Maximum Lot Coverage 30 percent 

h) Minimum Landscaped Area as existing 

i) Minimum Parking Requirements 1 space per 10 square 
metres of net floor area 

j) Minimum Interior Side Yard (East) 1 metre 

Special Provision: NC-27-H Formerly: NC-H By-law No.: 5910/17/13 

The uses permitted in the Neighbourhood Commercial (NC) Zone shall not occur until 
the Holding (H) symbol on the NC-27-H Zone is removed. Removal of the Holding (H) 
symbol may only occur when the owner enters into and registers on title a Subdivision 
Agreement with the City of Port Col borne. 

Special Provision: R2-28-H Formerly: R2-355-H By-law No.: 5910/17/13 

Notwithstanding the provisions of the Second Density Residential (R2) Zone, the 
following regulations shall apply: 

120 

272



b) 

c) 

d} 

Minimum Lot Frontage - Corner Lot 

Minimum Lot Area 

Minimum Rear Yard 

13.1 metres 

0.03 hectares 

15 metres where abutting 
an active railway right of 
way 

The uses permitted in the Second Density Residential (R2) Zone shall not occur until 
the Holding (H) symbol on the R2-28-H Zone is removed. Removal of the Holding (H) 

symbol may only occur when the owner enters into and registers on title a Subdivision 
Agreement with the City of Port Colborne. 

Special Provision: R3-29-H Formerly: RT-356-H By-law No.: 5910/17/13 

Notwithstanding the provisions of the Third Density Residential (R3) Zone, the following 
regulations shall apply: 

a) 

b) 

Minimum Lot Frontage - Corner Lot 

Minimum Lot Area 

10.5 metres 

0.02 hectares 

The uses permitted in the Third Density Residential (R3} Zone shall not occur until the 
Holding (H) symbol on the R3-29-H Zone is removed. Removal of the Holding (H) 
symbol may only occur when the owner enters into and registers on title a Subdivision 

Agreement with the City of Port Colborne. 

Special Provision: R4-30-H Formerly: R4-357-H By-law No.: 5910/17/13 

Notwithstanding the provisions of the Fourth Density Residential (R4) Zone, these lands 

may only be used for townhouse and apartment dwellings and uses. buildings and 
structures accessory thereto and the following regulations shall apply: 

a) Minimum Rear Yard 15 metres where abutting 
an active railway right of 
way 

The uses permitted in the Fourth Density Residential (R4) Zone shall not occur until the 
Holding (H) symbol on the R4-30-H Zone is removed. Removal of the Holding (H) 
symbol may only occur when the owner enters into and registers on title a Subdivision 

Agreement with the City of Port Colborne. 

Special Provision: NC-31 Formerly: NC-150 By-law No.: 2163/111 /88 

121 

273



In addition to the uses permitted in the Neighbourhood Commercial (NC) Zone, this land 
may also be used for: a professional office and; a business office and uses, build ings 
and structures accessory thereto. 

Special Provision: R4-32 Formerly: R4-151 By-law No.: 2163/111/88 

Notwithstanding the provisions of the Fourth Density Residential (R4) Zone, the 

fol lowing regulations shall apply: 

a) 

b) 

c) 

d) 

Minimum Rear Yard 

Minimum Floor Area One Bedroom Unit 

Minimum Floor Area Two Bedroom Unit 

Minimum Floor Area Three Bedroom Unit 

One-half building height 

80 square metres 

95 square metres 

110 square metres 

Special Provision: CP-33 Formerly: HC-160 By-law No.: 4885/116/04 

Notwithstanding the provisions of the Commercial Plaza (CP) Zone, this land may also 

be used for mini-warehouse/storage use and the following regulations shall apply: 

a) Minimum Interior Side Yard (West) 3 metres 

Special Provision: R4-34 Formerly: R4-203 By-law No.: 4700/82/05 

Notwithstanding the provisions of the Fourth Density Residential (R4) Zone, this land 
may also be used for a Long Term Care Facility, subject to the following regulations: 

a) 

b) 

c) 

d) 

e) 

f) 

g) 

Minimum Lot Area 

Minimum Front Yard 

Minimum Interior Side Yard (North) 

Minimum Rear Yard 

Minimum Landscaped Area 

Minimum Parking Stall Length 

Minimum Two Way Driveway Access 

1605 square metres 

2.9 metres 

4 .3 metres 

2.2 metres 

7.3 percent 

5.5 metres 

5.5 metres 

h) The long term care facility shall not contain more than 36 bedroom units . 

i) The long term care facility may or may not include nursing or medical 

care . 

Special Provision: Ll-35 Formerly: Ll-343 By-law No.: 5511/108/10 

122 

274



In addition to the permitted uses in the Light Industrial {LI) Zone, this land may also be 
used for a hotel, uses, buildings and structures accessory thereto and the following 
regulations shall apply: 

a) Maximum Height 12 metres 

b) Maximum Height for a Hotel 32 metres 

c) Minimum Southerly Yard 14 metres 

d) Minimum Southerly Yard for a Hotel 20 metres 

e) Minimum Westerly Yard 14 metres 

f) Minimum Westerly Yard for a Hotel 20 metres 

g) Minimum Easterly Yard 85 metres 

i) Minimum Interior Side Yard 10 metres 

Special Provision: R2-36 Formerly: R2-368 By-law No. : 5974/80/13 

Notwithstanding the provisions of the Second Density Residential (R2) Zone the use of 
this land shall include a warehouse within the existing building and uses accessory 
thereto and the following regulations shall apply: 

a) Maximum Height shall be as existing. 

b) Planting Strip along the southern lot line is to be maintained as existing. 

c) From warehouse building face to western lot line, one coniferous tree 
within the existing planting strip at an interval of one per dwelling located 
along Delhi Street. 

d) Outside storage is permitted provided opaque screening is provided along 
the southern lot line. 

Special Provision: P-37-H Formerly: P-381-H By-law No.: 6171 /137 /14 

In addition to the uses in the Public and Park (P) Zone, this land may also be used for: 

a) Farmer's Market; 

b) Flea Market; 

c) Motor Vehicle Sales/ Rental Service Centre; 

d) Outdoor Storage; 

123 

275



e) Place of Assembly/Banquet Hall 

f) Warehouse 

The following regulations shall apply for a place of assembly/banquet hall: 

a) That 124 parking spaces be provided. 

The use of the property for warehousing and outdoor storage shall not occur unti l the 
Holding symbol (H) on the "P-381-H (Warehouse, Outdoor Storage & Auditorium -
Holding)" zone is removed. Removal of the Holding Symbol (H) may only occur when the 
owner enters into a Site Plan Agreement with the City that addresses parking, emergency 
access, buffering and landscaping. 

Special Provision: MA0-38-H Formerly: El-373(H) By-law No.: 6007/113/ 13 

Notwithstanding the provisions of the Mineral Aggregate Operation (MAO) Zone, the use 
of this land shall include concrete product manufacturing and uses, buildings and 
structures accessory thereto and the following regulations shall apply: 

a) Maximum Building Height 11 metres 

The Holding Provision is to be removed once a new or revised site plan agreement 
between the City of Port Colborne and Port Colborne Quarries is executed. 

Special Provision: Hl-39 Formerly: Hl-270 By-law No.: 3819/105/99 

In addition to the uses permitted in the Heavy Industrial (HI) Zone, this land may also be 
used for a salvage yard operation to receive, process, store and ship reusable and/or 
recyclable materials such as copper, brass, steel, cast aluminum and stainless steel 
and uses, buildings and structures accessory thereto and the following regulations shall 
apply: 

a) The maximum height of any material which is stacked, piled or otherwise 
stored outside on this property shall not exceed 3.6 metres. 

Special Provision: R1-40 Formerly: R1-291 By-law No.: 4225/61 /02 

Notwithstanding the provisions of the First Density Residential (R1) Zone, the following 
regulations shall apply: 

a) 

b) 

Minimum Yard Setback (North) 
Eagle Marsh Drain 

Minimum Yard Setback (South) 
Water Filled Channel 

7.5 metres 

10 metres 

124 

276



c) No buildings or structures. including accessory buildings or structures are 
permitted in the required yard setback of subsection (a) and (b) above. 

Special Provision: CC-41 Formerly: CC-340 By-law No.: 5578/08/11 

Notwithstanding the provisions of the Central Commercial (CC) Zone, this land may also 
be used for a maximum of four accessory dwelling units on the ground floor and one 
accessory dwelling unit in the basement in combination with a permitted commercial 
use. 

Special Provision: DC-42 Formerly: HC-46 By-law No. : 1374/67/83 

In addition to the uses permitted in the Downtown Commercial (DC) Zone, this land may 
also be uses for wholesale marine and mill supply and uses, buildings and structures 
accessory thereto. 

Special Provision: A-43 Formerly: A-383 By-law No. : 6331 /1 1/16 

In addition to the uses permitted in the Agricultural (A) Zone, this land may also be used 
for one mobile home for permanent year round living accommodation and the following 
regulations shall apply: 

a) Minimum Lot Frontage as existing 

b) Minimum Lot Area as existing 

c) Maximum Lot Coverage 
for a Mobile Home 7 percent 

d) Minimum Front Yard 
for a Mobile Home 75 metres 

e) Minimum West Side Yard 
for a Mobile Home 25 metres 

f) Minimum East Side Yard 75 metres 

g) Minimum Rear Yard 
for a Mobile Home 75 metres 

h) Minimum Ground Floor Area 

for a Mobile Home 65 square metres 

125 

277



i) Maximum Height for a Mobile Home one storey 

Special Provision: DC-44 Formerly: CC-65 By-law No.: n/a 

In addition to the uses permitted in the Downtown Commercial (DC) Zone, this land may 
also be used for marine sales and service, uses buildings and structures accessory 
thereto and the following regulations shall apply: 

a) 

b) 

c) 

Minimum Front Yard 

Maximum Building Height 

Minimum Parking Requirements 

as existing 

1 storey 

in accordance with Section 
3 of this By-law 

Special Provision: HMC-45 Formerly: HD-365 By-law No.: 6050/16/14 

Notwithstanding the provisions of the Hamlet Commercial (HMC) Zone, the use of this 
land shall be restricted to the sale, service and storage of golf carts and the following 
shall apply: 

a) Maximum Height 9 metres 

Special Provision: Hl-46-H Formerly: n/a By-law No. : 5989/95/13 

Notwithstanding the provisions of the Heavy Industrial (HI) Zone, the following shall apply: 

a) The provisions in Section 23 (HI - Heavy Industrial) of the City of Port 
Colborne former Zoning By-law 1150/97/81 wil l continue to apply to the 
lands zoned Hl-46-H (Heavy Industrial · Holding). The permitted uses will be 
restricted to a 56 tank petrochemical storage facility. 

b) The uses permitted in this By-law shall not occur until the Holding Symbol 
(H) on the Hl-46-H (Heavy Industrial - Holding) zone is removed 
through an amending By-law enacted by the City of Port Colborne. The 
Holding Provision will be administered to provide Council with the 
authority to ensure a Phase 2 Archaeological Study, a Geotechnical 
Study, a Noise Study, an Air Quality Study, Site Access and Traffic Study, 
a Vibration Study, a Tree Preservation Plan, an Environmental Impact 
Statement, and a Risk Assessment Report have been undertaken to the 
satisfaction of the City and appropriate approval authorities. Removal of 
the Holding Symbol (H) may only occur when: 

i) The Owner enters into and registers on title a Site Plan Agreement 
with the City of Port Colborne which will include recommendations 

126 

278



made in the supporting technical studies conducted in association 
with the development application; 

ii) The above mentioned technical studies and their recommendations 
are satisfactory to the City of Port Colborne, 

iii) Prior to the City entering to the Site Plan Agreement, approval shall 
be obtained from the applicable approval authority which identifies 
an appropriate location and design for a private sewage disposal 
system and private water supply system to adequately and 
appropriately service the proposed use; and, 

iv) Meet Species at Risk requirements to the satisfaction of Ministry of 
Natural Resources. 

Special Provision: ID-47-H Formerly: n/a By-law No.: 5989/95/1 3 

Notwithstanding the Provision of the Industrial Development (ID) Zone, the following shall 
apply: 

a) Prior to any dry industrial development of lands zoned ID-47-H, a 
Zoning By-law Amendment is required to establish the permitted 
uses and zone requirements. 

b) Further, development on the subject lands shall not occur until the 
Holding Symbol (H) on the ID-47-H (Dry Industrial Development -
Holding) zone is removed through an amending By-law enacted by 
the City of Port Colborne. Removal of the Holding Symbol (H) may 
only occur when: 

i) The Owner enters into and registers on title a Site Plan 
Agreement with the City of Port Colborne which will include 
recommendations made in the supporting technical studies 
conducted in association with the development application; 

ii) Appropriate technical studies are submitted including a Phase 
2 Archaeological Study, a Geotechnical Study, a Noise Study, 
an Air Quality Study, Site Access and Traffic Study, a 
Vibration Study, a Tree Preservation Plan, an Environmental 
Impact Statement, and a Risk Assessment Report dependent 
upon the use proposed. A pre-consultation meeting will be 
held to identify which studies are required and to scope the 
extent of the studies. 

127 

279



iii) The above mentioned technical studies and their 
recommendations are to be satisfactory to the City of Port 
Colborne; and 

iv) Prior to the City entering to the Site Plan Agreement, approval 
shall be obtained from the applicable approval authority which 
identifies an appropriate location and design for a private 
sewage disposal system and private water supply system to 
adequately and appropriately service the proposed use. 

128 

280



Section 38: Definitions 

Abattoir: means a slaughter house designed for the purpose of ki lling animals , 
skinning, dressing and cutting up of carcass, wrapping for sale for human consumption 
with cooler and freezer storage and includes indoor confinement of animals while 
awaiting slaughter but shall not include any cooking or process related to processing 
plants such as smoking, curing or the manufacturing of meat by-products or any 
process related to rendering plants such as the manufacture of tallow, grease, glue, 
fertilizer or any other inedible product. 

Abutting: means two or more lots sharing a common boundary of at least one point; or 
a lot sharing a common boundary with a public road. 

Accessory Agricultural Activities: means equipment maintenance and activities 
required to produce market ready commodities including washing, sorting, drying, 
packing and packaging of agricultural products. 

Accessory Structure: means a detached building, or structure that is incidental and 
secondary to the principal use(s) on the same lot. 

Accessory Use: means a use subordinate and incidental to the principal use(s) on the 
same lot and does only includes a use or uses specifically listed as a permitted use in 
this by-law. 

Address of Convenience: means a home occupation that is solely used for the 
purpose of receiving phone calls, mail and electronic transmissions and the keeping of 
business records. 

Adult Oriented Entertainment Establishment: means any indoor premises or part 
thereof in which is provided, in pursuance of a trade, calling, business or occupation or 
services appealing to or designed to appeal to erotic or sexual appetites or inclinations 
including strip clubs and body rub parlours. Establishments that offer adult oriented 
goods for sale or services which are provided by a provincially licensed registered 
professional such as a registered massage therapist are not included . 

Agriculture Use: means the growing of crops, including nursery, biomass and 
horticultural crops; raising of livestock; raising of other animals for food, fur or fibre , 
including poultry and fish; aquaculture; apiaries; agro-forestry; maple syrup production; 
and associated on-farm buildings and structures, including, but not limited to livestock 
facilities, manure storages, value-retaining facilities and accommodation for full-time 
farm labour when the size and nature of the operation requires additional employment. 

Agriculture Farm Related Commercial or Industrial: means premises directly 
related to serving agriculture uses, including but not limited to canneries, dairies and 
farm implement sales and service. 

129 

281



Agricultural Source Material: means treated or untreated materials, as defined by the 
Nutrient Management Act, other than compost that meets the Compost Guidelines, or a 
commercial fertilizer, if they are capable of being applied to land as nutrients. 

Agri-Tourism and Value Added Use: means farm based business activities that cater 
to the travelling public and agriculture tourism and which support, promote and sustain 
the viability of the agricultural operation. These uses are secondary and subordinate to 
the principal agricultural farm operation and include but are not limited to: farm markets, 
restaurants related to a winery, road side produce stands, pick your own facilities, farm 
mazes, agriculture related special event facilities, agriculture education and research 
facilities and do not include uses and practices that support the day to day agriculture 
farm operation or accessory uses. 

Amenity Space: means and area for outdoor recreation or leisure and does not 
include a parking area. 

Animal Care Establishment: means any premises for the caring, grooming and 
training of household pets without outdoor pens or exercise areas. 

Apartment Building: means a building divided vertically and horizontally, or 
horizontally into five or more dwelling units each with its own entrance either separately 
or from a common vestibule, stairway or hallway. 

Apartment Building, Public: means a building divided vertically and horizontally, or 
horizontally into five or more dwelling units each with its own entrance either separately 
or from a common vestibule, stairway or hallway, that has been erected, owned and/or 
is maintained by a public agency or non-profit charitable organization. 

Asphalt and Cement Manufacturing: means an industrial facility used for the 
manufacture of asphalt, concrete, cement, rock, brick and other aggregate materials 

Attached Building: means a building which shares a roof or wall in common with an 
adjacent building or buildings. 

Balcony: means a platform projecting from the fagade of a wall or walls , cantilevered 
or supported by columns or brackets, located above the grade of the ceiling height of 
the first storey above the basement and may be covered. 

Basement: means the portion of a building partly underground having more than one 
half its height below grade at the principal entrance. 

Bed and Breakfast: means a home based business wherein guestrooms are rented 
for a period not exceeding 28 consecutive days and meals are served to overnight 
guests. 

130 

282



Boat House: means a detached accessory building or structure which is designed or 
used for the sheltering of a boat or other form of water transportation and storage of 
household equipment incidental to the principal residential occupancy of the lot. 

Boat Ramp: means a sloped surface designed for launching and retrieving watercraft 
to and from a body of water. 

Brew-pub: means a small-scale brewery producing beer for sale on the premises or for 
distribution beyond the premises, with the floor area devoted to the production of beer 
not to exceed 45% of the total floor area of the brew-pub, and includes an accessory 
drinking establishment or restaurant. 

Building: means a structure that has a roof, walls and a floor that stands more or less 
permanently in one place. 

Building Envelope: means the three-dimensional buildable area prescribed for a 
building by the regulations of this by-law. 

~i.. , .• n t J 
ortb.1.t. • ..,...... 

- "'~ 
~11: !1n("a\,-J- ·--

ILLUSTRATION Of BUILDING £NVILOPE 

""'-'~~~~~~~~~ 

.--" -;::r 
lt',•l\ llll,_..... .. 

.... 1h.t1"l.., ....... 
_,,,..,,~ ,,,.,.,,,,. .. ,, 

Building Height: means the vertical distance between the average grade at the base 
of a main wall of the building, and height has a corresponding meaning unless 
otherwise defined in this By-law. 

Bulk Fuel Depot: means the use of land, building or structures or parts thereof for the 
bulk surface or underground storage of propane, petroleum products, chemicals, gases 
or similar products and may include the distribution of same. 

Bulk Water Haulage Operator means the use of land for the storage and management 
of a water hauling truck used for the conveyance and dispensing of potable water. 

Campground, Temporary: means an area where temporary, seasonal 
accommodation for tents, tent tra ilers, travel trailers , recreational vehicles and cam pers 
is established. 

Campground, Permanent: means an area where more permanent, seasonal 
accommodation for park model recreation vehicles is established but does not include a 
mobile home. 

131 

283



Car Wash: means premises used for washing and cleaning vehicles. 

Cemetery: means premises used for the interment of the dead and including but not 
limited to columbaria, mausoleums, and crypts. 

Charitable Organization: means a registered charity, religious organization, charitable 
non-profit organization, sports club or service group approved by the Province. 

Chord: means a straight line that joins the ends of an arc. 

Commercial: when used in reference to a building, structure, lot or use means 
pertaining to the buying or selling of commodities or the supplying of services for 
remuneration. 

Common Wall : means vertical wall separating two or more buildings from the base of 
the footing to the roof. 

Community Garden: means an a rea of land managed and maintained by a group of 
individuals for the purpose of cultivation of plants for personal consumption. 

Complying: means in keeping with the quantitative requirements of this By-law. 

Conservation Uses: means the use of land and/or water for the purpose of planned 
management of natural resources. 

Contractor's Yard : means the use of a lot, building or structure, or part thereof by a 
construction company or building contractor for the storage and maintenance of 
vehicles, equipment and materials used by the company or contractor in the 
construction or renovation trades, but does not include wholesale or retail sale of such 
vehicles, equipment or materials or any bui lding supplies or home improvement 
supplies. Such uses may include the following or similar uses: 

a) Foundation, structure and exterior building contractors ; 

b) Building equipment contractors (electrical, plumbing, heating/cooling); 

c) Building finishing contractors; 

d) Landscape contractors ; 

f) Other speciality contractors 

Convenience Store: means a retail store where a range of day-to-day items such as 
newspapers, confections, foodstuffs , sundries and other such household items are sold 
in small quantities. 

132 

284



Conforming: means a use which is permitted by this By-law in the zone category in 
which the use is located. 

Crematorium: means a building fitted with the proper appliances for the purpose of the 
cremation of human or animal remains and includes everything incidental or ancillary 
thereto. 

Cultural Facility: means premises used for the purposes of educational entertainment 
including but not limited to museums, libraries, art galleries, theatres and community 
centres and may include ancillary office, restaurant, retail and service commercial uses. 

Day Care: means a premises used for caring for one or more persons for a portion of 
the day. 

Deck: means a platform structure without a roof which may or may not be attached to 
one or more walls for a building but shall not include a landing or stairs. 

Density: is the number of dwelling units on a lot divided by the net lot area expressed 
as hectares. 

Dock: means an accessory structure built at the shoreline or anchored over water at 
which watercraft are berthed or stored and includes such structure whether floating or 
permanently anchored to the shore or the lake bed. 

Drive-thru Facility: means a premises which includes stacking lanes and service 
areas which provides or dispenses products or services to persons remaining in 
motorized vehicles. 

Driveway: means a vehicle access provided between a street or lane and a parking 
area or a loading space, or between two parking areas, but does not include a parking 
aisle. 

Dwelling, Accessory: means a dwelling unit that is accessory to a permitted non
residential use, other than an automotive use. 

Dwelling, Detached: means a building containing one principal dwelling unit. 

Dwell ing, Duplex: means a building that is divided horizontally into two dwelling units 
each with an entrance either independent to the exterior or through a common 
vestibule. 

Dwelling, Fourplex: means a building that is divided vertically and horizontally into 
four dwelling units each with an entrance either independent to the exterior or through a 
common vestibule. 

Dwelling, Semi-Detached: means a building that is divided vertically into two principal 
dwelling units each with an independent entrance to the exterior. 

133 

285



Dwelling, Townhouse, Block: means a dwelling containing two or more dwelling units 
having private independent entrances directly from a yard and being attached 
horizontally in whole or in part above grade and divided vertically from each other by a 
common masonry wall, the said dwelling being located on a single lot, with or without 
dwellings, such lot being held and maintained under one ownership or under 
condominium ownership pursuant to the Condominium Act. R.S.O. 1990, as amended 
from time to time or any successors thereto. 

Dwelling, Townhouse, Street: means one of a group of not less than three, but not 
more than eight single dwellings which are attached together horizontally in whole or in 
part above grade and divided vertically from each other by a common masonry wal l 
between each two adjacent dwellings and each of which has a private independent 
entrance directly from a yard . 

Dwelling Triplex: means a building that is divided vertically and horizontally, or 
horizontally into three dwelling units in which each dwelling unit has an independent 
entrance to the exterior or through a common vestibule. 

Dwelling Unit: means a self-contained housekeeping unit of one or more rooms 
containing cooking facilities, living quarters, sleeping quarters and sanitary facilities for 
the exclusive use of those residing within the dwelling unit and which has an exclusive 
entrance. 

Dwelling Unit, Accessory: means a separate dwelling unit that is contained within a 
building or in a separate building on a lot containing a dwelling unit which is subordinate 
and secondary to the principal dwelling unit located on the same lot. 

Dynamic Beach Hazard: means areas of inherently unstable accumulations of 
shoreline sediments along the Great Lakes - St. Lawrence River System and large 
inland lakes, as identified by provincial standards, as amended from time to time. The 
dynamic beach hazard limit consists of the flooding hazard limit plus a dynamic beach 
allowance. 

Education Facility: means a premises used for instruction in a business, trade or craft 
that is related or complementary to the associated industrial use. 

Employee Convenience Facilities: means part of a premises providing uses for the 
convenience and heath of employees such as tuck shops, cafeterias, day care, training, 
medical, recreational and fitness facilities . 

Erosion Hazard: means the loss of land, due to human or natural processes , that 
poses a threat to life and property. The erosion hazard limit is determined using 
considerations that include the 100 year erosion rate (the average annual rate of 
recession extended over a one hundred year time span), an allowance for slope 
stability, and an erosion/erosion access allowance. 

134 

286



Farmers Market: means a retail establishment consisting of multiple vendors engaged 
in the sale of food and plant products, a portion of which are locally grown and/or 
prepared. 

Flea Market: means the occasional or periodic sale of new and used goods to the 
public, by groups of individual sellers that is held within a building , structure or open 
area but shall not include a garage/yard sale. 

Floor Area: means the area of all floors in a building or structure as calculated from the 
interior surface of the exterior walls, exclusive of cellars, basements, garages, carports 
or porches. 

Flood and Erosion Protection works: means any work or structure that ensures the 
prevention of loss of life, property damage and social disruption from flood and erosion 
processes. 

Flooding Hazard: means the inundation, under the conditions specified below, as 
areas adjacent to a shoreline or a creek or stream system and not ordinarily covered by 
water: 

a) Along the shoreline of Lake Erie and large inland lakes, the flooding 
hazard limit is based on the one hundred year flood level plus an 
allowance for wave uprush and other water-related hazards; 

b) Along creek, stream and small inland lake systems, the flooding hazard 
limit is the one hundred year flood 

Food Vehicle: means an outdoor vehicle not permanently affixed to the ground and 
capable of being moved on a daily basis, from which food intended for immediate 
consumption is provided for sale or sold, and includes a motorized, self-propelled 
vehicle (i.e. food truck), a vehicle that is not self-propelled, but that can be towed (i.e. 
food trailer) and a vehicle moved by human exertion (i.e. food cart). 

Forestry Uses: means land used for the development, management and cultivation of 
timber resources grown on-site and may include the establishment of an accessory 
portable sawmill. 

Funeral Home: means premises used for the care and preparation of human remains, 
excluding a crematoria and may include related coordination and provision of rites and 
ceremonies so that persons may attend and pay their respects. 

GarageNard Sale: means the occasional or periodic sale of personal property which is 
conducted by the occupant on a lot upon which a dwelling unit exists. 

Grade: means the final elevation of the ground surface of a lot after completion of 
development or construction. 

135 

287



Greenhouse: means a building or structure used for the cultivation and propagation of 
plants. 

Gross Floor Area (GFA): means the total of all floor areas of a building(s) or 
structure(s) measured from the interior wall surface of the exterior walls. 

Guest Room: means a habitable room or suite of rooms wherein accommodation is 
provided for gain or profit and contains no facilities for cooking. 

Heavy Equipment Sales and Service: means the use of land, buildings or structures 
in which heavy machinery and equipment are repaired or serviced or offered or kept for 
sale, rent, lease or hire directly from said lot. 

Height: means the vertical distance of a building or structure from average grade. 

Home Based Business: means a use conducted within a dwelling unit which is 
secondary to the primary residential use of the dwelling unit and does not include 
outdoor activities associated with the home based business. 

Hotel: means a building(s) that provides temporary accommodation to the public for a 
period not exceeding 28 consecutive days and may include independent cooking 
facilities and ancillary uses such as but not limited to restaurants, retail and service 
commercial uses, meeting and convention facilities, banquet faci lities, recreation and 
entertainment facilities and may also include one dwelling unit. 

Industry, Heavy: means premises used for: 

a) The manufacture or processing of products from raw materials; and 

b) Outdoor processing of products and materials. 

Industry, Light: means premises used for: 

a) The manufacture, processing, assembly, disassembly or packaging of 
finished parts or products from previously prepared materials; 

b) The repair or servicing of products; 

c) Building supply storage and wholesale; and 

d) Warehouse and storage 

Industrial Effluent System: means a system which conveys and discharges the by
product for an industri al process that can contain contaminant from non-domestic 
wastes. 
Infrastructure: means physical structures that form the foundation for development or 
resource use. 

136 

288



Intake Protection Zone (IPZ): means an area vulnerable to water quality or water 
quantity threats surrounding a municipal surface water intake as delineated in a Source 
Water Protection Plan. 

Intensive An imal Operation: means the use of land, buildings or structures for the 
raising of fowl or animals where the number of animal units. housed or marketed per 
vear (whichever is greater). exceeds 2.5 animal unit for each hectare of land used for 
such purpose and considered to be raising of livestock. 

Kennel: means any premises where four or more dogs or cats are maintained, 
boarded, trained, bred or cared for in return for remuneration or kept for the purpose of 
sale and is licensed by the City. 

Landscape Buffer: means an open area on a lot used exclusively for the growing and 
maintenance of grass, trees, shrubs and other horticultural elements and is not used for 
any maintenance of grass, trees, shrubs and other horticultural elements and is not 
used for any other purpose except where a driveway and/or sidewalk cross the 
landscape buffer and includes the use of said area for a fence. 

Landscaped Open Space: means a space used for the growth and maintenance of 
grass, flowers, shrubs or similar landscape material and includes landscape buffers, 
walkways, patios, swimming pools, fences, playgrounds and similar facilit ies but 
excludes driveways, parking areas, ramps and curbs. 

Lane: means a private right-of-way that provides a means of access to lots abutting 
thereon. 

Large Motor Vehicle: means a motor vehicle in excess of 3600 kilograms as 
registered with the Ministry of Transportation and shall also include but not be limited to 
a tractor trailer used for hauling purposes, a bus, earth moving equipment and tractors, 
truck or farm vehicles . 

Legal Non-Conforming: means an existing use, building or structure which is not 
permitted in the zone or does not meet the zone regulations of the zone in which it is 
located and which lawfully existed prior to March 19, 1982. 

Livestock: means farm animals and includes but is not limited to: dairy and beef cattle, 
horses, swine, sheep, poultry, goats, fowl , mink, rabbits and other fur bearing animals. 

Loading Space: means an unobstructed open or covered area used to provide access 
to a loading door, platform or bay. 

Long Term Care Facility: means a premises contain ing dwellings which provide care 
to meet the physical, emotional, social, spiritual and personal needs of persons. Long 
Term Care Facilities include Homes for the Aged established under the Home for the 
Aged and Rest Homes Act, as amended; Nursing homes licensed under the Nursing 
Homes Act, as amended; and Chronic Care Facilities. 

137 

289



Lot: means all contiguous land under one ownership and includes: 

a) Corner Lot - a lot situated at the intersection of two or more streets or at 
the intersection of two parts of the same street, which parts have an 
interior angle of intersection of not more than one hundred and thirty-five 
degrees (135"); 

b) Through Lot - a lot bounded on two opposite sides by streets, provided 
that if any lot qualified both as a through lot and a corner lot as defined 
herein, such lot is considered to be a corner lot for the purposes of 
applying the zoning by-law; and 

c) Interior Lot - a lot other than a corner lot and a through lot. 

lllUSTRATION OF LOT TYPES 

strttlit 

~ 1 .. 
-" 

~ ); N 
:; s 

, 
~ >----- £ .,. l ~ .3 " ,,. 

~ i . c: 
3 

WrC(!( 

~ 
"' 

IUUSTRATION OF CORNER LOT 
ON A SINGLE STREET 

Lot Area: means the total horizontal areas within the boundaries of a lot. 

Lot Coverage: means that percentage of a lot covered by building or structure but 
does not include: 

a) An eaves, or eaves trough or any other feature that is located at or above 
the ceiling of the first storey; or 

b) A projection permitted under Section 2.20 . 

..Lot Depth: means the horizontal distance measured between the midpoint of the front 
lot line and the midpoint of the rear lot line. 

138 

___.- Deleted: 1J 
11 
11 
'II 

290



ILLUSTRATION OF LOT DEPTH 

ktl 

-L----+-d-'-]_p•h-~- ll",lf 101 lint-

Lot Line: means the boundary of a lot and includes: 

a) Front Lot Line: which means the lot line, not including a corner lot line, 
which abuts a street for the shortest distance, whether or not that line jogs 
or curves, and extending between the side lot lines, more or less for the 
full width of the lot and where more than one such lot line exists, means a 
lot line which abuts the same street as the front lot line of an abutting lot; 

b) Rear Lot Line: which means the lot line furthest from and opposite the 
front lot line but if there is no such line, that point furthest from and 
opposite the front lot line; and 

c) Interior Side Lot Line: which means the lot line other than a front iot line, 
a corner lot line or a rear lot line; or 

d) Corner Side Lot Line: which means the longest lot line along a public 
road where a lot has two or more lot lines along a public road. 

Lot, Registered: means a parcel of land described in a deed or other document legally 
capable or conveying land or shown as a lot or block on a registered plan of subdivision. 

Lot Width: means the horizontal distance between the side lot lines measured at right 
angles to the lot depth, from a point that is equal to the front yard setback requirement 
for the zone. 

....... ... , . 
........... ~ ' 

IUUS1RAllON Of lOT \\101H 

I 
t 

4-l.- i..i .. Wt~--+-

! I ~ 
} .. , 

1 .. ,, ... ' . 
Maintenance and Storage Facility: means a building, lot, or structure, or part thereof 
that is used for the mechanical repai r of equipment and provides uses for the 

139 

291



convenience and health of employees such as tuck shops, cafeterias, training, medical 
and recreational and fitness facilities . 

Marina: means a premises containing docking facilities and which is located on a 
navigable waterway, where boats or boat accessories are stored, serviced, repaired, 
launched or kept for sale and where a full range of marine services may be provided 
including but not limited to fuelling and sewage pump out facilities, showers, foodstuffs 
and laundry facilities and ancillary restaurants. 

Marine Sales and Service: means a building or part thereof and associated lands 
where a dealer displays new and used boats and marine accessories for sale or rent 
and where marine equipment is serviced or repaired and may include boat storage 
facilities. 

Medical Clinic: means a place where a medical doctor, dentist or other lawfully 
qualified health care practitioner has his or her practice and includes a medical or dental 
laboratory. 

Medical Marihuana Production Facility: means a building or structure used for the 
cultivation, processing, testing, destruction, packaging and shipping of marihuana used 
for medicinal purposes as permitted under the Federal Government's Marihuana for 
Medical Purpose Regulations (MMPR), as amended from time to time, or an successors 
thereto. 

Mineral Aggregate Operation: ·means 

a) An operation other than wayside pits and quarries, conducted under a 
license or permit under the Aggregate Resources Act or successors 
thereto· and 

b) Associated accessory facilities used in extraction, transport, beneficiation. ---{ Formatted: Indent: Lett: 0.5", Hanging: os · 
processing or recycling of mineral aggregate resources and derived 
products such as asphalt and concrete, or the production of secondary 
related products. 

Minimum Distance Separation Formulae: means formulae and guidelines developed 
by the Province, as amended from time to time. to separate uses so as to reduce 
incompatibility concerns about odour from livestock facilities. 

Mobile Home: means a residence that is designed and manufactured to be 
transported on its own chassis and is equipped for year-round occupancy. 

Mobile Home Park: means two or more occupied mobile homes housed on the same 
lot. 

140 

292



Motor Vehicle : means an automobile, motorcycle, motorized boat. motorized snow 
vehicle and any other vehicle propelled or driven otherwise than by muscular power, but 
excludes a large motor vehicle. 

Motor Vehicle Repair Garage: means a premises where mechanical repairs on motor 
vehicles including painting and body repairs are preformed and may include a motor 
vehicle gas station. 

Motor Vehicle Sales/Rental Service Centre: mean premises where new and used 
vehicles are kept for sale, lease or rent and may include a motor vehicle repair garage. 

Motor Vehicle Gas Station: means premises for the retail sale of gasoline, diesel fuel, 
lubricants and associated motor vehicle fluids and may include a propane filling station. 

Multi-Modal Storage Facility: means premises used for the indoor or outdoor, short 
term storage of goods, materials or containers which are unloaded from cargo ships and 
awaiting further transport via transport truck, rail or other similar means. 

Municipal Camp Ground: means an open area provided for the use of outdoor 
camping in tents, tent trailers , travel trailers or recreational vehicles. 

Natural Heritage Features: means wetlands, significant woodlands, fish habitat, areas 
of natural and scientific interest (ANSI's), significant habitat of endangered species and 
threatened species, significant wildlife habitat, natural corridors, key hydrological 
features. 

Natural Hazard Lands: means shorelines, floodplains and significant valleylands . 

Noxious Use: means 

smoke, glare. radiation. electrical interference; or 

b an use involvin the use or stora e of hazardous toxic or contaminant 
substances which constitutes a threat to public health and safety; or 

c) any use that is not lawfully permitted in the Province of Ontario; or 

c) a combination thereof; but 

Office: means a building or part thereof where administration and clerical functions are 
carried out in the management of a business, profession, organization or public 
administration. 

141 

293



One Hundred Year Flood: for a river, stream and small inland lake systems, means 
that flood, based on an analysis of precipitation, snow melt, or a combination thereof, 
having a return period of 100 years on average, or having a 1 % chance of occurring or 
being exceeded in any given year. 

Operating Apparatus: means outdoor mechanical equipment or machinery used in 
conjunction with buildings or structures including but not limited to air conditioners, 
generators, heat exchanges and compressors. 

Outdoor Commercial Patio: means an outdoor seating area, operated as part of a 
full-service or take-out restaurant or brew pub. 

Outdoor Storage: means the keeping in an unroofed area of any goods , junk, 
material, merchandise or vehicles in the same place for more than 24 hours. 

Owner: means any person whose interest in a parcel of land is defined and whose 
name is specified in an appropriate instrument in the relevant Land Registry Office. 

Park: means a playground, sports field , garden, outdoor public swimming pool and 
may also include accessory buildings or structures such as a maintenance building or 
washroom. 

Park Model Recreation Vehicle: means a trailer-type recreation vehicle that is 
designed to provide a temporary accommodation for recreation, camping or seasonal 
use. Park Model Recreation Vehicles are built on a single chassis, mounted on wheels. 

Parking Area: means an area of land used for parking of motor vehicles and which is 
located on the same lot as the principal use and comprises all parking spaces or at least 
the minimum number required by this By-law and all driveways, aisles, maneuvering 
areas, entrances, exits and similar areas used for the purpose of gaining access to, or 
egress from the said parking spaces. 

Parking Space: means a portion of a parking area, exclusive of any aisles, to be used 
for the temporary parking or storage of a motor vehicle or recreation vehicle and can 
include a garage or carport. 

142 

294



Pu1<1ng Lot llluatreuon 

Parking Structure: means a structure used for the parking of motor vehicles but does 
not include a garage, or a carport accessory to a detached, semi-detached or duplex 
dwelling. 

Passive Recreation: means the use of land which is typically unobtrusive and not 
disturbing to the surrounding natural landscape and may include walking trails , natura l 
inter retive facilities bird and wildlife observation areas and similar uses involved in the 
enjoyment of the natural environment. 

Personal Service Business: means a place where: 

a) A service is performed for the personal grooming and personal effects or 
clothing of the consumer, including a hair styling salon, tattoo and piercing 
parlours, spa, tanning salon, shoe repair shop, dry cleaning outlet and 
accessory dry cleaning equipment; laundromat; tailor or dressmaker shop; 

or massage therapy service but excluding an adult entertainment 
establishment; 

b) A consultation or information service is provided by a professional, other 
than a medical professional, including a travel agency or interior 
decorator; or 

c) Other personal or business services are provided including a printing, 
publishing, photocopying, picture framing or photofinishing service, 
including self-service operations. 

Petrochemical Storage Facility: means the use of land , building or structures or parts 
thereof for the bulk surface or underground storage of propane, petroleum products, 
chemicals, gases or similar products and may include the distribution of same. 

Place of Assembly/Banquet Hall : means premises providing a room or rooms to 
accommodate gatherings or people for events including but not limited to trade shows, 
banquets, weddings and conventions and does not include a Place of Worship. 

143 

295



Place of Worship: means a building, structure or part thereof, which is primarily used 
for the practice of religion and faith-based spiritual purposes wherein people assemble 
for faith based worship and teachings, fellowship and community social outreach and 
may include a cemetery. 

Platform Structure: means a raised level surface including but not limited to decks, 
balconies and porches. 

Pool, Above Ground: means a pool used for recreational swimming with a 
superstructure 0.6 metres or greater above grade. 

Pool, In-Ground: means a pool used for recreational swimming with a superstructure 
that is less than 0.6 metres above grade. 

Porch: means a platform structure attached to a main wall or walls of a building having 
a roof. 

Premises: means the whole or part of lands, buildings or structures or a combination 
thereof. 

Principal: means the primary use of a lot, building or structure. 

Principal Entrance: means the primary use entrance to a building. 

Private Club: means a building, structure or lot owned and operated by a private 
organization for use by its members and guests. 

Private Water Supply and Sewage Treatment Facility: means a non-municipal 
drinking water, or sewage treatment facility that serves a private use. 

Public Use: means a building, structure or lot used for public services by the 
corporation, the Regional Municipality of Niagara, the Federal and/or Provincial 
Government, Board of Education, utility and rail companies or similarly recognized 
agencies and any not-for-profit organization that is acting on behalf of any of the 
aforementioned agencies. 
Recreation Facility: means a premises used for participatory and/or spectator
oriented recreation and entertainment use and may include ancillary office, restaurant, 
retail and service commercial uses. 

Recreation Vehicle: means a vehicle which provides short term occupancy intended 
and used exclusively for travel. recreation and vacationing, designed to be towed or 
propelled by a motor vehicle or self-propelled, and includes such vehicles commonly 
known as; travel trailers, camper trailers, truck campers, motor homes or other similar 
vehicles but does not include a mobi le home. 

Research Facility: means a premises for research, investigation, testing o r 
experimentation and which may include engineering and product development. 

144 

296



Restaurant, Fast-Food: means a premises that sells food and beverages over a 
counter to its customers for consumption in the restaurant, for consumption in a motor 
vehicle on the premises or for consumption off the premises. 

Restaurant, Full-Service: means a restaurant that sells and serves food and 
beverages to patrons seated at tables for consumption on the premises . 

Restaurant, Take-Out: means a restaurant that does not have seating capacity for 
diners and instead : 

a) Sells food and beverages over the counter for pick-up by the consumer for 
consumption of the premises; or 

b) Delivers food and beverages directly to the consumer for consumption off 
the premises. 

Retail Store: means a building or part thereof where goods, wares and new or used 
merchandise is offered for sale to the public. 

Retail Building and Construction Supply: means a premises engaged in the selling 
or installing of building supplies including lumber, millwork, siding, roofing, plumbing, 
electrical, heating, air conditioning, landscaping, home improvements and similar items. 

Risk Management Official: means a person appointed under Part IV of the Clean 
Water Act, 2006 that has the authority to pass by-laws respecting water production, 
treatment and storage under the Municipal Act, 2001. 

Road, Improved: means a right of way under government jurisdiction that is open and 
maintained year round. 

Road, Unimproved: means a right of way under government jurisdiction that is open, 
but is not maintained. 

Roof, Pitched: means a roof with an angle equal to or greater than 15 degrees. 

Salvage Yard: means a lot, building or structure used for wrecking, dismantling, storing 
or selling used goods, wares or materials but does not include a flea market or 
garage/yard sale. 

Seasonal: means the use of buildings, structures, amenity areas or outdoor spaces for 
a continuous period between May 1 and October 31 and means the use of buildings, 
structures, amenity areas or outdoor spaces for no more than 14 consecutive days 
between November 1 and April 30. 

Sensitive Land Use: means buildings, amenity areas or outdoor spaces where routine 
or normal activities occurring at reasonably expected times would experience one or 
more adverse effects from contaminant discharges, fumes, odours, vibrations, sound 

145 

297



waves or radiation generated from a nearby industrial, medical marihuana production, 
transportation or utility source. Sensitive land uses may be part of the natural or built 
environment. Examples may include, but are not limited to: residential uses, parks, 
community or day care centres, recreation areas, medical facilit ies, churches and 
schools. 

Service, Commercial : means a building or part thereof wherein articles or goods are 
repaired or serviced or where replacement parts for such articles or goods are offered 
for sale. 

Setback: means the distance from a bui lding o r structure to a lot line. 

Setback from top of bank: means the horizontal distance from the point of the slope or 
bank where the downward inclination of the land begins or the upward inclination of the 
land levels off to the nearest point of any main wall of any building or structure. 

Sight Triangle: means an unobstructed, required triangular area where the front lot 
line and corner side lot line meet on a corner lot. 

I LLUSTRATION OF CORNER SICHT TRIANGLES 

11111--• 

Social Service Facility: means premises providing counselling advocacy, dispensing 
of aid and including but not limited to a crisis centre and emergency shelter. 

Solid Waste Disposal Facility: means a facility providing for the long-term storage or 
destruction of municipal solid waste and includes a landfill site or an incinerator. 

Special Event: means an event which provides entertainment for the enjoyment of 
members of the general public, an event where an admission fee is paid by persons 
who attend or fees are paid for receiving a meal and/or entertainment and where all 

146 

298



profits are directed to a charitable organization and may include but not be limited to: 
dinner theatres, picnics, barbeques, corn/pig roasts and fairs . 

Stand Alone Parking Lot: means a stand-alone parking area whether or not parking is 
provided in exchange for remuneration. 

Storey: means the portion of a building situated between the top of any floor and the 
ceiling above it or the top of the floor above it but does not include a basement. 

Stormwater Management Facility: means a facility for the treatment, retention, 
infiltration or control of stormwater. 

Street Line: means any lot line that divides a lot from an improved or unimproved road. 

Structure: means anything constructed or erected having a fixed point on or in the 
ground or attached to building or structure having a fixed point on or in the ground. 

Studio: means the use of a building for part thereof for: 

a) the workplace of an artist of craftsman including a painter, sculptor and a 
photographer, where goods including jewellery or fine art such as portraits 
or sculptures are produces in small quantity and may be provided for sale; 
or 

b) recreational activities that are performed for which a membership or 
instruction fee is charged and shall include but not be limited to; weight
lifting or fitness centres, boxing or racquet sport clubs, martial arts 
schools, and yoga and dance studios. 

Supportive Living Facility: means a multi-unit building or part thereof with private 
living space, monitoring and emergency support, optional meal services, housekeeping 
services, laundry, social and recreational activities. These facilities may be privately 
owned and operated, administered by a non-profit organization or run under the 
authority of the Ontario Housing Corporation which is qualified to receive funding from 
the Province. 

Tandem Parking: means the parking of one motor vehicle directly behind another. 

Trailer and Golf Cart Sales and Rental: means premises used for the sale, service 
and rental of trailers and golf carts but does not include the sale, service or rental of all 
terrain vehicles or snowmobiles. 

Trailer Park: means a lot used for the parking of inhabited recreation vehicles. 

Transportation Depot: means any premises where large motor vehicles, buses or 
taxis are parked and may include dispatching and administrative offices and vehicle 
servicing. 

147 

299



Upper Tier Government: means the Federal Government of Canada, the Province of 
Ontario and the Regional Municipality of Niagara. 

Use: means a use of land for any purpose; and "used" and "using", and other such 
forms of the word have a corresponding meaning. 

Utility Trailer: means a portable structure designed for the hauling of goods, materials, 
motor vehicles and the like, having a width not exceeding 2 .5 metres, a height not 
exceeding 1.25 metres and a length not exceeding 7.2 metres, and is not used for 
commercial purposes. 

Veterinary Clinic: means a building or part thereof with or without related structures 
wherein animals of all kinds are treated or kept for treatment by a registered 
veterinarian. 

Warehouse: means premises in which goods or wares are stored and where trucks 
are stored, loaded or unloaded. 

Waste Disposal Site: means the application of untreated septage, the storage, 
treatment and discharge of tailings from mines and waste disposal sites as defined 
under Part V of the Ontario Environmental Protection Act with respect to Source Water 
Protection. 

Wastewater Treatment Facility: means the part of a sewage works that treats or 
disposes of sewage but does not include the part of the sewage works that collects or 
transmits sewage. 

Wayside Pits and Quarries: means a temporary pit or quarry opened and used by or 
for a public authority solely for the purpose of a particu lar project or contract of road 
construction and not located on the road right-of-way. 

Wholesale Marine and Mill Supply: means premises used for the selling or installing 
of marine supplies including millwork, welding, plumbing, electrical, heating and similar 
items. 

Yard: means an area of a lot abutting a building that is intended for use for such 
purposes as privacy space, landscaping, parking or access and includes a: 

a) Front Yard: which means that yard that extends across the full width of 
the lot between a front lot line and the nearest point of the principal 
building, not including a projection permitted under Section 2.20. 

b) Rear Yard: which means that yard that extends across the full width of 
the lot between a rear lot line and the nearest point of the principal 
building not including a projection permitted under Section 2.20. 

148 

300



c) Interior Side Yard: which means that yard not abutting an improved road 
that extends from the front yard to the rear yard between a side lot line 
and the nearest point of the principal building, not including a projection 
permitted under Section 2.20. 

d) Corner Side Yard : which means that yard abutting an improved road that 
extends from the front yard to the rear yard between a corner side lot line 
and the nearest point of the principal building, not including a projection 
permitted under Section 2.20. 

Yard Setback: means the distance required by this By-law between a lot line, not 
including a corner lot line, and a building and includes: 

a) Front Yard Setback: which means the shortest distance between the 
front lot line and any part of a building, not including a projection permitted 
under Section 2.20. 

b) Rear Yard Setback: which means the shortest distance between the rear 
lot line and the nearest point of the principal building, not including a 
projection permitted under Section 2.20. 

c) Interior Side Yard Setback: which means the shortest distance between 
the interior side lot line and any part of a building between the front and 
rear yards, not including a projection permitted under Section 2.20. 

d) Corner Side Yard Setback: which means the shortest distance between 
the corner side lot line and any part of a building between the front and 
rear yards, not including a projection permitted under Section 2.20. 

149 

301



ILLUSTRATION Of YARDS AND YARD SETBACKS 

lt'1tr 

t·1111~uL 

,,.0 , . , ~ •ntrnt)I' 

-k· \ . 11<1 - -------..-.... - - ~kt \'.ml 
·•"'h,i• !.. lmnl ~ ·tl~k. l 

v..rrl 
~t·ll1.11,. ' 

rrnnl y.ud 

Yard, Required: means that portion of a lot between a specified lot line and the 
specified distance to where a building or structure may be located. 

Zone : means a designated area of land use shown on Schedules A 1 - A8 in Section 
38 of this By-law. 

150 

302



303



-~
· 

! I 

~
 

-----III 
~
~
~
~
.
.
J
U
~
~
J
 

304



SCHEDliLE 'A2' .. .., ......... __ _ 
Zone 

AGRICULTURAL 
AGRICULTURAL PURPOSES ONL \' 
AGRICULTURAL RESIDENTIAL 
RURAL 
RURAL RESIDENTIAL 
INSTITUTIONAL 
HAMLET RESIDENTIAL 
INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT 
GATEWAY INDUSTRIAL 
HEAVY INDUSTRIAL 
PUBLIC AND PARK 
ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION 

~]"'"'"~~;~~~' 

305



Cil}' of Port Colbomc 

~ 
sci'if:'D'Ui:E ' AJ" 
WR) ·l&1>·~---

LEGENO 
Symbol Zone 

A AGRICULTURAL 
APO AGRICULTURAL PURPOSES ONl-Y 
AR AGRICULTURAL RESIDENTIAL 
RU RURAL 
RR RURAL RESIDENTIAL 
I INSTITUTIONAL 
HR HAMLET RESIDENTIAL 
HMC HAMLET COMMERCIAL 
VR VACATION RESIDENTIAL 

~
HAZARD 
ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION 
ENVIRONMENTAL CONSERVATION 

,, I i. 

"tk> u!khnh:I~ .\1 .n,4'o i.:.. 
..... d .. _ P,.fl(_.!1111 

306



S'-mhJI 
A 

Al'O 
AR 
Rll 
RR 
LR 
llR 
ll U 
llMC 

' p 

~ 

~ 

Cuy of Pon Colbome 

-----,, fl f j ; • '"it~ 

SCHEDULE "A4" 
toll)•hmNt'\ _ _ _ 

LEGEND 

"'·~ AGRICUI. n lkJ\L 
AORJCUl.nJltAl.l'U kl'tb'E.~ONI V 
AURlaJL TIJRAl 1£SIU0.'TIAI 
RURAL 
RURAL kESIOENTlAL 
l.AXfSJIORE RESJOENl LU. 
UAMLET RF.SIDHITlAI 
llAMLET OEVEl.tlrMEN r 
f lAMLt:T COMMERCIAi 
INSTTTUTIONAL 
PUOtl«.: ANU l'ARK 
E:NVIROl'JMOITAL PROIT.CTION 
llA7.ARlJ 

ENVlRONMF.l'fft\L CUNSERVll. I l0t4 

1""• ...... -AJ ........ .. 

,.,..,.,, ... !'UO. "'·'JIMl~ll 

307



.:::ice ,::,cneau1c /-\.!.. 

~L\0 

MAO 

' "' 
' u !l;L\0 

.II ~ 
.c MA<) u 
ti) 

g 
ti) 

........... 
M.110 

A ;\ 

A 

S}•mbol 
A 
AR 
APO 
RU 
RR 
RI 
RD 
LR 
I 
p 
MAO 
c:;) 

~ 
c::::J 

City of Port Col borne .. 
1'111 r \ nll< •11,1 

SCHEDULE "AS" 
10 By-law No ----

LEGEND 

Zone 
AGRICULTURAL 
AG RIC'UL TURAL RESIDEN11AL 
AGRICULTURAL PURPOSES ONLY 
RURAL 
RU~~L RESIDENTIAL 
FIRST DENSrTY RESIDENTIAL 
RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT 
LAKESHORE RESIDENTIAL 
INSTrTUTIONAL 
PUBLIC AND PARK 
MINERAL AGGREGATE OPERATIONS 
ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION 
HAZARD 
ENVIRONMENT AL CONSERVATION 

Th11 I• ~hcdulc •A.S- t11 Av·l.:iw Nrt 

Pa;mt 1hc-21rdJ11r o(i\p1111l f'I 

I 

308



l\llH\Ollllll\1\1 

SCHEDULE "A6" 
10 By· law No ___ _ 

Symbol LEGEND Zone 

A AGRICULTURAL 
AR AGRICUL TUR.\L RESIDENTIAL 
RR RUR.~L RESIDENTIAL 
LR LAKESHORE RESIDENTIAL 
RI FIRST DENSITY RESIDENTIAL 
Rl SECOND DENsm· RESIDENTIAL 
RJ HURD DENSITY RESIDENTIAL 
R• FOURTH DENSITY RESIDENTIL 
RD RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT 
MU MlXED USE 
NC NEIGHBOURHOOD COMMERCIAL 
DC DOWNTOWN COMMERCIAL 
HC HIGHWAY COMMERCIAL 

INSTITUTIONAL 

LI 
HI 
MAO 
GI 

~ r:j 

PUBLIC AND PARK 
LIGHT INDUSTRJAL 
HEAVY INDUSTRIAL 
MINERAL AGGREGATE OPERATIONS 
GATEWAY INDUSTRJAL 
IN DUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT 
ENVIRONMENTAi. PROTECTION 
HAZARD 
ENVIRONMENTAL CONSERVATION 

1h151::11 Sc:hc-d11lc'"Ali"11• B•'-lKwNu 

l'!Uk\.I rhc 2JrJ D.i)•ur Apnt 201ll: 

t ..... ' _-r-i' T-'-'2- -+f.- ---1)_ 

309



RD 

City of Port Colbomc •• l\'llUU\!Ht 'tll•J 

SCHEDULE "A?'' 
10 By-law No ---

LEGEND 
Symbol 

RI 
Rl 
R1 
R< 

Zone 
FIR~T DENSITY RESIDENTIAL 
Sl(CDND DENSITY f{E.<IDl'ITTIAI 
Tl llRD DENSITY kESll)EN'rlAL 
FOIJRTll DEN>ITY kESIOENTIL 

RD RESlUCNTlAL l.>C.VELOP~lENT 
NC NEU.i i lllOUK.11000 COM~tf'RCIAL 
OC DO\\'NTO\\"N t.'ONL\IERl'lAI 
llC 1-DUHWAYCOM.\lERCW... 
MC MAAINF. COMMERCIAi. 

rNsrmrnoNAI. 

HI 

D 
~ 
D 

11' JBI IC ANO PARK 
HEAVY rNOIJ>1'RIAI 
FlWIR<~ROOAI. PRUTE<.1'1UN 
IW.AIW 
hNYIRUNMENTAL <.:ONSl(RVATION 

~ 
n. •• .ldwlflik • .\l'"•lt) ...... '-"• 

~· .... .:.1 ... 1WO.J<J/\tlf'9!1tll 

.._........,_._~t+--~--1i.~~~~~-

310



. . . . . . . . .. .... . . . . . . . . .. . . . . 

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
. . . . . . . . . . . . . 

,,, 

---

" IU 
Rl 

"' ,, 
RD 
"Il l 
xc 
llC 
llC 
l., 

LI 

l \111lo~"" 
SCHEDULE "AS" 
IOB\•ll\wNo ---

AR.ST l)f-:O.:lffn R1:..o;;1oc,11 .. \ 1. 
.si:CO!\U oc~snY RCSIDF~'TI u. 
TlltROOt~m Rl.$ll>E.,~L 

FOl. 1RTII Df.:-.SIT\ RESIO~Tl.\I. 
Rf.sllN:.11.'l IAL l'OW~llOl "Sl 
RESllJBl.TI \l UE\"ELOPM£\T 
.\ll~EOIISI. 

XOOllOOl 'RJ IOOO CO\H.lfJICI \t 
f)O" :'\TO"~ CO,\l.\IEltCLU. 
111011\\' \Y (.'Q~l~lERCI \L 
00.\fMl:kCl,\I rL.V.,o\ 
l :"l.'S11lt'TIOS\L 
l'l 'llLH." A Ml l'ARJ.: 
UGlfllXDt'~TRIAL 

Jn 111-.A\"Y l' l>t HRL\I. 
A , \.ORJC'l:"l TI kAL 
..\10 t\OkfULTI M.ALf't .Jll'OSF.SWL\' 
\H l.OJUCnn·rc,\L RE.~llJE.\'TI \I 

llJt JU' K.AI IU·:SU>t-::-.-n\L 
E.} E.''\'IROS).tD."TAL rROTECTIUN 

D E.'l\111to!'-~t l:.11< rALC<1'l.sut1.A110~ 

J. 
Fr t1 1 

.. 
·"' 

n...•Sdio.W.'u· .. ,..~,s.. 
....... 11,. !'-•O..,e( ...... 11:oi1 

..... h ....... 1.,. •• 

,,__.l.._ .. ,..,..l 

I 

311



City of Port Colborne 
.... 

l'OR T COi llOR 'J~ 

SCHEDULE "A9" 
to By-law No. _ __ _ 

Legend 
Symbol Zone 

- IPZ-1 

~ IPZ-2 

Not10SC!lli: 

l 
This is Schedule "A 9" to By-law No. 
Passed the 23rd Day of April 2018. 

John Maloney, Mayor 

Amber LaPointe, City Clerk 

312



The Corporation of the City of Port Colborne 

By-law No. 

Being an Interim Control By-law 

Whereas the Municipal Council of The Corporation of the City of Port Colborne, 
pursuant to Section 38(1) of the Planning Act, R.S.O. 1990, as amended, passed a 
resolution on April 23, 2018 directing that the Planning and Development Department 
undertake a review or study in respect of land use planning policies of the Official Plan 
and uses permitted in the Mineral Aggregate Operation zone; 

Whereas it is deemed necessary in accordance with sound planning principals to 
restrict and permit development of land and uses in the Mineral Aggregate Operation 
zone; 

Whereas Section 38 of the Planning Act, R.S.O., 1990, as amended, allows for the 
passing of an Interim Control By-law prohibiting the use of land, buildings or structures 
within the municipality for, or except for, such purposes as are set out in the by-law; 

Now therefore the Council of The Corporation of the City of Port Colborne enacts 
as follows: 

1. No land, building or structure in the Mineral Aggregate Operation zone as shown 
in the new Zoning By-law shall be used other than the following uses: 

a) Making or establishment of pits and quarries for the purpose of extracting 
natural materials from the earth including soil, clay, sand, gravel, stone, 
rock, shale and minerals; 

b) Processing of natural materials including screening, sorting, washing, 
crushing, storing and other similar operations related to an extractive 
industrial operation; 

c) Uses, structures and buildings accessory thereto excepting any building or 
structure used for human habitation. 

2. This by-law shall be in effect for a period of one year from the date of passing 
of this by-law, or until repealed. 

3. This by-law shall come into force pursuant to Section 38 of the Planning Act, RSO 
1990, as amended. 

Enacted and passed this 23rd day of April , 2018. 

John Maloney 
Mayor 

Amber Lapointe 
City Clerk 

313



This paoe intentionally left blank. 

314



Fire and Emergency Services Department 

POR. T COLBOR.NE 

Report Number: 2018-48 Date: April 23, 2018 

SUBJECT: Fire Marque Indemnification Technology® 

1) PURPOSE 

This report was prepared by the Fire Chief as a result of an inquiry from Mr. Chris 
Carrier, National Municipal Accounts Manager, Fire Marque. 

2) HISTORY, BACKGROUND, COUNCIL POLICY, PRACTICES 

Fire Marque is a licensed Canadian company that could provide funding to the Fire 
Department by billing insurance companies when the City's Fire Department responds 
to fires. 

A modification of the City's fee schedule established for the Fire Department under By
law No. 6558/13/18 would be required. In addition, a by-law entering into an agreement 
with Fire Marque and the Corporation of the City of Port Colborne would also be 
required . The Fire Marque program would not cost the municipality any money. A 
percentage of the fees collected would be retained by Fire Marque. 

Some frequently asked questions are the following: 

Will local insurance rates go up as a result of the Fire Marque program? 

No. Property insurance policies already have fire department expense coverage in it. 

Why do auto premiums go up after an accident and property premiums do not? 

Auto policies are rated on the driver's driving record including the driver's age, sex, 
experience, vehicle use, as well as the type of vehicle driven. Any changes, such as an 
accident or ticket, will result in a driving record adjustment and therefore, may result in a 
premium change. 

Property insurance is rated on the building and contents. Some of the factors 
underwriters consider include: how close a building is to a fire hydrant, what the 
replacement cost of the building is and whether there is an alarm system, a wood stove, 
etc. 

When Fire Marques' invoice is more that the insurance coverage, what happens 
then? 

The insurance company will pay the claim to the limit of the policy's coverage. The 
municipality absorbs the balance. 

315



Property taxes include the cost of fire department services, so is the department 
charging again for their service? 

No, the municipality is not charging again. The property owner has already paid for fire 
department expense coverage in their insurance policy. Indemnification Technology® 
makes it possible to tap into that coverage. 

Does Fire Marque have a legal right to claim reimbursement of these expenses? 

Yes. In addition to the user's fee schedule by-law, Fire Marque sets up an agreement 
with the municipality. This gives Fire Marque the legal right to collect funds through 
Indemnification Technology®. All municipal agreements are available under the 
Freedom of Information Act. 

Do the funds Fire Marque collects go to the Fire Department? 

Yes, all funds must go to the Fire Department. That is clearly stipulated in the legal 
agreement between Fire Marque and your municipality. 

What happens if the insurance company simply does not pay? 

In such cases, Fire Marque makes a request to the Superintendent of Insurance to 
investigate in accordance with the Insurance Act. When an insurer charges a premium 
for a coverage, they are obligated to pay the claim as per the coverage. 

What happens if there is a disagreement with the costs? 

Fire Marque invoices are in accordance with the established Provincial Transportation 
Rates and the municipality's by-laws. Should a disagreement arise, Fire Marque sits 
down with the insurance company and discusses the costs to reach a resolution . 

What happens with any personal information collected? 

As per Fire Marques' Privacy Policy, personal information is deleted from records after 
the file is paid or closed. 

Will the Fire Department charges reduce the insurance payout or the amount of 
insurance coverage for the property policy holder? 

No. The coverage for Fire Department expenses in a property policy is usually over and 
above the policy limits. However, on some policies the Fire Department Expense 
Coverage is part of the limits of the total coverage. For example, if the cost to put out 
the fire is $10,000 and the remaining coverage available after the structure is rebuilt is 
only $5,000 then the recovery would only be $5,000. Fire Marque will only submit a 
claim for fire department expense coverage according to the limits and wordings of the 
insurance policy. This is defined in the federal definition of Indemnif ication 
Technology®. 

Fire and Emergency Services Department, Report No. 2018-48 Page 2 of 4 

316



Within many insurance policies the following statement appears: 

Fire Department service charges 

• We will pay for the reasonable additional expenses you incur when the fire 
department is called to save or protect "covered property" from "covered cause of 
loss" occurring at a "premise". 

• Fire department service charges are those resulting from the cost of fire 
extinguishing materials expended and: 
a) assumed by contract or agreement prior to loss or damage; or 
b) required by local ordinance 

3) STAFF COMMENTS AND DISCUSSIONS 

The Fire Chief has discussed this opportunity with the Chief Administrator Officer, as 
well as senior staff. Additionally, members of Council , specifically the Mayor, was 
approached at a recent AMO Conference by a representative of Fire Marque. A 
decision was made that a brief report should be provided to Council as well as asking a 
representative of Fire Marque to attend a Council meeting to answer any questions that 
members of Council may have. 

This proposal/program does provide additional funding opportunities that can be added 
to the Fire Department's fee schedule. Funds raised through this program must be 
earmarked towards fire equipment, public education and f ire safety programs within the 
city. 

Those yet to be determined amounts would allow on-going safety programs to continue 
to be funded with limited strain on budgets. Indicated within the information provided by 
Fire Marque that only the insurance companies will be billed and not the homeowner. 
Should there be no homeowner insurance no bill would be processed. 

4) OPTIONS AND FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS 

a) Option 1 

Council could determine that it does not want to enter into an agreement with Fire 
Marque. 
Not Recommended 

b) Option 2 

Council could determine that an agreement with Fire Marque would be beneficial to the 
City and provide additional funding that would have no negative affect on taxpayers. 
Recommended 

Financial Considerations 

Should Council determine that the City should enter into an agreement with Fire Marque 

Fire and Emergency Services Department, Report No. 2018-48 Page 3 of 4 

317



the City will receive 70% of all money collected. The fees are based on the current 
appraisal rate at the time of the call, plus the wages of those attending the call. 

Example: Three apparatus - $459.45 times 3 

Wages - full-time - per person 

Wages - volunteers - person 

The Fire Department operates within a point system. Rate would be determined off the 
average point value of the previous year. For example: 2017 rate was approximately 
$42 per hour. 

5) COMPLIANCE WITH STRATEGIC PLAN INITIATIVES 

Not applicable. 

6) ATTACHMENTS 

Appendix "A" - List of Municipalities participating in program. 

7) RECOMMENDATION 

That entering into an agreement with Fire Marque be approved; and 

That the Mayor and City Clerk be authorized to execute the agreement with Fire 
Marque; and 

That the City's fee schedule be amended incorporating the appropriate fees as per the 
agreement with Fire Marque. 

8) SIGNATURES 

Prepared on March 26, 2018 

Thomas B. Cartwright, 
City Fire Chief 

Reviewed and respectfully submitted by: 

C. Scott Luey, 
Chief Administrative Officer 

Reviewed by: 

v···/~~~ 
Peter Senese, 
Director of Corporate Services 

Fire and Emergency Services Department, Report No. 2018-48 Page 4 of 4 

318



Appendix "A" to Report No. 2018-48 

MUNICU>AU'n' Of' WAWA 

0suclliiifY 
WOOLWICH 

TOWNSHIP 

,- ~....;;:---.----
New Tecumseth 
Alliston · Beeton ·Tottenham 

WASAGA 
~,BEACH 

~~tt 

GRA.VENHURST 
GATEWAY TO MUSKOKA 

~ ~ 

Bradfordt 
Gwilli mBY.'f~ 

llALDIMAND 

319



- ---breathe it in. ¢· 

--- ~ ----....._......_......._......._..... 

Clarence Rockland 

.<Jli(fJJJ}<!tOtr 

~~~~rt 

Chat sworth 

5~~r NORTH BAY . . 
• •• " "' " "'- .. ' Cl .. ..... ft . 

FrenCh River 

f' Cl\\ :-._ ... !J I 

BROCI<VILLE ERIN 

West Nipissing Juest 

T011'N OP 
CLE AR \ t I \• 

WHITCHURCH-STOUFFVltLE 

lQNC/d(l?IN L 

~
SW I f T C1 ~ 

CITY OF THE I 000 ISLANDS 
TOWN.SHIP Of" .,,.CHAR 

320



POR. T COLBOR.NE 

Report Number: 2018-58 

Corporate Services Department 
Clerks Division 

Date: April 23, 2018 

SUBJECT: Use of Corporate Resources for Election Purposes 

1) PURPOSE 

The purpose of this report is to seek approval of a policy to oversee the use of corporate 
resources for election purposes. 

2) HISTORY, BACKGROUND, COUNCIL POLICY, PRACTICES 

In accordance with the Municipal Election Act, 1996 (MEA), the City of Port Colborne is 
prohibited from providing a contribution to a candidate. A contribution may include not 
simply money, but also goods and services. As such, each municipality is now required 
to establish a policy for the use of corporate resources for election purposes by May 1 
of the election year. 

In response to the new direct-election of the Regional Chair position, the Niagara area 
municipal clerks have set up a task force to ensure consistency throughout the Region 
in delivering the Election in 2018. The task force conducted a review of corporate 
resources and established a draft policy to be adapted to each municipality's needs and 
approved by Council. 

3) STAFF COMMENTS AND DISCUSSIONS 

The proposed policy, attached as Appendix A, sets out a list of guidelines restricting the 
use of City resources for election purposes in general. Additional restrictions are also 
added after Nomination Day, which is July 27, in order to limit access to resources for 
sitting members of Council who are also registered candidates. This draft policy is 
similar to the policy that was in place during the 2014 Election with additions including 
added clarification of the use of electronics and social media. 

As sitting members of Council are often registered candidates in an election, it is 
important to provide clear guidelines in order for the sitting member to be able to 
continue to perform duties while ensuring that there is no benefit by virtue of the office. 
The approval of this policy would add clarification by setting clear expectations to all 
candidates and City staff during the election year. This would decrease the chance that 
a violation of the MEA would occur and therefore would provide a more fair and open 
election process. 

If approved, this policy will be provided to all registered candidates and information will 
be circulated to staff in order to ensure full understanding and compliance. 

321



4) OPTIONS AND FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS: 

a) Do Nothing 

In accordance with the Municipal Election Act, 1996 (MEA) Council must pass a policy 
outlining the use of corporate resources during the campaign period before May 1 in an 
election year. 

b) Other Options 

Council can approve the attached policy recommended by staff, or make modifications 
to the policy before approval. 

5) COMPLIANCE WITH STRATEGIC PLAN INITIATIVES 

Not applicable. 

6) ATTACHMENTS 

Appendix A: Draft Use of Corporate Resources for Election Purposes Policy 

7) RECOMMENDATION 

That the Use of Corporate Resources for Election Purposes policy, attached as 
Appendix A to report Corporate Services Department, Clerks Division Report 2018-58, 
be approved. 

8) SIGNATURES 

Prepared on April 12, 2018 by: Reviewed by: _ 

~ c1iJ/6J ~ .. :.~~-~ 
Amber LaPointe Peter Senese 
Manager of Legislative Services/City Clerk Director of Corporate Services 

Reviewed and respectfully submitted by: 

C. Scott Luey 
Chief Administrative Officer 

Corporate Services Department, Clerks Division, Report No.: 2018-58 Page 2 of 2 

322



I 

City of Port Co/borne 

PORT COLBORNE 
Policy Overview 

Administrative Policy No: 
Policy: 

Effective: 
Revised: 

Current Legislation: 

Applicable to: 

Policy Statement 
The purpose of this policy is to notify all registered candidates, including members of City 
Council of the requirement to follow the provisions of the Municipal Elections Act, 1996, 
(the Act) as amended, and that: 
• No member/candidate shall use the facilities, equipment, supplies, services, staff or 

other resources of the municipality (including City letterhead, City business cards, City 
e-mail accounts, City computers, ipads, cell phones and any Councillor budgets) for any 
election campaign or campaign-related activities; 

• No member/candidate shall undertake campaign-related activities on municipal 
property during regular working hours; and 

• No member/candidate shall use the services of persons during hours in which those 
persons receive any compensation from the municipality. 

Purpose 
To ensure that members of City Council, registered candidates, and staff adhere to the 
provisions of the Act, as amended. 

Scope 
This policy is applicable to all registered candidates, including sitting members of 
Municipal Council. 

This policy is applicable to municipal elections, including bi-elections and applies, with 
necessary modifications, to provincial and federal elections. 

Definitions 
"The Acf' means the Municipal Elections Act, 1996, as amended from time to time, and 
includes any regulation made there under; 

"Blackout Period" is a term which refers to the temporary period from the day prior to 
Nomination Day to and including Voting Day in which certain privileges are discontinued 
for sitting members of Municipal Council and the Mayor; 

Document No: Revision Date: City of Port Colborne 
Document Name: Revision No: 0 Authorized by: Council 

(uncontrolled when printed) 

323



I 

City of Port Co/borne 
.. .. 

POR. T COLBOR.NE 

"Candidate" means a person who has filed a nomination to run in a municipal , provincial 
or federal election , and shall be deemed to include a person seeking to influence other 
persons to vote for or against any candidate or any question or by-law submitted to the 
electors under section 8 of the Act; 

"Campaign Period" begins on the date a candidate files their nomination through to and 
including Voting Day; 

"City of Port Colborne" means The Corporation of the City of Port Col borne; 

"Corporate Resources" includes but is not limited to the City of Port Colborne staff, 
events, funds, information and assets; 

"Election Period" means May 1 through to and including Voting Day; 

"Municipal Facilities" means any real property owned or under the control of the City of 
Port Colborne; 

"Nomination Day" for a regular municipal election is the fourth Friday of July in the year of 
the election; 

"Staff' includes full-time, part-time, and contract employees, paid by the City of Port 
Colborne; 

"Voting Day" is the day on which the final vote is to be taken in an election. 

Policy 
1. That in accordance with the provisions of the Act: 

a. Corporate resources may not be used for campaign related purposes; 
b. Staff shall not canvass or actively work in support of a municipal, provincial or federal 

candidate or party during normal working hours unless they are on a leave of 
absence without pay, lieu time, float day, or vacation leave; 

c. Members of Council , including the Mayor, candidates, and registered third parties 
shall not use any municipal facilities for any election-related purposes. Campaign
related signs or any other election-related material shall not be displayed in any 
municipally owned facility; 

d. Candidates shall not engage in any campaign related activity at a municipally
sponsored event or festival ; 

e. During the Blackout Period, no Member of Council, including the Mayor shall: 

Document No: Revision Date: City of Port Colborne 
Document Name: Revision No: 0 Authorized by: Council 

(uncontrolled when printed) 

324



I 

City of Port Co/borne 
.. 

PORT COLBORNE 
• Advertise, including in municipality funded publications; 
• Print, photocopy or distribute any newsletters unless so directed and approved 

by Council; 
• Order office furniture or furnishings, except those of an emergency nature; or 
• Order any stationery or business cards, except within reason and as needed to 

carry out their current duties. 
f. Members of Council, including the Mayor shall not deliver any unsolicited material 

outside of their existing ward where the printing and/or distribution costs are paid by 
the municipality. Care should be taken to ensure that the mailing of newsletters be 
restricted to the member's ward only; 

g. Members of Council shall not: 
• Print or distribute any material using municipal funds that make reference to, 

contain the names or photographs of, or identifies registered candidates for 
municipal elections; and that minutes of municipal council and committee 
meetings be exempt from this policy; or 

• Enter into joint ventures using corporate resources outside of their existing wards 
from Nomination Day to Voting Day, unless specifically approved by Council. 

h. Members of Council are responsible to ensure that the content of any 
communications material, including printed material such as newsletters, 
advertising, etc. funded by the municipality for the operation of each Councillor's 
office, is not directly election-related; 

i. Websites or domain names that are funded by the municipality may not include any 
election-related campaign material, including; 
• Candidates are permitted to link to any City document available to the public or 

on a public City webpage from their campaign website; 
• Candidates are not permitted to incorporate a video or other material (i.e. photos) 

for which the City has proprietary rights on their own webpage; 
• Sitting members of Council shall not use the City's IT resources, including 

individual websites linked through the City's website and social media accounts 
used for communication , for any election campaign and/or campaign-related 
activities; 

• If a Member of Council uses any social media account for campaigning, such 
accounts must not be created or supported by corporate resources. Social media 
accounts used for campaign purposes must utilize personal cell phones, tablets 
and/or computers; 

• Sitting Members of Council who choose to create or use social media accounts 
for campaigning must include, for the duration of the election period, a clear 

Document No: Revision Date: City of Port Colborne 
Document Name: Revision No: 0 Authorized by: Council 

(uncontrolled when printed) 

--------------- Page 3 ---------------

325



City of Port Co/borne 

PORT COLBORNE 
statement on each campaign website or social media account's home page 
indicating that the account is being used for election campaign purposes and is 
not related to their duties as a Member of Council; and 

• All Candidates are permitted to place a campaign phone number, website and 
e-mail address on the election page of the City's website. 

j. Candidates must not, under any circumstances, use a City logo or any variation of 
it on any campaign material, election signs, social media, or campaign websites; 

k. City of Port Colborne e-mail may not be used for the distribution of campaign related 
correspondence or include campaign related material; 

I. Members of Council may not use the municipality's voicemail system and/or cell 
phones to record election related messages; 

m. Photographs produced for and owned by the City of Port Colborne may not be used 
for any election purposes; 

n. The policies contained herein also apply to an acclaimed member, a member not 
seeking re-election , or to a registered third party. 

2. That the Municipal Clerk be authorized and directed to take the necessary action to give 
effect to this policy. 

Limitation: 
This policy does not restrict the City Clerk from utilizing municipal resources for the proper 
conduct of an election in accordance with the requirements of the Act. 

This policy does not preclude a member of Municipal Council or Regional Council from 
performing their duties as a Councillor, or Regional Chair nor inhibit them from 
representing the interests of the constituents who elected them. 

Implementation: This policy shall become effective immediately upon approval by the 
Municipal Council. 

Rationale and Legislative Authority: It is necessary to establish on the appropriate use 
of corporate resources during an election period to protect the interests of both members 
of Council and the City of Port Colborne. The Act prohibits a municipality from making a 
contribution to a candidate. The Act, also prohibits a candidate, or someone acting on the 
candidate's behalf, from accepting a contribution from a person who is not entitled to 
make a contribution . 

As a contribution may take the form of money, goods or services, any use by a Member 
of Council of the Corporation 's resources for their election campaign would be viewed as 
a contribution by the municipality to the member, which is a violation of the Act. 

Document No: Revision Date: City of Port Colborne 
Document Name: Revision No: 0 Authorized by: Council 

(uncontrolled when printed) 

326



PORT COLBOR NE 

Report Number: 2018-41 

Corporate Services Department 
Finance Division 

Date: April 23, 2018 

SUBJECT: Cancellation, Reduction or Refund of Realty Tax 

1) PURPOSE 

The purpose of this report is to seek approval of Council in order to cancel, reduce or 
refund realty tax of the applicant in accordance with the recommendations of the 
Municipal Property Assessment Corporation (MPAC) Assessor. 

2) HISTORY, BACKGROUND, COUNCIL POLICY, PRACTICES 

Under section 357/358 of the Municipal Act, 2001, as amended, an application to 
Council may be made by the taxpayer for the cancellation, reduction or refund of tax 
levied in the current and previous year for specific purposes. In some cases, a review 
may increase the property assessment and increase a property's tax levied. 

Once an application is received from a taxpayer under Section 357/358 and processed 
by staff, the application is forwarded to MPAC for a revised assessment 
recommendation. These applications are then returned to the municipality for staff to 
calculate the amount of cancellation or adjustment of taxes. 

Section 357 Application Numbers 2015-39, 2017-50, 2017-51 , 2017-49 and 2016-49 
were received and are in the Treasurer's possession. 

3) STAFF COMMENTS AND DISCUSSIONS 

The attached summary report encompasses the applications received to date for 
submission to Council for approval. 

Staff recommends Council approval of the recommendation of the MPAC assessor for 
the Section 357 applications. It is a rarity that the taxpayer challenges any 
recommendation, however, if such did occur, staff would request MPAC to attend the 
committee meeting to defend or amend the recommendation. Staff have received no 
objections from the taxpayers. 

4) OPTIONS AND FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS: 

Application numbers under Section 357/358 require Council's approval. 
• 2015-39 for 2015 total reduction $1,391.55, $639.76 being the municipal portion 
• 2015-39 for 2016 total reduction $1,499 .52, $716.68 being the municipal portion 
• 2017-50 for 2017 total reduction $33.88, $12.99 being the municipal portion 
• 2017-51 for 2017 total increase $15.12, $7.42 being the municipal portion 
• 2017-49 for 2017 total reduction $4,015.28, $1,971.25 being the municipal 

portion 
• 2016-49 for 2016 total reduction $1,305.48, $623.94 being the municipal portion 

327



5) COMPLIANCE WITH STRATEGIC PLAN INITIATIVES 

Not applicable. 

6) ATTACHMENTS 

Schedule 1 - Calculation of adjustments based on the Assessor's reports and 
comments. 

7) RECOMMENDATION 

That the applications pursuant to Section 357/358 of the Municipal Act , 2001 , as 
amended, numbered 2015-39, 2017-50, 2017-51 ,2017-49 and 2016-49 be approved to 
cancel or reduce taxes in the total amount of $8 ,230.59, in which $3,957.20 is the 
municipal portion. 

8) SIGNATURES 

Pre~:z; 
Andrea Hawkins 
Tax Clerk 

Reviewed and respectfully submitted by: 

C. co uey 
Chief Administrative Officer 

Reviewed by: 

~Lvl-~~Cl~. 
Stephen Corr 
Manager of Revenue & Taxation 

Reviewed by: 

..-/ · ~- ·. 
. ~~ ~ 

~· ···# ~· ~ 

Peter Senese 
Director of Corporate Services 

Corporate Services Department, Finance Division Report No. 2018-41 Page 2 of 2 

328



CITY OF PORT COLBORNE 

Report Number 2018-4 1 SCHEDULE I 

Council Meeting April 23, 2018 

Section Application Effective Roll # Tax Assessment Waste School 
Reason No. Date Address Class Chan1>e Total Ad i Municioalitv Re1>ion M1>mt Board 

Decrease and Exempt 357 2015-39 01-Jan-15 271 1 030 03 1 15900 RT (84, 742.00) (l ,391.55) (639.76) (503 .26) (83 .28) (165.25) 

554 Fielden Ave 

Decrease and Exempt 357 20 15-39 Ol-Jan-1 6 271103003 1 15900 RT (90,607.00) (l,499.52) (7 16.68) (526.94) (85.56) (170.34) 
554 Fielden Ave 

Classification Change 357 20 17-50 I l -Dec-17 27 1101002219900 CT ( 15,675.00) (33 .88) (12.99) (9.15) (1.46) (10.28) 
350 Catharine St - - - -

Classification Cha nge 357 2017 -5 1 ll -Dec- 17 27 11 010022 19900 RT 15,762.00 15.12 7.42 5.24 0. 84 1.62 
350 Catharine St 

Ma nifest (roll ) erro r 357 2017-49 01-Jan-17 2711 030 037 39900 RT (240,875.00) (4,01 5.28) (1,971 .25) (1 ,390.42) (222.44 (431 .17' 

74 Meadowlark Dr - - - - -

Manifest (roll ) error 357 201 6-49 Sept 1,2016 2711 030 037 39900 RT (236,000.00) (I ,305.48) (623 .94) (458 .75) (74.49) (148.30) 

74 Meadowlark Dr 

- - -
- - - - -

-
Total (8,230.59) (3,957.20) (2,883.28) (466.39) (923.72) 

329



T~11~s page intention~lly left blank. 

330



POR. T COLBOR.NE 

Report Number: 2018-53 

Corporate Services Department 
Finance Division 

Date: April 23, 2018 

SUBJECT: Ontario's Main Street Revitalization Initiative Municipal Funding 
Agreement 

1) PURPOSE 

The Province of Ontario has allocated funding to the City of Port Colborne under the 
Ontario's Main Street Revitalization Initiative and the City must enter into a Funding 
Agreement with the Association of Municipalities of Ontario to administer the program 
on behalf of the Province. 

2) HISTORY, BACKGROUND, COUNCIL POLICY, PRACTICES 

The Province of Ontario has made $26 million available for allocation for the purposes 
of supporting municipal Main Street Revitalization Initiatives in Ontario. The Association 
of Municipalities of Ontario (AMO) has agreed to administer this program on behalf of 
the Province. The initiative is provided to ensure investment in communities' main 
street/downtown areas to support businesses. 

There is no application process to receive the funding under this program and the 
municipal governments are required to pass a by-law authorizing it to sign a funding 
agreement with AMO. The municipal treasurers are delegated to administer the 
agreement. Municipalities need to identify the program category, the project(s), 
anticipated results and estimated cost when council deals with the agreement by-law. 

The funding can be used to support revitalization efforts related to energy efficiency, 
accessibility, aesthetics and marketability. The program categories are: 

• Implementing priorities under existing Community Improvement Plans, including 
renovations, retrofits and structural improvements; and/or 

• Funding for municipal improvements that will support main street/downtown 
businesses, such as signage, streetscape improvement and marketing plan 
implementation. 

The Province of Ontario has allocated $53,839.99 to the City of Port Colborne with the 
funds to be spent by March 31, 2020 on eligible projects. The City must report the initial 
anticipated projects for 2018 and once annually on projects until the funds are 
expended. Reports on projects are due to AMO by May 15, 2019 and each year until 
the funds are expended. 

The attached Funding Agreement sets out the terms and conditions for the use of the 
funds provided by the Ontario's Main Street Revitalization Initiative. The Province and 
AMO require a by-law to be prepared for the routine execution of this agreement. The 
by-law will require the Mayor and City Clerk to fully execute the agreement referencing 
the Ontario's Main Street Revitalization Initiative and include the names of the 
designated signatories. 

331



3) STAFF COMMENTS AND DISCUSSIONS 

The City of Port Colborne is eligible to receive an allocation of $53,839.99 to be 
expended by March 31, 2020. Funding will be provided once the signed Funding 
Agreement and supporting by-law is provided to AMO. 

During the 2018 budget, approved by Council on April 9, 2018, staff recommended a 
project which meets the criteria for this funding. Council approved the design and 
installation of a pedestrian crossing (streetscaping category) at the corner of Clarence 
Street and Catharine Street for the estimated cost of $45,000 and the upgrade to the 
traffic signal power supply (energy efficiency) at Welland Street and Clarence Street for 
the estimated cost of $10,000. The additional cost to be funded from the budgeted 
capital levy. 

4) OPTIONS AND FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS 

a) Do nothing. 

In order to obtain Ontario's Main Street Revitalization Initiative funds the Province of 
Ontario and AMO's guidelines must be followed which includes executing the Funding 
Agreement. 

b) Other Options 

That Council authorize entering into the Funding Agreement to be eligible to receive the 
provincial funding of $53,839.99 to be expended by March 31, 2020. 

5) COMPLIANCE WITH STRATEGIC PLAN INITIATIVES 

Not Applicable. 

6) ATTACHMENTS 

a) Ontario's Main Street Revitalization Initiative Funding Agreement 
b) Guide to the Municipal Funding Agreement 

7) RECOMMENDATION 

That the Mayor, City Clerk and City Treasurer be authorized to execute the Funding 
Agreement with The Association of Municipalities Of Ontario for the use of Ontario's 
Main Street Revitalization Initiative funds from the Province of Ontario; and 

That the appropriate by-law be executed by the Mayor and City Clerk. 

8) SIGNATURES 

Prepared on April 10, 2018 by: 

, ---"'.> ~ . ,.,._,. . . -
/ ./ ~ . 

y · · ~\,_j 

Peter Senese 

Reviewed and respectfully submitted by: 

C.~ · 
Director of Corporate Services Chief Administrative Officer 

Department of Corporate Services , Finance Division, Report No. 2018-53 

332



A Association ofl 

Municipalities Ontario 

MUNICIPAL FUNDING AGREEMENT 

ONTARIO'S MAIN STREET REVITALIZATION INITIATIVE 

This Agreement made as of 1st day of April, 2018. 

BETWEEN: 

THE ASSOCIATION OF MUNICIPALITIES OF ONTARIO 

(referred to herein as "AMO") 

AND: 

THE CITY OF PORT COLBORNE 

(a municipal corporation pursuant to the Municipal Act, 2001, referred to herein as the 
"Recipient") 

WHEREAS the Province of Ontario is making $26 million available for allocation for the 
purposes of supporting municipal Main Street Revitalization Initiatives in Ontario; 

WHEREAS the Province of Ontario, Ontario municipalities as represented by AMO are 
signatories to Ontario's Main Street Revitalization Initiative Transfer Payment Agreement on 
March 12, 2018 (the "OMAFRA-AMO Agreement''), whereby AMO agreed to administer Main 
Street Revitalization funds made available to all Ontario municipalities, excluding Toronto; 

WHEREAS the OMAFRA-AMO Transfer Payment Agreement contains a framework for the 
transfer of provincial funds to Ontario lower-tier and single-tier municipalities represented by 
AMO; 

WHEREAS the Recipient wishes to enter into this Agreement in order to participate in Ontario's 
Main Street Revitalization Initiative; 

WHEREAS AMO is carrying out the fund administration in accordance with its obligations set 
out in the OMAFRA-AMO Agreement and it will accordingly undertake certain activities and 
require Recipients to undertake activities as set out in this Agreement. 

THEREFORE the Parties agree as follows: 

1. DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION 

1.1 Definitions. When used in this Agreement (including the cover and execution 
pages and all of the schedules), the following terms shall have the meanings 
ascribed to them below unless the subject matter or context is inconsistent 
therewith: 

200 Universi ty Ave Suite 801 
Toronto ON . tvl5H 3C6 

www amo.on .ca 
amo@amoon .ca 

Te l 416 . 971 9856 
F3x 416. 9716191 

To ll Free in Ontario 
877.426.6527 

333



"Agreement" means this Agreement, including the cover and execution pages 
and all of the schedules hereto, and all amendments made hereto in 
accordance with the provisions hereof. 

"Annual Report" means the duly completed report to be prepared and 
delivered to AMO as described in Section 7.2 and Section 2 of Schedule D. 

"Association of Municipalities of Ontario (AMO}" means a legally 
incorporated entity under the Corporations Act, 1990 R.S.O. 1990, Chapter c.38. 

"Communication Report" means the duly completed report to be prepared 
and delivered to AMO as described in Section 7.1 and Section 1.of Schedule D. 

"Community Improvement Plan" has the meaning as defined under section 
28(1) of the Planning Act, R.S.O. 1990, c. P.13. 

"Contract" means an agreement between the Recipient and a Third Party 
whereby the latter agrees to supply a product or service to an Eligible Project in 
return for financial consideration. 

"Effective Date" is April 1, 2018. 

"Eligible Costs" means those expenditures described as eligible in Schedule C. 

"Eligible Projects" means projects as described in Schedule B. 

"Eligible Recipient" means a 

a. Municipality or its agent (including its wholly owned corporation}; and 

b. Non-municipal entity, including for profit, non-governmental and not-for 
profit organizations, on the condition that the Municipality(ies) has 
(have} indicated support for the Eligible Project through a formal grant 
agreement between the Municipality and the non-municipal entity. 

"Event of Default" has the meaning given to it in Section 11.1 of this 
Agreement. 

"Funds" mean the Funds made available to the Recipient through the Main 
Street Revitalization Initiative, a program established by the Government of 
Ontario. Funds are made available pursuant to this Agreement and includes any 
interest earned on the said Funds. For greater certainty: (i) Funds transferred to 
another Municipality in accordance with Section 6.2 of this Agreement, other 
than as set out in Sections 7.1 (a}, (c} and (f), are to be treated as Funds by the 
Municipality to which the Funds are transferred and are not to be treated as 
Funds by the Recipient; and (ii) any Funds transferred to a non-municipal entity 
in accordance with Section 6.3 of this Agreement shall remain as Funds under 
this Agreement for all purposes and the Recipient shall continue to be bound by 
all provisions of this Agreement with respect to such transferred Funds. 

"Ineligible Costs" means those expenditures described as ineligible in 
Schedule C. 

2 

334



"Lower-tier Municipality" means a Municipality that forms part of an Upper
tier Municipality for municipal purposes, as defined under the Municipal Act, 
2001 s.o. 2001, c.25. 

"Municipal Fiscal Year" means the period beginning January 1st of a year and 
ending December 31st of the same year. 

"Municipality" and "Municipalities" means every municipality as defined 
under the Municipal Act, 2001 S.O. 2001 c.25. 

"Municipal Physical Infrastructure" means municipal or regional, publicly or 
privately owned, tangible capital assets primarily for public use or benefit in 
Ontario. 

"Ontario" means Her Majesty in Right of Ontario, as represented by the 
Minister of Agriculture, Food and Rural Affairs. 

"Parties" means AMO and the Recipient. 

"Project Completion Date" means the Recipient must complete its Project 
under this Agreement by March 31, 2020. 

"Recipient" has the meaning given to it on the first page of this Agreement. 

"Results Report" means the report prepared and delivered to AMO by the 
Recipient by which reports on how Funds are supporting progress towards 
achieving the program objective, more specifically described in Section 3 of 
Schedule D. 

"Single-tier Municipality" means a municipality, other than an upper-tier 
municipality, that does not form part of an upper-tier municipality for municipal 
purposes as defined under the Municipal Act, 2001, S.O. 2001 c. 25. 

"Third Party" means any person or legal entity, other than the Parties to this 
Agreement who participates in the implementation of an Eligible Project by 
means of a Contract. 

"Transfer By-law'' means a by-law passed by Council of the Recipient pursuant 
to Section 6.2 and delivered to AMO in accordance with that section. 

"Unspent Funds" means the amount reported as unspent by the Recipient as 
of December 31, as submitted in the Recipient's Annual Report. 

1.2 Interpretations: 

Herein, etc. The words "herein", "hereof' and "hereunder" and other words of 
similar import refer to this Agreement as a whole and not any particular 
schedule, article, section, paragraph or other subdivision of this Agreement. 

3 

335



Currency. Any reference to currency is to Canadian currency and any amount 
advanced, paid or calculated is to be advanced, paid or calculated in Canadian 
currency. 

Statutes. Any reference to a federal or provincial statute is to such statute and 
to the regulations made pursuant to such statute as such statute and 
regulations may at any time be amended or modified and in effect and to any 
statute or regulations that may be passed that have the effect of supplementing 
or superseding such statute or regulations. 

Gender, singular, etc. Words importing the masculine gender include the 
feminine or neuter gender and words in the singular include the plural, and vice 
versa. 

2. TERM OF AGREEMENT 

2.1 Term. Subject to any extension or termination of this Agreement or the 
survival of any of the provisions of this Agreement pursuant to the provisions 
contained herein, this Agreement shall be in effect from the date set out on the 
first page of this Agreement, up to and including March 31, 2020. 

2.2 Amendment. This Agreement may be amended at any time in writing as agreed 
to by AMO and the Recipient. 

2.3 Notice. Any of the Parties may terminate this Agreement on written notice. 

3. RECIPIENT REQUIREMENTS 

3.1 Communications. The Recipient will comply with all requirements outlined, 
including providing upfront project information on an annual basis, or until all 
Funds are expended for communications purposes in the form described in 
Section 7.1 and Section 1 of Schedule D. 

a) Unless otherwise directed by Ontario, the Recipient will acknowledge the 
support of Ontario for Eligible Projects in the following manner: "The 
Project is funded [if it is partly funded the Recipient should use "in part"] by 
the Ontario Ministry of Agriculture, Food and Rural Affairs." 

b) The Recipient shall notify Ontario within five (5) business days of planned 
media events or announcements related to the Project, organized by the 
Recipient to facilitate the attendance of Ontario. Media events and 
announcements include, but are not limited to, news conferences, public 
announcements, official events or ceremonies, and news releases. 

3.2 Contracts. The Recipient will award and manage all Contracts in accordance 
with its relevant policies and procedures and, if applicable, in accordance with 
the Canadian Free Trade Agreement and applicable international trade 
agreements, and all other applicable laws. 

a) The Recipient will ensure any of its Contracts for the supply of services or 
materials to implement its responsibilities under this Agreement will be 

4 

336



awarded in a way that is transparent, competitive, consistent with value for 
money principles and pursuant to its adopted procurement policy. 

4. ELIGIBLE PROJECTS 

4.1 Eligible Projects. Costs directly and reasonably incurred by the Recipient for 
construction, renewal, renovation or redevelopment or material enhancement 
activities funded under existing Community Improvement Plan financial 
incentive programs or activities funded under the Municipal Physical 
Infrastructure category, including projects in downtown or main street areas, as 
defined through an existing Community Improvement Plan or other municipal 
land use planning policy that will support the role of small businesses in main 
street areas as more specifically described in Schedule Band Schedule C 

4.2 Recipient Fully Responsible. The Recipient is fully responsible for the 
completion of each Eligible Project in accordance with Schedule Band Schedule 
c. 

5. ELIGIBLE COSTS 

5.1 Eligible Costs. Schedule C sets out specific requirements for Eligible and 
Ineligible Costs. 

5.2 Discretion of Ontario. Subject to Section 5.1, the eligibility of any items not 
listed in Schedule Band/or Schedule C to this Agreement is solely at the 
discretion of Ontario. 

5.3 Unspent Funds. Any Unspent Funds, and any interest earned thereon, will be 
subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement. 

5.4 Reasonable Access. The Recipient shall allow AMO and Ontario reasonable and 
timely access to all documentation, records and accounts and those of their 
respective agents or Third Parties related to the receipt, deposit and use of 
Funds and Unspent Funds, and any interest earned thereon, and all other 
relevant information and documentation requested by AMO or Ontario or their 
respective designated representatives for the purposes of audit, evaluation, and 
ensuring compliance with this Agreement. 

5.5 Retention of Receipts. The Recipient will keep proper and accurate accounts 
and records of all Eligible Projects including invoices and receipts for Eligible 
Expenditures in accordance with the Recipient's municipal records retention by
law and, upon reasonable notice, make them available to AMO and Ontario. 

6. FUNDS 

6.1 Allocation of Funds. AMO will allocate and transfer Funds on the basis of the 
formula determined by Ontario. 

6.2 Transfer of Funds to a Municipality. Where a Recipient decides to allocate 
and transfer Funds to another Municipality (the "Transferee Municipality"): 

5 

337



a) The allocation and transfer shall be authorized by by-law (a "Transfer By
law"). The Transfer By-law shall be passed by the Recipient's council and 
submitted to AMO as soon thereafter as practicable. The Transfer By-law 
shall identify the Transferee Municipality and the amount of Funds the 
Transferee Municipality is to receive for the Municipal Fiscal Year specified 
in the Transfer By-law. 

b) The Recipient is still required to submit an Annual Report in accordance with 
Sections 7.1 (a), (c) and (f) hereof with respect to the Funds transferred . 

c) No transfer of Funds pursuant to this Section 6.2 shall be effected unless 
and until the Transferee Municipality has either (i) entered into an 
agreement with AMO on substantially the same terms as this Agreement, or 
(ii) has executed and delivered to AMO a written undertaking to assume all 
of the Recipient's obligations under this Agreement with respect to the 
Funds transferred; in a form satisfactory to AMO. 

6.3 Transfer of Funds to a non-municipal entity. Where a Recipient decides to 
support an Eligible Project undertaken by an Eligible Recipient that is not a 
Municipality: 

a) The provision of such support shall be authorized by a grant agreement 
between the Municipality and the Eligible Recipient in support of a 
Community Improvement Plan. The grant agreement shall identify the 
Eligible Recipient, and the amount of Funds the Eligible Recipient is to 
receive for that Eligible Project. 

b) The Recipient shall continue to be bound by all of the provisions of this 
Agreement notwithstanding any such transfer including the submission of 
an Annual Report in accordance with Section 7.2. 

c) No transfer of Funds pursuant to this Section 6.3 shall be effected unless 
and until the non-municipal entity receiving the Funds has executed and 
delivered to the Municipality the grant agreement. 

6.4 Use of Funds. The Recipient acknowledges and agrees the Funds are intended 
for and shall be used only for Eligible Expenditures in respect of Eligible 
Projects. 

6.5 Payout of Funds. The Recipient agrees that all Funds will be transferred by 
AMO to the Recipient upon full execution of this Agreement. 

6.6 Use of Funds. The Recipient will deposit the Funds in a dedicated reserve fund 
or other separate distinct interest bearing account and shall retain the Funds in 
such reserve fund, or account until the Funds are expended or transferred in 
accordance with this Agreement. The Recipient shall ensure that: 

a) any investment of unexpended Funds will be in accordance with Ontario law 
and the Recipient's investment policy; and, 

6 

338



b) any interest earned on Funds will only be applied to Eligible Costs for 
Eligible Projects, more specifically on the basis set out in Schedule Band 
Schedule C. 

6.7 Funds advanced. Funds transferred by AMO to the Recipient shall be expended 
by the Recipient in respect of Eligible Costs. AMO reserves the right to declare 
that Unspent Funds after March 31, 2020 become a debt to Ontario which the 
Recipient will reimburse forthwith on demand to AMO for transmission to 
Ontario. 

6.8 Expenditure of Funds. The Recipient shall expend all Funds by March 31, 2020. 

6.9 GST & HST. The use of Funds is based on the net amount of goods and services 
tax or harmonized sales tax to be paid by the Recipient net of any applicable tax 
rebates. 

6.1 O Limit on Ontario's Financial Commitments. The Recipient may use Funds to 
pay up to one hundred percent (100%) of Eligible Expenditures of an Eligible 
Project. 

6.11 Stacking. If the Recipient is receiving funds under other programs in respect of 
an Eligible Project to which the Recipient wishes to apply Funds, the maximum 
contribution limitation set out in any other program agreement made in respect 
of that Eligible Project shall continue to apply. 

6.12 Insufficient funds provided by Ontario. If Ontario does not provide sufficient 
funds to AMO for this Agreement, AMO may terminate this Agreement. 

7. REPORTING REQUIREMENTS 

7.1 Communication Report. Immediately upon execution of this Agreement the 
Recipient shall report to AMO any Eligible Project being undertaken in the 
current Municipal Fiscal Year in the form described in Schedule D. 

7.2 Annual Report. The Recipient shall report in the form in Schedule D due by 
May 15th following the Municipal Fiscal Year on: 

a) the amounts received from AMO under this Agreement; 

b) the amounts received from another Eligible Recipient; 

c) the amounts transferred to another Eligible Recipient; 

d) amounts paid by the Recipient in aggregate for Eligible Projects; 

e) amounts held at year end by the Recipient in aggregate, including interest, 
to pay for Eligible Projects; 

f) indicate in a narrative the progress that the Recipient has made in meeting 
its commitments and contributions; and, 

7 

339



g) a listing of all Eligible Projects that have been funded, indicating the Eligible 
Project category, project description, amount of Funds, total project cost, 
start date, end date and completion status. 

7.3 Results Report. The Recipient shall account in writing for results achieved by 
the Funds through a Results Report to be submitted to AMO. Specifically the 
Results Report shall document performance measures achieved through the 
investments in Eligible Projects in the form described in Section 3 of Schedule 
D. 

8. RECORDS AND AUDIT 

8.1 Accounting Principles. All accounting terms not otherwise defined herein have 
the meanings assigned to them; all calculations will be made and all financial 
data to be submitted will be prepared in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles (GAAP) in effect in Ontario. GAAP will include, without 
limitation, those principles approved or recommended for local governments 
from time to time by the Public Sector Accounting Board or the Canadian 
Institute of Chartered Accountants or any successor institute, applied on a 
consistent basis. 

8.2 Separate Records. The Recipient shall maintain separate records and 
documentation for the Funds and keep all records including invoices, 
statements, receipts and vouchers in respect of Funds expended on Eligible 
Projects in accordance with the Recipient's municipal records retention by-law. 
Upon reasonable notice, the Recipient shall submit all records and 
documentation relating to the Funds to AMO and Ontario for inspection or 
audit. 

8.3 External Auditor. AMO and/or Ontario may request, upon written notification, 
an audit of Eligible Project or an Annual Report. AMO shall retain an external 
auditor to carry out an audit of the material referred to in Sections 5.4 and 5.5 
of this Agreement. AMO shall ensure that any auditor who conducts an audit 
pursuant to this Section of this Agreement or otherwise, provides a copy of the 
audit report to the Recipient and Ontario at the same time that the audit report 
is given to AMO. 

9. INSURANCE AND INDEMNITY 

9.1 Insurance. The Recipient shall put in effect and maintain in full force and 
effect or cause to be put into effect and maintained for the term of this 
Agreement all the necessary insurance with respect to each Eligible Project, 
including any Eligible Projects with respect to which the Recipient has 
transferred Funds pursuant to Section 6 of this Agreement, that would be 
considered appropriate for a prudent Municipality undertaking Eligible Projects, 
including, where appropriate and without limitation, property, construction and 
liability insurance, which insurance coverage shall identify Ontario and AMO as 
additional insureds for the purposes of the Eligible Projects. 

9.2 Certificates of Insurance. Throughout the term of this Agreement, the 
Recipient shall provide AMO with a valid certificate of insurance that confirms 
compliance with the requirements of Section 9.1. No Funds shall be expended 

8 

340



or transferred pursuant to this Agreement until such certificate has been 
delivered to AMO. 

9.3 AMO not liable. In no event shall Ontario or AMO be liable for: 

(a) any bodily injury, death or property damages to the Recipient, its 
employees, agents or consultants or for any claim, demand or action by 
any Third Party against the Recipient, its employees, agents or 
consultants, arising out of or in any way related to this Agreement; or 

(b) any incidental, indirect, special or consequential damages, or any loss of 
use, revenue or profit to the Recipient, its employees, agents or 
consultants arising out of any or in any way related to this Agreement. 

9.4 Recipient to Compensate Ontario. The Recipient will ensure that it will not, at 
any time, hold Ontario, its officers, servants, employees or agents responsible 
for any claims or losses of any kind that the Recipient, Third Parties or any other 
person or entity may suffer in relation to any matter related to the Funds or an 
Eligible Project and that the Recipient will, at all times, compensate Ontario, its 
officers, servants, employees and agents for any claims or losses of any kind 
that any of them may suffer in relation to any matter related to the Funds or an 
Eligible Project. The Recipient's obligation to compensate as set out in this 
section does not apply to the extent to which such claims or losses relate to the 
negligence of an officer, servant, employee, or agent of Ontario in the 
performance of his or her duties. 

9.5 Recipient to Indemnify AMO. The Recipient hereby agrees to indemnify and 
hold harmless AMO, its officers, servants, employees or agents (each of which is 
called an "Indemnitee"), from and against all claims, losses, damages, liabilities 
and related expenses including the fees, charges and disbursements of any 
counsel for any Indemnitee incurred by any Indemnitee or asserted against any 
Indemnitee by whomsoever brought or prosecuted in any manner based upon, 
or occasioned by, any injury to persons, damage to or loss or destruction of 
property, economic loss or infringement of rights caused by or arising directly 
or indirectly from: 

(a) the Funds; 

(b) the Recipient's Eligible Projects, including the design, construction, 
operation, maintenance and repair of any part or all of the Eligible Projects; 

(c) the performance of this Agreement or the breach of any term or 
condition of this Agreement by the Recipient, its officers, servants, employees 
and agents, or by a Third Party, its officers, servants, employees, or agents; and 

(d) any omission or other wilful or negligent act of the Recipient or Third 
Party and their respective officers, servants, employees or agents. 

10. DISPOSAL 

10.1 Disposal. The Recipient will not, without Ontario's prior written consent, sell, 
lease or otherwise dispose of any asset purchased or created with the Funds or 

9 

341



for which Funds were provided, the cost of which exceed $50,000 at the time of 
sale, lease or disposal prior to March 31, 2021. 

11. DEFAULT AND TERMINATION 

11.1 Event of Default. AMO may declare in writing that an event of default has 
occurred when the Recipient has not complied with any condition, undertaking 
or term in this Agreement. AMO will not declare in writing that an event of 
default has occurred unless it has first consulted with the Recipient. Each and 
every one of the following events is an "Event of Default": 

(a) failure by the Recipient to deliver in a timely manner an Annual Report or 
Results Report. 

(b) delivery of an Annual Report that discloses non-compliance with any condition, 
undertaking or material term in this Agreement. 

(c) failure by the Recipient to co-operate in an external audit undertaken by AMO 
or its agents. 

(d) delivery of an external audit report that discloses non-compliance with any 
condition, undertaking or term in this Agreement. 

(e) failure by the Recipient to expend Funds in accordance with Sections 4.1 and 
6.8. 

11.2 Waiver. AMO may withdraw its notice of an Event of Default if the Recipient, 
within thirty (30) calendar days of receipt of the notice, either corrects the 
default or demonstrates, to the satisfaction of AMO in its sole discretion that it 
has taken such steps as are necessary to correct the default. 

11.3 Remedies on default. If AMO declares that an Event of Default has occurred 
under Section 11.1, after thirty (30) calendar days from the Recipient's receipt of 
the notice of an Event of Default, it may immediately terminate this Agreement. 

11.4 Repayment of Funds. If AMO declares that an Event of Default has not been 
cured to its satisfaction, AMO reserves the right to declare that prior payments 
of Funds become a debt to Ontario which the Recipient will reimburse forthwith 
on demand to AMO for transmission to Ontario. 

12. CONFLICT OF INTEREST 

12.1 No conflict of interest. The Recipient will ensure that no current member of 
the AMO Board of Directors and no current or former public servant or office 
holder to whom any post-employment, ethics and conflict of interest legislation, 
guidelines, codes or policies of Ontario applies will derive direct benefit from 
the Funds, the Unspent Funds, and interest earned thereon, unless the 
provision of receipt of such benefits is in compliance with such legislation, 
guidelines, policies or codes. 

13. NOTICE 

10 

342



13.1 Notice. Any notice, information or document provided for under this 
Agreement will be effectively given if in writing and if delivered by hand, or 
overnight courier, mailed, postage or other charges prepaid, or sent by 
facsimile or email to the addresses, the facsimile numbers or email addresses 
set out in Section 13.3. Any notice that is sent by hand or overnight courier 
service shall be deemed to have been given when received; any notice mailed 
shall be deemed to have been received on the eighth (8) calendar day following 
the day on which it was mailed; any notice sent by facsimile shall be deemed to 
have been given when sent; any notice sent by email shall be deemed to have 
been received on the sender's receipt of an acknowledgment from the intended 
recipient (such as by the "return receipt requested" function, as available, 
return email or other written acknowledgment), provided that in the case of a 
notice sent by facsimile or email, if it is not given on a business day before 4:30 
p.m. Eastern Standard Time, it shall be deemed to have been given at 8:30 a.m. 
on the next business day for the recipient. 

13.2 Representatives. The individuals identified in Section 13.3 of this Agreement, 
in the first instance, act as AM O's or the Recipient's, as the case may be, 
representative for the purpose of implementing this Agreement. 

13.3 Addresses for Notice. Further to Section 13.1 of this Agreement, notice can be 
given at the following addresses: 

a) If to AMO: 

Executive Director 
Main Streets Agreement 
Association of Municipalities of Ontario 200 University Avenue, Suite 801 
Toronto, ON M5H 3C6 

Telephone: 416-971-9856 
Email: mainstreets@amo.on.ca 

b) If to the Recipient: 

Director of Corporate Services/Treasurer 
Peter M. Senese 
CITY OF PORT COLBORNE 
66 Charlotte Street 
Port Col borne, ON L3K 3C8 
(905) 835-2900 x105 
petersenese@portcolborne.ca 

14. MISCELLANEOUS 

14.1 Counterpart Signature. This Agreement may be signed in counterpart, and the 
signed copies will, when attached, constitute an original Agreement. 

14.2 Severability. If for any reason a provision of this Agreement that is not a 
fundamental term is found to be or becomes invalid or unenforceable, in whole 
or in part, it will be deemed to be severable and will be deleted from this 

11 

343



Agreement, but all the other terms and conditions of this Agreement will 
continue to be valid and enforceable. 

14.3 Waiver. AMO may waive any right in this Agreement only in writing, and any 
tolerance or indulgence demonstrated by AMO will not constitute waiver of 
rights in this Agreement. Unless a waiver is executed in writing, AMO will be 
entitled to seek any remedy that it may have under this Agreement or under the 
law. 

14.4 Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the Province of Ontario. 

14.5 Survival. The Recipient agrees that the following sections and provisions of this 
Agreement shall extend for seven (7) years beyond the expiration or 
termination of this Agreement: Sections 5, 6.7, 6.8, 7, 9.4, 9.5, 11.4 and 14.8. 

14.6 AMO, Ontario and Recipient independent. The Recipient will ensure its 
actions do not establish or will not be deemed to establish a partnership, joint 
venture, principal-agent relationship or employer-employee relationship in any 
way or for any purpose whatsoever between Ontario and the Recipient, 
between AMO and the Recipient, between Ontario and a Third Party or between 
AMO and a Third Party. 

14.7 No Authority to Represent. The Recipient will ensure that it does not 
represent itself, including in any agreement with a Third Party, as a partner, 
employee or agent of Ontario or AMO. 

14.8 Debts Due to AMO. Any amount owed under this Agreement will constitute a 
debt due to AMO, which the Recipient will reimburse forthwith, on demand, to 
AMO. 

14.9 Priority. In the event of a conflict, the part of this Agreement that precedes the 
signature of the Parties will take precedence over the Schedules. 

15. SCHEDULES 

15.1 This Agreement, including: 

Schedule A Municipal Allocation 

Schedule B Eligible Projects 

Schedule C Eligible and Ineligible Costs 

Schedule D Reporting 

constitute the entire agreement between the Parties with respect to the subject 
matter contained in this Agreement and supersedes all prior oral or written 
representations and agreements. 

12 

344



16. SIGNATURES 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, AMO and the Recipient have respectively executed, sealed and 
delivered this Agreement on the date set out on the front page. 

RECIPIENT'S NAME: CITY OF PORT COLBORNE 

Mayor Name Signature 

Clerk Name Signature 

THE ASSOCIATION OF MUNICIPALITIES OF ONTARIO 

By Title Signature 

In the presence of: 

Witness Title Signature 

13 

345



RECIPIENT'S NAME: 

ALLOCATION: 

SCHEDULE A 
MUNICPAL ALLOCATION 

CITY OF PORT COLBORNE 

$53839.9923 

The Recipient acknowledges this is a one time payment for Eligible Projects with Eligible Costs. 

SCHEDULE B 

14 

346



ELIGIBLE PROJECTS 

Funding is to be directed to Eligible Projects to support revitalization activities within main 
street areas, as defined through an existing Community Improvement Plan or any other 
municipal land use planning policy. Funding can be used in one or both of the following 
categories: 

1. Community Improvement Plan - construction, renewal, renovation or redevelopment 
or material enhancement activities that implement priority financial incentives in existing 
Community Improvement Plans such as: 

a. Commercial building fa~ade improvements 

b. Preservation and adaptive reuse of heritage and industrial buildings 

c. Provision of affordable housing 

d. Space conversion for residential and commercial uses 

e. Structural improvements to buildings (e.g. Building Code upgrades) 

f. Improvement of community energy efficiency 

g. Accessibility enhancements 

2. Other Municipal Land Use Planning Policy - construction, renewal or material 
enhancement activities to fund strategic Municipal Physical Infrastructure and 
promotional projects such as: 

a. Signage - wayfinding/directional, and gateway. 

b. Streetscaping and landscape improvements - lighting, banners, murals, street 
furniture, interpretive elements, public art, urban forestation, accessibility, 
telecommunications/broadband equipment, parking, active transportation 
infrastructure (e.g. bike racks/storage, cycling lanes and paths) and pedestrian 
walkways/trails. 

c. Marketing plan implementation - business attraction and promotion activities, special 
events. 

SCHEDULE C 

15 

347



ELIGIBLE AND INELIGIBLE COSTS 

1. Eligible Costs include: 

a. Costs directly and reasonably incurred on or after April 1, 2018 up to and including the 
Project Completion Date by the Recipient for construction, renewal, renovation or 
redevelopment or material enhancement activities funded under existing Community 
Improvement Plan financial incentive programs. 

b. Costs directly and reasonably incurred on or after April 1, 2018 up to and including the 
Project Completion Date by the Recipient for construction, renewal or material 
enhancement activities funded under the Municipal Physical Infrastructure category 
including projects in downtown or main street areas, as defined through an existing 
Community Improvement Plan or other municipal land use planning policy that will 
support the success of small businesses in main street areas. 

2. Ineligible Costs include: 

a. Costs incurred prior to Effective Date or after the Project Completion Date; 

b. Any costs associated with providing the Annual and Results Reports to AMO; 

c. Any costs associated with lobbying Ontario, including other Ministries, agencies and 
organizations of the Government of Ontario; 

d. Costs associated with construction, renewal, renovation or redevelopment or material 
enhancement of all things in the following categories: highways, short-sea shipping, 
short-line rail, regional or local airports, and brownfield redevelopment; 

e. Costs of infrastructure construction, renewal, renovation or redevelopment or material 
enhancement that do not improve energy efficiency, accessibility, aesthetics of 
marketability of small businesses within an Recipient's main street areas; or that do not 
encourage strategic public investments in municipal and other public infrastructure 
within main street areas that will benefit small businesses; or that otherwise will likely 
fail to contribute to the success of main street businesses; 

f. Costs of infrastructure construction, renewal, renovation or redevelopment or material 
enhancement outside of the Recipient's main street areas, as defined through an 
existing Community Improvement Plan or other municipal land use planning policy; 

g. The cost of leasing of equipment by the Recipient, any overhead costs, including 
salaries and other employment benefits of any employees of the Recipient, its direct or 
indirect operating or administrative costs of Recipients, and more specifically its costs 
related to planning, engineering, architecture, supervision, management and other 
activities normally carried out by its staff, except in accordance with Eligible Costs 
above; 

h. Taxes, to which the Recipient is eligible for a tax rebate; 

i. Purchase of land or any interest therein, and related costs; and, 

j. Routine repair and maintenance Municipal Physical Infrastructure. 
SCHEDULE D 

16 

348



REPORTING 

1. Communication Report 

Immediately following the Municipality executing this Agreement the Recipient will provide 
AMO a Communication Report in an electronic format deemed acceptable to AMO, consisting 
of the following: 

Project Title Project Eligible Project Total Project Estimate of Funds 
Description Category (CIP / Cost (Main Street) 

Municipal Physical Spent 
Infrastructure 

2. Annual Report 

The Recipient will provide to AMO an Annual Report in an electronic format deemed 
acceptable to AMO, consisting of the following: 

a. Financial Reporting Table: The financial report table will be submitted in accordance with 
the following template: 

Annual Cumulative 
Annual Report Financial Table 

20xx 2018 - 2020 

Opening Balance $xxx 

Received from AMO $xxx $xxx 

Interest Earned $xxx $xxx 

Received from An Eligible $xxx $xxx 
Reci ient 

Transferred to an Eligible ($xxx) ($xxx) 
Reci ient 
Spent on Eligible Projects (for ($xxx) 
each Eligible Project category) 

($xxx) 

Closing Balance of $xxx 
Unspent Funds 

17 

349



b. Project List: The Recipient will provide to AMO a project list submitted in accordance with 
the following template: 

Project Project Eligible Total Main Street Start & End Completed? 
Recipient Title Description Project Project Funds Used Date 

Category Cost 
Yes/No/ 
Ongoing 

3. Project Results. 

The Results Report shall outline, in a manner to be provided by AMO, the degree to which 
investments in each project are supporting progress towards achieving revitalization within 
main street areas: 

a. Community Improvement Plan Eligible Projects 
• Number of small businesses supported; 
• Total value of physical improvements; 
• Total Main Street Funds provided; 
• Total Municipal investment; and, 
• Total private investment. 

b. Municipal Physical Infrastructure Eligible Projects 
• Total value of physical improvements; 
• Total Main Street Funds provided; and 
• Total municipal investment. 

18 

350



GUIDE TO THE MUNICIPAL FUNDING AGREEMENT 
CONTACT: mainstreets@amo.on.ca 
200 University Avenue, Suite 801 
Toronto, ON., MSH 3C6 
P: 416.971.9856 

MARCH 2018 

351



• 
N 

f 
f ::;: 

5 

i 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

03 _Municipal Checklist 

04 _Introduction 

04_fAQ 

10 _Appendices 

MUNICIPAL CHECKLIST 

Immediate Action 

Pass Municipal By-Law 
Authorizing MFA 

E-sign MFA and 
electronically submit to 
AMO 
E-mail (mainstreets@amo.on.ca) 

the Authorizing 
By-law to AMO 

2018 Project notification for 
communications purposes to 
AMO 

Longer Term Action 

Annual and Results Report 

Where is More Info When 

See Appendix A for a sample As soon as possible 

See page 8 for more 
information 

See page 9 for details on 
what is required 

Where is More Info 

See page 7 for de ta il s on 
what is requ ired 

As soon as possible 

As soon as possible 

When 

By May 15lh of every yea r 
(until funds are spent) 

• 

.~ 

& ~ 
1~ 
§ !:. 
::;: -
5 ~ 
2 ii 
:li« 
.S 

352



• 
INTRODUCTION 
The Main Street Revitalization Initiative is a $26 million fund to help municipal 
governments undertake main street revitalization activities that support and 
benefit small businesses. AMO has agreed to administer the funding on behalf 
of the Ministry of Agriculture, Food and Rural Affairs (OMAFRA). AMO signed 
the Agreement with OMAFRA on March 12, 2018. The Agreement's effective 
date is April 1, 2018. 

All lower and single tier municipal governments are eligible for the allocation 
based funding. The formula for the funding was established by OMAFRA 
without the need for an application or matching funding. It empowers 
municipalities to make investment decisions within the program's parameters. 

What is eligible? 
As of April 1, 2018, municipal governments can invest in revitalization activities that will support 
small businesses through activities undertaken to revitalize main streets. The work can be 
identified as priority through an existing Community Improvement Plan or municipal physical 
infrastructure priorities identified through other municipal land use planning document for the 
municipality's main street that involves the construction, renewal, renovation or redevelopment, 
or material enhancement in each of the following categories: 

Implementation of priority financial incentives in existing Community Improvement Plans such 
as: 

a. 
b. 
c. 
d. 
e. 
f. 
g. 

Commercial building fac;:ade improvements; 
Preservation and adaptive reuse of heritage and industrial buildings; 
Provision of affordable housing; 
Space conversion for residential and commercial uses; 
Structural improvements to buildings (e.g. Building Code upgrades); 
Improvement of community energy efficiency; and 
Accessibility enhancements. 

Funding of strategic municipal physical infrastructure such as: 
a. Signage - wayfinding/directional, and gateway; 
b. Streetscaping and landscape improvements - lighting, banners, murals, street 

furniture, interpretive elements, public art. urban forestation, accessibility, 
telecommunications/broadband equipment, parking, active transportation 
infrastructure (e.g. bike racks/storage, cycling lanes and paths) and pedestrian 
walkways/trails; and 

c. Marketing plan implementation - business attraction and promotion activities, 
special events. 

Municipalities can identify projects in one or both categories. 

353



j 
l.l'l 

What types of costs are eligible? 
Eligible Costs 

• Costs directly and reasonably incurred on or after April 1, 2018 up to and including 
March 31, 2020 for construction, renewal, or material enhancement activities 
funded under existing Community Improvement Plan financia l incentive programs; 
and/or, 

• Costs directly and reasonably incurred on or after April 1, 2018 up to and including 
March 31, 2020 for construction, renewal or material enhancement activities 
funded under the Municipal Physical Infrastructure category, including projects 
in downtown or main street areas, as defined through an existing Community 
Improvement Plan or other municipal land use planning policy that will support the 
success of small businesses in main street areas. 

Ineligible Costs 
• Costs incurred prior to April 1, 2018 or after March 31, 2020; 
• Any costs associated with providing any Reports to AMO; 
• Any costs associated with lobbying Ontario, including other Ministries, agencies and 

organizations of the Government of Ontario; 
• Costs for infrastructure works in the following categories: highways, short-sea 

shipping, short-line rail, regional or local airports, and brownfield redevelopment; 
• Costs of infrastructure works that does not improve energy efficiency, accessibility, 

aesthetics of marketability of small business within a main street area; 
• Costs of infrastructure works outside of main street areas, as defined through an 

existing Community Improvement Plan or other municipal land use planning policy; 
• The cost of leasing of equipment, any overhead costs, including salaries and 

other employment benefits of any employees, its direct or indirect operating or 
administrative costs, and more specifically its costs related to planning, engineering, 
architecture, supervision, management and other activities normally carried out by 
its staff, except in accordance with eligible costs above; 

• Taxes. to which the municipality is eligible for a tax rebate; 
• Purchase of land or any interest therein, and related costs; and, 
• Routine repair and maintenance costs. 

Would the development of a Community 
Improvement Plan be eligible? 
No. The program is focused on implementation of existing Community Improvement Plans or 
priorities through other existing municipal land use planning policies. Municipalities that do not 
have a Community Improvement Plan can implement eligible priority projects through the official 
plan, economic development strategy, downtown revitalization plan or another related plan in 
support of the municipal main street. 

354



• 

When does the money have to be spent? 
Municipalities have to March 31, 2020 to spend the funds on an eligible project. 
During this time, municipalities must earn interest on the Funds so that they have more for the 
project later. 

What about the municipal share of a project 
that will receive funding from another 
revenue source or program? 
Municipalities can fund 100% of total project costs with Main Street dollars. If another program 
has restrictions on the use of funds, they must be adhered to. 

If you are using multiple sources of funding, the project also has to be eligible under the terms and 
conditions of these multiple programs. 

What if our municipality wants to partner 
on a project? 
The Main Street Agreement encourages collaboration, building of partnerships and strategic 
alliances when working on eligible projects. 

If a municipality is transferring funds to another municipality, it must be done via by-law. The 
municipality transferring funds is responsible for reporting on the transfer in annual reporting. 
The municipality receiving Main Street Funds is responsible for reporting that the Funds were 
received and is responsible for all other reporting requirements, including project details and 
spending. 

If a municipality is transferring funds to a non-municipal entity, such as a for-profit company, 
council will have to endorse the project through a grant agreement. Under this situation, 
municipalities are still responsible for meeting all the requirements of the Agreement related to 
the use of the transferred Main Street Funds, including all reporting. 

355



j What is the allocation formula? 
Municipal Base + Small + 

Community 
r-. Allocation Funding 

Base Funding 
is the amount 

distributed equaUy 
among all eligible 

municipalities 

Adjustment 

Small Community 
Adjustment is the 

amount distributed 
equ ally among 

municipalities with 
a popu lation less 

than 25.000 

Per Capita 
Allocation is a per 

capita amount based 
on 2016 population. 
as outlined in the 
2016 Census of 

Population 

Total funding, less administrative costs, is allocated as follows across the three components: 

Base Funding: 
Small Community Adjustment: 
Per Capita Component: 

50% of total funding; 
11.5% of total funding; 
38.5% of total funding. 

Once a municipal government has fully executed an Agreement with AMO and provide the 
appropriate information for the transfer of the funds, the one time allocation will be paid out. 

How much of the funding is AMO using for 
administration? 
AMO will need just 6% of the $26 million to deliver this program to all eligible municipalities and 
report in aggregate to OMAFRA as required by the Agreement. 

What reporting is required of municipalities? 
Building on the success of the risk management framework established under the federal Gas Tax 
Agreement, municipalities only need to report initial upfront anticipated projects for 2018 and 
then once annually on projects until all the funds are spent. 

356



j 
co 

Remind me how the audit framework works? 
Municipalities will not have to complete audits. Instead the program will use a risk based approach 
that recognizes municipalities as a mature and accountable order of government. In this approach, 
the municipal contact for the Main Street Municipal Funding Agreement will be the Treasurer, no 
exceptions. In addition, AMO will audit approximately 10% of municipalities annua lly to provide 
assurance to Ontario on municipal compliance. 

Is there an agreement municipalities have to 
sign? 
Yes. AMO is using the a digital platform provided by its partner, Solutions Notarius Inc., to sign 
the Municipal Funding Agreement (MF A). A municipality must electronically sign (e-sign) the 
MFA with AMO to receive funding. Please have the appropriate signing officers e-sign the MFA. 
The municipal by-law authorizing the municipality to enter into the agreement can be emailed to 
AMO at mainstreets@amo.on.ca. See Appendix A for a sample by-law. 

Appendix B includes a cross-reference between the MFA with the OMAFRA-AMO Agreement. 

What is e-signing? 
An e-signature is a signature that can be applied in a document by a signer electronically. AMO 
uses Notarius' Consigno Cloud software to sign documents electronically. 

The municipal signing officer will receive a signature request to the MFA by email from AMO. 
They will be asked to open a link to a signing session in that email. The Consigno Cloud software 
certifies a signer's identity with two-factor authentication. The signing officer will be asked to 
provide a second authentication credential (e.g. an answer to a security question, like an online 
money transfer) before they can access the document. Once they are able to access the document, 
they will be asked to fill-in specific fields prior to fina lly signing off on the MFA. AMO will then 
be notified that the document has been signed and staff will review to ensure the document is 
complete before AMO e-signs the MF A. A final, signed copy of the MF A will then be provided to 
the municipality and to AMO electronically for record keeping. 

Signing officers to the MF A are not required to subscribe or install any software on their computer 
to sign the document. Documents can be signed on a mobile device or on a desktop computer. For 
further details on thee-signing requirement, please refer to the process document. 

357



• 

What else is required of municipalities? 
There are a number of requirements both now and over the life of the Agreement. 

As soon as possible, notification to AMO of the types of projects council wishes to undertake in 
2018 is required. 

As well there is annual reporting and results reporting similar to what municipalities already do 
under the federal Gas Tax Agreement through AMO's website. These reports will be due to AMO 
by May 15, 2019 and every year thereafter until the funds are spent. 

What is results reporting? 

The results report will demonstrate how the funding has been invested in a community to support 
revitalization within main street areas: 

Community Improvement Plan Eligible Projects 
• Number of small businesses supported; 
• Total value of physical improvements; 
• Total Main Street Funds provided; 
• Total Municipal investment; and, 
• Total private investment. 

Municipal Physical Infrastructure Eligible Projects 
• Total value of physical improvements; 
• Total Main Street Funds provided; and 
• Total municipal investment. 

More details are in Schedule D of the MF A. 

Are there communication requirements? 
Yes. Municipal governments will be expected to acknowledge funding of projects by the Province 
by inviting the Province to participate in media events or announcements related to projects 
funded under the Main Street Revitalization Initiative. 

More details are in Section 3 of the MF A. 

358



j 
0 
.-.; 

Can we sell the asset? 
Assets purchased or constructed using Main Street funds must be for public use and benefit. If 
a municipality wishes to dispose of assets prior to March 31, 2021 and it is valued at more than 
$50,000 at the time of disposal the written consent of the province is required . 

359



APPENDIX A 
• Sample Municipal By-Law 

--

WHEREAS the Municipality wishes to enter into an Agreement in order to 
DD 

;§ "' participate in Ontario's Main Streets Revitalization Initiative; 
c ..... 
~ ~ 
]. ~ 

:~ ~ AND WHEREAS the Municipality acknowledges that Funds received 
~ J through the Agreement must be invested in an interest bearing reserve 
.s ti, account until the earliest of expenditure or March 31. 2020; 
~< 
·9 
(!) 

Now THEREFORE, the Council of the [MUNICIPAL NAME]. a municipal 
corporation pursuant to the Municipal Act , 2001; 

ENACTS AS FOLLOWS 

That the Mayor/Reeve/Regional Chair/Warden and [SIGNING 
AUTHORITY, i.e. Clerk] are hereby authorized to execute this Municipal 
Funding Agreement for the transfer of Main St reets Revitalization 
Initiatives funds between the Association of Municipalities of Ontario and 
[MUNICIPAL NAME] as in Schedule A attached hereto. 

Schedule A shall form part of this by-law. 

360



APPENDIX B 
_ •_ Cross-Reference Table Between MFA and OMAFRA-AMO Agreement 

~ 

.. Municipal Funding Agreement 
.s 
~ ~ (MF A) Provision 
"iil .c 
Q, I:'. 

Section 1 - Definitions and Interpretat ion :~ ~ 
~~ Section 1.1 Definitions 
., El 
'5 ., Section 1.2 Interpretation 0., 

- th 
~ <( Section 2 - Term of Agreement ·a 
<.:> 

Section 2.1 Term 

Section 2.2 Amendment 

Section 2.3 Notice 

Section 3 - Recipient Requirements 

Section 3.1 Communkations 

Section 3.2 Contracts 

Section 4 - Eligible Projects 

Section 4.1 Eligible Projects 

Section 4.2 Recipient Fully Responsible 

Section 5 - Eligible Costs 

Section 5.1 Eligible Costs 

Section 5.2 Discretion of Ontario 

Section 5.3 Unspent Funds 

Section 5.4 Reasonable Access 

Section 5.5 Retention Receipts 

Section 6 - Funds 

Section 6.1 Allocation of Funds 

Section 6.2 Transfer of Funds to a Municipality 

Section 6.3 Transfer of Funds to a non-municipal 
entity 

Section 6.4 Use of Funds 

Section 6.5 Payout of Funds 

Section 6.6 Use of Funds 

Section 6.7 Funds Advanced 

Section 6.8 Expenditure of Funds 

Section 6.9 GST & HST 

Section 6.10 Limit of Ontario's Financial 
Commitments 

Section 6.11 Stacking 

Section 6.12 Insufficient funds provided by Ontario 

Section 7 - Reporting Requirements 

OMAFRA-AMO Agreement 
Provision 
Schedule A Article 1 

Schedule A Article Al.2 

Schedule A Article A1.1 

Schedule A Article A3 

Schedule A Article A3.1 

Section 3.1 

Schedule A Article A12 

Schedule A Article AS, AS 

Schedule B Article B1.7 

Schedule A Article AS.2 

Schedule D Article D2.1 

Schedule D Article D2.15 and 6 

Schedule A Article A4.4 

Schedule D Article 03.1 

Schedule 0 Article 03.1 

Schedule D Article 02.1 

Schedule A Article A15 

Schedule A Article A7 

Schedule A Article A7 

Schedule C Activity 1 

Schedule C Activity 1 

AMO Provision 

AMO Provision 

Schedule D Article 02.1 

AMO Provision 

Schedule A Article A4.6 

Schedule A Article A17 

Schedule B Article 81.2 

Schedule A Article A4.10 

Schedule A Article A4.2 

AMO Provision 

AMO Provision 

Schedule F 

361



Section 7.1 Communication Report Schedule F 

Section 7.2 Annual Report Schedule F 

Section 7.3 Results Report Schedule F 

• Section 8 - Records and Audit Schedule A Artic le A7 
M 
~ 

Section 8.1 Accounting Principles Schedule A Article Al.1, A7.2 

Section 8.2 Separate Records Schedule A Article A7.2 .., 
Section 8.3 External Auditor :§ Schedule A Article A7.3 

i:: ~ ::s 0 Section 9 - Insurance and Indemnity Schedule A Article All "- N 
~ -5 
"" ~ Section 9.1 Insurance Schedule A Article All :~ ~ 

::!: - Section 9.2 Certificates of Insurance Schedule A Article All.2 ., ~ 
:5 ~ Section 9 .3 AMO not liable AMO Provision 0 QJ 
.... ti, 
~~ Section 9.4 Recipient to Compensate Ontario Schedule A Article All ·s 
t.? 

Section 9.5 Recipient to Indemnify AMO AMO Provision 

Section 10 - Disposal Schedule A Article A5.3 

Section 10.1 Disposal Schedule A Article A5.3 and Schedule B Article 81.5 

Section 11 - Default and Termination Schedule A Article Al 4 

Section 11.1 Event of Default Schedule A Article A14.1 

Section 11.2 Waiver AMO Provision 

Section 11.3 Remedies of Default Schedule A Article A14.3 

Section 11.4 Repayment of Funds Schedule A Article A14.2 

Section 12 - Conflict of Interest Schedule A Article A6 

Section 12.1 No conflict of interest Schedule A Article A6.2 

Section 13 - Notice Standard Provision 

Section 13.1 Notice Standard Provision 

Section 13.2 Representatives Standard Provision 

Section 13.3 Addresses for Notice Standard Provision 

Section 14 - Miscellaneous Various sections listed in detail below 

Section 14.1 Counterpart Signature Section 2.1 

Section 14.2 Severability Schedule A Article A20 

Section 14.3 Waiver Schedule A Article A21 

Section 14.4 Governing Law Schedule A Article A24 

Section 14.5 Survival Schedule A Article A30 

Section 14.6 AMO, Ontario and Recipient Schedule A Article A22 
independent 

Section 14.7 No Authority to Represent AMO Provision 

Section 14.8 Debts Due to AMO Schedule A Article A15 , A17.2 

Section 14.9 Priority Schedule A Article Al.3 

Section 15 - Schedules Standard Provision 

Section 16 - Signatures Standard Provision 

Schedule A - Municipal Allocation Schedule C Activity 1 

Schedule B - Eligible Projects Schedule D Article 02.15 and 6 

Schedule C - Eligible and Ineligible Costs Schedule D Article D3.1 

Schedule D - Reporting Schedule F 

362



('~ 

t?ontario 
A M Association of 

Municipalities Ontario 

363



This page intentionGilly left b!Gink. 

364



POR. T COLBOR.NE 

Report Number: 2018-51 

Community and Economic Development Department 
Parks and Recreation Division 

Date: April 23, 2018 

SUBJECT: Port Colborne Downtown Cruiser's Association - 2018 Cruise Nights 

1) PURPOSE 

The purpose of this report is to present a request from the Port Colborne Downtown 
Cruiser's Association for the temporary closure of City roads in order to host the 2018 
Downtown Cruise Nights. In 2018, Cruise Nights are proposed to take place on 
reoccurring Thursdays from 5:00 p.m. to 9:00 p.m. beginning on May 17, 2018 and 
continuing until September 27, 2018. 

2) HISTORY, BACKGROUND, COUNCIL POLICY, PRACTICES 

The Port Colborne Downtown Cruiser's Association (PCDCA) was established to 
display hot rods, classic cars and trucks in Downtown Port Colborne. The PCDCA has 
successfully hosted the Cruise Night event in Downtown Port Colborne for the past four 
years. This weekly, summer-time event is vibrant and has successfully attracted visitors, 
and benefits the City's tourism and economic sectors. 

Cruise Nights draw participants and visitors from throughout the Niagara Region and 
beyond, including the United States. The PCDCA has proposed to use the same event 
footprint used in previous years, utilizing Clarence Street, between Elm Street and West 
Street, as well as the Market Square. The event generally showcases more than 150 
classic vehicles. Participants register with PCDCA to take part in the event each week. 

The City's policies and procedures concerning festivals and events outline guidelines for 
the City to provide assistance to local associations and organizations to host special 
events in municipally owned facilities and/or property. To manage municipal resources 
for these events, and ensure public safety (as per the City's User Pay Policy) event 
organizers may request to borrow certain City-owned equipment and materials. 
Equipment such as picnic tables, waste receptacles, snow fencing, barricades, and 
traffic barriers/pylons may be loaned by the City, provided the event organizer 
reimburses the City for any additional costs that may be incurred (i.e. through the 
transportation and delivery of materials, staff overtime, and equipment, etc.). Event 
organizers are also responsible for any loss and/or damage to municipal 
facilities/property, including equipment/materials on loan, which are subject to full 
recovery charges for the actual replacement/repair costs incurred by the City. 

In addition to other conditions of approval that may be imposed by the City, the City's 
festivals and events insurance policy requires event organizers to carry a minimum of 
$2 million in general liability insurance (or $5 million for an event involving alcohol). The 
organizer is required to file a Certificate of Insurance, naming the City as an additional 
insured, to the City prior to the event. Further, event organizers are required to submit 
an application for a Noise By-law exemption to the By-law Enforcement Division, if they 
are intending to provide amplified music during the event. 

365



3) STAFF COMMENTS AND DISCUSSIONS 

As a result of this event's continued growth and success, which in 2017 garnered higher 
than expected visitor and participant registrations, the PCDCA has requested to extend 
the duration of the event this year. This year, the PCDCA is proposing the Cruise Night 
event schedule begin on May 17, 2018 and end on September 27, 2018. The proposed 
schedule is attached as Appendix "A". 

The Community and Economic Development Department is in support of this request, 
and recommends temporary road closure approvals, as follows: 

• Clarence Street, from eastern limit of the western driveway in the Food Basics 
parking lot to the western limit of Catharine Street; 

• Clarence Street, from the eastern limit of Catharine Street to the western limit of 
King Street; 

• Clarence Street, from the eastern limit of King Street to the western limit of West 
Street; and 

• Market Square. 

The proposed road closure map, as submitted by PCDCA, is attached as Appendix "B". 
Emergency vehicles, including ambulance, police and fire, as well as public works and 
public utility vehicles, will be exempt from the closures. Further, members and qualified 
volunteers of the PCDCA, and registered participants, will also be exempt from the 
closures. Traffic accommodations through the event area will be made as follows: 

• Traffic travelling westbound on Clarence Street from the Clarence Street Bridge 
will be able to turn left or right on West Street (road closure barricades will be 
installed on Clarence Street, at the western limit of West Street); 

• North and south bound traffic at the intersection of King Street and Clarence 
Street will be permitted (subject to traffic signal controls at this intersection), with 
no left or right turns permitted onto Clarence Street (road closure barricades will 
be installed at the eastern and western limits of King Street and Clarence Street 
intersection; 

• North and South bound traffic will be permitted on Catherine Street; 

• PCDCA volunteers will monitor the closure area on Clarence Street, at the 
western driveway of the Food Basics parking lot. 

As in the past, City staff will deliver road closure barricades at each predetermined 
intersection, before the end of the regular workday each Thursday, from May 17, 2018 
to September 27, 2018. 

In addition, the PCDCA is planning to host special theme Cruise Nights that will be used 
to display certain makes and/or models of vehicles. In order to accommodate this 
request, staff recommend closing Market Square at 1 p.m . on Thursday, May 17, June 
8, June 15, July 13, and September 21, 2018, with the exception of the western access 
lane way (which will provide ingress and egress to the CIBC Bank until 5 p.m .). The 

Community and Economic Development Department, Parks and Recreation Division, 
Report No.: 2018-51 Page 2 of 5 

366



PCDCA will utilize Market Square during this time to provide a secure location for out
of-town participants to store their special theme vehicles prior to the start of the event. 
The PCDCA has confirmed approximately three volunteers will be used to monitor the 
Market Square area during this closure and will limit any incoming vehicles. It should be 
noted that vehicles parked within the Market Square at the time of the closure will not be 
removed. 

PCDCA volunteers will install City approved signage at each intersection of the closure, 
stating "Cruisers Night Clarence Street Temporarily Closed - 5:00 to 9:00 p.m." . 
Signage will also be installed at Market Square. As in the past, PCDCA volunteers will 
ensure barricades are promptly removed and returned to pick-up areas at the end of the 
event each Thursday. 

The above plan provides an adequate staging area for event organizers, while also 
ensuring pedestrian safety and accommodating traffic flow. All PCDCA volunteers will 
be registered through the City and receive appropriate training regarding road closures. 

Staff/Stakeholder Comments: 

This report was circulated for comment to the By-law Enforcement Division, Engineering 
and Operations Department and the Downtown Business Improvement Area for 
comment, with input provided as follows: 

By-law Enforcement Division: 
The By-law Enforcement Division will process the Noise Variance request in a timely 
manner. The Downtown Cruiser's Association has not requested By-law Services for 
this event; therefore, this Division has no objections to the proposed event. 

Engineering & Operations Department: 
No comments received. 

Downtown Business Improvement Area: 
No objections. 

4) OPTIONS AND FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS: 

a) Do Nothing 

Council may choose to receive and file this report, effectively denying the PCDCA 
request. This option is not recommended . 

b) Other Options 

Council may provide alternative direction regarding the event and/or road closures. For 
example, Council may determine to accommodate special theme nights by temporarily 
closing the King Street municipal parking lot (rather than Market Square) at 1 p.m. on 
Thursday, May 11, June 8, June 15 and July 13, and September 21, 2018. While this 
option would provide a location for special theme night participants with a secure 
location in which to store their vehicles, King Street will not be closed for the event. 
Extending the event layout north of Clarence Street may result in an increased number 

Community and Economic Development Department, Parks and Recreation Division , 
Report No. : 2018-51 Page 3 of 5 

367



of visitors and participants using the unclosed roadway as a pedestrian access to the 
event grounds. This option could pose an increased risk to visitor and pedestrian safety. 
Further, certain makes/models of participant vehicles are not deemed road worthy (i.e. 
racecars and tractors). Event access for these participants is contingent on roads being 
"closed to vehicles - pedestrians only". The PCDCA commented on this option, by 
indicating that moving the parking area to the King Street municipal parking lot could 
result in decreased participation and attendance and may necessitate a change in the 
Cruise Night schedule of events. This option is not recommended. 

5) COMPLIANCE WITH STRATEGIC PLAN INITIATIVES 

This initiative supports the City's strategic goal of developing collaborative partnerships 
and engaging community groups to host events that benefit the local economy, as 
outlined in the City's Strategic Plan. 

6) ATTACHMENTS 

Appendix "A" - PCDCA Proposed Event Schedule 
Appendix "B" - PCDCA Proposed Road Closure Map 

7) RECOMMENDATION 

That the road closures necessary for the 2018 Downtown Cruise Night event on 
recurring Thursday evenings, from May 17, 2018 to September 27, 2018, as requested 
by the Port Colborne Downtown Cruiser's Association, (PCDCA) and outlined in 
Community and Economic Development, Parks and Recreation Division Report No; 
2018-51, be approved; 

That the following roads be closed to general vehicular traffic and parking from 5:00 
p.m. to 9:00 p.m., each Thursday from May 17, 2018 to September 27, 2018: 

• Market Square; 
• Clarence Street, from eastern limit of the western driveway of the Food Basics 

parking lot, to the western limit of Catharine Street; 
• Clarence Street, from the eastern limit of Catharine Street to the western limit of 

King Street; 
• Clarence Street, from the eastern limit of King Street to the western limit of West 

Street; 

That Market Square be closed to vehicular traffic on May 17, June 8, June 15, July 13, 
and September 21 , 2018 from 1 :00 p.m. to 5:00 p.m., with the exception of the western 
access laneway, to be used as an ingress and egress to the CIBC Bank; 

That emergency service vehicles, including ambulance, police and fire, as well as public 
works and public utility vehicles, be exempt from the above noted closures; 

That members, qualified participants, and participants of the PCDCA, be exempt from 
the above noted closures, through the issuance of an authorized permit; 

Community and Economic Development Department, Parks and Recreation Division, 
Report No.: 2018-51 Page 4 of 5 

368



That traffic barricades be supplied by Public Works staff every Thursday, from May 17, 
2018 to September 27, 2018, and delivered before the end of the regular work day at 
the predetermined locations requiring barricades; 

That PCDCA volunteers be responsible for installing appropriate signage at each 
intersection, stating "Cruise Night Clarence Street Temporarily Closed - 5:00 to 9:00 
p.m.", including Market Square, for the duration of the event; 

That PCDCA volunteers be responsible for ensuring road closure barricades are 
promptly removed and returned to the pick-up points at the end of the event each week; 

That the PCDCA be required to file a Certificate of Insurance, naming the City as an 
additional insured, in the amount of $2,000,000, prior to the event; 

That the fee for a Noise By-law Exemption application, to be submitted to the By-law 
Enforcement Division, be waived; and 

That the appropriate by-law be presented for approval. 

8) SIGNATURES 

Prepared on March 20, 2018 by: Reviewed by: 
.,1 l / I 

" /,I! l_." )''-
\ _i · I /''-~ V .- 1.~ ·~" / r ·:_.... . 

l \ ,,._ .... ,,., ..... ./I'··· · 

Gina Tartaglia 
Event Coordinator 

'· ,..i~,: I ·· :2 
./~· 

Nicole Halasz l 
Manager of Pa~ks and Recreation 

Reviewed by: Reviewed and respectfully submitted by: 

Ashley Grigg -
Director of Community and Economic 
Development 

C. Scott Luey 
Chief Administrative Officer 

Community and Economic Development Department, Parks and Recreation Division, 
Report No.: 2018-51 Page 5 of 5 

369



370



Niagara <:7/IJ RegiOr1 2018 Downtown Cruise Nigths Closures 

0.1 0 0.06 0.1 Kilometers 
!_____ - -· _ I 

() 2017-Tho Region•! Municipality of Niagara and its suppliers. All Rights Reseived. Produced (in par~ under license from: Q 2017 Of THE QUEEN'S PRINTER FOR ONTARIO. ALL RIGHTS 
RESERVED: \!;.I Teranet Enterprises Inc. and its suppliers. All rights reserved. Not a plan of sur\ley; 2006 Air Photos courtesy of First Base Solutions Inc.; 1934 Air Photos courtesy of Brock Univernty. 

1his map 1s a u~er genernted static output irom an Internet m;Jpping site and 1s for reference only Data layers lhat appear on tt11s map may or may not be accurate, current, or otherwise reliable This 
map 1s not to be used for navigaltcn 

Legend 

Streets Labels 

Notes 

N 

A 
371



This page intentionally left blank. 

372



PORT COLBORNE 

Report Number: 2018-54 

Community and Economic Development Department 
Parks and Recreation Division 

Date: April 23, 2018 

SUBJECT: 2018 Moonlight Flicks at H.H. Knoll Lakeview Park 

1) PURPOSE 

This purpose of this report is to present a request from Patrick Gagliardi seeking 
Council's approval to host the Moonlight Flicks event at H.H. Knoll Lakeview Park (on 
Wednesdays) on July 4, 11, 18, 25 and August 22 and 29, 2018. 

2) HISTORY, BACKGROUND, COUNCIL POLICY, PRACTICES 

This report was prepared following a request from Patrick Gagliardi, organizer of the 
Moonlight Flicks event. Moonlight Flicks is an annual summer event that takes place in 
a variety of parks within Niagara. The event invites members of the community to watch 
a film outdoors in the evening in a public park. Moonlight Flicks has requested to host 
an outdoor movie showcase at H.H. Knoll Lakeview Park on five Wednesdays during 
the summer from 6 p.m. until midnight. While spectators wait for the movie to begin at 
dusk, they can find a location to setup chairs/blankets and participate in activities and 
games. The event is free, however spectators are requested to donate canned goods to 
benefit the local food bank, including Port Cares. 2017 was the first year that Mr. 
Gagliardi hosted the event. With the previous year's success, Mr. Gagliardi would and 
like to expand this year's event and is proposing a larger movie screen and sound 
system. 

The City's policies and procedures concerning festivals and events outline guidelines for 
the City to provide assistance to local associations and organizations to host special 
events in municipally owned facilities and/or property. To manage municipal resources 
for these events, and ensure public safety (as per the City's User Pay Policy) event 
organizers may request to borrow certain City-owned equipment and materials. 
Equipment such as picnic tables, garbage receptacles, snow fencing, barricades, and 
traffic barriers/pylons may be loaned by the City, provided the event organizer 
reimburses the City for any additional costs that may be incurred (i.e. through the 
transportation and delivery of materials, staff overtime, and equipment, etc.). Event 
organizers are also responsible for any loss and/or damage to municipal 
facilities/property, including equipment/materials on loan, which are subject to full 
recovery charges for the actual replacement/repair costs incurred by the City. 

In addition to other conditions of approval that may be imposed by the City, the City's 
festivals and events insurance policy requires event organizers to carry a minimum of 
$2 million in general liability insurance (or $5 million for an event involving alcohol). The 
organizer is required to file a Certificate of Insurance, naming the City as an additional 
insured, to the City prior to the event. 

Further, event organizers are required to submit an application for a Noise By-law 
exemption to the By-law Enforcement Division, if they are intending to provide amplified 
music during the event. 

373



3) STAFF COMMENTS AND DISCUSSIONS 

Event organizers will carry out the majority of the work, with minimal staff support, and 
will setup the inflatable movie screen, speakers, projector, signage, and sponsor tents, 
beginning at 6 p.m. concluding between 11 p.m. and 12 a.m. Event organizers will 
disassemble and remove equipment each night. 

Community and Economic Development staff are prepared to assist, when required, 
and will ensure infrastructure and logistical support complies with municipal standards, 
and public health and safety requirements. Event organizers are requesting access to 
the band shell (to provide washroom access and hydro). Utility locates for staking the 
movie screen and tents would be the responsibility of event organizers. Three to four 
tents are proposed (10' x 1 O' each), which do not require a building permit, providing 
they are not connected in a length greater than 1 O' x 30'. 

In order to accommodate this event, an exemption from Section 4 (Prohibited Hours of 
Entrance) of By-law 5503/100/10, Being a By-law to Manage and Regulate Municipal 
Parks, would be required (the public would be in attendance past the 11 p.m . park 
closure time). 

Event Organizers will be required to notify Niagara Regional Police and the Fire and 
Emergency Services Department of the event. Event organizers have requested City 
support as follows: 

• Provision of waste receptacles; 
• Use of public washroom facilities (at the bandshell) until 12 a.m.; 
• Waiving of fees associated with park permits and hydro; 
• Waiving of fee associated with the application for a Noise By-Law Exemption; 
• Exemption from section 4 of By-law 5503/100/10 (Prohibited Hours of Entrance). 

Staff/Stakeholder Comments: 
This report was circulated for comment to the Parks and Recreation Division, By-law 
Enforcement Division, Building Division, Fire and Emergency Services Department, and 
the Niagara Regional Police Service, with input provided as follows: 

Parks and Recreation Division: 
No adverse comments. 

By-law Enforcement Division: 
The By-law Enforcement Division is not opposed to the event. Review and processing 
will take place upon receipt of the Noise Variance application . 

Building Division: 
The size and number of tents do not meet the criteria for building permits. 

Fire and Emergency Services Department: 
• A portable fire extinguisher shall be supplied in the area of the projection system 

and shall have not less than one 2A: 1 OBC extinguisher; 

Community and Economic Development Department, Parks and Recreation Division Report No.: 2018-54 
Page 2 of 4 

374



• Cooking with fuel fired appliances, open fires, smoking, the use of candles or other 
open flames is strictly prohibited in any tents used by the public; 

• An area of at least three metres (nine feet) surrounding the tent shall be kept clear 
of all materials and/or vegetation that will support and allow fire extension; 

• Hay, straw, shavings or similar combustible materials shall not be used within a 
tent or air-supported structure; 

• No temporary barriers shall be used on roads or to control the flow of people; 
• No open air burning or fireworks is permitted. 

Niagara Regional Police: 
No comments received. 

4) OPTIONS AND FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS: 

a) Do Nothing 

Council may choose to receive and file this report, effectively denying the event request. 
This option is not recommended. 

b) Other Options 

Council may provide alternative direction regarding the event. Staff have worked with 
the event organizer to determine logistical needs. This option is not recommended. 

5) COMPLIANCE·WITH STRATEGIC PLAN INITIATIVES 

This initiative supports the City's strategic goal of developing collaborative partnerships 
and engaging community groups to host events that benefit the local economy. 

6) ATTACHMENTS 

None. 

7) RECOMMENDATION 

That the Moonlight Flicks event, to be held on Wednesday July 4, 11, 18, 25 and August 
22 and 29, 2018, be supported; 

That fees for the application for a Noise By-law Exemption, to be filed with the By-law 
Enforcement Division, be waived; 

That an exemption from Section 4 (Prohibited Hours of Entrance) to By-law 
5503/100/10, Being a By-law to Manage and Regulate Municipal Parks, be approved; 

That use of the restrooms until 12:00 a.m. at the H.H. Knoll Lakeview Park Bandshell, 
be approved; 

That Moonlight Flicks be required to file a Certificate of Insurance, naming the City as 
an additional insured, in the amount of $2,000,000, prior to the event. 

Community and Economic Development Department, Parks and Recreation Division Report No.: 2018-54 
Page 3 of 4 

375



That the City's park permit, hydro, and waste receptacle fees, be waived. 

8) SIGNATURES 

Prepared on March 29, 2018 by: 

Gina Tartaglia 
Event Coordinator 

Reviewed by: 

Ashley Grig~..,,..-, · 
Director of Community and Economic 
Development 

Reviewe
1

d/by: . 

'1 /I ~ 

11tt'-' 
' , / 

Nicole Halasz ( 
Manager of Par. nd Recreation 

Reviewed and respectfully submitted by: 

C. Scott Luey 
Chief Administrative Officer 

Community and Economic Development Department, Parks and Recreation Division Report No.: 2018-54 
Page 4 of 4 

376



I -· -POR. T COLBOR.NE 

Report Number: 2018-56 

Community and Economic Development Department 
Parks and Recreation Division 

Date: April 23 2018 

SUBJECT: 2018 Heart & Stroke Big Bike Campaign 

1) PURPOSE 

The purpose of this report is to present a request from Melissa Allen, Area Coordinator, 
Niagara Region Heart & Stroke Foundation, for approval to host the 2018 Heart & 
Stroke Big Bike event, to be held on May 16, 2018. 

2) HISTORY, BACKGROUND, COUNCIL POLICY, PRACTICES 

The City's policies and procedures concerning festivals and events outline guidelines for 
the City to provide assistance to local associations and organizations to host special 
events in municipally owned facilities and/or property. To manage municipal resources 
for these events, and ensure public safety (as per the City's User Pay Policy) event 
organizers may request to borrow certain City-owned equipment and materials. 
Equipment such as picnic tables, waste receptacles, snow fencing, barricades, and 
traffic barriers/pylons may be loaned by the City, provided the event organizer 
reimburses the City for any additional costs that may be incurred (i.e. through the 
transportation and delivery of materials, staff overtime, and equipment, etc.). Event 
organizers are also responsible for any loss and/or damage to municipal 
facilities/property, including equipment/materials on loan, which are subject to full 
recovery charges for the actual replacement/repair costs incurred by the City. 

In addition to other conditions of approval that may be imposed by the City, the City's 
festivals and events insurance policy requires event organizers to carry a minimum of 
$2 million in general liability insurance (or $5 million for an event involving alcohol). The 
organizer is required to file a Certificate of Insurance, naming the City as an additional 
insured, to the City prior to the event. 

3) STAFF COMMENTS AND DISCUSSIONS 

The Heart and Stroke Foundation Niagara Office has requested approval to allow the 
Heart & Stroke Big Bike to take place in Port Colborne, beginning at 5 p.m. and ending 
at approximately 8:30 p.m. on May 16, 2018. Council has approved this event for 
several years. Participating teams will ride a route beginning on West Street at 
Canalside Pub & Eatery, travelling south on West Street, then west on Victoria Street, 
north on Elm Street, east on Clarence Street, and south onto West Street, ending at 
Canalside Pub & Eatery. A copy of the route map is attached as Appendix "A". 

A total of ten teams are expected to participate, organizers have arranged for a Niagara 
Regional Police escort to travel with participants to ensure safety for both riders and 
motorists. The Niagara Region Heart & Stroke Foundation office is also requesting 
permission from the Region of Niagara. 

377



4) OPTIONS AND FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS: 

a) Do Nothing 

Council may choose to receive and file this report, effectively denying the event request. 
This option is not recommended. 

b) Other Options 

Council may provide alternative direction regarding the event. Staff have worked with 
the event organizer to determine logistical needs. This option is not recommended. 

5) COMPLIANCE WITH STRATEGIC PLAN INITIATIVES 

This initiative supports the City's strategic goal of developing collaborative partnerships 
and engaging community groups to host events that benefit the local economy. 

6) ATTACHMENTS 

Appendix "A" - Heart & Stroke Big Bike Event Route Map 

7) RECOMMENDATION 

That the 2018 Heart & Stroke Big Bike Event, to be held on May 16, 2018, be approved; 

That the Niagara Region Heart & Stroke Foundation be responsible for coordinating 
emergency services support; and 

That the Niagara Region Heart & Stroke Foundation be required to file a Certificate of 
Insurance, naming the City as an additional insured, in the amount of $2,000,000, prior 
to the event. 

8) SIGNATURES 

Prepared n~ Ail 4, 2 18 by: 

' ) -~ . ,/ __ / 
. 'tU-~~ 

Gina Tartaglia 
Event Coordinator 

Reviewed by: 

Ashley Grigg 
Director of Co -
Development 

Reviewed 1by: 

.... 1 I I u1 ·'1 ~, / ,t· ; VI 

I ~ . 
Nicole Halasz L, 
Manager of Parks anti Recreation 

Reviewed and ·respectfully submitted by: 

C. Scott Luey 
Chief Administrative Officer 

Community and Economic Development Department, Parks and Recreation Division Report No.: 2018-56 
Page 2 of 2 

378



I "'"-~····· Niagara Navigator I 

0.2 0 0.12 0.2 Kilometers 
I I 

0 2015 - The Regional Municipality of Niagara and its suppliers All Rights Reserved. Produced (in part) under license from: 0 2015 OF THE QUEEN'S PRJNTER FOR ONTARIO. All RIGHTS 
RESERVED; C> Teranet Enterprises Inc. and its suppliers. All n9hts reserved. Not a plan of survey; 2006 Air Photos coun·esy of First Base Solutions Inc.; 1934 Air Photos courtesy of Brock University. 

This map Is a user generaled slatic oulpul from an lntemel mapping sile and is for reference only. Dala layers lhal appear on lhis map may or may not be accura1e. current. or olherwise 
reliable. This map is nol to be used for navigalion. 

N 

A 

l~-rr'-f'<(0 
•.. J·- ·- · .. 1 l v ·--·~ 

C.:~p~·4.. F~~ 
"'\ ·-·· ." ~ . .... ~ 

\ i '' :i.· __,.-A.:..~~.r . 

Legend 

Streets Labels 

Notes 

379



This page intentionally left blank, 

380



I 

-II-
PORT COLBOR.NE 

Report Number: 2018-55 

Community and Economic Development Department 
Park and Recreation Division 

Date: April 23, 2018 

SUBJECT: City Wide Parks Grass-Cutting Tender 2018-04 

1) PURPOSE 

The purpose of this report is to present the results of the grass-cutting services tender 
recently issued for City parks, and to recommend extending the current parks grass
cutting contract for one year. 

2) HISTORY, BACKGROUND, COUNCIL POLICY, PRACTICES 

The City's most recent contract for grass-cutting services for municipal parks (approved 
for a period of five years) expired on 2017. As a result, in consultation with the Parks 
and Recreation Division, the Engineering and Operations Department issued a new 
tender to secure grass-cutting services for the next five-year period (with an expiration 
year of 2022). The tender outlined a comprehensive list of all areas requiring service, 
and specified a minimum of ten cuts at each location, per year. The tender specified 
that pricing submitted was to be the total cost for each cut, with individual pricing for 
each year of the service contract. 

3) STAFF COMMENTS AND DISCUSSIONS 

The tender for parks grass-cutting services closed on February 26, 2018. Thirteen 
contractors obtained tender documents prior to closing, and, five contractors submitted 
bids, with results as follows: 

Contractor: 

Stevensville Lawn Service 

Griffin Landscape 

Total Landcare 

HS&M Landscape 

Snips Landscape 

Pricing: 

$12,774.45, plus 5% additional every year until 2022. 

Disqualified bid. 

Disqualified bid. 

Disqualified bid. 

Disqualified bid. 

As noted above, Stevensville Lawn Service, of Stevensville Ontario, submitted the only 
qualifying bid. Other bidders were disqualified due to substantial errors and/or 
irregularities in their bid submissions. 

Further to the above, Snips Landscaping and Nursery has proposed extending its parks 
grass-cutting contract with the City into 2018. The City's procurement policy permits 
contract extensions in cases where there will be an economic benefit to the City. 
Maintaining the existing contract with Snips Landscaping and Nursery will provide 
sufficient economic benefit for the City to extend the existing contract. Snips 
Landscaping and Nursery has held the City's parks grass-cutting contract for a number 
of years, and has provided high quality service at a competitive price. Due to the results 

381



of the recent tender process and, the subsequent economic benefit to the City, staff 
recommend extending the current service contract with Snips Landscaping and Nursery 
for a period of one year. 

4) OPTIONS AND FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS 

a) Do Nothing 

Council may choose to receive and file this report, effectively taking no action. Under 
this option, a contract for grass-cutting services would not be secured. This option 
would negatively impact the City's parks maintenance program. This option is not 
recommended. 

b) Other Options 

Council could direct the City assume the duties of this contract; however, additional 
financial and human resources would be required in order to maintain the level of 
service. Parks grass-cutting contracts have traditionally resulted in a high level of 
service for a competitive price. This option is not recommended . 

5) COMPLIANCE WITH STRATEGIC PLAN INITIATIVES 

Not applicable. 

6) ATTACHMENTS 

None. 

7) RECOMMENDATION 

That contract 2015-09, for the supply for parks grass-cutting services, with Snips 
Landscaping and Nursery, be extended for one year (2018), in accordance with the 
terms of the existing contract; and 

That the appropriate by-law be presented for approval. 

8) SIGNATURES 

Prepared on March 29, 2018 by: 

01- Jtr-ID 
Mike dr:aybiel 
Parks Supervisor 

Reviewed by: 

Ashley Grigg ~ _ 
Director of Cof.nmtrnffYand Economic 
Development 

Reviewed 'qyj u \ /1 / / )\ "-/fT!r ~ 
Nicole Halasz L_ 
Manager of Parks a ~1d Re reation 

Reviewed and resp~~ttully submitted by: 

C. Scott Luey 
Chief Administrative Officer 

Community and Economic Development Department, Parks and Recreation Division Report No.: 2018-55 
Page 2 of 2 

382



PORT COLBORNE 

Report Number: 2018-46 

Planning and Development Department 
By-law Enforcement Division 

Date: April 23, 2018 

SUBJECT: Proposed Lot Maintenance By-law 2018 

1) PURPOSE 

The report was prepared by Sherry Hanson, Supervisor, By-law Enforcement Division 
and authorized by Dan Aquilina, Director of Planning and Development. The purpose of 
the report is to present Council with a proposed updated Lot Maintenance By-law. 
Previously, Council expressed a desire for more rapid By-law enforcement. 

2) HISTORY, BACKGROUND, COUNCIL POLICY, PRACTICES 

It is the protocol of the By-law Enforcement Division to create by-laws when requested , 
monitor the by-law, and modify as necessary. After implementing and using the by-law 
for 2 years, noted modifications were necessary to clarify issues and expedite the 
process. The City's solicitor reviewed numerous changes prior to presenting to Council 
for consideration. 

The history of implementing the Lot Maintenance By-law in 2016 is as follows: 

• At the October 13, 2015 meeting, through Chief Administrative Report 2015-184 East 
Village Neighbourhood Improvement Task Force, Council directed staff to "report back 
regarding revisions to by-law enforcement and property standards by-laws and to 
make the revisions, and responses to property standards complaints, a priority." 

• At the February 22, 2016 Council meeting, By-law Enforcement Division Report 2016-
14 was considered for deliberation and was approved as presented. 

• Staff have been monitoring the by-law and noting issues, areas of concern and has 
modified the by-law to reduce challenges and to expedite the process for repeat 
offenders. 

3) STAFF COMMENTS AND DISCUSSIONS 

The majority of changes include definitions to clarify issues officers were having when 
dealing with customers. These new additions and clarification of definitions should reduce 
conflict and clear understanding of where and what materials can be stored. Further, three 
additional changes were added that were requested by Council. 

• Grass cutting season 
• Trees 
• Repeat offender 

Grass cutting season is proposed to begin in May rather than June. 

383



The only remaining yard issue from the Property Standards By-law was trees. Dead and 
dilapidated trees are proposed to be a lot maintenance issue. 

With respect to repeat offenders, it is proposed that notice is still required to be provided; 
however, the timeframes for clean-up have been reduced by about half. For example: 
Refuse clean-up is 7 days for a first time offence and a repeat offender for refuse clean
up is proposed at 3 days. This reduction should eliminate the constant revo lving door or 
weekly refuse issues at one location. This will also increase the number of complaints 
and workload for officers. 

The Lot Maintenance By-law changes are as follows: 

• Created a definition of "Building Material"; 

• Created definition of Approved Structure, Fully Enclosed Structure and Partially 
Enclosed Structure; 

• Updated the definition of "Domestic Waste" and "Industrial Waste" to include 
Inoperative, machinery, trailers, boats; 

• Updated the definition of "Hobby Vehicle"; 

• Updated the definition of "Land"; 

• Created a definition of "Repeat Offender"; 

• Created a definition of "Trees"; 

• Grass and weeds start May 181 instead of June 151 and ends Oct 31 51 or the first frost 
whichever shall occur first; 

• Create Vegetation - Trees - General Prohibition section; 

• Create Refuse removal to approved site - the intention is to reduce refuse removal 
creating hoarding conditions or life safety concerns; 

• Modify Section 4.6 housekeeping the word Vegetation was missing in the title; 

• Create section 4.11 Building Materials exemption - Building materials may only be 
exposed/onsite for six (6) months with or without a building permit; 

• Create section 5.11 Repeat Offender - Where it becomes necessary to enforce th is 
by-law within the same calendar year. The time frames for work to be completed as 
set out in Schedule C; 

• Schedule B - removal of fees and state "As set out in the City of Port Colborne 
Consolidated Fees and Charges By-law 6558/13/18, Schedule T". 

Planning and Development Department, By-law Enforcement Division 
Report No.:2018-46 Page 2 of 3 

384



4) OPTIONS AND FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS 

a) Do nothing. 

Council may choose to receive and file this report, effectively taking no action. Under 
this option , the Lot Maintenance By-law would remain as is. 

b) Other Options 

Council may choose to approve certain portions of the proposed updates to the Lot 
Maintenance By-law. 

5) COMPLIANCE WITH STRATEGIC PLAN INITIATIVES 

Proactive enforcement is a desire of Council. 

6) ATTACHMENTS 

Proposed Lot Maintenance By-law, highlighted to display the proposed changes. 

7) RECOMMENDATION 

That the proposed Lot Maintenance By-law, attached to Planning and Development 
Department, Planning Division Report No. 2018-46, be approved as presented. 

8) SIGNATURES 

Prepared on March 22, 2018 by: 

&:~o 
Supervisor, By-law Enforcement Division 

Reviewed and respectfully submitted by: 

C. Scott Luey 
Chief Administrative Officer 

, quilina, RPP, MCIP, CPT 
Director of Planning and Development 

Planning and Development Department, By-law Enforcement Division 
Report No.:2018-46 Page 3 of 3 

385



THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF PORT COLBORNE 

BY-LAW NO. ______ _ 

BEING A BY-LAW TO PROVIDE FOR THE MAINTENANCE 
OF PROPERTY AND LAND (LOT MAINTENANCE BY-LAW) 

AND TO REPEAL BY-LAW 6329109116 

WHEREAS Section 127 of the Municipal Act, 2001, S.O. 2001, C.25, provides 
that a municipality may require the owner or occupant of land to clean and clear the 
land, not including buildings, or to clear refuse or debris from the land, not including 
buildings; 

AND WHEREAS Section 127 of the Municipal Act, 2001, S.O. 2001, C.25, 
provides that a municipality may prohibit the depositing of refuse or debris on land 
without the consent of the owner or occupant of the land; 

AND WHEREAS Section 127 of the Municipal Act, 2001, S.O. 2001, C.25, 
provides that a municipality may define "refuse" for the purpose of the by-law; 

AND WHEREAS Section 128 of the Municipal Act, 2001, S.O. 2001, C.25, 
provides that a municipality may prohibit and regulate with respect to public nuisances, 
including matters that, in the opinion of Council, are or could become or cause public 
nuisances, and it is the opinion of Council that the failure to clear refuse and debris 
from land is a public nuisance, including the spread of vermin; 

AND WHEREAS Section 11 of the Municipal Act, S.O. 2001, C.25, as amended, 
provides that a lower-tier municipality may pass by-laws respecting matters within the 
spheres of jurisdiction set out therein; 

AND WHEREAS Section 446(1) of the Municipal Act, 2001, S.O. 2001, C.25, 
provides that a municipality may direct or require a person to clear the land of refuse, 
the municipality may also provide that, in default of it being done by the person directed 
or required to do it, the cleaning and clearing of land shall be done at the person's 
expense; 

AND WHEREAS Section 391 of the Municipal Act, 2001, S.O. 2001, C.25, 
provides that a municipality may impose fees or charges on any class of persons for 
services or activities provided or done by or on behalf of it, and which by-law may 
provide for interest charges and other penalties, including the payment of col lection 
costs, for fees and charges that are due and unpaid; 

NOW THEREFORE THE COUNCIL OF THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF 
PORT COLBORNE ENACTS AS FOLLOWS: 

Part 1 
DEFINITIONS 

1.1 For the purpose of this by-law, the definitions of this Section apply: 

"Agricultural Purposes" shall mean the land used for cultivating soil, producing crops 
and for the raising of livestock as an "agricultural operation" as defined in the Farming and 
Food Production Protection Act, 1998, S. 0. 1999, c. 1, but does not include the portion of 
land used as a woodlot. 

"Approved Structure" shall mean a Fully Enclosed Structure or a Partially Enclosed 
Structure as defined in this By-law. 

"Border" shall mean the cleared land between the side and/or rear property line and 
a naturalized area or wild flower meadow. 

386



"Boulevard" means that portion of the highway between the City property line and 
roadway, which is not used or intended for use for vehicular travel by the general 
public, and includes any landscaped areas and boulevards that are separated from 
private property by sidewalks. 

"Buffer Strip" shall mean a border of a minimum of 0.9 m w that delineates a wild 
flower meadow or naturalized area . 

.. Buifding Nl'aterial1" shalll mean material stacked in good oondition which is used, or 
intended to be used, for construction purposes. 

"City" means The Corporation of the City of Port Colborne. 

"Cleared" includes the removal of weeds or grass more than 15 centimetres (6 inches) 
in height and the removal of stock piles of soil or other aggregate material not 
required to complete the grading of the lot on which the stock pile is located and 
includes where on any property there is a swimming pool which is a health or safety 
hazard, or is malodorous or is a breeding place for mosquitoes, the draining, the 
treatment and/or the disposing of the water. 

"Composting" shall mean the biological degradation or breakdown of organic 
material into a dark soil-like material called humus. 

"Composting Container" shall mean the holding unit used to store yard, garden 
and household waste for the purpose of composting. 

"Domestic Waste" shall mean any article, thing, matter or effluent belonging to or 
associated with a residence, household or dwelling unit and includes but is not limited 
to the following classes of waste material: 

(a) grass clippings, tree cuttings, brush, leaves and garden refuse; 
(b) paper, cardboard, clothing; 
(c) all kitchen and table waste, of animal or vegetable origin resulting from the 

preparation or consumption of food except any material of vegetable origin 
placed in a composing container; 

(d) can, glass, plastic container, dishes; 
(e) new or used material resulting from or for the purpose of construction, alteration, 

repair or demolition of any building or structure; 
(f) refrigerators, freezers, stoves or other appliances and furniture; 
(g) furnaces, furnace parts, pipes, fittings to pipes, water or fuel tanks; 
(h) unlicensed motor vehicle, inoperative motor vehicle, parts and accessories, 

vehicle tires mounted or unmounted on rims, mechanical equipment; 
(i ) rubble, insert fill , fencing materials. 
U) indoor furniture; 
(k) lnoperarive - machinery, trailers, or boats; 

"Enforcement Officer" shall mean a Municipal Law Enforcement Officer of the City of 
Port Col borne, Building Inspector, Fire Prevention Officer, Health Inspector, or Weed 
Inspector appointed under the Weed Act R.S.O. c.W.5. or other person appointed or 
employed by the City of Port Colbome for the enforcement of by-laws. 

"Fully Enclosed Structure" means a structl!.lre with a roof and four (4) walls and is 
capable of enclosing and securing items within. 

"Hobby Vehicle" means a vehicle that is actively being repaired or restored as a 
hobby of the owner/occupant of the property, a stock/race car, or vehicle that by its 
special nature is not routinely used or licensed but is intended to show or display on 
occasion. 

"Indoor Furniture" means and includes any furniture intended for and made of such 
material that would require the furniture be sheltered from the natural elements such 
as rain and snow and shall include, but not limited to items such as couches, sofas, 

387



love seats, fabric covered chairs and mattresses. 

"Industrial Waste" shall mean any article, thing, matter or effluent belonging to or 
associated with industry or commerce or concerning or relating to manufacture or 
concerning or relating to any trade, business, calling or occupation that appears to 
be waste material and includes but is not limited to the following classes of waste 
material: 

(a) piping, tubing, conduits, cable, fittings or other accessories, or adjuncts to the piping, 
tubing, conduits or cable; 

(b) container of any size, type or composition; 
(c) rubble, insert fill; 
(d) mechanical equipment, mechanical parts, accessories or adjuncts to mechanical 

equipment; 
(e) articles, things, matter, effluent which is whole or in part or fragments thereof are 

derived from or are constituted from or consist of: 
(f) agricultural , animal, vegetable, paper, lumber or wood products; or 
(i) mineral, metal or chemical products; whether or not the products are manufactured 

or otherwise processed; 
(ii) bones, feathers, hides; 
(g) paper or cardboard packaging or wrapping; 
(h) material resulting from, or as part of, construction or demolition projects. 
(i) unlicensed motor vehicle, inoperative motor vehicle, vehicle parts and accessories, 

vehicle tires mounted or unmounted on rims, mechanical equipment; 
(j) Inoperative - machinery, traiters, or boats. 

"Inoperative Motor Vehicle" shall mean a licensed or unlicensed vehicle, having 
missing, damaged, deteriorated or removed parts including, but not limited to: wheels, 
motor transmission, doors, glass or other parts or mechanical equipment necessary for 
its safe operation. 

"Inoperative - machinery, trailers or boats" means such items that are unable to 
operate as a result of being dismantled, broken or incomplete, decayed or dilapidated 
and in particular includes vehicles with missing part(s) wheel(s), tire(s), engine(s), drive 
train or body components or window(s), unless such item is operable, not dismantled, 
broken or incomplete, decayed or dilapidated and its use is permitted under the Zoning 
By-law or is necessary for the operation of a business enterprise lawfully situated on 
the property. 

"land" indudes yards, vacant lots or any part of a lot, which i·s not beneath a buitding 
and for the purpose of this By-law, includes an area within an rnnapproved Structure 

"Naturalized Area" means a portion of a lot where a lawn or perennial garden 
previously maintained by the owner which has been allowed to re-establish a 
reproducing population of native species, through a combination of natural 
regeneration and deliberate plantings of native species or other species to emulate a 
natural area. 

"Owner" means a registered owner, but also includes lessee, occupant or tenant of 
the land, or any other person in charge of or in control of the premises. 

"Partiall'y Encl'osed Structure" means a structure with a roof a11d a minimum of two 
(2) walls and is capable of sheltering items under the struct 1:.1re. 

"Perennial Gardens" means an area deliberately implemented to produce 
ground cover, including wild flowers, shrubs, perennials, ornamental grasses or 
combinations of them, but does not include a wildflower meadow or a naturalized area. 

"Person" means an Owner who may be a natural person, firm, corporation , 
partnership or association. 

388



"Repeal Offender" means an ind1vid1ual1 who has been the subject matter of 
administrative or enforcement action taken by tlhe City under this By-law. 

"Refuse" means any article, thing, matter, substance or effluent that: has been cast 
aside, discharged or abandoned or; is discarded from its usual and intended use or; is 
used up, in whole or in part, or expended or worn out in whole or in part; and shall 
include domestic waste and industrial waste; and that domestic waste and/or industrial 
waste does not cease to be refuse by reason that it may be commercially saleable or 
recyclable. 

"Rubble" includes broken concrete, bricks, broken asphalt , patio or sidewalk slabs. 

"Sidewalk" shall mean any municipal walkway or road works for the accommodation of 
pedestrians on that portion of a street between the curb line and the street line which is 
located outside a roadway. 

"Trees" shal l mean a plant or any species of woody perennial including its root 
system, which has reacliledl or can reach a heigtit of at least 2 metres at physiological 
maturity; 

"Turf Grass" means ground cover comprised of one or more species of growing grass 
with or without trees, shrubbery or maintained planting beds or other vegetation. 

"Unlicensed" shall mean the lack of a currently validated perm it for the motor vehicle 
within the meaning of the Highway Traffic Act, displayed on the motor vehicle; 

"Unlicensed motor vehicle" shal l mean a motor vehicle that is unlicensed. 

"Wildflower" meadow means a specialized habitat within a naturalized area, which 
is dominated by native species of flowers and grasses. The area would require 
periodic mowing (once or twice per year) in order to prevent the growth and 
establishment of woody shrubs and trees. 

Part 2 
GENERAL PROVISIONS 

2.1 Administration - by the Enforcement Officer 
This by-law is administered by the Enforcement Officer of The Corporation 
of the City of Port Colbome or an agent of the Enforcement Officer. 

2.2 Land - filled up- drained - owner responsibility 
Every owner shall keep his land filled up and drained. 

2.3 Excavations - filled - exception - enclosed by barrier 
Every owner shall fi ll in any excavation on the land unless it is enclosed 
completely by a temporary barrier at least 122 centimetres (48 inches) in height. 

2.4 Water - exceeding 30 cm - drained - exception 
Every owner shall drain land of accumulations of water that exceed 30 
centimetres (12 inches) in depth unless it is completely enclosed by a 
temporary barrier of at least 122 centimetres (48 inches) in height or such water 
constitutes a storm water management pond approved by the City. 

2.5 Land- clean - cleared- free of refuse 
Every owner shall keep his land cleaned, cleared and free of refuse. 

2.6 Dumping - prohibited - without lawful authority 
No person shall throw, place, dump or deposit domestic or industrial waste on 
private property or City property without lawful authority. 

2. 7 Swimming Pool - maintained 
Every owner shall keep or maintain the water in a swimming pool in a 

389



condition which is not a health or safety hazard, or is malodorous, or is a 
breeding place for mosquitoes. 

2.8 Land - removal of refuse 
Every owner shall remove refuse from his land 

2.9 Refuse - containment and location 
Every owner shall ensure that all refuse which accumulated on their property 
and when not placed out for collection is: 

(a) in containers: 
i. made of rigid, watertight construction; 
ii. provided with a tight fitting cover, which may be removed only when the 

container is empty or is being actively loaded; 
iii. maintained in good condition without holes or spillage; 
iv. closed, or emptied, rinsed and cleaned when not in use, to prevent the 

escape of offensive odour or waste; and 
v. located in the side or rear yard against a building , structure, fence or 

retaining wall and arranged in an orderly manner. 

(b) Not permitted to accumulate longer than 10 days. 

2.10 Vegetation - Grasses and Weeds 
The grasses and weeds season shall commence May 1st u11til October 31st or 
first frost, whichever shall occur first, inclusive, annually. 

2.11 Hobby Vehicle - provisions 
Every owner shall ensure that a maximum limit of two (2) hobby vehicles are 
permitted per property and Vehicles used for parts are not considered Hobby 
Vehicles. 

Part 3 
GENERAL PROHIBITIONS 

3.1 Refuse - not cleared - from land - prohibited 
No person shall, within the City of Port Colbome, fail to clear land of refuse. 

3.2 Excavation - failure to enclose - prohibited 
No person shall , within the City of Port Colbome, fail to enclose an excavation with 
a temporary barrier at least 122 centimetres ( 48 inches) in height. 

3.3 Water- 30 cm deep - failure to drain - prohibited 
No person shall, within the City of Port Colbome, fai l to drain an accumulation of 
water exceeding 30 centimetres (12 inches) in depth. 

3.4 Private Property- refuse - deposit on 
No person shall, within the City of Port Colborne, deposit refuse on private property 
without lawful authority. 

3.5 City Property- refuse - deposit on 
No person shall, in the City of Port Colbome, deposit refuse on municipal property 
without lawful authority. 

3.6 Refuse - containment and location 
No person shall fail to contain refuse or locate refuse containers in accordance with 
the provisions of this by-law. 

3.7 Water in Swimming Pool- fail to maintain 
No person shall fail to keep or maintain the water in a swimming pool in accordance 
with the provisions of this by-law. 

3.8 Private Property- clear buffer strip 

390



No person shall, in the City of Port Colbome, fail to clear a buffer strip. 

3.9 Vegetation - Grasses and Weeds -not c leared - from land - prohibit ed 
No person shall fail to clear the grasses and weeds from land in excess of 15cm (6 
inches) within 72 hours of notice given within the grasses and weed season. 

3.10 Unsafe Standing Water 
In the event that the circumstances described in section 2.4 or 2.7 are deemed to 
be unsafe by an Enforcement Officer, section 3.11 applies. 

3.11 Immediate Action 
In circumstances of section 3.10, an Enforcement Officer is specifically authorized 
to take immediate steps, or to cause immediate steps to be taken, to eliminate the 
danger associated with the unsafe standing water. 

3.12 Limited Authorization 
The authorization provided by section 3.1 1 of this by-law is limited only to such 
steps as are required to remove the danger. 

3.13 No Obstruction of Officer 
No person shall obstruct, hinder or in any way interfere with any Enforcement 
Officer in the enforcement of the provisions of this by-law. 

3.14 Contravention of Order 
No person shall contravene a Work Order or an Order to Discontinue Activity. 

3.15 Vegetati on - Trees - not cleared - from land - prohibited 
No person shall fail to clear from land, dead, decayed, damaged or diseased trees 

3.16 D~aged Trees 
In the event that the tree(s) described in section 3.15 are deemed to be damaged by 
an Enforcement Officer, only the section(s) of a tree, which is damaged, shall be 
required to be cleared from land. Unless the removal of the section(s) of tree would 
teave the remainder of the tree unstable or unhealthy. 

3.17 Refuse - removal 
The removal of refuse pursuant to this By-law shall not create or cal!lse pest or 
vermin issues, hoarding or any other condition that may crea1e life safety 
concerns as determined by the Enforcement Officer. 

Removal of refuse shall eiaher be stored in an Approved Structure or taken to an 
approved landfill. 

Part 4 
EXEMPTIONS 

4.1 Excavations - construction - exemption 
Section 2.3 of this by-law does not apply to land on which construction is 
proceeding under a valid building permit or a Municipal Consent 

4.2 Swimming Pools - natural bodies of water - exemption 
Section 2.4 of this by-law does not apply to natural bodies of water or lawfully 
maintained swimming pools. 

4.3 Outdoor Storage - lawful - exemption 
Sections 2.5, 2.6 and 2.9 of this by-law shall not apply to land, which is lawfully 
used for outdoor storage of materials in compliance with the applicable Zoning and 
Licensing By-laws and regulations. 

4.4 Region - dumping - disposal facilities - exemption 
Sections 2.5 and 2.6 of this by-law shall not apply to land or structures designated 

391



by or operated by the Region of Niagara for the purpose of dumping or disposing 
domestic or industrial waste. 

4.5 Refuse - Hobby Vehicle - exemption 
Sections 2.5 and 2.8 of this by-law shall not apply to Hobby Vehicle(s) 

4.6 Vegetation - Agricultural and Environmental Protection Lands - exemption 
This by-law does not apply to any lands zoned as Environmental Protection or lands 
used for agricultural purposes as defined in the City's Zoning By-law. 

4. 7 Government Owned lands - exemption 
This by-law does not apply to any lands owned by the following corporations: 

The Corporation of the City of Port Colbome 
The Region of Niagara 
The Saint Lawrence Management Corporation 

4.8 Perennial Gardens - exemption 
This by-law does not apply to perennial gardens, provided that the perennial 
gardens are managed in accordance with the Weed Control Act and provided that 
there is no waste. 

4.9 Wildflower Meadow - exemption 
This by-law does not apply to a wildflower meadow or a naturalized area provided 
that those areas are managed in accordance with the Weed Control Act, provided 
that there is no waste and provided that they do not encroach with in the buffer strip. 

4.10 Containment and location - exemption 
Section 2.9 of this by-law does not apply to land undergoing active construction 
under a valid building permit, or where a building is undergoing an active 
renovation, or where an approval under the Site Plan Control By-law has been 
obtained that includes containment and location of garbage. 

4.11 Building Material's - exemptron 
No person shall store Building Materia'fs on lands for more than si* (6} months with 

or witflout a building permit. 

5.1 Fine - for contravention 

Part 5 
ENFORCEMENT 

Any person who contravenes any provision of this by-law is, upon conviction, guilty 
of an offence and is liable to any penalty as provided in the Provincial Offences Act. 

5.2 Continuation - repetition - prohibited - by order 
The court in which the conviction has been entered, and any court of competent 
jurisdiction thereafter, may make an order prohibiting the continuation or repetition 
of the offence by the person convicted and such order shall be in addition to any 
other penalty imposed on the person convicted. 

5.3 Default- not remedied - fee 
Where anything required or directed to be done in accordance with this by-law is 
not done, within the required time frame the Enforcement Officer or persons 
designated by the Enforcement Officer for The Corporation of the City of Port 
Colbome, may upon such notice, do such thing at the expense of the person 
required to do it and, in so doing, may charge administration fee of 15% of such 
expense with a minimum fee of as set out in Schedule 'B' of this by-law; and both 
the expense and fee may be recovered by action or in like manner as municipal 
taxes. 

5.4 Removal 
Where any of the matters or things are removed in accordance with section 5.3 of 
this By-law the matters or things may be immediately disposed of by the 

392



Enforcement Officer. 

5.5 Officer- entry to inspect 
An Enforcement Officer designated to perform inspections pursuant to this By-law 
may at all reasonable times, enter onto land for the purposes of an inspection of 
the land. 

5.6 City- bring property to compliance 
Where it becomes necessary to proceed pursuant to section 5.3 of this By-law, a 
Enforcement Officer may enter onto the lands with any person and the appropriate 
equipment as required to bring the property into compliance with this by-law. 

5. 7 Work Order - contravention of by-law 
If the Enforcement Officer is satisfied that a contravention of the by-law has 
occurred, the officer may make an order, known as a Work Order (Schedule "A"), 
requiring the person who contravened theBy-law or who caused or permitted the 
contravention or the owner or occupier of the land on which the contravention 
occurred to do the work to correct the contravention. 

5.8 Work Order - contents 
The Work Order shall set out: 

(a) the municipal address or the legal description of the land; 
(b) reasonable particulars of the contravention and of the work to be done; 
~c) a deadline, being a specific date, for compliance with the Work Order ( See 

Schedule C); and 
( d) a notice that if the work is not done in compliance with the Work Order by the 

deadline, the municipality may have the work done at the expense of the 
owner and the cost of the work may be recovered by adding the amount to 
the owner's tax roll. 

5.9 Work Order - service 
The Work Order may be delivered by any one or more of the following methods: 

(a) personal delivery to the person to whom it is addressed; 
(b) personal or couriered delivery to either an adult person , or to the mailbox, 

of the residential address of the addressee; 
(c) delivery by registered or certified mail; 
(d) delivery by facsimile transmission; or 
(e) posted as a placard in a conspicuous location at the site which is the 

subject matter of the notice; 
(f) posted as a door hanger at the site which is the subject matter of the 

notice; 
(g) delivery by Xpresspost of prepaid mail. 

5.10 Deemed Delivery 

(a) Where a notice is personally delivered, it is considered to have been 
delivered at the date and time at which it was handed to the addressee. 

(b) Where a notice is personally delivered to the residential address of the 
addressee, it is considered to have been delivered on the next business 
day following the date of delivery. 

(c) Where a notice is delivered by registered or certified mail, it is deemed to 
have been delivered on the fifth business day after the day of mail ing. 

(d) Where a notice is delivered by facsimile, it is considered to have been 
delivered on the next business day following the date showing on the 
proof of transmission document. 

(e) Where a notice is posted on occupied property in accordance wi th 
section 5.9 {e) and 5.9 (f), n it is considered to have been delivered the 
next business day following the date it is posted. 

(f) Where a notice is posted on unoccupied property in accordance with 
Section 5.9 (e), it is considered to have been delivered five (5) days 
after the date it is posted. 

393



(g) Where a notice is delivered by Xpresspost, it is deemed to have been 
delivered on the next business day following the day of mailing. 

5.11 Repea~ Offender 

Where it becomes necessary to enforce this By-law witihin the same calemlar 
year.. The time frannes for wor~ to be compfeled are sel out in Schedwle 'C' 

Part 6 

ENACTMENT 

6.1 By-law - Repeal 
That By-law 6•329/09/16, Being a By-law to Provide for the Maintenance of 
Property of Land (Lot Maintenance By-law), is hereby repealed in its entirety. 

6.2 Effective Date 
This by-law comes into force on the day it is passed. 

6.3 Short Title 
The short title of this by-law shall be the "Lot Maintenance By-law". 

ENACTED AND PASSED THIS 23RD DAY OF APRIL, 2018 

John Maloney 
MAYOR 

Amber LaPointe 
CITY CLERK 

394



CITY OF PORT COLBORNE 

BY-LAW NO. ______ _ 

SCHEDULE "A" 

OPTION 'A' 

WORK ORDER - Contravention of the By-law 
Pursuant to Subsection 3.14 of the City of Port Col borne 
Lot Maintenance By-law 

Date issued: I File No.: 
Address to which order applies: I 
Order issued to: 
Owner Name 
Street Address 
Citv, Province 
Postal Code 

I 

I 

A contravention of Part of the City of Port Col borne Lot Maintenance By-law 
is found to exist at the above noted address: --------

CONTRAVENTION ACTION REQUIRED 

Insert here: Items in contravention Insert here: the type of refuse/issue that is on the 
property (i.e garbage, debris.) 

Refuse includes but is not limited to: 

You are hereby ordered, under Subsection _ ___ of the City of Port Colborne 
Lot Maintenance By-law to bring this property in to compliance 
on or before: (Insert here: compliance 
date) (See Schedule C for timeframes). 

Failure to do so The Corporation of the City of Port Colborne (or designate) will cause 
the property to be brought into compliance in accordance with Part 5 (Sections 5.3 and 
5.4) of By-law of the City of Port Colborne. The City may recover the 
costs incurred by it in doing the work or causing it to be done from the person directed 
or required to do it by action or by adding the costs to the tax roll and collecting them in 
the same manner as property taxes. 

By-law Enforcement inspections where required as a result of a failure to remedy a by
law violation by the date of compliance as set out in a written notice/order are subject to 
a re-inspection fee of $95.00. This fee will be levied following the re-inspection and is 
subject to HST. 

Order issued by: ___________________ _ 
Officer - MLEO 
City of Port Colborne 

OPTION 'B' - GREEN TAG- Grass Violation Door Hanger as attached. 

395



CITY OF PORT COLBORNE 

BY-LAW NO.-------

SCHEDULE "B" 

FEES 

As set out in tlrie City of Port Colborne Comsolidated Fees and Charges B -Jaw 
6558/13/18, Schedll.lle l 

396



CITY OF PORT COLBORNE 

BY-LAW NO. --------

SCHEDULE "C" 

TIME FRAME FOR WORK TO BE COMPLETED 

Item 
Time Frame for Work - Excluding 

Delivery Time 
Remove refuse 7 days 
Remove open household qarbaoe 7 days 
Clear qrass over 15cm 3 davs 
Remove water 30 cm 2 days 
Maintain swimming pool water 5 days 
Enclose excavation 2 days 
Miscellaneous 5 days 

REPEAT OFFENDERS TIME FRAME FOR WORK TO BE COMPLETED 

Item 
Time Frame for Work - Excluding 

Delivery Time 
Remove refuse 3 days 
Remove open household aa.roaqe 3 days 
Clear qra:ss over 15cm 2days 
Remove water 30 cm 2 days 
Maintain swimming pool water 2days 
Enclose excavation 2 days 
Miscellaneous 2 days 

397



This page intentionally left blank. 

398



. c \borne (-·t· riF roit o 
__ 1 .v .. ' -· . - , ~ \\") 
t? r-::: r !::.: 1 \l ,; __ ?.,. . . 
'l . " ._. ... . 

Niagara Regional Labour Council 

April 6, 2018 

Mayor John Maloney 
City of Port Col borne 
66 Charlotte Street, 
Port Colborne, Ontario 
L3K 3C8 

Dear Mayor Maloney: 

On April 28th, the Niagara Regional Labour Council will observe the National Day of Mourning to 
remember those who have suffered and died on the job. As we remember those who have died in 
workplace catastrophes, those who have been exposed to toxic substances and those who have been 
injured due to dangerous work conditions, we rededicate ourselves to fight for safe workplaces. 

Therefore, as we approach April 28th, we are requesting that City Council consider and issue a 
Proclamation with respect to the "National Day of Mourning". Also, we invite you, your council and staff 
to attend the Port Colborne Ceremony beginning at 1:00 p.m. at the Workers' Monument in 
H.H . Knoll Park. 

By this invitation, we would welcome comments from you or your designate at the ceremony. 

We are also requesting that all flags be flown at HALF-MAST at City Hall on the 28th. As we remember 
those who have been injured and killed, we must renew our fight for the living and we must organize 
and mobilize for safe jobs. 

Please share this information widely since this is a public event. 

I, along with the rest of the Niagara Regional Labour Council look forward to your response. 

Thanking you in advance. 

Lou Ann Binning 
President 
Niagara Regional Labour Council 
nrlc.clc@gmail.com 

399



South Central Ontario 

Brantford & District Labour Council 
Saturday, April 28, 2018, 11:00 a.m. 
Fordview Park, Brantford 
Speakers: Don Guest, 1st Vice President, Mayor Chris Friel, 

Pastor Kevin Weeks 
Contact: Roxanne Bond, (519) 209-2154 or 

roxannebond 1@gmail.com 

Guelph & District Labour Council 
Saturday, April 28, 2018, 10:30 a.m. 
Meet at City Hall at 10:30 am; March to Goldie Mill Park, Service at 
Goldie Mill Park at 11 00 am 
Reception to follow at the Woolie 
Guest Speakers: From Labour and the Community 
Contact: Terry O'Connor, (519) 994-2474 

Hamilton & District Labour Council 
Saturday, April 28, 2018, 10:30 a.m. 
Hamilton City Hall Chambers, 71 Main Street West, Hamilton 
Contact: Tom Atterton, (905) 547-2944 ext 23, 

hdlc .secretary .atterton@cogeco. net 

Niagara Regional Labour Council 
Friday, April 28, 2017 

St. Catharines, 7:30 a.m. 
At the monument dedicated to the Fallen Welland Canal 
Workers, located at Lock 3 on the Welland Canal Parkway 
- west side of the Canal · 

St. Catharines, 8:00 a.m. 
At the monument dedicated to four fallen workers - under -
the St. Catharin.esSl<yway .. Located ori the Wellan.d Canal 
Parkw~y -yvest side of the canal, under the bridge. 

Niagara-on-the-Lake, 9:15 a.m. 
At the monument located at the Centennial Arena - 1557 Four Mile 
Creek road in Virgil. 

Niagara Falls, 10:30 a.m. 
At the monument located at Niagara Falls City Hall - 4310 Queen 
Street. 

Fort Erie, 11:45 a.m. 
At the Monument located at Fort Erie City Hall - 1 Municipal Centre 
Drive along Highway 3. 

Port Colborne, 1:00 p.m. 
At the Monument located in H.H. Knoll Park on Sugarloaf Street, beside 
the hospital. 

Welland, 2:00 p.m. 
At the Monument located beside the canal in Merritt Park - 151 King 
Street. 

Port Robinson, 3:00 p.m. 
In memory of Robyn Lafleur, Esquire Canada explosion site (1999) - 125 
South Street North. 

St. Catharines, 4:00 p.m. 
At the Monument located at St. Catharines City Hall - 50 Church St. 

Niagara Region, 5:15 p.m. 
At the Monument located at the Region of Niagara Headquarters -
1815 Sir Isaac Brock Way. 

Contact: nrlc.clc@gmail.~om 

.Oakville & District Labour Council 
Saturday, April 28, 20113, 2:00 p.m. 
Oakville Pub.lie Library, 12o Navy Street Oakville 
Contact: Timothy Batke, 1st Vice President, ODLC, (905) 334-8228 

www.whsc.on .ca • 1-888-869-7950 cope:343 Mor 29/18 
·· ·.·;~· 7~ - ~-·:.:.·~., .. '.,'f" ''""'~·-;:u:i;;l/·'"'1:.;•I' :u=·-· ,..,.. ..... ~ l;l;;;;:·:i:;r~-r.·~_.;;,~ ~rn<ir!''~~~'J;J;;.;:!i:'l1ll'L::m''.l1 :t,"'.:;-:!'l:!.-~~;11:;,..·:.i:r.7t:_~~-~~~.._ • .::::..~~~~:s:.:$~~~,,~~· r .• z!!!!;s:n~~~"li:!!'f~~;:>:!!~~:.-~ ~i::.::.::1n.:~·--·-·1~·U"'!,n;:f.Y.:.r::~.....,~t-

400



' .. -:-

North Eastern Ontario 

Elli-ot Lake Day of Mourning Committee 
Saturday, April 28, 2018, 11:00 a.m. 
Miner's Memorial Monument, Hwy 108, Elliot Lake 
Contact: Sue Girard, suegirard51 @hotmail.com 

North Bay & District Labour Council 
Saturday, April 28, 2018, 10:45 a.m. 
City Hall, 200 Mcintrye Street East, North Bay 

'· 

Guest Speaker: Michael Hurley, President, Ontario Counci l 
of Hospital Unions 
Contact : Henri Giroux, (705) 471-7746 

Sault Ste. Marie & District Labour Council 
Saturday, April 28, 2018, 11:00 a.m. 
Grand Gardens, 68 Dennis Street, Sault Ste. Marie 
Contact: Michele Mccleave, (705) 542-4026 

Sudbury & District Labour Council 
Saturday, April 28, 2018, 10:00 a.m. 
Fraser Auditorium 
Guest Speaker: J.P. Mrochek, WSIB Worker Representative, 

United Stee lworkers Local 6500 
Contact: SDLC office, sdlc@persona.ca or (705) 674-1223 

Timmins & District Labour Council 
Saturday, April 28, 2018, 11:00 a.m. 
Miners Memorial, 85 Mcintyre Road 
Guest Speakers: Gilles Bissonnette, MPP 

Charlie Angus, MP 
Steve Black, Mayor 
Janice Martell, Mcintyre Project 

Contact: J.P. Desilets, (705) 274-3400 

North Western Ontario 

Kenora & District Labour Council 
Saturday, April 28, 2018, 12:00 noon 
Labour Council Day of Mourning Monument, Lake of the Woods 
Cemetery - East Gate 
Contact: Donna Wiebe, Labour Council President, (807) 468-7203, 

donnawiebe@shaw.ca 

Thunder Bay & District Labour Council 
Saturday, April 28, 2018, 1:00 p.m. 
Labour Council DOM Monument, Finlandia Club, 314 Bay St., Thunder 
Bay 
Contact: Herb Daniher, (807) 345-0371, ghdaniher@usw.ca 

Central Ontario 

Barrie & District Labour Council 
Saturday, April 28, 2018, ·11:00 a.m. 
City Hall, 70 Collier Street, Barri~ 
Contact: Anita Johnson-Ford,.Pr.esident, BDLC; (705) 722-2194, 

barrielabourqiuncil@grnail.com 

Durham Region Labour Council 
Saturday, April 28, 201~, 12:00 noon ~ . 
At the Fallen Workers' Monument, in the parkette north of Oshawa 
City Hall, Centre Street and. King Street West 
(onta<;t: Bill .Stratton, (289)'3~5~ 1 7!)1, DRLC, (905) 579-5188 ·",, 

. . . ' 

Kingston & District Labour Council 
Saturday, April 28, 2018, 12:30 p.m. 
824 John Counter Boulevard 
Contact: Kingston & District Labour Counci l, 

kingstondistrictlabourcouncil@gmail.com 

Lindsay & District Labour Council 
Saturday, April 28, 2018, 1:00 p.m. 
Victoria Park, 210 Kent St., Lindsay 
Guest Speaker: Patty Coates, Secretary-Treasurer, OFL 
Contact : James Mulhern, (705) 324-7841, ce ll (705) 934-0160, 

oneworldonevoice@sympatico.ca 

North Simcoe Muskoka & District Labour Council 
Saturday, April 28, 2018, 10:30 a.m. 
Tudhope Park, Atherley Road, Orillia 
Contact: Danny Taylor, (705) 323-7105 

Northumberland Labour Council 
Saturday, April 28, 2018, 4:15 p.m. 
Lucas Point Park, 94 Willmott Street, Cobourg 
Contact: Chris Leavitt, chrisleavitt53@gmai l.com 

Peel Regional Labour Council 
Saturday, April 28, 2018, 10:00 a.m. 
Milestone of Labour Monument, 8870 Mclaughlin Road, Brampton 
Guest Speaker: James Taylor, 2nd Vice President, IAFF Local 1068 
Contact: PRLC office, (905) 696-8882 

Peterborough & District Labour Council 
Friday, April 27, 2018, 11:00 a.m. 
Peterborough City Hall, 500 George Street North, Peterborough 
Flag Raising; Reading of Proclamation 
Guest Speaker: Loretta Michaud, WHSC 

Songs by George Hewison 
Contact: info@ptbolabour.ca or (705) 868-7352 

Toronto & York Region Labour Council 
Friday, April 27, 2018 

Woodbridge, 11:00 a.m. 
Woodbridge Memorial Arena, 5020 Highway #7 (at Islington) 

Toronto, 12:00 noon 
Larry Sefton Park (Northeast corner of Bay and Hagerman Streets; just 
behind Toronto City Hall) 

Contact: Labour Council, (416) 441-3663 

401



This page intentionally left blank. 

402



HUMBERSTONE SPEEDWAY 
10 Broadway Ave. 
St Catharines Ontario 
L2M 7Z5 

April 2, 2018 

The City of Port Col borne 
66 Charlotte St. 
Port Colbome, ON 
L3K3C8 

To Whom It May Concern: 

Ph. 905-935-2886 Office 
905-935-3464 Fax 
905-834-4002 Track 

APR 0 6 2018 
CORPORATE SERVICES 

OEP.l\RTMENT 

Please accept this request for permission to hold a fire works display at The New 
Humberstone Speedway, the requested dates are May 20th, July 1st, August 5th, August 26th 
and September 2nd, September 9th, 2018 between the hours of9:30pm and 10:30pm. This 
fire works display is to be provided by RedBoss Pyrotechnicians Inc. only after the 
approval of fire and city representatives. 

I trust this letter of intent is satisfactory. If you have any questions, please feel free to call 
me on my cell 905-651-3243 

~OU, 

Bob Davidson 
General Manager 

403



This page intentiona lly left blank. 

404



I 

~1E0c~fv~o 
APR 1 6 2018 

-------~--------
CORPORATE SERVICES 

DEPARTMENT 

ENGINEERING & OPERATIONAL SERVICES 

Po RT COLBORNE 
MEMORANDUM 

EXT. 219 

DATE: April 16, 2018 

TO: Amber LaPointe, City Clerk 

FROM: Janice Peyton, Executive Assistant, DEO 

RE: Environmental Advisory Committee 
Motion Regarding Delayed Roadside Mowing 

Please be advised that, at the meeting of March 21, 2018, the Environmental Advisory 
Committee resolved as follows: 

Thank you. 

Signed: 

Moved by George McKibbon 
Seconded by Paul Ruzycki 

That after receiving the presentation of Patty Moss regarding the roadside 
mowing delay initiative, the Council of the City of Port Colborne be notified that 
the City of Port Colborne Environmental Advisory Committee is unanimously in 
support of Patty's request for the first mowing to be delayed to start on June 
4th, 2018. 
CARRIED. 

-
Janice Peyton 
Executive Assistant, DEO 
Recording Secretary, Environmental Advisory Committee 

405



This page intentionally left blank. 

406



<'.'.>IJ.t:of Port Colb<•ma 
Rt.CE IVED 

APR 1 2 ·2018 

NIAGARA CENTRAL 
Airport Commission 

P. 0. Box 234 WELLAND, ONT ARIO 

L3B SP-I 

April 12, 2018 

City Clerk City Clerk 
City of Port Colbome City of Welland 
66 Charlotte Street 60 East Main Street 
Port Colbome, Ontario L3K 3C8 Welland, Ontario L3B 3X4 
Via email to ashleygrigg(@,12ortcolborne.ca Via email to clerk(@,welland.ca 

Chief Administrative Officer/Clerk Town Clerk 
Township of Wainfleet Town of Pelham 
31940 Highway 3 20 Pelham Town Square 
P.O. Box40 P.O. Box 400 
Wainfleet, Ontario LOS 1 VO Fonthill, Ontario LOS lEO 
Via email to wkolasa(@.wainfleet.ca Via email to nbozzato@12elham.ca 

Mayors and Councils of City of Port Colborne, City of Welland, Township of\Vainfleet, 
and the Town of Pelham: 

Following is brief synopsis of issues and developments at Niagara Central Dorothy Rungeling 
Airpo1i through the first quarter of 2018 for your infmmation: 

Of Note: 
• We note with sadness the passing of Dorothy Rungeling, Order of Canada, in her 1071

h year 
of a full and remarkable life that included spectacular successes as a pilot that brought great 
honour to her home airport which now carries her name, and to Canadian aviation generally. 

• We welcome Leo Van Fliet, Councillor, City of Welland, to the Niagara Central Airport 
Commission, filling the vacancy left by the passing of Welland Councillor Rocky 
Letourneau. 

Condition and Maintenance: 
Cost of completion of repairs to Taxiway Alpha, and repairs to the Secondary Runway and 
Taxiway Bravo was submitted in the 2018 capital budget. An estimated amount of 

407



• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

$173,000.00 will provide remedial treatment to the treated surfaces such that they can be 
used safely for 10+ years. 

Other Repair and Maintenance Issues: 
MOE has reviewed plans of new septic system designed by the engineering firm AMEC to 
replace the current greater than 70 year old system. Inasmuch as MOE review has taken longer 
than 3 years, we are updating the base premises of the plan to current status before proceeding 
with a permit application. NCAC met with Region officials on November 1, 2017, to review 
requirements and plans. Wood Group (previously AMEC Foster Wheeler) is redrafting the 
technical report required by the permit application. 
The mnway lighting system is still operational but will require renovation as they system is aged 
and spare parts are scarce and difficult to source. 

Request to Upload Control and Governance of NCDRA to Region: 
On September 26, 2016, Regional Council passed a motion supporting in principle that the 
Region adopt sole-responsibility for operations and governance of Niagara District and Niagara 
Central Dorothy Rungeling Airports. Subject to completion of a phase 2 enviromnental 
assessment at each location paid for by the current owners/operators, Regional staff is authorized 
to initiate negotiations with funding partners of both airports to transition responsibility. 

The required Enviromnental Assessment ofNCDRA was substantially completed during the 3nd 

quarter, and the Phase 2 report should be available within October to be forwarded to the Region. 
Niagara Central Airport Commission and NCDRA staff is working with our stakeholder 
municipalities to facilitate the negotiation process with the Region to make the transition of 
control to the Region. Mayors and CAO's met on March 9 to develop a process to develop a 
common negotiating position with which to approach Region. The process will be implemented 
in April, which should result in a motion passed by all stakeholder municipalities in time for the 
May 8 Niagara Region Transportation Committee meeting. 

Growth: 
The local chapter of the Canadian Owners and Pilots Association (COP A Flight 149) has 
suggested that NCDRA rehabilitate the abandoned mnway as a grass strip. They have offered to 
participate in the cost of constmction and to undertake the maintenance of the strip. A plan and 
budget of this conversion has been approved by NCAC. The plan includes: 

o Excavation of a road a 1900 ft. roadbed on the south side of hangars along Taxiway 
Bravo to provide soil to cover the abandoned mnway. The roadbed will accept fill from 
the wider community to eventually become the access to additional hangar lots required 
when lots along Bravo are leased. 

o The abandoned mnway will be prepared, graded, and covered with the roadbed excavate 
provided above. 

o Preparation and seeding of the soil to create the grass strip will be undertaken by COP A. 
o Cost of excavation and placement of the soil will be unde1iaken by NCDRA with an 

upset limit of $15,000.00, including HST. 
o Cost of creation of the grass strip will be undertaken by COPA, who have committed to 

the maintenance of the grass strip thereafter. 

408



Airport Activities: 
Activities are at a low winter level. Weather in throughout the 1st Quarter produced a higher than 
nonnal snow plowing expenditure. 
The incident between aircraft on nmway 05/23 in October resulted in the cleanup of spilled fuel, 
the cost of which will be borne by the insurance coverage of the aircraft involved. This item 
remains outstanding. 

Fundraising: 
NCDRA have been notified that operating and capital budgets have been approved by 
stakeholder municipalities. 
It is anticipated that the $173,000.00 capital infusion will be funded through loan agreements 
with the stakeholder municipalities in the same manner that capital was provided last year for 
hangar roof and septic system improvements. 
Discussions regarding application of Section 110 of the Ontario Municipal Tax Act will depend 
on the outcome of negotiations around Region's uplift of control of the airport. 

2015 through 2018 Niagara Central Airport Commission Members: 

Welland 

Port Colbome 

Wainfleet 

Pelham 

Sincerely, 

Richard Rybiak 
Chair 
Niagara Central Airport Commission 

Jim Larouche 
John Mastroianni 
Leo Van Vliet 

Barbara Butters (Vice-Chair) 

Bea Kenny 

Ted Hessels 

Richard Rybiak (Chair) 

409



This page intentionally left blank. 

410



Niagara 
Administration - Corporate Services 
Office of the Regional Clerk 
1815 Sir Isaac Brock Way, PO Box I 04 2, Thorold, ON L2V 4T7 
Telephone: 905-980-6000 Toll-free: 1-800-263-7215 Fax: 905-687-4977 
www.niagararegion.ca 

April 13, 2018 

LOCAL AREA MUNICIPAL COUNCILS 

SENT ELECTRON/CALLY 

2018 Property Tax Policy, Ratios and Rates 
CSD 18-2018 

CL 5-2018, April 12, 2018 
CSC 5-2018, April 4, 2018 

Report CSD 18-2018 

Ci!l_of Port Colboma 
Rt=CEIVED 

APR 1 6 2018 
CORPORATE SERVICES 

DEPARTMENT 

Regional Council, at its meeting of April 12, 2018, approved the following 
recommendation of its Corporate Services Committee: 

That Report CSD 18-2018, dated April 4, 2018, respecting 2018 Property Tax 
Policy, Ratios and Rates BE RECEIVED and the following recommendations BE 
APPROVED: 

1. That to establish tax ratios and tax reductions for the 2018 taxation year, 
Council APPROVE Option A: 

Option B - reducing both the multi-residential and commercial ratios to 1.97 
and 1. 7349, respectively. 

Property Classification Tax Ratio Sub-Class 
Reduction 

Residential 1.000000 
New Multi-Residential 1.000000 
Multi-Residential 1.970000 
Commercial 1.734900 
Commercial - Excess Land 1.734900 30% 
Commercial - Vacant Land 1.734900 30% 
Industrial 2.630000 
Industrial - Excess Land 2.630000 30% 
Industrial - Vacant Land 2.630000 30% 
Pipeline 1.702100 
Farmland 0.250000 
Managed Forest 0.250000 
Farmland Awaiting Development 1 1.000000 25% 
Farmland Awaiting Development 2 Class Ratio 
Landfill Sites 2.940261 

411



2018 Property Tax Policy, Ratios and Rates 
April 4, 2018 

Page 2 

2. That the 2018 tax capping program reflecting the following criteria BE 
APPROVED: 

a. An annual cap BE SET at the greater of: 

i. An amount representing an increase of 10% of the previous year's 
annualized tax, or 

ii . An amount representing an increase of 10% of the previous year's 
Current Value Assessment (CVA) tax. 

b. That, following the application of the capping program, all increasing 
properties within $500 threshold and decreasing properties within $50 
threshold of the CVA taxes BE MOVED directly to CVA taxation. 

c. Properties at CVA tax in 2017 BE EXCLUDED from the capping program. 

d. Properties that would cross over CVA tax in 2018 BE EXCLUDED from 
the capping program. 

3. That the phase-out of the capping program over four years for Industrial 
property class with 2018 being year three of the four years, BE ADOPTED. 

4. THAT the phase-out of capping program over four years for the Commercial 
property class with 2018 being year two of the four year, BE ADOPTED. 

5. That the option to limit capping protection only to reassessment-related 
changes prior to 2018 BE ADOPTED. 

6. That the 2017 capping program BE FUNDED by claw back from within 
respective classes pursuant to section 330 of the Municipal Act. 

7. That the Region BE DIRECTED to act as a banker, under section 330(6) of 
the Municipal Act for the 2018 municipal tax adjustments. 

8. That the necessary by-laws BE PREPARED and PRESENTED to Council for 
consideration. 

9. That this report BE APPROVED and CIRCULATED to the Councils of the 
local area municipalities for information. 

412



2018 Property Tax Policy, Ratios and Rates 
April 4, 2018 

Page 3 

A copy of Report CSD 18-2018 and the associated by-laws (2018-37; 2018-38 and 
2018-39) may be found on the Region's website, as part of the Council Agenda 
package on April 12, at the following link: 

https://www.niagararegion.ca/government/council/minutes/ 

Yours truly, 

Ann-Marie Norio 
Acting Regional Clerk 
:mjt 

CLK-C 2018-58 

cc: H. Chamberlain , Acting Commissioner, Enterprise Resource Management Services (ERMS) 
M. Montague, Executive Assistant to the Commissioner, ERMS 

413



This page intentionally left blank. 

414



April 17, 2018 

Ann-Marie Norio 
Acting Regional Clerk 
1815 Sir Isaac Brock Way 
PO Box 1042 
Thorold ON L2V 4T7 

Dear Ms. Norio: 

'"'Pelham NIAGARA 
\lfbrarit · Creative · Caring 

Appointment Process for Niagara Peninsula Conservation Authority 

On February 9, 2017 the Town of Pelham provided correspondence to the Region of Ni~gara 
which outlined a resolution requesting amendments to the process for appointments to the' 
Niagara Peninsula Conservati.on Authority Board of Directors. Acopy is attached for your 
reference. Fur:ther, on May 16., .2017 a subsequent letter was provided to the Region requesting 
further consideraljpn on the matter, in reference to Minister McGarry's correspond~nce in this 
regard, also attached. · 

Further to this, a number of local Niagara area municipa:lities tu:we made simi.la.r requests to the 
R_E?.gion 'NJth reg~rdJo t[le N.PGA Board appo_intrnent pr~~ess . Council for the Town of Pelham 
respectfully requests a response as to how the Region Will 111ove forward to establis.h guidelines 
for recruitment,· sele.ction and appointment of individuals for the next selection of NPCA board 
members; 

Yours ve.ry truly, 

-~ N .. ';/() 

( . ~ate>, Dipf,M.M., AMCT Tow~~kyJ 

Cc: Local Area Municipalities 
Encl. 
/njb 

From the Clerk's Department 

s Administration 'v Services 

20 Pelham Town Square P.O Box 400 · Fonthill, ON LOS 1EO p: 905.892.2607 f: 905.892.5055 

pelham.ca 
. --.,:--.,,,~----~---· 

415



February 9, 2017 

Ralph Walton 
Regional Clerk 
Reg ion Municipality of Niagara 
1815 Sir Isaac Brock Way · 
P() Box 1042 
Thoroid ON L2V 4T7 

Dear .Mr. Walton: 

~Pelham 
NIAGARA 

Vibrant· Creative ··Caring 

REQUEST TO AMEND PROCESS FOR APPOINTMENTS TO NiAGARA PENINSULA 
CONSERVATION AUTHORITY BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

AHheir regular meeting of February 6th, 2017, Council of the Town of Pelham endors.ed the 
fotrowing : 

WHEREAS the Niagara Pe11in$ula Conservation Aµthprity (NPCA) is a ProvinCial agency 
operc:iting in the Region of Niagara, Haldimand County and the City of Hamilton, funqed 
largely l:?y the Region of NiClgara; and 

WHEREAS the Town of Pelham i~ a 9ontrjbutor of public funds to the Region of Niagara, 
and, therefore, a contributor to the NPCA's fun<;fing; and 

. . ... ·-· ' 

WHEREAS the people of the Town of Pelham, together with all municipalities repres~nted 
on the NPCA deserve ope.nness arid accountc:ibility relating to how theirtax dollars are 
being spent, how effectively our natwal environment is being protected, ·and fiow 
representatives to the NP<:;A Board are appointed; and 

WHEREAS currently, eleven ()f the thirteen Members of the NPCA .Board are municipal 
poJiticl<ms who may no(have the necessary conservation and environmental expertise 
suited to effectively serve on this Board; and 

WHEREAS for the City of Hamilton, it has been the practice of their city council to 
appoint citizen representatives to the NPCA Board,. thus highlighting the importance of 
the ability to provide approp·riate knowledge, experience and expertise to the Board and 
establishing a precedent to support citizen appointment to the NPCA; and .. .. . . . 

WHEREAS the past praetice of the Niagara Regional Council h~s been to offer a single 
appointrpent from each of the twelve local municipalities by: firstly, offering appointment 
to the Regional Counclllor(s) or Mayor of the local muniC:ipality; and, secondly by a 

From the Clerk's Department 

20 Pelham Town Square P.O Box 400 · Fonthill, ON LOS lEO p: 905.892.2607 f : 905.892.5055 " 

pelham.ca 416



Pelham 
NIAGARA 

Vibrant· Creative · Caring 

process that defaults to the local municipal council; and then finally, to citizen 
representation; and . 

WHEREAS the Councilfor the .Town of Pelham supports a formal appoiDtment protocol 
that aJJows the local municipalities to seek applications for appointment to the NPCA and 
that a recommendation for appointment then be subsequently provided to the Region by 
the local municipalities; · 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED THAT the Council for the Town of Pelham 
respectfully requests that the Council of the Regional Municipality of Niagara amend the 
process for appointments to the.NPCA to perm.it local municipalities to publicly advertise 
and make recommendations for appointment of a qualified and independent citizen to 
represent their respective municipalities, to take ~ffect following toe 2018 munii::Jpal 
election, or immediately should a vacancy on the NPCA Board of Directors occur; and 

THAT a copy of this Resolution be forwar9ed to: Premier Kathleen Wynne; Minister of 
Natural Resources and Forestry, Kathryn McGarry; the Auditor General of Ontario; the 
NPCA Board of Directors; Niagara MPPs for i11~ormation; and 

THAT a copy of this Resolution be also forwarded to tile City of Hamilton, Haldimand 
County ancj Niagara Local Area MuniCipailties for endorsement a.nd. support. 

On behalf of Council , thank you for your attention to this importc;int matter and we look forward 
to your response. 

Yours very truly, 

. ;iJ~p,t Y1t !6·. . . . 
( rs.) Nancy .J. Bozzato, D1p/.M.M., AMCT 
Town Clerk 

/js 

Cc: Premier Kathleen Wynne 
Kathryn McGcfrty, Minister of Natural R.eso.urces and Forestry 
Auditor GS:?neral of Ontario 
NPCA eoard of Directors 
Niagara MPPs 
City of Ham(lton 
Haldimand County 
Niagar~ Local Area Municipalities 

Frnrn the Clerk's Department 

Administrative 
Services 

20 Pelham Town Square P.O Box 400 · Fonthill, ON LOS lEO p: 905.892.2607 f: 905.892.5055 

pelham.ca 417



~,J Pelham 

May 16, 20.17 

Natasha L. Devos 
Acting Regional Clerk 
Niagara Region 
1815 Sir ,l§>aac Brock Way, P.O. Sox 1042 
Thorold, ON L.2V 4T7 
www.niagararegion.ca 

Dear M.s ... Devos: 

NIAGARA 
Vibrant · Creative · Cat ing 

Appointment Proce.ss tp the Niagara Peninsula Cons:erv(!tion Authority Board 

At their regular meeting of May 151
h, 2011, Council of the Town of Pelham enoorsed and supported the 

following: · 

BE IT RESOLVED THAT Council rec~ive correspondence from the Ministry of Natural Resources 
and Forestry, dated May 4, 2017, regatcUng C:1 resolution to amend the process for appointments to 
the Niagara Peninsula Conservation Aµthority Board of Qirec;~ors , for information; an.d 

THAT Jne Minister;l) letter and the original Pell')am moti.on to the Niagara Regional Council be 
forwarded to the Region of Niagara for consideration. · · 

On behalf of Council, thank you for your attention to this matter and we look forward to your response. 

Yours very truly, 

~ e.V,~ 
(Mrs.) an~ J. Bozlato, Dip/;M.M. , AMCT 
town C rk 

/js 
Enol. 
Cc: Kathryn McGarry, Mini!;?ter, Natural Resources arid Forestry 

From the Clerk's Departme11t 

~ Administrative ' v Services 

---~-·-·---- --- --

. - - . ' ~ 

20 Pelham Town Square P.O Box 400 · Fonthill, ON LOS 1EO p: 905.892.2607-: f: .905.892.5055 
./ _ ·, ·.:._.· p.elham.ca .._-,(: · .· · 

• • -~ - •1· - __ :::.-~~-~~-'--.-~,-.· __________ .._.._,,..~----~-
418



Ministry of Natural 
Resources and Forestry 

Office of the Minister 

Room 6630, Whitney Block 
99 Wellesley Streei West 
Toronto ON M7A 1W3 
Tel: 416-314-2301 
Fax: 416-314-2216 

MAY 0 4 2017 

Mrs. Nancy J. Bozzato 
Town Clerk 
Town of Pelham 

Ministere des Richesses 
naturel!es et des Forets 

Bureau de la ministre 

Edifice Whitney, bure·au 6630 
99, rue Wellesley Ouest 
Toronto (Ontario) M7A 1W3 
Tel.: 416-314-2301 
Telec.: 416-314-2216 

20 Pelham Town Square 
PO Box400 
Fontill ON LOS 1 EO 

Dear Mrs. Bozzato: 

MNR6446MC-2017-700 

TOW~{ OF J>~Ll-IAf\I 

MAY - 9 20] 

RECEIVED 

Premier Kathleen Wynne has shared with me your Council's resolution requesting that 
Niagara Region amend their appointment process re.garding regional representatjon on 
the Niagara Peninsula Conservation Authority board of directors. 

Under the Conservation Authorities Act, conservation authority members are appointed 
by the participating municipalities for th.e purpose of representing the interests of their 
communities. I would like to clarify that municipalities are solely responsible for 
determining who they appoint as their representatives on a ·conservation authority 
board. Further, each municipality can determine its own proc_~ss or criteria used to 
choose individuals considered for appointment. As such, my mini$try does not have the 
authority to state whom a municipality should appoint as their representatives on a 
conservation authority board, or how they should do it. 

Through the ongoing review of the Conservation Authorities Act, my ministry heard 
about the need to ensure board decisions are informed by an appropriate diversify of 
views and perspectives. I assure you, as part of the review process, we are .continuing 
to assess potential next steps. in.this area. 

I encourage the Town of Pelham tci work collaboratively with Niagara Region to come to 
a mutually agreeable resolution regarding the appointment proce,ss of Niagara Region 
representatives to the Niagara Peninsula Conservation Authority Board. 

Thank you for writing. 

Best, 

Kathryn McGarry 
Minister of Natural Resources and Forestry 

c: Premier Kathleen Wynne 

Page 49 of 270 

419



This page intentionally left blank. 

420



City of Welland 
Legislatiy~ S~rvkes 

Office of the City Clerk 
60 East Main Str~et, Welland, ON L3B 3X4 

ONTARIO• CA!'i. ADA 

Ph~)lle: ~05-735:-1700 Ext. 2280 I Fpx: 905-732-1919 
Email:clerk@Welland.caJwww.welland.ca . 

March 26! 2018 

Ministry of Environment and Climate Change 
Ferguson f3lock 11)h Fioor · 
77 Wellesley Street West 
Toronto; ON M7A 2T5 

Attention: The Honourable Chris Ballard, 
Minister of .Environment alid Climate Change 

Pear Minister Ballard: 

Re: March 20, 2018-WELLANDCITYCOUNCIL 

File No. 03-1.33 

At its meeting of March 20, 201 ~. Welland City Council passed the. following motion: 

"THAT THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF WELLAND receives for information Resolution 201a~o1 dated 
January 22; 201 {3 f~om the Corpor_at,on Qf the City of Cornwaili an.Q further . . . 
THAT Welland City Council requests the Ontario ~()11ermnent to implement reforms that wi;iuld 
encourage· ttw remeQfaUon of abandoned contaminated properti~s and that would provide 
mun_icipalities With m.ore too1s·to encourage that remediation to incluQe; 
(a) ThaJ amendments to tlie Envi~o11m~rital Protectfori A~t that exterid the circum!?ctances under whic}J. 
a record of site condition 1$ requirec;l _in respect of a contar,ninated $.ite,. or that oth~rwlse require ~he 
remediation <;>f aband.on!=!d ~.o.niarn.in~fod properties; anci further · · ·· · · · · 
{b) That arrteildmeiits to the Municipal A~t that en~ble municipalities 'tq levy taxation on abandonect 
properties ;:i(rates high enci1,1gh to encourage .remecjiation arid b~ilci the resoun;es for effective tax
_inc;rernent funding programs; ~nd further · · 
{c) That this rei;oit,i(ion ~~ sent to the Minister qf Envjronment arid Climate Change, Association of 
Murii~lpaHties .of Ontario, locai area MPPs and Ideal area municipalities." 

Yours truly, 

~dtr.,{ 
Carmela Radice 
Acting City Clerk 

CR: cap 

c.c.: Association of Muriicipalitie~ of Ontario, sent via email 
Local Area Munieipalities, sent via email 
Local Area MPP's, sent via email . 

Bridging the past, present and future 

421



This page intentiona lly le ft blank. 

422



... 
R
_Ci!t.of Port Ci:.i lb9rr1a 
.t::CEIVED 

APR 1 1 2018 
. . . COPjPORATE SERV 

Leg1slat1ve & Planning Serv11[el.SpAfffMENT ICES 

VIA EMAIL 

April 11, 2018 

Federation of Canadian Municipalities, Brock Carlton 
Association of Municipalities of Ontario, Pat Vanini 

Department 
Office of the Regional Clerk 
1151 Bronte Road 
Oakville ON L6M 3L 1 

Large Urban Municipal Caucus of Ontario (LUMCO), Mayor Jeffrey 
Mayors and Regional Chairs Caucus of Ontario (MARCO), Ken Seiling 
Rural Ontario Municipal Association (ROMA), Mayor Ronald Holman 
Northwestern Ontario Municipal Association (NOMA), Mayor Wendy Landry 
Federation of Northern Ontario Municipalities (FNOM), Mayor Alan Spacek 
Conservation Authority of Ontario, Richard Hibma 
all Ontario municipalities 

Please be advised that at its meeting held Wednesday, March 28, 2018, the Council of 
the Regional Municipality of Halton adopted the following resolution: 

RESOLUTION: Seeking Support on the Court Application Involving the CN 
Truck-Rail Development in the Town of Milton 

WHEREAS under the Municipal Act, Ontario municipalities have the authority and 
responsibility to advance and protect the "economic, social and environmental well
being of the municipality" and the "health, safety and well-being of persons"; 

WHEREAS the Provincial Government has designated Ontario municipalities to have 
responsibility to establish official plans that meet or exceed provincial standards for 
managing and directing physical change and effects on the social, economic, built and 
natural environment; 

WHEREAS Halton Region and its area municipalities ("Halton Municipalities"), in 
partnership with Conservation Halton, have carried out multi-year, multi-phase planning 
processes to update their applicable official plans to address all relevant provincial 
plans and policy and foster healthy communities; 

WHEREAS the most recent Halton Region official plan process engaged railways, 
including CN Rail, and was amended to accommodate stated railway plans for rail
supported development; 

Regional Municipality of Halton 
HEAD OFFICE: 1151 Bronte Rd, Oakville, ON L6M 3L1 

905-825-6000 I Toll free: 1-866-442-5866 

.. halton.~ c: l11 . . . . . . - 11 lln Youn;, 423



WHEREAS contrary to its own stated plans, CN Rail has declared its intention to 
proceed with a new stand-alone, truck-rail development in the Town of Milton that would 
operate 7 days a week, 24 hours a day and add at least 1,600 truck trips a day on 
regional roads located in close proximity to existing and planned residential 
communities; 

WHEREAS CN Rail has declared that Ontario and the Halton Municipalities have no 
regulatory role whatsoever with respect to the truck-rail development; 

WHEREAS the Halton Municipalities, Conservation Halton, and Halton residents have 
concerns about the impacts of CN 's proposed development on traffic congestion, 
community growth, health and safety, and the local environment; 

WHEREAS the Halton Municipalities and Conservation Halton recognize that railways 
are a matter of federal jurisdiction, but assert that truck-rail developments have non-rail 
aspects that engage multiple areas of provincial and municipal government regulatory 
responsibility; 

WHEREAS CN's truck-rail development engages numerous provincial and municipal 
by-laws, policies and plans that govern growth in the Halton Municipalities, including but 
not limited to, policies in Ontario's Growth Plan, Greenbelt Plan, the Provincial Policy 
Statement, and the provincially approved Official Plan for Halton Region and the Town 
of Milton; 

WHEREAS CN's position that its proposed truck-rail development falls exclusively 
under federal jurisdiction, if upheld, would create a regulatory gap that would prevent 
the Province of Ontario, the Halton Municipalities and Conservation Halton from 
discharging their statutory responsibilities, and leave CN Rail, a for-profit company, to 
self-regulate on matters that engage provincial and municipal responsibilities; 

WHEREAS the Halton Municipalities and Conservation Halton have commenced a 
Court Application (the "Application") to confirm their legitimate regulatory role in respect 
of the proposed CN development; and 

WHEREAS irrespective of the merits of CN 's proposed development, CN 's 
interpretation of jurisdiction over this development, if upheld , would be detrimental to all 
provinces and municipalities that contain existing or proposed developments that 
engage matters of federal , provincial and municipal regulatory interest. 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED: 

1. THAT Regional Council endorse the principles that: 

a. there must be a cooperative approach to all developments that engage 
federal, provincial and municipal regulatory matters. 

424



b. the existence of federal regulation over a development does not preclude 
and may require provincial and municipal regulation of the proposed 
development to avoid regulatory gaps. 

2. THAT Halton Region calls on the Government of Ontario to join the Court 
Application of the Halton Municipalities. 

3. THAT a copy of this resolution be forwarded to the Honourable Kathleen Wynne, 
Premier of Ontario; the Honourable Bill Mauro, Minister of Municipal Affairs; the 
Honourable Yasir Naqvi, Attorney General of Ontario; Halton's Members of 
Parliament (MPs), Members of Provincial Parliament(MPPs), and Leaders of the 
Opposition Parties. 

4. THAT a copy of the attached resolution be forwarded to the Federation of 
Canadian Municipalities (FCM), the Association of Municipalities of Ontario 
(AMO), the Large Urban Municipal Caucus of Ontario (LUMCO), the Mayors and 
Regional Chairs Caucus of Ontario (MARCO), the Rural Ontario Municipal 
Association (ROMA), the Northwestern Ontario Municipal Association (NOMA), 
Federation of Northern Ontario Municipalities (FNOM), the Conservation 
Authority of Ontario, and to all Ontario municipalities for their endorsement. 

As per the above resolution, please accept this correspondence and attached resolution 
for your information and consideration. 

If you have any questions please contact me at extension 7110 or the e-mail address 
below. 

Sincerely, 

Graham Milne 
Regional Clerk 
graham.milne@halton .ca 

425



Resolution for Endorsement by Other Municipalities 

WHEREAS under the Municipal Act, Ontario municipalities have the authority and 
responsibil ity to advance and protect the "economic, social and environmental well
being of the municipality" and the "health, safety and well-being of persons"; 

WHEREAS the Provincial Government has designated Ontario municipalities to have 
responsibility to establish official plans that meet or exceed provincial standards for 
managing and directing physical change and effects on the social , economic, built and 
natural environment; 

WHEREAS CN Rail has declared that the Province of Ontario and the Halton 
Municipalities (the City of Burlington, the Town of Halton Hills, the Town of Milton and 
the Town of Oakville) and Conservation Halton have no regulatory role whatsoever with 
respect to a proposed truck/rail development that will have a direct impact on the 
economic, social and environmental well-being of the municipality and health, safety 
and well-being of residents; 

WHEREAS the Halton Municipalities and Conservation Halton recognize that railways 
are a matter of federal jurisdiction, but assert that truck-rail developments have non-rail 
aspects that engage multiple areas of provincial and municipal government regulatory 
responsibility; 

WHEREAS the Halton Municipalities and Conservation Halton have commenced a 
Court Application to confirm their legitimate regulatory role in respect of the CN 
development; 

WHEREAS CN 's position that its proposed truck-rail development falls exclusively 
under federal jurisdiction, if upheld , would create a regulatory gap that would prevent 
the Province of Ontario, the Halton Municipalities and Conservation Halton from 
discharging their statutory responsibilities, and leave CN Rail, a for-profit company, to 
self-regulate on matters that engage provincial and municipal responsibilities; and 

WHEREAS irrespective of the merits of CN's proposed development, CN's 
interpretation of jurisdiction over this development, if upheld , would be detrimental to all 
provinces and municipalities that contain existing or proposed developments that 
engage matters of federal , provincial and municipal regulatory interest; 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED: 

1. THAT the [insert municipality name] endorse the principles that: 
a. there must be a cooperative approach to all developments that engage 

federal, provincial and municipal regulatory matters. 
b. the existence of federal regulation over a development does not preclude and 

may require provincial and municipal regulation of the proposed development 
to avoid regulatory gaps. 

2. THAT the [insert municipality name] calls on the Government of Ontario to join 
the court Appl ication of the Halton Municipalities. 

426



City of Port Colborne 
Regular Committee of the Whole Meeting 09-18 

Minutes 

Date: April 9, 2018 

Time: 6:30 p.m. 

Place: Council Chambers, Municipal Offices, 66 Charlotte Street, Port 
Col borne 

Members Present: B. Butters, Councillor 
F. Danch, Councillor 

Staff Present: 

A. Desmarais, Councillor 
Y. Doucet, Councillor 
D. Elliott, Councillor 
B. Kenny, Councillor 
J. Mayne, Councillor 
J. Maloney, Mayor (presiding officer) 

Absent: R. Bodner, Councillor (due to vacation) 

D. Aquilina, Director of Planning and Development 
T. Cartwright, Fire Chief 
M. Cuthbert, Communications Coordinator (for Item 8, presentations) 
J. Douglas, Economic Development Officer 
A. Grigg, Director of Community and Economic Development 
S. Hanson, Supervisor, By-law Enforcement Division 
A. LaPointe, Manager of Legislative Services/City Clerk 
C. Mcintosh, Deputy Clerk (minutes) 
P. Senese, Acting Chief Administrative Officer 
S. Shyposkyj, Acting Director of Engineering and Operations 
K. Walsh, Executive Assistant to the Director of Community and 
Economic Development 

Also in attendance were interested citizens, members of the news media, Your TV and 
WeeStreem. 

1. Call to Order: 

Mayor Maloney called the meeting to order. 

2. National Anthem: 

Joel Longfellow sang 0 Canada. 

3. Introduction of Addendum Items: 

Nil. 

427



Minutes - Regular Committee of the Whole Meeting 09-18 Page 2 of 10 

4. Confirmation of Agenda: 

By general consensus, Item 14 of the Committee of the Whole Agenda, Items 
Requiring Separate Discussion, was brought forward for consideration prior to 
Councillors' Items. The minutes reflect the order of the agenda. 

Moved by Councillor B. Butters 
Seconded by Councillor B. Kenny 

That the agenda dated April 9, 2018 be confirmed, as circulated or as 
amended. 

CARRIED. 

5. Disclosures of Interest: 

Mayor Maloney declared an indirect pecuniary interest with regard to item 1, Motion 
(Councillor Butters) Re: Request the Region of Niagara to Immediately Replace Board 
Members and Establish Guidelines for the Future Recruitment of Board Members to 
the Niagara Peninsula Conservation Authority (NPCA), as he is a member of the 
Niagara Peninsula Conservation Authority Board. Mayor Maloney refrained from 
discussing or voting on this item. Councillor Danch assumed the Chair during 
consideration of this item. 

6. Adoption of Minutes: 

(a) Special meeting of Committee of the Whole 04-18, held on March 5, 2018 
(b) Special meeting of Committee of the Whole 05-18 held on March 6, 2018 
(c) Regular meeting of Committee of the Whole 08-18 held on March 26, 2018 

Moved by Councillor A. Desmarais 
Seconded by Councillor J . Mayne 

(a) That the minutes of the special meeting of the Committee of the 
Whole 04-18, held on March 5, 2018, be approved as presented. 

(b) That the minutes of the special meeting of Committee of the 
Whole 05-18 held on March 6, 2018, be approved as presented. 

( c) That the minutes of the regular meeting of the Committee of the 
Whole 08-18 held on March 26, 2018, be approved as presented. 

CARRIED. 

7. Determination of Items Requiring Separate Discussion: 

The following items were identified for separate discussion: 

Items 1, 3. 

428



Minutes - Regular Committee of the Whole Meeting 09-18 Page 3of10 

8. Approval of Items Not Requiring Separate Discussion: 

Moved by Councillor A. Desmarais 
Seconded by Councillor Y. Doucet 

Items: 

That Items 1 to 5 on the agenda be approved, with the exception of items that 
have been deferred, deleted or listed for separate discussion, and the 
recommendation contained therein adopted. 

2. Corporate Services, Finance Division, Report No. 2018-47, Subject: 2018 
Operating/Capital Budget 

Committee of the Whole recommends: 

That in compliance with Ontario regulation 284/09, Council confirms that 
the 2018 budget was developed using the cash basis and has excluded 
the following accrual expenses: a portion of the amortization expense 
which amounts to approximately $1,459,455 and the amount of post
employment benefits expense which amounts to approximately 
$218,000; and 

That the 2018 Budget be approved as presented; and 

That the by-law for the budget estimates for all sums required for the 
operations for the year 2018 be adopted. 

4. Township of Wainfleet Re: Request Support of Municipally Appointed 
Niagara Peninsula Conservation Authority Representative 

Committee of the Whole recommends: 

That the resolution received from the Township of Wainfleet in support of 
the resolution of the City of Welland Re: Municipally Appointed Niagara 
Peninsula Conservation Authority Representative, be received for 
information. 

5. Township of South Stormont Re: Request Government of Ontario to 
Grant Municipalities the Authority regarding Approval of Landfill Projects 
in or Adjacent to their Municipality 

Committee of the Whole recommends: 

CARRIED. 

That the resolution received from the Township of South Stormont Re: 
Request Government of Ontario to Grant Municipalities the Authority 
regarding Approval of Landfill Projects in or Adjacent to their 
Municipality, be supported. 

429



Minutes - Regular Committee of the Whole Meeting 09-18 Page 4of10 

9. Presentations: 

(a) Grant Cheque Presentations to Community Organizations 

Councillors B. Kenny and A. Desmarais provided cheques to not-for-profit 
organizations. A copy of the presentation is attached. 

(b) Paul Blais, Executive Vice President, MOB Insight - presentation of the 
Economic Development Strategic Plan 

Paul Blais from MOB Insight provided a PowerPoint presentation summarizing 
the Economic Development Strategic Plan. A copy of the presentation is 
attached. 

10. Delegations: 

(a) Christine Clark Lafleur, Executive Director, Amanda Upper, Supervisor, 
Reach Out Centre and Sarah Eller, Manager of Client Services, Port Cares 
- information about Port Cares and the services that are provided to the 
community 

Christine Clark Lafleur provided a PowerPoint presentation detailing the 
programs and services that Port Cares provides to the community to address 
some of the challenges that have been identified and to foster the opportunities 
that exist. A copy of the presentation is attached. 

Amanda Upper encouraged local retailers, grocery stores, restaurants and food 
suppliers to become aware about what items the Reach Out Centre can accept 
and that the liability for the food security of donations rests with Port Cares not 
the donor. Ms. Upper spoke about the need for funding for the childrens' lunch 

. program kits and advised that Port Cares is seeking sponsorship for community 
meals. 

11. Mayor's Report: 

A copy of the Mayor's Report is attached. 

12. Regional Councillor's Report: 

Regional Councillor Barrick advised that the Niagara Region is engaging feedback via 
on line survey from residents and users of the Region's services for the 2019-2022 
strategic plan. 

Regional Councilor Barrick summarized the value for money audits conducted by the 
Region's Internal Control and Organizational Performance Department. 

Regional Councillor Barrick summarized the housing initiatives the Niagara Region 
and Niagara Regional Housing are undertaking Niagara including plans to construct 

430



Minutes - Regular Committee of the Whole Meeting 09-18 Page 5of10 

eight affordable housing units in Port Colborne, repurposing tax dollars collected from 
property taxes to the front line, working on housing provider partnerships and changing 
tax increment financing. 

Regional Councillor Barrick advised that he would bring Councillor Mayne's comments 
and suggestions to the Region with respect to the elimination of tipping fees at landfill 
sites. 

13. Councillors' Items: 

(a) Recurring street light outage across from 154 Main Street West (Danch) 

In response to an inquiry from Councillor Danch, the Acting Director of 
Engineering and Operations advised that he would request further investigation 
to determine if the recurring street light outage at 154 Main Street West is due 
to an electrical issue. 

(b) Light pole at 172 Catharine Street, potential trip hazard in front of 111 
Clarence Street (Mayne) 

In response to an inquiry from Councillor Mayne about a concrete light pole 
located at 172 Catharine Street that appears to be split and a PVC pipe 
protruding from the ground in front of 111 Clarence Street, the Acting Director of 
Engineering and Operations advised that he would request the issues be 
investigated. 

(c) Frozen service remediation project (Mayne) 

Councillor Mayne inquired why frozen seNice remediation was not yet complete 
for 59 Michael Drive North, 109 Steele Street and 106 Knoll Street. The Acting 
Director of Engineering and Operations advised that the contractor replaced the 
seNices but the reinstatements were the responsibility of the City and he would 
inquire about and ensure completion of the reinstatements. 

(d) Sunset Park (Mayne) 

In response to an inquiry from Councillor Mayne, the Director of Engineering 
and Operations advised that he would notify the Parks Foreman of the request 
for the baseball diamond backstop to be repaired. 

(e) Pleasant Beach Road waste collection enclosure, security camera and 
directional signage (Butters) 

In response to an inquiry from Councillor Butters, the Acting Director of 
Engineering and Operations advised that the installation of the roof on the 
waste collection enclosure and the security camera is planned to be completed 
prior to the long weekend in May. 

431



Minutes - Regular Committee of the Whole Meeting 09-18 Page 6of10 

In response to a further inquiry from Councillor Butters, the Director of Planning 
and Development advised that the signage directing beach goers to Nickel and 
Centennial beaches will be re-posted . Councillor Butters requested that 
directional signage to Nickel and Centennial beaches be erected on the route to 
the beaches to which the Director of Planning and Development advised that 
staff would review the signage to ensure it is adequate in size and locations. 

(f) Friendship Trail (Butters) 

In response to an inquiry from Councillor Butters about safety concerns related 
to the deep drainage ditches, the Acting Director of Engineering and Operations 
advised that he would review and provide response to the Councillor. 

(g) Ground water source protection (Butters) 

Councillor Butters read correspondence from a citizen, Ron Smith, requesting 
that Councillors and staff be aware of their responsibilities to the environment, 
water courses and aquifer protection during their decision making processes. A 
copy of Mr. Smith's correspondence is attached. 

(h) Recurring waste pile at the corner of Mitchell and Louis Streets 
(Desmarais) 

Councillor Desmarais requested that the Director of Planning and Development 
and the Acting Director of Engineering and Operations direct staff investigate a 
solution to the recurring waste pile at the corner of Mitchell and Louis Streets. 

(i) Construction in the East Village (Desmarais) 

In response to a request from Councillor Desmarais, the Acting Director of 
Engineering and Operations advised that he would arrange for a public meeting 
in the East Village with staff and representatives from the construction company 
to communicate with residents with respect to the ongoing construction. 

(j) Ontario Municipal Commuter Cycling Program Grants (Desmarais) 

Councillor Desmarais noted that the Region and other Niagara municipalities 
recently received Ontario Municipal Commuter Cycling Program Grants and 
challenged staff to make application in the future. 

(k) Letters to residents from the City with respect to sheds (Desmarais) 

In response to an inquiry from Councillor Desmarais, the Director of Planning 
and Development advised that By-law Enforcement has sent letters with 
respect to accessory structures in response to complaints received but there is 
not a proactive enforcement effort ongoing with respect to sheds. 

432



Minutes - Regular Committee of the Whole Meeting 09-18 Page 7of10 

(I) Presentation time limits (Desmarais) 

In response to an inquiry from Councillor Desmarais with respect to extending 
presentation time limits, the Manager of Legislative Services/City Clerk advised 
that she intends to review the procedural by-law, however, currently Council 
can vote to waive the rules of procedure to extend delegate or presentation time 
limits. 

(m) Meeting with residents about Sunset Park (Elliott) 

In response to an inquiry from Councillor Elliott with respect to when the 
meeting residents would be scheduled with respect to the basketball courts at 
Sunset Park, the Acting Director of Engineering and Operations replied that he 
would inquire of the Director of Community and Economic Development and 
advise accordingly. 

(n) Crosswalk at the corner of Catharine and Clarence Streets (Elliott) 

In response to an inquiry from Councillor Elliott, the Acting Director of 
Engineering and Operations advised that the crosswalk at the corner of 
Catharine and Clarence Street is in the design phase. 

(o) Road resurfacing in the downtown area (Elliott) 

Councillor Elliott inquired if the roads resurfaced in the downtown area would be 
ripped up when the Community Improvement Plan (CIP) project for the 
downtown area begins. The Acting Director of Engineering and Operations 
advised that staff is reviewing the infrastructure with the intent to preserve as 
much of the newly resurfaced areas as possible once the downtown CIP project 
begins. 

(p) Graffiti on the former train bridge (Elliott) 

Councillor Elliott requested painting of the graffiti that is on the former train 
bridge, to which the Director of Planning and Development responded that he 
will direct staff to proceed with the graffiti removal by utilizing funds from By-law 
Enforcement's site clean-up budget. 

Staff Responses to Previous Councillor Inquiries: 

(a) Fire Safety (Cartwright) 

The Fire Chief advised that residents in the area of Clarence and Steele Streets 
have been sent letters requesting that they contact the Fire Department to set 
up an appointment for a house inspection. 

433



Minutes - Regular Committee of the Whole Meeting 09-18 Page 8of10 

(b) 224 Mitchell Street (Cartwright) 

The Fire Chief advised that in January a delegate attended Council to request 
waiving of the inspection fees charged for 224 Mitchell Street which has since 
been repossessed by the finance company, however, the Fire Department is 
continuing its legal action against the original owner. 

14. Consideration of Items Requiring Separate Discussion: 

1. Motion (Councillor Butters) Re: Request the Region of Niagara to 
Immediately Replace Board Members and Establish Guidelines for the 
Future Recruitment of Board Members to the Niagara Peninsula 
Conservation Authority (NPCA) 

Mark Brickell, Chief Administrative Officer, Secretary Treasurer, Niagara 
Peninsula Conservation Authority addressed Councillor Butters' motion to 
request the Region of Niagara to immediately replace board members and 
establish guidelines for future recruitment of board members to the NPCA by 
summarizing the NPCA's mandate and its recent initiatives to improve 
effectiveness, transparency and customer service. 

At the request of Councillor Mayne, the recommendations of the motion were 
divided and voted on separately. 

Moved by Councilor B. Butters 
Seconded by Councillor Y. Doucet 

WHEREAS Port Colborne City Council is aware of concerns in the 
community that the Niagara Peninsula Conservation Authority (NPCA) 
has demonstrated an inability to operate as an effective, open and 
transparent Conservation Authority, that respects its mandate; 

AND WHEREAS Port Colborne City Council has lost confidence in the 
current Board and management of the NPCA; 

THEREFORE THE COUNCIL OF THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY 
OF PORT COLBORNE RESOLVES AS FOLLOWS: 

That the City of Port Colborne requests that the Region of Niagara 
immediately replace board members of the NPCA with members 
selected by the lower tier municipalities. 

CARRIED. 

434



Minutes - Regular Committee of the Whole Meeting 09-18 

Moved by Councilor B. Butters 
Seconded by Councillor Y. Doucet 

Page 9of10 

That the City of Port Colborne requests that the Region of Niagara 
establish guidelines for the recruitment, selection, and appointment of 
individuals to be in place during the next selection of NPCA board 
members. 

CARRIED. 

Moved by Councilor B. Butters 
Seconded by Councillor Y. Doucet 

That the guidelines be developed with criteria that is based on skillset and 
be carried out by the lower tier municipalities. 

CARRIED. 

3. Planning and Development, By-law Enforcement Division, Report No. 2018-
45, Subject: Hunting at Gravelly Bay in Port Colborne 

Margaret Thompson (5 Lakewood Crescent), spoke with respect to Planning and 
Development, By-law Enforcement Division, Report No. 2018-45, Subject: 
Hunting at Gravelly Bay in Port Colborne. A copy of Mrs. Thompson's 
presentation is attached. 

Felix Barbetti from the Ontario Federation of Anglers and Hunters and Alfred 
Marinelli , formerly employed by the Ministry of Natural Resources, spoke with 
respect to hunting rules and the complaint process and encouraged residents to 
report illegal hunting activity. 

Moved by Councillor J . Mayne 
Seconded by Councillor A Desmarais 

That direction be provided to staff regarding the type of public consultation 
to occur with the recognized hunting groups and their detailed desire 
regarding hunting prior to making a resolution to the federal government. 

Moved in amendment by Councillor A Desmarais 
Seconded by Councillor J. Mayne 

That the Director of Planning and Development be directed to conduct an 
unbiased evaluation of hunting in Gravelly Bay through public consultation 
including an open house and an internet survey; and 

That the Director of Planning and Development be directed to report back 
to Council with recommendations moving forward . 

CARRIED. 

435



Minutes - Regular Committee of the Whole Meeting 09-18 Page 10of10 

15. Notice of Motion: 

Councillor Kenny provided notice of her intention to introduce a motion at the April 23, 
2018 Committee of the Whole/Council meeting to request reconsideration of the use of 
interest only in the distribution of funds by the Grant Committee. 

Councillor Butters provided notice of her intention to introduce a motion at the April 23, 
2018 Committee of the Whole/Council meeting with respect to requesting an 
investigation into the hiring of the Niagara Region Chief Administrative Officer. 

16. Adjournment: 

AL/cm 

Moved by Councillor F. Danch 
Seconded by Councillor A. Desmarais 

That the Committee of the Whole meeting be adjourned at approximately 
9:58 p.m. 

CARRIED. 

436



SPEAKING NOTES 
GRANT PRESENTATIONS 

APRIL 9, 2018 

Good evening ladies and gentlemen. 

We are here this evening to present several community grants to non-profit 
organizations who serve the residents of Port Colborne. 

You may remember that this was done by Port Colborne Hydro Inc. for many years. 

With the sale of the hydro company and subsequent sale of our fibre company, this 
responsibility was turned back to council. 

Council decided to form a committee who now oversee the semi-annual review of the 
applications. 
There are three members of council and two members of the public on this committee -
myself, Councillor Angie Desmarais, Mayor John Maloney, with Gary Bruno and Brenda 
Haymes from the public. 

For 2018, council has set aside a maximum of $17,000 to be distributed. 

The first round of applications were received by January 31st and we are here this 
evening to present 6 grants totalling $12,720. 

The next round of applications must be submitted by June 3Qth and information is 
available on our website . 

Port Colborne Operatic Society will use their grant of $1,500 to pay for the live 
musicians program. These professional musicians accompanied the students in the 
orchestra pit of this year's performances of The Wizard of Oz. An additional $750 will 
assist with repairs needed to their storage building in Bethel. 
I'd like to call up a representative to receive their cheque. 
Ask them to say a few words. 

Women's Place of South Niagara will use their grant of $2,000 to provide safe 
emergency shelter and food for women and their children escaping domestic violence. 
I'd like to call up Amanda to receive their cheque. 
Ask Amanda to say a few words. 

Education Foundation of Niagara will use their grant of $950 to provide essential 
items to DSBN students. School personnel are able to immediately address urgent 
needs in their school setting by applying to the Foundation for funds on behalf of 
students who experience a high level of need. 
I'd like to call up Cindy Paskey to receive their cheque. 
Ask Cindy to say a few words. 

Page 1of2 

437



Port Colborne Lynton Davies Air Cadets Sponsoring Committee will use their grant 
of $2,000 to assist with the purchase of a new computer and printer to enable the 
cadets to research topics being taught during classes. 
I'd like to call up a representative to receive their cheque. 
Ask them to say a few words. 

Niagara Health Foundation will use their grant of $1000 to assist with the cost of 
replacing old ultrasound equipment at the Port Colborne Site. 
I would like to invite a representative to come forward. 
Ask them to say a few words. 

Port Colborne Saddle Port will receive $4,800 to go towards renovations to the 
grounds and fencing at the Humberstone Centennial Park. 
I'd like to call up Catharine Wickabrod to receive their cheque. 
Ask Catharine to say a few words. 

Page 2 of 2 

438



PORT COLBORNE 

Port Colborne Economic Development 
Strategic Plan: 2018-2028 

Presented by April 9, 2018 

Paul Blais, Executive Vice-Presiclent 

A Reminder on what the Strategic Plan does? 

• Provides a fact-based approach to create a strong and diverse 
local economy by capitalizing on economic drivers that will bring 
new wealth to the city. 

• Creates a vision for the economy with strategic directions to help 
guide decision-makers over the next 10 years (as requested 
in the RFP). 

• Recommends specific action items that increase the appeal of 
the municipality to business investors. 

• Aligns with Council's goals and objectives, Municipal initiatives, 
and the goals and aspirations of the community, but also charts a 
course for the municipality to incorporate into its future actions. 

MDB Insight 

439



~\ Project Process 

• Telephone Survey of 
Businesses 

• Stakeholder Interviews 
• Focus Groups 

MDB Insight 

Economic Development Vision Statement 

Port Co/borne is a place to live well and enjoy life in a 
safe, healthy, prosperous, well-run, inclusive and 
respectful community 

MDB Insight 

440



Guiding Principles 

Port Colborne will earn this reputation by: 

• Encouraging high levels of collaboration and partnership between 
various levels of government and the community 

• Encouraging a diversity of businesses through retention and 
attraction from a variety of industries to create the strongest 
economic foundation possible 

• Living and promoting an explicit culture of 'customer first' service 
within the City of Port Colborne in order to communicate that the 
municipality is "open for business" and is always considering the 
interests of taxpayers 

MOB Insight 

Guiding Principles 

• Improving residential quality of life by engraining a corporate culture 
that emphasizes community enhancement and beautification and 
continuing to enhance recreational, cultural, and social opportunities as 
a way to create important economic spin-off opportunities 

• Having a vibrant and unique downtown core is an important aspect of 
attracting residents, visitors, and a young and talented labour force to 
the community 

• Enabling a communications plan that consistently promotes the city's 
merits to the target markets identified in this strategic plan 

• Making a political commitment to the goals of this strategic plan and 
evaluating progress against performance metrics and adjusting 
strategy and tactics based on results 

6 MOB In sight 

441



Focusing Economic Development Priorities 

Small 

MDB Insight 

Target market(s) 

Residential 
Development 

Tourism & 
Destination 

Development 

- Professional services, cultural/creative industries, health and 
wellness, 'lone-eagles' looking for quality of life, small retail 

• Port Colborne needs to establish a reputation as a charming, 
small-town through a broader marketing campaign 

• Lower cost housing and commercial rents; strong fibre backbone 

• Critical infrastructure investments needed in the downtown core 

• Not perceived as a place for young people to start a career 

8 MDB Insight 

442



Potential to significantly impact local economy = Very Strong 

Target market(s) 
- Retirees looking for lower housing costs, young families 

• Lower housing costs relative to the rest of southern Ontario 

• Favourable positioning near Lake Erie, strong recreational 
assets, and access to the U.S. border 

• Strong need to create a resident attraction marketing 
campaign to get the word out about Port Colborne 

• Opportunities exist for urban core, suburban, and rural 
developments 

g MOB Insight 

Target market(s) 
- Visitors to the Niagara Region, residents from the Niagara Region 

&GTA 

• Good (not very good, not excellent) tourism assets and events to 
build from 

• Improvements here will support small business and residential 
development priorities 

• Need to better link tourism assets together to create an experience 
to draw some of the millions of visitors to the region 

• Underdeveloped assets (e.g. Roselawn, Nickle Beach, downtown) 

1 a MOB Insight 

443



Industrial Development 
Potential to significantly impact local economy = Moderate 

Target market(s) 

- Growing the industrial base (existing and new) 

• Already home to a strong industrial base of businesses (LQ 1.59) 

• Severely restricted in ability to attract new mid-to-large scale 
developments without more serviced land. 

- Also limits the ability of local companies to expand their operations 

- Potential relocation issues or delay of expansion 

• A shrinking and aging population (smaller labour force than in the region) 

• Little market presence to 'sell' the community as a place to invest 

11 MDB Insight 

Goals 

12 MDB Insight 

444



Action Plans 

Timeline City Role and Action# Actions 
s M L c Potential Partners 

Complete a retail gap analysis . Lead 

Dete rmine market potential/recruitment targets for commercial districts. Port Colborne-~ 

3.3 Improve understa nding of the retail trade area for existing busi nesses. 
Chamber of Commerce, 
Greater Niagara Chamber . Improve the understa nding of gaps in the provision of goods and services to allow for new or of Commerce, Niagara 

expa nding business opportunities. Association of Realtors 

Partner 
Organize ' reverse trade shows' in areas where the City wants to attract businesses. These Port Colborne-Wainfleet 

3.4 
invitation-only events would include a reception, video presentation, and personal ized Chamber of Commerce, 

packages for attendees to share the key selling features of Port Colborne as a place to Greater Niagara Chamber 

own/operate a business. of Commerce, Niagara 
Associat ion of Realtors 

Identify future resid entia l nodes and zone them accordingly. Lead 

Encourage more medium-high density mixed use commercial and residential developments Niagara Association of 

3.5 through the planning process. . Realtors, Regional 
Municipality of Niagara, 

• Consider policies on allowing tiny homes in the city as more people are interested in them as an Niagara Construct ion 
affordable option. Association 

Partner 

Downtown Port Colborne 
Create a seasonal 'community tours' program to showcase the quality of life assets of Port I' BIA, Port Colborne-

3.6 
Colborneforthose considering living in the municipality. ~Chamber of 

Commerce, Tourism 
Partnership of Niagara 

13 MOB Insight 

Attributable Performance Measures 

Goal: Refresh Port Colborne's Image as an Attractive Place for People to Invest, 

Live, and Visit 

Activity Output Outcome 

• Development of a marketing 

and promotions campaign 

targeted at attracting new 
res idents and businesses 

• Crea t ion of a separate web 

porta l for promotions 

• Gather testimonia ls from 

local entrepreneurs and 

businesses 

• Completion of a retail gap 

analysis 

• Organization of 'reverse 

trade shows' and seasonal 

'community tours' 

14 MOB Insight 

• Successful marketing 

campaign highl ighting why 

potential residents and 

investors should look to Port 
Colborne 

• Grovvth in the number of 

inquiries received about 

relocating to Port Colborne 

• Grm'Vth in the number of 
business establishments 

• A reside nt population of 

25,000 to 30,000 people 

• Recognition as one of 

Ontario's best sma II cities to 

live 

• Increases in average income 
across Port Colbome 

• Increases in the percentage of 

knowledge workers in Port 
Colborne's economy 

• Statistical signs of a younger 

demographic living in the 
community 

445



Nurture Port Colborne's Entrepreneurial 
Ecosys~em . . : ~ 

• Prioritize a 'Customer First' service experience. 

• Review development application policies and procedures. 

• Conduct ongoing business BR+E surveys. 

• Investigate the feasibility for the creation of a business incubator 
space to support young start-up companies/entrepreneurs. 

Outputs 

• Growth in number of business start
ups 

• # of business retention and/or 
expansion success stories 

• # of businesses 
visited/surveyed/engaged 

15 MDB Insight 

• Leverage the fibre optic backbone. 

Outcomes 

• An overall 'very satisfied ' rating when 
asked about satisfaction working with the 
City on business needs 

• An increase in the number of businesses 

• A revitalized downtown (dining , arts, 
culture, and shopping atmosphere) 

• Boost efforts to improve curb appeal and property standards along 
major thoroughfares and in the downtown core. 

Outputs Outcomes 

• Improved curb appeal and property • A revitalized downtown (dining , arts, 
standards culture, and shopping atmosphere) 

• Upgrades to infrastructure important in • An increase in the number of 
the attraction and retention of business businesses in the city 

• Growth in number of business • High satisfaction levels of business in 
establishments , especially downtown owning/operating in Port Colborne 

16 MDB Insight 

446



.. Develop a marketing and promotions campaign targeted at 
attracting new residents and businesses to Port Colborne. 

• Review and update municipal by-laws and policies as they pertain 
to home occupations and businesses. 

• Complete a retail gap analysis. 

Outputs 

• Successful marketing campaign 

• Growth in the number of inquiries 
received about relocating to Port 
Col borne 

• Growth in the number of business 
establishments 

17 MOB Insight 

Be an independent p rofessional running 

you r business from Port Colborne, close 

to stro ng regional ma rkets and great 
transportation connections to the rest of 
the world 

Live close to fami~{ and friends wh ile 

runn ing your business from a community 

that supports its local businesses and 

where a variety of commerciai spaces are 
available in a grovv ing dovuntown core 

Outcomes 

• A resident population of 25 ,000 to 
30,000 people 

• Recognition as one of Ontario's best 
small cities to live 

M Increases in average income across 
Port Colborne 

Feel\velcomeas a newcomer 
and explo re all the ways to be 

involved in community life 

Live in a crty that has a strong base of 

professional and industrial businesses 

that are look ing t o hire skilled and 

experienced talent 

447



• Create a Tourism and Marketing Strategic Plan. 

• Work with neighbouring municipalities to cross-promote 
complementary themes and tourist operators. 

• Establish an ongoing tourism visitor survey. 

• Link fragmented tourism assets throughout the municipality. 

Outputs 

• Growth in the number of tourism 
businesses and tourism experiences 
marketed 

• Visitor satisfaction levels 

• Web site metrics and inquiries 

19 MDB Insight 

Outcomes 

• A revitalized downtown (dining, arts, 
culture, and shopping atmosphere) 

• Increased number of visitors , length of 
stay, and visitor spending 

• Recognition as one of Niagara's most 
compelling tourism destinations 

• Explore the feasibility and political interest in developing a new joint 
industrial park with Fort Erie or Welland. 

• Reposition information on the City's website to speak directly to 
information requirements of site selectors 

• Develop lead generation network connections. 

r--·-------
1 Outputs 

. ...... --·----1 
Outcomes 

• Number of site visits • Attraction of new industrial investments 

I 
• Development of a new industrial park • 'Very satisfied' rating of businesses 

working with the City 
I • Expanded lead generation contact list 

l ___ -------------- ·- . ___ .. __ __ _ _J L_·-~-de:reas~n the unemploy~:_:ate _ J 
20 MDB Insight 

448



449



Th is page intention@lly left bleink. 

450



~:. 

~ 
~ 

..... , .. ....._ 
CNi.ws.D1nalU1• 

.....-- ·4- - r-•t ••.,, 

·¥.~~;=~::~ 

Port Colborne & Port Cares 
Towards Help, Hope & Opportunity 

1980s 
... _ .1.,.,, . .. u..."" .. ,., ..... .,,...,.l .. ~\lf 

a...••WJl<l- J••ll&"I. 
·~-.. 1 ......... ~.-...u. 

... , .. , .... ,...i ........................ .. 

. ,.,......... ~1.t'i::.:~~--::.:·:l .. "l• 
~ -i\J-i; ..... ... ,...., . ,~r l.•t11••X_. !••_..•M 

.. '~=:~!;:~ 

WhoPorlC:O,o 
5.,,,... 

OW.llNCOH• llJ:f!JUS 
"Ott(itle011tCHldllliel• 

·~~ ........ ~ ... 
'!:. ... ~""1'4' :, ""'"' """"'I"~ 
• •«efO'f"lb""l:~n.1..:111 

·~·--~·wn.·- ··-·· ·,,;f •o.•f>'•VW.( .......... 

~ 
PortCares 

· fw.ilt.....,IMM • ll:!Oltorpr1>lf,.1hL"-'* 
.1,1.;,..,,.,, ~"' "'"'"°'" *'di) 9UIO 

ou ... .,..; ca-MJ.o """""-1" 1vu 

........... &a ....... _ 

MISSION 
1('; h("Jp tt1u~ ·t'I tht: 

c.ornrnuh1ty wn.ti 
SUCldl 31'ld e t r.Hll.'tn1iC 

need~ itnprovc tl'lcl 
quoi.'lllt~al me 

VISION 

PREVeNTION>.L 
SERVICES PROVIDED @VEAR 

· - 11 1 ........ .,,. ........ ....,,....,. 

·:.·:.-::.0"'1"1>""''"'""""'_ ............ ~ ..• 
• ~~lwlf .... _'°"'-U UICM ....... ~fl'.ll '(I 

- .. - ... .w-
--·- 1·~-·-. ............. 17,,_h_l:t"':H iovlf!ltt,.,.,.~ 

·)r..~ 1 ... ,..... """111..r"')~ ... llvul~• 

. , ..... ™..,"'"''"UW~~""'·~...-...

.~ ... --~· 11111 .,....,"' .. ,, .. ... 
~~M .. ·lco·-•>A!...,_11...,o"°'d""""'ii't<llCM • .ilflr 
l;!Oa~ (HfW> 

OUR VALUES 

INTERVENTION SERI/ICES 
PROVIDED <!!>V£AR 

• "ll.*'Mhill~- ....... -..,,_,, 
, ,,,_ .. .......,....~-tl..tt--li'.• ,ll• ltt .... 
. .._, ~ -......--·"-~ 
cu.~ t..w n.- .... _.,u.,_""4•1•.t,..... ,__,), _____ ...,. ____ ,. 
\4,.o·~~,,,,.,._ ,..,.P"rft•-......... ._-~ 
........... 1i0~ • ..--.-..~ ., ........... ~~·~..,-.a .--...-- ... "" 

. ................. llll'i&IHlilotallP IMl >Llil ,_ , ,, ll&. 
1*11-• lo ... l.., S-'.:111 1 ..., ,~~ 

'"""'-"""o1 - ... ~· .. ,~w.1c-·11vric. 
~tu..w_ ,.,.....,.owu-~.Ctl • h1~- ...-,,...... ... _.. ... ~ ...... ~·i·~ 

'! ·~--~~:~: ~ -~~ ,• ' ~ 
'' 'th ... ~~ .. . 

t ; ' ' •" . ~~;·.:i._.:~~ ' ~ ;·::.-:. ; -~"':"' 

451



452



1980s 
Massive lay-offs - industrial & manufacturing sector 

20% ++ unemployment levels 
No social services locally available 

Geographic isolation - transportation 
Internet didn't exist 

Rapid Rise in Domestic Violence 
Highest level of Teen-age pregnancies in Canada 

Rapid populatton decline 
Homes abandoned 

First Generation 

453



e • 

ort 
• Established 1986 as a not-for-profit with 6 staff 
• Mission - To improve quality of life 
• Obtained Charitable status in 1988 
• Operated from the beginning as a Hub model 

454



Port Cares Today ... 
· Annual Operating Budget $3.1 million 
• 45 full-time & part time staff /100 active volunteers 
·Agency owns: 

- Main Site 92 Charlotte Street 
- Reach Out Centre 61 Nickel St. 
- Properties at 53 & 71 Nickel St. 

• Funding via pay for perf9rmance contracts with: 
Province of Ontario: 

Ministry of the Attorney General, 
Ministry of Advanced Education & Skills Dev 

· Region of Niagara 
• Charity services (Reach Out Centre, Food Bank, Family 

Supports) funded through charitable donations and 
fundraising: 

• $248,000 raised by Port Cares for 17 /18 
• United Way Grant $58K for 18/19 

455



MISSION 
To help those in the 

community with 
social' and e·conomic 
needs improvetheir 

l ~ .' " 

qua:Mty of IJfe 

v 
Port Cc 
providE 

' opport.1 
-<;,omrr 

th 

456



he 
1 

• n1c 
• e1r 

151 
Port Cares inspires and 
provides help, hope and 
Opportunity for all in our 

community to achieve 
"" '< • j 

. . 

the.i r poteritia·I 

01 
• We p 

·We a 

·We t 1 

• We"' 

457



I 
;and 

~and 

n our 
• 1eve 

OUR VALUES 
• We provide help without judgement 

• We are all accountable to one another 

• We treat everyone with respect 

• We work collaboratively together 

458



Who Port Cares 
Serves 

EVERYONE including ... 

Infants. to Seni·ors 

Very Ri.ch to the Very Poor 
v ~ .. - .. ~ . 

Job Seekers to .- Empf oyers 

Teachers. to Students 

459



460



461



PREVENTIONAL 
SERVICES PROVl:DED@ VEAR 

• Assist 1, 100+ people @yr with job search 
• Assist 568 people @yr with intensive one-on-one counselling 

for job search 
• Provide a half million dollars to LPCA~ ~ml?.l.9¥ers for ~iring 
. , incentives and job placements 
• Assisted approx. 1 OQ ernployers with recruitment 
• Assist @yr 97 Youth age 15 to 29 indepth skills & employment-
• Assist 108+ people with literacy (reading/ digital /math) 
• 14,000 child visits/ 9,000 parent /caregiver visits @yr 
• Provide diversion/restorative: justice to 70 youth ages 12 to 17 

years who commit old low risk crimes and the victims of the 
commited crimes 

462



INTERVENTION SERVICES 
P-ROVIOED @YEAR 

• 11,500 hot meals served ~t dining room 
• 1,200 individuals registered at Food Bank - 1/3 cihildren 
• Support 600+ food bank visits monthly 
• Distribute 17,000 lbs @month /220~900 lbs @year of"fQQrJ .' 
• Provide 12,ooo·lunches for school aged children/ school 'yr 
• Homelessness Prevention: Assist 100 people on wait list for 

housing - SO individuals receiving housing support 
• Homelessness Prevention: 45 'households trustee Sl:JPl~fort 
• Administer $500,000+ in trustee funds to pay trustee rents & 

utilities to keep from becoming homeless 
• Completed 200+ tax filings free for low income clients 
• Serve 350 ~h.il~ren through Christmas Give a Gift 
• Serve 105 children & adults @Christmas Adopt A Family 

463



P,ort Colborne . . . : ~ 

Census Data: 2016 

Port Colborne C.ompareq to Niagara and Ontario 
(2016) 

·<Education_ - 54% have Grade 12 or ~~SS 
:. Higher levels of unem_ployment at 5.3% versus 

Region at 4.So/o . 
• Highest proporti0n of population· not engaged 

in the workforce 44% 

464



CHALLENGES'&, e ·ARRIERS 
~ ·. "'; . .. 

Port· Colbor.ne -include: 

• Sa.fe, Affor-ciabl~ - Housing 
,, 

• Train_i ·ri~r & Empl·~.yrrte_nt Opportu:niti;es 
for·Youtth · · 

• Ac:c:e.ssil:ll.e. Puqlr.c Tra,risportation 
• .. M'e.nta:l .. H_e.alth. ·S·µ .~p.-p.orts & s·ervice.s 
• Services for at ri·sk pregnant women 

f.~· 

465



Looking to th.e Future 

Opportunity to WO.RK TQG,ETME·R with 
the City· and othe~ com·mun··ity partners 

~ • •• r ., 

as a collecti:ve force to deve..lo.p~ MORE 
collaborative, ~omrriu~rn.1icy based 
respenses to complex social issu.es 
i .ncludin.~ affordable hoy~~,i._ng, ,youth 
tra·i·ning ~-.edu.:cation 

I.e., PortALL - multi-age_ncy 
iliitiatiVe,with NiaQara Regional 
Police to identify and respond to 
at risk community members. 

466



1ildren 

1ffood 
;chool yr 
: list for 
rt 
.up port 
ee rents & 

:nts 

amily 

"Alone we can do so ·little; -
Together we can .do so much." 

Helen Keller 

467



....__.., 

Po,tC:O,.,..Jocioy 

~, ..... _ 
C-11ti.OH~ lll"' 

:::.l'"'"'' .................... -,-._ 

....... - ··--"· 
~::;~~--.. , .......... 

\\;.~~--· .. ~·-·-~---

"" 

!1-

-- ' 

Port Colborne & Port Cares 
Towards Help, H ope & Opportunity 

l980s . . 
~ 

Porte ares 
.......... ., . , :-. ..... d .... .. ..... . .. .-..... , ..... " 

~ ... ..... -"""•-• ........ .. 
""'°"'"1 .. , ...... ~i,;:;1..,. • ..-..:.1:1o 

G..•••· r~,;.:::~u;, ,';:~ ....... ., .. 
, , ._.. • "<f oJ ~••l..,. •11",.:lWI;~ 

iii
:oV"'1> '"''1 i ! "-~ ."1:' 1•rif.;.,- .. •1•-..••..., 

l.,; p.J l· •····· ~· • tl.-<" ~ .. 
ol t f'lh.AH>'Jlo'nt 

• t"fob . ,_ t '\K'- >-.."11 i<)r"P4'0U--..1lltn-fl 

. .... 1;1oioo4 1.>• 

Wh0Pc»t<a1n 
S.,.,n 

CMAWN&(S • 1.Ullltts 
l'a11.C.U.<1.tr.c~ ..: 

N+:><lo hl t t .... .,t 

·:~ .. · ··•• l'J ........ ~.-....... .,.., 
• .. ~c.~~ll¥Unfllb:11 

. ......... 1,,. ..... ~··--
· Wf••r. • ... "4t .. l flol•"~·oe'foy ..... 

: ::;:.:.~= .. :.:.~~:. .... . u.,_ ..... ........... ~ ...... , ........ ~ .. -

Hmv We Provide Sc1v1tu 

Olo;,_O-f<l .. lfO• ftlC.l'Tl!U -. ... :., ........... , ......... ~·"""'· 

~ --~'""' \>'•"'""".>ti 
::=.:~.;::::::~ .. :.. 
~-=~::~-:.-:::"°•'"I ~I 

.. ....... u. ... ~·~""-.~, .. .. .... .... ,," .. >-"" ' .., ...... 

. ........ "'~··"'• .....C •dU. 
" "'-' '"_ ... ,, .. -....,. 

MISSION 
11111,:-Jp l h ·:l~ t" l't ?l l .. 

\.O!nlnU!ltl )I W •U I 

::.0<:11.d \.Ind t:CUiiJtn1c: 

nc~d!i- Hfl l>tOvt: th c::lt 

qua Ii Ly al hit.• 

VISION 

PRE\'El'<TIONAl 
SUVlCES PflOV!OED @I VEAR 

. .... . , , __ ,_,,,. ...... ,tlll - -

'"°"" ............... -1·~, ... ~p., .,.., ... ,_WIOI , ......... .,. 
ll'IHM~ 1'0W_,_..,,.,. »umu _.,_,. .. ... ,.w.,i 
~-.. • ... 111•·1~11 . ...,.._,"'" .. ...... .,..,...._,_ 
..., ~ . .,...., '""'"'""'- ""'..,""'-"10. .,.....,,.__, 

·-· - l.'l l ........ . .tt1J ........ ~ • .,i J l)•~l......u+ 
• ,._( .. 0J-..Ul1ilu.l ... •l'fll';.o•tv- - .... 
· ·~- ..... ,_ .. _ .......... .,..,.... .. ..,.,1.1• 
.::;!t.":·~:::' " ' 1 b- .,~o...-otSt..aac.OU111o\t111>r 

OUR VALUES . .............. , ' .. ,.. .... . 

INTERVENTION SERVICES 
PROVIDED !§>VEAR 

11..wa; ,.. _ _. .. , ... ..,,_ 

1,•-~,....-·.,,_._..,,n ,.,,_ 
·-·UD> ~-··h-lri1 c.w .... .- n-.- ... ,. _ _. ,u.. ...... ,_ J .... 

.1-...w.•~--""'--· .... -~, ... -.,. 
~-~--._.,~,.,,,., l llltfl'"N •• e--~i...+ ..... f'l• ·•• .......... ,.._,,..,....le ...... 
1i..o.1i.-- · ~ h"" ... ., .... ~ ..-.....~-..,, . - ... ,...--·1 .... uu,, ,.,. ...... i:w, 1t1l'l1tt•• ••t '-
ws:t1 .. i. uot1 1"•"-"'?""""' ... ' 

• C,t.i• t>.tlt .. -i.,..,... lf!o .. ,, .. ~ .... 11 .... "(ttl~ 
w.... u.....i- 1111.....,n1ho.u- Q••'"" 

• k'f>t1ef0 .. - ........ ll .. . U'l<c.!Nf "'""11 " hn...1t 
' ' ~·~ ... ~-.. · ~ . ~~: .. . : 

'! ;~; ·::,- ··~·~· ' ~;. - _·~ 
~ . '. . "' ') •· .-.. . . ~ . Ii ,,. •• - ..::~-=""" ::;.r 

• ' , ,,.. -:. -· h ··-"1. -
r . t -• ,-'J-_~ 

•Alone we con do so little; 
Together we CQn do so much: 

Helen Keller 

468



PORT COLBORNE 
Mayor's Report to the 

April 9, 2018 Council Meeting 

Humboldt Broncos Hockey Team Accident 

I would like to express our sincere sympathies to the family and friends of the players 
and team personnel of the Humboldt Broncos who lost their lives in a tragic accident 
this past weekend. Please keep them in your thoughts. 

Port Cares Soupfest 

Port Cares will be holding their annual Soupfest on Thursday April 12th at the Italian 
Hall. This is always a great event so come out and support this worthwhile cause. 

Cannabis Report 

At the Public Health Committee meeting at the Region last week, a report concerning 
the legalization of Cannabis was presented. A recommendation was passed asking that 
the Regional Chair BE DIRECTED to write to the Minister of Health & LongTerm Care, 
the Chief Medical Officer of Health, the Assistant Deputy Minister of Population and 
Public Health Division and local MPPs asking for additional details on enforcement, on 
resources and on Public Health's role in cannabis legalization, emphasizing that any 
new Public Health role should be associated with commensurate funding; and that staff 
BE DIRECTED to bring back a further report regarding Niagara Region Public Health & 
Emergency Services's (NRPH) response to cannabis legalization in the 4th quarter of 
2018. 

A full copy of the report and the accompanying presentation can be found on the 
Niagara Region website. 

Upcoming Council and Committee of the Whole Meetings 

The will be an additional Council meeting this month to consider the Water Budget. It 
will be held on Monday, April 15th starting at 6:30 p.m. 

On Friday, April 20th starting at 5:30 p.m ., there will be a Committee of the Whole 
meeting to discuss our Strategic Plan. 

The meeting will continue on Saturday, April 21st at 8:30 a.m. here in the council 
chambers. 

During the month of May, there will only be one meeting on Monday May 14th. We have 
cancelled the May 28th Committee of the Whole and Council meetings due to Elections 
Ontario's Advance Poll for the upcoming Provincial Election which will be held here in 
the council chambers on Monday, May 28th. 

469



470



From: 
To: 

Cc: 
Date: 
Subject: 

Barbara Butters/Port_Notes 
"Ronald Smith" < ••••••• >, Amber LaPointe/Port_Notes @port_notes, Scott 
Luey/Port_Notes@port_notes, John Maloney/Port_Notes @port_notes 
barabarabutters @portcolborne.ca, ronbodner@portcolbofne.ca 
2018-04-02 10:20 AM 
Re: An open letter to city hall chambers at the next council meeting time unique to Passive 
Recreational Flooding and or Asphalt Plants or what ever else is thrown into the mix 

I will send your letter to clerks office and request it be included to all councillors in next meeting 
and i will read it out . Thanks Ronnie 

Sent from my iPad 
Working smoke and carbon monoxide alarms saves lives 
FIRE KILLS 

Thanks for your time, enjoy the day .its the only one we have . 

Barbara Butters, councillor Ward 4 
Port Colbome , Ontario 

On Apr 2, 2018 , at 9:43 AM, Ronald Smith > wrote: 

I am asking you . Councillor Butters to read this open 
letter to council/staff in chambers at the next meeting 
unique to this issue ...... To Your Worship Mayor 
Maloney,City staff, Municipal Councillors, and Regional 
Councillor You are embarking on another complex 
situation, Recreational Passive Lakes Flooding coupled 
with potential aggregate plants in a quarry. I ask you all to 
remember the issues of the past .... Pot Grow Opp at Pince 
Crest ... You all know that residential concerns abound, 
stating clearly ramifications of approving that business 
endeavour . You all know that capitulation prevailed over 
residential concerns and approval was voted in spite of the 
input warnings and concerns. . As you all must agree, 
via hindsight that logic did not prevail at that time 
ultimately leading to questionable activity and closure of 

471



that operation. Now you again are confronted not only 

with residential concerns within the area of Port 

Col borne, but rather the whole entire Niagara area 

municipalities that relies on ground water and related 

protection . As a taxpaying resident and one that has a 

fresh water well on my property within ward 4 of Port 

Col borne, I am asking you all to remember the Pine Crest 

Grow Opp approvals, such to be a renewed awareness of 

your responsibilities to the environment, the water 

courses and aquifer protection and the population via all 

environmental concerns, that all tribunals, be they 

Regionals, Conservation, Municipal ,Provincial and remise 

not to even add Federal to be all in one approval accord 

only after reviewing all the facts and concerns before any 

go ahead is provided, including any immunity to time 

frame pressures. There is an old saying of Benjamin 

Franklin ... That insanity is doing the same thing over and 

over gain expecting a different result. Thank you for your 

time 

I am Ronald Smith 734 Empire Road,Sherkston, 
Ontario Canada los 1r0 email 

472



From: 
To: 
Cc: 

Date: 
Subject: 

Krystle Caputo <kcaputo@npca.ca> 
"mayor@portcolborne.ca" <mayor@portcolborne.ca> 
"daveelliott@portcolborne.ca" <daveelliott@portcolborne.ca>, "yvondoucet@portcolbome.ca" 
<yvo ndoucet@portco Ibo rne. ca>, "a ng ied esm arai s@portcol borne .ca" 
<angiedesmarais@portcolborne.ca>, "frankdanch@portcolborne.ca" 
<fran kdanch@portcolborne.ca>, "johnmayne@portcolborne.ca" <johnmayne@portcolborne.ca>, 
"beakenny@portcolborne.ca" <beakenny@portcolborne.ca>, "ronbodner@portcolborne.ca" 
<ron bodner@portcolborne.ca>, "barbarabutters@portcolborne.ca" 
<barbarabutters@portcolborne.ca>, "david . barrick@niagararegion .ca" 
<david .barrick@niagararegion.ca>, "amberlapointe@portcolborne.ca" 
<amberlapointe@portcolborne.ca>, "Kevin Vallier" <kevin@niagaraindependent.ca>, Scott Rosts 
<SRosts@niagarathisweek.com>, David Burket <pelhamvoicepu blisher@gmail.com> 
2018-04-09 04:08 PM 
Port Colborne Council Meeting and NPCA Correspondence April 9 2018 

Hello Mayor, and Council of Port Colbome, 

Attached please NPCA's comments regarding a motion being put forward to you this evening. Also 
attached, for your information, is an explanation of how the NPCA Board of Directors is populated. 

Please let me know if you have any questions . 

Kind regards, 
Kryslte 

Krystle Caputo 
Communications Specialist 

250 Thorold Road West 
Welland, Ontario L3C 3W2 
905.788.3135 
npca.ca 
kcaputo@npca.ca 

The information contained in this communication, including any attachment(s), maybe 
CONFIDENTIAL, is intended only for the use of the recipient(s) named above, and may be 
legally PRIVILEGED. If the reader ofthis message is not the intended recipient, you are hereby 
notified that any dissemination, distribution, disclosure or copying of this communication, or any 
of its contents, is STRICTLY PROHIBITED. If you have received this communication in error, 
please notify the sender and pemrnnently delete the original and any copy from your computer 
system. Thank-you. Niagara Peninsula Conservation Authority. 

9 2018.pdf 
Directors.pdf 

-,.: 
NPCA Board Appointment Information Port Colbome April 

Selection of Members to the NPCA Board of 

473



NIAGARA PENINSULA 

CONSERVATION 
AUT HORITY 

RE: Board of Director Appointment at Niagara Peninsula Conservation Authority 

April 9, 2018 

Dear Port Colborne Mayor and Council, 

In advance of the motion you will be considering tonight regarding Niagara Peninsula 
Conservation Authority (NPCA), and in the spirit of full transparency and accountability, 
please find following information as to how Board Members are appointed to the NPCA 
Board of Directors. There is also a document attached (Selection of Members to the NPCA 
Board of Directors.pdf), taken directly from our website, for additional reference. It is 
important for us to ensure that you are making an informed decision based on fact, as there 
seems to be confusion around municipal jurisdiction concerning this matter. 

Please also be aware that in its continued efforts to remain transparent and accountable, NPCA 
launched npcadiaolgue.ca, where it publishes third party independent reviews of the organization as 
well as provides equal access to documents of public interest. 

It is very disconcerting that the motion states that NPCA does not respect its mandate. It should be 
incumbent upon Councillor Butters to provide evidence to support this statement; NPCA exists, and 
is dedicated to serving its mandate as it is prescribed by the Conservation Authorities Act. 

The Conservation Authorities Act was recently amended by the passing ofBill 139, Building Better 
Communities and Conserving Watersheds Act, 2017, which received Royal Assent 12 December 
2017. This Act is the result of over two years of public consultation and debate in both the Ontario 
Legislature and Committee for Social Policy, all of which resulted in favour of maintaining the current 
appointment process. Please review the highlighted portion below outlining the appointment 
process. It should also be noted that the Association of Municipalities of Ontario (AMO) also 
supported continuing to use the current governance model for all Conservation Authorities. 

Every Niagara MPP supported Bill 139 (page 5). 

Upper-tier municipalities 
Regional municipalities to act in place of local municipalities 
4 (1) An upper-tier municipality that was established as a regional municipality before the 
day subsection 6 (1) of Schedule 4 to the Building Better Communities and Conserving 
Watersheds Act, 2017 comes into force, 

(a) shall act in the place of the local municipalities within the regional 
municipality for the purpose of appointing representatives to attend a 
meeting for the establishment or enlargement of a conservation authority or 
the amalgamation of conservation authorities and for the purpose may 
appoint representatives in the numbers to which the local municipalities 
would otherwise have been entitled; and 

(b) shall be a participating municipality in the place of such of the local 
municipalities within the regional municipality as are wholly or partly 
within the area under the jurisd iction of a conservatio n authority and shall 

250 Thorold Road West 3· Floor 
Welland, Ontario LJC 3W2 
905-788-3135 
info@npca.ca 

1 

474



N IAGARA PENINSULA 

CONSERVATION 
A UTHORITY 

appoint to each such authority the number of members to which the local 
municipalities would otherwise have been entitled as participating 
municipalities. R.S.0.1990, c. C.27, s. 4 (1); 2017, c. 23, Sched. 4, s. 6 (1). 

The following quotes should also help provide further information and context: 

Bill 139: Second Reading- OLA: September 11, 2017 

Hon. Kathryn McGarry (Minister of Natural Resources and Forestry): 
"The Conservation Authorities Act details the structure, powers, funding and general 
operations of a conservation authority. Each conservation authority is established as a 
corporate body governed by a board of directors. The act lays out the composition of the 
board, which is comprised of municipal appointees who must comply with the legislative 
requirements and be directly accountable to the municipality that they represent." 

MPP Norm Miller: 
"It is municipalities that appoint members to the board of the conservation authority, so if 
residents don't like how things are being run or the fees that are being charged, they should 
hold their municipal councillors and mayor to account for that." 

"Generally, municipal councillors are appointed to sit on conservation authority boards, but 
what if none of the municipal councillors have the qualifications that the minister has 
stipulated? Th ese are democratically elected representatives of the municipality. Who better to 
represent the municipality and residents on the conservation authority? Elected councillors 
are the easiest people for residents to hold to account for the conservation authority's 
actions." 

"You can kind of elect anybody you want in a public election, and that's what democracy is all 
about. That's the way it should be. Now we're going to go back and say, "But you can 't appoint 
that person to a board," despite the local municipality paying the bulk of the fees. We're very 
concerned about that." 

"Does this Liberal government not trust the municipalities to appoint the right people? Are 
they standing up and suggesting that they know better than the local people who have lived in 
that community all of their lives-those people who have actually stepped up and said, "/want 
to serve in a volunteer capacity on these boards," who are locally elected, democratically 
elected officials, who have given their time, energy and public service for the betterment of 
their community? And yet, they're challenging them and saying, "You're not necessarily the 
person we think is best to sit on that board. " Mr. Speaker, I really, really struggle with that." 

250 Thorold Road West 3 .. Floor 
Welland, Ontario L3C 3W2 
905-788-3135 
info @npca.ca 

2 

475



NIAGAR A PENINSULA 

CONSERVATION 
A UTHORITY 

Bill 139: Third Reading- OLA: November 23, 2017 

Hon. Kathryn McGarry (Minister of Natural Resources and Forestry): 
''I'd like to remind you of some of the main features of this proposed legislation. If passed, this 
legislation would provide the framework for stronger oversight and accountability in 
conservation authority decision-making. This would be achieved by updating appointment 
processes and requirements and conservation authority governance practices, enabling the 
Ministry of Natural Resources and Forestry to conduct program and operational reviews and 
confirming expectations for conservation authority restructuring decisions. The legislation 
would also provide the framework for increased clarity and consistency in conservation 
authority programs and services. This would be accomplished by clarifying the role of 
conservation authorities and expectations for provincially mandated programs and services; 
municipally assigned programs; and programs and services specific to watersheds." 

"Should this bill be passed by the Legislature, some key changes would come into effect 
immediately, including a new purpose statement clarifying the role of conservation authorities 
and resource management. It would include enhanced authority for municipalities to appoint 
members and the ability for my ministry to conduct program and operational reviews." 

Bill 139: Third Reading - OLA: November 29, 2017 

MPP Ernie Hardeman: 
"During a presentation to committee, AMO president Lynn Dollin said, "Part IV, section 12 of 
the bill states that municipal councils continue to have the authority to appoint conservation 
authority board members. This makes sense. Municipal councillors are representative of all 
walks of life in an area, and it is the council that pays the greatest proportion of the 
conservation authority's funding." 

Bill 139: Third Reading - OLA: December 5, 2017 

MPP Jim Wilson: 
"Municipalities, as you know, Mr. Speaker, cover the majority of the costs, and therefore should 
have the ability to appoint councillors to the board. She believes, and I believe, that if there are 
changes-and there are going to be changes; this is third reading, and we support the bill, and 
I certainly support conservation authorities-the makeup of the boards may be very much 
different in the future, because the cabinet of the day will be able to dictate who sits on those 
boards. We're so used to having our local councillors sit on those boards and represent us." 

250 Thorold Road West }• Floor 
Welland, Ontario LJC 3W2 
905-788-3135 
in fo@npca.ca 

3 

476



NIAGARA PENINSULA 

~-«\ £g~~~RVATION 

I hope that the above provides clarity. Should there be the need for further clarification, 
please do not hesitate to reach out. The NPCA is very much looking forward to an open 
dialogue and to bridging the gap of understanding on issues such as this one. 

Sincerely, 

Krystle Caputo 
Communications Specialist 

250 Thorold Road West 
Welland, Ontario L3C 3W2 
289.241.5190 
n_pca.ca 
kcaRuto@ngca.ca 

250 Thorold Road West 3 .. Floor 
Welland , Ontario L3C 3W2 
905-788-3135 
info@ npca.ca 

4 

477



NIAGARA PEN INSULA 

CONSERVATION 
AUTHORITY 

Third Reading of Bill 139, An Act to enact the Local 

Planning Appeal Tribunal Act, 2017 and the Local 
Planning Appeal Support Centre Act, 2017 and to 
amend the Planning Act, the Conservation Authorities 
Act and various other Acts. 

Carried on the following division:-

Troisieme lecture du projet de Joi 139, Loi edictant la Loi 
de 2017 sur le Tribunal d'appel de l'amenagement local 

et la Loi de 2017 sur le Centre d'assistance pour !es 
appels en matiere d'amenagement local et modifiant la 
Loi sur l'amenagement du territoire, la Loi sur les offices 
de protection de la nature et diverses au1res lois. 

Adoptee par le vote suivant :-

AYES I POUR - 86 

Anderson Des Rosiers 

Armstrong Dhillon 

Arnott Dickson 

Bailey DiNovo 

Baker Dong 

Ballard Duguid 

Barrett Fedeli 

Berardinelli Fife 

Bisson Flynn 

Bradley Forster 

Brown Fraser 

Chan French 

Chiarelli Gates 

Cho Gelinas 

Clark Gretzky 

Coe Hardeman 

Colle Hatfield 

Coteau Hoggarth 

Crack Horwath 

Damerla Hoskins 

Del Duca Hunter 

Delaney Jaczek 

Maclaren 

The Bill passed. 

The House recessed at 11 :55 a.m. 

250 Thorold Road West J• Floor 
Welland, Ontario LJC 3W2 
905-788-3135 
info@npca.ca 

Jones Nicholls 

Kiwala Oosterhoff 

Lalonde Petta piece 

Leal Potts 

Malhi Qaadri 

Mangat Rinaldi 

Martins Romano 

Martow Sandals 

Matthews Smith 

Mauro Sousa 

Mc Done II Ta buns 

McGarry Taylor 

McMahon Thibeault 

McMeekin Thompson 

McNaughton Vanthof 

Milczyn Vernile 

Miller (Parry Sound- Wilson 

Muskoka) 
Wong 

Moridi 
Wynne 

Naidoo-Harris 
Yakabuski 

Naqvi 
Zimmer 

Natyshak 

NAYS I CONTRE -1 

Le projet de loi est adopte . 

A 11 h 55. la Chambre a suspendu la seance. 

5 

478



N I AG ARA PENIN SULA 

CONSERVATION 
A UTHORITY 

Selection of Members to the NPCA Board of Directors 

The objectives of an authority are to establish and undertake, in the area over which it has jurisdiction, a 
program designed to further the conservation, restoration, development and management of natural 
resources other than gas, oil, coal and minerals . To meet this mandate, the Niagara Peninsula Conservation 
Authority (NPCA) is governed by "Members of Authority" (often refen-ed to as the Board of Directors) as 
per Section 14 of the Conservation Authorities Act. 

For the NPCA, the Board of Directors consists of the following representation from the three 
(3) participating municipalities: 12 Members from the Region of Niagara, 2 Members from the City of 
Hamilton, and 1 Member from Haldimand County. 

The Councils of each of the respective participating municipalities has the responsibility to appoint their 
Members. At the end of the respective appointed terms, the NPCA formally requests each participating 
municipality to appoint their members. 

For Niagara Region, the responsibility of appointing members belongs to their regional council. The past 
practice of the regional council has been to offer a single appointment from each of their twelve local 
municipalities, in the following order: 

1. The appointment is offered to the Regional Councillor or the Mayor of the local municipality: 
a. For St. Catharines, the offer is made to the 6 Regional Councillors and the Mayor. In the 

event there is more than one elected representative that seeks the appointment, the 
regional council will vote on the representative that will be appointed; 

b. For Niagara Falls, the offer is made to the 3 Regional Councillors and the Mayor. In the 
event there is more than one elected representative that seeks the appointment, the 
regional council will vote on the representative that will be appointed; 

c . For Welland, the offer is made to the 2 Regional Councillors and the Mayor. In the event 
there is more than one elected representative that seeks the appointment, the regional 
council will vote on the representative that will be appointed; 

d. For Fort Erie, Grimsby, Lincoln, Niagara-on-the-Lake, Pelham, Port Colbome, and 
Thorold, the offer is made to the Regional Councillor and the Mayor respectively. In the 
event there is more than one elected representative that seeks the appointment, the 
regional council will vote on the representative that will be appointed from each of the 
respective local municipalities; 

e . For Wainfleet and West Lincoln, the offer is respectively made to each Mayor. 
2. If neither a Regional Councillor nor the Mayor seeks the appointment from a respective local 

municipality, the regional council contacts the local municipality for a recommendation. In the 
past, upon being notified of a recommendation by the regional municipality, the local municipality 
has selected an elected member from their council. The local councillor is then recommended to 
the regional council for approval, and the appointment is made. 

3. If no elected member of the local council seeks the appointment, the council selects a citizen 
residing in their local municipality. The citizen is then recommended to the regional council for 
approval, and the appointment is made. 

For the City of Hamilton, it has been the past practice of their city council to advertise NPCA appointments 
on the city's website and local media. Citizens apply for the appointment via an application form. If more 

250 Thorold Road West 3 .. Floor 
Welland, Ontario L3C 3W2 
905-788-3135 
info@npca.ca 

1 

479



NIAGARA PENINSULA 

CONSERVATION 
AUTHORI T Y 

than two citizens apply, the council's selection committee interviews the candidates and makes 
recommendations to city council. Upon receiving the recommendations, city council approves the 
recommendations and the appointment is made. 

For Haldimand County, it has been the past practice of their county council to select an elected 
representative to be appointed. 

Overall, the three participating municipalities make the appointment to the NPCA Board of Directors for a 
4-year term. The term aligns with the municipal elections . 

In the event that a vacancy occurs on the NPCA Board of Directors, the NPCA would immediately notify 
the respective participating municipality. The municipality would then appoint another person to serve the 
remainder of the 4-year term. 

250 Thorold Road West}• Floor 
We lland, Onlario LJC 3W2 
905-788-3135 
info@npca .ca 

2 

480



.·'/7t'\_,, ·Tt[CtGJl9'V '+· -Tf\l~z/J Q,6- [Ou,1'1_.,c,Li_ ·-

Jt1t0rvk ~··~1)_, f6v 1'(2f/vv~Uirur 'fY1-t_ --V> t::f;12£aiz .JJu,a · ~v~h'L0~ 
- ·------------ --------------·--------- ---- - -- - ·----- -------- ---- - ------------ - - ------- - -- ---···--- - ----- -- -- - ... --

481



This page intentionally left blank. 

482



PORT COLBORNE 

City of Port Colborne 
Regular Meeting of Council 10-18 

Monday, April 23, 2018 
following Committee of the Whole Meeting 
Council Chambers, 3rd Floor, 66 Charlotte Street 

Agenda 
1. Call to Order: Mayor John Maloney 

2. Introduction of Addendum Items: 

3. Confirmation of Agenda: 

4. Disclosures of Interest: 

5. Adoption of Minutes: 
(a) Regular meeting of Council 08-18, held on April 9, 2018. 

6. Determination of Items Requiring Separate Discussion: 

7. Approval of Items Not Requiring Separate Discussion: 

8. Consideration of Items Requiring Separate Discussion: 

9. Proclamations: 
(a) National Day of Mourning, April 28, 2018 

10. Minutes of Boards, Commissions & Committees: 
(a) Minutes of the Port Colborne Transit Advisory Committee Meeting of January 24, 

2018 
(b) Minutes of the Public Library Board Meeting of February 13, 2018 

11. Consideration of By-laws: 

12. Adjournment: 

483



Council Agenda April 23, 2018 

Council Items: 

Notes Item Descript ion I Recommendation 

JDM BB RB 1. Motion (Councillor 8. Kenny) Re: Provision of Grants to 

AD FD 
Community Grou~s 

YD 

DE BK JM 
That the motion approved at the Council meeting of November 23, 
2015 in respect of Community and Corporate Services, Report No. 
2015-212 regarding the provision of grants to community groups be 
reconsidered. 

Note: If the reconsideration is passed the following motion will 
be immediately placed on the floor: 

That an amount equal to the initial amount invested in 
Niagara Regional Broadband Network (NRBN), namely 
$775,000, from the proceeds of the disposition of the NRBN 
shares be placed in an interest bearing account and the 
interest earned each year be used to provide grants to 
community groups in 2017 and each subsequent year to a 
maximum of $30,000.00. 

JDM BB RB 2. Community and Economic Development, Economic Development 
Division, Report No. 2018-57, Subject: Economic Development 

AD FD YD Strategic Plan: 2018-2022 

DE BK JM That, in accordance with the recommendation of the Economic 
Development Advisory Committee, the Port Colborne Economic 
Development Strategic Plan 2018-2022, prepared by MOB Insight, be 
approved ; and 

That the goals and initiatives identified in the Economic Development 
Strategic Plan 2018-2022 , be included in Council 's future strategic 
planning processes and budget deliberations. 

484



Council Agenda April 23, 2018 

JDM BB RB 3. Planning and Development, Planning Division, Report No. 2018-

AD FD YD 
50, Subject: Supplemental Recommendation Report - Proposed 
New Com12rehensive Zoning B~-law 

DE BK JM That By-law 1150/97/81, being the existing Zoning By-law and any 
and all amendments thereto , be rescinded and repealed ; 

That the draft by-law approving the draft Comprehensive Zoning By-
law attached to Planning and Development Department, Planning 
Division Report 2018-50 as Appendix A, be approved ; 

That pursuant to the provisions of Section 34(17) of the Planning Act, 
no further notice of public meeting be required; 

That pursuant to Section 34(10.0.0.2) of the Planning Act, 
applications for an amendment to the by-law are allowed before the 
second anniversary of the day on which the Council approves the 
Comprehensive Zoning By-law. 

That an interim Control By-law, attached to Planning and Development 
Department, Planning Division Report 2018-50 as Appendix C, be 
approved pursuant to Section 38 of the Planning Act, for a period of up 
to one year for those lands proposed to be zoned Mineral Aggregate 
Operation to control the use of lands until proper study and policy 
review has been completed . 

JDM BB RB 4. Fire and Emergency Services Department, Report No. 2018-48, 

AD FD YD 
Subject: Fire Margue Indemnification Technolog~® 

DE BK JM 
That entering into an agreement with Fire Marque be approved; and 

That the Mayor and City Clerk be authorized to execute the agreement 
with Fire Marque; and 

That the City's fee schedule be amended incorporating the 
appropriate fees as per the agreement with Fire Marque. 

JDM BB RB 5. Corporate Services, Clerk's Division, Report No. 2018-58, 

AD FD YD 
Subject: Use of Cor12orate Resources for Election Pur12oses 

DE BK JM 
That the Use of Corporate Resources for Election Purposes policy, 
attached as Appendix A to report Corporate Services Department, 
Clerk's Division Report 2018-58, be approved. 

485



Council Agenda April 23, 2018 

JDM BB RB 6. Corporate Services, Finance Division, Report No. 2018-41 , 

AD FD YD 
Subject: Cancellation 2 Reduction or Refund of Realt~ Tax 

DE BK JM 
That the applications pursuant to Section 357/358 of the Municipal 
Act, 2001, as amended, numbered 2015-39, 2017-50, 2017-51,2017-
49 and 2016-49 be approved to cancel or reduce taxes in the total 
amount of $8,230.59, in which $3,957.20 is the municipal portion. 

JDM BB RB 7. Corporate Services, Finance Division, Report No. 2018-53, 
Subject: Ontario's Main Street Revitalization Initiative Municipal 

AD FD YD Funding Agreement 

DE BK JM That the Mayor, City Clerk and City Treasurer be authorized to 
execute the Funding Agreement with the Association of Municipalities 
of Ontario for the use of Ontario's Main Street Revitalization Initiative 
funds from the Province of Ontario; and 

That the appropriate by-law be executed by the Mayor and City Clerk. 

JDM BB RB 8. Community and Economic Development, Parks and Recreation 
Division, Report No. 2018-51, Subject: Port Colborne Cruiser's 

AD FD YD Association - 2018 Cruise Nights 

DE BK JM That the road closures necessary for the 2018 Downtown Cruise Night 
event on recurring Thursday evenings, from May 17, 2018 to 
September 27, 2018, as requested by the Port Colborne Downtown 
Cruiser's Association , (PCDCA) and outlined in Community and 
Economic Development, Parks and Recreation Division Report No; 
2018-51, be approved; 

That the following roads be closed to general vehicular traffic and 
parking from 5:00 p.m. to 9:00 p.m., each Thursday from May 17, 2018 
to September 27, 2018: 

• Market Square; 

• Clarence Street, from eastern limit of the western driveway of 
the Food Basics parking lot, to the western limit of Catharine 
Street; 

• Clarence Street, from the eastern limit of Catharine Street to the 
western limit of King Street; 

• Clarence Street, from the eastern limit of King Street to the 
western limit of West Street; 

That Market Square be closed to vehicular traffic on May 17, June 8, 
June 15, July 13, and September 21, 2018 from 1 :00 p.m. to 5:00 p.m. , 
with the exception of the western access laneway, to be used as an 
ingress and egress to the CIBC Bank; 

486



Council Agenda April 23, 2018 

That emergency service vehicles, including ambulance, police and fire, 
as well as public works and public utility vehicles, be exempt from the 
above noted closures; 

That members, qualified participants, and participants of the PCDCA, 
be exempt from the above noted closures, through the issuance of an 
authorized permit; 

That traffic barricades be supplied by Public Works staff every 
Thursday, from May 17, 2018 to September 27, 2018, and delivered 
before the end of the regular work day at the predetermined locations 
requiring barricades; 

That PCDCA volunteers be responsible for installing appropriate 
signage at each intersection, stating "Cruise Night Clarence Street 
Temporarily Closed - 5:00 to 9:00 p.m.", including Market Square, for 
the duration of the event; 

That PCDCA volunteers be responsible for ensuring road closure 
barricades are promptly removed and returned to the pick-up points at 
the end of the event each week; 

That the PCDCA be required to file a Certificate of Insurance, naming 
the City as an additional insured, in the amount of $2,000,000, prior to 
the event; 

That the fee for a Noise By-law Exemption application, to be submitted 
to the By-law Enforcement Division, be waived; and 

That the appropriate by-law be presented for approval. 

JDM BB RB 9. Community and Economic Development, Parks and Recreation 
Division, Report No. 2018-54, Subject: 2018 Moonlight Flicks at 

AD FD YD H.H. Knoll Lakeview Park 

DE BK JM That the Moonlight Flicks event, to be held on Wednesday July 4, 11, 
18, 25 and August 22 and 29, 2018, be supported; 

That fees for the application for a Noise By-law Exemption, to be filed 
with the By-law Enforcement Division, be waived; 

That an exemption from Section 4 (Prohibited Hours of Entrance) to 
By-law 5503/100/10, Being a By-law to Manage and Regulate 
Municipal Parks, be approved; 

487



Council Agenda April 23, 2018 

That use of the restrooms until 12:00 a.m. at the H.H. Knoll Lakeview 
Park Bandshell, be approved; 

That Moonlight Flicks be required to file a Certificate of Insurance, 
naming the City as an additional insured, in the amount of 
$2,000,000, prior to the event; 

That the City's park permit, hydro, and waste receptacle fees, be 
waived. 

JDM BB RB 10. Community and Economic Development, Parks and Recreation 
Division, Report No. 2018-56, Subject: 2018 Heart & Stroke Big 

AD FD YD Bike Cam~aign 

DE BK JM That the 2018 Heart & Stroke Big Bike Event, to be held on May 16, 
2018, be approved; 

That the Niagara Region Heart & Stroke Foundation be responsible 
for coordinating emergency services support; and 

That the Niagara Region Heart & Stroke Foundation be required to file 
a Certificate of Insurance, naming the City as an additional insured, in 
the amount of $2,000,000, prior to the event. 

JDM BB RB 11. Community and Economic Development, Parks and Recreation 

AD FD YD 
Division, Report No. 2018-55, Subject: City Wide Parks Grass-
Cutting Tender 2018-04 

DE BK JM That contract 2015-09, for the supply of parks grass-cutting services, 
with Snips Landscaping and Nursery, be extended for one year 
(2018), in accordance with the terms of the existing contract; and 

That the appropriate by-law be presented for approval. 

JDM BB RB 12. Planning and Development, By-law Enforcement Division, Report 

AD FD YD 
No. 2018-46 Pro~osed Lot Maintenance By-law 2018 

DE BK JM 
That the proposed Lot Maintenance By-law, attached to Planning and 
Development Department, Planning Division Report No. 2018-46, be 
approved as presented. 

488



Council Agenda April 23, 2018 

Miscellaneous Correspondence 

JDM BB RB 13. Niagara Regional Labour Council Re: Request for Proclamation 
of National Day of Morning 2 A~ril 28 2 2018 

AD FD YD 

DE BK JM 
That April 28, 2018 be proclaimed as "National Day of Mourning" in 
the City of Port Colborne in accordance with the request received 
from Lou Ann Binning, President, Niagara Regional Labour Council. 

That the request for all flags to be flown at Half-Mast at City Hall on 
April 28th, 2018 be referred to the Mayor's Office. 

JDM BB RB 14. The New Humberstone Speedway, 1716 Highway 3 East, Port 

AD FD YD 
Colborne Re: Request Permission to Hold Fireworks Display 
Events for 2018 

DE BK JM That pursuant to Section 6.1.1 of By-law 4989/45/07, the Council of 
The Corporation of the City of Port Colborne authorizes the New 
Humberstone Speedway to hold Display Fireworks Events between 
the hours of 9:30 p.m. and 10:30 p.m. on the following dates: 

• May 2Qth, 2018 

• July 1st, 2018 

• August 5th, 2018 

• August 25th, 2018 

• September 2nd, 2018 

• September 9th, 2018 

That such approval be conditional on the issuance of a permit by the 
Fire Chief, in compliance with By-law 4989/45/07 and payment of the 
applicable fees; 

That the following information be submitted to the Port Colborne Fire & 
Emergency Services a minimum of two weeks prior to the holding of 
the first event; 

• A fireworks site plan including but not limited to , separation 
distances to the public and vulnerable areas, location from 
where the fireworks are being fired, fallout zone, and direction 
of firing; 

• Event description information is required including description of 
fireworks, type, size and quantity; 

- firing procedures, manual or electric 
- emergency procedures 
- traffic control plans 

489



Council Agenda April 23, 2018 

• Require a copy of the Fireworks Operator Certificate with 
Endorsements; 

That the New Humberstone Speedway be advised that, as the 
Authority Having Jurisdiction, Port Colborne Fire & Emergency 
Services will conduct spot site inspections and may revoke approval 
for any violation of the Ontario Fire Code or the Explosives Act prior 
to or during any one of the scheduled events. 

JDM BB RB 15. Memorandum from Janice Peyton, Executive Assistant, DEO Re: 
Environmental Advisory Committee - Motion Regarding Delayed 

AD FD YD Roadside Mowing 

DE BK JM That the memorandum from Janice Peyton, Executive Assistant to the 
Director of Engineering and Operations, on behalf of the 
Environmental Advisory Committee Re: Environmental Advisory 
Committee - Motion Regarding Delayed Roadside Mowing, be 
received for information. 

JDM BB RB 16. Richard Rybiak, Chair, Niagara Central Airport Commission Re: 

AD FD YD 
First Quarter Report 2018 for the Niagara Central Dorothy 
Rungeling AirQort 

DE BK JM That the correspondence received from Richard Rybiak, Chair, 
Niagara Central Airport Commission Re: First Quarter Report 2018 
for the Niagara Central Dorothy Rungeling Airport, be received for 
information. 

JDM BB RB 17. Region of Niagara Re : 2018 Property Tax Policy, Ratios and 

AD FD YD 
Rates {ReQort CSD 18-2018} 

DE BK JM 
That the correspondence received from the Region of Niagara Re: 
2018 Property Tax Policy, Ratios and Rates, be received for 
information. 

Note: 
A copy of Report CSD 18-2018 and the associated by-laws may be 
found by clicking the following link: 
https://www.niagararegion.ca/government/council/minutes/ 

490



Council Agenda April 23, 2018 

Outside Resolutions - Requests for Endorsement 

JDM BB RB 18. Town of Pelham Re: Appointment Process for Niagara Peninsula 
Conservation Authority 

AD FD YD 

DE BK JM 
That the resolution received from the Town of Pelham Re: 
Appointment Process for Niagara Peninsula Conservation Authority, 
be received for information. 

Note: Council passed similar motions at its meeting of November 30, 2017 
(Request for Provincially Appointed Supervisor) and April 9, 2018 
(Establishing Guidelines for Recruitment). 

JDM BB RB 19. City of Welland Re: Remediation of Abandoned Contaminated 
Pro1:2erties 

AD FD YD 

DE BK JM 
That the resolution received from the City of Welland Re: Remediation 
of Abandoned Contaminated Properties, be received for information. 

JDM BB RB 20. Region of Halton Re: Seeking Support on the Court Application 

AD FD YD 
Involving the CN Truck-Rail Develo1:2ment in the Town of Milton 

DE BK JM 
That the resolution received from the Region of Halton Re: Seeking 
Support on the Court Application Involving the CN Truck-Rail 
Development in the Town of Milton, be received for information. 

Responses to City of Port Colborne Resolutions 

Nil. 

491



Council Agenda 

By-law No. 

6571 /26/18 

6572/27/18 

6573/28/18 

6574/29/18 

6575/30/18 

6576/31/18 

6577/32/18 

Consideration of By-laws 
(Council Agenda Item 11) 

Title 

April 23, 2018 

Being a By-law to Authorize the Execution of a Funding Agreement 
Between the Association of Municipalities of Ontario and The 
Corporation of the City of Port Col borne Related to Funding Provided 
by the Province of Ontario to the Municipality under the Ontario's Main 
Street Revitalization Initiative 

Being a By-law to Temporarily Close Section to Various Streets to 
Vehicular Traffic for the Purpose of the Port Col borne Downtown 
Cruise Nights 

Being a By-Law to Authorize Entering Into a Contract Agreement 
Extension with Snips Landscaping and Nursery respecting Contract 
2015-09: Supply of Parks Grass-Cutting Services 

Being a By-law to Provide for the Maintenance of Property and Land 
(Lot Maintenance By-law) and to Repeal By-law 6329/09/16 

Being a By-law to Regulate the Use of Lands and the Character, 
Location and use of Buildings and Structures within the City of Port 
Colborne (Zoning By-law Amendment) 

Being an Interim Control By-law Regarding the Mineral Aggregate 
Operation Zone 

Being a By-law to Adopt, Ratify and Confirm the Proceedings of the 
Council of The Corporation of the City of Port Colborne at its Regular 
Meeting of April 23, 2018 

492



The Corporation of The City Of Port Colborne 

By-law No. _______ _ 

Being a By-law to authorize the execution 
of a funding agreement between 

the Association of Municipalities of Ontario 

and 

The Corporation of the City of Port Colborne 
related to funding provided by the Province of Ontario 

to the municipality under the 
Ontario's Main Street Revitalization Initiative 

Whereas the Council of The Corporation of the City of Port Colborne is desirous 
of authorizing the execution of a funding agreement between the Association of 
Municipalities of Ontario and the City of Port Col borne in order to participate in Ontario's 
Main Street Revitalization Initiative; and 

Whereas The Corporation of the City of Port Colborne acknowledges that funds 
received through the agreement must be invested in an interest bearing reserve account 
until the earliest of expenditure or March 31, 2020; 

Now therefore the Council of The Corporation of the City Of Port Colborne enacts 
as follows: 

1. That The Corporation of the City of Port Colborne authorize the execution of a 
funding agreement between The Association of Municipalities of Ontario and the 
City of Port Colborne in order to participate in Ontario's Main Street Revitalization 
Initiative attached hereto as Schedule "A". 

2. That the Mayor and the City Clerk and the Treasurer (if required) be and each of 
them is hereby authorized and directed to execute the said funding agreement, 
together with any documents necessary to complete the conditions of the said 
agreement for the transfer of Main Street Revitalization Initiatives funds between 
the Association of Municipalities of Ontario and The Corporation of the City of Port 
Colborne as in Schedule "A" attached hereto, and the City Clerk is hereby 
authorized to affix the Corporate Seal thereto. 

Enacted and passed this 23rd day of April, 2018. 

John Maloney 
Mayor 

Amber LaPointe 
City Clerk 

493



This page intention@lly left blank, 

494



A Association ofi 

Municipalities Ontario 

MUNICIPAL FUNDING AGREEMENT 

ONTARIO'S MAIN STREET REVITALIZATION INITIATIVE 

This Agreement made as of 1st day of April, 2018. 

BETWEEN: 

THE ASSOCIATION OF MUNICIPALITIES OF ONTARIO 

(referred to herein as "AMO") 

AND: 

THE CITY OF PORT COLBORNE 

(a municipal corporation pursuant to the Municipal Act, 2001, referred to herein as the 
"Recipient") 

WHEREAS the Province of Ontario is making $26 million available for allocation for the 
purposes of supporting municipal Main Street Revitalization Initiatives in Ontario; 

WHEREAS the Province of Ontario, Ontario municipalities as represented by AMO are 
signatories to Ontario's Main Street Revitalization Initiative Transfer Payment Agreement on 
March 12, 2018 (the "OMAFRA-AMO Agreement''), whereby AMO agreed to administer Main 
Street Revitalization funds made available to all Ontario municipalities, excluding Toronto; 

WHEREAS the OMAFRA-AMO Transfer Payment Agreement contains a framework for the 
transfer of provincial funds to Ontario lower-tier and single-tier municipalities represented by 
AMO; 

WHEREAS the Recipient wishes to enter into this Agreement in order to participate in Ontario's 
Main Street Revitalization Initiative; 

WHEREAS AMO is carrying out the fund administration in accordance with its obligations set 
out in the OMAFRA-AMO Agreement and it will accordingly undertake certain activities and 
require Recipients to undertake activities as set out in this Agreement. 

THEREFORE the Parties agree as follows: 

1. DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION 

1.1 Definitions. When used in this Agreement (including the cover and execution 
pages and all of the schedules}, the following terms shall have the meanings 
ascribed to them below unless the subject matter or context is inconsistent 
therewith: 

200 University Ave Suite 801 
Toronto ON tv15H 3C6 

www.amo.on.ca 
amo@amo.on .ca 

Tel 416 971.9856 
Fa x 416 9716191 

Toll Free in Ontario 
877.426.6527 495



"Agreement" means this Agreement, including the cover and execution pages 
and all of the schedules hereto, and all amendments made hereto in 
accordance with the provisions hereof. 

"Annual Report" means the duly completed report to be prepared and 
delivered to AMO as described in Section 7.2 and Section 2 of Schedule D. 

"Association of Municipalities of Ontario (AMO)" means a legally 
incorporated entity under the Corporations Act, 1990 R.S.O. 1990, Chapter c.38. 

"Communication Report" means the duly completed report to be prepared 
and delivered to AMO as described in Section 7.1 and Section 1 of Schedule D. 

"Community Improvement Plan" has the meaning as defined under section 
28(1) of the Planning Act, R.S.O. 1990, c. P.13. 

"Contract" means an agreement between the Recipient and a Third Party 
whereby the latter agrees to supply a product or service to an Eligible Project in 
return for financial consideration. 

"Effective Date" is April 1, 2018. 

"Eligible Costs" means those expenditures described as eligible in Schedule C. 

"Eligible Projects" means projects as described in Schedule B. 

"Eligible Recipient" means a 

a. Municipality or its agent (including its wholly owned corporation); and 

b. Non-municipal entity, including for profit, non-governmental and not-for 
profit organizations, on the condition that the Municipality(ies) has 
(have) indicated support for the Eligible Project through a formal grant 
agreement between the Municipality and the non-municipal entity. 

"Event of Default" has the meaning given to it in Section 11.1 of this 
Agreement. 

"Funds" mean the Funds made available to the Recipient through the Main 
Street Revitalization Initiative, a program established by the Government of 
Ontario. Funds are made available pursuant to this Agreement and includes any 
interest earned on the said Funds. For greater certainty: (i) Funds transferred to 
another Municipality in accordance with Section 6.2 of this Agreement, other 
than as set out in Sections 7.1 (a}, (c) and (f), are to be treated as Funds by the 
Municipality to which the Funds are transferred and are not to be treated as 
Funds by the Recipient; and (ii) any Funds transferred to a non-municipal entity 
in accordance with Section 6.3 of this Agreement shall remain as Funds under 
this Agreement for all purposes and the Recipient shall continue to be bound by 
all provisions of this Agreement with respect to such transferred Funds. 

"Ineligible Costs" means those expenditures described as ineligible in 
Schedule C. 

2 

496



"Lower-tier Municipality" means a Municipality that forms part of an Upper
tier Municipality for municipal purposes, as defined under the Municipal Act, 
2001 s.o. 2001, c.25. 

"Municipal Fiscal Year" means the period beginning January 1st of a year and 
ending December 31st of the same year. 

"Municipality'' and "Municipalities" means every municipality as defined 
under the Municipal Act, 2001 S.O. 2001 c.25. 

"Municipal Physical Infrastructure" means municipal or regional, publicly or 
privately owned, tangible capital assets primarily for public use or benefit in 
Ontario. 

"Ontario" means Her Majesty in Right of Ontario, as represented by the 
Minister of Agriculture, Food and Rural Affairs. 

"Parties" means AMO and the Recipient. 

"Project Completion Date" means the Recipient must complete its Project 
under this Agreement by March 31, 2020. 

"Recipient" has the meaning given to it on the first page of this Agreement. 

"Results Report" means the report prepared and delivered to AMO by the 
Recipient by which reports on how Funds are supporting progress towards 
achieving the program objective, more specifically described in Section 3 of 
Schedule D. 

"Single-tier Municipality" means a municipality, other than an upper-tier 
municipality, that does not form part of an upper-tier municipality for municipal 
purposes as defined under the Municipal Act, 2001, S.O. 2001 c. 25. 

"Third Party" means any person or legal entity, other than the Parties to this 
Agreement who participates in the implementation of an Eligible Project by 
means of a Contract. 

"Transfer By-law'' means a by-law passed by Council of the Recipient pursuant 
to Section 6.2 and delivered to AMO in accordance with that section. 

"Unspent Funds" means the amount reported as unspent by the Recipient as 
of December 31, as submitted in the Recipient's Annual Report. 

1.2 Interpretations: 

Herein, etc. The words "herein", "hereof' and "hereunder" and other words of 
similar import refer to this Agreement as a whole and not any particular 
schedule, article, section, paragraph or other subdivision of this Agreement. 

3 

497



Currency. Any reference to currency is to Canadian currency and any amount 
advanced, paid or calculated is to be advanced, paid or calculated in Canadian 
currency. 

Statutes. Any reference to a federal or provincial statute is to such statute and 
to the regulations made pursuant to such statute as such statute and 
regulations may at any time be amended or modified and in effect and to any 
statute or regulations that may be passed that have the effect of supplementing 
or superseding such statute or regulations. 

Gender, singular, etc. Words importing the masculine gender include the 
feminine or neuter gender and words in the singular include the plural, and vice 
versa. 

2. TERM OF AGREEMENT 

2.1 Term. Subject to any extension or termination of this Agreement or the 
survival of any of the provisions of this Agreement pursuant to the provisions 
contained herein, this Agreement shall be in effect from the date set out on the 
first page of this Agreement, up to and including March 31, 2020. 

2.2 Amendment. This Agreement may be amended at any time in writing as agreed 
to by AMO and the Recipient. 

2.3 Notice. Any of the Parties may terminate this Agreement on written notice. 

3. RECIPIENT REQUIREMENTS 

3.1 Communications. The Recipient will comply with all requirements outlined, 
including providing upfront project information on an annual basis, or until all 
Funds are expended for communications purposes in the form described in 
Section 7.1 and Section 1 of Schedule D. 

a) Unless otherwise directed by Ontario, the Recipient will acknowledge the 
support of Ontario for Eligible Projects in the following manner: "The 
Project is funded [if it is partly funded the Recipient should use "in part"] by 
the Ontario Ministry of Agriculture, Food and Rural Affairs." 

b) The Recipient shall notify Ontario within five (5) business days of planned 
media events or announcements related to the Project, organized by the 
Recipient to facilitate the attendance of Ontario. Media events and 
announcements include, but are not limited to, news conferences, public 
announcements, official events or ceremonies, and news releases. 

3.2 Contracts. The Recipient will award and manage all Contracts in accordance 
with its relevant policies and procedures and, if applicable, in accordance with 
the Canadian Free Trade Agreement and applicable international trade 
agreements, and all other applicable laws. 

a) The Recipient will ensure any of its Contracts for the supply of services or 
materials to implement its responsibilities under this Agreement will be 

4 

498



awarded in a way that is transparent, competitive, consistent with value for 
money principles and pursuant to its adopted procurement policy. 

4. ELIGIBLE PROJECTS 

4.1 Eligible Projects. Costs directly and reasonably incurred by the Recipient for 
construction, renewal, renovation or redevelopment or material enhancement 
activities funded under existing Community Improvement Plan financial 
incentive programs or activities funded under the Municipal Physical 
Infrastructure category, including projects in downtown or main street areas, as 
defined through an existing Community Improvement Plan or other municipal 
land use planning policy that will support the role of small businesses in main 
street areas as more specifically described in Schedule Band Schedule C 

4.2 Recipient Fully Responsible. The Recipient is fully responsible for the 
completion of each Eligible Project in accordance with Schedule Band Schedule 
c. 

5. ELIGIBLE COSTS 

5.1 Eligible Costs. Schedule C sets out specific requirements for Eligible and 
Ineligible Costs. 

5.2 Discretion of Ontario. Subject to Section 5.1, the eligibility of any items not 
listed in Schedule Band/or Schedule C to this Agreement is solely at the 
discretion of Ontario. 

5.3 Unspent Funds. Any Unspent Funds, and any interest earned thereon, will be 
subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement. 

5.4 Reasonable Access. The Recipient shall allow AMO and Ontario reasonable and 
timely access to all documentation, records and accounts and those of their 
respective agents or Third Parties related to the receipt, deposit and use of 
Funds and Unspent Funds, and any interest earned thereon, and all other 
relevant information and documentation requested by AMO or Ontario or their 
respective designated representatives for the purposes of audit, evaluation, and 
ensuring compliance with this Agreement. 

5.5 Retention of Receipts. The Recipient will keep proper and accurate accounts 
and records of all Eligible Projects including invoices and receipts for Eligible 
Expenditures in accordance with the Recipient's municipal records retention by
law and, upon reasonable notice, make them available to AMO and Ontario. 

6. FUNDS 

6.1 Allocation of Funds. AMO will allocate and transfer Funds on the basis of the 
formula determined by Ontario. 

6.2 Transfer of Funds to a Municipality. Where a Recipient decides to allocate 
and transfer Funds to another Municipality (the "Transferee Municipality"): 

5 

499



a) The allocation and transfer shall be authorized by by-law (a ''Transfer By
law"). The Transfer By-law shall be passed by the Recipient's council and 
submitted to AMO as soon thereafter as practicable. The Transfer By-law 
shall identify the Transferee Municipality and the amount of Funds the 
Transferee Municipality is to receive for the Municipal Fiscal Year specified 
in the Transfer By-law. 

b) The Recipient is still required to submit an Annual Report in accordance with 
Sections 7.1 (a}, (c) and (f) hereof with respect to the Funds transferred. 

c) No transfer of Funds pursuant to this Section 6.2 shall be effected unless 
and until the Transferee Municipality has either (i) entered into an 
agreement with AMO on substantially the same terms as this Agreement, or 
(ii) has executed and delivered to AMO a written undertaking to assume all 
of the Recipient's obligations under this Agreement with respect to the 
Funds transferred; in a form satisfactory to AMO. 

6.3 Transfer of Funds to a non-municipal entity. Where a Recipient decides to 
support an Eligible Project undertaken by an Eligible Recipient that is not a 
Municipality: 

a) The provision of such support shall be authorized by a grant agreement 
between the Municipality and the Eligible Recipient in support of a 
Community Improvement Plan. The grant agreement shall identify the 
Eligible Recipient, and the amount of Funds the Eligible Recipient is to 
receive for that Eligible Project. 

b) The Recipient shall continue to be bound by all of the provisions of this 
Agreement notwithstanding any such transfer including the submission of 
an Annual Report in accordance with Section 7.2. 

c) No transfer of Funds pursuant to this Section 6.3 shall be effected unless 
and until the non-municipal entity receiving the Funds has executed and 
delivered to the Municipality the grant agreement. 

6.4 Use of Funds. The Recipient acknowledges and agrees the Funds are intended 
for and shall be used only for Eligible Expenditures in respect of Eligible 
Projects. 

6.5 Payout of Funds. The Recipient agrees that all Funds will be transferred by 
AMO to the Recipient upon full execution of this Agreement. 

6.6 Use of Funds. The Recipient will deposit the Funds in a dedicated reserve fund 
or other separate distinct interest bearing account and shall retain the Funds in 
such reserve fund, or account until the Funds are expended or transferred in 
accordance with this Agreement. The Recipient shall ensure that: 

a) any investment of unexpended Funds will be in accordance with Ontario law 
and the Recipient's investment policy; and, 

6 

500



b) any interest earned on Funds will only be applied to Eligible Costs for 
Eligible Projects, more specifically on the basis set out in Schedule Band 
Schedule C. 

6.7 Funds advanced. Funds transferred by AMO to the Recipient shall be expended 
by the Recipient in respect of Eligible Costs. AMO reserves the right to declare 
that Unspent Funds after March 31, 2020 become a debt to Ontario which the 
Recipient will reimburse forthwith on demand to AMO for transmission to 
Ontario. 

6.8 Expenditure of Funds. The Recipient shall expend all Funds by March 31, 2020. 

6.9 GST & HST. The use of Funds is based on the net amount of goods and services 
tax or harmonized sales tax to be paid by the Recipient net of any applicable tax 
rebates. 

6.1 O Limit on Ontario's Financial Commitments. The Recipient may use Funds to 
pay up to one hundred percent (100%) of Eligible Expenditures of an Eligible 
Project. 

6.11 Stacking. If the Recipient is receiving funds under other programs in respect of 
an Eligible Project to which the Recipient wishes to apply Funds, the maximum 
contribution limitation set out in any other program agreement made in respect 
of that Eligible Project shall continue to apply. 

6.12 Insufficient funds provided by Ontario. If Ontario does not provide sufficient 
funds to AMO for this Agreement, ~MO may terminate this Agreement. 

7. REPORTING REQUIREMENTS 

7.1 Communication Report. Immediately upon execution of this Agreement the 
Recipient shall report to AMO any Eligible Project being undertaken in the 
current Municipal Fiscal Year in the form described in Schedule D. 

7.2 Annual Report. The Recipient shall report in the form in Schedule D due by 
May 15th following the Municipal Fiscal Year on: 

a) the amounts received from AMO under this Agreement; 

b) the amounts received from another Eligible Recipient; 

c) the amounts transferred to another Eligible Recipient; 

d) amounts paid by the Recipient in aggregate for Eligible Projects; 

e) amounts held at year end by the Recipient in aggregate, including interest, 
to pay for Eligible Projects; 

f) indicate in a narrative the progress that the Recipient has made in meeting 
its commitments and contributions; and, 

7 

501



g) a listing of all Eligible Projects that have been funded, indicating the Eligible 
Project category, project description, amount of Funds, total project cost, 
start date, end date and completion status. 

7.3 Results Report. The Recipient shall account in writing for results achieved by 
the Funds through a Results Report to be submitted to AMO. Specifically the 
Results Report shall document performance measures achieved through the 
investments in Eligible Projects in the form described in Section 3 of Schedule 
D. 

8. RECORDS AND AUDIT 

8.1 Accounting Principles. All accounting terms not otherwise defined herein have 
the meanings assigned to them; all calculations will be made and all financial 
data to be submitted will be prepared in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles (GAAP) in effect in Ontario. GAAP will include, without 
limitation, those principles approved or recommended for local governments 
from time to time by the Public Sector Accounting Board or the Canadian 
Institute of Chartered Accountants or any successor institute, applied on a 
consistent basis. 

8.2 Separate Records. The Recipient shall maintain separate records and 
documentation for the Funds and keep all records including invoices, 
statements, receipts and vouchers in respect of Funds expended on Eligible 
Projects in accordance with the Recipient's municipal records retention by-law. 
Upon reasonable notice, the Recipient shall submit all records and 
documentation relating to the Funds to AMO and Ontario for inspection or 
audit. 

8.3 External Auditor. AMO and/or Ontario may request, upon written notification, 
an audit of Eligible Project or an Annual Report. AMO shall retain an external 
auditor to carry out an audit of the material referred to in Sections 5.4 and 5.5 
of this Agreement. AMO shall ensure that any auditor who conducts an audit 
pursuant to this Section of this Agreement or otherwise, provides a copy of the 
audit report to the Recipient and Ontario at the same time that the audit report 
is given to AMO. 

9. INSURANCE AND INDEMNITY 

9.1 Insurance. The Recipient shall put in effect and maintain in full force and 
effect or cause to be put into effect and maintained for the term of this 
Agreement all the necessary insurance with respect to each Eligible Project, 
including any Eligible Projects with respect to which the Recipient has 
transferred Funds pursuant to Section 6 of this Agreement, that would be 
considered appropriate for a prudent Municipality undertaking Eligible Projects, 
including, where appropriate and without limitation, property, construction and 
liability insurance, which insurance coverage shall identify Ontario and AMO as 
additional insureds for the purposes of the Eligible Projects. 

9.2 Certificates of Insurance. Throughout the term of this Agreement, the 
Recipient shall provide AMO with a valid certificate of insurance that confirms 
compliance with the requirements of Section 9.1. No Funds shall be expended 

8 

502



or transferred pursuant to this Agreement until such certificate has been 
delivered to AMO. 

9.3 AMO not liable. In no event shall Ontario or AMO be liable for: 

(a) any bodily injury, death or property damages to the Recipient, its 
employees, agents or consultants or for any claim, demand or action by 
any Third Party against the Recipient, its employees, agents or 
consultants, arising out of or in any way related to this Agreement; or 

(b) any incidental, indirect, special or consequential damages, or any loss of 
use, revenue or profit to the Recipient, its employees, agents or 
consultants arising out of any or in any way related to this Agreement. 

9.4 Recipient to Compensate Ontario. The Recipient will ensure that it will not, at 
any time, hold Ontario, its officers, servants, employees or agents responsible 
for any claims or losses of any kind that the Recipient, Third Parties or any other 
person or entity may suffer in relation to any matter related to the Funds or an 
Eligible Project and that the Recipient will, at all times, compensate Ontario, its 
officers, servants, employees and agents for any claims or losses of any kind 
that any of them may suffer in relation to any matter related to the Funds or an 
Eligible Project. The Recipient's obligation to compensate as set out in this 
section does not apply to the extent to which such claims or losses relate to the 
negligence of an officer, servant, employee, or agent of Ontario in the 
performance of his or her duties. 

9.5 Recipient to Indemnify AMO. The Recipient hereby agrees to indemnify and 
hold harmless AMO, its officers, servants, employees or agents (each of which is 
called an "Indemnitee"), from and against all claims, losses, damages, liabilities 
and related expenses including the fees, charges and disbursements of any 
counsel for any Indemnitee incurred by any Indemnitee or asserted against any 
Indemnitee by whomsoever brought or prosecuted in any manner based upon, 
or occasioned by, any injury to persons, damage to or loss or destruction of 
property, economic loss or infringement of rights caused by or arising directly 
or indirectly from: 

(a) the Funds; 

(b) the Recipient's Eligible Projects, including the design, construction, 
operation, maintenance and repair of any part or all of the Eligible Projects; 

(c) the performance of this Agreement or the breach of any term or 
condition of this Agreement by the Recipient, its officers, servants, employees 
and agents, or by a Third Party, its officers, servants, employees, or agents; and 

(d) any omission or other wilful or negligent act of the Recipient or Third 
Party and their respective officers, servants, employees or agents. 

10. DISPOSAL 

10.1 Disposal. The Recipient will not, without Ontario's prior written consent, sell, 
lease or otherwise dispose of any asset purchased or created with the Funds or 

9 

503



for which Funds were provided, the cost of which exceed $50,000 at the time of 
sale, lease or disposal prior to March 31, 2021. 

11. DEFAULT AND TERMINATION 

11.1 Event of Default. AMO may declare in writing that an event of default has 
occurred when the Recipient has not complied with any condition, undertaking 
or term in this Agreement. AMO will not declare in writing that an event of 
default has occurred unless it has first consulted with the Recipient. Each and 
every one of the following events is an "Event of Default": 

(a) failure by the Recipient to deliver in a timely manner an Annual Report or 
Results Report. 

(b) delivery of an Annual Report that discloses non-compliance with any condition, 
undertaking or material term in this Agreement. 

(c) failure by the Recipient to co-operate in an external audit undertaken by AMO 
or its agents. 

(d) delivery of an external audit report that discloses non-compliance with any 
condition, undertaking or term in this Agreement. 

(e) failure by the Recipient to expend Funds in accordance with Sections 4.1 and 
6.8. 

11.2 Waiver. AMO may withdraw its notice of an Event of Default if the Recipient, 
within thirty (30) calendar days of receipt of the notice, either corrects the 
default or demonstrates, to the satisfaction of AMO in its sole discretion that it 
has taken such steps as are necessary to correct the default. 

11.3 Remedies on default. If AMO declares that an Event of Default has occurred 
under Section 11.1, after thirty (30) calendar days from the Recipient's receipt of 
the notice of an Event of Default, it may immediately terminate this Agreement. 

11.4 Repayment of Funds. If AMO declares that an Event of Default has not been 
cured to its satisfaction, AMO reserves the right to declare that prior payments 
of Funds become a debt to Ontario which the Recipient will reimburse forthwith 
on demand to AMO for transmission to Ontario. 

12. CONFLICT OF INTEREST 

12.1 No conflict of interest. The Recipient will ensure that no current member of 
the AMO Board of Directors and no current or former public servant or office 
holder to whom any post-employment, ethics and conflict of interest legislation, 
guidelines, codes or policies of Ontario applies will derive direct benefit from 
the Funds, the Unspent Funds, and interest earned thereon, unless the 
provision of receipt of such benefits is in compliance with such legislation, 
guidelines, policies or codes. 

13. NOTICE 

10 

504



13.1 Notice. Any notice, information or document provided for under this 
Agreement will be effectively given if in writing and if delivered by hand, or 
overnight courier, mailed, postage or other charges prepaid, or sent by 
facsimile or email to the addresses, the facsimile numbers or email addresses 
set out in Section 13.3. Any notice that is sent by hand or overnight courier 
service shall be deemed to have been given when received; any notice mailed 
shall be deemed to have been received on the eighth (8) calendar day following 
the day on which it was mailed; any notice sent by facsimile shall be deemed to 
have been given when sent; any notice sent by email shall be deemed to have 
been received on the sender's receipt of an acknowledgment from the intended 
recipient (such as by the "return receipt requested" function, as available, 
return email or other written acknowledgment), provided that in the case of a 
notice sent by facsimile or email, if it is not given on a business day before 4:30 
p.m. Eastern Standard Time, it shall be deemed to have been given at 8:30 a.m. 
on the next business day for the recipient. 

13.2 Representatives. The individuals identified in Section 13.3 of this Agreement, 
in the first instance, act as AM O's or the Recipient's, as the case may be, 
representative for the purpose of implementing this Agreement. 

13.3 Addresses for Notice. Further to Section 13.1 of this Agreement, notice can be 
given at the following addresses: 

a) If to AMO: 

Executive Director 
Main Streets Agreement 
Association of Municipalities of Ontario 200 University Avenue, Suite 801 
Toronto, ON M5H 3C6 

Telephone: 416-971-9856 
Email: mainstreets@amo.on.ca 

b) If to the Recipient: 

Director of Corporate Services/Treasurer 
Peter M. Senese 
CITY OF PORT COLBORNE 
66 Charlotte Street 
Port Colborne, ON L3K 3C8 
(905) 835-2900 x105 
petersenese@portcolborne.ca 

14. MISCELLANEOUS 

14.1 Counterpart Signature. This Agreement may be signed in counterpart, and the 
signed copies will, when attached, constitute an original Agreement. 

14.2 Severability. If for any reason a provision of this Agreement that is not a 
fundamental term is found to be or becomes invalid or unenforceable, in whole 
or in part, it will be deemed to be severable and will be deleted from this 

11 

505



Agreement, but all the other terms and conditions of this Agreement will 
continue to be valid and enforceable. 

14.3 Waiver. AMO may waive any right in this Agreement only in writing, and any 
tolerance or indulgence demonstrated by AMO will not constitute waiver of 
rights in this Agreement. Unless a waiver is executed in writing, AMO will be 
entitled to seek any remedy that it may have under this Agreement or under the 
law. 

14.4 Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the Province of Ontario. 

14.5 Survival. The Recipient agrees that the following sections and provisions of this 
Agreement shall extend for seven (7) years beyond the expiration or 
termination of this Agreement: Sections 5, 6.7, 6.8, 7, 9.4, 9.5, 11.4 and 14.8. 

14.6 AMO, Ontario and Recipient independent. The Recipient will ensure its 
actions do not establish or will not be deemed to establish a partnership, joint 
venture, principal-agent relationship or employer-employee relationship in any 
way or for any purpose whatsoever between Ontario and the Recipient, 
between AMO and the Recipient, between Ontario and a Third Party or between 
AMO and a Third Party. 

14.7 No Authority to Represent. The Recipient will ensure that it does not 
represent itself, including in any agreement with a Third Party, as a partner, 
employee or agent of Ontario or AMO. 

14.8 Debts Due to AMO. Any amount owed under this Agreement will constitute a 
debt due to AMO, which the Recipient will reimburse forthwith, on demand, to 
AMO. 

14.9 Priority. In the event of a conflict, the part of this Agreement that precedes the 
signature of the Parties will take precedence over the Schedules. 

15. SCHEDULES 

15.1 This Agreement, including: 

Schedule A Municipal Allocation 

Schedule B Eligible Projects 

Schedule C Eligible and Ineligible Costs 

Schedule D Reporting 

constitute the entire agreement between the Parties with respect to the subject 
matter contained in this Agreement and supersedes all prior oral or written 
representations and agreements. 

12 

506



16. SIGNATURES 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, AMO and the Recipient have respectively executed, sealed and 
delivered this Agreement on the date set out on the front page. 

RECIPIENT'S NAME: CITY OF PORT COLBORNE 

Mayor Name Signature 

Clerk Name Signature 

THE ASSOCIATION OF MUNICIPALITIES OF ONTARIO 

By Title Signature 

In the presence of: 

Witness Title Signature 

13 

507



RECIPIENT'S NAME: 

ALLOCATION: 

SCHEDULE A 
MUNICPAL ALLOCATION 

CITY OF PORT COLBORNE 

$53839.9923 

The Recipient acknowledges this is a one time payment for Eligible Projects with Eligible Costs. 

SCHEDULE B 

14 

508



ELIGIBLE PROJECTS 

Funding is to be directed to Eligible Projects to support revitalization activities within main 
street areas, as defined through an existing Community Improvement Plan or any other 
municipal land use planning policy. Funding can be used in one or both of the following 
categories: 

1. Community Improvement Plan - construction, renewal, renovation or redevelopment 
or material enhancement activities that implement priority financial incentives in existing 
Community Improvement Plans such as: 

a. Commercial building fa~ade improvements 

b. Preservation and adaptive reuse of heritage and industrial buildings 

c. Provision of affordable housing 

d. Space conversion for residential and commercial uses 

e. Structural improvements to buildings (e.g. Building Code upgrades) 

f. Improvement of community energy efficiency 

g. Accessibility enhancements 

2. Other Municipal Land Use Planning Policy - construction, renewal or material 
enhancement activities to fund strategic Municipal Physical Infrastructure and 
promotional projects such as: 

a. Signage - wayfinding/directional, and gateway. 

b. Streetscaping and landscape improvements - lighting, banners, murals, street 
furniture, interpretive elements, public art, urban forestation, accessibility, 
telecommunications/broadband equ ipment, parking, active transportation 
infrastructure (e.g. bike racks/storage, cycling lanes and paths) and pedestrian 
walkways/trails. 

c. Marketing plan implementation - business attraction and promotion activities, special 
events. 

SCHEDULE C 

15 

509



ELIGIBLE AND INELIGIBLE COSTS 

1. Eligible Costs include: 

a. Costs directly and reasonably incurred on or after April 1, 2018 up to and including the 
Project Completion Date by the Recipient for construction, renewal, renovation or 
redevelopment or material enhancement activities funded under existing Community 
Improvement Plan financial incentive programs. 

b. Costs directly and reasonably incurred on or after April 1, 2018 up to and including the 
Project Completion Date by the Recipient for construction, renewal or material 
enhancement activities funded under the Municipal Physical Infrastructure category 
including projects in downtown or main street areas, as defined through an existing 
Community Improvement Plan or other municipal land use planning policy that will 
support the success of small businesses in main street areas. 

2. Ineligible Costs include: 

a. Costs incurred prior to Effective Date or after the Project Completion Date; 

b. Any costs associated with providing the Annual and Results Reports to AMO; 

c. Any costs associated with lobbying Ontario, including other Ministries, agencies and 
organizations of the Government of Ontario; 

d. Costs associated with construction, renewal, renovation or redevelopment or material 
enhancement of all things in the following categories: highways, short-sea shipping, 
short-line rail, regional or local airports, and brownfield redevelopment; 

e. Costs of infrastructure construction, renewal, renovation or redevelopment or material 
enhancement that do not improve energy efficiency, accessibility, aesthetics of 
marketability of small businesses within an Recipient's main street areas; or that do not 
encourage strategic public investments in municipal and other public infrastructure 
within main street areas that will benefit small businesses; or that otherwise will likely 
fail to contribute to the success of main street businesses; 

f. Costs of infrastructure construction, renewal, renovation or redevelopment or material 
enhancement outside of the Recipient's main street areas, as defined through an 
existing Community Improvement Plan or other municipal land use planning policy; 

g. The cost of leasing of equipment by the Recipient, any overhead costs, including 
salaries and other employment benefits of any employees of the Recipient, its direct or 
indirect operating or administrative costs of Recipients, and more specifically its costs 
related to planning, engineering, architecture, supervision, management and other 
activities normally carried out by its staff, except in accordance with Eligible Costs 
above; 

h. Taxes, to which the Recipient is eligible for a tax rebate; 

i. Purchase of land or any interest therein, and related costs; and, 

j. Routine repair and maintenance Municipal Physical Infrastructure. 
SCHEDULED 

16 

510



REPORTING 

1. Communication Report 

Immediately following the Municipality executing this Agreement the Recipient will provide 
AMO a Communication Report in an electronic format deemed acceptable to AMO, consisting 
of the following: 

Project Title Project Eligible Project Total Project Estimate of Funds 
Description Category (CIP / Cost (Main Street) 

Municipal Physical Spent 
Infrastructure 

2. Annual Report 

The Recipient will provide to AMO an Annual Report in an electronic format deemed 
acceptable to AMO, consisting of the following: 

a. Financial Reporting Table: The financial report table will be submitted in accordance with 
the following template: 

Annual Cumulative 
Annual Report Financial Table 

20xx 2018 - 2020 

Opening Balance $xxx 

Received from AMO $xxx $xxx 

Interest Earned $xxx $xxx 

Received from An Eligible $xxx $xxx 
Reci ient 

Transferred to an Eligible ($xxx) ($xxx) 
Reci ient 
Spent on Eligible Projects (for 

($xxx) 
each Eligible Project category) 

($xxx) 

Closing Balance of $xxx 
Unspent Funds 

17 

511



b. Project List: The Recipient will provide to AMO a project list submitted in accordance with 
the following template: 

Project Project Eligible Total Main Street Start & End Completed? 
Recipient Title D escri ptio n Project Project Funds Used Date 

Category Cost 
Yes/No/ 
Ongoing 

3. Project Results. 

The Results Report shall outline, in a manner to be provided by AMO, the degree to which 
investments in each project are supporting progress towards achieving revitalization within 
main street areas: 

a. Community Improvement Plan Eligible Projects 
• Number of small businesses supported; 
• Total value of physical improvements; 
• Total Main Street Funds provided; 
• Total Municipal investment; and, 
• Total private investment. 

b. Municipal Physical Infrastructure Eligible Projects 
• Total value of physical improvements; 
• Total Main Street Funds provided; and 
• Total municipal investment. 

18 

512



The Corporation of the City of Port Colborne 

By-law No. 

Being a By-law to temporarily close sections of various streets 
to vehicular traffic for the purpose of the Port Col borne 

Downtown Cruise Nights 

Whereas at its meeting of April 23 , 2018, the Council of The Corporation of the 
City of Port Colborne (Council) approved the recommendation of Community and 
Economic Development, Parks and Recreation Division , Report No. 2018-51 , Subject: 
Port Colborne Downtown Cruiser's Association - 2018 Cruise Nights; 

Whereas the municipality has jurisdiction, as defined in Section 28 of the 
Municipal Act, 2001, S.O. 2001, c.25, over the highway known as Clarence Street; 

Whereas the municipality is granted the power under Sections 11 (3) and 27(1) of 
the Municipal Act, 2001, S.O. 2001, c.25, as amended, to pass by-laws with respect to 
highways within its jurisdiction and to close a highway temporarily for any purpose 
specified in the by-law; 

Whereas Council is desirous of closing temporarily sections of specified streets 
to vehicular traffic for purposes of the Port Colborne Downtown Cruise Nights; 

Now therefore the Council of The Corporation of the City of Port Colborne enacts 
as follows: 

1. That in this by-law "Vehicle" includes a motor vehicle, trailer, traction engine, farm 
tractor, road-building machine and any vehicle drawn, propelled or driven by any 
kind of power including muscular power. 

2. No person shall park a vehicle to situate on the highways or portions thereof as 
set out in Schedule "A" attached hereto and made part of this by-law at any time 
during the hours of 5:00 p.m. to 9:00 p.m. on Thursdays, from May 17, 2018 to 
September 27, 2018. 

3. The highways or portions thereof as set out on Schedule "A" attached hereto and 
made part of this by-law shall be closed to vehicular traffic during the hours of 
5:00 p.m. to 9:00 p.m. on Thursdays from May 17, 2018 to September 27, 2018. 

4. No person shall permit or cause to permit any vehicle to be driven on the streets 
or portions of streets as set out in Schedule "A" attached hereto and made part of 
this by-law during the hours of 5:00 p.m. to 9:00 p.m. on Thursdays from May 17, 
2018 to September 27, 2018. 

5. No person shall park a vehicle to situate on the highways or portions thereof as 
set out in Schedule "B" attached hereto and made part of this by-law at any time 
during the hours of 5:00 p.m. to 9:00 p.m. on Thursdays from May 17, 2018 to 
September 27, 2018. 

6. The highways or portions thereof as set out on Schedule "B" attached hereto and 
made part of this by-law shall be closed to vehicular traffic during the hours of 
5:00 p.m. to 9:00 p.m. on Thursdays from May 17, 2018 to September 27, 2018. 

7. No person shall permit or cause to permit any vehicle to be driven on the streets 
or portions of streets as set out in Schedule "B" attached hereto and made part of 
this by-law during the hours of 5:00 p.m. to 9:00 p.m. on Thursdays from May 17, 
2018 to September 27, 2018. 

8. No person shall park a vehicle to situate on the highways or portions thereof as 
set out in Schedule "B" attached hereto and made part of this By-law at any time 

513



during the hours of 1 :00 p.m. to 5:00 p.m. on Thursday May 17, June 8, June 15, 
July 13, and September 21, 2018. 

9. The highways or portions thereof as set out on Schedule "B" attached hereto and 
made part of this by-law shall be closed to vehicular traffic during the hours of 
hours of 1 :00 p.m. to 5:00 p.m. on Thursday May 17, June 8, June 15, July 13, and 
September 21, 2018. 

10. No person shall permit or cause to permit any vehicle to be driven on the streets or 
portions of streets as set out in Schedule "B" attached hereto and made part of this 
by-law during the hours of hours of 1 :00 p.m. to 5:00 p.m. on Thursday May 17, 
June 8, June 15, July 13, and September 21 , 2018. 

11 . The provisions of this by-law shall not apply to ambulances, police or fire service 
vehicles or public utility emergency vehicles, authorized event vehicles, or any 
other vehicles required in the case of emergency. 

12. Any person violating the provisions this by-law shall be guilty of an offence and 
subject to the penalty of not more than $5,000.00 exclusive of costs to be collected 
pursuant to the provisions of the Provincial Offences Act. 

13. This by-law shall take effect on the date and times prescribed and on the placing 
of proper barricades and signs. 

Enacted and passed this 23rd day of April 2018. 

John Maloney 
Mayor 

Amber La Pointe 
City Clerk 

514



Schedule "A" to By-law No. 

Highway From To 

Market Square n/a n/a 

Clarence Street Eastern limit of western Western limit of 
driveway of the Food Catharine Street 
Basics parking lot 

Clarence Street Eastern limit of Catharine Western limit of King 
Street Street 

Clarence Street Eastern Limit of King Western Limit of West 
Street Street 

515



Schedule "B" to By-law No. _______ _ 

Market Square, with the exception of the western access laneway, to be used as an 
ingress and egress to the CIBC Bank. 

516



The Corporation of the City of Port Col borne 

By-law No. _______ _ 

Being a By-law to authorize entering into a contract 
agreement extension with Snips Landscaping and Nursery 

respecting Contract 2015-09: Supply of Parks 
Grass-Cutting Services 

Whereas at its meeting of April 23, 2018, the Council of The Corporation of the 
City of Port Colborne ("Council") approved the recommendation of Community and 
Economic Development, Parks and Recreation Division Report No. 2018-55, Subject: 
City Wide Parks Grass-Cutting Tender 2018-04; and 

Whereas Council is desirous of entering into a contract agreement extension with 
Snips Landscaping and Nursery respecting Contract 2015-09: Supply of Parks 
Grass-Cutting Services; 

Now therefore the Council of the Corporation of the City of Port Colborne Enacts 
as Follows: 

1. That The Corporation of the City of Port Colborne enter into a contract agreement 
extension, for a period of one year, with Snips Landscaping and Nursery 
respecting Contract 2015-09: Supply of Parks Grass-Cutting Services. 

2. That the Mayor and the Clerk be and each of them is hereby authorized and 
directed to sign said agreement, together with any documents necessary to 
complete the conditions of said agreement, and the Clerk is hereby authorized to 
affix the Corporate Seal thereto. 

3. That this by-law shall come into force and take effect on the date of passing . 

Enacted and passed this 23rd day of April, 2018. 

John Maloney 
Mayor 

Amber LaPointe 
City Clerk 

517



518



The Corporation of the City of Port Colborne 

By-law No. _______ _ 

Being a By-law to provide for the maintenance 
of property and land (Lot Maintenance By-law) 

and to repeal By-law 6329/09/16 

Whereas Section 127 of the Municipal Act, 2001, S.O. 2001, C.25, provides that 
a municipality may require the owner or occupant of land to clean and clear the land, not 
including buildings, or to clear refuse or debris from the land, not including buildings; 

Whereas Section 127 of the Municipal Act, 2001, S.O. 2001, C.25, provides that 
a municipality may prohibit the depositing of refuse or debris on land without the consent 
of the owner or occupant of the land; 

Whereas Section 127 of the Municipal Act, 2001, S.O. 2001, C.25, provides that 
a municipality may define "refuse" for the purpose of the by-law; 

Whereas Section 128 of the Municipal Act, 2001, S.O. 2001, C.25, provides that 
a municipality may prohibit and regulate with respect to public nuisances, including 
matters that, in the opinion of Council, are or could become or cause public nuisances, 
and it is the opinion of Council that the failure to clear refuse and debris from land is a 
public nuisance, including the spread of vermin; 

Whereas Section 11 of the Municipal Act, S.O. 2001, C.25, as amended, 
provides that a lower-tier municipality may pass by-laws respecting matters within the 
spheres of jurisdiction set out therein; 

Whereas Section 446(1) of the Municipal Act, 2001, S.O. 2001 , C.25, provides 
that a municipality may direct or require a person to clear the land of refuse, the 
municipality may also provide that, in default of it being done by the person directed or 
required to do it, the cleaning and clearing of land shall be done at the person's 
expense; and 

Whereas Section 391 of the Municipal Act, 2001, S.O. 2001 , C.25, provides that 
a municipality may impose fees or charges on any class of persons for services or 
activities provided or done by or on behalf of it, and which by-law may provide for 
interest charges and other penalties, including the payment of collection costs, for fees 
and charges that are due and unpaid; 

Now therefore the Council of The Corporation of the City Of Port Colborne enacts 
as follows: 

Part 1 
Definitions 

1.1 For the purpose of this by-law, the definitions of this section apply: 

"Agricultural Purposes" shall mean the land used for cultivating soil , producing crops 
and for the raising of livestock as an "agricultural operation" as defined in the Farming and 
Food Production Protection Act, 1998, S.O. 1999, c.1, but does not include the portion of 
land used as a woodlot. 

"Approved Structure" shall mean a Fully Enclosed Structure or a Partially Enclosed 
Structure as defined in this By-law. 

"Border" shall mean the cleared land between the side and/or rear property line and a 
naturalized area or wild flower meadow. 

"Boulevard" means that portion of the highway between the City property line and 
roadway, which is not used or intended for use for vehicular travel by the general 
public, and includes any landscaped areas and boulevards that are separated from 

519



private property by sidewalks. 

"Buffer Strip" shall mean a border of a minimum of 0.9 m w that delineates a wild flower 
meadow or naturalized area. 

"Building Material" shall mean material stacked in good condition, which is used, or 
intended to be used, for construction purposes. 

"City" means The Corporation of the City of Port Colborne. 

"Cleared" includes the removal of weeds or grass more than 15 centimetres (6 inches) in 
height and the removal of stock piles of soil or other aggregate material not required to 
complete the grading of the lot on which the stock pile is located and includes where on 
any property there is a swimming pool which is a health or safety hazard , or is malodorous 
or is a breeding place for mosquitoes, the draining, the treatment and/or the disposing of 
the water. 

"Composting" shall mean the biological degradation or breakdown of organic material 
into a dark soil-like material called humus. 

"Composting Container" shall mean the holding unit used to store yard, garden and 
household waste for the purpose of composting. 

"Domestic Waste" shall mean any article, thing, matter or effluent belonging to or 
associated with a residence, household or dwelling unit and includes but is not limited to 
the following classes of waste material: 

(a) grass clippings, tree cuttings, brush, leaves and garden refuse; 
(b) paper, cardboard, clothing; 
(c) all kitchen and table waste, of animal or vegetable origin resulting from the 

preparation or consumption of food except any material of vegetable origin 
placed in a composing container; 

(d) can, glass, plastic container, dishes; 
(e) new or used material resulting from or for the purpose of construction, alteration, 

repair or demolition of any building or structure; 
(f) refrigerators, freezers, stoves or other appliances and furniture; 
(g) furnaces, furnace parts, pipes, fittings to pipes, water or fuel tanks; 
(h) unlicensed motor vehicle, inoperative motor vehicle, parts and accessories, 

vehicle tires mounted or unmounted on rims, mechanical equipment; 
(i) rubble, insert fill , fencing materials. 
U) indoor furniture; 
(k) Inoperative - machinery, trailers, or boats; 

"Enforcement Officer" shall mean a Municipal Law Enforcement Officer of the City of Port 
Colborne, Building Inspector, Fire Prevention Officer, Health Inspector, or Weed Inspector 
appointed under the Weed Act R.S.O. c.W.5. or other person appointed or employed by the 
City of Port Colborne for the enforcement of by-laws. 

"Fully Enclosed Structure" means a structure with a roof and four (4) walls and is 
capable of enclosing and securing items within. 

"Hobby Vehicle" means a vehicle that is actively being repaired or restored as a hobby 
of the owner/occupant of the property, a stock/race car, or vehicle that by its special 
nature is not routinely used or licensed but is intended to show or display on occasion . 

"Indoor Furniture" means and includes any furniture intended for and made of such 
material that would require the furniture be sheltered from the natural elements such as 
rain and snow and shall include, but not limited to items such as couches, sofas, love 
seats, fabric covered chairs and mattresses. 

"Industrial Waste" shall mean any article, thing, matter or effluent belonging to or 
associated with industry or commerce or concerning or relating to manufacture or 

520



concerning or relating to any trade, business, calling or occupation that appears to be 
waste material and includes but is not limited to the following classes of waste material: 

(a) piping, tubing, conduits, cable, fittings or other accessories, or adjuncts to the piping, 
tubing, conduits or cable; 

(b) container of any size, type or composition; 
(c) rubble , insert fill ; 
(d) mechanical equipment, mechanical parts, accessories or adjuncts to mechanical 

equipment; 
( e) articles, things, matter, effluent which is whole or in part or fragments thereof are 

derived from or are constituted from or consist of: 
(f) agricultural, animal, vegetable, paper, lumber or wood products; or 
(i) mineral, metal or chemical products; whether or not the products are manufactured or 

otherwise processed; 
(ii) bones, feathers, hides; 
(g) paper or cardboard packaging or wrapping; 
(h) material resulting from, or as part of, construction or demolition projects. 
(i) unlicensed motor vehicle, inoperative motor vehicle, vehicle parts and accessories, 

vehicle tires mounted or unmounted on rims, mechanical equipment; 
U) Inoperative - machinery, trailers, or boats. 

"Inoperative Motor Vehicle" shall mean a licensed or unlicensed vehicle, having 
missing, damaged, deteriorated or removed parts including, but not limited to: wheels, 
motor transmission, doors, glass or other parts or mechanical equipment necessary for 
its safe operation. 

"Inoperative - machinery, trailers or boats" means such items that are unable to 
operate as a result of being dismantled, broken or incomplete, decayed or dilapidated 
and in particular includes vehicles with missing part(s) wheel(s), tire(s), engine(s), drive 
train or body components or window(s), unless such item is operable, not dismantled, 
broken or incomplete, decayed or dilapidated and its use is permitted under the Zoning 
By-law or is necessary for the operation of a business enterprise lawfully situated on the 
property. 

"Land" includes yards, vacant lots or any part of a lot, which is not beneath a building 
and for the purpose of this By-law, includes an area within an unapproved Structure 

"Naturalized Area" means a portion of a lot where a lawn or perennial garden 
previously maintained by the owner which has been allowed to re-establish a 
reproducing population of native species, through a combination of natural regeneration 
and deliberate plantings of native species or other species to emulate a natural area. 

"Owner" means a registered owner, but also includes lessee, occupant or tenant of the 
land , or any other person in charge of or in control of the premises. 

"Partially Enclosed Structure" means a structure with a roof and a minimum of two 
(2) walls and is capable of sheltering items under the structure. 

"Perennial Gardens" means an area deliberately implemented to produce ground 
cover, including wild flowers , shrubs, perennials, ornamental grasses or combinations of 
them, but does not include a wildflower meadow or a naturalized area . 

"Person" means an Owner who may be a natural person, firm, corporation, partnership 
or association . 

"Repeat Offender" means an individual who has been the subject matter of 
administrative or enforcement action taken by the City under this By-law. 

"Refuse" means any article, thing, matter, substance or effluent that: has been cast 
aside, discharged or abandoned or; is discarded from its usual and intended use or; is 
used up, in whole or in part, or expended or worn out in whole or in part; and shall 
include domestic waste and industrial waste; and that domestic waste and/or industrial 

521



waste does not cease to be refuse by reason that it may be commercially saleable or 
recyclable . 

"Rubble" includes broken concrete, bricks, broken asphalt, patio or sidewalk slabs. 

"Sidewalk" shall mean any municipal walkway or road works for the accommodation of 
pedestrians on that portion of a street between the curb line and the street line which is 
located outside a roadway. 

"Trees" shall mean a plant or any species of woody perennial including its root system, 
which has reached or can reach a height of at least 2 metres at physiological maturity; 

"Turf Grass" means ground cover comprised of one or more species of growing grass 
with or without trees, shrubbery or maintained planting beds or other vegetation. 

"Unlicensed" shall mean the lack of a currently validated permit for the motor vehicle 
within the meaning of the Highway Traffic Act, displayed on the motor vehicle; 

"Unlicensed motor vehicle" shall mean a motor vehicle that is unlicensed. 

"Wildflower" meadow means a specialized habitat within a naturalized area, which is 
dominated by native species of flowers and grasses. The area would require periodic 
mowing (once or twice per year) in order to prevent the growth and establishment of 
woody shrubs and trees. 

Part 2 
General Provisions 

2.1 Administration - by the Enforcement Officer 
This by-law is administered by the Enforcement Officer of The Corporation 
of the City of Port Colborne or an agent of the Enforcement Officer. 

2.2 Land - filled up - drained - owner responsibility 
Every owner shall keep his land filled up and drained. 

2.3 Excavations - filled - exception - enclosed by barrier 
Every owner shall fill in any excavation on the land unless it is enclosed completely 
by a temporary barrier at least 122 centimetres ( 48 inches) in height. 

2.4 Water - exceeding 30 cm - drained - exception 
Every owner shall drain land of accumulations of water that exceed 30 centimetres 
(12 inches) in depth unless it is completely enclosed by a temporary barrier of at 
least 122 centimetres ( 48 inches) in height or such water constitutes a storm water 
management pond approved by the City. 

2.5 Land - clean - cleared - free of refuse 
Every owner shall keep his land cleaned, cleared and free of refuse. 

2.6 Dumping - prohibited - without lawful authority 
No person shall throw, place, dump or deposit domestic or industrial waste on 
private property or City property without lawful authority. 

2. 7 Swimming Pool - maintained 
Every owner shall keep or maintain the water in a swimming pool in a condition 
which is not a health or safety hazard, or is malodorous, or is a breeding place for 
mosquitoes. 

2.8 Land - removal of refuse 
Every owner shall remove refuse from his land 

522



2.9 Refuse - containment and location 
Every owner shall ensure that all refuse which accumulated on their property and 
when not placed out for collection is: 

(a) in containers: 
i. made of rigid, watertight construction; 
ii. provided with a tight fitting cover, which may be removed only when the 

container is empty or is being actively loaded; 
iii. maintained in good condition without holes or spillage; 
iv. closed, or emptied, rinsed and cleaned when not in use, to prevent the 

escape of offensive odour or waste; and 
v. located in the side or rear yard against a building, structure, fence or 

retaining wall and arranged in an orderly manner. 

(b) Not permitted to accumulate longer than 10 days. 

2.10 Vegetation - Grasses and Weeds 
The grasses and weeds season shall commence May 1st until October 31st or first 

frost, whichever shall occur first, inclusive, annually. 

2.11 Hobby Vehicle - provisions 
Every owner shall ensure that a maximum limit of two (2) hobby vehicles are 
permitted per property and Vehicles used for parts are not considered Hobby 

· Vehicles. 

Part 3 
General Prohibitions 

3.1 Refuse - not cleared - from land - prohibited 
No person shall, within the City of Port Colborne, fail to clear land of refuse. 

3.2 Excavation - failure to enclose - prohibited 
No person shall, within the City of Port Colborne, fail to enclose an excavation with a 
temporary barrier at least 122 centimetres (48 inches) in height. 

3.3 Water - 30 cm deep - failure to drain - prohibited 
No person shall, within the City of Port Colborne, fail to drain an accumulation of 
water exceeding 30 centimetres (12 inches) in depth. 

3.4 Private Property - refuse - deposit on 
No person shall, within the City of Port Colborne, deposit refuse on private property 
without lawful authority. 

3.5 City Property- refuse - deposit on 
No person shall, in the City of Port Colborne, deposit refuse on municipal property 
without lawful authority. 

3.6 Refuse - containment and location 
No person shall fail to contain refuse or locate refuse containers in accordance with 
the provisions of this by-law. 

3.7 Water in Swimming Pool-fail to maintain 
No person shall fail to keep or maintain the water in a swimming pool in accordance 
with the provisions of this by-law. 

3.8 Private Property- clear buffer strip 
No person shall, in the City of Port Colborne, fail to clear a buffer strip. 

3.9 Vegetation - Grasses and Weeds -not cleared - from land - prohibited 
No person shall fail to clear the grasses and weeds from land in excess of 15cm (6 
inches) within 72 hours of notice given within the grasses and weed season. 

523



3.10 Unsafe Standing Water 
In the event that the circumstances described in section 2.4 or 2.7 are deemed to be 
unsafe by an Enforcement Officer, section 3.11 applies. 

3.11 Immediate Action 
In circumstances of section 3.10, an Enforcement Officer is specifically authorized to 
take immediate steps, or to cause immediate steps to be taken, to eliminate the 
danger associated with the unsafe standing water. 

3.12 Limited Authorization 
The authorization provided by section 3.11 of this by-law is limited only to such 
steps as are required to remove the danger. 

3.13 No Obstruction of Officer 
No person shall obstruct, hinder or in any way interfere with any Enforcement Officer 
in the enforcement of the provisions of this by-law. 

3.14 Contravention of Order 
No person shall contravene a Work Order or an Order to Discontinue Activity. 

3.15 Vegetation - Trees - not cleared - from land - prohibited 
No person shall fail to clear from land, dead, decayed, damaged or diseased trees 

3.16 Damaged Trees 
In the event that the tree(s) described in section 3.15 are deemed to be damaged by 
an Enforcement Officer, only the section(s) of a tree, which is damaged, shall be 
required to be cleared from land. Unless the removal of the section(s) of tree would 
leave the remainder of the tree unstable or unhealthy. 

3.17 Refuse - removal 
The removal of refuse pursuant to this By-law shall not create or cause pest or 
vermin issues, hoarding or any other condition that may create life safety 
concerns as determined by the Enforcement Officer. 

Removal of refuse shall either be stored in an Approved Structure or taken to an 
approved landfill . 

Part 4 
Exemptions 

4.1 Excavations - construction - exemption 
Section 2.3 of this by-law does not apply to land on which construction is 
proceeding under a valid building permit or a Municipal Consent 

4.2 Swimming Pools - natural bodies of water - exemption 
Section 2.4 of this by-law does not apply to natural bodies of water or lawfully 
maintained swimming pools. 

4.3 Outdoor Storage - lawful - exemption 
Sections 2.5 , 2.6 and 2.9 of this by-law shall not apply to land , which is lawfully used 
for outdoor storage of materials in compliance with the applicable Zoning and 
Licensing By-laws and regulations. 

4.4 Region - dumping - disposal facilities - exemption 
Sections 2.5 and 2.6 of this by-law shall not apply to land or structures designated 
by or operated by the Region of Niagara for the purpose of dumping or disposing 
domestic or industrial waste. 

4.5 Refuse - Hobby Vehicle - exemption 
Sections 2.5 and 2.8 of this by-law shall not apply to Hobby Vehicle( s) 

524



4.6 Vegetation - Agricultural and Environmental Protection Lands - exemption 
This by-law does not apply to any lands zoned as Environmental Protection or lands 
used for agricultural purposes as defined in the City's Zoning By-law. 

4.7 Government Owned lands - exemption 
This by-law does not apply to any lands owned by the following corporations: 
The Corporation of the City of Port Col borne 
The Region of Niagara 
The Saint Lawrence Management Corporation 

4.8 Perennial Gardens - exemption 
This by-law does not apply to perennial gardens, provided that the perennial 
gardens are managed in accordance with the Weed Control Act and provided that 
there is no waste. 

4.9 Wildflower Meadow - exemption 
This by-law does not apply to a wildflower meadow or a naturalized area provided 
that those areas are managed in accordance with the Weed Control Act, provided 
that there is no waste and provided that they do not encroach within the buffer strip. 

4.10 Containment and location - exemption 
Section 2.9 of this by-law does not apply to land undergoing active construction 
under a valid building permit, or where a building is undergoing an active renovation, 
or where an approval under the Site Plan Control By-law has been obtained that 
includes containment and location of garbage. 

4.11 Building Materials - exemption 
No person shall store Building Materials on lands for more than six (6) months with 

or without a building permit. 

5.1 Fine - for contravention 

Part 5 
Enforcement 

Any person who contravenes any provision of this by-law is, upon conviction, guilty 
of an offence and is liable to any penalty as provided in the Provincial Offences Act. 

5.2 Continuation - repetition - prohibited - by order 
The court in which the conviction has been entered, and any court of competent 
jurisdiction thereafter, may make an order prohibiting the continuation or repetition 
of the offence by the person convicted and such order shall be in addition to any 
other penalty imposed on the person convicted. 

5.3 Default - not remedied - fee 
Where anything required or directed to be done in accordance with this by-law is not 
done, within the required time frame the Enforcement Officer or persons designated 
by the Enforcement Officer for The Corporation of the City of Port Colborne, may 
upon such notice, do such thing at the expense of the person required to do it and , 
in so doing, may charge administration fee of 15% of such expense with a minimum 
fee of as set out in Schedule 'B' of this by-law; and both the expense and fee may 
be recovered by action or in like manner as municipal taxes. 

5.4 Removal 
Where any of the matters or things are removed in accordance with section 5.3 of 
this By-law the matters or things may be immediately disposed of by the 
Enforcement Officer. 

5.5 Officer - entry to inspect 
An Enforcement Officer designated to perform inspections pursuant to this By-law 
may at all reasonable times, enter onto land for the purposes of an inspection of the 
land . 

525



5.6 City- bring property to compliance 
Where it becomes necessary to proceed pursuant to section 5.3 of this By-law, a 
Enforcement Officer may enter onto the lands with any person and the appropriate 
equipment as required to bring the property into compliance with this by-law. 

5.7 Work Order- contravention of by-law 
If the Enforcement Officer is satisfied that a contravention of the by-law has 
occurred, the officer may make an order, known as a Work Order (Schedule "A"), 
requiring the person who contravened theBy-law or who caused or permitted the 
contravention or the owner or occupier of the land on which the contravention 
occurred to do the work to correct the contravention. 

5.8 Work Order· contents 
The Work Order shall set out: 

(a) the municipal address or the legal description of the land; 
(b) reasonable particulars of the contravention and of the work to be done; 
(c) a deadline, being a specific date, for compliance with the Work Order (See 

Schedule C); and 
( d) a notice that if the work is not done in compliance with the Work Order by the 

deadline, the municipality may have the work done at the expense of the 
owner and the cost of the work may be recovered by adding the amount to the 
owner's tax roll. 

5.9 Work Order - service 
The Work Order may be delivered by any one or more of the following methods: 

(a) personal delivery to the person to whom it is addressed ; 
(b) personal or couriered delivery to either an adult person, or to the mailbox, of 

the residential address of the addressee; 
(c) delivery by registered or certified mail ; 
(d) delivery by facsimile transmission; or 
(e) posted as a placard in a conspicuous location at the site which is the subject 

matter of the notice; 
(f) posted as a door hanger at the site which is the subject matter of the notice; 
(g) delivery by Xpresspost of prepaid mail. 

5.10 Deemed Delivery 
(a) Where a notice is personally delivered, it is considered to have been 

delivered at the date and time at which it was handed to the addressee. 
(b) Where a notice is personally delivered to the residential address of the 

addressee, it is considered to have been delivered on the next business day 
following the date of delivery. 

(c) Where a notice is delivered by registered or certified mail , it is deemed to 
have been delivered on the fifth business day after the day of mailing . 

(d) Where a notice is delivered by facsimile, it is considered to have been 
delivered on the next business day following the date showing on the 
proof of transmission document. 

(e) Where a notice is posted on occupied property in accordance with 
section 5.9 (e) and 5.9 (f),.n it is considered to have been delivered the 
next business day following the date it is posted. 

(f) Where a notice is posted on unoccupied property in accordance with 
Section 5 .9 ( e), it is considered to have been delivered five (5) days after 
the date it is posted . 

(g) Where a notice is delivered by Xpresspost, it is deemed to have been 
delivered on the next business day following the day of mailing . 

5.11 Repeat Offender 

Where it becomes necessary to enforce this By-law within the same calendar 
year. The time frames for work to be completed are set out in Schedule 'C' 

Part 6 

526



Enactment 

6.1 By-law - Repeal 
That By-law 6329/09/16 , Being a By-law to Provide for the Maintenance of 
Property of Land (Lot Maintenance By-law), is hereby repealed in its entirety. 

6.2 Effective Date 
This by-law comes into force on the day it is passed. 

6.3 Short Title 
The short title of this by-law shall be the "Lot Maintenance By-law". 

Enacted and passed this 23rd day of April, 2018 

John Maloney 
Mayor 

Amber LaPointe 
City Clerk 

527



City Of Port Colborne 

By-law No. ________ _ 

Schedule "A" 

OPTION 'A' 

WORK ORDER - Contravention of the By-law 
Pursuant to Subsection 3.14 of the City of Port Col borne 
Lot Maintenance By-law 

Date issued: I File No.: 
Address to which order applies: I 
Order issued to: 
Owner Name 
Street Address 
Citv, Province 
Postal Code 

I 

I 

A contravention of Part of the City of Port Colborne Lot Maintenance By-law 
________ is found to exist at the above noted address: 

CONTRAVENTION ACTION REQUIRED 

Insert here: Items in contravention Insert here: the type of refuse/issue that is on the 
property (i. e garbage, debris.) 

Refuse includes but is not limited to: 

You are hereby ordered, under Subsection ____ of the City of Port Colborne 
Lot Maintenance By-law to bring this property in to compliance 
on or before: (Insert here: compliance 
date) (See Schedule C for timeframes). 

Failure to do so The Corporation of the City of Port Colborne (or designate) will cause 
the property to be brought into compliance in accordance with Part 5 (Sections 5.3 and 
5.4) of By-law of the City of Port Colborne. The City may recover the 
costs incurred by it in doing the work or causing it to be done from the person directed 
or required to do it by action or by adding the costs to the tax roll and collecting them in 
the same manner as property taxes. 

By-law Enforcement inspections where required as a result of a failure to remedy a by
law violation by the date of compliance as set out in a written notice/order are subject to 
a re-inspection fee of $95 .00 . This fee will be levied following the re-inspection and is 
subject to HST. 

Order issued by: _________ _____ ______ _ 
Officer - MLEO 
City of Port Colborne 

OPTION 'B' - GREEN TAG - Grass Violation Door Hanger as attached. 

528



City of Port Colborne 

By-law No. _ _ _____ _ 

Schedule "B" 

Fees 

As set out in the City of Port Colborne Consolidated Fees and Charges By-law 
6558/13/18, Schedule T 

529



City of Port Colborne 

By-law No. _______ _ 

Schedule "C" 

Time Frame for Work to be Completed 

Item Time Frame for Work - Excluding 
Delivery Time 

Remove refuse 7 days 
Remove open household garbage 7 days 
Clear qrass over 15cm 3 days 
Remove water 30 cm 2 days 
Maintain swimminq pool water 5 days 
Enclose excavation 2 days 
Miscellaneous 5 days 

Repeat Offenders Time Frame for Work to be Completed 

Item 
Time Frame for Work - Excluding 

Deliverv Time 
Remove refuse 3 days 
Remove open household qarbaqe 3 days 
Clear qrass over 15cm 2 days 
Remove water 30 cm 2 days 
Maintain swimming pool water 2 days 
Enclose excavation 2 days 
Miscellaneous 2 days 

530



The Corporation of the City of Port Colborne 

By-law No. _ _ _ _ 

Being a By-law to regulate the use of lands and the 
character, location and use of buildings and structures within 

the City of Port Colborne (Zoning By-law Amendment) 

Whereas Section 34 of the Planning Act, R. S. 0 . 1990, c. P. 13 provides that 
councils of local municipalities may pass by-laws to regulate the use of lands and the 
character, location and use of buildings and structures; 

Whereas, Planning and Development Department, Planning Division Report No. 
2018-14 provided all text and schedules of a new comprehensive zoning by-law; 

Whereas, the Council of The Corporation of the City of Port Col borne has 
deemed it to be in the public interest that such a by-law be enacted; 

Now therefore, and pursuant to the provisions of Section 34 of the Planning Act, 
R. S. 0. 1990, The Corporation of the City of Port Col borne enacts as follows: 

1. A new Comprehensive Zoning By-law for the City of Port Colborne. 

2. That By-law 1150/97/81 , being the existing Zoning By-law and any and all 
amendments thereto, be hereby rescinded and repealed . 

Enacted and passed this 23rd day of April, 2018. 

John Maloney 
Mayor 

Amber LaPointe 
City Clerk 

531



This page intentionally left blank. 

532



I 

-----~-~--------
PORT COLBORNE 

City of Port Colborne 

Comprehensive Zoning By-law I 118 
April 23, 2018 

533



Table of Contents 

Page 
No. 

Section 1 Administration and Interpretation 

1.1 Title 4 

1.2 Administration 4 

1.2.1 Conformity and Compliance with By-law 4 
1.2.2 Legal Non-Conforming Uses Continued 4 
1.2.3 Building Permit Issued 4 

1.3 Interpretation 5 

1.3.1 Definitions 5 
1.3.2 Singular and Plural Words and Genders 5 
1.3.3 Public Utilities 5 
1.3.4 Schedules 5 
1.3.5 Interpretation of Zone Boundaries 5 
1.3.6 More Than One Zone on a Lot 6 
1.3. 7 Establishment of Holding Zones 6 

1.4 Enforcement 6 

1.5 Inspection of Premises 6 

1.6 Severability 6 

1.7 Effective Date 7 

1.8 Technical Changes 7 

Section 2 General Provisions 

2.1 Requirement for a Lot 9 

2.1.1 Reduction of a Lot Area 9 

2.2 Uses Permitted in All Zones 10 

2.3 Uses Prohibited in all Zones 10 

2.31 Source Water Protection 11 

2.4 Temporary Uses 12 

2.5 Human Habitation 13 

534



2.6 Multiple Uses on a Lot 13 

2.7 Non-Conforming Buildings and Structures 14 

2.8 Accessory Buildings 

2.8.1 General Provisions 14 
2.8.2 Lot Coverage 15 

2.9 Accessory Uses to a Dwelling 14 

2.9 .1 Accessory Dwelling Unit 15 
2.9.1.1 Dwelling Unit, Interior Accessory 15 
2.9.1.2 Dwelling Unit, Detached Accessory 16 

2.9.2 Home Based Businesses 17 

2.9.2.1 General Provisions 17 
2.9.2.2 Parking Requirements 18 
2.9.2.3 Signage 18 
2.9.2.4 Bed and Breakfast 19 
2.9.2.5 Home Daycare 19 

2.10 Replacement of Buildings and Structures 19 

2.10.1 Replacement of Residential Buildings 19 
2.10.2 Replacement of Buildings and Structures Other Than 20 

Residential Buildings 
2.10.3 Reconstruction of Agricultural Buildings and Structures 20 

2.11 Group Home 21 

2.12 Buildings on One Lot 22 

2.13 Sight Triangle 22 

2.13.1 Sight Triangle Distance 22 
2.13.2 Sight Triangle Exemption 23 

2.14 Lot Frontage on Roads 22 

2.15 Height 23 

2.15.1 How Height is Measured 23 
2.15.2 Height Exceptions 23 

2.16 Operating Apparatus 23 

2.17 Swimming Pools 24 

535



2.18 Outdoor Storage 24 

2.19 Permitted Encroachments 24 

2.19.1 General Structures 25 
2.19.2 Enclosed Structures 25 
2.19.3 Unenclosed Structures 25 

2.20 Minimum Distance Separation (M.D.S) Formulae 26 

2.21 Railway Right-of-Way 26 

2.22 Municipal Drains 26 

2.23 Food Vehicles 26 

2.24 Outdoor Commercial Patio 26 

2.25 Storage of Refuse 27 

Section 3 Parking Provisions 

3.1 Parking Space Requirements 28 

3.1 .1 Parking Space Requirements for Residential Uses 28 
3.1.2 Parking Space Requirements for Non-Residential Uses 29 
3.1.3 Calculation of Parking Requirement 29 

3.2 Parking Space Dimensions 29 

3.3 Accessible Parking 30 

3.4 Parking Location 30 

3.5 Parking Area 30 

3.6 Encroachment into Yards 30 

3.7 Ingress and Egress Standards 31 

3.8 Additions to Existing Buildings with Legal Non-Conforming Parking 31 

3.9 Parking Prohibitions 31 

3.9.1 Large Motor Vehicle 31 
3.9.2 Recreation Vehicle , Boat, Recreation Trailer, Utility Trailer 31 

3.10 Loading Spaces 32 

536



3.11 Landscape Provisions for Parking Areas 32 

3.11.1 Landscape Buffer Provisions 32 
3.11.2 Minimum Landscaped Open Space within Parking Areas 32 

3.12 Drive-Thru Facility 33 
3.12.1 Drive-Thru Facility Stacking Lanes 33 

3.13 Bicycle Parking Spaces 33 

3.13.1 Required Bicycle Parking 33 

3.14 Stand Alone Parking Lot 34 

Section 4 Establishment of Zones 

4.1 List of Zone Names and Symbols 35 

4.2 List of Zone Layers 35 

4.3 Special Provisions 36 

4.4 Hold ing (H) Provisions 36 

4.4.1 Development Holding (DH) Provisions 36 
4.4.2 Conversion (CH) Provisions 37 

Section 5 First Density Residential Zone (R1) 

5.1 General 38 

5.2 Permitted Uses 38 

5.3 Zone Requirements - Dwelling , Detached 38 

Section 6 Second Density Residential Zone (R2) 

6.1 General 39 

6.2 Permitted Uses 39 

6.3 Zone Requirements - Dwelling, Detached 39 

6.4 Zone Requirements - Dwelling, Duplex 39 

6.5 Zone Requirements - Dwelling, Semi-Detached 40 

Section 7 Third Density Residential Zone (R3) 

7.1 General 41 

537



7.2 Permitted Uses 41 

7.3 Zone Requirements - Dwelling, Semi-Detached 41 

7.4 Zone Requirements - Dwelling, Duplex 42 

7.5 Zone Requirements - Dwelling, Triplex 42 

7.6 Zone Requirements - Dwelling, Fourplex 42 

7.7 Zone Requirements - Townhouse, Block 43 

7.8 Zone Requirements - Townhouse, Street 43 

7.9 Zone Requirements - Dwelling, Detached 43 

Section 8 Fourth Density Residential Zone (R4) 

8.1 General 45 

8.2 Permitted Uses 45 

8.3 Zone Requirements - Dwelling, Triplex 45 

8.4 Zone Requirements - Dwelling, Fourplex 45 

8.5 Zone Requirements - Dwelling, Townhouse Block 46 

8.6 Zone Requirements - Dwelling, Townhouse Street 46 

8.7 Zone Requirements - Apartment Buildings, Apartment Buildings, Public 47 

8.8 Zone Requirements - Dwelling, Detached 

8.9 Zone Requirements - Semi-Detached Dwelling 

Section 9 Residential Townhouse Zone (RT) 

9.1 General 48 

9.2 Permitted Uses 48 

9.3 Zone Requirements - Dwelling, Townhouse Block 48 

9.4 Zone Requirements - Dwelling, Townhouse Street 48 

Section 10 Rural Residential Zone (RR) 

10.1 General 50 

538



10.2 Permitted Uses 50 

10.3 Zone Requirements - Dwelling, Detached 50 

Section 11 Lakeshore Residential Zone (LR) 

11.1 General 51 

11 .2 Permitted Uses 51 

11 .3 Zone Requirements - Dwelling Detached or Dwelling , Seasonal 51 

11.4 Additional Zone Requirements - Accessory Structures 51 

Section 12 Hamlet Residential Zone (HR) 

12.1 General 52 

12.2 Permitted Uses 52 

12.3 Zone requirements - Dwelling Detached 52 

Section 13 Residential Development Zone (RD) 

13.1 General 53 

\13 .2 Permitted Uses 53 

13.3 Zone Requirements - Dwelling Detached 53 

Hamlet Development Zone (HD) 

14.1 General 53 

14.2 Permitted Uses 53 

14.3 Zone Requirements - Dwelling Detached 53 

Rural (RU) 

15.1 General 55 

15.2 Permitted Uses 55 

15.3 Zone Requirements 55 

15.4 Zone Requirements - Agricultural Uses 56 

15.5 Zone Requirements - Dwelling Detached 56 

539



15.6 Zone Requirements - Accessory Structures to Dwellings 56 

15.7 Zone Requirements - Kennels 57 

15.8 Zone Requirements - Medical Marihuana Production Facility 57 

Section 16 Agricultural Residential Zone (AR) 

16.1 General 59 

16.2 Permitted Uses 59 

16.3 Zone Requirements - Dwelling Detached 59 

16.4 Zone Requirements -Accessory Structures to Dwellings 59 

Section 17 Agricultural Zone (A) 

17.1 General 61 

17.2 Permitted Uses 61 

17.3 Zone Requirements 61 

17.4 Additional Zone Requirements - Accessory Structures to Dwellings 62 

17.5 Additional Zone Requirements - Kennels 62 

17.6 Additional Zone Requirements - Agri-tourism and Value Added Uses 62 

17.7 Additional Zone Requirements - Medical Marihuana Production Facility 63 

Section 18 Agricultural Purposes Only Zone (APO) 

18.1 General 64 

18.2 Permitted Uses 64 

18.3 Zone Requirements 64 

Section 19 Neighbourhood Commercial Zone (NC) 

19.1 General 65 

19.2 Permitted Uses 65 

19.3 Zone Requirements 65 

19.4 Additional Zone Requirements - Dwelling, Accessory 66 

540



Hamlet Commercial Zone (HMC) 

20.1 General 67 

20.2 Permitted Uses 67 

20.3 Zone Requirements 67 

20.4 Additional Zone Requirements - Dwelling, Accessory 68 

Mixed Use (MU) Zone 

21.1 General 69 

21.2 Permitted Uses 69 

21.3 Zone Requirements - Non-Residential Buildings and Mixed Use 70 
(Residential and Non-Residential) Buildings 

21.4 Additional Zone Requirements - Dwelling , Detached 70 

21 .5 Additional Zone Requirements - Dwelling, Semi- Detached 71 

21 .6 Additional Zone Requirements - Dwelling , Duplex 71 

21.7 Additional Zone Requirements - Dwelling , Triplex 72 

21.8 Additional Zone Requirements - Dwelling, Fourplex 72 

21 .9 Additional Zone Requirements - Dwelling , Townhouse Street 72 

21.10 Additional Zone Requirements - Apartment Building, Apartment Building , 73 
Public 

21.11 Additional Zone Requirements - Dwelling, Accessory 73 

21 .12 Additional Zone Requirements - Attached Accessory Use 74 

Commercial Plaza Zone (CP) 

22.1 General 75 

22 .2 Permitted Uses 75 

22 .3 Zone Requirements 76 

Downtown Commercial Zone (DC) 

23.1 General 77 

23.2 Permitted Uses 77 

541



23.3 Zone Requirements 78 

23.4 Parking Requirements 78 

23.5 Additional Zone Requirements -Apartment Building, Apartment Building, 79 
Public 

23.6 Additional Zone Requirements - Dwelling, Accessory 79 

23.7 Additional Zone Requirements -Attached Accessory Use 79 

Highway Commercial Zone (HC) 

24.1 General 80 

24.2 Permitted Uses 80 

24.3 Zone Requirements 81 

24.4 Additional Requirements - Dwelling , Accessory 81 

24.5 Additional Zone Requirements - Attached Accessory Use 81 

Marine Commercial Zone (MC) 

25.1 General 82 

25.2 Permitted Uses 82 

25.3 Zone Requirements 82 

Light Industrial Zone (LI) 

26.1 General 84 

26.2 Permitted Uses - Principal 84 

26.3 Permitted Uses - Accessory 84 

26.4 Zone Requirements 85 

26 .5 Additional Zone Requirements - Medical Marihuana Production Facility 86 

Heavy Industrial Zone (HI) 

27.1 General 88 

27.2 Permitted Uses - Principal 88 

27.3 Permitted Uses - Accessory 88 

542



27.4 Zone Requirements 89 

27.5 Additional Zone Requirements - Medical Marihuana Production Facility 90 

Mineral Aggregate Operation Zone (MAO) 

28.1 General 92 

28 .2 Permitted Uses 92 

28.3 Zone Requirements 92 

Gateway Industrial Zone (GI) 

29 .1 General 93 

29.2 Permitted Uses 93 

29.3 Permitted Uses - Accessory 93 

29.4 Zone Requirements 93 

29.5 Additional Zone Requirements - Medical Marihuana Production Facility 95 

Industrial Development Zone (ID) 

30.1 General 96 

30.2 Permitted Uses 96 

30.3 Zone Requirements 96 

Institutional Zone (I) 

31 .1 General 98 

31 .2 Permitted Uses 98 

31 .3 Zone Requirements 98 

31.4 Additional Zone Requirements - Dwelling , Ac9+cessory 99 

31 .5 Additional Zone Requirements - Apartment Building, Public 99 

Public and Park (P) 

32 .1 General 100 

32 .2 Permitted Uses 100 

543



32.3 Zone Requirements 100 

Vacation Residential Zone (VR) 

33.1 General 102 

33.2 Permitted Uses 102 

33.3 Zone Requirements 103 

33.4 Additional Zoning Requirements - Campground, Permanent 103 

Environmental Protection Zone (EP) 

34.1 General 104 

34.2 Permitted Uses 104 

34.3 Zone Requirements 104 

34.4 Additional Zone Requirements - Boat House, Boat Ramp, Dock 105 

Hazard Zone (H) 

35 .1 General 106 

35.2 Permitted Uses 106 

35.3 Zone Requirements 106 

35.4 Additional Zone Requirements - Boat House, Boat Ramp, Dock 107 

Environmental Conservation Layer 

36.1 General 108 

36.2 Permitted Uses 108 

36.3 Overlay Requirements 108 

36.4 Additional Overlay Requirements - Boat House, Boat Ramp, Dock 109 

Special Provisions 

37.1 General 110 

37.2 List of Special Provisions 110 

38 Definitions 111 

39 Zone Schedules A to A9 152 

544



This page intentionally left blank 

545



Preamble 

Introduction 

This preamble explains the purpose of this Zoning By-law and how it should be used. 
While this preamble does not form part of the Zoning By-law passed by Council it is 
intended to make the Zoning By-law more understandable and easier to reference. 

Purpose of this Zoning By-law 

The purpose of this Zoning By-law is to implement the policies of the City of Port 
Colborne Official Plan. The Official Plan contains general policies that affect the use of 
land throughout the municipality. These policies specify where certain land uses are 
permitted and, in some instances, what regulations should apply to the development of 
certain lots. This Zoning By-law replaces the City's existing Zoning By-law 1150/97/81. 

The City of Port Colborne Official Plan is a general document that is not intended to 
regulate every aspect of the built form on a lot. This is generally the role of the Zoning 
By-law. Once an Official Plan is in effect, any Zoning By-law passed by Council must 
conform to it. For example, if the Official Plan stated that lands in the vicinity of a 
significant natural feature such as a Provincially Significant Wetland are to remain in 
their natural state, the Zoning By-law would prohibit the construction of buildings or 
structures on those lands. 

The statutory authority to zone land is granted by the Planning Act R.S.O. 1990, c.p. 13 
as amended (the "Planning Acf') . The Planning Act specifies what a By-law can 
regulate. A Zoning By-law can: 

• Prohibit the use of a lot or buildings for any use that is not specifically permitted 
by the By-law; 

• Prohibit the construction of siting of buildings and structures on a lot except in 
locations permitted by the By-law; 

• Regulate the type of construction and the height, bulk, location, size, floor area, 
spacing and use of buildings or structures; 

• Regulate the minimum frontage and depth of a lot; 
• Regulate the proportion of a lot that any building or structure may occupy; 
• Regulate the minimum elevation of doors, windows or other openings in buildings 

or structures; 
• Require parking and loading facilities be provided and maintained for a purpose 

permitted by the By-law; and 
• Prohibit the use of lands and the construction of buildings or structures on land 

that has environmental or archeological constraints. 

Description of By-law Components 

1 

546



This By-law contains 39 sections which taken together provide the standards applicable 
to all lots within the municipality. 

The purpose of each of these sections is described below. 

Section 1: Administration and Interpretation 

This section of the By-law specifies: 

• What lots are governed by the By-law; 
• That every lot in the area covered by this By-law shall conform and comply with 

this By-law; and 
• What penalties can be levied against a person or corporation if this By-law is 

contravened. 

Section 2: General Provisions 

This section contains a number of regulations that apply to certain types of uses, 
buildings or structures regardless of where in the municipality or in what zone they are 
located. For example, this section contains provisions dealing with the construction of 
accessory buildings and provisions that regulate the operation of home based business. 

Section 3: Parking Provisions 

This section provides regulations dealing with the number of parking spaces required for 
uses, accessible parking spaces, minimum parking space size, bicycle parking facilities, 
and the location of parking facilities on a lot. 

Section 4: Establishment of Zones 

This section sets out the zones and a list of the uses permitted in each zone. If a use is 
not specifically listed as a permitted use in a zone then it is not permitted. In some 
zones, certain uses are only permitted under specific circumstances or only together 
with other uses. 

Section 5 to 36: Zone Provisions 

These sections list the uses that are permitted in each zone and layer and contain a 
number of regulations that control the location and character of buildings and structures, 
and includes, among other things, regulations governing lot size, lot frontage and 
building height. 

Section 37: Special Provisions 

This section provides a consolidated list of lots with special zoning provisions that are 
exceptions to the normal zone requirements of this By-law. Lots subject to special 
provisions are identified on the map schedules in Section 39. 

Section 38: Definitions 

2 

547



Definitions in this section provide clarity and consistency in the implementation of this 
By-law. 

Section 39: Zone Schedules 

This section contains maps of the City showing the zoning of each lot and site specific 
lot information where applicable. 

3 

548



Section 1: Administration and Interpretation 

1.1 Title 

This By-law may be cited as "the Zoning By-law". 

1.2 Administration 

This By-law shall be administered and enforced by the City of Port Colborne 
("City") and applies to all lots within the City. 

1.2.1 Conformity and Compliance with By-law 

No person shall change the use of any building, structure or lot; erect or 
use any building or structure; or occupy any building, structure or lot 
except in accordance with the provisions of this By-law. Where any 
building, structure or lot is used for more than one purpose, all provisions 
of this By-law relating to each separate use shall be applied. All 
applicable provisions of this By-law apply to an individual lot unless stated 
otherwise. 

Any use (primary or accessory) not specifically permitted by this By-law is 
not permitted. A use defined in Section 39 but not identified as a 
permitted use in any zone or by special provision is not permitted. 

1.2.2 Legal Non-Conforming Uses Continued 

Nothing in this By-law shall prevent the use of any lot, building or structure 
for any purpose permitted by this By-law if such lot, building or structure 
was lawfully used for such purpose prior to the passing of this By-law 
provided that: 

a) Such use, building or structure which was lawfully established prior 
to the date of passing of this By-law and continues to be used for 
that purpose. 

1.2.3 Building Permit Issued 

Nothing in this By-law shall prevent the erection or use of any building or 
structure for a purpose prohibited by this By-law if the plans for such 
building or structure were approved by the Chief Building Official prior to 
the date of passing of this By-law provided that: 

a) When the building or structure is erected, it shall be used and shall 
continue to be used only for the same purpose for which the said 
building or structure was intended when such building permit was 
issued. 

4 

549



1.3 Interpretation 

Nothing in this By-law shall seNe to relieve any person from any obligation to 
comply with the requirements of any other By-law of the City, or any other 
regulation, requirement or standard of upper tier governments and agencies, 
including but not limited to the Regional Municipality of Niagara, the Province of 
Ontario, the Government of Canada, the Canadian National Railway, the Niagara 
Peninsula Conservation Authority, the Ministry of Transportation, The Ministry of 
Agriculture, Food and Rural Affairs, the Ministry of the Environment and other 
Provincial and Federal Ministries, departments and agencies. 

Nothing in this By-law shall be construed to exempt any person from complying 
with the requirements of the Ontario Building Code or Ontario Fire Code. 

1.3. 1 Definitions 

Unless otherwise defined in Section 38, the words and phrases 
used in this By-law have their common, dictionary meaning. 

1.3.2 Singular and Plural Words and Genders 

In this By-law, unless the context requires otherwise: 

a) Words used in the singular numbers include the plural ; 

b) Words used in the plural include the singular number; and 

c) Words used in the masculine gender include the feminine. 

1.3.3 Public Utilities 

Nothing in this By-law shall prevent the use of any land for the 
erection of buildings or structures, or the installation of public works 
providing public utilities by a regulated company or government 
agency. 

1.3.4 Schedules 

The Schedules attached to this By-law form part of the By-law. 
Schedule A shows the Zones and Zone Boundaries. Schedules A 1 
through A9 show detailed lot specific information. 

1.3.5 Interpretation of Zone Boundaries 

When determining the boundary of any zone as shown on the 
Schedules forming part of this By-law the following shall apply: 

a) A boundary indicated as following a highway, road (improved 
or unimproved), lane, railway right-of-way or utility corridor 
shall be construed to be the centreline of such highway, 
street, lane, railway right-of-way, utility corridor. 

5 

550



b) A boundary indicated as following a shoreline or a top of 
bank shall follow such shoreline or top of bank as located 
through survey or other similar means. In the event of a 
change in the shoreline or top of bank the boundary shall 
move with the actual shoreline or top of bank. 

c) A boundary indicated as following lot lines or the municipal 
boundaries of the City of Port Colborne shall follow such lot 
lines or municipal boundary. 

d) Where none of the above applies, the zone boundary shall 
be scaled from the Schedule(s). 

1.3.6 More Than One Zone on a Lot 

Where a lot has more than one zone applied thereon, all provisions 
in the pertinent zone shall be satisfied on each such portion of the 
lot so zoned. 

1.3. 7 Establishment of Holding Zones 

Pursuant to Section 36 of the Planning Act, Holding Zones are 
hereby established by the use of the symbol "H" as a suffix to the 
zone symbol. For lands subject to a Holding symbol, only those 
uses, buildings and structures in existence at the time of the 
passing of the By-law applying the Holding symbol will be permitted 
and no building or structure shall be altered or erected until the 
Holding symbol is removed by amendment to the By-law. The 
requirements for lifting each Holding symbol are set out in Section 
4.4 and Section 37 of this Zoning By-law. 

1.4 Enforcement 

Any person or corporation that contravenes any provision of this By-law is guilty 
of an offense and upon conviction is liable to the penalties as provided for in the 
Planning Act. 

1.5 Inspection of Premises 

The Director of Planning and Development or any official or employee of the 
Municipality acting under his or her direction, is hereby authorized to enter, at all 
reasonable hours, upon any property or premises in or about which there is 
reason to believe that provisions of this By-law are not being complied with, and 
for the purpose of carrying out his or her duties under this By-law. 

1.6 Severability 

A decision of a court that one or more of the provisions of this By-law are invalid 
in whole or in part does not affect the validity, effectiveness or enforceability of 
the other provisions or parts of the provisions of this By-law. 

6 

551



1. 7 Effective Date 

This By-law shall come into force the day it is passed. 

1.8 Technical Changes 

Provided that the purpose, effect, intent, meaning and substance of this By-law 
are in no way affected, and as determined by the Director of Planning and 
Development, or any official or employee of the Municipality acting under his or 
her direction, the following technical revisions to this By-law are permitted without 
a Zoning By-law amendment: 

a) Changes to the numbering, cross-referencing, format and 
arrangement of the text, tables and maps; 

b) Additions to and revisions of technical information on maps 
including but not limited to: infrastructure, topographic information, 
notes, legends, shading and title blocks; 

c) Alterations of punctuation; and 

d) Correction of grammatical, dimensional, boundary, mathematical or 
typographic errors. 

7 

552



BY-LAW XXXX/XX/18 

A By-law to regulate the use of land, the bulk, height, location, erection and use of 
buildings and structures, the provision of parking spaces and other associated matters 
in the City of Port Colborne. 

WHEREAS the City of Port Colborne Official Plan was adopted in September 2012 by 
City Council and approved in December 2012 by Regional Council and approved by the 
Ontario Municipal Board in November 2013; 

AND WHEREAS it is deemed advisable to pass a By-law pursuant to s. 34 of the 
Planning Act, R.S.O., 1990, c. P. 13, as amended . 

The Council of the Corporation of the City of Port Colborne enacts as follows: 

8 

553



Section 2: General Provisions 

2.1 Requirement for a Lot 

a) Except as otherwise provided in this By-law, no building or structure shall 
be erected, altered, extended or enlarged except upon a lot nor shall any 
land be used for a permitted use unless it comprises a lot; but this 
provision shall not prevent the use of any parcel or tract of land for lawfully 
existing agricultural purposes excluding the erection or enlargement of any 
building or structure except a fence. 

b) Notwithstanding anything contained in this By-law, a parcel which is 
situated in any zone, and which lacks either the required lot frontage or lot 
area, or both the lot frontage and lot area for the lot in the respective zone, 
is and shall be deemed to be a lot provided that: 

i) The description of such parcel is the same as in a deed registered 
on or prior to the date of passing of this By-law; 

ii) Such parcel could have been conveyed legally on the date of the 
passing of this By-law by way of deed, transfer, mortgage, charge 
or agreement of purchase and sale without consent under Section 
50 of the Planning Act, being Chapter 349 of the Revised Statutes 
of Ontario, 1970, as amended from time to time. 

iii) All relevant regulations made under the Public Health Act and all 
relevant regulations required of the Regional Municipality of 
Niagara or any other authority having jurisdiction are complied with 
including septic requirements; 

iv) All other requirements of the applicable zone are complied with, 
and where said parcel qualified under this section as a deemed lot, 
said deemed lot may be used for the purposes as permitted in the 
zone in which it is located, notwithstanding that it does not comply 
with the area and frontage requirements of that zone; and 

2. 1.1 Reduction of Lot Area 

a) No person shall reduce the lot area or make any changes in the 
dimensions of a lot as required by this By-law by the conveyance or 
alienation of any portion thereof or otherwise, except at the discretion of 
the Committee of Adjustment or except by a conveyance in accordance 
with Section 2.1.1 (b ), so that any building or structure on such lot shall 
have a lot coverage that exceeds or a front yard depth, side yard depth, 
rear yard depth, lot frontage, lot area or lot depth that is less than that 
permitted by this By-law but does not include a registered use. 

9 

554



b) Where the area of a lot is reduced by means of an acquisition of part of 
the lot by a public agency for the purpose of providing a public service, 
and where such acquisition causes the lot as reduced, or any building or 
structure existing lawfully on the lot on the date of such acquisition to have 
a lot area, lot frontage, lot depth, lot coverage, front yard depth, side yard 
depth or rear yard depth that does not conform to the requirements hereof 
for the zone in which such lot is located, then the lot as reduced shall 
continue to be used as if no such acquisition had taken place provided 
that: 

i) No change is made in the dimensions or area of the lot as reduced , 
subsequent to the date of such acquisition, that would increase the 
extent of the said non-conformity; and 

ii) No building, structure or addition is erected on the lot as reduced, 
subsequent to the date of such acquisition, except in accordance 
with all of the provisions hereof for the zone in which such lot is 
located. 

2.2 Uses Permitted in All Zones 

a) Nothing in this By-law shall prevent the use of any land as a public use 
provided by or on behalf of the City, Regional Municipality of Niagara or 
Province of Ontario for the erection of buildings or structures, or the 
installation of other facilities essential to the operation of water works, 
street lighting, cable and telephone lines, railways and works for the 
transmission of gas, oil, water or electrical power or energy, or wayside 
pits and quarries, provided that any such use, building or structure 
provided that: 

i) Any buildings or structures shall be in compliance with the relevant 
provisions of this By-law; 

ii) Any building, structure or use shall not adversely affect the 
character or amenity of the neighbourhood in which it is located. 

b) Nothing in this By-law shall prevent the erection of any properly authorized 
traffic sign or signal, or any sign or notice of any local or other government 
department of authority. 

2.3 Uses Prohibited in All Zones 

a) Abattoir; 

c) Mobile Home Park; 

d) Salvage Yard; 

e) Solid Waste Disposal Facility; 

10 

555



f) Trailer Park; 

g) Sites for the treatment and disposal of liquid waste, hazardous waste, or 
any other waste which requires special treatment; 

h) Locating or storing on any land for any purpose whatsoever any disused 
railroad car, sea container or similar shipping container, streetcar body, 
truck body or trailer without wheels, whether or not the same is situated on 
a foundation, except, in the Industrial Zones and Site Specific Zones that 
permit industrial type uses and City owned lands Zoned Public and Park 
located on the City's Island (Mellanby Avenue/Killaly Street West); and 

i) Any use where its nature or the material used therein is considered a 
noxious use as defined in Section 39. 

a) Nothing in this By-law shall prevent the use of any land as a public use 
provided by or on behalf of the City, Regional Municipality of Niagara or 
Province of Ontario for the erection of buildings or structures, or the 
installation of other facilities essential to the operation of water works, 
street lighting, cable and telephone lines, railways and works for the 
transmission of gas, oil, water or electrical power or energy, or wayside 
pits and quarries, provided that any such use, building or structure 
provided that: 

i) Any buildings or structures shall be in compliance with the relevant 
provisions of this By-law; 

ii) Any building, structure or use shall not adversely affect the 
character or amenity of the neighbourhood in which it is located. 

b) Nothing in this By-law shall prevent the erection of any properly authorized 
traffic sign or signal, or any sign or notice of any local or other government 
department of authority. 

f) Sites for the treatment and disposal of liquid waste, hazardous waste, or 
any other waste which requires special treatment; 

g) Locating or storing on any land for any purpose whatsoever any disused 
railroad car, sea container or similar shipping container, streetcar body, 
truck body or trailer without wheels, whether or not the same is situated on 
a foundation, except, in the Industrial Zones and Site Specific Zones that 
permit industrial type uses and City owned lands Zoned Public and Park 
located on the City's Island (Mellanby Avenue/Killaly Street West); and 

h) Any use where its nature or the material used therein is considered a 
noxious use as defined in Section 39. 

2.3.1 Source Water Protection 

11 

556



a) Notwithstanding any other provisions of the by-law to the contrary, the 
following uses shall be prohibited within the Intake Protection Zone 1 (IPZ-
1) shown as IPZ-1 on Schedules A6 and A7 in Section 39 of this By-law: 

i) Waste Disposal Site; 

ii) Pesticide storage greater than 2,500 kg; 

iii) Open Storage of road salt greater than 5,000 tonnes; 

iv) Storage of snow greater than 1 hectare; 

v) Stormwater Management Facility, or the expansion of a Stormwater 
Management Facility existing prior to August 28, 2017; 

vi) Combined Sewer; 

vii) Wastewater Treatment Facility; 

viii) Industrial Effluent System; and 

ix) Agricultural Use, including the storage or application of agricultural 
source material. 

b) Notwithstanding any other provisions of the by-law to the contrary, the 
following uses shall be prohibited within Intake Protection Zone 2 (IPZ-2) 
shown as IPZ-2 on Schedules A6 and A7 in Section 39 of this By-law: 

i) Waste Disposal Site; 

ii) Stormwater management facility, or the expansion of a storm water 
management facility existing prior to August 28, 2017; and 

iii) Agricultural Use, including the storage or application of agricultural 
source material. 

c) In instances where the Risk Management Official deems a new or 
expanding Commercial/Industrial development may pose a significant 
threat to municipal drinking water within the IPZ-1 or IPZ-2, a stormwater 
management plan that demonstrates and implements best management 
practices related to managing stormwater runoff shall be required to the 
satisfaction of the Risk Management Official and the City. 

2.4 Temporary Uses 

a) Nothing in this By-law shall prevent the use of any land, or the erection or 
use of any temporary building or structure for a construction camp, work 
camp, tool shed, scaffold or other temporary building or structure 
incidental to an necessary for construction work on the premises for which 
a building permit has been issued and not expired, but only for so long as 

12 

557



such use, building or structure is necessary for such construction work 
which has not been finished or abandoned. 

b) Nothing in this By-law shall prevent the use of a mobile home, motor home 
or trailer for the temporary accommodation of the residents of a lot in the 
case of a complete or partial destruction of a dwelling by fire, lightning, 
explosion, tempest, flood or Act of God, or where its demolition is by the 
order of the City of Port Colborne, the Regional Municipality of Niagara or 
other authority, for safety, health or sanitation requirements in any Zone 
for a period not to exceed 18 months provided that the property owner has 
first entered into a Development Agreement with the City in a form 
authorized generally or specifically by City Council from time to time to 
allow the temporary use of a mobile home, motor home or trailer. 

c) Nothing in this By-law shall prevent the use of a mobile home, motor home 
or trailer for the temporary accommodation during the construction of a 
new dwelling provided that the property owner has first entered into a 
Development Agreement with the City in a form authorized generally or 
specifically by City Council from time to time to allow the temporary use of 
a mobile home, motor home or trailer during the construction of a new 
dwelling. 

d) Nothing in this By-law shall prevent the use of any land, other than a sight 
triangle, in any zone for a special event held by a charitable organization 
provided any temporary building or structure incidental to, and necessary 
for, the event meets the minimum requirements of the applicable zone and 
remains on the land only during the duration of the special event. 

e) Where this By-law provides that land may be used for a dwelling unit, the 
permitted accessory use shall include a garage/yard sale provided that: 

i) No person shall conduct more than 2 garage/yard sales per 
calendar year at 1 location; and 

ii) No garage/yard sale shall exceed 2 days in duration. 

2.5 Human Habitation 

Notwithstanding anything contained in this By-law, no truck, bus, coach, street 
car body or structure of any kind, whether or not the same is mounted on wheels, 
a foundation or other form of mounting, shall be used for human habitation other 
than a dwelling unit, a mobile home, or a trailer or motor home used in 
accordance with this By-law. 

2.6 Multiple Uses on a Lot 

Notwithstanding anything contained in this By-law: 

a) Where any land, building or structure is used for more than one purpose, 
all provisions of this By-law relating to each use shall be complied with; 

13 

558



b) In no case shall a dwelling be located within 3 metres of any other building 
on the lot, except a building accessory to such dwelling; and 

c) Where standards or provisions pertaining to 2 or more uses on lot are in 
conflict, the highest or most restrictive standards or provisions shall 
prevail. 

2.7 Non-Conforming Buildings and Structures 

a) Nothing in this By-law shall prevent the rebuilding, replacement or repair 
of an existing building or structure even though such building or structure 
or the lot on which such building or structure is located does not conform 
to one or more of the provisions of this By-law, provided that the 
dimensions of the original building or structure are not increased, the use 
thereof is not altered and the yards appurtenant thereto are not reduced 
except in accordance with the provisions of this By-law, provided that such 
repair or restoration does not increase the height, size, volume or extent of 
non-conformity or non-compliance of the use, building or structure, except 
as required in order to comply with the requirements of the Ontario 
Building Code. 

b) Nothing in this By-law shall prevent a vertical or horizontal extension or 
addition from being made to an existing building or structure on a lot, even 
though such building, structure or lot does not conform to one or more of 
the requirements of this By-law, provided that: 

i) Such extension or addition does not further reduce any existing 
legal non-conforming yards but in no instance shall any extension 
or addition be permitted close than 1.0 metres to any lot line; 

ii) All other provisions of this By-law are satisfied; and 

iii) No extensions or additions shall be permitted in an Environmental 
Protection Zone. 

2.8 Accessory Buildings 

2.8.1 General Provisions 

a) Accessory buildings shall be permitted in any zone in accordance with the 
applicable zone regulations and with the following :3 

i) No accessory building shall be erected prior to the erection of the 
permitted dwelling or principal building on the same lot except 
where it is necessary for the storage of tools and materials for use 
in connection with the construction of such dwelling or building and 
no accessory building shall be used prior to the erection of such 
dwelling or building for any purpose other than such storage for a 
period not to exceed 18 months provided that the property owner 
has first entered into a Development Agreement with the City in a 

14 

559



form authorized generally or specifically by City Council from time 
to time to allow the temporary use. 

ii) No accessory building shall exceed a height of 4.6 metres, except 
as otherwise permitted in Section 2.16. 

iii) No accessory building shall be located in a front yard or corner side 
yard. 

iv) No accessory building shall be located closer than 1.5 metres to a 
main building. 

v) Unless specifically stated, no accessory structure shall be located 
less than 1 metre from an interior side or rear lot line. 

vi) The regulations governing the location of any accessory building in 
relation to a lot line, shall not apply to prevent the erection or use of 
a jointly-owned double garage which services two dwellings whose 
common lot line shall be the dividing line of such garage provided 
that such garage is not located in a required front yard or close than 
1.0 metre to any other lot line. 

vii) Notwithstanding subsections (i) through (vii) inclusive, where the 
accessory building is located within an Environmental Protection 
Zone, the Niagara Peninsula Conservation Authority regulations 
shall apply. 

2.8.2 Lot Coverage 

a) For a lot with municipal sanitary sewers and municipal water services the 
total accessory lot coverage shall not exceed 10% of the lot area of the 
said lot, excluding swimming pools . 

b) For a lot with no municipal services the total accessory lot coverage shall 
not exceed 5% of the lot area of said lot, excluding swimming pools. 

c) For a lot zoned Agriculture (A) or Rural (RU) the total accessory lot 
coverage shall not exceed 1 % of the lot area of said lot, excluding 
swimming pools. 

d) Where total coverage of all buildings on a lot is specified in a specific 
zone, the coverage for the accessory building must also conform to the 
overall coverage requirement. 

2.9 Accessory Uses to a Dwelling 

2.9.1 Accessory Dwelling Unit 

a) Notwithstanding any other provisions of this By-law, any single detached, 
semi-detached and townhouse dwelling units permitted in any zone may 
be internally converted or by way of an addition to the existing dwelling or 

15 

560



2.9.1.1 

a) 

2.9.1.2 

a) 

creation of a standalone structure or building, provide an accessory 
dwelling unit, subject to the specific zone requirements and the following: 

i) Only one accessory dwelling unit is permitted per dwelling unit. 

ii) Where the parcel proposed for an accessory dwelling unit is not 
serviced by municipal sewer and/or municipal water services, the 
minimum lot size shall be 0.4 hectares and all relevant 
requirements of the Region of Niagara are complied with. 

iii) The maximum floor area for the accessory dwelling unit shall not 
exceed 40% of the gross floor area of the dwelling. 

iv) One additional on-site parking space shall be provided for the 
accessory dwelling unit, and parking spaces may be stacked. 

v) All relevant requirements of the Ontario Building Code and Ontario 
Fire Code are complied with. 

Dwelling Unit, Interior Accessory 

Notwithstanding any other provisions of this By-law, one interior accessory 
dwelling unit is permitted in any detached dwelling, semi-detached 
dwelling unit or townhouse dwelling unit provided it complies with Section 
2.9.1 (i) to (v) and: 

i) The interior accessory dwelling unit is entirely within the exterior 
walls of the principal dwelling unit. 

ii) The external appearance and character of the single detached 
dwelling, landscaped area and outdoor amenity areas are to be 
preserved. 

iii) Additions shall be architecturally similar to the existing dwelling unit 
and use similar exterior building materials. 

iv) The entrance to the accessory dwelling unit shall be located only in 
the interior side or rear yard and no exterior stairway to the second 
floor of the dwelling or accessory dwelling unit shall be permitted in 
the front or corner side yard. 

Dwelling Unit, Detached Accessory 

Notwithstanding any other provisions of this By-law, one detached 
accessory dwelling unit is permitted in any residential zone provided it 
complies with Section 2.9.1 (i) to (v) and shall not: 

i) Be located in a required front yard or corner side yard. 

ii) Be located within any sight triangle. 

16 

561



iii) Exceed a building height of 4.6 metres. 

iv) Be located less than 1 metres from an interior side or rear lot line. 

v) Be located closer than 1.5 metres to a main building. 

2.9.2 Home Based Business 

2.9.2.1 

a) 

General Provisions 

Notwithstanding any other provisions of this By-law, a home based 
business is permitted within a dwelling unit in any zone subject to the 
following: 

i) The home based business shall be clearly secondary to the main 
residential use and shall not change the residential character of the 
dwelling. 

ii) The home occupation shall be conducted entirely within the 
dwelling unit and shall not occupy any portion of a private garage, 
carport or accessory building or structure except for the storage 
only of articles, material and supplies accessory to the home based 
business provided that the total combined floor area of the home 
based business in both the dwelling unit and accessory structure do 
not exceed the maximum floor area as described in 2.9.2 (iii). 

iii) The use occupies a maximum floor area of 25% of the total 
dwelling unit floor area to a maximum of 23 square metres 
whichever is less. 

iv) The homes based business shall be conducted by a person(s) 
residing in the dwelling and may include one non-resident 
employee. 

v) No manufacturing activity involving the processing of raw or semi
processed materials shall be carried out in conjunction with a home 
based business except for the fabrication of handmade goods or 
crafts associated with an artisan studio, home bakery, catering or 
home sewing establishment. The assembly of fully processed 
goods shall be permitted and shall only occur within the dwelling 
unit. 

vi) There shall be no exterior structural alterations or separate 
entrances to the dwelling unit for the home based business. 

vii) There shall be no outside storage associated with the home based 
business. 

viii) The home based business shall not create or become a public 
nuisance in regard to persistent noise, odour, vibration, dust, light 
or glare, traffic generated or parking, nor shall it cause electrical 

17 

562



interference or interference with telephone, television, radio or 
satellite equipment. 

ix) Unless otherwise stated, not more than 2 clients or customers of 
the home based business shall be present at any time on the lot 
occupied by the dwelling unit. 

b) Repair services shall be limited to the repair of personal effects and small 
household appliances such as electronic equipment, bicycles, apparel, 
furniture, toys and sporting goods. The repair of major household 
appliances, lawn care equipment and other power equipment and vehicles 
shall not be permitted. 

c) Retail sales shall be limited to those goods, merchandise, wares, products 
and articles either produced by the home based business or associated 
with a personal service conducted on the premises. 

2.9.2.2 Parking Requirements 

a) Where a home based business is present, and in addition to the parking 
provision of this By-law, the following special parking regulations are 
applicable: 

i) 

ii) 

iii) 

2.9.2.3 

One off-street parking space shall be provided on the lot occupied 
by the dwelling unit in addition to the minimum parking area 
required by the dwelling unit. 

Parking or storage of vehicles for the home based business shall 
be prohibited in any required yard except on a driveway that has 
been graded and gravelled or surfaced with concrete, asphalt, 
crushed stone or other hard surface, dustless material. 

On-site parking spaces may be stacked. 

Sign age 

a) There shall be no exterior indication of the home based business including 
window display, open storage or display of advertising goods, materials or 
equipment associated with the home based business other than one legal 
sign per property which complies with the City of Port Colborne Sign By
law and the following regulations: 

i) The sign shall not be internally illuminated . 

ii) The sign shall not exceed 0.37 square metres in area where there 
is one home occupation in the dwelling unit or 0. 7 4 square metres 
in area where there are two or more home based businesses in the 
dwelling unit. 

iii) The sign shall not be located within a sight triangle. 

18 

563



iv) 

2.9.2.4 

The sign shall not be located closer than 1 metre to any property 
line. 

Bed and Breakfast 

a) A bed and breakfast is a permitted use within a detached dwelling subject 
to section 2.9 and the following additional regulations: 

i) 

ii) 

Despite section 2.9.1 (iii), a maximum of 4 guest rooms are 
permitted; 

The bed and breakfast establishment shall provide one off-street 
parking space per guest room in addition to the minimum parking 
area required for the dwelling unit; and 

iii) The bed and breakfast shall provide meals to guests of the bed and 
breakfast only. 

iv) 

2.9.2.5 

The bed and breakfast establishment shall be licensed in 
accordance with the City's Licensing By-law. 

Home Daycare 

a) A home daycare is permitted subject to section 2.9 and the following: 

i) Despite Section 2.9.2.1 (ix), the maximum number of non-resident 
persons being supervised is five; and 

ii) Section 2.9.1 a does not apply. 

2.10 Replacement of Buildings and Structures 

2.10.1 Replacement of Residential Buildings 

a) Any building used exclusively for residential purposes may, in the case of 
its complete destruction, be replaced with a new building or in the case of 
its partial destruction, be reconstructed where the complete or partial 
destruction is caused by fire, lightning, explosion, tempest, flood or Act of 
God, or where its demolition is by order of the City of Port Colborne, The 
Regional Municipality of Niagara or other authority for safety, health or 
sanitation requirements, provided that: 

i) Such destroyed or demolished building was lawfully used at the 
date of its partial or complete destruction or demolition; 

ii) Such building as replaced or reconstructed shall not contain a 
greater number of dwelling units than lawfully existed in the 
destroyed or demolished building at the date of its partial or 
complete destruction or demolition; 

19 

564



iii) Where the ground floor area of the destroyed or demolished 
building was less than the minimum ground floor area permitted in 
the applicable zone under th is By-law, such building as replaced or 
reconstructed , shall not contain a less floor area than lawfully 
existed in the destroyed or demolished building at the date of its 
partial or complete destruction or demolition; 

iv) Where any yard existing at the date of the partial or complete 
destruction or demolition of such building does not comply with the 
minimum yard required in the applicable zone under this By-law, 
then such yard shall not be less than the yard existing at the date of 
the partial or complete destruction, or demolition of such building; 

v) The height of such building as replaced or reconstructed, shall not 
exceed the maximum height permitted in the applicable zone under 
this By-law; and 

vi) A building permit is obtained and reconstruction work commences 
within 24 months of the date upon which the building or structure 
became unusable or unoccupied. 

2.10.2 Replacement of Buildings and Structures Other Than Residential Buildings 

a) Any building other than a building used exclusively for residential 
purposes may, in the case of its complete destruction, be replaced with a 
new building where the complete destruction is caused by fire , lightning, 
explosion, tempest, flood or Act of God, or where its demolition is by order 
of the City of Port Colborne, The Regional Municipality of Niagara or other 
authority for safety, health or sanitation requirements , provided that: 

i) Such destroyed or demolished building was in conformance with 
this By-law at the date of its complete destruction or its demolition ; 
or 

ii) For buildings not in conformance with this By-law, the ground floor 
area and gross floor area of such building as replaced does not 
exceed that existing at the date of its complete destruction or its 
demolition; and 

iii) A building permit is obtained and reconstruction work commences 
within 24 months of the date upon which the building or structure 
became unusable or unoccupied. 

2.10.3 Reconstruction of Agricultural Buildings and Structures 

a) Nothing in this By-law shall apply to prevent the reconstruction of any legal 
non-conforming or conforming agricultural building or structure situated in 
the Agricultural or Rural Zones in the case of partial or complete 
destruction caused by fire , lightning, explosion, tempest, flood or Act of 
God, or where its demolition is by order of the City of Port Colborne, The 

20 

565



Regional Municipality of Niagara or other authority for safety, health or 
sanitation requirements, provided that: 

i) Such building or structure, as replaced or reconstructed shall not 
have in total a greater livestock housing capacity than lawfully 
existed in the destroyed or demolished building or structure at the 
date of its partial or complete destruction or demolition; and 

ii) Where any yard existing at the date of the partial or complete 
destruction or demolition of such building or structure does not 
comply with the minimum yard or minimum setback required in the 
Agricultural or Rural Zones, such yard shall not be reduced in size 
by reason of such reconstruction of such building; or 

iii) If such building is to be replaced or reconstructed so that it provides 
a greater livestock housing capacity than lawfully existed in the 
destroyed or demolished building or structure at the date of its 
partial or complete destruction or demolition, such building or 
structure shall not be replaced or reconstructed except in 
accordance with the provisions of the Agricultural or Rural Zone 
regulations and the applicable MOS requirements found in Section 
2.20; and 

iv) A building permit is obtained and reconstruction work commences 
within 24 months of the date upon which the building or structure 
became unusable or unoccupied. 

2.11 Group Home 

a) Only the following types of Group Homes, as approved under Provincial 
Statute shall be permitted in any residential zone: 

i) Approved group homes; 

ii) Home for special care; 

iii) Supportive housing programs; 

iv) Children 's residence; 

v) Accommodation for adult mental health programs; 

vi) Accommodation services for individuals with a development 
disability; 

vii) Satellite residence for seniors; and 

viii) Homes for individuals who have physical disabilities when the 
Provinces license, funds or approved such a group home program. 

21 

566



b) Except for those group homes under Section 2.11 (a), the following group 
homes are not permitted in any zone except by a site specific amendment 
to the Zoning By-law: 

i) Halfway house for the socially disadvantaged; 

ii) Halfway house for alcoholics; 

iii) Halfway house for ex-offenders; and 

iv) Community resource centre. 

2.12 Buildings on One Lot 

2.13 

Except where otherwise permitted, only one principal building of the following 
uses shall be permitted on one lot: 

a) A detached dwelling; 

b) A semi-detached dwelling; 

c) A duplex dwelling ; 

d) A triplex dwelling; 

e) A fourplex dwelling; or 

Sight Triangle 

a) Unobstructed sight triangles are required on all corner lots in all zones. 

b) The area within a sight triangle shall be determined by measuring from the 
point of the intersection of the front and corner side lot lines on a corner lot 
to a point along each such lot line as set out in Section 2.13.1 (a) and 
2.13.1 (b) and joining such points with a straight line. 

c) No sign or landscaping materials including but not limited to: fences, walls, 
berms, trees, hedges or bushes shall be greater than 0.75 metres in 
height above the elevation of the ground at the street line. 

2. 13. 1 Sight Triangle Distance 

a) 

b) 

Residential Zone 

All Other Zones 

2.13.2 Sight Triangle Exemption 

6 metres 

7.5 metres 

a) Sight Triangle provisions in Section 2.13 and 2.13.1 shall not apply to any 
corner lot located within the Downtown Commercial (DC) Zone. 

2.14 Lot Frontage on Roads 

22 

567



a) No person shall construct a building or structure or otherwise use any lot 
unless the lot fronts on an improved road or lane. 

b) No lot creation shall be permitted on lanes within the urban area boundary 
as designated in the City's Official Plan. 

c) Section 2.14 (a) does not apply to: 

i) A utility installation; 

ii) A cemetery 

iii) A conservation/natural area 

d) Lot frontage shall be measured: 

i) 6 metres from the front lot line and parallel to the front lot line; or 

ii) 6 metres from the chord and parallel to the chord if the front lot line 
is a curve 

2.15 Height 

2.15.1 How Height is Measured 

a) From the grade to the highest point of the roof. 

2.15.2 Height Exceptions 

a) The height regulations of this By-law shall not apply to antennas, barns, 
chimneys, communication towers, elevator enclosures, flag poles, roof top 
mechanical equipment, silos, skylights, solar panels, spires, water tanks, 
or windmills. 

2.16 Operating Apparatus 

a) The following provisions shall apply to all Residential zones and lots 
abutting a Residential Zone. Operating apparatus shall : 

i) Be setback a minimum of 0.6 metres from any rear and side lot line; 
and 

ii) Be permitted in a front yard, and setback no greater than 0.5 
metres from the front building wall. 

2.17 Swimming Pools 

a) In addition to the provisions and setbacks contained in the City of Port 
Colborne "Pool By-law" the following shall apply: 

i) Any above-ground or in-ground swimming pool shall be located in 
an interior side yard or rear yard only; 

23 

568



ii) The interior wall surface of any above-ground or in-ground 
swimming pool shall be located no closer than 1 metre to any 
interior side lot line or rear lot line, or closer to any street than 
the setback required therefrom; 

iii) Water circulating or treatment equipment such as pumps or filters 
shall be located no closer than 3 metres to any interior side lot line 
or 1 metre to any rear lot line; and 

iv) A building or structure containing or enclosing an above-ground or 
in-ground swimming pool shall not be located in any required yard 
and shall comply with all applicable accessory structure provisions 
of the zone in which such building or structure is located. 

2.18 Outdoor Storage 

a) Except where otherwise noted , outdoor storage and garbage storage 
areas shall only be permitted in an interior side yard or a rear yard. 

2.19 Permitted Encroachments 

a) Except where otherwise permitted in this By-law every part of any required 
yard for a building or structure shall be open and unobstructed from the 
ground to the sky except for the exceptions listed in Section 2.19.1 to 
2.19.3. 

b) No part of any required yard or required court shall be obstructed by any 
building or structure or part thereof except one or more of the following 
functional and ornamental structures including but not limited to: 

i) Drop awnings; 

ii) Clothes poles 

iii) Ornamental fountains, statutes, monuments, memorials, planters 
and garden tresses; 

iv) Fences; 

v) Air conditioning units, heat pumps and generators; and 

vi) Boundary and retaining walls, hedgerows and legal signs 

2.19.1 General Structures 

Structure Type Yard Permitted Required Setback from Lot 
Line 

Eaves and Gutters All 0.15 metres 
Uncovered Stairs or All 0.5 metres 
Ramps to First Storey 

24 

569



Fire Escapes and Exterior Interior Side Yard 1.2 metres 
Staircases Corner Side Yard 

Rear Yard 
Cantilever- Walls or All 0.3 metres 
Windows Front Yard 0.6 

Rear Yard 

Height of Deck or Platform 
Height above the Height above the Height above the 
Ground Floor Level Ground Floor Level Ground Floor 
to 0.61 metres more than 0.61 Level 1.2 metres 

metres but less than or greater 
1.2 metres 

Minimum Setback 3 metres 3 metres Required corner 
from Corner Side yard of principal 
Lot Line building 
Minimum Setback Required interior side yard of principal dwelling 
from Interior Side 
Lot Line 
Minimum Setback 1.6 metres 3 metres 4.5 metres 
from Rear Lot Line 
Minimum Setback 3 metres 3 metres Required corner 
from Front Lot Line yard of principal 

building 

2.19.2 Enclosed Structures 

a) Any enclosed platform structure, enclosed steps or enclosed barrier-free 
ramps are deemed to be part of the building to which they are attached 
and shall meet all required yards. 

2.19.3 Unenclosed Structures 

a) Unenclosed and uncovered barrier-free ramps shall be permitted to 
encroach into any yard. 

2.20 Minimum Distance Separation (M.D.S.) Formulae 

a) Notwithstanding the building setback and minimum yard requirements of 
any zone, the requirements of the Province's M.D.S. Formula 1 and 
M.D.S. Formula 2, as updated from time to time, shall prevail. 

b) The minimum acceptable separation distance shall be the distance 
determined i_n the application of the Province's M.D.S. Formula 1 or 
M.D.S. Formula 2. 

25 

570



c) Any setback distance requirement from farm and non-farm buildings by 
the Province's M.D.S. Formula 1 or M.D.S. Formula 2 shall also apply 
from farm and non-farm buildings in adjacent municipalities. 

2.21 Railway Right-of-Way 

a) Notwithstanding any other provisions of this By-law, no building or 
structure for the purpose of human habitation shall be constructed any 
closer than 15 metres to any functioning railway right-of-way. 

2.22 Municipal Drains 

a) Notwithstanding any other provisions of this By-law, no building or 
structure may be located any closer than 15 metres to any municipal 
drain, measured from the top of bank. 

2.23 Food Vehicles 

a) Every Food Vehicle shall operate in accordance with the City's Business 
Licensing By-law, the regulations for the zone, in which it is located and 
the following: 

i) Within any Commercial, Institutional or Industrial Zone, shall 
occupy a defined parking space; 

ii) Within any Commercial, Institutional or Industrial Zone, shall 
not occupy an accessible parking space; and 

iii) Within any Commercial, Institutional or Industrial Zone, shall be in 
accordance with Section 2.13, Sight Triangles. 

2.24 Outdoor Commercial Patio 

a) An outdoor commercial patio is permitted if it is operated as part of a take
out restaurant, a full-service restaurant, private club or a brew pub where 
those uses are listed as permitted uses. 

b) An outdoor commercial patio is prohibited in association with any Adult 
Oriented Entertainment Establishment. 

c) Where an outdoor commercial patio is not physically separated by a 
building from another lot in a residential zone, it is prohibited unless it is 
located at least: 

i) 30 metres from a lot in a residential zone and is screened and 
physically separated from that same lot by a structure, screen or 
wall that is two metres or more in height so as to mitigate both light 
and noise from the outdoor commercial patio; or 

ii) 75 metres from a lot in a residential zone. 

26 

571



d) Outdoor commercial patios must not encroach on or eliminate any 
required parking or loading space, driveway or aisle. 

e) No additional parking shall be required for an outdoor commercial patio. 

2.25 Storage of Refuse 

a) No open storage of refuse shall be permitted anywhere within the zoned 
area except: 

i) Where refuse is to be collected within an 18 hour period after such 
refuse has been placed in an outdoor location; 

ii) Where the area used for the open storage of refuse or a refuse 
container is enclosed by a wall or an opaque fence not less than 
1.8 metres in height; or 

iii) In any Residential Zone, where such refuse is contained completely 
within a structure or in a receptacle specifically intended for such 
purpose and having walls or sides and door or lid. 

27 

572



Section 3: Parking Provisions 

3.1 Parking Space Requirements 

a) Except as otherwise provided in Section 3, the owner or occupant of any 
lot, building or structure used or erected for any of the purposes set forth 
in this By-law, shall provide and maintain for the sole use of the owner, 
occupant or other persons entering upon or making use of the said lot, 
building or structure from time to time, one or more parking spaces in 
accordance with the requirements of Section 3.1.1 and 3.1 .2. 

3.1.1 Parking Space Requirements for Residential Uses 

Permitted Use No. of Spaces Required per Unit 

Apartment Building 1.5 
Apartment Building, Public 1 space per 3 units 
Bed and Breakfast 1 space per guest room 
Dwelling, Accessory 1 
Dwelling, Detached 1 
Dwelling, Duplex 1 
Dwelling , Fourplex 1 
Dwelling, Semi-Detached 1 
Dwelling, Townhouse Block 1 
Dwelling, Townhouse Street 1 
Dwelling, Triplex 1 
Dwelling Unit, Accessory 1 (can be tandem) 
Long Term Care Facility 0.4 per dwelling unit and per care bed 
Supportive Living Facility 0.5 

3. 1.2 Parking Space Requirements for Non-Residential Uses 

Permitted Use 

Adult Oriented Entertainment Establishment Min 1 space per 20 square metres gfa 
Animal Care Establishment Min 1 space per 20 square metres gfa 
Brew Pub Min 1 space per 20 square metres gfa 
Cultural Facility Min 1 space per 65 square metres gfa 
Contractor's Yard Min 1 space per 100 square metres gfa 
Day Care Min 1 space per 25 square metres gfa 
Golf Course and Driving Range 18 per 9 holes of golf plus 1 per 27 

square metres of club house 
Heavy Equipment Sales and Service Min 1 space per 35 square metres gfa 
Hospital Min 1 space per 50 square metres gfa 
Hotel 1 per guest room 
Industry, Heavy Min 1 space per 100 square metres gfa 

28 

573



Industry, Light Min 1 space per 100 square metres gfa 
Marina 0.6 per boat slip 
Medical Clinic Min 1 space per 28 square metres gfa 
Medical Marihuana Production Facility 1 space for every employee on the 

largest shift 
Motor Vehicle Gas Station Min 1 space per 20 square metres gfa 
Motor Vehicle Repair Garage Min 1 space per 20 square metres gfa 
Motor Vehicle Sales/Rental and Service Min 1 space per 30 square metres gfa 
Centre 
Office Min 1 space per 28 square metres gfa 
Place of Assembly/Banquet Hall * Min 1 space per 20 square metres gfa 
Place of Worship * Min 1 space per 20 square metres gfa 
Recreation Facility * Min 1 space per 20 square metres gfa 
Restaurant, Fast Food Min 1 space per 20 square metres gfa 
Restaurant, Full-Service* Min 1 space per 20 square metres gfa 
Restaurant, Take-Out Min 1 space per 20 square metres gfa 
Retail Store Min 1 space per 20 square metres gfa 
Service Commercial Min 1 space per 20 square metres gfa 
Transportation Depot Min 1 space per 100 square metres gfa 
All other non-residential uses listed in the Min 1 space per 20 square metres gfa 
Zoning By-law but not specified above 

* Applies only to portion of building dedicated to the assembly of persons 

3.1.3 Calculation of Parking Requirement 

a) The calculation of the minimum number of required parking spaces shall 
be rounded up to the nearest whole number. 

3.2 Parking Space Dimensions 

Min. Width Min. Depth Conditions 
(m) (m) 

Standard Parking 2.6 5.2 -
Space 
Standard Parking 3.5 5.2 Abutting any wall, 
Space Obstructed column or structure 
on Two Sides on both sides 
Standard Space 3 5.2 Abutting any wall or 
Obstructed on column, or 
One Side structure on one 

side 
Accessible Space 3.7 5.2 . 

29 

574



Two (2) 2.6 m common 
Accessible 2.6 ea. 5.2 space between 
Spaces Side by accessible spaces 
Side 

3.3 Accessible Parking 

a) Accessible parking spaces shall be provided at the following rate: 

Number of Number of Number of Number of Accessible 
Required Accessible Required Parking Spaces 
Standard Parking Spaces Standard 

Parking Spaces Parking Spaces 
1-25 1 151-200 7 

26-50 2 201-300 8 
51-75 3 301-400 10 

76-100 4 401-500 12 
101-150 6 501 and over 2% of the required parking 

3.4 Parking Location 

a) Required parking shall be provided on the same lot as the use requiring 
the parking; or 

b) On any lot that is not a road or lane and is presently zoned to permit 
parking and is located within 46 metres of the lot occupied by the building 
or structure or use for which the parking spaces are required . 

3.5 Parking Area 

a) Every parking area, loading space and driveway connecting a parking 
area to a road shall be maintained with a hard surface. 

b) On a residential lot with 4 or fewer dwelling units the following provisions 
shall apply: 

i) Maximum Parking Area Coverage 

ii) Maximum Width 

3.6 Encroachment into Yards 

50 percent 

7.5 metres or 50% of the 
lot frontage, whichever is 
less 

a) A parking space, bicycle parking space, or parking area is permitted within 
any yard but is not permitted within a required landscape buffer, a 
landscape open space area or a sight triangle. 

30 

575



3.7 Ingress and Egress Standards 

a) Required parking spaces shall have adequate access, from an improved 
or unimproved road, to permit ingress and egress of a motor vehicle by 
means of driveways, aisles, maneuvering areas, or similar area and 
except in the case of tandem parking in a driveway to a single detached, 
semi-detached, duplex or triplex dwelling, no part of this access is to be 
used for the temporary parking or storage of any motor vehicle. 

b) Driveways shall have a minimum unobstructed width of 7 .5 metres where 
two-way traffic is permitted and 3 metres where only one-way direction of 
traffic flow is permitted, except that the minimum width of a driveway 
accessory to a detached dwelling shall be 2.6 metres. 

3.8 Additions to Existing Buildings with Legal Non-Conforming Parking 

a) In the case of expansion of a building or structure that legally does not 
meet the parking requirements, the parking standards related to the 
expansion must be adhered to, but the parking deficiency of the original 
building or structure does not have to be corrected and can remain legally. 

3.9 Parking Prohibitions 

a) No person shall park, permit or cause to be parked a motor vehicle, 
recreational vehicle, or a utility trailer on a lot other than in a parking area 
that complies with the provisions of this By-Law. 

3.9.1 Large Motor Vehicle 

a) No person shall in any Residential, Institutional, Public or Mixed Use Zone 
use any lot for parking or storage of any large motor vehicle as defined in 
Section 38 unless the vehicle is a delivery vehicle temporarily parked in 
the course of its normal delivery duty. 

3.9.2 Recreation Vehicle, Boat, Recreation Trailer, Utility Trailer 

a) No recreation vehicle, boat, or utility trailer shall be located in a front 
and/or corner side yard parking area in any residential zone, except where 
no off-street parking space is available or can be provided in the interior 
side or rear yard, they may be permitted in the front yard and/or corner 
side yard parking area provided they are set back a minimum of 1.5 
metres from the front and/or corner side yard lot line on an in-season 
basis from May 15 to October 15 of each year. 

b) No recreation vehicle, boat, or utility trailer shall be located in a required 
sight triangle on a corner lot. 

31 

576



3.10 Loading Spaces 

a) Loading spaces shall be located entirely on the same lot as the building 
for which such loading spaces are required , and shall not encroach into 
any required driveways, parking areas or internal roads. Loading spaces 
shall be located in an interior side yard or rear yard and no closer any road 
than the building. 

b) No loading space shall be located within a required yard that abuts a 
Residential Zone. 

c) Access to loading spaces shall be by means of a driveway at least 3.5 
metres in width, contained within the lot on which the loading spaces are 
located and leading to either an improved or unimproved road or lane not 
less than 7.5 metres in width. 

d) A loading space shall be a minimum of 3.5 metres by 9 metres with a 
minimum clearance height of 4 metres. 

3.11 Landscape Provisions for Parking Areas 

3. 11. 1 Landscape Buffer Provisions 

a) A landscape buffer shall be provided between the edge of any parking 
area and an abutting lot line(s) in accordance with the following table: 

Parking area Parking area with Parking area with 
with 5 to 20 more than 20 100 or greater 
parking spaces parking spaces but parking spaces 

fewer than 100 
Lot Line Abutting a Public 3m 3m 6m 
Road 
Lot Line Not Abutting a - 3m 3m 
Public Road 
Lot Line Abutting a 3m 3m 4m 
Residential, Institutional or 
Public and Park Zone 

3.11.2 Minimum Landscaped Open Space within Parking Areas 

a) A minimum landscaped open space equal to 10% of the parking 
area shall be required within all parking areas with 100 or more 
parking spaces. 

32 

577



3.12 Drive-Thru Facility 

a) A drive-thru facility shall be subject to the following provisions: 

i) a minimum 3 m wide landscape buffer shall be provided between a 
drive-thru facility and a public road; and 

ii) Shall be located no closer than 7.5 m to a Residential, Institutional 
or Public and Park zone. 

3. 12. 1 Drive-Thru Facility Stacking Lanes 

a) The minimum number of stacking lane parking spaces for drive-thru 
facilities shall be: 

Use Min. number of stacking lane tandem parking spaces 
Restaurant, Fast Food 10 Spaces 
All other uses 3 Spaces 

3.13 Bicycle Parking Spaces 

a) Bicycle parking spaces must be located on the same lot as the use for 
which it is provided; 

b) Each bicycle parking space shall be a minimum 1.8 min length and 0.3 m 
in width; and 

c) Shall be located at a principle entrance of a building 

3.13.1 Required Bicycle Parking 

Use Minimum Number of Bicycle Parking 
Spaces 

Residential Buildings with 10 or more 6 Spaces plus 1 for every additional 10 
dwelling units dwelling units above 20 
Place of Assembly/Banquet Hall, 1 space per 1000 square metres of gross 
Recreation Facility, Place of Worship* floor area 
Retail and Service Commercial 1 space per 1000 square metres gross 

floor area 
Office 1 space per 1000 square metres gross 

floor area 
Light Industry 1 space per 1000 square metres gross 

floor area 
Heavy Industry 1 space per 1000 square metres gross 

floor area 
Hotel 6 spaces plus 1 space per 10 guest 

rooms 

33 

578



Restaurant, Fast-Food or 1 space per 170 square metres gross 
Restaurant, Full-Serve floor area 
All other non-residential uses listed in the 1 space per 1000 square metres 
Zoning By-law but not specified above 

* Applies only to the portion of the building dedicated to the assembly of persons. 

3.14 Stand Alone Parking Lot 

a) Where permitted by Section 36 Special Provisions, a stand-alone parking 
lot shall have a minimum lot frontage of 12 m and shall be subject to all 
other provisions of this By-law. 

34 

579



Section 4: Establishment of Zones 

4.1 List of Zone Names and Symbols 

Zone Symbol Zone Name 

R1 First Density Residential 
R2 Second Density Residential 
R3 Third Density Residential 
R4 Fourth Density Residential 
RT Residential Townhouse 
RR Rural Residential 
LR Lakeshore Residential 
HR Hamlet Residential 
RD Residential Development 
HD Hamlet Development 
R Rural 
AR Agricultural Residential 
A Agricultural 
APO Agricultural Purposes Only 
NC Neighbourhood Commercial 
HMC Hamlet Commercial 
MU Mixed Use 
CP Commercial Plaza 
DC Downtown Commercial 
HC Highway Commercial 
MC Marine Commercial 
LI Light Industrial 
HI Heavy Industrial 
MAO Mineral Aggregate Operation 
GI Gateway Industrial 
ID Industrial Development 
I Institutional 
p Public and Park 
VR Vacation Residential 
EP Environmental Protection 
H Hazard 

4.2 List of Zone Layers 

Zone Symbol Zone Name 
EC Environmental Conservation 

35 

580



4.3 Special Provisions 

a) Where special provisions are established for certain lots, the applicable 
regulations of the special provisions apply in addition to, or as exception 
to, the normal zone provisions that apply to the subject lot(s). 

b) Where on Schedule A to this By-law, a zone symbol (e.g. R1) applying to 
lots contains a suffix at the end of the zone symbol consisting of a dash 
and number (e.g . R1-1 ), this indicates that a special provision applies to 
the subject lot(s). The number after the dash corresponds with the special 
provision number as set out in Section 37. 

c) Lots with special exceptions are identified in Section 37. 

4.4 Holding (H) Provisions 

a) Where a zone symbol contains the suffix "H" with or without a special 
provision (e.g. R1-H or R1-1-H), the zoning shall not take effect until the 
prescribed conditions are met and the "H" is removed from the subject 
lot( s ). 

b) When the amending by-law removing the "H" Holding symbol from a zone 
is enacted, the permitted uses and regulations for that lot shall apply. 

c) Until such time as the prescribed conditions are met, the identified lot shall 
only be used for the existing permitted use as of the date of this By-law 
not including the expansion of the existing permitted use, or other uses as 
set out in the Holding provision(S). 

d) Lots with Holding provisions, including the conditions required to be 
satisfied prior to the removal of the Holding (H) Zone symbol are identified 
in Section 37. 

4.4.1 Development Holding (DH) Provisions 

a) Where a zone symbol contains the suffix "DH" with or without a special 
provision (e.g. R1-DH or R1-1-DH), the zoning shall not take effect until 
the prescribed conditions are met including any special studies as 
determined by staff which may include, but not be limited to: 

i) Planning Justification Report 
ii) Land Use/Market Needs Study 
iii) Urban Design/Landscape Plans 
iv) Archaeology and Cultural Heritage Assessment 
v) Heritage Impact Analysis 
vi) Environmental Impact Study 
vii) Air Quality/Noise and Vibration Study 
viii) Environmental Planning Study or Sub-Watershed Study 
ix) Tree Preservation Plan 

36 

581



x) Floodplain and Hazard Lands Report 
xi) Geotechnical and Slope Stability Report 
xii) Environmental Site Assessment 
xiii) Agricultural Impact Assessment 
xiv) Farm Operation and Ownership 
xv) Minimum Distance Separation I & II 
xvi) Municipal Servicing Study 
xvii) Stormwater Management Plan 
xviii) Traffic/Parking Impact Analysis 
xix) Hydrogeological Study and Private Servicing Plans 
xx) Financial Impact Assessment 
xxi) Alternative Sites for Non-Agricultural Uses 
xxiii) Mineral Aggregate Resources 
xxiv) Site Plan Agreement 
xxv) Subdivision Agreement 

b) When the amending by-law removing the "DH" Holding symbol from a 
zone is enacted, the permitted uses and regulations for that lot shall apply. 

c) Until such time as the prescribed conditions are met, the identified lot shall 
only be used for the existing permitted use as of the date of this By-law 
not including the expansion of the existing permitted use, or other uses as 
set out in the Holding provision(s). 

4.4.2 Conversion Holding (CH) Provisions 

a) Where a zone symbol contains the suffix "CH" with or without a special 
provision (e.g. R1-CH or R1-1-CH), the zoning shall not take effect until 
the prescribed conditions are met including obtaining a Record of Site 
Condition from the Ministry of the Environment. 

b) When the amending by-law removing the "CH" Holding symbol from a 
zone is enacted, the permitted uses and regulations for that lot shall apply. 

c) Until such time as the prescribed conditions are met, the identified lot shall 
only be used for the existing permitted use as of the date of this By-law 
not including the expansion of the existing permitted use, or other uses as 
set out in the Holding provision(s). 

37 

582



Section 5: First Density Residential Zone (R1) 

5.1 General 

a) No person shall use any lot or erect, alter or use any building or structure 
in any First Density Residential (R1) Zone except in accordance with the 
applicable provisions of Sections 2, 3 and 5. 

b) In addition to Section 5.1 (a), any lot may be subject to additional 
regulations or restrictions by the City, upper tier government or agencies 
as indicated in Section 1.3. 

5.2 Permitted Uses 

5.3 

a) Dwelling, Detached; and 

b) Uses, structures and buildings accessory thereto 

Zone Requirements - Dwelling, Detached 

a) 

b) 

c) 

d) 

e) 

f) 

g) 

h) 

i) 

j) 

Minimum Lot Frontage 

Minimum Lot Frontage - Corner Lot 

Minimum Lot Area 

Minimum Front Yard 

Minimum Interior Side Yard 

Minimum Corner Side Yard 

Minimum Rear Yard 

Maximum Lot Coverage 

Maximum Height 

Minimum Landscaped Area 

15 metres 

17 metres 

0.05 hectares 

6.5 metres 

1.5 metres 

3.5 metres 

7 metres except the 
minimum rear yard which 
includes the 
Environmental Protection 
Zone shall be 30 metres 
from the 1 in 100 year 
flood line as determined by 
the Niagara Peninsula 
Conservation Authority 

40 percent 

11 metres 

25 percent 

k) No accessory building or structure shall be erected in any required 
minimum front or corner side yard on any lot that abuts the Lake Erie 
shoreline. 

38 

583



Section 6: Second Density Residential Zone (R2) 

6.1 General 

6.2 

6.3 

6.4 

a) No person shall use any lot or erect, alter or use any building or structure 
in any Second Density Residential (R2) Zone except in accordance with 
the applicable provisions of Sections 2, 3 and 6. 

b) In addition to Section 6.1 (a), any lot may be subject to additional 
regulations or restrictions by the City, upper tier government or agencies 
as indicated in Section 1.3. 

Permitted Uses 

a) Dwelling, Detached; 

b) Dwelling, Duplex, 

b) Dwelling, Semi-detached; and 

d) Uses, structures and buildings accessory thereto 

Zone Requirements - Dwelling, Detached 

a) Minimum Lot Frontage 12 metres 

b) Minimum Lot Frontage - Corner Lot 15 metres 

c) Minimum Lot Area 0.04 hectares 

d) Minimum Front Yard 6.5 metres 

e) Minimum Interior Side Yard 1 metre 

f) Minimum Corner Side Yard 3.5 metres 

g) Minimum Rear Yard 6 metres 

h) Maximum Lot Coverage 50 percent 

i) Maximum Height 11 metres 

j) Minimum Landscaped Area 25 percent 

Zone Requirements - Dwelling, Duplex 

a) Minimum Lot Frontage 18 metres 

b) Minimum Lot Area 0.05 hectares 

c) Minimum Front Yard 6.5 metres 

d) Minimum Interior Side Yard 1.2 metres 

39 

584



6.5 

e) Minimum Corner Side Yard 

f) Minimum Rear Yard 

g) Maximum Lot Coverage 

h) Maximum Height 

i) Minimum Landscaped Area 

Zone Requirements - Dwelling, Semi-Detached 

a) 

b) 

c) 

d) 

e) 

f) 

g) 

h) 

i) 

Minimum Lot Frontage 

Minimum Lot Area 

Minimum Front Yard 

Minimum Interior Side Yard 

Minimum Corner Side Yard 

Minimum Rear Yard 

Maximum Lot Coverage 

Maximum Height 

Minimum Landscaped Area 

3 metres 

6 metres 

50 percent 

11 metres 

25 percent 

18 metres 

0.05 hectares 

6.5 metres 

1.2 metres 

3 metres 

6 metres 

50 percent 

11 metres 

25 percent 

j) Common walls shall be centred on the common lot line 

k) Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 6.5, nothing shall prevent the 
splitting of any lot on which a semi-detached dwelling is erected into 2 
parts divided in part by the centre line of the common or party wall 
separating the dwelling units in such dwelling provided that each until shall 
have a minimum lot area of 0.02 hectares 

I) There is no minimum interior side yard and/or rear yard for common walls. 

40 

585



Section 7: Third Density Residential Zone (R3) 

7.1 General 

a) No person shall use any lot or erect, alter or use any building or structure 
in any Third Density Residential (R3) Zone except in accordance with the 
applicable provisions of Sections 2, 3 and 7. 

b) In addition to Section 7.1 (a), any lot may be subject to additional 
regulations or restrictions by the City, upper tier government or agencies 
as indicated in Section 1.3. 

7 .2 Permitted Uses 

a) Dwelling, Detached; 

Dwelling, Semi-detached; 

b) Dwelling, Duplex; 

c) Dwelling, Triplex; 

d) Dwelling, Fourplex; 

e) Townhouse, Block; 

f) Townhouse, Street; and 

h) Uses, structures and buildings accessory thereto 

7.3 Zone Requirements - Dwelling, Semi-Detached 

a) Minimum Lot Frontage 18 metres 

b) Minimum Lot Area 0.05 hectares 

c) Minimum Front Yard 6.5 metres 

d) Minimum Interior Side Yard 1.2 metres 

e) Minimum Corner Side Yard 3 metres 

f) Minimum Rear Yard 6 metres 

g) Maximum Lot Coverage 50 percent 

h) Maximum Height 11 metres 

i) Minimum Landscaped Area 25 percent 

j) Common walls shall be centred on the common lot line. 

k) There is no minimum interior side yard and/or rear yard for common walls. 

41 

586



I) Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 7.3, nothing shall prevent the 
splitting of any lot on which a semi-detached dwelling is erected into 2 
parts divided in part by the centre line of the common or party wall 
separating the dwelling units in such dwelling provided that each unit shall 
have a minimum lot area of 0.02 hectares 

7.4 Zone Requirements - Dwelling, Duplex 

a) Minimum Lot Frontage 18 metres 

b) Minimum Lot Area 0.05 hectares 

c) Minimum Front Yard 6.5 metres 

d) Minimum Interior Side Yard 1.2 metres 

e) Minimum Corner Side Yard 3 metres 

f) Minimum Rear Yard 6 metres 

g) Maximum Lot Coverage 50 percent 

h) Maximum Height 11 metres 

i) Minimum Landscaped Area 25 percent 

7.5 Zone Requirements - Dwelling, Triplex 

a) Minimum Lot Frontage 18 metres 

b) Minimum Lot Area per Unit 125 square metres 

c) Minimum Front Yard 9 metres 

d) Minimum Interior Side Yard 1.2 metres 

e) Minimum Corner Side Yard 3 metres 

f) Minimum Rear Yard 6 metres 

g) Maximum Lot Coverage 40 percent 

h) Maximum Height 11 metres 

i) Minimum Landscaped Area 25 percent 

7.6 Zone Requirements - Dwelling, Fourplex 

a) Minimum Lot Frontage 18 metres 

b) Minimum Lot Area per Unit 125 square metres 

c) Minimum Front Yard 9 metres 

42 

587



d) Minimum Interior Side Yard 1.2 metres 

e) Minimum Corner Side Yard 3 metres 

f) Minimum Rear Yard 6 metres 

g) Maximum Lot Coverage 40 percent 

h) Maximum Height 11 metres 

i) Minimum Landscaped Area 25 percent 

7.7 Zone Requirements - Townhouse, Block 

a) Minimum Lot Frontage per Unit 6 metres 

b) Minimum Lot Area 0.02 hectares 

c) Minimum Front Yard 7.5 metres 

d) Minimum Interior Side Yard 3 metres 

e) Minimum Corner Side Yard 4.5 metres 

f) Minimum Rear Yard 6 metres 

g) Maximum Height 11 metres 

h) Minimum Landscaped Area 25 percent 

i) A 3 metre planting strip shall be required when a Townhouse development 
abuts the boundary of the Residential First Density, Residential Second 
Density or Residential Third Density Zone. 

j) Common walls shall be centred on the common lot line. 

k) There is no minimum interior side yard and/or rear yard for common walls. 

7.8 Zone Requirements - Townhouse, Street 

a) Minimum Lot Frontage per Unit 6 metres 

b) Minimum Lot Area 0.02 hectares 

c) Minimum Front Yard 7.5 metres 

d) Minimum Interior Side Yard 3 metres 

e) Minimum Corner Side Yard 4.5 metres 

f) Minimum Rear Yard 6 metres 

g) Maximum Height 11 metres 

43 

588



h) Minimum Landscaped Area 25 percent 

i) A 3 metre planting strip shall be required when a Townhouse development 
abuts the boundary of the Residential First Density, Residential Second 
Density or Residential Third Density Zone 

j) Common walls shall be centred on the common lot line. 

k) There is no minimum interior side yard and/or rear yard for common walls. 

7.9 Zone Requirements - Dwelling, Detached 

The zone requirements of the Second Density Residential (R2) zone shall apply. 

44 

589



Section 8: Fourth Density Residential Zone (R4) 

8.1 General 

8.2 

8.3 

8.4 

a) No person shall use any lot or erect, alter or use any building or structure 
in any Fourth Density Residential (R4) Zone except in accordance with the 
applicable provisions of Sections 2, 3 and 8. 

b) In addition to Section 8.1 (a), any lot may be subject to additional 
regulations or restrictions by the City, upper tier government or agencies 
as indicated in Section 1.3. 

Permitted Uses 

a) Dwelling, Detached 

b) Dwelling, Semi-Detached 

c) Dwelling, Triplex; 

d) Dwelling, Fourplex; 

e) Dwelling, Townhouse Block; 

f) Dwelling, Townhouse Street; 

g) Apartment Buildings; 

g) Apartment Buildings, Public; and 

h) Uses, structures and buildings accessory thereto 

Zone Requirements - Dwelling, Triplex 

a) Minimum Lot Frontage 18 metres 

b) Minimum Lot Area per Unit 125 square metres 

c) Minimum Front Yard 9 metres 

d) Minimum Interior Side Yard 1.2 metres 

e) Minimum Corner Side Yard 3 metres 

f) Minimum Rear Yard 6 metres 

g) Maximum Lot Coverage 40 percent 

h) Maximum Height 11 metres 

i) Minimum Landscaped Area 25 percent 

Zone Requirements - Dwelling, Fourplex 

45 

590



8.5 

a) Minimum Lot Frontage 

b) Minimum Lot Area per Unit 

c) Minimum Front Yard 

d) Minimum Interior Side Yard 

e) Minimum Corner Side Yard 

f) Minimum Rear Yard 

g) Maximum Lot Coverage 

h) Maximum Height 

i) Minimum Landscaped Area 

Zone Requirements - Dwelling, Townhouse Block 

a) 

b) 

c) 

d) 

e) 

f) 

g) 

h) 

Minimum Lot Frontage per Unit 

Minimum Lot Area 

Minimum Front Yard 

Minimum Interior Side Yard 

Minimum Corner Side Yard 

Minimum Rear Yard 

Maximum Height 

Minimum Landscaped Area 

18 metres 

125 square metres 

9 metres 

1.2 metres 

3 metres 

6 metres 

40 percent 

11 metres 

25 percent 

6 metres 

0.02 hectares 

7.5 metres 

3 metres 

4.5 metres 

6 metres 

11 metres 

25 percent 

i) A 3 metre planting strip shall be required when a Townhouse development 
abuts the boundary of the Residential First Density, Residential Second 
Density or Residential Third Density Zone. 

j) Common walls shall be centred on the common lot line. 

k) There is no minimum interior side yard and/or rear yard for common walls. 

8.6 Zone Requirements - Dwelling, Townhouse Street 

a) Minimum Lot Frontage per Unit 6 metres 

b) Minimum Lot Area 0.02 hectares 

c) Minimum Front Yard 7.5 metres 

d) Minimum Interior Side Yard 3 metres 

46 

591



e) 

f) 

g) 

h) 

Minimum Corner Side Yard 

Minimum Rear Yard 

Maximum Height 

Minimum Landscaped Area 

4.5 metres 

6 metres 

11 metres 

25 percent 

i) A 3 metre planting strip shall be required when a Townhouse development 
abuts the boundary of the Residential First Density, Residential Second 
Density or Residential Third Density Zone. 

j) Common walls shall be centred on the common lot line. 

k) There is no minimum interior side yard and/or rear yard for common walls. 

8.7 Zone Requirements - Apartment Buildings, Apartment Buildings, Public 

a) Minimum Lot Frontage 18 metres 

b) Minimum Lot Area per Unit 125 square metres 

c) Minimum Front Yard 9 metres 

d) Minimum Interior Side Yard 3 metres 

e) Minimum Corner Side Yard 7.5 metres 

f) Minimum Rear Yard 6 metres 

g) Maximum Lot Coverage 40 percent 

h) Maximum Height 20 metres 

i) Minimum Landscaped Area 25 percent 

j) Minimum Floor Area for a Unit 50 square metres 

8.8 Zone Requirements - Detached Dwelling 

The zone requirements of the First Density Residential (R1) zone shall apply. 

8.9 Zone Requirements - Semi-Detached Dwelling 

The zone requirements of the Third Density Residential (R3) zone shall apply. 

47 

592



Section 9: Residential Townhouse Zone (RT) 

9.1 General 

a) No person shall use any lot or erect, alter or use any building or structure 
in any Residential Townhouse (RT) Zone except in accordance with the 
applicable provisions of Sections 2, 3 and 9. 

b) In addition to Section 9.1 (a), any lot may be subject to additional 
regulations or restrictions by the City, upper tier government or agencies 
as indicated in Section 1.3. 

9.2 Permitted Uses 

a) Dwelling, Townhouse Block; 

b) Dwelling, Townhouse Street; and 

c) Uses, structures and buildings accessory thereto 

9.3 Zone Requirements - Dwelling, Townhouse Block 

a) 

b) 

c) 

d) 

e) 

f) 

g) 

h) 

Minimum Lot Frontage per Unit 

Minimum Lot Area 

Minimum Front Yard 

Minimum Interior Side Yard 

Minimum Corner Side Yard 

Minimum Rear Yard 

Maximum Height 

Minimum Landscaped Area 

6 metres 

0.02 hectares 

7.5 metres 

3 metres 

4.5 metres 

6 metres 

11 metres 

25 percent 

i) A 3 metre planting strip shall be required when a Townhouse development 
abuts the boundary of the Residential First Density, Residential Second 
Density or Residential Third Density Zone. 

j) Common walls shall be centred on the common lot line. 

k) There is no minimum interior side yard and/or rear yard for common walls. 

9.4 Zone Requirements - Dwelling, Townhouse Street 

a) 

b) 

c) 

Minimum Lot Frontage per Unit 

Minimum Lot Area 

Minimum Front Yard 

6 metres 

0.02 hectares 

7.5 metres 

48 

593



d) 

e) 

f) 

g) 

h) 

Minimum Interior Side Yard 

Minimum Corner Side Yard 

Minimum Rear Yard 

Maximum Height 

Minimum Landscaped Area 

3 metres 

4.5 metres 

6 metres 

11 metres 

25 percent 

i) A 3 metre planting strip shall be required when a Townhouse development 
abuts the boundary of the Residential First Density, Residential Second 
Density or Residential Third Density Zone. 

j) Common walls shall be centred on the common lot line. 

k) There is no minimum interior side yard and/or rear yard for common walls. 

49 

594



Section 10: Rural Residential Zone (RR) 

10.1 General 

a) No person shall use any lot or erect, alter or use any building or structure 
in any Rural Residential (RR) Zone except in accordance with the 
applicable provisions of Sections 2, 3 and 10. 

b) In addition to Section 10.1 (a), any lot may be subject to additional 
regulations or restrictions by the City, upper tier government or agencies 
as indicated in Section 1.3. 

10.2 Permitted Uses 

a) Dwelling, Detached; 

b) Uses, structures and buildings accessory thereto 

10.3 Zone Requirements - Dwelling Detached 

a) Minimum Lot Frontage 45 metres 

b) Minimum Lot Area 0.4 hectares or as existing 

c) Minimum Front Yard 10 metres 

d) Minimum Interior Side Yard 4 metres 

e) Minimum Corner Side Yard 7.5 metres 

f) Minimum Rear Yard 9 metres 

g) Maximum Lot Coverage 15 percent 

h) Maximum Height 11 metres 

50 

595



Section 11: Lakeshore Residential Zone (LR) 

11.1 General 

11.2 

11.3 

11.4 

a) No person shall use any lot or erect, alter or use any building or structure 
in any Lakeshore Residential (LR) Zone except in accordance with the 
applicable provisions of Sections 2, 3 and 11. 

b) In addition to Section 11.1 (a), any lot may be subject to additional 
regulations or restrictions by the City, upper tier government or agencies 
as indicated in Section 1.3. 

Permitted Uses 

a) Dwelling, Detached; 

b) Uses, structures and buildings accessory thereto 

Zone Requirements - Dwelling Detached or Dwelling, Seasonal 

a) Minimum Lot Frontage 30 metres 

b) Minimum Lot Area 0.4 hectares or as existing 

c) Minimum Front Yard 10 metres 

d) Minimum Interior Side Yard 3 metres 

e) Minimum Corner Side Yard 4.5 metres 

f) Minimum Rear Yard 7 metres except the 
minimum rear yard which 
includes the 
Environmental Protection 
(EP) Zone shall be 30 
metres from the 1-in-100 
year flood line as 
determined by the Niagara 
Peninsula Conservation 
Authority. 

g) Maximum Lot Coverage 15 percent 

h) Maximum Height 11 metres 

Additional Zone Requirements - Accessory Structures 

a) A boat house shall be permitted with no rear yard. 

b) No accessory building or structure shall be erected in any required 
minimum front or corner side yard. 

51 

596



Section 12: Hamlet Residential Zone (HR) 

12.1 General 

a) No person shall use any lot or erect, alter or use any building or structure 
in any Hamlet Residential (HR) Zone except in accordance with the 
applicable provisions of Sections 2, 3 and 12. 

b) In addition to Section 12.1 (a), any lot may be subject to additional 
regulations or restrictions by the City, upper tier government or agencies 
as indicated in Section 1.3. 

12.2 Permitted Uses 

a) Dwelling, Detached; 

b) Uses, structures and buildings accessory thereto 

12.3 Zone Requirements - Dwelling Detached 

a) Minimum Lot Frontage 45 metres 

b) Minimum Lot Area 0.4 hectares or as existing 

c) Minimum Front Yard 10 metres 

d) Minimum Interior Side Yard 4 metres 

e) Minimum Corner Side Yard 7.5 metres 

f) Minimum Rear Yard 9 metres 

g) Maximum Lot Coverage 15 percent 

h) Maximum Height 11 metres 

52 

597



Section 13: Residential Development Zone (RD) 

13.1 General 

a) No person shall use any lot or erect, alter or use any building or structure 
in any Residential Development (RD) Zone except in accordance with the 
applicable provisions of Sections 2, 3 and 13. 

b) In addition to Section 13.1 (a), any lot may be subject to additional 
regulations or restrictions by the City, upper tier government or agencies 
as indicated in Section 1.3. 

13.2 Permitted Uses 

a) Dwelling, Detached 

b) uses, structures and buildings accessory thereto 

13.3 Zone Requirements - Dwelling Detached 

a) Minimum Lot Frontage 30m 

b) Minimum Lot Area as existing 

c) Minimum Front Yard Bm 

d) Minimum Interior Side Yard 5m 

e) Minimum Corner Side Yard Bm 

f) Minimum Rear Yard Bm 

g) Maximum Lot Coverage 10 percent 

h) Maximum Height 11 m 

53 

598



Section 14: Hamlet Development Zone (HD) 

14.1 General 

a) No person shall use any lot or erect, alter or use any building or structure 
in any Hamlet Development (HD) Zone except in accordance with the 
applicable provisions of Sections 2, 3 and 14. 

b) In addition to Section 14.1 (a), any lot may be subject to additional 
regulations or restrictions by the City, upper tier government or agencies 
as indicated in Section 1.3. 

14.2 Permitted Uses 

a) Existing uses only; 

b) uses, structures and buildings accessory thereto 

14.3 Zone Requirements - Dwelling Detached 

a) Minimum Lot Frontage 30m or as existing 

b) Minimum Lot Area as existing 

c) Minimum Front Yard Bm 

d) Minimum Interior Side Yard 5m 

e) Minimum Corner Side Yard Bm 

f) Minimum Rear Yard Bm 

g) Maximum Lot Coverage 10 percent 

h) Maximum Height 11m 

54 

599



Section 15: Rural (RU) 

15.1 General 

a) No person shall use any lot or erect, alter or use any building or structure 
in any Rural (RU) Zone except in accordance with the applicable 
provisions of Sections 2, 3 and 15. 

b) In addition to Section 15.1 (a), any lot may be subject to additional 
regulations or restrictions by the City, upper tier government or agencies 
as indicated in Section 1.3. 

15.2 Permitted Uses 

15.3 

a) Accessory Agricultural Activities; 

b) Agriculture Use; 

c) Agri-tourism and Value Added Uses; 

d) Conservation Uses; 

e) Dwelling, detached existing at the date of the passing of this By-law as a 
principal use on a new lot; 

f) Dwelling, detached as a principal use on an existing lot of record; 

g) Kennel; 

h) Medical Marihuana Production Facility; and 

i) Uses, structures and buildings accessory thereto 

Zone Requirements 

a) Minimum Lot Frontage 30 metres or as existing 

b) Minimum Lot Area 0.4 hectares or as existing 

c) Minimum Front Yard 8 metres 

d) Minimum Interior Side Yard 5 metres 

e) Minimum Corner Side Yard 8 metres 

f) Minimum Rear Yard 8 metres 

g) Maximum Lot Coverage 10 percent 

h) Maximum Height 11 metres 

55 

600



15.4 Zone Requirements - Agriculture Uses 

a) Minimum Lot Frontage 30 metres or as existing 

b) Minimum Lot Area as existing 

c) Minimum Front Yard 8 metres 

d) Minimum Interior Side Yard 5 metres 

e) Minimum Corner Side Yard 8 metres 

f) Minimum Rear Yard 8 metres 

g) Maximum Lot Coverage 10 percent 

h) Maximum Height 11 metres 

15.5 Zone Requirements - Dwelling Detached 

a) Minimum Lot Frontage 30 metres or as existing 

b) Minimum Lot Area as existing 

c) Minimum Front Yard 8 metres 

d) Minimum Interior Side Yard 5 metres 

e) Minimum Corner Side Yard 8 metres 

f) Minimum Rear Yard 8 metres 

g) Maximum Lot Coverage 10 percent 

h) Maximum Height 11 metres 

15.6 Zone Requirements - Accessory Structures to Dwellings 

a) Maximum Lot Coverage 1 percent, provided the lot 
coverage or all buildings 
and structures on the lot 
does not exceed 10 
percent 

b) Minimum Side Yard 3 metres except the 
minimum side yard 
abutting a street shall be 
7.5 metres 

c) Minimum Rear Yard 3 metres except the 
minimum side yard 
abutting a street shall be 
7.5 metres 

56 

601



d) Minimum Distance from a Dwelling 3 metres 

e) Maximum Building Height 4.6 metres 

15.7 Zone Requirements - Kennels 

a) Minimum Lot Area 1 .6 hectares 

b) Minimum Lot Frontage 75 metres 

c) Minimum Front Yard 50 metres or behind the 
front building line of the 
main building on the lot, 
whichever is greater 

d) Minimum Side Yard 25 metres 

e) Minimum Rear Yard 30 metres 

f) Minimum Distance to Adjacent Dwellings 160 metres 

g) Maximum Lot Coverage 20 percent 

h) Kennels shall be permitted in an accessory structure and may include an 
enclosed outdoor exercise area or pen. 

15.8 Zone Requirements - Medical Marihuana Production Facility 

a) Minimum Lot Frontage 75 metres 

b) Minimum Lot Area Permitted only on an 
existing lot having a 
minimum size of 3 
hectares 

c) Maximum Lot Coverage 

i) Lots less than 5 hectares 30 percent 

ii) Lots 5 hectares to 10 hectares 10 percent 

iii) Lots greater than 10 hectares 5 percent 

d) Minimum Front Yard 30 metres 

e) Minimum Interior Side Yard 16 metres 

f) Minimum Corner Side Yard 30 metres 

g) Minimum Rear Yard 30 metres 

h) Minimum Separation to Sensitive Land Use 150 metres 

57 

602



i) Where a lot line of a lot containing a Medical Marihuana Production 
Facility abuts a sensitive land use, then that part of said lot directly 
adjoining such lot line shall be used for no purpose other than a planting 
strip having a minimum width of 1.5 metres, measured perpendicularly to 
said lot line. 

j) Outside storage of goods, materials or other supplies is not permitted. 

k) Where a building or structure consists of more than 40% glass and where 
artificial lighting is required an opaque fence shall be provided and 
maintained adjacent to every portion of any lot line that abuts a sensitive 
land use. 

I) 1 parking space shall be provided for every employee on the largest shift. 

m) Servicing for the facility shall be designed by a Qualified Professional, 
identifying the source of irrigation water, water quantities required and the 
effects of same on the groundwater table and nearby wells. 

58 

603



Section 16: Agricultural Residential Zone (AR) 

16.1 General 

a) No person shall use any lot or erect, alter or use any building or structure 
in any Agricultural Residential (AR) Zone except in accordance with the 
applicable provisions of Sections 2, 3 and 16. 

b) In addition to Section 16.1 (a), any lot may be subject to additional 
regulations or restrictions by the City, upper tier government or agencies 
as indicated in Section 1.3. 

16.2 Permitted Uses 

a) Dwelling, Detached; 

b) Uses, structures and buildings accessory thereto 

16.3 Zone Requirements - Dwelling Detached 

a) Minimum Lot Frontage 45 metres 

b) Minimum Lot Area 0.4 hectares unless a 
larger lot area is require to 
accommodate private 
services as determined by 
a qualified professional. 

c) Minimum Front Yard 10 metres 

d) Minimum Interior Side Yard 4 metres 

e) Minimum Corner Side Yard 7.5 metres 

f) Minimum Rear Yard 9 metres 

g) Maximum Lot Coverage 10 percent 

h) Maximum Height 11 metres 

16.4 Zone Requirements - Accessory Structures to Dwellings 

a) Maximum Lot Coverage 

b) Minimum Side Yard 

1 percent, provided the lot 
coverage or all buildings 
and structures on the lot 
does not exceed 10 
percent 

3 metres except the 
minimum side yard 

59 

604



c) 

d) 

e) 

Minimum Rear Yard 

Minimum Distance from Dwelling 

Maximum Building Height 

abutting a street shall be 
7.5 metres 

3 metres except the 
minimum side yard 
abutting a street shall be 
7.5 metres 

3 metres 

4.6 metres 

60 

605



Section 17: Agricultural Zone (A) 

17.1 General 

a) No person shall use any lot or erect, alter or use any building or structure 
in any Agricultural (A) Zone except in accordance with the applicable 
provisions of Sections 2, 3 and 17. 

b) In addition to Section 17 .1 (a), any lot may be subject to additional 
regulations or restrictions by the City, upper tier government or agencies 
as indicated in Section 1.3. 

17.2 Permitted Uses 

17.3 

a) Accessory Agricultural Activities; 

b) Agriculture Use; 

c) Agri-tourism and Value Added Uses; 

d) Conservation Uses; 

e) Dwelling, detached existing at the date of the passing of this By-law as a 
principal use on a new lot; 

f) Dwelling, detached as a principal use on an existing lot of record at the 
date of the passing of this By-law; 

g) Kennel; 

h) Medical Marihuana Production Facility; and 

i) Uses, structures and buildings accessory thereto 

Zone Requirements 

a) Minimum Lot Frontage 30 metres or as existing 

b) Minimum Lot Area as existing 

c) Minimum Front Yard 8 metres 

d) Minimum Interior Side Yard 5 metres 

e) Minimum Corner Side Yard 8 metres 

f) Minimum Rear Yard 8 metres 

g) Maximum Lot Coverage 10 percent 

h) Maximum Height 11 metres 

61 

606



17.4 Additional Zone Requirements - Accessory Structures to Dwellings 

a) Maximum Lot Coverage 1 percent, provided the lot 
coverage of all buildings 
and structures on the lot 
does not exceed 10 
percent 

b) Minimum Side Yard 3 metres except the 
minimum side yard 
abutting a street shall be 
7.5 metres 

c) Minimum Rear Yard 3 metres except the 
minimum side yard 
abutting a street shall be 
7.5 metres 

d) Minimum Distance from a Dwelling 3 metres 

e) Maximum Building Height 4.6 metres 

17.5 Additional Zone Requirements - Kennels 

a) Minimum Lot Area 1.6 hectares 

b) Minimum Lot Frontage 75 metres 

c) Minimum Front Yard 50 metres or behind the 
front building line of the 
main building on the lot, 
whichever is greater 

d) Minimum Side Yard 25 metres 

e) Minimum Rear Yard 30 metres 

f) Minimum Distance to Adjacent Dwellings 160 metres 

g) Maximum Lot Coverage 20 percent 

h) Kennels shall be permitted in an accessory structure and may include an 
enclosed outdoor exercise area or pen. 

17.6 Additional Zone Requirements - Agri-tourism and Value Added Uses 

a) Maximum Floor Area 55 square metres 

62 

607



17.7 Additional Zone Requirements- Medical Marihuana Production Facility 

a) 

b) 

Minimum Lot Frontage 

Minimum Lot Area 

c) Maximum Lot Coverage 

d) 

e) 

f) 

g) 

h) 

i) 

ii) 

iii) 

Lots less than 5 hectares 

Lots 5 hectares to 10 hectares 

Lots greater than 10 hectares 

Minimum Front Yard 

Minimum Interior Side Yard 

Minimum Corner Side Yard 

Minimum Rear Yard 

Minimum Separation to Sensitive Land Use 

75 metres 

Permitted only on an 
existing lot having a 
minimum size of 3 
hectares 

30 percent 

10 percent 

5 percent 

30 metres 

16 metres 

30 metres 

30 metres 

150 metres 

i) Where a lot line of a lot containing a Medical Marihuana Production 

Facility abuts a sensitive land use, then that part of said lot directly 

adjoining such lot line shall be used for no purpose other than a planting 

strip having a minimum width of 1.5 metres, measured perpendicularly to 

said lot line. 

j) Outside storage of goods, materials or other supplies is not permitted. 

k) Where a building or structure consists of more than 40% glass and where 

artificial lighting is required an opaque fence shall be provided and 

maintained adjacent to every portion of any lot line that abuts a sensitive 
land use. · 

I) 1 parking space shall be provided for every employee on the largest shift. 

m) Servicing for the facility shall be designed by a Qualified Professional , 

identifying the source of irrigation water, water quantities required and the 

effects of same on the groundwater table and nearby wells. 

63 

608



Section 18: Agricultural Purposes Only Zone (APO) 

18.1 General 

a) No person shall use any lot or erect, alter or use any building or structure 
in any Agricultural Purposes Only (APO) Zone except in accordance with 
the applicable provisions of Sections 2, 3 and 18. 

b) In addition to Section 18.1 (a), any lot may be subject to additional 
regulations or restrictions by the City, upper tier government or agencies 
as indicated in Section 1.3. 

18.2 Permitted Uses 

a) Agricultural uses; 

b) Conservation uses; 

c) Uses, structures and buildings accessory thereto including greenhouses 

18.3 Zone Requirements 

a) Minimum Lot Frontage 30 metres or as existing 

b) Minimum Lot Area as existing 

c) Minimum Front Yard 8 metres 

d) Minimum Interior Side Yard 5 metres 

e) Minimum Corner Side Yard 8 metres 

f) Minimum Rear Yard 8 metres 

g) Maximum Lot Coverage 10 percent 

h) Maximum Height 11 metres 

64 

609



Section 19: Neighbourhood Commercial Zone (NC) 

19.1 General 

a) No person shall use any lot or erect, alter or use any building or structure 
in any Neighbourhood Commercial (NC) Zone except in accordance with 
the applicable provisions of Sections 2, 3 and 19. 

b) In addition to Section 19.1 (a), any lot may be subject to additional 
regulations or restrictions by the City, upper tier government or agencies 
as indicated in Section 1.3. 

19.2 Permitted Uses 

a) Animal Care Establishment; 

b) Convenience Store; 

c) Day Care; 

d) Dwelling, Accessory 

e) Personal Service Business; and 

f) Restaurant, Take-Out; 

g) Uses, structures and buildings accessory thereto 

19.3 Zone Requirements 

a) Minimum Lot Frontage 15 metres 

b) Minimum Lot Area 0.05 hectares 

c) Minimum Front Yard 9 metres 

d) Minimum Lot Depth 35 metres 

e) Minimum Interior Side Yard no minimum except where 
an interior side yard abuts 
a residential zone the 
setback shall be 2.5 
metres 

f) Minimum Corner Side Yard 2 metres 

g) Minimum Rear Yard 4.5 metres 

h) Maximum Height 11 metres 

65 

610



i) Maximum Gross Floor Area 230 square metres for 
each permitted use under 
Section 19.2 (a) to (g) 

19.4 Additional Zone Requirements - Dwelling, Accessory 

a) Max Percent of Total Gross Floor Area 50 percent 

b) Minimum Floor Area 50 Square metres 

c) A maximum of one accessory residential unit is permitted per 
neighbourhood commercial use in the same building. 

d) An accessory dwelling unit is only permitted above neighbourhood 
commercial uses. 

66 

611



Section 20: Hamlet Commercial Zone (HMC) 

20.1 General 

a) No person shall use any lot or erect, alter or use any building or structure 
in any Hamlet Commercial (HMC) Zone except in accordance with the 
applicable provisions of Sections 2, 3 and 20. 

b) In addition to Section 20.1 (a), any lot may be subject to additional 
regulations or restrictions by the City, upper tier government or agencies 
as indicated in Section 1.3. 

20.2 Permitted Uses 

20.3 

a) Agriculture Farm Related Commercial or Industrial ; 

b) Bulk Water Haulage Operator; 

c) Contractors Yard; 

d) Convenience Store 

e) Day Care; 

f) Dwelling, Accessory 

g) Food Vehicle; 

h) Personal Service Business; 

i) Restaurant, Take-Out; 

j) Veterinary Clinic; 

k) Motor Vehicle Sales/Rental Service Centre; 

I) Uses, structures and buildings accessory thereto 

Zone Requirements 

a) Minimum Lot Frontage 

b) Minimum Lot Area 

c) Minimum Front Yard 

d) Minimum Lot Depth 

e) Minimum Interior Side Yard 

15 metres 

0.5 hectares 

9 metres 

35 metres 

no minimum except where 
an interior side yard abuts 
a residential zone the 
setback shall be 2.5 
metres 

67 

612



Minimum Corner Side Yard 2 metres 

Minimum Rear Yard 4.5 metres 

Maximum Height 11 metres 

g) 

h) 

i) 

j) Maximum Gross Floor Area 230 square metres for 
each permitted use under 
Section 20.2 (a) to (k) 

20.4 Additional Zone Requirements - Dwelling, Accessory 

a) Max Percent of Total Gross Floor Area 50 percent 

b) Minimum Floor Area 50 square metres 

c) A maximum of one accessory residential unit is permitted per hamlet 
commercial use in the same building. 

d) An accessory dwelling unit is only permitted above hamlet commercial 
uses. 

68 

613



Section 21: Mixed Use (MU) Zone 

21.1 General 

21.2 

a) No person shall use any lot or erect, alter or use any building or structure 
in any Mixed Use (MU) Zone except in accordance with the applicable 
provisions of Sections 2, 3 and 21. 

b) In addition to Section 21.1 (a), any lot may be subject to additional 
regulations or restrictions by the City, upper tier government or agencies 
as indicated in Section 1.3. 

Permitted Uses 

a) Animal Care Establishment; 

b) Apartment Building; 

c) Apartment Building, Public; 

d) Convenience Store; 

e) Community Garden; 

f) Day Care; 

g) Dwelling, Accessory; 

h) Dwelling, Duplex; 

i) Dwelling, Fourplex; 

j) Dwelling, Single; 

k) Dwelling, Semi-detached; 

I) Dwelling, Townhouse Street; 

m) Dwelling, Triplex; 

n) Food Vehicle 

o) Long Term Care Facility; 

p) Office; 

q) Personal Service Business; 

r) Public Uses; 

s) Restaurant, Fast-Food; 

t) Restaurant, Full-Service; 

69 

614



u) Restaurant, Take-Out; 

v) Service Commercial; 

w) Social Services Facility; 

x) Studio; and 

y) Uses, structures and buildings accessory thereto 

21.3 Zone Requirements - Non-Residential Buildings and Mixed Use 
(Residential and Non-Residential) Buildings 

a) Minimum Lot Frontage 15 metres 

b) Minimum Lot Area 0.5 hectares 

c) Minimum Front Yard 9 metres 

d) Minimum Interior Side Yard 1.2 

e) Minimum Interior Side Yard abutting 7.5 metres or half the 
height of a Residential 
Zone the building, 
whichever is greater 

f) Minimum Corner Side Yard 2 metres 

g) Minimum Rear Yard 4.5 metres 

h) Maximum Height 11 metres 

i) Minimum Landscape Buffer abutting 3 metres 
Residential Zone 

21.4 Additional Zone Requirements - Dwelling, Detached 

a) Minimum Lot Frontage 12 metres 

b) Minimum Lot Frontage - Corner Lot 15 metres 

c) Minimum Lot Area 0.04 hectares 

d) Minimum Front Yard 6.5 metres 

e) Minimum Interior Side Yard 1 metre 

f) Minimum Corner Side Yard 3.5 metres 

g) Minimum Rear Yard 6 metres 

70 

615



h) 

i) 

j) 

Maximum Lot Coverage 

Maximum Height 

Minimum Landscaped Area 

50 percent 

11 metres 

25 percent 

21.5 Additional Zone Requirements - Dwelling, Semi-Detached 

21.6 

a) 

b) 

c) 

d) 

e) 

f) 

g) 

h) 

i) 

Minimum Lot Frontage 

Minimum Lot Area 

Minimum Front Yard 

Minimum Interior Side Yard 

Minimum Corner Side Yard 

Minimum Rear Yard 

Maximum Lot Coverage 

Maximum Height 

Minimum Landscaped Area 

18 metres 

0.05 hectares 

6.5 metres 

1.2 metres 

3 metres 

6 metres 

50 percent 

11 metres 

25 percent 

j) Common walls shall be centred on the common lot line. 

k) There is no minimum interior side yard and/or rear yard for common walls. 

I) Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 21.5, nothing shall prevent the 
splitting of any lot on which a semi-detached dwelling is erected into 2 
parts divided in part by the centre line of the common or party wall 
separating the dwelling units in such dwelling provided that each until shall 
have a minimum lot area of 0.02 hectares 

Additional Zone Requirements - Dwelling, Duplex 

a) Minimum Lot Frontage 18 metres 

b) Minimum Lot Area 0.05 hectares 

c) Minimum Front Yard 6.5 metres 

d) Minimum Interior Side Yard 1.2 metres 

e) Minimum Corner Side Yard 3 metres 

f) Minimum Rear Yard 6 metres 

g) Maximum Lot Coverage 50 percent 

h) Maximum Height 11 metres 

71 

616



i) Minimum Landscaped Area 25 percent 

21.7 Additional Zone Requirements - Dwelling, Triplex 

a) Minimum Lot Frontage 18 metres 

b) Minimum Lot Area per Unit 125 square metres 

c) Minimum Front Yard 9 metres 

d) Minimum Interior Side Yard 1.2 metres 

e) Minimum Corner Side Yard 3 metres 

f) Minimum Rear Yard 6 metres 

g) Maximum Lot Coverage 40 percent 

h) Maximum Height 11 metres 

i) Minimum Landscaped Area 25 percent 

21.8 Additional Zone Requirements - Dwelling, Fourplex 

a) Minimum Lot Frontage 18 metres 

b) Minimum Lot Area per Unit 125 square metres 

c) Minimum Front Yard 9 metres 

d) Minimum Interior Side Yard 1.2 metres 

e) Minimum Corner Side Yard 3 metres 

f) Minimum Rear Yard 6 metres 

g) Maximum Lot Coverage 40 percent 

h) Maximum Height 11 metres 

i) Minimum Landscaped Area 25 percent 

21.9 Additional Zone Requirements - Dwelling, Townhouse Street 

a) 

b) 

c) 

d) 

Minimum Lot Frontage per Unit 

Minimum Lot Area 

Minimum Front Yard 

Minimum Interior Side Yard 

6 metres 

0.02 hectares 

7.5 metres 

3 metres 

72 

617



e) 

f) 

g) 

h) 

Minimum Corner Side Yard 

Minimum Rear Yard 

Maximum Height 

Minimum Landscaped Area 

4.5 metres 

6 metres 

11 metres 

25 percent 

i) A 3 metre planting strip shall be required when a Townhouse development 
abuts the boundary of the Residential First Density, Residential Second 
Density or Residential Third Density Zone 

j) Common walls shall be centred on the common lot line. 

k) There is no minimum interior side yard and/or rear yard for common walls. 

21.10 Additional Zone Requirements-Apartment Building, Apartment Building, 
Public 

21.11 

a) Minimum Lot Frontage 18 metres 

b) Minimum Lot Area per Unit 125 square metres 

c) Minimum Front Yard 9 metres 

d) Minimum Interior Side Yard 3 metres 

e) Minimum Corner Side Yard 7.5 metres 

f) Minimum Rear Yard 6 metres 

g) Maximum Lot Coverage 40 percent 

h) Maximum Height 20 metres 

i) Minimum Landscaped Area 25 percent 

Additional Zone Requirements - Dwelling, Accessory 

a) Max Percent of Total Gross Floor Area 50 percent 

b) Minimum Floor Area 50 Square metres 

c) A maximum of one accessory residential unit is permitted per mixed use 
zone use in the same building. 

d) An accessory residential unit is only permitted above mixed use zone 
uses. 

73 

618



21.12 Additional Zone Requirements - Attached Accessory Use 

a) Max Percent of Total Gross Floor Area 50 percent 

b) An attached accessory use to a residential or commercial use is only 
permitted above, to the rear and/or below mixed use zones. 

74 

619



Section 22: Commercial Plaza Zone (CP) 

22.1 General 

22.2 

a) No person shall use any lot or erect, alter or use any building or structure 
in any Commercial Plaza (CP) Zone except in accordance with the 
applicable provisions of Sections 2, 3 and 22. 

b) In addition to Section 22.1 (a), any lot may be subject to additional 
regulations or restrictions by the City, upper tier government or agencies 
as indicated in Section 1 .3. 

Permitted Uses 

a) Animal Care Establishment; 

b) Day Care; 

c) Drive-Thru Facility; 

d) Existing Motor Vehicle Gas Station; 

e) Existing Motor Vehicle Repair Garage; 

f) Medical Clinic; 

g) Office; 

h) Personal Service Business; 

i) Place of Worship; 

j) Public Use; 

k) Recreation Facility; 

I) Restaurant, Fast Food; 

m) Restaurant, Full-Service; 

n) Restaurant, Take-Out; 

o) Retail Store; 

p) Service Commercial; 

q) Studio; 

r) Veterinary Clinic; and 

s) Uses, structures and buildings accessory thereto 

75 

620



22.3 Zone Requirements 

a) Minimum Lot Frontage no minimum 

b) Minimum Lot Area no minimum 

c) Minimum Front Yard 23 metres 

d) Minimum Interior Side Yard 15 metres 

e) Minimum Corner Side Yard 23 metres 

f) Minimum Rear Yard 15 metres 

g) Maximum Building Height 8 metres 

h) Maximum Lot Coverage 33 percent 

i) Minimum Landscaped Area 10 percent 

76 

621



Section 23: Downtown Commercial Zone (DC) 

23.1 General 

23.2 

a) No person shall use any lot or erect, alter or use any building or structure 
in any Downtown Commercial (DC) Zone except in accordance with the 
applicable provisions of Sections 2, 3 and 23. 

b) In addition to Section 23.1 (a), any lot may be subject to additional 
regulations or restrictions by the City, upper tier government or agencies 
as indicated in Section 1.3. 

Permitted Uses 

a) Animal Care Establishment; 

b) Apartment Building; 

c) Apartment Building, Public; 

d) Brew Pub; 

e) Day Care; 

f) Drive-Thru Facility; 

g) Dwelling, Accessory 

h) Existing Motor Vehicle Gas Station; 

i) Existing Motor Vehicle Repair Garage; 

j) Food Vehicle; 

k) Hotel; 

I) Medical Clinic; 

m) Office; 

n) Personal Service Business; 

o) Place of Assembly/Banquet Hall; 

p) Place of Worship; 

q) Private Club; 

r) Public Use; 

s) Recreation Facility; 

t) Restaurant, Fast Food; 

77 

622



23.3 

23.4 

u) Restaurant, Full-Service; 

v) Restaurant, Take-Out; 

w) Retail Store; 

x) Service Commercial; 

y) Social Service Facility 

z) Studio; 

aa) Veterinary Clinic; and 

bb) Uses, structures and buildings accessory thereto 

Zone Requirements 

a) Minimum Lot Frontage no minimum 

b) Minimum Lot Frontage where used 6 metres 
for Residential Purposes 

c) Minimum Lot Area no minimum 

d) Minimum Front Yard no minimum 

e) Minimum Interior Side Yard no minimum 

f) Minimum Interior Side Yard abutting no minimum 
a Residential Zone 

g) Minimum Corner Side Yard no minimum 

h) Minimum Rear Yard no minimum 

i) Minimum Lot Frontage where used 10 metres 
for Residential Purposes or abuts a 
Residential 
Zone 

j) Maximum Height 26 metres 

k) Maximum Gross Floor Area 100% of the lot area 

Parking Requirements 

a) With the exception of buildings containing dwelling units, all lands zoned 
Downtown Commercial shall be exempt from the parking and loading 
requirements of this By-law. 

78 

623



b) Buildings containing residential dwelling units will be subject to the 
residential parking provisions of Section 3 of this By-law. 

23.5 Additional Zone Requirements - Apartment Building, Apartment Building, 
Public 

23.6 

a) Minimum Lot Frontage 18 metres 

b) Minimum Lot Area per Unit no minimum 

c) Minimum Front Yard no minimum 

d) Minimum Interior Side Yard no minimum 

e) Minimum Corner Side Yard no minimum 

f) Minimum Rear Yard no minimum 

g) Maximum Lot Coverage no minimum 

h) Maximum Height 26 metres 

i) Minimum Landscaped Area 25 percent 

j) Minimum Floor Area for a Unit 50 square metres 

Additional Zone Requirements - Dwelling, Accessory 

a) Max Percent of Total Gross Floor Area 200 percent 

b) Minimum Floor Area 50 square metres 

c) There is no maximum amount of accessory residential units in the same 
building provided required parking can be provided under Section 3 for 
each dwelling unit. 

d) An accessory residential unit is only permitted above downtown 
commercial uses. 

23.7 Additional Zone Requirements -Attached Accessory Use 

a) Max Percent of Total Gross Floor Area 50 percent 

79 

624



Section 24: Highway Commercial Zone (HC) 

24.1 General 

24.2 

a) No person shall use any lot or erect, alter or use any building or structure 
in any Highway Commercial (HC) Zone except in accordance with the 
applicable provisions of Sections 2, 3 and 24. 

b) In addition to Section 24.1 (a) , any lot may be subject to additional 
regulations or restrictions by the City, upper tier government or agencies 
as indicated in Section 1.3. 

Permitted Uses 

a) Animal Care Establishment; 

b) Brew Pub; 

c) Car Wash; 

d) Convenience Store; 

e) Day Care; 

f) Drive-Thru Facility; 

g) Dwelling, Accessory 

h) Food Vehicle ; 

i) Hotel; 

j) Motor Vehicle Repair Garage; 

k) Motor Vehicle Sales/Rental Service Centre; 

I) Motor Vehicle Gas Station; 

m) Office; 

n) Personal Service Business; 

o) Place of Assembly/Banquet Hall; 

p) Place of Worship; 

q) Public Use; 

r) Recreation Facility; 

s) Restaurant, Fast Food ; 

t) Restaurant, Full Service; 

80 

625



24.3 

24.4 

u) Restaurant, Take-Out; 

v) Retail Building Construction and Supply; 

w) Service Commercial; and 

x) Uses, structures and buildings accessory thereto 

Zone Requirements 

a) Minimum Lot Frontage 27 metres 

b) Minimum Lot Area 0.14 hectares 

c) Minimum Front Yard 9 metres 

d) Minimum Interior Side Yard 5 metres 

f) Minimum Corner Side Yard 7.5 metres 

g) Minimum Rear Yard 5 metres 

i) Maximum Building Height 22 metres 

j) Maximum Lot Coverage 85 percent 

Additional Zone Requirements - Dwelling, Accessory 

a) Max Percent of Total Gross Floor Area 50 percent 

b) Minimum Floor Area 50 square metres 

c) A maximum of one accessory residential unit is permitted per 
neighbourhood commercial use in the same building. 

d) An accessory dwelling unit is only permitted above highway commercial 
zone uses. 

24.5 Additional Zone Requirements - Attached Accessory Use 

a) Max Percent of Total Gross Floor Area 50 percent 

81 

626



Section 25: Marine Commercial Zone (MC) 

25.1 General 

25.2 

25.3 

a) No person shall use any lot or erect, alter or use any building or structure 
in any Marine Commercial (MC) Zone except in accordance with the 
applicable provisions of Sections 2, 3 and 25. 

b) In addition to Section 25.1 (a), any lot may be subject to additional 
regulations or restrictions by the City, upper tier government or agencies 
as indicated in Section 1.3. 

Permitted Uses 

a) Marina; 

b) Dock; 

c) Marine Sales and Service; 

d) Parking Lots ; 

e) Public Use; 

f) Recreation Facility 

g) Restaurant, Full-Service; 

h) Restaurant, Take-Out; and 

i) Uses, structures and buildings accessory thereto 

Zone Requirements 

a) Minimum Lot Frontage as existing 

b) Minimum Lot Area as existing 

c) Minimum Front Yard 6 metres 

d) Minimum Interior Side Yard no minimum 

e) Minimum Interior Side Yard abutting 3.5 metres 
a Residential Zone 

f) Minimum Corner Side Yard 3.5 metres 

g) Minimum Rear Yard 5 metres 

h) Minimum Rear Yard abutting 3.5 metres 
a Residential Zone 

82 

627



i) 

j) 

Maximum Building Height 

Maximum Lot Coverage 

8 metres 

50 percent 

83 

628



Section 26: Light Industrial Zone (LI) 

26.1 General 

a) No person shall use any lot or erect, alter or use any building or structure 
in any Light Industrial (LI) Zone except in accordance with the applicable 
provisions of Sections 2, 3 and 26. 

b) In addition to Section 26.1 (a), any lot may be subject to additional 
regulations or restrictions by the City, upper tier government or agencies 
as indicated in Section 1.3. 

26.2 Permitted Uses - Principal 

26.3 

a) Adult Oriented Entertainment Establishment; 

b) Car wash; 

c) Contractor's Yard; 

d) Crematorium; 

e) Education Facility; 

f) Industry, Light; 

g) Medical Marihuana Production Facility; 

h) Motor Vehicle Repair Garage; 

i) Public Use; 

j) Research Facility; 

k) Transportation Depot; and 

I) Uses, structures and buildings accessory thereto and does not include 
obnoxious, dangerous or offensive trades 

Permitted Uses - Accessory 

a) Food Vehicle; 

b) Office; 

c) Retail Store; 

d) Restaurant, Fast-Food; 

e) Restaurant, Full-Service; and 

f) Restaurant, Take-Out 

84 

629



26.4 Zone Requirements 

a) 

b) 

c) 

d) 

e) 

f) 

g) 

h) 

i) 

Minimum Lot Frontage 

Minimum Front Yard 

Minimum Front Yard abutting 
a Residential or Agricultural Zone 

Minimum Interior Side Yard 

Minimum Interior Side Yard abutting 
a Residential or Agricultural Zone 

Minimum Interior Side Yard abutting 
a Railroad or Hydro Right-of-Way 

Minimum Rear Yard 

Maximum Building Height 

Maximum Building Height abutting 
a Residential Zone 

30 metres 

7.5 metres 

15 metres 

1 0 percent of lot frontage 
or 3 metres, whichever is 
less 

15 metres 

1.5 metres 

8 metres 

11 metres 

8 metres 

j) Outside Storage is permitted only in the rear yard and interior side yard to 
a maximum of 10 percent of the total gross floor area on the lot. 

k) The gross floor area of the permitted accessory use(s) shall not exceed 
30% of the total gross floor area of the principal use(s) on the lot. 

I) Corner walls facing a public road shall not be constructed of concrete 
blocks unless the blocks are decorative masonry units; or used in a 
decorative pattern or surfaced with stucco; or with a permanent coloured 
finish which does not include paint. 

m) In addition to the general parking provisions of Section 3 of this By-law all 
parking areas in the front yard and/or corner side yard shall be: 

i) Paved with concrete or asphalt; 

ii) Defined by poured concrete curbing; and 

iii) Clearly marked with pavement markings for each parking space 

n) Vehicle wash bays other than those located entirely within an enclosed 
building are not permitted in a yard abutting a Residential use. 

85 

630



o) Outdoor storage is subject to the provisions outlined in Section 2.18 and 
the following: 

i) Outdoor storage is not permitted in any yard that abuts a highway 
or an arterial collector road; 

ii) No outdoor scrap yard, recycling storage yard or outdoor 
processing shall be located closer than 150 metres to any 
Residential use. 

26.5 Additional Zone Requirements - Medical Marihuana Production Facility 

a) Minimum Lot Frontage 

b) Maximum Lot Coverage 

c) 

d) 

e) 

f) 

g) 

i) 

ii) 

iii) 

Lots less than 5 hectares 

Lots 5 hectares to 10 hectares 

Lots greater than 10 hectares 

Minimum Front Yard 

Minimum Interior Side Yard 

Minimum Corner Side Yard 

Minimum Rear Yard 

Minimum Separation to Sensitive Land Use 

30 metres 

30 percent 

10 percent 

5 percent 

30 metres 

16 metres 

30 metres 

30 metres 

150 metres 

h) Where a lot line of a lot containing a Medical Marihuana Production 
Facility abuts a sensitive land use, then that part of said lot directly 
adjoining such lot line shall be used for no purpose other than a planting 
strip having a minimum width of 1.5 metres, measured perpendicularly to 
said lot line. 

i) Outside storage of goods, materials or other supplies is not permitted. 

j) Where a building or structure consists of more than 40% glass and where 
artificial lighting is required an opaque fence shall be provided and 
maintained adjacent to every portion of any lot line that abuts a sensitive 

land use. 

k) 1 parking space shall be provided for every employee on the largest shift. 

86 

631



I) Servicing for the facility shall be designed by a Qualified Professional, 
identifying the source of irrigation water, water quantities required and the 
effects of same on the groundwater table and nearby wells. 

87 

632



Section 27: Heavy Industrial Zone (HI) 

27 .1 General 

a) No person shall use any lot or erect, alter or use any building or structure 
in any Heavy Industrial (HI) Zone except in accordance with the applicable 
provisions of Sections 2, 3 and 27. 

b) In addition to Section 27.1 (a), any lot may be subject to additional 
regulations or restrictions by the City, upper tier government or agencies 
as indicated in Section 1.3. 

27.2 Permitted Uses - Principal 

a) Adult Entertainment Establishment; 

b) Bulk Fuel Depot 

c) Car Wash; 

d) Contractor's Yard; 

e) Crematorium; 

f) Education Facility; 

g) Heavy Equipment Sales and Service; 

h) Industry, Heavy; 

i) Industry, Light; 

j) Medical Marihuana Production Facility; 

k) Motor Vehicle Repair Garage; 

I) Public Uses; 

m) Research Facility; 

n) Transportation Depot; and 

o) Uses, structures and buildings accessory thereto and does not include 
obnoxious, dangerous or offensive trades 

27.3 Permitted Uses -Accessory 

a) Food Vehicle; 

b) Office; 

c) Retail Store; 

88 

633



d) Restaurant, Fast-Food; 

e) Restaurant, Full-Service; and 

f) Restaurant, Take-Out 

27.4 Zone Requirements 

a) 

b) 

c) 

Minimum Lot Frontage 

Minimum Front Yard 

Minimum Front Yard abutting 
a Residential or Agricultural Zone 

30 metres 

7.5 metres 

15 metres 

d) Minimum Interior Side Yard 10 percent of lot frontage 
or 3 metres, whichever is 
less 

e) 

f) 

g) 

h) 

i) 

Minimum Interior Side Yard abutting 
a Residential or Agricultural Zone 

Minimum Interior Side Yard abutting 
a Railroad or Hydro Right-of-Way 

Minimum Rear Yard 

Maximum Building Height 

Maximum Building Height abutting 
a Residential Zone 

15 metres 

1.5 metres 

8 metres 

11 metres 

8 metres 

j) Outside Storage is permitted only in the rear yard and interior side yard. 

k) The gross floor area of the permitted accessory use(s) shall not exceed 
15% of the total gross floor area of the principal use(s) on the lot. 

I) Corner walls facing a public road shall not be constructed of concrete 
blocks unless the blocks are decorative masonry units; or used in a 
decorative pattern or surfaced with stucco; or with a permanent coloured 
finish which does not include paint. 

m) In addition to the general parking provisions of Section 3 of this By-law all 
parking areas in the front yard and/or corner side yard shall be: 

i) Paved with concrete or asphalt; 

ii) Defined by poured concrete curbing ; and 

89 

634



iii) Clearly marked with pavement markings for each parking space 

n) Vehicle wash bays other than those located entirely within an enclosed 
building are not permitted in a yard abutting a Residential use. 

o) Outdoor storage and outdoor processing is subject to the provisions 
outlined in Section 2.18 and the following: 

i) Outdoor storage and outdoor processing is not permitted in any 
yard that abuts a highway or an arterial collector road; 

ii) No outdoor scrap yard, recycling storage yard or outdoor 
processing shall be located closer than 150 metres to any 
Residential use; 

27.5 Additional Zone Requirements - Medical Marihuana Production Facility 

a) Minimum Lot Frontage 

b) Maximum Lot Coverage 

c) 

d) 

e) 

f) 

g) 

i) 

ii) 

iii) 

Lots less than 5 hectares 

Lots 5 hectares to 10 hectares 

Lots greater than 10 hectares 

Minimum Front Yard 

Minimum Interior Side Yard 

Minimum Corner Side Yard 

Minimum Rear Yard 

Minimum Separation to Sensitive Land Use 

30 metres 

30 percent 

10 percent 

5 percent 

30 metres 

16 metres 

30 metres 

30 metres 

150 metres 

h) Where a lot line of a lot containing a Medical Marihuana Production 
Facility abuts a sensitive land use, then that part of said lot directly 
adjoining such lot line shall be used for no purpose other than a planting 
strip having a minimum width of 1.5 metres, measured perpendicularly to 
said lot line. 

i) Outside storage of goods, materials or other supplies is not permitted. 

j) Where a building or structure consists of more than 40% glass and where 
artificial lighting is required an opaque fence shall be provided and 

90 

635



maintained adjacent to every portion of any lot line that abuts a sensitive 
land use. 

k) 1 parking space shall be provided for every employee on the largest shift. 

I) Servicing for the facility shall be designed by a Qualified Professional, 
identifying the source of irrigation water, water quantities required and the 
effects of same on the groundwater table and nearby wells. 

91 

636



Section 28: Mineral Aggregate Operation Zone (MAO) 

28.1 General 

a) No person shall make or establish any pit or quarry, or use any lot or 
erect, alter or use any building or structure in any Mineral Aggregate 
Operation (MAO) Zone except in accordance with the appl icable 
provisions of Sections 2, 3 and 28. 

b) In addition to Section 28.1 (a), any lot may be subject to additional 
regulations or restrictions by the City, upper tier government or agencies 
as indicated in Section 1.3. 

28.2 Permitted Uses 

a) Mineral Aggregate Operations; 

b) Making or establishment of pits and quarries for the purpose of extracting 
natural materials from the earth including soil, clay, sand, gravel, stone, 
rock, shale and minerals; 

c) Processing of natural materials including screening , sorting , washing, 
crushing, storing and other similar operations related to an extractive 
industrial operation; 

d) Agricultural uses; 

e) Uses, structures and buildings accessory thereto excepting any building or 
structure used for human habitation. 

28.3 Zone Requirements 

a) No building or structure other than a fence shall be located within 30 
metres of any lot line or within 90 metres of any occupied dwelling or 
Residential Zone. 

b) No pit, quarry or excavation shall be made or established within 15 metres 
of any lot line which does not abut a public street or 90 metres of any lot 
line which abuts a Provincial Highway or 30 metres of any lot line which 
abuts any other public street. 

92 

637



Section 29: Gateway Industrial Zone (GI) 

29.1 General 

a) No person shall use any lot or erect, alter or use any building or structure 
in any Gateway Industrial (GI) Zone except in accordance with the 
applicable provisions of Sections 2, 3 and 29. 

b) In addition to Section 29.1 (a), any lot may be subject to additional 
regulations or restrictions by the City, upper tier government or agencies 
as indicated in Section 1.3. 

29.2 Permitted Uses 

29.3 

29.4 

a) Contractor's Yard; 

b) Education Facility; 

c) Industry, Light; 

d) Medical Marihuana Production Facility; 

e) Multi-modal Storage Facility; 

f) Public Use; 

g) Research Facility; 

h) Transportation Depot; and 

i) Uses, structures and buildings accessory thereto and does not include 
obnoxious, dangerous or offensive trades 

Permitted Uses -Accessory 

a) Employee Convenience Facility; 

b) Retail Store; 

c) Restaurant, Fast-Food ; 

d) Restaurant, Full-Service; and 

e) Restaurant, Take-Out 

Zone Requirements 

a) Minimum Lot Frontage 30 metres 

b) Minimum Front Yard 7.5 metres 

c) Minimum Front Yard abutting 15 metres 
a Residential or Agricultural Zone 

93 

638



d) Minimum Interior Side Yard 10 percent of lot frontage 
or 3 metres, whichever is 
less 

e) 

f) 

g) 

h) 

i) 

Minimum Interior Side Yard abutting 
a Residential or Agricultural Zone 

Minimum Interior Side Yard abutting 
a Railroad or Hydro Right-of-Way 

Minimum Rear Yard 

Maximum Building Height 

Maximum Building Height abutting 
a Residential Zone 

15 metres 

1.5 metres 

8 metres 

11 metres 

8 metres 

j) Outside Storage is permitted only in the rear yard and interior side yard to 
a maximum of 10 percent of the total gross floor area on the lot. 

k) The gross floor area of the permitted accessory use(s) shall not exceed 
30% of the total gross floor area of the principal use(s) on the lot. 

I) Exterior walls facing a public road shall not be constructed of concrete 
blocks unless the blocks are decorative masonry units; or used in a 
decorative pattern or surfaced with stucco; or with a permanent coloured 
finish which does not include paint. 

m) In addition to the general parking provisions of Section 3 of this By-law all 
parking areas in the front yard and/or corner side yard shall be: 

i) Paved with concrete or asphalt; 

ii) Defined by poured concrete curbing; and 

iii) Clearly marked with pavement markings for each parking space 

n) Outdoor storage is subject to the provisions outlined in Section 2.18 and 
the following: 

i) Outdoor storage is not permitted in any yard that abuts a highway 
or an arterial collector road ; 

ii) No outdoor scrap yard , recycling storage yard or outdoor 
processing shall be located closer than 150 metres to any 
Residential use. 

94 

639



29.5 Additional Zone Requirements - Medical Marihuana Production Facility 

a) 

b) 

Minimum Lot Frontage 

Minimum Lot Area 

c) Maximum Lot Coverage 

d) 

e) 

f) 

g) 

h) 

i) 

ii) 

iii) 

Lots less than 5 hectares 

Lo~5heciarns~10hectaffis 

Lots greater than 10 hectares 

Minimum Front Yard 

Minimum Interior Side Yard 

Minimum Corner Side Yard 

Minimum Rear Yard 

Minimum Separation to Sensitive Land Use 

75 metres 

Permitted only on an 
existing lot having a 
minimum size of 3 
hectares 

30 percent 

10 percent 

5 percent 

30 metres 

16 metres 

30 metres 

30 metres 

150 metres 

i) Where a lot line of a lot containing a Medical Marihuana Production 

Facility abuts a sensitive land use, then that part of said lot directly 
adjoining such lot line shall be used for no purpose other than a planting 

strip having a minimum width of 1.5 metres, measured perpendicularly to 
said lot line. 

j) Outside storage of goods, materials or other supplies is not permitted. 

k) Where a building or structure consists of more than 40% glass and where 

artificial lighting is required an opaque fence shall be provided and 

maintained adjacent to every portion of any lot line that abuts a sensitive 

land use. 

I) 1 parking space shall be provided for every employee on the largest shift. 

m) Servicing for the facility shall be designed by a Qualified Professional, 

identifying the source of irrigation water, water quantities required and the 

effects of same on the groundwater table and nearby wells. 

95 

640



Section 30: Industrial Development Zone (ID) 

30.1 General 

a) No person shall use any lot or erect, alter or use any building or structure 
in any Industrial Development (ID) Zone except in accordance with the 
applicable provisions of Sections 2, 3 and 30. 

b) In addition to Section 30.1 (a), any lot may be subject to additional 
regulations or restrictions by the City, upper tier government or agencies 
as indicated in Section 1.3. 

30.2 Permitted Uses 

a) Agricultural Farm Related Commercial or Industrial; 

b) Contractor's Yard 

c) Heavy Equipment Sales and Service; 

d) Multi-modal Storage Facility; 

e) Research Facility; 

f) Transportation Depot; 

g) Warehouse; and 

h) Uses, structures and buildings accessory thereto and does not include 
obnoxious, dangerous or offensive trades 

30.3 Zone Requirements 

a) 

b) 

b) 

c) 

d) 

e) 

f) 

Minimum Lot Frontage 

Minimum Lot Area 

Minimum Front Yard 

Minimum Front Yard abutting 
a Residential or Agricultural Zone 

Minimum Interior Side Yard 

Minimum Interior Side Yard abutting 
a Residential or Agricultural Zone 

Minimum Interior Side Yard abutting 
a Railroad or Hydro Right-of-Way 

30 metres 

0 .4 hectares 

7.5 metres 

15 metres 

10 percent of lot frontage 
or 3 metres, whichever is 
less 

15 metres 

1.5 metres 

96 

641



g) 

h) 

i) 

j) 

Minimum Rear Yard 

Maximum Building Height 

Maximum Building Height abutting 
a Residential Zone 

Minimum Landscaped Open Space 

8 metres 

11 metres 

8 metres 

25 percent 

j) Outside Storage is permitted only in the rear yard and interior side yard to 
a maximum of 10 percent of the total gross floor area on the lot. 

k) The gross floor area of the permitted accessory use(s) shall not exceed 
30% of the total gross floor area of the principal use( s) on the lot. 

I) Exterior walls facing a public road shall not be constructed of concrete 
blocks unless the blocks are decorative masonry units; or used in a 
decorative pattern or surfaced with stucco; or with a permanent coloured 
finish which does not include paint. 

m) In addition to the general parking provisions of Section 3 of this By-law all 
parking areas in the front yard and/or corner side yard shall be: 

i) Paved with concrete or asphalt; 

ii) Defined by poured concrete curbing; and 

iii) Clearly marked with pavement markings for each parking space. 

n) Outdoor storage is subject to the provisions outlined in Section 2.18 and 
is not permitted in any yard that abuts a highway or an arterial collector 
road; 

97 

642



Section 31: Institutional Zone (I) 

31.1 General 

a) No person shall use any lot or erect, alter or use any building or structure 
in any Institutional (I) Zone except in accordance with the applicable 
provisions of Sections 2, 3 and 31 . 

b) In addition to Section 31.1 (a), any lot may be subject to additional 
regulations or restrictions by the City, upper tier government or agencies 
as indicated in Section 1.3. 

31.2 Permitted Uses 

a) Apartment Building, Public; 

b) Community Garden; 

c) Cultural Facility; 

d) Cemetery; 

e) Day Care; 

f) Dwelling, Accessory; 

g) Food Vehicle; 

h) Long Term Care Facility; 

i) Place of Assembly/Banquet Hall; 

j) Place of Worship; 

k) Public Uses; 

I) Social Service Facility; and 

m) Uses, structures and buildings accessory thereto 

31.3 Zone Requirements 

a) Minimum Lot Frontage as existing 

b) Minimum Lot Area as existing 

c) Minimum Front Yard 8 metres 

d) Minimum Lot Depth no minimum 

e) Minimum Interior Side Yard 4.5 metres or half the 
height of the building 

98 

643



f) 

g) 

h) 

i) 

j) 

Minimum Corner Side Yard 

Minimum Rear Yard 

Maximum Lot Coverage 

Maximum Height 

Minimum Landscaped Open Space 

abutting a Residential use, 
whichever is greater 

7.5 metres 

7.5 metres 

40 percent 

11 metres 

35 percent 

31.4 Additional Zone Requirements - Dwelling, Accessory 

31.5 

a) Max Percent of Total Gross Floor Area 25 percent 

b) Minimum Floor Area 50 square metres 

c) A maximum of one accessory residential unit is permitted per non
commercial use. 

Additional Zone Requirements -Apartment Building, Public 

a) Minimum Lot Frontage 18 metres 

b) Minimum Lot Area per Unit 125 square metres 

c) Minimum Front Yard 9 metres 

d) Minimum Interior Side Yard 3 metres 

e) Minimum Corner Side Yard 7.5 metres 

f) Minimum Rear Yard 6 metres 

g) Maximum Lot Coverage 40 percent 

h) Maximum Height 20 metres 

i) Minimum Landscaped Area 25 percent 

j) Minimum Floor Area for a Unit 50 square metres 

99 

644



Section 32: Public and Park (P) 

32.1 General 

32.2 

32.3 

a) No person shall use any lot or erect, alter or use any building or structure 
in any Public and Park (P) Zone except in accordance with the applicable 
provisions of Sections 2, 3 and 32. 

b) In addition to Section 32.1 (a), any lot may be subject to additional 
regulations or restrictions by the City, upper tier government or agencies 
as indicated in Section 1.3. 

Permitted Uses 

a) Cemetery; 

b) Community Garden; 

c) Conservation Use; 

d) Cultural Facility; 

e) Food Vehicle; 

f) Park; 

g) Public Use; 

h) Recreation Use; and 

i) Uses, structures and buildings accessory thereto 

Zone Requirements 

a) Minimum Lot Frontage no minimum 

b) Minimum Lot Area no minimum 

c) Minimum Front Yard 8 metres 

d) Minimum Lot Depth no minimum 

e) Minimum Interior Side Yard 4.5 metres or half the 
height of the building , 
whichever is greater 

f) Minimum Corner Side Yard 7.5 metres 

g) Minimum Rear Yard 7.5 metres 

h) Maximum Lot Coverage 20 percent 

100 

645



i) 

j) 

Maximum Height 

Minimum Landscaped Open Space 

no maximum 

30 percent 

101 

646



Section 33: Vacation Residential Zone (VR) 

33.1 General 

33.2 

a) No person shall use any lot or erect, alter or use any building or structure 
in any Vacation Residential (VR) Zone except in accordance with the 
applicable provisions of Sections 2, 3 and 33. 

b) In addition to Section 33.1 (a), any lot may be subject to additional 
regulations or restrictions by the City, upper tier government or agencies 
as indicated in Section 1.3. 

Permitted Uses 

a) Campground, Permanent; 

b) Campground, Temporary; 

c) Existing Convenience Store; 

d) Existing Maintenance and Storage Facility; 

e) Existing Office; 

f) Existing Parks; 

g) Existing Personal Service Business; 

h) Existing Place of Worship; 

i) Existing Private Club; 

j) Existing Restaurant, Fast-Food; 

k) Existing Restaurant, Full-Service; 

I) Existing Restaurant, Take-Out; 

m) Existing Retail Store; 

n) Existing Trailer and Golf Cart Sales and Rentals; 

o) Food Vehicle; 

p) Parking Lot; 

q) Private Water Supply and Treatment Facility; 

r) Recreation Facility; and 

s) Uses, structures and buildings accessory thereto 

102 

647



33.3 Zone Requirements 

a) Minimum Lot Frontage as existing 

b) Minimum Lot Area as existing 

c) Minimum Buffer Area 
To properties fronting onto Beach Road 30 metres 

d) Minimum Buffer Area 
Residential Use 50 metres 

e) Minimum Buffer Area 
Eastern limit of Wyldewood Road 50 metres 

f) Minimum Buffer Area 
Private Water Supply and Treatment 
Facility 100 metres abutting any 

campground, temporary; 
campground, permanent; 
retail store; restaurant, fast 
food; restaurant, full-
service; restaurant, take-
out; and dwelling unit 

h) Maximum Building Height 11 metres 

i) The use of all-terrain vehicles and snowmobiles shall not be permitted in 
this zone, by persons other than the owner of property or the employees 
of the owner of the property. 

33.4 Additional Zoning Requirements - Campground, Permanent 

a) All campground, permanent sites shall be serviced by private sanitary and 
water supply systems, approved by the Regional Municipality of Niagara. 

b) Access to all campground, permanent sites shall be by lane, road or 
driveway with a minimum unobstructed hard surface width of 6 metres 
where two-way traffic is permitted and 3 metres where only one way 
direction of traffic flow is permitted or where the land, road or driveway 
services five sites or less. 

c) A landscape area having a minimum width of 3 metres shall be provided 
between campground, permanent sites and any other use. 

d) Minimum Parking 1 space located within the 
site or within 46 metres of 
the site 

103 

648



Section 34: Environmental Protection Zone (EP) 

34.1 General 

a) No person shall use any lot or erect, alter or use any building or structure 
in any Environmental Protection (EP) Zone except in accordance with the 
applicable provisions of Sections 2, 3 and 34. 

b) In addition to Section 34.1 (a), any lot may be subject to additional 
regulations or restrictions by the City, upper tier government or agencies 
as indicated in Section 1.3. 

34.2 Permitted Uses 

a) Boat House; 

b) Boat Ramp; 

c) Conservation Uses; 

d) Dock; 

e) Existing Agricultural Uses, excluding buildings and structures; 

f) Existing Dvvelling and any enlargement thereof and existing uses, buildings and 

structures accessory thereto; 

g) Flood and Erosion Protection Works; 

h) Forestry Uses; 

i) Passive Recreation Uses; and 

j) Public Use 

34.3 Zone Requirements 
Notwithstanding the permitted uses in the applicable underlying zones 
shown on the Maps in Section 39, where a lot is also subject to an 
Environmental Protection Zone, no uses and no building or structure or an 
expansion to an existing building or structure shall be permitted until an 
Environmental Impact Study (EIS), in accordance with the City, Regional 
Municipality of Niagara or Niagara Peninsula Conservation Authority, as 
amended from time to time, and other studies that may be required by the 
City based on approved guidelines or terms of reference are approved. 
The requirement for an EIS may be scoped or waived in accordance with 

104 

649



b) 

c) 

d) 

e) 

f) 

the EIS guidelines. The uses permitted in Section 34.2 may be permitted 
subject to a scoped EIS in accordance with the EIS guidelines. 

Minimum Lot Frontage 

Minimum Lot Area 

Minimum Front Yard 

Minimum Side Yard 

Minimum Rear Yard 

as existing 

as existing 

15 metres 

7 metres 

7 metres except the 
minimum rear yard shall 
be 30 metres from the 1 in 
100 year flood line as 
determined by the Niagara 
Peninsula Conservation 
Authority 

34.4 Additional Zone Requirements - Boat House, Boat Ramp, Dock 

a) Minimum Rear Yard No minimum 

105 

650



Section 35: Hazard Zone (H) 

35.1 General 

a) No person shall use any lot or erect, alter or use any building or structure 
in any Hazard (H) Zone except in accordance with the applicable 
provisions of Sections 2, 3 and 35. 

b) In addition to Section 35.1 (a), any lot may be subject to additional 
regulations or restrictions by the City, upper tier government or agencies 
as indicated in Section 1.3. 

35.2 Permitted Uses 

a) Boat House; 

b) Boat Ramp; 

c) Conservation Uses; 

d) Dock; 

e) Existing Agricultural Uses, excluding buildings and structures; 

f) Flood and Erosion Protection Works; 

g) Forestry Uses; 

h) Passive Recreation Use; and 

i) Public Use 

35.3 Zone Requirements 

a) Where a Hazard Zone is shown on the Maps in Section 39, it includes 
hazards associated with the Lake Erie Shoreline, such as flooding, erosion 
or dynamic beach hazards as per the Niagara Peninsula Conservation 
Authority's Regulation of Development, Interference with Wetlands and 
Alteration to Shorelines and Watercourses 0 . Reg 1-55/05. 

a) Notwithstanding the permitted uses, where a lot is subject to a Hazard 
Zone, no uses and no buildings or structures or an expansion to an 
existing building or structure shall be permitted until a permit for 
development or site alteration is issued by the Niagara Peninsula 
Conservation Authority. 

b) 

c) 

d) 

Minimum Lot Frontage 

Minimum Lot Area 

Minimum Front Yard 

as existing 

as existing 

15 metres 

106 

651



e) 

f) 

Minimum Side Yard 

Minimum Rear Yard 

7 metres 

7 metres except the 
minimum rear yard shall 
be 30 metres from the 1 in 
100 year flood line as 
determined by the Niagara 
Peninsula Conservation 
Authority 

35.4 Additional Zone Requirements - Boat House, Boat Ramp, Dock 

a) Minimum Rear Yard No minimum 

107 

652



Section 36: Environmental Conservation Layer 

36.1 General 

a) No person shall use any lot or erect, alter or use any building or structure 
in any Environmental Conservation Layer except in accordance with the 
applicable provisions of Sections 2, 3 and 36. 

b) In addition to Section 36.1 (a), any lot may be subject to additional 
regulations or restrictions by the City, upper tier government or agencies 
as indicated in Section 1.3. 

36.2 Permitted Uses 

a) Boat House; 

b) Boat Ramp; 

c) Conservation Uses; 

d) Dock; 

e) Existing Agricultural Uses, excluding buildings and structures; 

f) Existing Dwelling and any enlargement thereof and existing uses, 
buildings and structures accessory thereto; 

f) Flood and Erosion Protection Works; 

g) Forestry Uses; 

h) Park; 

i) Passive Recreation Uses; and 

j) Public Use 

36.3 Overlay Requirements 

a) Notwithstanding the permitted uses in the applicable underlying zones 
shown on the Maps in Section 39, where a lot is also subject to an 
Environmental Conservation Layer, no uses and no building or structure or 
an expansion to an existing building or structure shall be permitted until an 
Environmental Impact Study (EIS), in accordance with the City, Regional 
Municipality of Niagara or Niagara Peninsula Conservation Authority, as 
amended from time to time, and other studies that may be required by the 
City based on approved guidelines or terms of reference are approved . 
The requirement for an EIS may be scoped or waived in accordance with 
the EIS guidelines. The uses permitted in Section 36.2 may be permitted 
subject to a scoped EIS in accordance with the EIS guidelines. 

108 

653



b) The Environmental Impact Study (EIS) required by section 36.3 shall 
confirm the boundaries of any natural heritage feature or area within the 
Environmental Conservation Layer and shall determine the uses in the 
underlying zones that may be permitted. 

c) Minimum Lot Frontage 

d) Minimum Lot Area 

e) Minimum Front Yard 

f) Minimum Side Yard 

g) Minimum Rear Yard 

as existing 

as existing 

15 metres 

7 metres 

7 metres except the 
minimum rear yard shall 
be 30 metres from the 1 in 
100 year flood line as 
determined by the Niagara 
Peninsula Conservation 
Authority 

36.4 Additional Overlay Requirements - Boat House, Boat Ramp, Dock 

a) Minimum Rear Yard No minimum 

109 

654



Section 37: Special Provisions 

37.1 General 

a) Where special provisions are established for certain lots, the applicable 
regulations of the special provisions apply in addition to, or as an 
exception to, the normal zone provisions that apply to the subject lands. 

b) Where on Schedule A to this By-law, a zone symbol (e.g. R1) applying to 
lots contains a suffix at the end of the zone symbol consisting of a dash 
and number (e.g. R1-1 ), this indicates that a special provision applies to 
the subject lot(s). The number after the dash corresponds with the special 
provision number as set out in Section 37. 

37.2 List of Special Provisions 

Special Provision: A-1 Formerly: A-6 By-law No: 1746/11/86 

In addition to the uses permitted in the Agricultural (A) Zone, this land may also be used 
for the raising and processing of poultry, and uses building and structures accessory 
thereto, and the following special regulations shall apply: 

a) Minimum Lot Frontage 150 metres 

b) Minimum Lot Area 6 hectares 

c) Maximum Lot Coverage 25 percent 

d) Minimum Front Yard 24 metres 

e) Minimum Interior Side Yard 23 metres 

f) Minimum Rear Yard 30 metres 

g) Maximum Building Height 2 storeys 

Special Provision: A-2 Formerly: A-14 By-law No.: 4598/129/04 

In addition to the uses permitted in the Agricultural (A) Zone, this land may be also used 

for the manufacturing of construction lifting devices, cranes and other related hydraulic 

equipment and for the maintenance and storage of heavy equipment and uses and 

buildings and structures accessory thereto, and the following regulations shall apply: 

a) 

b) 

c) 

Minimum Front Yard 

Minimum Interior Side Yard (West) 

Minimum Interior Side Yard (East) 

92 metres 

as existing 

5 metres 

110 

655



d) 

e) 

f) 

Minimum Rear Yard 

Maximum Lot Coverage 

Maximum Building Height 

15 metres 

25 percent 

2 storeys 

g) No building or structure is permitted in the westerly interior side yard 
separated from the westerly lot line by a yard having a minimum width of 
22.8 metres measured perpendicular to said lot line and shall be 
separated from the rear yard having a minimum width of 18.3 metres. 

h) No building or structure is permitted in the rear yard having a rear yard 
depth of 126 metres extending easterly 22.8 metres from the westerly lot 
line measured perpendicular to said lot line. 

i) Outside storage is to be permitted in the rear yard and easterly interior 
side yard only, separated from the easterly lot line by a yard having a 

minimum width of 22.8 metres measured perpendicular to said lot line and 
shall be separated from the rear yard having a minimum width of 18.3 
metres measured perpendicular to said rear yard . 

Special Provision: A-3 Formerly: Ll-9 By-law No.: n/a 

In addition to the uses permitted in the Agriculture (A) Zone, this land may also be used 
for the manufacturing, outdoor storage and sales of concrete products and uses, 

buildings and structures accessory thereto. 

Special Provision: A-4 Formerly: A-21 By-law No.: 1374/67/83 

In addition to the uses permitted in the Agricultural (A) Zone, this land may also be used 
for a motel, restaurant and gasoline retail outlet and one accessory dwelling unit and 

uses, buildings and structures accessory thereto and the following regulations shall 

apply: 

a) Minimum Lot Frontage 52 metres 

b) Minimum Lot Area 0.6 hectares 

. c) Minimum Front Yard 15 metres 

d) Minimum Side Yard 15 metres 

e) Minimum Rear Yard 42 metres 

f) Maximum Lot Coverage 8.5 percent 

g) Maximum Height for a Motel 1 storey 

111 

656



Special Provision: A-5 Formerly: A-29 By-law No.: 1374/67/83 

In addition to the uses permitted in the Agricultural (A) Zone, this land may also be used 
for the operation of a ship repair shop, machine shop and fabrication and uses, 

buildings and structures accessory thereto and the following regulations shall apply: 

a) 

b) 

c) 

d) 

e) 

f) 

g) 

Maximum Lot Coverage 

Minimum Lot Frontage 

Minimum Lot Area 

Minimum Front Yard 

Minimum Side Yard 

Minimum Rear Yard 

Maximum Height 

20 percent 

37.4 metres 

0.28 hectares 

15 metres 

7.5 metres 

3 metres 

1 storey 

h) Outdoor storage shall be permitted in the rear yard only. 

Special Provision: A-6 Formerly: A-42 By-law No.: 1374/67/83 

In addition to the uses permitted in the Agricultural (A) Zone, this land may also be used 

for a private club and uses, buildings and structures accessory thereto and the following 
regulations shall apply: 

a) 

b) 

c) 

d) 

e) 

f) 

g) 

Maximum Lot Coverage (for all buildings) 

Minimum Front Yard 

Minimum North Side Yard 

Minimum South Side Yard 

Minimum Rear Yard 

Maximum Height 

Maximum Lot Coverage for 

Accessory Structures 

h) Minimum Side Yard for 

Accessory Structures 

i) Minimum Rear Yard for 

Accessory Structures 

5 percent 

70 metres 

18 metres 

70 metres 

240 metres 

1.5 storeys 

0.5 percent 

18 metres 

18 metres 

112 

657



j) Accessory structures shall be permitted in the interior side and rear yard 

only. 

Special Provision: A-7 Formerly: A-50 By-law No.: 1374/67/83 

In addition to the uses permitted in the Agricultural (A) Zone, this land may also be used 
for an automobile service station and one accessory residential unit and uses, buildings 
and structures accessory thereto and the following regulations shall apply: 

a) Maximum Lot Coverage 5.5 percent 

b) Minimum Front Yard as existing 

c) Minimum Side Yard (West) 30 metres 

d) Minimum Side Yard (East) 7.5 metres 

e) Minimum Rear Yard 140 metres 

f) Maximum Height 2.5 storeys 

Special Provision: A-8 Formerly: A-51 By-law No.: 5669/100/11 

In addition to the uses permitted in the Agricultural (A) Zone, this land may also be used 
for a motel and one accessory residential unit, a trailer for living accommodations and 

uses, buildings and structures accessory thereto and the following regulations shall 

apply: 

a) Minimum Lot Frontage 60 metres 

b) Maximum Lot Coverage 7 percent 

c) Minimum Front Yard as existing 

d) Minimum Side Yard (West) 15 metres 

e) Minimum Side Yard (East) for Motel 25 metres 

f) Minimum Side Yard (East) for Trailer 12 metres 

g) Minimum Rear Yard for Motel 70 metres 

h) Minimum Rear Yard for Trailer 22 metres 

i) Maximum Building Height 1.5 storeys 

Special Provision: A-9 Formerly: A-72 By-law No.: 1374/67/83 

113 

658



In addition to the uses permitted in the Agricultural (A) Zone, this land may be used for a 
take-out restaurant and uses, buildings and structures accessory thereto and the 
following regulations shall apply: 

a) Minimum Front Yard 12 metres 

b) Minimum Side Yard (West) 15 metres 

c) Minimum Side Yard (East) 40 metres 

d) Minimum Rear Yard 25 metres 

e) Maximum Building Height 1 storey 

Special Provision: A-10 Formerly: A-82 By-law No.: 1436/11/84 

In addition to the uses permitted in the Agricultural (A) Zone, this land may also be used 
for a private club for the purpose of conservation including but not limited to; one 
assembly hall for banquet, meeting and seminar purposes (related to the conservation 
of plant and wildlife); trap-shooting and trap-shooting house; skeet shooting and high 
and low skeet houses; and an archery range and uses buildings and structures 
accessory thereto and the following regulation shall apply: 

a) Maximum Lot Coverage 1 percent 

Special Provision: A-11 Formerly: A-253 By-law No.: 3393/124/96 

In addition to the uses permitted in the Agricultural (A) Zone, these lands may also be 
used for the purpose of a golf course and uses, buildings and structures accessory 
thereto. 

Special Provision: A-12 Formerly: A-121 By-law No.: 1941/61/87 

In addition to the uses permitted in the Agricultural (A) Zone, this land may also be used 
as an exhibition grounds for the display of antique farm equipment and uses, building 
and structures accessory thereto and the following regulation shall apply: 

a) Minimum Corner Side Yard 9 metres 

Special Provision: RR-13 Formerly: RD-173 By-law No.: 3438/20/97 

Notwithstanding the provisions of the Rural Residential (RR) Zone, no residential 
dwelling shall be permitted on these lands. 

Special Provision: RR-14 Formerly: RU-78 By-law No.: 1374/67/83 

114 

659



In addition to the uses permitted in the Rural Residential (RR) Zone, this land may also 

be used for the manufacturing of sashes, frames and doors and for the stockpiling and 

transport of sand, stone and topsoil and uses, buildings and structures accessory 

thereto and the following regulations shall apply: 

a) 

b) 

c) 

d) 

e) 

f) 

Minimum Side Yard (North) 

Minimum Side Yard (South) 

Minimum Rear Yard 

Maximum Building Height 

Maximum Lot Coverage for 

Accessory Structure 

Minimum Front Yard 

as existing 

15 metres 

100 metres 

1.5 storeys 

2 percent 

15 metres 

g) Outside storage and stockpiling of sand, stone and topsoil is permitted in 

the rear yard only. 

Special Provision: A-15 Formerly: A-243 By-law No.: 3203/74/95 

In addition to the uses permitted in the Agricultural (A) Zone, these lands may also be 

used for the manufacturing of wood crates and pallets, steel and wood fabrication and 

welding uses, and uses buildings and structures accessory thereto and outdoor storage 

of related materials and the following regulations shall apply: 

a) 

b) 

c) 

d) 

e) 

f) 

Minimum Lot Frontage 

Minimum Front Yard 

Minimum Interior Side Yard (West) 

Minimum Interior Side Yard (East) 

Maximum Building Height 

Maximum Lot Coverage 

30 metres 

45 metres 

3.5 metres 

8.5 metres 

one storey 

10 percent 

g) Outside storage shall only be permitted in the rear yard 

Special Provision: A-16 Formerly: A-265 By-law No.: 3739/25/99 

In addition to the uses permitted in the Agricultural (A) Zone, these lands may also be 

used for an agricultural and non-agricultural machine shop and fabrication and repair 

115 

660



shop with no outside storage and uses, buildings and structures accessory thereto and 
the following regulations shall apply: 

a) 

b) 

c) 

d) 

e) 

Minimum Lot Area 

Minimum Front Yard 

Minimum Interior Side Yard (South) 

Minimum Interior Side Yard (North) 

Maximum Lot Coverage 

0.69 hectares 

12 metres 

2 metres 

8.3 metres 

14 percent 

f) No outside storage and no welding, fabricating, machining, painting or any 

industrial processes outside of the buildings on the property. 

Special Provision: HR-17 Formerly: HR-354 By-law No.: 5680/111/11 

Notwithstanding the provisions of the Hamlet Residential (HR) Zone, the following 

regulation shall apply: 

a) Minimum Rear Yard Setback (Dwelling) 169 metres 

Special Provision: LR-18 Formerly: LR-370 By-law No.: 6001/107/13 

Notwithstanding the provisions of the Lakeshore Residential (LR) Zone, the following 

regulations shall apply: 

a) 

b) 

Minimum Lot Frontage 

Minimum Side Yard (West) 

13.1 metres 

2.9 metres 

Special Provision: A-19 Formerly: A-379 By-law No.: 6108/74/14 

In addition to the uses permitted in the Agricultural (A) Zone, this land may also be used 

for special events related to weddings and similar type celebrations as well as special 

events relating to the agricultural uses occurring on the property and the following special 

regulations shall apply: 

a) Maximum Gross Floor Area 

for Outdoor Event Tents 330 square metres 

b) Outdoor Event Tents will only be permitted between May pt and October 
31st of each year 

c) That the Minimum Distance Separation I shall not apply for outdoor event 

tents. 

116 

661



Special Provision: R2-20-H Formerly: R2·280-H By-law No.: 4088/83/01 

Notwithstanding the provisions of the Second Density Residential (R2) Zone, this land 

may also be used for a parking lot provided that the following Holding provision 

conditions are met: 

a) The City receives and approves plans submitted by the owner depicting 

the parking area and access including details for surfacing, curbing of the 

parking area, lot grading, storm drainage, landscaping, fencing and 

lighting; and 

b) The City and the owner enter into an Agreement to be registered on title to 

the lands detailing implementation of the matters referenced in (a) above. 

Special Provision: 1-21 Formerly: 1-93 By-law No.: 3427/9/97 

Subject to the Provisions of Section 2 General Provisions of this by-law and 

notwithstanding the requirements of the Institutional (I) Zone, this land may also be 

used for; a public nursing home; an accessory dwelling unit; a senior citizen apartment 

house; a residential retirement home containing not more than 167 beds in 165 

bedroom units and uses, buildings and structures accessory thereto and the following 

regulations shall apply: 

a) 

b) 

c) 

d) 

e) 

f) 

g) 

h) 

i) 

j) 

Minimum Lot Area 

Minimum Lot Frontage 

Minimum Lot Depth 

Minimum Side Yard 

Minimum Rear Yard 

Minimum Front Yard 

Maximum Lot Coverage 

Maximum Building Height 

Minimum Bedroom Size 

Minimum Landscaped Open Space 

1.13 hectares 

95 metres 

118 metres 

2 metres 

15.05 metres 

8 metres 

40 percent 

11 metres 

26 square metres 

35 percent 

k) A public dining room or restaurant is specifically not permitted 

117 

662



Accessory Structure Provisions 

I) 

m) 

n) 

Minimum Rear Yard 

Minimum Side Yard 

Maximum Building Height 

"Special Provision: HMC-22 Formerly: RU-34 

7.5 metres 

3.0 metres 

1.5 storeys 

By-law No.: 1374/67/83 

In addition to the uses permitted in the Hamlet Commercial (HMC) Zone, this land may 
also be used for detached dwelling and the buying, selling and storing of industrial 
equipment and supplies, and uses, buildings and structures accessory thereto and the 

following special regulations shall apply thereto: 

i) Minimum Lot Frontage 68m 
ii) Minimum Lot Area 1.25 ha. 
iii) Maximum Lot Coverage 15 per cent 

iv) Minimum Front Yard 60m 
v) Minimum Side Yard 35m 

vi) Minimum Rear Yard as existing 
vii) Maximum Height 11 m" 

Special Provision: HMC-23 Formerly: HD-16 By-law No.: 1418/111/83 

In addition to the uses permitted in the Hamlet Commercial (HCM) Zone, this land may 
also be used for the manufacture and sales of monuments and uses, buildings and 

structures accessory thereto and the following regulations shall apply: 

a) 

b) 

c) 

d) 

e) 

f) 

Maximum Lot Coverage 

Minimum Front Yard 

Minimum East Side Yard 

Minimum West Side Yard 

Minimum Rear Yard 

Maximum Building Height 

15 percent 

10 metres 

7.5 metres 

15 metres 

15 metres 

1.5 storeys 

g) Outdoor storage shall be permitted in the east side yard and rear yard and 

shall not be permitted in the required west side yard setback. 

h) Outdoor displays shall be permitted in the front yard. 

Special Provision: 1-24 Formerly: 1-24 By-law No.: n/a 

118 

663



In addition to the uses permitted in the Institutional (I) Zone, this land may also be used 
for: 

a) 24 Unit Apartment Building; and 

b) 22 Unit Supportive Living Facility 

Special Provision: HC-25 Formerly: Ll-119 By-law No.: 2021/142/87 

Notwithstanding the provisions of the Light Industrial (LI) Zone, this land may only be 

used for a machine shop and uses, buildings and structures accessory thereto and the 
following regulations shall apply: 

a) The provisions of Sections 1.3.5 and 2.6 shall not apply. 

b) Minimum Lot Area 

c) Minimum Lot Frontage 

d) Minimum North Yard Setback 

e) Minimum Setback to Lands 

Zoned Residential 

f) 

g) 

h) 

i) 

j) 

Minimum Setback to Lands 
Zoned Heavy Industrial 

Minimum East Yard Setback 

Maximum Building Height 

Minimum Landscaped Open Space 

Maximum Lot Coverage 

4500 square metres 

40 metres 

15 metres 

15 metres 

3 metres 

5 metres 

1 storey 

10 percent 

35 percent 

k) Open storage and display areas shall not be located within any yard. 

I) Loading spaces shall not be located in any required yard . 

m) Parking areas may be located in any yard provided a planting strip is 

provided where any yard abuts a street or lands which are zoned 

residential. Said planting strip shall have a minimum width measured 
perpendicular to the lot line in accordance with the following: 

i) Minimum Width to the 

North Lot Line 9 metres 

119 

664



ii) Minimum Width to Lands 
Zoned Residential 

iii) Minimum Width in All 
Other Cases 

Special Provision: R2-26 Formerly: R2-45 

9 metres 

3 metres 

By-law No.: 1374/67/83 

In addition to the uses permitted in the Second Density Residential (R2) Zone, this land 
may also be used for a private club and uses, buildings and structures accessory 
thereto and the following regulations shall apply: 

a) Minimum Lot Frontage 50 metres 

b)· Minimum Lot Area 0.5 hectares 

c) Minimum Front Yard 9 metres 

d) Minimum Interior Side Yard as existing 

e) Minimum Rear Yard 60 metres 

f) Maximum Building Height 2 storeys 

g) Maximum Lot Coverage 30 percent 

h) Minimum Landscaped Area as existing 

i) Minimum Parking Requirements 1 space per 10 square 
metres of net floor area 

j) Minimum Interior Side Yard (East) 1 metre 

Special Provision: NC-27-H Formerly: NC-H By-law No.: 5910/17/13 

The uses permitted in the Neighbourhood Commercial (NC) Zone shall not occur until 
the Holding (H) symbol on the NC-27-H Zone is removed. Removal of the Holding (H) 
symbol may only occur when the owner enters into and registers on title a Subdivision 
Agreement with the City of Port Colborne. 

Special Provision: R2-28-H Formerly: R2-355-H By-law No.: 5910/17/13 

Notwithstanding the provisions of the Second Density Residential (R2) Zone, the 
following regulations shall apply: 

120 

665



b) 

c) 

d) 

Minimum Lot Frontage - Corner Lot 

Minimum Lot Area 

Minimum Rear Yard 

13.1 metres 

0.03 hectares 

15 metres where abutting 
an active railway right of 
way 

The uses permitted in the Second Density Residential (R2) Zone shall not occur until 
the Holding (H) symbol on the R2-28-H Zone is removed. Removal of the Holding (H) 
symbol may only occur when the owner enters into and registers on title a Subdivision 
Agreement with the City of Port Colborne. 

Special Provision: R3-29-H Formerly: RT-356-H By-law No.: 5910/17/13 

Notwithstanding the provisions of the Third Density Residential (R3) Zone, the following 
regulations shall apply: 

a) 

b) 

Minimum Lot Frontage - Corner Lot 

Minimum Lot Area 

10.5 metres 

0.02 hectares 

The uses permitted in the Third Density Residential (R3) Zone shall not occur until the 
Holding (H) symbol on the R3-29-H Zone is removed. Removal of the Holding (H) 
symbol may only occur when the owner enters into and registers on title a Subdivision 
Agreement with the City of Port Colborne. 

Special Provision: R4-30-H Formerly: R4-357-H By-law No.: 5910/17/13 

Notwithstanding the provisions of the Fourth Density Residential (R4) Zone, these lands 
may only be used for townhouse and apartment dwellings and uses, buildings and 
structures accessory thereto and the following regulations shall apply: 

a) Minimum Rear Yard 15 metres where abutting 
an active railway right of 
way 

The uses permitted in the Fourth Density Residential (R4) Zone shall not occur until the 
Holding (H) symbol on the R4-30-H Zone is removed. Removal of the Holding (H) 
symbol may only occur when the owner enters into and registers on title a Subdivision 
Agreement with the City of Port Colborne. 

Special Provision: NC-31 Formerly: NC-150 By-law No.: 2163/111/88 

121 

666



In addition to the uses permitted in the Neighbourhood Commercial (NC) Zone, this land 
may also be used for: a professional office and; a business office and uses, buildings 
and structures accessory thereto. 

Special Provision: R4-32 Formerly: R4-151 By-law No.: 2163/111/88 

Notwithstanding the provisions of the Fourth Density Residential (R4) Zone, the 
following regulations shall apply: 

a) 

b) 

c) 

d) 

Minimum Rear Yard 

Minimum Floor Area One Bedroom Unit 

Minimum Floor Area Two Bedroom Unit 

Minimum Floor Area Three Bedroom Unit 

One-half building height 

80 square metres 

95 square metres 

110 square metres 

Special Provision: CP-33 Formerly: HC-160 By-law No.: 4885/116/04 

Notwithstanding the provisions of the Commercial Plaza (CP) Zone, this land may also 

be used for mini-warehouse/storage use and the following regulations shall apply: 

a) Minimum Interior Side Yard (West) 3 metres 

Special Provision: R4-34 Formerly: R4-203 By-law No.: 4700/82/05 

Notwithstanding the provisions of the Fourth Density Residential (R4) Zone, this land 

may also be used for a Long Term Care Facility, subject to the following regulations: 

a) 

b) 

c) 

d) 

e) 

f) 

g) 

Minimum Lot Area 

Minimum Front Yard 

Minimum Interior Side Yard (North) 

Minimum Rear Yard 

Minimum Landscaped Area 

Minimum Parking Stall Length 

Minimum Two Way Driveway Access 

1605 square metres 

2.9 metres 

4.3 metres 

2.2 metres 

7.3 percent 

5.5 metres 

5.5 metres 

h) The long term care facility shall not contain more than 36 bedroom units. 

i) The long term care facility may or may not include nursing or medical 

care. 

Special Provision: Ll-35 Formerly: Ll-343 By-law No.: 5511/108/10 

122 

667



In addition to the permitted uses in the Light Industrial (LI) Zone, this land may also be 
used for a hotel, uses, buildings and structures accessory thereto and the following 
regulations shall apply: 

a) Maximum Height 12 metres 

b) Maximum Height for a Hotel 32 metres 

c) Minimum Southerly Yard 14 metres 

d) Minimum Southerly Yard for a Hotel 20 metres 

e) Minimum Westerly Yard 14 metres 

f) Minimum Westerly Yard for a Hotel 20 metres 

g) Minimum Easterly Yard 85 metres 

i) Minimum Interior Side Yard 10 metres 

Special Provision: R2-36 Formerly: R2-368 By-law No.: 597 4/80/13 

Notwithstanding the provisions of the Second Density Residential (R2) Zone the use of 
this land shall include a warehouse within the existing building and uses accessory 
thereto and the following regulations shall apply: 

a) Maximum Height shall be as existing. 

b) Planting Strip along the southern lot line is to be maintained as existing. 

c) From warehouse building face to western lot line, one coniferous tree 
within the existing planting strip at an interval of one per dwelling located 
along Delhi Street. 

d) Outside storage is permitted provided opaque screening is provided along 
the southern lot line. 

Special Provision: P-37-H Formerly: P-381-H By-law No.: 6171/137/14 

In addition to the uses in the Public and Park (P) Zone, this land may also be used for: 

a) Farmer's Market; 

b) Flea Market; 

c) Motor Vehicle Sales/ Rental Service Centre; 

d) Outdoor Storage; 

123 

668



e) Place of Assembly/Banquet Hall 

f) Warehouse 

The following regulations shall apply for a place of assembly/banquet hall: 

a) That 124 parking spaces be provided. 

The use of the property for warehousing and outdoor storage shall not occur until the 
Holding symbol (H) on the "P-381-H (Warehouse, Outdoor Storage & Auditorium -
Holding)" zone is removed. Removal of the Holding Symbol (H) may only occur when the 
owner enters into a Site Plan Agreement with the City that addresses parking, emergency 
access, buffering and landscaping. 

Special Provision: MA0-38-H Formerly: El-373(H) By-law No.: 60071113/13 

Notwithstanding the provisions of the Mineral Aggregate Operation (MAO) Zone, the use 

of this land shall include concrete product manufacturing and uses, buildings and 
structures accessory thereto and the following regulations shall apply: 

a) Maximum Building Height 11 metres 

The Holding Provision is to be removed once a new or revised site plan agreement 

between the City of Port Col borne and Port Col borne Quarries is executed. 

Special Provision: Hl-39 Formerly: Hl-270 By-law No.: 3819/105/99 

In addition to the uses permitted in the Heavy Industrial (HI) Zone, this land may also be 

used for a salvage yard operation to receive, process, store and ship reusable and/or 
recyclable materials such as copper, brass, steel, cast aluminum and stainless steel 

and uses, buildings and structures accessory thereto and the following regulations shall 

apply: 

a) The maximum height of any material which is stacked, piled or otherwise 

stored outside on this property shall not exceed 3.6 metres. 

Special Provision: R1-40 Formerly: R1-291 By-law No.: 4225/61/02 

Notwithstanding the provisions of the First Density Residential (R1) Zone, the following 

regulations shall apply: 

a) 

b) 

Minimum Yard Setback (North) 

Eagle Marsh Drain 

Minimum Yard Setback (South) 

Water Filled Channel 

7.5 metres 

10 metres 

124 

669



c) No buildings or structures, including accessory buildings or structures are 
permitted in the required yard setback of subsection (a) and (b) above. 

Special Provision: CC-41 Formerly: CC-340 By-law No.: 5578/08/11 

Notwithstanding the provisions of the Central Commercial (CC) Zone, this land may also 
be used for a maximum of four accessory dwelling units on the ground floor and one 
accessory dwelling unit in the basement in combination with a permitted commercial 
use. 

Special Provision: DC-42 Formerly: HC-46 By-law No.: 1374/67/83 

In addition to the uses permitted in the Downtown Commercial (DC) Zone, this land may 
also be uses for wholesale marine and mill supply and uses, buildings and structures 
accessory thereto. 

Special Provision: A-43 Formerly: A-383 By-law No.: 6331/11/16 

In addition to the uses permitted in the Agricultural (A) Zone, this land may also be used 
for one mobile home for permanent year round living accommodation and the following 
regulations shall apply: 

a) 

b) 

c) 

d) 

Minimum Lot Frontage 

Minimum Lot Area 

Maximum Lot Coverage 
for a Mobile Home 

Minimum Front Yard 
for a Mobile Home 

e) Minimum West Side Yard 
for a Mobile Home 

f) 

g) 

Minimum East Side Yard 

Minimum Rear Yard 
for a Mobile Home 

h) Minimum Ground Floor Area 
for a Mobile Home 

as existing 

as existing 

7 percent 

75 metres 

25 metres 

75 metres 

75 metres 

65 square metres 

125 

670



i) Maximum Height for a Mobile Home one storey 

Special Provision: DC-44 Formerly: CC-65 By-law No.: n/a 

In addition to the uses permitted in the Downtown Commercial (DC) Zone, this land may 
also be used for marine sales and service, uses buildings and structures accessory 
thereto and the following regulations shall apply: 

a) 

b) 

c) 

Minimum Front Yard 

Maximum Building Height 

Minimum Parking Requirements 

as existing 

1 storey 

in accordance with Section 
3 of this By-law 

Special Provision: HMC-45 Formerly: HD-365 By-law No.: 6050/16/14 

Notwithstanding the provisions of the Hamlet Commercial (HMC) Zone, the use of this 
land shall be restricted to the sale, service and storage of golf carts and the following 
shall apply: 

a) Maximum Height 9 metres 

Special Provision: Hl-46-H Formerly: n/a By-law No.: 5989/95/13 

Notwithstanding the provisions of the Heavy Industrial (HI) Zone, the following shall apply: 

a) The provisions in Section 23 (HI - Heavy Industrial) of the City of Port 
Colborne former Zoning By-law 1150/97/81 will continue to apply to the 
lands zoned Hl-46-H (Heavy Industrial - Holding). The permitted uses will be 
restricted to a 56 tank petrochemical storage facility. 

b) The uses permitted in this By-law shall not occur until the Holding Symbol 
(H) on the Hl-46-H (Heavy Industrial - Holding) zone is removed 
through an amending By-law enacted by the City of Port Colborne. The 
Holding Provision will be administered to provide Council with the 

authority to ensure a Phase 2 Archaeological Study, a Geotechnical 
Study, a Noise Study, an Air Quality Study, Site Access and Traffic Study, 
a Vibration Study, a Tree Preservation Plan, an Environmental Impact 
Statement, and a Risk Assessment Report have been undertaken to the 

satisfaction of the City and appropriate approval authorities. Removal of 
the Holding Symbol (H) may only occur when: 

i) The Owner enters into and registers on title a Site Plan Agreement 

with the City of Port Colborne which will include recommendations 

126 

671



made in the supporting technical studies conducted in association 
with the development application; 

ii) The above mentioned technical studies and their recommendations 
are satisfactory to the City of Port Colborne, 

iii) Prior to the City entering to the Site Plan Agreement, approval shall 
be obtained from the applicable approval authority which identifies 
an appropriate location and design for a private sewage disposal 
system and private water supply system to adequately and 
appropriately service the proposed use; and, 

iv) Meet Species at Risk requirements to the satisfaction of Ministry of 
Natural Resources. 

Special Provision: ID-47-H Formerly: n/a By-law No.: 5989/95/13 

Notwithstanding the Provision of the Industrial Development (ID) Zone, the following shall 
apply: 

a) Prior to any dry industrial development of lands zoned ID-47-H, a 
Zoning By-law Amendment is required to establish the permitted 
uses and zone requirements. 

b) Further, development on the subject lands shall not occur until the 
Holding Symbol (H) on the ID-47-H (Dry Industrial Development -
Holding) zone is removed through an amending By-law enacted by 
the City of Port Colborne. Removal of the Holding Symbol (H) may 
only occur when: 

i) The Owner enters into and registers on title a Site Plan 
Agreement with the City of Port Colborne which will include 
recommendations made in the supporting technical studies 
conducted in association with the development application; 

ii) Appropriate technical studies are submitted including a Phase 
2 Archaeological Study, a Geotechnical Study, a Noise Study, 
an Air Quality Study, Site Access and Traffic Study, a 
Vibration Study, a Tree Preservation Plan, an Environmental 
Impact Statement, and a Risk Assessment Report dependent 
upon the use proposed. A pre-consultation meeting will be 
held to identify which studies are required and to scope the 
extent of the studies. 

127 

672



iii) The above mentioned technical studies and their 
recommendations are to be satisfactory to the City of Port 
Colborne; and 

iv) Prior to the City entering to the Site Plan Agreement, approval 
shall be obtained from the applicable approval authority which 
identifies an appropriate location and design for a private 
sewage disposal system and private water supply system to 
adequately and appropriately service the proposed use. 

128 

673



Section 38: Definitions 

Abattoir: means a slaughter house designed for the purpose of killing animals, 
skinning, dressing and cutting up of carcass, wrapping for sale for human consumption 
with cooler and freezer storage and includes indoor confinement of animals while 
awaiting slaughter but shall not include any cooking or process related to processing 
plants such as smoking, curing or the manufacturing of meat by-products or any 
process related to rendering plants such as the manufacture of tallow, grease, glue, 
fertilizer or any other inedible product. 

Abutting: means two or more lots sharing a common boundary of at least one point; or 
a lot sharing a common boundary with a public road . 

Accessory Agricultural Activities: means equipment maintenance and activities 
required to produce market ready commodities including washing, sorting, drying, 
packing and packaging of agricultural products. 

Accessory Structure: means a detached building, or structure that is incidental and 
secondary to the principal use(s) on the same lot. 

Accessory Use: means a use subordinate and incidental to the principal use(s) on the 
same lot and does only includes a use or uses specifically listed as a permitted use in 
this by-law. 

Address of Convenience: means a home occupation that is solely used for the 
purpose of receiving phone calls, mail and electronic transmissions and the keeping of 
business records. 

Adult Oriented Entertainment Establishment: means any indoor premises or part 
thereof in which is provided, in pursuance of a trade, calling, business or occupation or 
services appealing to or designed to appeal to erotic or sexual appetites or inclinations 
including strip clubs and body rub parlours. Establishments that offer adult oriented 
goods for sale or services which are provided by a provincially licensed registered 
professional such as a registered massage therapist are not included. 

Agriculture Use: means the growing of crops, including nursery, biomass and 
horticultural crops; raising of livestock; raising of other animals for food, fur or fibre, 
including poultry and fish; aquaculture; apiaries; agro-forestry; maple syrup production; 
and associated on-farm buildings and structures, including, but not limited to livestock 
facilities, manure storages, value-retaining facilities and accommodation for full-time 
farm labour when the size and nature of the operation requires additional employment. 

Agriculture Farm Related Commercial or Industrial: means premises directly 
related to serving agriculture uses, including but not limited to canneries, dairies and 
farm implement sales and service. 

129 

674



Agricultural Source Material: means treated or untreated materials, as defined by the 
Nutrient Management Act, other than compost that meets the Compost Guidelines, or a 
commercial fertilizer, if they are capable of being applied to land as nutrients. 

Agri-Tourism and Value Added Use: means farm based business activities that cater 
to the travelling public and agriculture tourism and which support, promote and sustain 
the viability of the agricultural operation. These uses are secondary and subordinate to 
the principal agricultural farm operation and include but are not limited to: farm markets, 
restaurants related to a winery, road side produce stands, pick your own facilities, farm 
mazes, agriculture related special event facilities, agriculture education and research 
facilities and do not include uses and practices that support the day to day agriculture 
farm operation or accessory uses. 

Amenity Space: means and area for outdoor recreation or leisure and does not 
include a parking area. 

Animal Care Establishment: means any premises for the caring, grooming and 
training of household pets without outdoor pens or exercise areas. 

Apartment Building: means a building divided vertically and horizontally, or 
horizontally into five or more dwelling units each with its own entrance either separately 
or from a common vestibule, stairway or hallway. 

Apartment Building, Public: means a building divided vertically and horizontally, or 
horizontally into five or more dwelling units each with its own entrance either separately 
or from a common vestibule, stairway or hallway, that has been erected, owned and/or 
is maintained by a public agency or non-profit charitable organization. 

Asphalt and Cement Manufacturing: means an industrial facility used for the 
manufacture of asphalt, concrete, cement, rock, brick and other aggregate materials 

Attached Building: means a building which shares a roof or wall in common with an 
adjacent building or buildings. 

Balcony: means a platform projecting from the fagade of a wall or walls, cantilevered 
or supported by columns or brackets, located above the grade of the ceiling height of 
the first storey above the basement and may be covered. 

Basement: means the portion of a building partly underground having more than one 
half its height below grade at the principal entrance. 

Bed and Breakfast: means a home based business wherein guestrooms are rented 
for a period not exceeding 28 consecutive days and meals are served to overnight 
guests. 

130 

675



Boat House: means a detached accessory building or structure which is designed or 
used for the sheltering of a boat or other form of water transportation and storage of 
household equipment incidental to the principal residential occupancy of the lot. 

Boat Ramp: means a sloped surface designed for launching and retrieving watercraft 
to and from a body of water. 

Brew-pub: means a small-scale brewery producing beer for sale on the premises or for 
distribution beyond the premises, with the floor area devoted to the production of beer 
not to exceed 45% of the total floor area of the brew-pub, and includes an accessory 
drinking establishment or restaurant. 

Building: means a structure that has a roof, walls and a floor that stands more or less 
permanently in one place. 

Building Envelope: means the three-dimensional buildable area prescribed for a 
building by the regulations of this by-law. 

ILLUSTRATION OF BUILDING ENVELOPE 

Building Height: means the vertical distance between the average grade at the base 
of a main wall of the building, and height has a corresponding meaning unless 
otherwise defined in this By-law. 

Bulk Fuel Depot: means the use of land, building or structures or parts thereof for the 
bulk surface or underground storage of propane, petroleum products , chemicals, gases 
or similar products and may include the distribution of same. 

Bulk Water Haulage Operator means the use of land for the storage and management 
of a water hauling truck used for the conveyance and dispensing of potable water. 

Campground, Temporary: means an area where temporary, seasonal 
accommodation for tents, tent trailers, travel trailers, recreational vehicles and campers 
is established. 

Campground, Permanent: means an area where more permanent, seasonal 
accommodation for park model recreation vehicles is established but does not include a 
mobile home. 

131 

676



Car Wash: means premises used for washing and cleaning vehicles. 

Cemetery: means premises used for the interment of the dead and including but not 
limited to columbaria, mausoleums, and crypts. 

Charitable Organization: means a registered charity, religious organization, charitable 
non-profit organization, sports club or service group approved by the Province. 

Chord: means a straight line that joins the ends of an arc. 

Commercial: when used in reference to a building, structure, lot or use means 
pertaining to the buying or selling of commodities or the supplying of services for 
remuneration. 

Common Wall: means vertical wall separating two or more buildings from the base of 
the footing to the roof. 

Community Garden: means an area of land managed and maintained by a group of 
individuals for the purpose of cultivation of plants for personal consumption. 

Complying: means in keeping with the quantitative requirements of this By-law. 

Conservation Uses: means the use of land and/or water for the purpose of planned 
management of natural resources. 

Contractor's Yard: means the use of a lot, building or structure, or part thereof by a 
construction company or building contractor for the storage and maintenance of 
vehicles, equipment and materials used by the company or contractor in the 
construction or renovation trades, but does not include wholesale or retail sale of such 
vehicles, equipment or materials or any building supplies or home improvement 
supplies. Such uses may include the following or similar uses: 

a) Foundation, structure and exterior building contractors; 

b) Building equipment contractors (electrical, plumbing, heating/cooling); 

c) Building finishing contractors; 

d) Landscape contractors; 

f) Other speciality contractors 

Convenience Store: means a retail store where a range of day-to-day items such as 
newspapers, confections , foodstuffs, sundries and other such household items are sold 
in small quantities. 

132 

677



Conforming: means a use which is permitted by this By-law in the zone category in 
which the use is located. · 

Crematorium: means a building fitted with the proper appliances for the purpose of the 
cremation of human or animal remains and includes everything incidental or ancillary 
thereto. 

Cultural Facility: means premises used for the purposes of educational entertainment 
including but not limited to museums, libraries, art galleries, theatres and community 
centres and may include ancillary office, restaurant, retail and service commercial uses. 

Day Care: means a premises used for caring for one or more persons for a portion of 
the day. 

Deck: means a platform structure without a roof which may or may not be attached to 
one or more walls for a building but shall not include a landing or stairs. 

Density: is the number of dwelling units on a lot divided by the net lot area expressed 
as hectares. 

Dock: means an accessory structure built at the shoreline or anchored over water at 
which watercraft are berthed or stored and includes such structure whether floating or 
permanently anchored to the shore or the lake bed. 

Drive-thru Facility: means a premises which includes stacking lanes and service 
areas which provides or dispenses products or services to persons remaining in 
motorized vehicles. 

Driveway: means a vehicle access provided between a street or lane and a parking 
area or a loading space, or between two parking areas, but does not include a parking 
aisle. 

Dwelling, Accessory: means a dwelling unit that is accessory to a permitted non
residential use, other than an automotive use. 

Dwelling, Detached: means a building containing one principal dwelling unit. 

Dwelling, Duplex: means a building that is divided horizontally into two dwelling units 
each with an entrance either independent to the exterior or through a common 
vestibule. 

Dwelling, Fourplex: means a building that is divided vertically and horizontally into 
four dwelling units each with an entrance either independent to the exterior or through a 
common vestibule. 

Dwelling, Semi-Detached: means a building that is divided vertically into two principal 
dwelling units each with an independent entrance to the exterior. 

133 

678



Dwelling, Townhouse, Block: means a dwelling containing two or more dwelling units 
having private independent entrances directly from a yard and being attached 
horizontally in whole or in part above grade and divided vertically from each other by a 
common masonry wall, the said dwelling being located on a single lot, with or without 
dwellings, such lot being held and maintained under one ownership or under 
condominium ownership pursuant to the Condominium Act. R.S.O. 1990, as amended 
from time to time or any successors thereto. 

Dwelling, Townhouse, Street: means one of a group of not less than three, but not 
more than eight single dwellings which are attached together horizontally in whole or in 
part above grade and divided vertically from each other by a common masonry wall 
between each two adjacent dwellings and each of which has a private independent 
entrance directly from a yard. 

Dwelling Triplex: means a building that is divided vertically and horizontally, or 
horizontally into three dwelling units in which each dwelling unit has an independent 
entrance to the exterior or through a common vestibule. 

Dwelling Unit: means a self-contained housekeeping unit of one or more rooms 
containing cooking facilities, living quarters, sleeping quarters and sanitary facilities for 
the exclusive use of those residing within the dwelling unit and which has an exclusive 
entrance. 

Dwelling Unit, Accessory: means a separate dwelling unit that is contained within a 
building or in a separate building on a lot containing a dwelling unit which is subordinate 
and secondary to the principal dwelling unit located on the same lot. 

Dynamic Beach Hazard: means areas of inherently unstable accumulations of 
shoreline sediments along the Great Lakes - St. Lawrence River System and large 
inland lakes, as identified by provincial standards, as amended from time to time. The 
dynamic beach hazard limit consists of the flooding hazard limit plus a dynamic beach 
allowance. 

Education Facility: means a premises used for instruction in a business, trade or craft 
that is related or complementary to the associated industrial use. 

Employee Convenience Facilities: means part of a premises providing uses for the 
convenience and heath of employees such as tuck shops, cafeterias, day care, training, 
medical, recreational and fitness facilities. 

Erosion Hazard: means the loss of land, due to human or natural processes, that 
poses a threat to life and property. The erosion hazard limit is determined using 
considerations that include the 100 year erosion rate (the average annual rate of 
recession extended over a one hundred year time span), an allowance for slope 
stability, and an erosion/erosion access allowance. 

134 

679



Farmers Market: means a retail establishment consisting of multiple vendors engaged 
in the sale of food and plant products, a portion of which are locally grown and/or 
prepared. 

Flea Market: means the occasional or periodic sale of new and used goods to the 
public, by groups of individual sellers that is held within a building, structure or open 
area but shall not include a garage/yard sale. 

Floor Area: means the area of all floors in a building or structure as calculated from the 
interior surface of the exterior walls, exclusive of cellars, basements, garages, carports 
or porches. 

Flood and Erosion Protection works: means any work or structure that ensures the 
prevention of loss of life, property damage and social disruption from flood and erosion 
processes. 

Flooding Hazard: means the inundation , under the conditions specified below, as 
areas adjacent to a shoreline or a creek or stream system and not ordinarily covered by 
water: 

a) Along the shoreline of Lake Erie and large inland lakes, the flooding 
hazard limit is based on the one hundred year flood level plus an 
allowance for wave uprush and other water-related hazards; 

b) Along creek, stream and small inland lake systems, the flooding hazard 
limit is the one hundred year flood 

Food Vehicle: means an outdoor vehicle not permanently affixed to the ground and 
capable of being moved on a daily basis, from which food intended for immediate 
consumption is provided for sale or sold , and includes a motorized, self-propelled 
vehicle (i.e. food truck), a vehicle that is not self-propelled, but that can be towed (i.e. 
food trailer) and a vehicle moved by human exertion (i.e. food cart). 

Forestry Uses: means land used for the development, management and cultivation of 
timber resources grown on-site and may include the establishment of an accessory 
portable sawmill. 

Funeral Home: means premises used for the care and preparation of human remains, 
excluding a crematoria and may include related coordination and provision of rites and 
ceremonies so that persons may attend and pay their respects. 

GarageNard Sale: means the occasional or periodic sale of personal property which is 
conducted by the occupant on a lot upon which a dwelling unit exists. 

Grade: means the final elevation of the ground surface of a lot after completion of 
development or construction. 

135 

680



Greenhouse: means a building or structure used for the cultivation and propagation of 
plants. 

Gross Floor Area (GFA): means the total of all floor areas of a building(s) or 
structure(s) measured from the interior wall surface of the exterior walls. 

Guest Room: means a habitable room or suite of rooms wherein accommodation is 
provided for gain or profit and contains no facilities for cooking. 

Heavy Equipment Sales and Service: means the use of land, buildings or structures 
in which heavy machinery and equipment are repaired or serviced or offered or kept for 
sale, rent, lease or hire directly from said lot. 

Height: means the vertical distance of a building or structure from average grade. 

Home Based Business: means a use conducted within a dwelling unit which is 
secondary to the primary residential use of the dwelling unit and does not include 
outdoor activities associated with the home based business. 

Hotel: means a building(s) that provides temporary accommodation to the public for a 
period not exceeding 28 consecutive days and may include independent cooking 
facilities and ancillary uses such as but not limited to restaurants, retail and service 
commercial uses, meeting and convention facilities, banquet facilities, recreation and 
entertainment facilities and may also include one dwelling unit. 

Industry, Heavy: means premises used for: 

a) The manufacture or processing of products from raw materials; and 

b) Outdoor processing of products and materials. 

Industry, Light: means premises used for: 

a) The manufacture, processing, assembly, disassembly or packaging of 
finished parts or products from previously prepared materials; 

b) The repair or servicing of products; 

c) Building supply storage and wholesale; and 

d) Warehouse and storage 

Industrial Effluent System: means a system which conveys and discharges the by
product for an industrial process that can contain contaminant from non-domestic 
wastes. 
Infrastructure: means physical structures that form the foundation for development or 
resource use. 

136 

681



Intake Protection Zone (IPZ): means an area vulnerable to water quality or water 
quantity threats surrounding a municipal surface water intake as delineated in a Source 
Water Protection Plan. 

Intensive Animal Operation: means the use of land, buildings or structures for the 
raising of fowl or animals where the number of animal units, housed or marketed per 
year (whichever is greater), exceeds 2.5 animal unit for each hectare of land used for 
such purpose and considered to be raising of livestock. 

Kennel: means any premises where four or more dogs or cats are maintained, 
boarded, trained, bred or cared for in return for remuneration or kept for the purpose of 
sale and is licensed by the City. 

Landscape Buffer: means an open area on a lot used exclusively for the growing and 
maintenance of grass, trees, shrubs and other horticultural elements and is not used for 
any maintenance of grass, trees, shrubs and other horticultural elements and is not 
used for any other purpose except where a driveway and/or sidewalk cross the 
landscape buffer and includes the use of said area for a fence. 

Landscaped Open Space: means a space used for the growth and maintenance of 
grass, flowers, shrubs or similar landscape material and includes landscape buffers, 
walkways, patios, swimming pools, fences, playgrounds and similar facilities but 
excludes driveways, parking areas, ramps and curbs. 

Lane: means a private right-of-way that provides a means of access to lots abutting 
thereon. 

Large Motor Vehicle: means a motor vehicle in excess of 3600 kilograms as 
registered with the Ministry of Transportation and shall also include but not be limited to 
a tractor trailer used for hauling purposes, a bus, earth moving equipment and tractors, 
truck or farm vehicles. 

Legal Non-Conforming: means an existing use, building or structure which is not 
permitted in the zone or does not meet the zone regulations of the zone in which it is 
located and which lawfully existed prior to March 19, 1982. 

Livestock: means farm animals and includes but is not limited to: dairy and beef cattle, 
horses, swine, sheep, poultry, goats, fowl, mink, rabbits and other fur bearing animals. 

Loading Space: means an unobstructed open or covered area used to provide access 
to a loading door, platform or bay. 

Long Term Care Facility: means a premises containing dwellings which provide care 
to meet the physical, emotional, social, spiritual and personal needs of persons. Long 
Term Care Facilities include Homes for the Aged established under the Home for the 
Aged and Rest Homes Act, as amended; Nursing homes licensed under the Nursing 
Homes Act, as amended; and Chronic Care Facilities. 

137 

682



Lot: means all contiguous land under one ownership and includes: 

a) Corner Lot - a lot situated at the intersection of two or more streets or at 
the intersection of two parts of the same street, which parts have an 
interior angle of intersection of not more than one hundred and thirty-five 
degrees (135°); 

b) Through Lot - a lot bounded on two opposite sides by streets, provided 
that if any lot qualified both as a through lot and a corner lot as defined 
herein, such lot is considered to be a corner lot for the purposes of 
applying the zoning by-law; and 

c) Interior Lot - a lot other than a corner lot and a through lot. 

ILLUSTRATION OF LOT TYPES 

~cct 

~ - .i2 

~ 
~ 

CJ 

~ 
E 

~ ~: -
~ .i:; 

5 :;; 'E 
- 2 ~..,· 

. ~ 
~ 

§ 
I 

2 
.~ 

" ··-· 

Slrei--t 

... 
~ 

ILLUSTRATION OF CORNER LOT 
ON A SINGLE STREET 

Lot Area: means the total horizontal areas within the boundaries of a lot. 

Lot Coverage: means that percentage of a lot covered by building or structure but 
does not include: 

a) An eaves, or eaves trough or any other feature that is located at or above 
the ceiling of the first storey; or 

b) A projection permitted under Section 2.20. 

Lot Depth: means the horizontal distance measured between the midpoint of the front 
lot line and the midpoint of the rear lot line. 

138 

683



ILLUSTRATION OF LOT DEPTH 

---r-;t--,r-t---r-- iront !ot l111e 

101 

T __,__.._-;r-,_._- rt·,H lul li n(.' 

Lot Line: means the boundary of a lot and includes: 

a) Front Lot Line: which means the lot line, not including a corner lot line, 
which abuts a street for the shortest distance, whether or not that line jogs 
or curves, and extending between the side lot lines, more or less for the 
full width of the lot and where more than one such lot line exists, means a 
lot line which abuts the same street as the front lot line of an abutting lot; 

b) Rear Lot Line: which means the lot line furthest from and opposite the 
front lot line but if there is no such line, that point furthest from and 
opposite the front lot line; and 

c) Interior Side Lot Line: which means the lot line other than a front lot line, 
a corner lot line or a rear lot line; or 

d) Corner Side Lot Line: which means the longest lot line along a public 
road where a lot has two or more lot lines along a public road . 

Lot, Registered: means a parcel of land described in a deed or other document legally 
capable or conveying land or shown as a lot or block on a registered plan of subdivision. 

Lot Width: means the horizontal distance between the side lot lines measured at right 
angles to the lot depth, from a point that is equal to the front yard setback requirement 
for the zone. 

ILLUSTRATION OF LOT WIDTH 

Maintenance and Storage Facility: means a building, lot, or structure, or part thereof 
that is used for the mechanical repair of equipment and provides uses for the 

139 

684



convenience and health of employees such as tuck shops, cafeterias, training, medical 
and recreational and fitness facilities. 

Marina: means a premises containing docking facilities and which is located on a 
navigable waterway, where boats or boat accessories are stored, serviced, repaired, 
launched or kept for sale and where a full range of marine services may be provided 
including but not limited to fuelling and sewage pump out facilities, showers, foodstuffs 
and laundry facilities and ancillary restaurants. 

Marine Sales and Service: means a building or part thereof and associated lands 
where a dealer displays new and used boats and marine accessories for sale or rent 
and where marine equipment is serviced or repaired and may include boat storage 
facilities. 

Medical Clinic: means a place where a medical doctor, dentist or other lawfully 
qualified health care practitioner has his or her practice and includes a medical or dental 
laboratory. 

Medical Marihuana Production Facility: means a building or structure used for the 
cultivation, processing, testing, destruction, packaging and shipping of marihuana used 
for medicinal purposes as permitted under the Federal Government's Marihuana for 
Medical Purpose Regulations (MMPR), as amended from time to time, or an successors 
thereto. 

Mineral Aggregate Operation: means 

a) An operation other than wayside pits and quarries, conducted under a 
license or permit under the Aggregate Resources Act or successors 
thereto; and 

b) Associated accessory facilities used in extraction, transport, beneficiation, 
processing or recycling of mineral aggregate resources and derived 
products such as asphalt and concrete, or the production of secondary 
related products. 

Minimum Distance Separation Formulae: means formulae and guidelines developed 
by the Province, as amended from time to time, to separate uses so as to reduce 
incompatibility concerns about odour from livestock facilities. 

Mobile Home: means a residence that is designed and manufactured to be 
transported on its own chassis and is equipped for year-round occupancy. 

Mobile Home Park: means two or more occupied mobile homes housed on the same 
lot. 

140 

685



Motor Vehicle: means an automobile, motorcycle, motorized boat, motorized snow 
vehicle and any other vehicle propelled or driven otherwise than by muscular power, but 
excludes a large motor vehicle. 

Motor Vehicle Repair Garage: means a premises where mechanical repairs on motor 
vehicles including painting and body repairs are preformed and may include a motor 
vehicle gas station. 

Motor Vehicle Sales/Rental Service Centre: mean premises where new and used 
vehicles are kept for sale, lease or rent and may include a motor vehicle repair garage. 

Motor Vehicle Gas Station: means premises for the retail sale of gasoline, diesel fuel, 
lubricants and associated motor vehicle fluids and may include a propane filling station. 

Multi-Modal Storage Facility: means premises used for the indoor or outdoor, short 
term storage of goods, materials or containers which are unloaded from cargo ships and 
awaiting further transport via transport truck, rail or other similar means. 

Municipal Camp Ground: means an open area provided for the use of outdoor 
camping in tents, tent trailers, travel trailers or recreational vehicles. 

Natural Heritage Features: means wetlands, significant woodlands, fish habitat, areas 
of natural and scientific interest (ANSI's), significant habitat of endangered species and 
threatened species, significant wildlife habitat, natural corridors, key hydrological 
features. 

Natural Hazard Lands: means shorelines, floodplains and significant valleylands. 

Noxious Use: means 

a) a use which creates an adverse effect through the generation of noise, 
vibration, dust, fumes, gas, odour, waste, hazardous waste, emissions, 
smoke, glare, radiation, electrical interference; or 

b) any use involving the use or storage of hazardous, toxic or contaminant 
substances which constitutes a threat to public health and safety; or 

c) any use that is not lawfully permitted in the Province of Ontario; or 

c) a combination thereof; but 

d) excluding normal agricultural and livestock operations and normal 
aggregate resource operations in a licensed pit or quarry 

Office: means a building or part thereof where administration and clerical functions are 
carried out in the management of a business, profession, organization or public 
administration. 

141 

686



One Hundred Year Flood: for a river, stream and small inland lake systems, means 
that flood, based on an analysis of precipitation , snow melt, or a combination thereof, 
having a return period of 100 years on average, or having a 1 % chance of occurring or 
being exceeded in any given year. 

Operating Apparatus: means outdoor mechanical equipment or machinery used in 
conjunction with buildings or structures including but not limited to air conditioners , 
generators, heat exchanges and compressors. 

Outdoor Commercial Patio: means an outdoor seating area , operated as part of a 
full-service or take-out restaurant or brew pub. 

Outdoor Storage: means the keeping in an unroofed area of any goods, junk, 
material, merchandise or vehicles in the same place for more than 24 hours. 

Owner: means any person whose interest in a parcel of land is defined and whose 
name is specified in an appropriate instrument in the relevant Land Registry Office . 

Park: means a playground, sports field , garden , outdoor public swimming pool and 
may also include accessory buildings or structures such as a maintenance building or 
washroom. 

Park Model Recreation Vehicle: means a trailer-type recreation vehicle that is 
designed to provide a temporary accommodation for recreation, camping or seasonal 
use. Park Model Recreation Vehicles are built on a single chassis, mounted on wheels . 

Parking Area: means an area of land used for parking of motor vehicles and which is 
located on the same lot as the principal use and comprises all parking spaces or at least 
the minimum number required by th is By-law and all driveways, aisles, maneuvering 
areas, entrances, exits and similar areas used for the purpose of gaining access to, or 
egress from the said parking spaces. 

Parking Space: means a portion of a parking area, exclusive of any aisles, to be used 
for the temporary parking or storage of a motor vehicle or recreation vehicle and can 
include a garage or carport . 

142 

687



Parking Lot Ulu81ratlon 

Parking Structure: means a structure used for the parking of motor vehicles but does 
not include a garage, or a carport accessory to a detached, semi-detached or duplex 
dwelling. 

Passive Recreation: means the use of land which is typically unobtrusive and not 
disturbing to the surrounding natural landscape and may include walking trails, natural 
interpretive facilities , bird and wildlife observation areas and similar uses involved in the 
enjoyment of the natural environment. 

Personal Service Business: means a place where: 

a) A service is performed for the personal grooming and personal effects or 
clothing of the consumer, including a hair styling salon, tattoo and piercing 
parlours, spa, tanning salon, shoe repair shop, dry cleaning outlet and 
accessory dry cleaning equipment; laundromat; tailor or dressmaker shop; 

or massage therapy service but excluding an adult entertainment 
establishment; 

b) A consultation or information service is provided by a professional, other 
than a medical professional, including a travel agency or interior 
decorator; or 

c) Other personal or business services are provided including a printing, 
publishing , photocopying, picture framing or photofinishing service, 
including self-service operations. 

Petrochemical Storage Facility: means the use of land, building or structures or parts 
thereof for the bulk surface or underground storage of propane, petroleum products, 
chemicals , gases or similar products and may include the distribution of same. 

Place of Assembly/Banquet Hall: means premises providing a room or rooms to 
accommodate gatherings or people for events including but not limited to trade shows, 
banquets, weddings and conventions and does not include a Place of Worship. 

143 

688



Place of Worship: means a building, structure or part thereof, which is primarily used 
for the practice of religion and faith-based spiritual purposes wherein people assemble 
for faith based worship and teachings, fellowship and community social outreach and 
may include a cemetery. 

Platform Structure: means a raised level surface including but not limited to decks, 
balconies and porches. 

Pool, Above Ground: means a pool used for recreational swimming with a 
superstructure 0.6 metres or greater above grade. 

Pool, In-Ground: means a pool used for recreational swimming with a superstructure 
that is less than 0.6 metres above grade. 

Porch: means a platform structure attached to a main wall or walls of a building having 
a roof. 

Premises: means the whole or part of lands, buildings or structures or a combination 
thereof. 

Principal: means the primary use of a lot, building or structure. 

Principal Entrance: means the primary use entrance to a building. 

Private Club: means a building, structure or lot owned and operated by a private 
organization for use by its members and guests. 

Private Water Supply and Sewage Treatment Facility: means a non-municipal 
drinking water, or sewage treatment facility that serves a private use. 

Public Use: means a building, structure or lot used for public services by the 
corporation, the Regional Municipality of Niagara, the Federal and/or Provincial 
Government, Board of Education, utility and rail companies or similarly recognized 
agencies and any not-for-profit organization that is acting on behalf of any of the 
aforementioned agencies. 
Recreation Facility: means a premises used for participatory and/or spectator
oriented recreation and entertainment use and may include ancillary office, restaurant, 
retail and service commercial uses. 

Recreation Vehicle: means a vehicle which provides short term occupancy intended 
and used exclusively for travel, recreation and vacationing, designed to be towed or 
propelled by a motor vehicle or self-propelled, and includes such vehicles commonly 
known as; travel trailers, camper trailers, truck campers, motor homes or other similar 
vehicles but does not include a mobile home. 

Research Facility: means a premises for research , investigation, testing or 
experimentation and which may include engineering and product development. 

144 

689



Restaurant, Fast-Food: means a premises that sells food and beverages over a 
counter to its customers for consumption in the restaurant, for consumption in a motor 
vehicle on the premises or for consumption off the premises. 

Restaurant, Full-Service: means a restaurant that sells and serves food and 
beverages to patrons seated at tables for consumption on the premises. 

Restaurant, Take-Out: means a restaurant that does not have seating capacity for 
diners and instead: 

a) Sells food and beverages over the counter for pick-up by the consumer for 
consumption of the premises; or 

b) Delivers food and beverages directly to the consumer for consumption off 
the premises. 

Retail Store: means a building or part thereof where goods, wares and new or used 
merchandise is offered for sale to the public. 

Retail Building and Construction Supply: means a premises engaged in the selling 
or installing of building supplies including lumber, millwork, siding, roofing, plumbing, 
electrical, heating, air conditioning, landscaping, home improvements and similar items. 

Risk Management Official: means a person appointed under Part IV of the Clean 
Water Act, 2006 that has the authority to pass by-laws respecting water production, 
treatment and storage under the Municipal Act, 2001. 

Road, Improved: means a right of way under government jurisdiction that is open and 
maintained year round. 

Road, Unimproved: means a right of way under government jurisdiction that is open, 
but is not maintained. 

Roof, Pitched: means a roof with an angle equal to or greater than 15 degrees. 

Salvage Yard: means a lot, building or structure used for wrecking , dismantling, storing 
or selling used goods, wares or materials but does not include a flea market or 
garage/yard sale. 

Seasonal: means the use of buildings, structures, amenity areas or outdoor spaces for 
a continuous period between May 1 and October 31 and means the use of buildings, 
structures, amenity areas or outdoor spaces for no more than 14 consecutive days 
between November 1 and April 30. 

Sensitive Land Use: means buildings, amenity areas or outdoor spaces where routine 
or normal activities occurring at reasonably expected times would experience one or 
more adverse effects from contaminant discharges, fumes, odours, vibrations, sound 

145 

690



waves or radiation generated from a nearby industrial, medical marihuana production, 
transportation or utility source. Sensitive land uses may be part of the natural or built 
environment. Examples may include, but are not limited to: residential uses, parks, 
community or day care centres, recreation areas, medical facilities, churches and 
schools. 

Service, Commercial: means a building or part thereof wherein articles or goods are 
repaired or serviced or where replacement parts for such articles or goods are offered 
for sale. 

Setback: means the distance from a building or structure to a lot line. 

Setback from top of bank: means the horizontal distance from the point of the slope or 
bank where the downward inclination of the land begins or the upward inclination of the 
land levels off to the nearest point of any main wall of any building or structure. 

Sight Triangle: means an unobstructed, required triangular area where the front lot 
line and corner side lot line meet on a corner lot. 

ILLUSTRATION OF CORNER SIGHT TRIANGLES 

~ r r 1 ·t'l 

4 - (, 11 1--• 

huildin g 

Social Service Facility: means premises providing counselling advocacy, dispensing 
of aid and including but not limited to a crisis centre and emergency shelter. 

Solid Waste Disposal Facility: means a facility providing for the long-term storage or 
destruction of municipal solid waste and includes a landfill site or an incinerator. 

Special Event: means an event which provides entertainment for the enjoyment of 
members of the general public, an event where an admission fee is paid by persons 
who attend or fees are paid for receiving a meal and/or entertainment and where all 

146 

691



profits are directed to a charitable organization and may include but not be limited to: 
dinner theatres, picnics, barbeques, corn/pig roasts and fairs. 

Stand Alone Parking Lot: means a stand-alone parking area whether or not parking js 
provided in exchange for remuneration. 

Storey: means the portion of a building situated between the top of any floor and the 
ceiling above it or the top of the floor above it but does not include a basement. 

Stormwater Management Facility: means a facility for the treatment, retention, 
infiltration or control of stormwater. 

Street Line: means any lot line that divides a lot from an improved or unimproved road. 

Structure: means anything constructed or erected having a fixed point on or in the 
ground or attached to building or structure having a fixed point on or in the ground. 

Studio: means the use of a building for part thereof for: 

a) the workplace of an artist of craftsman including a painter, sculptor and a 
photographer, where goods including jewellery or fine art such as portraits 
or sculptures are produces in small quantity and may be provided for sale; 
or 

b) recreational activities that are performed for which a membership or 
instruction fee is charged and shall include but not be limited to; weight
lifting or fitness centres, boxing or racquet sport clubs, martial arts 
schools, and yoga and dance studios. 

Supportive Living Facility: means a multi-unit building or part thereof with private 
living space, monitoring and emergency support, optional meal services, housekeeping 
services, laundry, social and recreational activities. These facilities may be privately 
owned and operated, administered by a non-profit organization or run under the 
authority of the Ontario Housing Corporation which is qualified to receive funding from 
the Province. 

Tandem Parking: means the parking of one motor vehicle directly behind another. 

Trailer and Golf Cart Sales and Rental: means premises used for the sale, service 
and rental of trailers and golf carts but does not include the sale, service or rental of all
terrain vehicles or snowmobiles. 

Trailer Park: means a lot used for the parking of inhabited recreation vehicles. 

Transportation Depot: means any premises where large motor vehicles, buses or 
taxis are parked and may include dispatching and administrative offices and vehicle 
servicing. 

147 

692



Upper Tier Government: means the Federal Government of Canada, the Province of 
Ontario and the Regional Municipality of Niagara. 

Use: means a use of land for any purpose; and "used" and "using", and other such 
forms of the word have a corresponding meaning. 

Utility Trailer: means a portable structure designed for the hauling of goods, materials, 
motor vehicles and the like, having a width not exceeding 2.5 metres, a height not 
exceeding 1.25 metres and a length not exceeding 7.2 metres, and is not used for 
commercial purposes. 

Veterinary Clinic: means a building or part thereof with or without related structures 
wherein animals of all kinds are treated or kept for treatment by a registered 
veterinarian . 

Warehouse: means premises in which goods or wares are stored and where trucks 
are stored, loaded or unloaded. 

Waste Disposal Site: means the application of untreated septage, the storage, 
treatment and discharge of tailings from mines and waste disposal sites as defined 
under Part V of the Ontario Environmental Protection Act with respect to Source Water 
Protection. 

Wastewater Treatment Facility: means the part of a sewage works that treats or 
disposes of sewage but does not include the part of the sewage works that collects or 
transmits sewage. 

Wayside Pits and Quarries: means a temporary pit or quarry opened and used by or 
for a public authority solely for the purpose of a particular project or contract of road 
construction and not located on the road right-of-way. 

Wholesale Marine and Mill Supply: means premises used for the selling or installing 
of marine supplies including millwork, welding, plumbing , electrical, heating and similar 
items. 

Yard: means an area of a lot abutting a building that is intended for use for such 
purposes as privacy space, landscaping , parking or access and includes a: 

a) Front Yard: which means that yard that extends across the full width of 
the lot between a front lot line and the nearest point of the principal 
building, not including a projection permitted under Section 2.20. 

b) Rear Yard: which means that yard that extends across the full width of 
the lot between a rear lot line and the nearest point of the principal 
building not including a projection permitted under Section 2.20. 

148 

693



c) Interior Side Yard: which means that yard not abutting an improved road 
that extends from the front yard to the rear yard between a side lot line 
and the nearest point of the principal building, not including a projection 
permitted under Section 2.20. 

d) Corner Side Yard: which means that yard abutting an improved road that 
extends from the front yard to the rear yard between a corner side lot line 
and the nearest point of the principal building, not including a projection 
permitted under Section 2.20. 

Yard Setback: means the distance required by this By-law between a lot line, not 
including a corner lot line, and a building and includes: 

a) Front Yard Setback: which means the shortest distance between the 
front lot line and any part of a building, not including a projection permitted 
under Section 2.20. 

b) Rear Yard Setback: which means the shortest distance between the rear 
lot line and the nearest point of the principal building, not including a 
projection permitted under Section 2.20. 

c) Interior Side Yard Setback: which means the shortest distance between 
the interior side lot line and any part of a building between the front and 
rear yards, not including a projection permitted under Section 2.20. 

d) Corner Side Yard Setback: which means the shortest distance between 
the corner side lot line and any part of a building between the front and 
rear yards, not including a projection permitted under Section 2.20. 

149 

694



ILLUSTRATION Of YARDS AND YARD SET BACKS 

~ urnt~ r 

.. ;~-:( · r irrl 
; 1 ··(i_t ;o. ~~ 

frnnt ~·.\ rd 

I ~;I ii I 

v.uil 
·~1: 1 h,wk 

ruin I 
.,1. 1r1 I 
•: P!h ,t1 <. 

E .. . I;: .. 

I Tl { I >.!\ ~:< 

~ .. ;,;,'-' ·~ tlf rl 

>-~ t lJ-,K ~. 

Yard, Required: means that portion of a lot between a specified lot line and the 
specified distance to where a building or structure may be located. 

Zone: means a designated area of land use shown on Schedules A1 - A9 in Section 
38 of this By-law. 

150 

695



j~~ 
-

z 
0 

~
 

u
' 

~ 
t 

-. 
J 

0 
· ... ) 

0... 
~
 

4-o 
5 

0 
=-

0 
a 

696



•"i11· 11rN1u..,. ~·. 11. 

1 
.... -11 

-·- . II 
. 

? 
] , 

s;,:;:sd .... 1 .. 1.· ".\~~ l\.:.:.'>.::l11:J11i.. ~. \.1" 

Symbol 
A 
APO 
AR 
I 

~ 

Cil\' of Por1 Col!Jornc . ......__ 
srni:io'u·cE·· .. A 1" 

l<> B,)· l~w Nu. __ _ 

Legend 

Zone 
AGRICULTURAL 
AGRICU LTURAL PURPOSES ONLY 
AGRICULTURAL RESIDENTIAL 
INSTITUTIONAL 
ENVIRON\J\i!ENTAL PROTECTION 
ENVIRONMENTAL CONSERVATION 

J 
·nu; t. :>.·1 ... ~J, . ,, 1· '" lir.I•"· Nn 
1•..,...J ~ .. ;:.loJ luy.~ ,\1• ~ ~I~ 

t. J. , ~l.ol,•><r . t.!.<1..., 

Fn; I t 
,...,, 1 ,..L.!•"'''"~~ 

697



Cih· urw~1bml 

lly ol ort o ome 

,., ~_,.,\ 
SCHEDULE "A2" 
1r. llr ·ll11·1'0. _ _ _ 

Legend 
Symbol Zone 
A AGRICULTURAL 
APO AGRICULTURAL PURPOSES ONLY 
AR AGRICULTURAL RESIDENTIAL 
RU RURAL 
RR RURAL RESIDENTIAL 
I INSTITUTIONAL 
HR HAi'vlLET RESIDENTIAL 
ID lNDUSTRJAL DEVELOPMENT 
GI GATEWAY INDUSTRIAL 
HI HEAVY INDUSTRIAL 
P PUBLIC AND PARK 

0 ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION 

m ~·., o ~N"'""~:'~:~:=~ 
.. ~.. '""'''"'"'"~""'"' ~ .. 

lol:nM>I"""'· ~lri'"' 

l't I! I 1 
Amb<tl>l'oinl<.C"•!! Cl"~ 

698



City of Port Colbomc 

--1liL 
I\ '> J ~· ' "' • • 1 

SCHEDULE "AJ'' 
IOB)··b11· ~0 

LEGEND 
Symbol Zone 

A AGRICULTURAL 
APO AGRICULTURAL PURPOSES ONLY 
AR AGRICULTURAL RESIDENTIAL 
RU RURAL 
RR RURAL RESIDENTIAL 
I INSTITUTIONAL 
HR HAMLET RESlDENTIAL 
HMC HAMLET CO~!MERCIAL 
VR VACATION RESIDENTIAL 
~HAZARD 
EJ ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION 
~ ENVIRONMENTAL CONSERVATION 

., I 

Thu .. :.:i.0<11~. · ;...•· tDll,1 .r.,. ~;~ 

p~,,• rltlt• _ D') d_~JI! 

699



S~· ml.iol 

A 
APO 

AR 

RU 
RR 

LR 
HR 
HD 
HMC 

City of Port Col borne ---I\ 1~ 1 L· T,'.I ;1;.• 

SCHEDULE "A4" 
tu B~· -lawNu 

LEGEND 
Zunc 

AGRICULTURAL 

AGRICULTURAL PURPOSES ONLY 
AGRlCULTI IRAL RESIDENTIAL 
RURAL 

RURAL RESIDENTIAL 
L\KESHORE RESIDENT/Al 
HAMLET RES IDENTIAL 
HAMLET DEVELOPMENT 

HAMLET COMMERCIAL 
INSTITUTIONAL 
PUBLIC ANO PARK , 

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION 
HAZARD 

ENVIRONMENTAL CONSERVATION 

Th:1uXh,,ful , ·Al' i.>ll)·-(, ,.· ;.:., 

PnuJ.i., ::J1d O,t·cf.Arnl='•lt 

700



_., 

A 

A 

A A 

A A-I I 

A 

;,. 
~ 
" :; 
"' " -B 
Cll 

" " Cll 

Symbol 
A 
AR 
APO 
RU 
RR 
RI 
RD 
LR 
I 
p 
11HO 
~ 
~ 
~ 

\ .. .JLJ Ul J Ul l \ . ..lJlUUJ Jl C ·-rul\ r r.ni.i:.oH M 

SCHEDULE "A5" 
to By-law No. _ _ _ _ _ 

LEGEND 

Zone 
AGRICULTURAL 
AGRICULTURAL RESIDENTIAL 
AGRICULTURAL PURPOSES ONLY 
RURAL 
RURAL RESIDENTIAL 
FIRST DENSITY RESIDENTl.AL 
RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT 
LAKESHORE RESIDENTIAL 
INSTITUTION.AL 
PUBLIC AND PARK 
MJNERAL AGGREGATE OPERA TIO NS 
ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION 
HAZARD 
ENVIRONMENTAL CONSERVATION 

Tlus 1s Schedule ·As" h> By- law No 

Pa;;si:J !hi: ~ Jrd Juy nf Apnl :?18 

John r.,.fo.Joni:y, Mayor 

Amber LaPi>intc. City C lerk 

701



Symbol 
A 
AR 
RR 
LR 
RI 
Rl 
R3 

R4 

RD 
MU 
NC 
DC 
HC 

LI 
HI 
MAO 
GI 

i 
I II II 
- .L .l 

City of Port ol orne 
_f'iii_ 

l\ ltlT \.L~IX)l<"I. 

SCHEDULE "A6" 
to By-law No. ___ _ 

LEGEND Zone 

AGRJCUL TURAL 
AGRJCUL TURAL RESIDENTIAL 
RURAL RESIDENTIAL 
LAKESHORE RESIDENTIAL 
FIRST DENSl1Y RESIDENTIAL 
SECOND DENSl1Y RESIDENTIAL 
THIRD DENS11Y RESIDENTIAL 
FOURTH DENS11Y RESIDENTIL 
RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT 
1vUXED USE 
NEIGHBOURHOOD COW.-!ERCIAL 
DOWNTOWN COM1v!ERCIAL 
HIGHWAY COMMERCIAL 
INSTITUTIONAL 
PUBLIC AND PARK 
LIGHT INDUSTRIAL 
HEAVY INDUSTRIAL 
MINERAL AGGREGATE OPERATIONS 
GATEWAY INDUSTRIAL 
INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT 
ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION 
HAZARD 
ENVIRONMENTAL CONSERVATION 

This is Schedule: "Afi" lo B~·· luw Nu 

ra_~~.:,J 1h.: 23rd Duy of A1m l 20 \ !J 

JohnMo loncy. ~hyor 

:\mh~rl.llPui nu: . Ci 1yClc1k 

702



City of Port Col borne ... 
I\~\ r Ct>.IK~\M, 

SCHEDULE "A 7" 
to By-law No. ___ _ 

LEGEND 
Symbol Zone 

Rl F!RST DENSITY RESIDENTIAL 

Rl SECOND DENSITY RESIDENTIAL 
R3 TI!IRD DENSITY RESIDENTLl\l 

R' FOURTil DENSITY RESIDENTil. 
RD RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT 

NC NEIGHBOURHOOD COMJVIERC!AL 
DC DOWNTOWN COMl>!ERC!AL 
HC HIGHWAY COMMERCIAL 
MC JVL'JUNE COMMERCIAL 

lNSTmJTlONAL 
PUBLIC AND PARK 

Hl HEAVY INDUSTRIAL 

CJ ENV!RONMENT AL PROTECTION 

~ HAZARD 

IIT2Il ENVIRONMENT AL CONSERVATION 

This is Schedule ",.\1" tu By-bw No. 

P:i.<scd 1hc2Jnl01yofApr1llO\H 

John~lolonq, Moyor 

RD 

703



....... , ..... ,, 

See Schedule "A.7" 

RI 
R1 
RJ 

"' RT 
RD 
MU 
NC 
DC 
HC 
er 
I 

LI 
HI 

l '. :l;!l1 "( 1i.'fl".' 

SCHEDULE "A8" 
to By -l aw No 

LEGEND 

FIRST DENSITY RESIDENTIAL 
SECOND UENSITY RESIDENTIAL 
rnuw DENSITY RESIDENTIAL 
FOURTH DENSITY RESIUENTIAL 
RESIDENTIAL TOWNHOUSE 
RESIDENTIAL DEVELOl'~IENT 
MIXED USE 

NEIGHBOURHOOD COMMERCIAL 
DOWNTOWN COMMERCl.-\L 
HIGHWAY COM~IERC IAL 

COMMERCIAL PLAZA 
!NSTITUTIONr\L 
PUBLIC AND PARK 
LIGlff JNDUSTRJ..\L 
HS\ VY INDUSTRIAL 
AGRJCIJLTifRAL 

APO AGRJCIJL TUR.AL PURPOSES ONLY 
:\R AURICIJLTURl\L RESIDE~ITIAL 
RR RURAL RESIDENTIAL 

D ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION 

E2j ENVIRONMENTAL CONSERVATION 

:c 

Thi.I"' S.bd•fc ' A~' I~ Dy-l11• ~:a 
Pus•Jtho :.•1J011 ~1Apn1 Wl3 

704



City of Port Colborne 
_@I_ 

PORT COLilORNf: 

SCHEDULE "A9" 
to By-law No. ___ _ 

Legend 
Symbol -~ 

Zone 
IPZ-1 

IPZ-2 

This is Schedule "A9;' to By-law No. 

Passed the 23rd Day of April 2018. 

John Maloney, Mayor 

Amber LaPointe, C ity Clerk 

705



-, ,- ,::, +:;ar;}e ~ ntr.entionally left blank. 

706



The Corporation of the City of Port Colborne 

By-law No. 

Being an Interim Control By-law regarding the mineral aggregate 
operation zone 

Whereas the Municipal Council of The Corporation of the City of Port Colborne, 
pursuant to Section 38( 1) of the Planning Act, R. S. 0. 1990, as amended , passed a 
resolution on April 23, 2018 directing that the Planning and Development Department 
undertake a review or study in respect of land use planning policies of the Official Plan 
and uses permitted in the Mineral Aggregate Operation zone; 

Whereas it is deemed necessary in accordance with sound planning principals to 
restrict and permit development of land and uses in the Mineral Aggregate Operation 
zone; 

Whereas Section 38 of the Planning Act, R.S. 0 ., 1990, as amended, allows for the 
passing of an Interim Control By-law prohibiting the use of land, buildings or structures 
within the municipality for, or except for, such purposes as are set out in the by-law; 

Now therefore the Council of The Corporation of the City of Port Colborne enacts 
as follows: 

1. No land, building or structure in the Mineral Aggregate Operation zone as shown 
in the new Zoning By-law shall be used other than the following uses: 

a) Making or establishment of pits and quarries for the purpose of extracting 
natural materials from the earth including soil, clay, sand, gravel , stone, 
rock, shale and minerals; 

b) Processing of natural materials including screening, sorting, washing, 
crushing, storing and other similar operations related to an extractive 
industrial operation; 

c) Uses, structures and buildings accessory thereto excepting any building or 
structure used for human habitation . 

. 2. This by-law shall be in effect for a period of one year from the date of passing 
of this by-law, or until repealed. 

3. This by-law shall come into force pursuant to Section 38 of the Planning Act, RSO 
1990, as amended. 

Enacted and passed this 23rd day of April , 2018. 

John Maloney 
Mayor 

Amber Lapointe 
City Clerk 

707



This page intentionally left blank. 

708



The Corporation of the City of Port Colborne 

By-Law No. 

Being a By-Law to adopt, ratify and confirm 
the proceedings of the Council of The 

Corporation of the City of Port Colborne at 
its Regular Meeting of April 23, 2018. 

Whereas Section 5(1) of the Municipal Act, 2001 , provides that the powers of 
a municipality shall be exercised by its council ; 

Whereas Section 5(3) of the Municipal Act, 2001 , provides that a municipal 
power, including a municipality's capacity rights , powers and privileges under section 
9, shall be exercised by by-law unless the municipality is specifically authorized to do 
otherwise; and 

Whereas it is deemed expedient that the proceedings of the Council of The 
Corporation of the City of Port Col borne be confirmed and adopted by by-law; 

Now therefore the Council of The Corporation of the City of Port Colborne 
enacts as follows: 

1. Every action of the Council of The Corporation of the City of Port Col borne 
taken at its Regular Meeting of April 23, 2018 upon which a vote was taken 
and passed whether a resolution, recommendations, adoption by reference, or 
other means, is hereby enacted as a by-law of the City to take effect upon the 
passing hereof except where the approval of the Ontario Municipal Board is 
required, in which case the effective date shall be the day after the approval of 
the Ontario Municipal Board is obtained or such other day as the Ontario 
Municipal Board may order; and further 

2. That the Mayor and Clerk are authorized to execute any documents required 
on behalf of the City and affix the corporate seal of the City and the Mayor and 
Clerk, and such other persons as the action directs, are authorized and 
directed to take the necessary steps to implement the action. 

Enacted and passed this 23rd day of April, 2018. 

John Maloney 
Mayor 

Amber LaPointe 
City Clerk 

709



This oage intentiona lly left blank. 

710



City of Port Colborne 

DATE: April23,2018 

MOVED BY COUNCILLOR 

SECONDED BY COUNCILLOR 

WHEREAS The National Day of Mourning is held every year on April 28th; 

AND WHEREAS this day is dedicated to remembering those who have suffered 
and died on the job due to workplace catastrophes, those exposed to toxic substances 
or who have been injured due to dangerous work conditions; 

AND WHEREAS the National Day of Mourning is a day to commit to improve 
health and safety in workplaces and prevent further workplace tragedies; 

NOW THEREFORE, I, Mayor, John Maloney, proclaim April 28th, 2018 as "NATIONAL 
DAY OF MOURNING" in the City of Port Colborne. 

Mayor 

711



This page intentiona lly left blank. 

712



City of Port Colborne 
Regular Council Meeting 08-18 

Minutes 

Date: April 23, 2018 

Time: 9:59 p.m. 

Place: Council Chambers, Municipal Offices, 66 Charlotte Street, Port 
Col borne 

Members Present: B. Butters, Councillor 
F. Danch, Councillor 

Staff Present: 

A. Desmarais, Councillor 
Y. Doucet, Councillor 
D. Elliott, Councillor 
B. Kenny, Councillor 
J. Mayne, Councillor (until 10:03 p.m.) 
J. Maloney, Mayor (presiding officer) 

Absent: R. Bodner, Councillor (due to vacation) 

D. Aquilina, Director of Planning and Development 
T. Cartwright, Fire Chief 
A. LaPointe, Manager of Legislative Services/City Clerk 
C. Mcintosh, Deputy Clerk (minutes) 
P. Senese, Acting Chief Administrative Officer 
S. Shyposkyj, Acting Director of Engineering and Operations 

Also in attendance were interested citizens, members of the news media, YourTV and 
WeeStreem. 

1. Call to Order: 

Mayor John Maloney called the meeting to order. 

2. Introduction of Addendum Items: 

Nil. 

3. Confirmation of Agenda: 

No. 46 Moved by Councillor J. Mayne 
Seconded by Councillor A. Desmarais 

That the agenda dated April 9, 2018 be confirmed, as circulated or 
as amended. 

CARRIED. 

713



Minutes - Regular Council Meeting 08-18 Page 2 of 6 

4. Disclosures of Interest: 

Mayor Maloney declared an indirect pecuniary interest with regard to item 1, Motion 
(Councillor Butters) Re: Request the Region of Niagara to Immediately Replace Board 
Members and Establish Guidelines for the Future Recruitment of Board Members to 
the Niagara Peninsula Conservation Authority (NPCA), as he is a member of the 
Niagara Peninsula Conservation Authority Board. Mayor Maloney refrained from 
discussing or voting on this item. Councillor Danch assumed the Chair during 
consideration of this item. 

5. Adoption of Minutes: 

No. 47 Moved by Councillor Y. Doucet 
Seconded by Councillor A. Desmarais 

(a) That the minutes of the special meeting of Council 06-18, 
held on March 26, 2018, be approved as presented. 

(b) That the minutes of the regular meeting of Council 07-18, 
held on March 26, 2018, be approved as presented. 

CARRIED. 

6. Determination of Items Requiring Separate Discussion: 

The following items were identified for separate discussion: 

Item 1. 

7. Approval of Items Not Requiring Separate Discussion: 

No. 48 

Items: 

Moved by Councillor A. Desmarais 
Seconded by Councillor B. Kenny 

That Items 1 to 5 on the agenda be approved, with the exception 
of items that have been deferred, deleted or listed for separate 
discussion, and the recommendation contained therein adopted. 

2. Corporate Services, Finance Division, Report No. 2018-47, Subject: 2018 
Operating/Capital Budget 

Council resolved : 

That in compliance with Ontario regulation 284/09, Council confirms that 
the 2018 budget was developed using the cash basis and has excluded 
the following accrual expenses: a portion of the amortization expense 
which amounts to approximately $1,459,455 and the amount of post-

714



Minutes - Regular Council Meeting 08-18 Page 3 of 6 

employment benefits expense which amounts to approximately 
$218,000; and 

That the 2018 Budget be approved as presented; and 

That the by-law for the budget estimates for all sums required for the 
operations for the year 2018 be adopted. 

3. Planning and Development, By-law Enforcement Division, Report No. 
2018-45, Subject: Hunting at Gravelly Bay in Port Colborne 

Council resolved: 

That the Director of Planning and Development be directed to conduct an 
unbiased evaluation of hunting in Gravelly Bay through public 
consultation including an open house and an internet survey; and 

That the Director of Planning and Development be directed to report 
back to Council with recommendations moving forward. 

4. Township of Wainfleet Re: Request Support of Municipally Appointed 
Niagara Peninsula Conservation Authority 
Representative 

Council resolved: 

That the resolution received from the Township of Wainfleet in support of 
the resolution of the City of Welland Re: Municipally Appointed Niagara 
Peninsula Conservation Authority Representative, be received for 
information. 

5. Township of South Stormont Re: Request Government of Ontario to 
Grant Municipalities the Authority regarding Approval of Landfill Projects 
in or Adjacent to their Municipality 

Council resolved : 

CARRIED. 

That the resolution received from the Township of South Stormont Re: 
Request Government of Ontario to Grant Municipalities the Authority 
regarding Approval of Landfill Projects in or Adjacent to their 
Municipality, be supported . 

8. Consideration of Items Requiring Separate Discussion: 

1. Motion (Councillor Butters) Re: Request the Region of Niagara to 
Immediately Replace Board Members and Establish Guidelines for the 
Future Recruitment of Board Members to the Niagara Peninsula 
Conservation Authority (NPCA) 

715



Minutes - Regular Council Meeting 08-18 Page 4 of 6 

No.48 

9. Proclamations: 

Nil. 

Moved by Councillor A. Desmarais 
Seconded by Councillor 8. Kenny 

WHEREAS Port Colborne City Council is aware of 
concerns in the community that the Niagara Peninsula 
Conservation Authority (NPCA) has demonstrated an 
inability to operate as an effective, open and transparent 
Conservation Authority, that respects its mandate; 

AND WHEREAS Port Colborne City Council has lost 
confidence in the current Board and management of the 
NPCA; 

THEREFORE THE COUNCIL OF THE CORPORATION 
OF THE CITY OF PORT COLBORNE RESOLVES AS 
FOLLOWS: 

That the City of Port Col borne requests that the Region of 
Niagara immediately replace board members of the NPCA 
with members selected by the lower tier municipalities; 

That the City of Port Col borne requests that the Region of 
Niagara establish guidelines for the recruitment, selection, 
and appointment of individuals to be in place during the 
next selection of NPCA board members; 

That the guidelines be developed with criteria that is based 
on skillset and be carried out by the lower tier 
municipalities. 

CARRIED. 

10. Minutes of Boards, Commissions & Committees: 

(a) Minutes of the Environmental Advisory Committee meeting of January 10, 
2018. 

(b) Minutes of the Port Colborne Active Transportation Advisory Committee 
meeting of January 15, 2018. 

(c) Minutes of the Port Colborne Economic Development Advisory Committee 
meeting of February 6, 2018. 

No. 49 Moved by Councillor 8. Butters 
Seconded by Councillor Y. Doucet 

716



Minutes - Regular Council Meeting 08-18 Page 5 of 6 

(a) That the minutes of the Environmental Advisory Committee 
meeting of January 10, 2018, be received. 

(b) That the minutes of the Port Col borne Active Transportation 
Advisory Committee meeting of January 15, 2018, be received. 

(c) That the minutes of the Port Colborne Economic Development 
Advisory Committee meeting of February 6, 2018, be received. 

CARRIED. 

11 . Consideration of By-laws: 

No. 50 Moved by Councillor Y. Doucet 
Seconded by Councillor B. Kenny 

That the following by-laws be enacted and passed: 

6566/21 /18 Being a By-Law to Adopt the Estimates for the City 
of Port Colborne for its own operations for the year 
2018 

6567 /22/18 Being a By-law to Adopt, Ratify and Confirm the 
Proceedings of the Council of The Corporation of the 
City of Port Colborne at its Regular Meeting of April 
9,2018 

CARRIED. 

12. Council in Closed Session: 

Motion to go into Closed Session - 10:03 p.m. 

No. 51 Moved by Councillor B. Butters 
Seconded by Councillor J. Mayne 

That Council do now proceed into closed session in order to 
address the following matter(s): 

(a) Minutes of the closed session portions of the following 
Council meetings: February 26, 2018 and March 12, 2018. 

(b) Planning and Development Department, Planning Division 
Report. No. 2018-49, with respect to the Port Colborne 
Quarries Site Plan Agreement pursuant to the Municipal 
Act, 2001, Subsection 239(2)(f) advice that is subject to 
solicitor-client privilege, including communications 
necessary for that purpose. 

717



Minutes - Regular Council Meeting 08-18 

Motion to rise without report: 

No. 52 Moved by Councillor A. Desmarais 
Seconded by Councillor Y. Doucet 

Page 6 of 6 

That Council do now rise from closed session without report at 
approximately 10:32 p.m. 

CARRIED. 

13. Disclosures of Interest Arising from Closed Session: 

Nil. 

14. Reports/Motions Arising from Closed Session: 

Nil. 

15. Adjournment: 

No. 53 

John Maloney 
Mayor 

AL/cm 

Moved by Councillor F. Danch 
Seconded by Councillor A. Desmarais 

That the Council meeting be adjourned at approximately 
10:33 p.m. 

CARRIED. 

Amber LaPointe 
City Clerk 

718



PORT COLBORNE TRANSIT ADVISORY COMMITTEE MEETING 
WEDNESDAY, JANUARY 24, 2018 

COMMITTEE ROOM 2 ENGINEERING & OPERATIONS CENTRE 

Attendance: 
Scott Mathieson, Denise Archer, Stephen Corr, Melissa Bigford, Alfred Stockwell , Bea 
Kenny, Jim Huppunen, Peter Senese, Mayor John Maloney, Laura Nelson 

Regrets: 
Yvon Doucet, Casey Biko, Casey Forgeron 

Melissa called the meeting to order at 3:15 p.m. 

1. Adoption of Agenda 

Moved by A. Stockwell 
Seconded by D. Archer 

That the agenda dated January 24, 2018 be accepted as presented. 
CARRIED. 

2. Disclosures of Interest 

Nil. 

3. Approval of Minutes of October 18, 2017 

Moved by B. Kenny 
Seconded by S. Mathieson 

That the minutes of October 18, 2017 be approved as presented . 
CARRIED. 

4. Actions Arising from Previous Minutes 

a) Bus Stop at Canadian Tire - Request for Bench 

RCib:'..of Port Colborne 
t::CEIVED 

APR '3 2018 
CORPORATE SERVICES 

DEPARTMENJr 

Jim will follow up on this item. Alfred noted that he discussed this with the 
bench supplier and that it may be an issue because of private property. 

b) Regional Transit Update - Alfred 

Alfred gave an update on Regional Transit. Two committees have been 
formed , one being the Mayor and CAO's and the other a working group 
committee of Transit Managers. Alfred advised there is a big focus on Go 
Transit. The committees are working on creating uniform policies and 
procedures and fair strategies and working on AODA measures such as 
courtesy seating, wheelchair issues, and guide dogs. Companion guides for 

P.C. TRANSIT ADVISORY COMMITTEE MEETING -JANUARY 24, 2018 

719



people accompanying those that cannot travel alone will be allowed at no 
charge, a template for a Companion pass will be created along with 
Regional passes for persons with disabilities. The province will decide who 
qualifies as a companion and who does not. 

c) Results of Survey re: Link Schedule Changes 

Alfred provided results of the proposed link changes. Niagara College 
students will be able to travel from the college to the terminal and transfer 
to a regional bus. There will be a new schedule that is more uniform and will 
be easier to remember. Alfred advised that the best time to start this new 
schedule is in September, to coincide with the new school year. Niagara 
College will be given two options 12:18 pm or 4:18 pm. The options will be 
discussed with the college and a report will be presented to Council with the 
preferred option. The Region will be involved in these discussions as well. 

Moved by Bea Kenny 
Seconded by Scott Mathieson 

That the Port Colborne Link Proposal be accepted on consultation with 
Niagara College and Regional Transit. 
CARRIED. 

d) Bus Ramp Concerns - Forwarded by the AAC September 19, 2017 

Alfred provided follow-up information regarding the bus ramp concerns 
received by the AAC. Alfred advised that the drivers lower the ramp when 
they see a need for it or if someone requests the ramp be lowered. In the 
case of the concern received by the AAC, the driver was not asked to lower 
the ramp. The AAC will be advised that the public can request the ramp be 
lowered if required. 

5. Information Items 

a) Report 2017-183 Port Colborne Link Bus Service· Fare Increase 

Report 2017-183 was provided for information. The fare increase is 
presently in effect. 

6. Other Business 

a) Community Transportation Grant Program - Municipal Stream 

The criteria for the Community Transportation Grant Program was 
discussed. The committee agreed to apply for Saturday service and a link 
between Port Colborne and Fort Erie. Peter will look into this further, the 
deadline for application is February 29, 2018. 

P.C. TRANSIT ADVISORY COMMITTEE MEETING - JANUARY 24, 2018 

720



7. Next Meeting 

The next meeting of the Transit Advisory Committee will be held on Wednesday, 
March 28, 2018 at 3:00 p.m. 

8. Adjourn 

Moved by B. Kenny 
Seconded by A. Stockwell 

That there being no further business to discuss, the meeting be adjourned at 
4:00 p.m. 
CARRIED. 

P.C. TRANSIT ADVISORY COMMITIEE MEETING-JANUARY 24, 2018 

721



722



PORT COLBORNE 
P UBLIC L IBRARY 

Port Colborne Public Library Board 

MINUTES of the 2nd Regular Board Meeting of 2018 

Held Tuesday, February 13, 2018, 6:00 p.m. 
Port Colborne Public Library, Auditorium 

310 King St., Port Colborne, ON 

APR 0 6 2018 
CORPOR.l\TE SERVICE:':. 

DEPl\RTMENT 

Present: Michael Cooper (Chair}, Valerie Catton (Vice Chair}, Harmony Cooper, William 

Higgins, Bryan Ingram, Ann Kennerly, Cheryl MacMillan 

Staff: 
Regrets: 

Scott Luey (CEO}, Susan Therrien (Director of Library Services), Rachel Tkachuk 

Jeanette Frenette, Councilor John Mayne 

1. Michael Cooper, Chair, called the meeting to order at 6:05 p.m. 

2. The invocation was read . 

3. Mr. Cooper welcomed the Board members. 

4. Approval of the Agenda 

Moved by H. Cooper 

Seconded by A. Kennerly 

18:009 That the agenda be adopted as circulated. 
CARRIED. 

5. Declaration of Conflict of Interest 

None. 

6. Delegations 

None. 

7. Minutes of the Previous Meeting of Tuesday, January 9, 2018 

Moved by C. MacMillan 

Seconded by H. Cooper 

18:010 That the minutes of the January 9, 2018 meeting be adopted as circulated. 
CARRIED. 

MINUTES of the February 13, 2018 Port Col borne Public Library Board meeting Page 1 

723



PORT COLBORNE 
PUBLIC LIBRARY 

Port Colborne Public Library Board 

8. Business Arising from the Minutes 

None. 

9. Agenda Items 

i. Strategic Plan 

Library Board CEO Scott Luey presented a draft version of the Strategic Plan. Board members 
will review the plan and bring comments and suggestions to the next meeting. 

Moved by B. Ingram 
Seconded by W. Higgins 

18:011 That the draft Strategic Plan be received for information purposes. 
CARRIED. 

ii. PC Lions Outdoor Seating Area 

The Director updated the Board on the progress of the shade shelter. Construction is scheduled 

to begin in early April and will be completed in early May. 

iii. Fines and Fees Updates 

The Director announced that family board games have been added to the collection. The new 
item will be available for loan to adult borrowers and will circulate for 7 days. The Director 
asked the Board to approve a fine of $1.00 per day for late returns. 

Moved by W. Higgins 
Seconded by H. Cooper 

18:012 That the Port Col borne Public Library Board approve the fine amount of 
$1.00 per day for the new item category "board game." 
CARRIED. 

iv. Fundraising Items 

The Director reported on three new fundraising initiatives: coffee, promotional buttons, and 

USB flash drives. Pricing options were reviewed and the Board approved coffee to be sold for 

$2.00 per cup; buttons for $2.00; and 2GB USB drives with the City logo for $7.00. 

MINUTES of the February 13, 2018 Port Colborne Public Library Board meeting Page 2 

724



PORT COLBORNE 
PUBUC LIBRARY 

Port Colborne Public Library Board 

18:013 

Moved by B. Ingram 

Seconded by A. Kennerly 

That the Port Col borne Public Library Board accepts the three fundraising 
initiatives as recorded in the minutes for implementation. 

CARRIED. 

v. "The Rights of Children and Teens in the Public Library" 

The Board reviewed and agreed to adopt and endorse two policies regarding children's and 

teen rights in the public library. Further discussion arose concerning ways in which the library 

can better serve the teen user group. 

18:014 

Moved by A. Kennerly 

Seconded by C. MacMillan 

That the Port Col borne Public Library Board adopts and endorses the 

"Children's Rights in the Public Library" policy adopted at the Ontario Library 
Association Annual General Meeting, November 1998, and the "Teen Rights in 

the Public Library" adopted at the Ontario Library Association general Meeting, 
June 2010. 

CARRIED. 

Committee Reports 

None. 

10. ADMINISTRATIVE BUSINESS 

Correspondence 

The Director read a letter of thanks and two Facebook feedback comments received from three 

library patrons who commended the library for the helpful service received from staff, and for 

the diversity of the library's collection. 

Public Relations Report 

i. Pop-Up Library 

Librarian Rachel Tkachuk reported on two Pop-Up library events: 

MINUTES of the February 13, 2018 Port Col borne Public Library Board meeting Page 3 

725



PORT COLBORNE 
PUBLIC LIBRARY 

Port Colborne Public Library Board 

• Bilingual Family Literacy Event, Vale Health and Wellness Centre, Jan . 17, 2018 

• Northland Pointe, Feb. 6, 2018 

ii. March Break 2018 Flyer 

Presented by librarian Rachel Tkachuk. 

iii. City Hall News 

Presented by librarian Rachel Tkachuk. 

iv. March Break 2018 

March Break events and programs were presented by librarian Rachel Tkachuk. The Port 

Colborne Lions Club will sponsor two family events: a magic show and a music concert. The 

Canadian Federation of University Women will sponsor a visit from a Canadian children's 

author. 

18:015 

Moved by A. Kennerly 

Seconded by W. Higgins 

That the Public Relations report be received for information purposes. 

CARRIED 

Chief Executive Officer's Report 

None. 

Treasurer's Report 

None. 

Director's Report 

i. Bill 148 

The Director reported that she met with the City's Human Resources Coordinator and 

confirmed that the library is in compliance with the new legislation . 

MINUTES of the February 13, 2018 Port Col borne Public Library Board meeting Page 4 

726



PORT COLBORNE 
Pusuc LIBRARY 

Port Colborne Public Library Board 

ii. Partnership with John Howard Society 

Qingyi {Ken) Su, Chief Librarian of the Welland Public Library, has invited the Port Col borne 
Public Library and Thorold Public Library to participate in a partnership with the John Howard 
Society. The Welland and Pelham Public Libraries have already entered into partnership with 
the John Howard Society of Niagara, funded by a grant from the Niagara Region. There are no 

budgetary implications for the libraries, only provision of in-kind contributions such as work 
space, storage space, and Internet access. Funding allows a social worker to be onsite at the 
libraries to provide free services-by appointment or walk-in-to connect community members 
with services they may need. The Director will update the Board on the progress of application 

for this opportunity at the next meeting. 

iii. Meeting with MPP Cindy Forster 

The Director, Welland Public Library CEO Qingyi Su, and Thorold Public Library Chief Librarian 
Joanne DeQuadros met with Cindy Forster, MPP, Welland, on January 26, 2018. The meeting 

was part of the MPP Meeting Campaign for representatives of the Ontario Library Association 
{OLA) and the Federation of Ontario Public Libraries {FOPL) to help achieve the following 

objectives: 
• to educate Ministers, MPPs and staff about the importance of libraries for education, 

poverty reduction, and community economic development; 
• to inform Ministers, MPPs and staff about the need for new funding for libraries in 

Ontario and to seek support and input. 
The Director reported that the meeting was very positive. A letter of thanks was sent to Ms. 

Forster on behalf of the three libraries. 

iv. Niagara Healthy Kids Community Challenge 

The Director and Librarian Rachel Tkachuk attended the Niagara Healthy Kids Community 

Challenge (NHKCC) meeting at Niagara Region Headquarters. The goal of the NHKCC is to 
promote and support healthy living for children. The Port Colborne Public Library has been 

invited to participate in the fourth theme of the challenge {"Power Off and Play") and is eligible 

for funding up to $5,610.00 to implement pilot programmes that incorporate the theme. 

v. Youth Job Connection Placement 

The library has partnered with Port Cares to provide a temporary job placement through Youth 

Job Connection. The placement at the library is for 9-15 hours/week from January 29 to mid

March and will be paid through a grant arranged by the YJC. The YJC aims to help young people 

MINUTES of the February 13, 2018 Port Colborne Public Library Board meeting Page 5 

727



PORT COLBORNE 
PUBLIC LIBRARY 

Port Colborne Public Library Board 

between the ages of 15 and 29 who face multiple or serious barriers to employment achieve 
long-term employment and meaningful careers. 

vi. Ontario Library Association Super Conference 2018 

The Director and Librarian Rachel Tkachuk attended the OLA Super Conference on 
February 3, 2018, in Toronto. This year's theme was "Fearless by Design." 

vii. Microfilm Moved to Archives 

The microfilm collection has been moved from the library to the LR. Wilson Heritage Research 
Archives and will become part of a shared collection between the Library and Museum. The 
Archives has more storage space and a new microfilm reader . Genealogical researchers will still 
able to make arrangements with the library to access microfilm outside of the Museum's open 
hours. The library will continue to send and pay for newspapers to be converted to microfilm 
format, and will maintain bibliographic records in the library's database and an up-to-date 
inventory. 

viii. Shelving and Furniture 

The Director is in the process of determining library needs, purchasing priorities, and the 
scheduling of shelving and furniture projects. 

ix. Annual Report 

Final data is still unavailable to complete the annual report. 

x. Health and Safety 

a. Risk Assessment 

The Director contacted Italia Reeves, Health and Safety Coordinator, who reported that she is 
creating a spreadsheet of safety concerns for the City facilities that were assessed by A.C.T. 
Tactical Inc. in 2017. The final Risk Assessment report was received on January 8, 2018. The 

Director invited Ms. Reeves to attend the next Board meeting to report in more detail on the 
assessment. 

Moved by B. Ingram 

Seconded by A. Kennerly 

MINUTES of the February 13, 2018 Port Col borne Public Library Board meeting Page 6 

728



PORT COLBORNE 
P UBLIC L IBRARY 

Port Colborne Public Library Board 

18:015 That the Director of Library Services' report be received for information 
purposes. 

CARRIED 

Circulation Report: None 

11) Board Members' Items 

12) Notices of Motion 

13) Date of the Next Meeting 

Tuesday, April 3, 2018, 6:00 p.m. 
Port Colborne Public Library, Auditorium 

310 King St., Port Colborne, ON 

14) Adjournment 

MOVED by A. Kennerly 

Seconded by V. Catton 
18:016 That the meeting be adjourned. 

CARRIED. 

MINUTES of the February 13, 2018 Port Col borne Public Library Board meeting Page 7 

729



Tnis pag-e- 11rflltrelilltti1onally left blank. 

730


	Committee of the Whole Agenda
	Committee Items
	Delegations
	Item 1 - Motion Councillor B. Kenny
	Item 2
	Item 3
	Item 4
	Item 5
	Item 6
	Item 7
	Item 8
	Item 9
	Item 10
	Item 11
	Item 12
	Item 13
	Item 14
	Item 15
	Item 16
	Item 17
	Item 18
	Item 19
	Item 20
	Regular Committee of the Whole Meeting 09-18 Minutes
	Regular Council Meeting Agenda
	Council Items
	By-Laws Council Agenda
	Proclamations
	Regular Council Meeting 08-18 Minutes
	PC Transit Advisory Com. Meeting Minutes
	PC Public Library Brd. Meeting Minutes



